Public Document Pack

EXECUTIVE BOARD
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 at 1.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
S Arif
D Coupar
M Harland
H Hayden
J Lewis (Chair)
J Pryor
M Rafique
F Venner

A Carter

S Golton

This meeting will be held at the Civic Hall, Leeds. Due to current restrictions arising from the
pandemic, there will be very limited capacity in the public gallery for observers of the meeting. This
meeting will be webcast live via the link below, however if you would like to attend to observe in
person, please email (FacilitiesManagement@leeds.gov.uk) to request a place, clearly stating
the name, date and start time of the committee and include your full name and contact details, no
later than 24 hours before the meeting begins. Please note that the pre-booked places will be
allocated on a ‘first come, first served’ basis and once pre-booked capacity has been reached
there will be no further public admittance to the meeting. On receipt of your request, colleagues
will provide a response to you.
Please Note - Whilst the rates of infection have come down, Coronavirus is still circulating in
Leeds. Therefore, even if you have had the vaccine, if you have Coronavirus symptoms: a high
temperature; a new, continuous cough; or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you
should NOT attend the meeting and stay at home, and get a PCR test. For those who are
attending the meeting, please bring a face covering, unless you are exempt.
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘View
the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of
the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=102&MId=11356

Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Governance Services
0113 37 88664
Produced on Recycled Paper

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS
The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:
9.0
9.1

Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers,
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2

Confidential information means
(a)
information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which
forbid its public disclosure or
(b)
information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another
Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights
rules.

10.0
10. 1

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information
would be disclosed provided:
(a)
the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the
proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b)
that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.
(c)
that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

10.2

In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will
also be excluded.

10.3

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to
any condition):
1
Information relating to any individual
2
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information).
4
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officerholders under the authority.
5
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.
6
Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a)
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which
requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)
to make an order or direction under any enactment
7
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

B

AGENDA

Item
No
K=Key
Decision
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which officers
have identified as containing exempt information
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local
Government Act 1972, and where officers
consider that the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the officers
recommendation in respect of the above
information.

3

If the recommendation is accepted, to formally
pass the following resolution:RESOLVED – That, in accordance with
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the
public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of those parts of the agenda
designated as exempt on the grounds that it is
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that
if members of the press and public were present
there would be disclosure to them of exempt
information.

3

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

LATE ITEMS

3

To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)
DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS

4

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.
MINUTES

5

13 26

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the
meetings held on 21st April 2021 and 8th June
2021.
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION
6

ARTS@LEEDS - YEAR 5 EXTENSION

K

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development that seeks approval to extend the
arts@leeds funding programme for a fifth year.
Operated through funding rounds usually lasting
between 3 to 4 years, a fifth year would extend the
current round of funding to 31 March 2023.

7

K

Adel and
Wharfedale;
Alwoodley;
Moortown

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO
PERMANENTLY INCREASE LEARNING
PLACES AT ALLERTON HIGH SCHOOL FROM
SEPTEMBER 2022
To consider the report of the Director of Children
and Families presenting the outcome of a
consultation exercise regarding a proposal to
expand secondary school provision at Allerton
High School and which seeks approval to the
publication of a statutory notice on that proposal.
D

27 44

45 70

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

8

Wetherby

K

Item Not
Open

Page
No

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO
PERMANENTLY INCREASE LEARNING
PLACES AT ST EDWARD'S CATHOLIC
PRIMARY SCHOOL FROM SEPTEMBER 2022

71 90

To consider the report of the Director of Children
and Families presenting the outcomes from a
consultation exercise regarding a proposal to
permanently increase learning places at St
Edward’s Catholic Primary School from September
2022, and which seeks approval to the publication
of a Statutory Notice on that proposal.

PUBLIC HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES
9

K

Beeston and
Holbeck;
Middleton
Park

COVID-19 MEMORIAL WOODLAND WITHIN
NEW 48 HECTARE PARKLAND AT FORMER
SOUTH LEEDS GOLF COURSE

91 104

To consider the report of the Director of
Communities, Housing and Environment that
outlines a proposal to create a new 48 hectare
park incorporating a Covid-19 memorial woodland
on the site of the former South Leeds golf course.

INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE
10

K

Beeston and
Holbeck;
Hunslet and
Riverside;
Little London
and
Woodhouse

TRANSFORMING CITIES FUND: LEEDS CITY
CENTRE CYCLING IMPROVEMENTS
To consider the report of the Director of City
Development seeking approval for the design and
delivery of a package of 6 schemes to provide safe
segregated facilities for cycling and walking around
the city centre. These projects link existing cycle
routes together to form a coherent network,
facilitating active travel choices and reducing
dependency on the private car for short and
medium length journeys.

E

105 148

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE – PUBLIC
CONSULTATION ON THE SCOPE OF THE
PLAN

11

149 298

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development that informs Executive Board of the
proposed scope for the Local Plan Update, namely
a focus on new or revised planning policy to help
further address the climate emergency. On this
basis, the report seeks approval to commence
consultation on the proposed scope of the Local
Plan Update, as detailed.
12

K

Hunslet and
Riverside;
Little London
and
Woodhouse

REDEVELOPMENT OF CITY SQUARE OUTCOME OF THE DESIGN COMPETITION
AND APPOINTMENT OF THE PREFERRED
DESIGNER

299 314

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development that presents the outcome of the
design competition for the redevelopment of City
Square, and which seeks approval to the
appointment of the preferred designer who will
work proactively with the Council and stakeholders
to redevelop City Square from the design concept
submitted as part of the design competition into an
approved design.
13

K

Beeston and
Holbeck

PARKLIFE - FULLERTON PARK AND
MATTHEW MURRAY UPDATE
To consider the report of the Director of City
Development which provides an update regarding
the Council’s Fullerton Park ‘Parklife’ scheme and
the outcome of recent discussions with Leeds
United Football Club (LUFC) around their
preference to preserve the potential for a disposal
of the former Matthew Murray High School site to
LUFC, as part of the club’s ambition to relocate
their training ground facilities closer to Elland Road
and also as part of proposals regarding the
expansion of the Elland Road stadium.

F

315 332

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO
14

UPDATE ON CORONAVIRUS (COVID19)
PANDEMIC – RESPONSE AND RECOVERY
PLAN
To consider the report of the Chief Executive
providing an update on the actions of the Leeds
Health and Social Care system and Leeds City
Council, working with broader partners, in
response to and facilitating the recovery from the
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.
(Report to follow)

RESOURCES
15

K

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE - OUTTURN
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2021

333 388

To consider the report of the Chief Officer
(Financial Services) presenting the Council’s final
outturn position for the 2020/21 financial year in
respect of both the General Fund revenue budget
and the Housing Revenue Account. The report
also seeks approval regarding the creation of
earmarked reserves, as detailed.

16

TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 389 2020/21
400
To consider the report of the Chief Officer
(Financial Services) presenting the Council’s
Treasury Management Outturn position for the
2020/21 financial year.

G

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

17

Beeston and
Holbeck;
Morley North

10.4(3)

K

(Appendix
3 only)

Page
No

WHITE ROSE RAILWAY STATION

401 436

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development outlining a proposal for the Council to
provide a loan facility to Munroe K, in compliance
with subsidiary control, to finance Munroe K’s
maximum contribution towards this scheme, and to
provide the related necessary approvals to help
facilitate this proposal.
(Please note that Appendix 3 to this report is
designated as being exempt from publication under
the provisions of Access to Information Procedure
Rule 10.4 (3))

18

K

Calverley and
Farsley

DISPOSAL OF LAND AT DAWSON'S CORNER
BY THE CALVERLEY CHARITY

437 448

To consider the report of the Chief Officer of Asset
Management and Regeneration seeking approval
of the terms of the sale of approximately seven
acres of land at Dawson’s Corner, Pudsey. This
land is privately owned by The Calverley Charity
and this report is specifically for the purpose of
Executive Board, on behalf of the Council, giving
consideration to the proposal in the Council’s
capacity as sole trustee of the charity.
19

K

Calverley and
Farsley

10.4(3)
(Appendices
3, 3b & 3c
only)

ACQUISITION OF LAND FOR THE A647 / A6120
DAWSON'S CORNER JUNCTION
IMPROVEMENT SCHEME
To consider the report of the Director of City
Development that seeks approval to acquire land
from a third party to enable the A647 / A6120
Dawson’s Corner junction improvements to take
place.
(Please note that Appendices 3, 3b and 3c to this
report are designated as being exempt from
publication under the provisions of Access to
Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3))

H

449 474

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELLBEING
PERFORMANCE AND ASSURANCE REPORT

20

475 486

To consider the report of the Director of Resources
which reviews the period 1st April 2020 to 31st
March 2021 in terms of: the Council’s performance
on health, safety and wellbeing. The report
highlights the improvements which have been
made and details the challenges ahead.

21

Beeston and
Holbeck

TO CONSIDER FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS WITH 487 REGARDS TO ADDRESSING AND REDUCING
510
ON-STREET SEX WORK IN THE CITY
To consider the report of the Director of
Communities, Housing and Environment
presenting a proposal to cease with the ‘Managed
Approach’ and replace it with the revised
approach, as outlined in this report, to tackle and
reduce on-street sex work in the city, subject to
agreement by the Safer Leeds Community Safety
Partnership.

I

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND
HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS
22

K

Calverley and
Farsley;
Rothwell

10.4(3)
(Appendix
7 only)

ADULTS & HEALTH SERVICE REVIEW 6 CARE DELIVERY: CARE HOMES, POST
CONSULTATION RECOMMENDATIONS
REPORT

511 840

To consider the report of the Director of Adults and
Health that presents the findings of the
consultation undertaken regarding the proposals to
close Home Lea House Long Stay Residential
Care Home in Rothwell, and Richmond House
Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley. In
considering the information within the report, the
Board are requested to determine the future of
both care homes, with the recommended option
being to decommission those care homes for the
reasons as set out.
(Please note that Appendix 7 to this report is
designated as being exempt from publication under
the provisions of Access to Information Procedure
Rule 10.4 (3))
23

UPDATE ON THRIVING: THE CHILD POVERTY
STRATEGY FOR LEEDS
To consider the report of the Director of Children
and Families that provides an overview of
‘Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds’,
and the work that sits underneath the strategy,
including details of the response in this area during
the pandemic.

GUIDANCE FOR ATTENDING MEETINGS IN
CIVIC HALL, LEEDS
(Attached)

J

841 872

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification
of the main speakers and their role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those
points must be complete.
Webcasting
Please note – the publically accessible parts of this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent
broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or
part of the meeting is to be filmed.

K

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 21ST APRIL, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors S Arif, A Carter, D Coupar,
S Golton, M Harland, H Hayden, J Pryor,
M Rafique and F Venner

149

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated
as being exempt from publication and which required exclusion of the press
and public.

150

Late Items
Agenda Item 12 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan’.
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board.
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally
published on 13th April 2021. (Minute No. 157 refers).
Agenda Item 6 – Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan
With the agreement of the Chair, supplementary information in the form of
Appendix 4 to the report had been circulated to Board Members following the
despatch of the agenda, in order to provide Members with the latest
information possible ahead of the meeting in respect of the work being
undertaken with the aim of increasing the uptake of the Covid-19 vaccine
across all communities in Leeds. (Minute No. 153 refers).

151

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting.

152

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th March
2021 be approved as a correct record.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 13

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
153

Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan
The Director of Public Health submitted a report providing an update on the
Leeds Covid-19 Vaccination Programme’s approach towards mitigating
inequalities and ensuring that all communities have access to the Covid-19
vaccine through the ‘Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan’.
With the agreement of the Chair, supplementary information in the form of
Appendix 4 to the report had been circulated to Board Members following the
despatch of the agenda, in order to provide Members with an update on the
main work streams of the Health Inequalities Vaccination Programme,
including headline Covid-19 vaccination uptake data for the city.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted the range of
actions being taken with partners and established community networks to
increase the vaccination uptake across all communities in Leeds, in order to
maximise the benefit of the current vaccination programme with the overriding
principle that no one is left behind. As part of the introduction it was noted that
50% of Leeds’ adult population had now received a first Covid vaccination.
Responding to a Member’s specific enquiry, the Board received further detail
regarding the progress which had been made to date, and the range of work
which continued in encouraging vaccination uptake in BAME communities,
with specific reference being made to the older generation. It was noted as
part of the discussion that this was an issue affecting other vaccinations and
was not unique to the Covid programme. As such, it was highlighted that in
addition to the approach being taken to address inequalities in the current
Covid vaccination round, the programme of work moving forward would reflect
the longer term nature of this issue.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the contents of the submitted report and appendices, together
with the related ambitions, as set out within the report, be noted,
together with Members’ comments on such matters;
(b)

That it be noted that the Director of Public Health is the senior
responsible officer for the Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities
Plan;

(c)

That the Board’s continued support be provided in relation to the
commitment of all directorates in delivering the Leeds Covid-19
Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan.

CLIMATE CHANGE, TRANSPORT AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
154

Responding to the Levelling Up Fund
The Director of City Development submitted a report which set out proposals
for how the Council intended to respond to the Government’s ‘Levelling Up’
Fund, which was released as part of the March 2021 Budget, with it being
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 14

noted that the related prospectus presented an opportunity to bid for
significant capital investment for the delivery of projects from the 2021/22
financial year.
As part of the introduction to the report, the Board noted the intention for an
additional meeting of the Board to be held prior to the submission of any
bid(s) and before the 18th June 2021 Round 1 Levelling Up Fund submission
deadline, to consider the proposals.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, in acknowledging the tight timeframe
involved, the Board received further detail and assurance that consultation
would take place with local MPs in line with the Fund’s requirements. In
addition, it was noted that consultation would also take place with local Ward
Councillors, initially with those Members affected by the proposals being
considered for Round 1 submission, with the same principle for Ward
Councillor engagement being used for future rounds when those details were
known.
In considering the report a Member commented upon the need for all
communities in Leeds to have equal opportunity to access this and other
funding streams; highlighted the longer term and collaborative approach
required to enable districts and communities to maximise the benefit from
such funding, and enquired whether this could potentially be an area for future
consideration by the Board.
In response, Members were provided with further detail regarding average
levels of potential funding available per constituency and per Priority 1 Local
Authority area, with any funding secured being subject to Leeds’ success in
the bidding process. Also, emphasis was placed upon the importance of
Leeds, and all communities within it, maximising the benefit from all external
funding streams which were being made available, with the potential benefits
from a longer term approach towards such matters being acknowledged.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the approach, as detailed within the submitted report, to bringing
forward bids to the Levelling Up Fund, be noted and supported, with it
being agreed that constituency MP’s within the Leeds Metropolitan
District boundary are asked to indicate their priorities for investment, so
that these can be taken into consideration by the Council;
(b)

That agreement be given for the Director of City Development to
undertake an assessment and a prioritisation of projects for the
Levelling Up Fund in consultation with relevant Executive Members, as
set out in paragraphs 3.4 – 3.11 of the submitted report;

(c)

That agreement be given for proposals for Round 1 bids to be
considered at an additional meeting of Executive Board to take place
prior to the submission of any bid(s) and before the 18th June 2021
Levelling Up Fund submission deadline;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 15

(d)

155

That the intention to bring a further report to Executive Board be noted,
which will relate to the submission of bids for future rounds of the
Levelling Up Fund and in relation to any changes to the Government
prospectus and guidance.

Proposed Grey to Green Projects - Progress Update
Further to Minute No. 125, 10th February 2021, the Director of City
Development submitted a report providing an update on the progress of the
‘Grey to Green’ infrastructure projects following the successful ‘Getting
Building Fund’ submission in September 2020 and the subsequent Full
Business Case approval at the West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Investment Committee in February 2021. The report also sought approval of
the designs developed to date for each scheme and their progression into the
detailed design and planning submission phase, together with the necessary
‘Authority to Spend’ of the allocated funding identified for each scheme.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with information
on how the principles of the proposed schemes remained appropriate when
taking account of the current economic position and the evolving ways of
working and living as a result of the pandemic.
Members also discussed the decision making processes by which the final
business case for the projects had been approved by the Combined Authority
and given the advanced stage at which these projects were at, it was felt that
any risk of further intervention by the Combined Authority or Mayoral Authority
was minimal.
The Board discussed the associated timeframes for this funding process,
whilst a Member reiterated his earlier comment about the need for
communities outside of the city centre to have an opportunity to access
appropriate funding streams moving forward.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the progress which has been made to date regarding the
development of the ‘Grey to Green’ programme following the
successful bid to the ‘Getting Building Fund’, be noted, with the
development of the three projects, namely: Meadow Lane Greenspace;
Sovereign Street Bridge and Crown Point Road calming and greening,
also being noted;
(b)

That the design proposals developed for the creation of Meadow Lane
Green Space as part of the Council’s ongoing commitment to the
development of green infrastructure in the city centre to support the
implementation of the ‘Our Spaces’ Strategy and the South Bank
Regeneration Framework Supplementary Planning Document, be
approved, and that approval also be given to the progression of the
scheme, as presented, into the next phase of detailed and technical
design;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 16

156

(c)

That the design proposals developed to date for Sovereign Street
Bridge, be approved, and that approval also be given for the
submission of a planning application for the bridge, in order to enable
the continued progression of the scheme;

(d)

That the indicative layout proposals developed to date for the Crown
Point Road calming and greening scheme, be approved, and that
approval also be given for the progression of the scheme into the next
phase of design;

(e)

That it be noted that the Director of City Development will be
responsible for the implementation of such matters, as detailed within
the submitted report, and the resolutions, as above.

City Centre Transformation - Enabling Schemes (Highways)
Further to Minute No. 79, 18th November 2020, the Director of City
Development submitted a report which sought approval of the outline highway
design concept for the closure of City Square and its subsequent
implementation in readiness for the Year of Culture. The report also sought
approval of the preliminary design and implementation of Armley Gyratory,
subject to any Planning conditions and detailed design changes.
Regarding the potential inclusion of water features within the design for the
City Square proposals, Members were assured that the images within the
submitted report were indicative only and that the related design competition
continued. However, should water features be included in the final design it
was acknowledged that appropriate due diligence would need to be
undertaken and resource allocated to ensure the long term maintenance of
them. On this point, the Director of City Development offered to provide
relevant Executive Members with further information regarding the specific
challenges of maintaining public water features, if required.
In relation to the proposals, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring
that they did not deter visitors to the city centre via car or any other means of
transport. Also, an enquiry was raised regarding how the proposals would
impact upon the flow of traffic in the city centre and how they would affect air
quality. In response, it was noted that detailed transport modelling work on
issues such as air quality would continue as part of the respective Combined
Authority and planning processes. Also, it was highlighted that the proposals
would aim to maximise ‘movement capacity’ for all forms of transport, with it
being emphasised that the proposals did not aim to stop cars from accessing
the city centre.
Specifically regarding the proposals for Armley Gyratory, a Member
highlighted the issue of users’ safety, with reference being made to those
accessing the Gyratory via active travel and also when considering female
users’ safety. In response, it was confirmed that such matters were being
taken into consideration as part of the design work, with reference being
made to landscaping, lighting, connectivity and users’ general visibility when
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 17

travelling through the Gyratory. In conclusion, it was noted that Executive
Members’ suggestions regarding the design proposals would be welcomed.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That in the context of previous decisions taken by Executive Board,
and as outlined within the submitted report, the outline design for the
closure of City Square to through traffic, as per the plan in Appendix 1,
including the indicated bus and taxi only restrictions, be approved, with
it being noted that at the discretion of the Chief Officer (Highways and
Transportation), there may be further adjustments to the design in
order to respond to stakeholders’ needs and the proposed public
consultation;
(b)

That the preliminary design of Armley Gyratory, as shown in Appendix
1 to the submitted report and as presented in the recent engagement,
be approved, subject to any changes arising from Planning conditions
or the detailed design process;

(c)

That it be noted that the City Square closure (highway works) and
Armley Gyratory are to be fully funded from the West Yorkshire Plus
Transport Fund;

(d)

That the importance of the delivery of the Highways England M621
Road Investment Strategy (RIS) scheme (Junctions 1 to 7) for the
realisation of the city centre vision, be noted;

(e)

That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) is
responsible for the associated programme delivery, with a target
completion date of December 2022.

RESOURCES
157

Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan
Further to Minute No. 144, 17th March 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a
report which provided an update on the Covid-19 Response and Recovery
Plan, as well as the Local Outbreak Management Plan, which in the last
month had included: the safe reopening of businesses; continued work and
proactive communications with communities and services in line with the
national recovery roadmap; the vaccination rollout and the tackling of health
inequalities in this area; outbreak management work, including testing, tracing
and support to self-isolate; and further action in the areas of compliance and
enforcement.
With the agreement of the Chair, the submitted report had been circulated to
Board Members as a late item of business prior to the meeting for the reasons
as set out in section 11.12 of the submitted report, and as detailed in Minute
No. 150.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 18

By way of introduction to the report, it was highlighted that 1,608 people had
died in the city as a result of Coronavirus to date. On behalf of the Council,
the Leader extended his sympathies to the families and loved ones of all
those who had lost their lives.
The Leader also noted that over the past week, the infection rate in Leeds had
reduced by 32%, which was below the Yorkshire and Humber average.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Director of City Development
undertook to provide further detail to relevant Executive Members regarding
the grant which had been received from Arts Council England’s Cultural
Recovery Fund, in terms of what the funding was intended to be used for and
on which sites.
Also, further detail was provided regarding the ongoing citywide ‘conversation’
on the future use of city and local centres and how they will be used in the
longer term as we continue to move through the pandemic, with the Director
offering to provide the Member in question with a briefing on this matter, if
required.
Regarding a Member’s enquiry on the current position relating to the backlogs
for treatment in hospital settings, the Director of Public Health undertook to
make enquiries on such matters and provide further detail to the Member in
question.
Also, regarding the provision of grants for businesses which were
administered by the Council, responding to an enquiry, the Board received an
update on the current position regarding the allocation and distribution of
grants, together with details on the actions being taken to deliver such funding
as efficiently as possible, and working to the Government’s deadline of end of
June 2021, with the Member in question being offered a separate briefing on
such matters.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the Response and Recovery Plan, as appended at Annex A to
the submitted report, together with the full range of activity taking place
to prepare for the safe reopening of services and the economy in the
coming months, be noted, with the focus on planning for the year
ahead also being noted;
(b)

That the current position with regard to the four measures in the
Roadmap, be noted, and that the continued need for everyone to play
their part while restrictions remain in place, be recognised and
emphasised;

(c)

That the refreshed Local Outbreak Management Plan, as detailed at
Annex C to the submitted report, be agreed, and that the continued
proactive approach being taken towards all aspects of the plan,
including vaccinations, testing, tracing, support to self-isolate, support
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 19

to businesses, communications, compliance and enforcement, be
noted;

158

(d)

That in respect of the financial implications for the Council arising from
the Coronavirus pandemic, the content of the submitted report be used
as context when the Board considers the more detailed finance based
report as referenced at Minute No. 158;

(e)

That in respect of the issue of addressing health inequalities in relation
to the uptake of the Covid-19 vaccination across all communities in
Leeds, the content of the submitted report be used as context when the
Board considers the more detailed report on such matters as
referenced at Minute No. 153.

Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Provisional Outturn
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which set out the
Council’s projected provisional financial outturn position for 2020/21 in respect
of both the General Fund revenue budget and also the Housing Revenue
Account.
In considering the submitted report, Members welcomed the provisional
balanced budget position for 2020/21 which was presented, and extended
their thanks to all those who had helped achieve this position, given the
significant challenges which had been faced throughout the year.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the projected provisional financial outturn for the Authority, as
detailed within the submitted report, be noted, with the projected impact
of COVID-19 on that position also being noted;
(b)

That with regard to the 2020/21 financial year, it be noted that the
Authority is forecasting a balanced budget position.

LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT
159

Outcome of statutory notice on a proposal to establish Resource
Provision at St Margaret's Church of England Primary School from
September 2021
Further to Minute No. 127, 10th February 2021, the Director of Children and
Families submitted a report presenting the outcomes from the statutory notice
published under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and in accordance
with the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2013 regarding a proposal to establish a 12 place
Resource Provision for pupils with complex communication difficulties
including Autistic Spectrum Condition at St. Margaret’s Church of England
Primary School, and which sought a final decision in respect of that proposal.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the proposal to establish a 12 place Resource Provision for pupils
with complex communication difficulties including Autistic Spectrum
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 20

Condition (ASC) at St. Margaret’s Church of England Primary School in
Horsforth with effect from September 2021, be approved;
(b)

That approval be given to exempt the resolutions arising from the
submitted report, as detailed within this minute from the Call In process
for the reasons as set out in paragraph 4.5.2 of that report;

(c)

That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
section 4.5.2 of the submitted report)
CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE
160

Youth Work Review and Future Vision
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report that presented the
findings from the review which had been undertaken into Youth Work in
Leeds, and which outlined the vision for youth work together with the
proposals for future delivery.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted the extensive
consultation which had been undertaken to inform the proposed model, and it
was highlighted that no single Ward would receive any less Council delivered
youth work provision than what was currently being received, but that moving
forward a greater focus would be placed upon the city’s more deprived
communities and neighbourhoods with the greatest need.
Members welcomed proposals to establish a more collaborative approach
between communities and youth work provision, and in response to a
Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail on the provision that was
currently in place and what was proposed as part of the new model to support
those pockets of deprivation located in more affluent areas.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the comprehensive consultation and assessment work which has
been undertaken to develop the vision for youth work in Leeds, be
noted, and that the continuing commitment to youth services as a key
strand of work to enable the most vulnerable young people in the city
achieve their aspirations and ambitions, be endorsed;
(b)

That the proposed new model of youth work delivery, as detailed within
the submitted report, be approved, and that support be given to further
work being undertaken which will be led by the Youth Offer Lead in
order to co-produce the enhanced youth work specification;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 21

(c)

That it be noted that the new model of youth work delivery will be fully
implemented by April 2022.

DATE OF PUBLICATION:

FRIDAY, 23RD APRIL 2021

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 30TH APRIL 2021

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 22

EXECUTIVE BOARD
TUESDAY, 8TH JUNE, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors A Carter, S Golton, J Pryor,
M Rafique, F Venner, S Arif, M Harland and
H Hayden

Apologies

Councillor

D Coupar

1

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information designated as being exempt from publication
considered at the meeting.

2

Late Items
No late items of business were added to the agenda.

3

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
No Disclosable Pecuniary Interests were declared at the meeting.

4

Levelling Up Fund (LUF) - Round 1 Response
Further to minute 154 of the meeting held 21st April 2021, the Director of City
Development submitted a report seeking approval for the submission of two
proposed bids to Round 1 of the Government’s Levelling Up Fund (LUF). The
LUF offers Leeds the opportunity to bid for capital investment of up to £20m in
each of the parliamentary constituencies covering the city, with Round 1 bids
to be submitted by 18th June 2021.
The report outlined the approach adopted for the selection, consultation and
engagement process which had identified the two projects proposed for
submission, highlighting that they can both be resourced in the time available
against the robust programme business case criteria. It is also considered that
the two projects meet clear priorities in each of their respective parts of the
city and they are supported by the Member of Parliament in each case as a
priority:
 Connecting West Leeds - a new transport infrastructure scheme
focusing on multi-modal travel and environmental improvements to the
Outer Ring Road between Horsforth and Pudsey; and


Fearnville Well Being Centre - a new cultural asset scheme focussing
on the accelerated delivery of a new Well Being Centre in the Leeds
East constituency, including redevelopment of the existing Fearnville
Leisure Centre.

In considering the report a Member noted the responsive approach taken by
officers during the consultation process in terms of considering suggestions to
enhance the contents of each bid.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 23

As part of the discussion, a Member noted the two proposed bids were preexisting outline schemes/city ambitions and further commented on the impact
of the challenging timescale for submission of bids on the opportunity to
achieve real Levelling Up across the city.
In respect of a third scheme which is not proposed for submission under
Round 1 – Leeds Park City – discussions highlighted the need to consult with
MPs and Ward Councillors of all political groups across the city as further
work is undertaken.
RESOLVED :
a) To note the engagement undertaken with Ward Members and
Members of Parliament to enable the rapid assessment and
prioritisation of opportunities to bid under Round 1 of LUF.
b) Having considered the short-listed proposals, that approval be given for
the selection of the Fearnville Well Being Centre in the Leeds East
constituency and the Connecting West Leeds in the Pudsey
constituency as the Council’s submissions under Round 1 of the LUF,
subject to the confirmed prioritisation of the Member of Parliament in
each case.
c) That approval be given for the Council to submit a planning application,
or applications, as may be required in relation to the Fearnville Well
Being Centre to ensure it is in a position to start delivery in the current
financial year with the benefit of an approved LUF application.
d) That approval be given to exempt the resolutions arising from the
submitted report from the Call In process, as detailed within this minute
and for the reasons set out in paragraph 21 of the report, due to the
risk that the 18th June 2021 deadline for submission of the bid could be
missed.
e) That approval be given to the development of a Leeds Park City
themed project as a potential strategic approach to new and improved
parks and green spaces, well-being and green infrastructure
investments, in consultation with Ward Members and MPs.
f) To note the intention to further engage with Ward Members and MPs
and to bring forward a further report on the selection and submission of
bids under future rounds of the LUF in other constituencies across the
city, subject to the issuing of further guidelines and programme by
government.
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 24

process, as per resolution (d) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
paragraph 21 of the submitted report)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Report author: Pam Johnson
Tel: 0113 378 7679

arts@leeds – Year 5 extension
Date: 23 June 2021
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒Yes ☐No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report seeks approval from Executive Board to extend the arts@leeds funding
programme for a fifth year. Operated through funding rounds usually lasting between 3 to 4
years, a fifth year would extend the current round of funding to 31 March 2023. Extending
the programme would not rule out a change to the budget for arts@leeds through the
council’s budget setting process for FY 2022/23 but would mean that the programme is
aligned to the Arts Council funding rounds and organisations can plan with greater certainty.



The arts@leeds programme currently supports 44 Leeds based cultural, voluntary and
community organisations to deliver cultural engagement opportunities for residents across
the city to engage in cultural activity as a participant, an attendee or a creator. Through the
pandemic, the arts@leeds programme played a crucial role enabling organisations to
continue to reach and engage citizens in their homes and local communities, contributing to
their wellbeing.



The arts@leeds programme delivers significant value to the city and makes a notable
contribution to the Best Council Plan including:
Inclusive Growth – Supporting the city’s economic recovery and building longer-term
economic resilience
Culture Strategy: Growing the cultural and creative sector and ensuring that culture can be
created and experienced by anyone
Health & Wellbeing: Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles and enhancing mental
wellbeing

Recommendation
a) Executive Board is recommended to approve an ‘in principle’ extension of the arts@leeds
programme for a fifth year, to 31 March 2023.

Page 27

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

Leeds’ national and international cultural profile, borne out of a strong cultural offer within
the city, are vital to the Leeds’ economy and the social wellbeing of its residents. The
Council operates two distinct cultural funding programmes:
 Leeds Inspired – rolling grants programme for one off projects and events
 arts@leeds – development and investment programmes promoting public reach and
engagement.
Together, they support Leeds based cultural organisations and the city’s residents to
deliver, take part in and benefit from the city’s rich and diverse cultural offer. This proposal
relates primarily to the arts@leeds programme.

2

Every 3-4years, the Council creates and invests in an arts@leeds portfolio of creative
organisations to help ensure Leeds residents have access to cultural and creative
opportunities in schools and their communities. This is achieved by either directly investing
in organisations based in city wards and/or supporting organisations to extend the reach
and engagement of their programmes to benefit the wider city. The current portfolio is
attached at Appendix 1.

3

The programme generates superlative benefits for the city. In 2019/20, 44 funded
organisations delivered:
 funded activity in all 33 wards
 24,754 targeted participatory sessions
 1,130 broadcasts created for a total audience of over 16 million people
Public engagement and benefit are at the heart of the arts@leeds programme. 2019/20
achieved:
 total audience numbers – 1,306,753
 total number of participants – 93,505
 total volunteer hours – 57,860
 paid employment for 1,584 freelance artists in the city
The programme also delivers a significant economic return to the city:
 for every £1 invested, arts@leeds clients matched this by £30
 arts@leeds funded organisations generated £29,271,453 through ticket sales and
earned income
The 2019/20 summary report is attached at Appendix 2.

4

The proposal is to extend the current round of funding for one year to maximise the
strategic benefits of the programme following the impacts of Covid-19 on the city.
Of the 44 arts@leeds organisations, 16 are Arts Council England National Portfolio
Organisations (NPOs). Like arts@leeds, NPOs are usually funded for 3-4year periods to
support delivery of Arts Council priorities. Leeds is home to 25 NPOs which collectively
bring at least £21,591,650 Arts Council funding to the city. Typically organisations apply
arts@leeds funds as match funding to secure NPO investment.
Due to the pandemic, the Arts Council is extending its NPO programme by 1year to
2022/23. Aligning the arts@leeds programme to this timeline creates opportunity for
Council officers to influence the next round of NPO applications to ensure that Leeds’ city
Page 28

and cultural priorities are reflected in their requests for funding, capitalising on potential for
significant added value.
5

As part of 2020/21 Council service reviews, the culture development team was reconfigured
– now reporting to the Chief Officer Culture & Economy and bringing the Leeds Inspired
and arts@leeds programmes together into the same team.
The proposed one year extension would create the time for officers to undertake a review
of the funding programmes, including aligning access and data collection processes to
improve monitoring and reporting of impacts in the city.
The additional year would also support officers in seeking to increase city-wide delivery by
negotiating with larger organisations to target activity in wards that currently receive least
activity from the programme.

6

Finally, a one year extension to the arts@leeds grant programme is the most effective way
of investing in cultural organisations to support their recovery and delivery plans post Covid
restrictions; offering stability, enabling future planning and, subject to Council budget
setting, financial security.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐Yes

☒No

7

The pandemic and associated restrictions have had a significant impact on the creative
sector. This proposal would offer stability to the portfolio of arts@leeds clients and support
longer term planning as the sector re-opens and recovers.

8

The additional year would also support officers in seeking to increase city-wide delivery by
negotiating with larger organisations to target activity in wards that currently receive least
benefit from the programme. This would trial a new way of working with funded
organisations to increase the spread of cultural activities across the city.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
9

The Executive Board Portfolio holder has been consulted on the proposals.

10 Consultation was also undertaken with a cross section of arts organisations currently in the
scheme. The proposal was met favourably.
11 Officers have also considered wider implications of the extension proposal through
discussions with non-funded arts organisations, Arts Council England, other West Yorkshire
local authorities, Voluntary Action Leeds and Leeds Community Foundation.
12 Legal Service has reviewed the report and advised on legal implications. Their advice is
noted at 17 below.
What are the resource implications?
13 The current scheme supports 44 organisations with annual grants ranging from £4,000 from
£500,370 per year (attached at Appendix 1). Following 2020/21 service review proposals
which saw a 15% reduction to the four largest organisations in the arts@leeds portfolio for
Page 29

2021/22, the annual programme budget reduced to £1,613,420. Extending the programme
would not rule out a change to the budget for arts@leeds through the council’s budget
setting process for FY 2022/23.
14 As the budget for the 5th year 2022/23 would be subject to agreement in the autumn
budget setting process, we would communicate to organisations our intention to extend the
programme making no financial commitments until the Council’s budget is agreed.
What are the legal implications?
15 With Executive Board’s agreement to extend the programme for one year, communications
with organisations would clearly state an ‘in principle’ extension of the current round of the
programme. Finalisation of the extended grant agreements is subject to council’s budget
setting process for FY 2022/23.
16 Each arts@leeds client operates under a signed grant agreement with the Council. Only
following budget confirmation for the year will the Council enter into a variation agreement
to existing grant agreements to formally extend the funded period to 2022/23. This process
is also subject to Council approved KPIs for each organisation.
17 Since the implementation of this grant programme, the UK has withdrawn from the EU and
the state aid rules governing public subsidy have been superseded under Chapter 3 of the
Trade and Co-operation Agreement by a subsidy control regime. Subsidy control will need
to be considered as part of the assessment of new grants made under this programme.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
18 There is a risk that the Council’s ongoing financial challenges affect our ability to commit
funding for a 5th year. Communications with organisations, will make clear that the Year 5
extension is an ‘in principle’ proposal and will only be confirmed subject to the Council’s
budget setting process for 2022/23.
19 A 5th year for current arts@leeds clients delays potential new applicants’ entry to the
programme prompting sector grievances. Officers have a good overview of the sector,
including those who have applied previously and those that want to join the programme.
Officers will continue to manage sector relationships and communications, including
signposting to alternative funding sources.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☐Climate Emergency

20 The arts@leeds programme delivers significant value to the city and makes a notable
contribution to the Best Council Plan including:
 Culture Strategy: Growing the cultural and creative sector and ensuring that culture
can be created and experienced by anyone
 Health & Wellbeing: Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles and enhancing
mental wellbeing
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
21 A range of options have been considered including:


Hold to the originally scheduled timeline – launching a new scheme during 2021/22 with
new three-year grant agreements commencing in 2022/23. However, with this option the
Page 30




Council would lose opportunity to align funding with the Arts Council’s extended National
Portfolio Organisation (NPO) funding programme. Lack of alignment would mean lost
opportunity to maximise the amount of Arts Council NPO funds levered into the city currently £21,591,650 per year. Also as the sector is focusing on reopening, small and
voluntary organisations in particular would lack capacity to undergo the application
process in this year.
Further, with this option we would lose the opportunity to review and strengthen the
programme to increase and diversify benefits of the programme for Leeds residents.
We considered a cessation of the programme for one year. However, the impacts of the
pandemic on the city’s cultural sector would be multiplied with impacts hardest felt
among smaller, community and voluntary organisations.

22 As part of assessing options, and overall, it was determined that an extension of the
programme would have least impact on the city’s cultural sector and minimise the potential
for a negative equalities impact. An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening
was undertaken by the Arts Development Manager and is attached at Appendix 3.
b) How will success be measured?
23 An established reporting process is in place to collate data for the programme delivered by
funded organisations. This measures impacts in a range of ways including geographical (by
ward), numbers engaged and diversity impacts.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
24 July 2021 – Funded organisations will be notified of the intention to extend the programme
for one year.
25 Autumn 2021 – Organisations will be asked to submit a programme of activity for 2021/22.
To help ensure a wide geographical spread of activity across the city. Organisations with
greatest capacity will be asked to prioritise activity in wards furthest from the city centre.
26 December 2021 – Organisations will be provisionally offered a fifth year of funding, subject
to an agreed programme and budget approval.
27 January 2022 – Officers will launch a review of the Council’s cultural funding programmes

Appendices
28 Appendix 1 – arts@leeds current portfolio of funded organisation
29 Appendix 2 – arts@leeds 2019/20 report
30 Appendix 3 – Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening

Background papers
31 None

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 - arts@leeds – Year 5 extension
Current portfolio of funded organisations
Organisation

Award 21/22

Development tier (32 current grant recipients)
A Quiet Word

£4,000

Artlink West Yorkshire

£9,120

Assembly House

£4,000

Cloth Cat Studios Ltd

£4,000

Compass

£4,000

Dance Action Zone Leeds (DAZL) Ltd

£8,000

Geraldine Connor Foundation

£4,000

Heads Together Productions Ltd

£10,500

Interplay Theatre Trust

£12,000

Jazz Leeds

£4,000

The Big Bookend Limted (& Northern Short Story Festival)

£4,000

Leeds Community Arts Network

£4,000

Leeds International Pianoforte Competition

£10,000

Leeds Irish Arts Foundation

£4,000

Leeds Lieder+

£4,000

Left Bank Leeds CIC

£5,000

Live Arts Bistro Ltd

£4,000

Morley Arts Festival

£4,000

Music Leeds

£4,000

Northern Opera Group

£4,000

The Courthouse Project (Otley) Ltd

£7,000

Pavilion (The)

£9,120

Pyramid of Arts

£7,500

RJC Productions Ltd

£11,875

Skippko Arts Team

£4,560

Slung Low

£8,000

South Asian Arts-uk

£15,675

SPACE2 LEEDS

£7,000

The Leeds Library

£4,000

The Theatre Company Blah Blah Blah!

£5,000

Transform Theatre Projects

£4,000

Tutti Frutti Productions

£4,000
SUBTOTAL - DEVELOPMENT

Page 33

£198,350

Organisation

Award 21/22

Investment tier (8 current grant recipients)
East Street Arts

£45,000

Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House Ltd

£43,000

Northern Ballet Limited

£170,000

Opera North Limited

£395,250

Phoenix Dance Theatre

£61,750

Project Space Leeds

£26,000

Leeds Playhouse (Enterprises) Ltd

£500,370

The Yorkshire Dance Centre Trust

£51,000
SUBTOTAL - INVESTMENT

Organisation/Event

£1,292,370
Award 21/22

City Events Programme (4 organisations/events)
Black Health Initiative - Black Music Festival

£43,000

Leeds Pride*

£15,000

Leeds St Patricks Day Parade*

£5,700

Leeds West Indian Carnival

£59,000
SUBTOTAL - CITY EVENTS

arts@leeds & city events annual budget - COMBINED TOTAL
(* funds sourced from other culture service budget)

Page 34

£122,700

£1,613,420

2019-20 report
The arts@leeds programme provides support for cultural, voluntary and community
organisations to create opportunities for residents from across the city to engage in cultural activity as a
participant, an attendee or a creator. Alongside our funding programme we offer advice, advocacy and
workshops for both our funded organisations and also for grassroots organisations and individual artists,
enabling them to benefit from the unique position the arts@leeds team are situated in with an overview
of the cultural life of the city.
The scheme addresses a range of Council priorities including working with communities, supporting
inclusive economic growth, promoting a positive image of the city, and making Leeds a better, richer and
more diverse place to live, work and visit. It is the cornerstone of achieving the Best City outcome that
people should “enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts”. The Culture Strategy frames
our approach for how the city can support the arts and culture sector, and the arts@leeds grant scheme
is one of the elements of that strategy. The arts@leeds is a 4 year scheme (running 2019-2022) and this
report covers year 2 of the scheme, 2019-20. The data collected for this report covers the period of 1st
April 2019 – 31st March 2020, please be aware due to the Covid pandemic in March organisations had to
cancel or postpone the last 3 weeks of their planned programme.

arts@leeds engagement programme
22 one to one sessions were held in 19/20, these hour long face to face
conversations were tailored towards the individual or organisation. Attendees
were given an overview of the Arts Development Team and the Arts Venues
and Events Service and from this conversation the actions followed up by the
Arts Development Officer were a mix of e introductions to artists and arts
organisations, links to informative websites, links to sign up to newsletters
(including the arts@leeds newsletter) and suggestions of next steps.

The arts@leeds development programme
Financial investment from £4,000 annually
Overview: Open to all Leeds based cultural organisations, this programme supports small to midscale
cultural organisations. It provides an annual package of cash funding and tailored business development
from the Council to help them to thrive.

The arts@leeds investment programme
Financial investment from £45,000 annually
Overview: This programme is aimed at larger organisations that
are able to deliver on more council priorities, offer a greater
contribution to the economy, can develop the city's international
cultural offer, support the development of employment & skills
for the industry, and reach a wider audience. Due to the level of
funding being invested, organisations funded through this
scheme are required to deliver additional activity for the council
which will include; specific activity in targeted locations;
delivering a percentage of their work with an international focus, offer explicit support to emerging
organisations, and implement plans to pay a living wage.

arts@leeds business programme
2 arts@leeds business programme sessions were run in this period, a seminar about sustainable
organisations in May and a session about Keyfund in July. The sustainable organisations group resulted
in many of the organisations reviewing their own current sustainable practice.

Page 35

Page 36

Page 37

arts@leeds development funded organisations
A Quiet Word
Artlink West Yorkshire
Assembly House
CLAY
Cloth Cat
Compass Festival
DAZL
Geraldine Connor Foundation
Heads Together
Interplay Theatre
Invisible Flock
Irish Arts Foundation
Jazz Leeds
Left Bank
Leeds Community Arts Network
Leeds Lieder
Leeds Big Bookend & Northern Short Story Festival
Music:Leeds
Morley Arts Festival
Leeds International Piano Competition
Northern Opera Group
Otley Courthouse
Pavilion
Pyramid of Arts
RJC Dance
Skippko
Slung Low
South Asian Arts-uk
Space 2
The Leeds Library
Transform
Tutti Frutti
Theatre Company Blah Blah Blah

arts@leeds investment funded organisations
East Street Arts
Leeds Playhouse
Phoenix Dance Theatre

Leeds Grand Theatre, Hyde Park Picture House & City Varieties
Northern Ballet
Opera North
PSL – The Tetley
Yorkshire Dance

city events programme funded organisations
Black Music Festival

Leeds St Patricks Day Parade

Leeds West Indian Carnival

arts@leeds newsletter
see our Twitter account @LeedsArts for our most recent edition
Our newsletter is a source of information, opportunities and news targeted towards the culture sector in
Leeds, for creators rather than consumers. The newsletter contains regular sections: arts@leeds
engagement, training, funding, commissioning opportunities, vacancies and sector news.
Images supplied by: The Assembly House, Northern Opera Group, Invisible Flock, Geraldine Connor
Foundation, Black Music Festival, Leeds Grand Theatre, Hyde Park Picture House & City Varieties,
Music:Leeds, Compass Festival, RJC, Heads Together, Morley Arts Festival, Left Bank, Leeds Playhouse

Page 38

Appendix 3 - Equality, Diversity,
Cohesion and Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Culture Programmes

Lead person: Ann Wishart, Arts
Development Manager

Contact number: 0113 378 7193

1. Title: arts@leeds – Year 5 extension
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

X

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The arts@leeds programme currently supports 44 Leeds based cultural, voluntary and
community organisations to deliver a range of creative and cultural opportunities for
residents across the city to engage in cultural activity as a participant, an attendee or a
creator. Through the pandemic, the arts@leeds programme played a crucial role
enabling organisations to continue to reach and connect with citizens in their homes and
local communities, contributing to their wellbeing.
In recognition of the devastating effect Covid and associated restrictions have had on
the creative sector, a proposal is being made to extend the current arts@leeds scheme
by 1 year (2022/23) to enable arts organisations to continue their recovery journey and
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 39

1

have the ability to forward plan. This will give organisations more time and scope to
establish stability and reignite audience and participant’s confidence to re-engage with
programmes in public spaces.
This Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration (EDCI) screening formed a key part of
the process for assessing the implications of extending the arts@leeds funding
programme for a fifth year. This primarily focused on considering the potential impacts
on organisations currently in the scheme as well as those wanting to apply to the
scheme in the next round. Impact on Leeds residents was also considered.
Note: This EDCI is attached as Appendix 3 to the main report seeking approval to
extend the current round of the arts@leeds scheme by one year.
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
x

No

x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 40

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The proposal to extend the arts@leeds programme by 1 year supports the culture sector
at a critical point in their recovery from pandemic enforced closures. arts@leeds creates a
bedrock of creative activity and employment, including for freelance artists and creatives,
and will enable organisations to renew public confidence to engage in cultural and
creative activities, in most instances beyond the confines of their own homes.
The 44 funded organisations represent, as far as is possible, the city’s diverse
demographics. . The organisations included in the scheme represent a range of artforms,
areas of the city, age groups and diverse communities lowering the impact on a specific
group or organisation. Of these, 40 funded organisations/events are SMEs including
organisations classed as community and/or voluntary organisations
The full portfolio of organisations is attached as an appendix to the main report –
Appendix 1.
The options considered for the arts@leeds programme in 2022/23 were:


To launch a new 3-4 year programme, as planned, commencing 2022/23 – It was
considered that, due to the impacts of Covid and associated restrictions, the
majority of organisations in the current funded portfiolio would lack the capacity to
submit an application during lockdown and financially restrictive conditions.



To pause the programme for one year in 2022/23, restarting with a refreshed
portfolio in 2023/24 – It was considered that the implications were similar to the
option above with the impacts hardest felt in the smaller, community and voluntary
organisations



Extend the current scheme by one year to end March 2022 – this was the
preferred option whereby impacts on smaller, community and voluntary
organisations could be better managed. However, the implications for
organisations wishing to apply to the arts@leeds programmes was also a key
consideration. It was determined that Council officers would continue to support
and advise the sector, including signposting to alternative sources of funding.



Finally, the impacts on Leeds residents was also considered. It was determined
that extending the current programme for one year would support organisation to
continue the extraordinary efforts made during lockdown to continue and extend
benefits to Leeds residents – supporting continued engagement with culture and

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 41

3

creativity both where they live and subsequently increasing public confidence to reengage in public spaces.
As part of the extension proposal, consultation took place with a cross section of funded
organisations to ensure a diverse range of voices. Officers specifically targeted
organisations based in different parts of the city, organisations working with different
target groups and demographics, in distinctive artforms and in receipt of differing levels of
financial investment from the arts@leeds programme.
Desk based research involved the Arts Development Manager reviewing other funding
bodies approach to supporting the recovering of the sector, including the Arts Council
England and looked at their model of activity. The finding was that ACE had confirmed an
additional year of investment in their National Portfolio programme, a similar scheme of
core funding for arts organisations to the arts@leeds model.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The current grant recipients support a diverse range of activities, organisations and art
forms who enable all residents the opportunity to engage with a wide choice of arts and
the cultural activity.
The cornerstone of the scheme funds a wide geographical spread; delivers a culturally
diverse programme in various art forms and many organisations deliver targeted work,
e.g. NEETS, older people, people with challenging lives and ethnically diverse
communities.
For the consultation the majority response was yes to the proposal to extend the scheme
by one year, however the organisations who said no, specified that they were looking at
applying for an increase in funds.
ACE had confirmed an additional year of investment in their National Portfolio
programme, a similar scheme of core funding for arts organisations to the arts@leeds
model.
In assessing options for 2022/23, pausing the programme for one year was also
considered. However, it was determined that this would have greatest impact on smaller,
community and voluntary organisations in the scheme. As such, this option is not
preferred.
Overall, the decision was made to propose an extension to the programme to minimise
negative impacts on organisations and to sustain benefits to wider Leeds communities.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 42

4

arts@leeds investment is used to support, develop and programme cultural activities in
the city for Leeds residents affording the public the opportunity to engage in rich and high
quality experiences as creators, participants and audience members. The organisations
we fund are firmly embedded within communities, from grass roots activity through to
large scale programmes with our major national companies.
We will continue to closely monitor outcomes of the arts@leeds programme, including
reporting against defined Equality Impact Priorities.
We will continue to support organisations outside of the scheme through advice, guidance
and signposting to other relevant funding opportunities.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

N/A

Date to complete your impact assessment

N/A

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

N/A

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Head of Culture Programmes
07 May 2021
Pam Johnson
Date screening completed

05 March 2021

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 27 May 2021
Governance Services
EDCI Screening
Template updated January 2014
5
Page 43

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 44

6

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Janet Carter
Tel: 87226
Report of Director of Children and Families
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23 June 2021
Subject: Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning
places at Allerton High School from September 2022
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Adel & Wharfedale, Alwoodley and Moortown

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the local
authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places. The changes that are
proposed form prescribed alterations under the Education and Inspections Act
2006. The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2013 and accompanying statutory guidance set out the
process which must be followed when making such changes. The statutory process
to make these changes varies according to the nature of the change and status of
the school. The process followed in respect of this proposal is detailed in this report.
The decision maker in these cases remains the local authority (LA).



A consultation on a proposal to permanently expand Allerton High School from a
capacity of 1100 to 1400 students by increasing the admission number in Year 7
from 220 to 280 with effect from September 2022 took place between 31 March and
7 May 2021. The school’s current 6th Form provision and specialist resource and
partnership provision for young people with SEND (Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities) are unaffected by this proposal.



A total of 385 consultation survey responses were received during the consultation
period of which 83% either strongly or somewhat supported the proposal. 15%
either strongly or somewhat opposed the proposal and a further 2% neither
supported nor opposed. Further details about the responses and issues identified
Page 45

by stakeholders and respondents during the consultation period are detailed in the
main body of this report.


There has been an increase in the population of children in local primary schools
over recent years resulting in a number of primary school expansions. This is now
feeding through into secondary schools and the number of children living across the
Alwoodley/Moortown area, in particular those living nearest to both Allerton High
School and Allerton Grange School, has increased. A number of local schools have
been expanded or have offered additional places over recent years and further
places are needed to help manage the number of secondary places available for
families in the area. Current population and admissions data indicates that
additional secondary school places will be required in this area by 2022 to ensure
local demand is met.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


This proposal is being brought forward to meet the LA’s statutory duty to ensure
that there are sufficient school places for all the children and young people in
Leeds. Providing places close to where projected demand for places is increasing
allows improved and more sustainable accessibility to local and desirable school
places, is an efficient use of resources, and reduces the risk of non-attendance.



By providing new high quality school places within an established existing school,
this proposal would support the LA’s strategy to improve attendance, achievement,
and attainment – the 3As; and the achievement of the Best City Priority to help
‘young people into adulthood, to develop life skills and be ready for work’.



This proposal would establish high quality mainstream school places, actively
contributing towards achievement of the Child Friendly City aspiration to ‘improve
educational attainment and closing achievement gaps for children and young
people vulnerable to poor learning outcomes’. In addition, the longstanding third
‘obsession’ – improve school attendance – has been expanded to improve
attendance, achievement, and attainment – the 3As.



Overall, this proposal offers good value for money through its capacity to support
the achievement of the Best Council Plan outcome that states ‘We want everyone in
Leeds to do well at all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life’.

3. Resource Implications


Based on initial viability, the indicative cost for delivery of a scheme to support an
expansion at Allerton High School is expected to be within the range of £7.5m and
£8m. Feasibility is currently underway to identify the scope of works required to
permanently expand the school and when complete should give an accurate
estimate of the cost of the scheme.



Once feasibility and detailed design works are completed, costs for the proposed
scheme would be reviewed. Following design freeze the Director of Children and
Families, in consultation with School Places Programme Board would be asked to
approve final Authority To Spend (ATS) for the proposed scheme along with any
necessary risk fund application, in line with the governance arrangements currently
in place.
Page 46



The proposed scheme would be subject to planning permission which would need
to be granted prior to the commencement of construction works and would be
subject to relevant stakeholder consultation.

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to:
a) Approve the publication of a statutory notice on a proposal to permanently expand
secondary provision at Allerton High School from a capacity of 1100 to 1400 pupils by
increasing the admission number in Year 7 from 220 to 280 with effect from September
2022;
b) Note that implementation of the proposal would be subject to the response of the
proposed statutory notice and on the outcome of further detailed design work and
planning applications as indicated at section 4.4 of this report;
c) Note that the proposal has been brought forward in time for places to be delivered for
2022; and
d) Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Systems.

Page 47

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the Local
Authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places, which supports the
achievement of the Best Council priority to improve educational attainment and
close achievement gaps. This report describes the outcome of a consultation
regarding a proposal to expand secondary school provision at Allerton High School
and seeks approval to publish a Statutory Notice.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Inner North secondary planning area referred to in this report includes the
following secondary schools/academies: Cardinal Heenan Catholic High School,
Carr Manor Community School, Roundhay School, Allerton High School, Allerton
Grange School and Leeds Jewish Free School.

2.2

There has been an increase in the population of children in local primary schools
over recent years resulting in a number of primary school expansions. This is now
feeding through into secondary schools and the number of children living across the
Alwoodley/Moortown area, in particular those living nearest to both Allerton High
School and Allerton Grange School, has increased. A number of local schools have
been expanded or have offered additional places over recent years and further
places are needed to help manage the number of secondary places available for
families in the area. Current population and admissions data indicates that
additional secondary school places will be required in this area by 2022 to ensure
local demand is met.

2.3

Allerton High School has admitted additional pupils above its admission number for
a number of years to support the rising demand for more secondary places in the
local area. Its Published Admission Number (PAN) permanently increased from 198
to 220 from September 2021, along with the introduction of ‘zones’ into the school’s
existing catchment priority area. The zones were introduced to manage the impact
of an increase in the number of families who would not otherwise be able to secure
a place at Allerton High School due to their geographical location of living furthest
north in the catchment priority area, and who would also be unlikely to qualify for a
place at any other local schools. Zone 1 covers the area primarily to the north of
Allerton High School, including the school site, and has a higher priority than zone
2, which is to the south of the school. From September 2022 some families living in
zone 2 will have a catchment priority for other schools as well as Allerton High, or
be within a reasonable travel distance of other schools, so if they are unable to
secure a place at Allerton High they could reasonably be expected to qualify for a
place at a different local school. There are no plans to change the zones within the
catchment priority area at this time so if the expansion were to progress the priority
for places would remain the same as it is now.

2.4

In response to increasing local demand, thirty additional temporary Year 7 places
were made available at Allerton High School for September 2021 following National
Offer Day taking the total number of available places to 250. Temporary
accommodation will be provided within the school site to support these additional
places.

Page 48

2.5

The proposal to permanently expand Allerton High School has been developed
through discussions between Leeds City Council and the governing body and head
teacher of the school. The governing body fully supports the proposal.

2.6

Public consultation on the proposal took place between 31 March and 7 May 2021.
To maximise stakeholder engagement a variety of consultation methods were used,
including email communications and an online survey. Three online consultation
sessions were also held for parents, residents and other interested stakeholders
which gave attendees an opportunity to discuss the proposal with representatives
from the school leadership team, as well as the council’s Sufficiency and
Participation, Highways, and City Development teams. Leaflets advertising the
consultation were delivered to residents in the local area. Details about the
consultation were also sent to all local primary and secondary schools in the area
and to other stakeholders. Information was available via the Leeds City Council
website and through various social media platforms and accounts. A targeted
Facebook advertising campaign was also undertaken to reach people living within
postcode areas located within the vicinity of Allerton High School.

2.7

Online consultation meetings were held with the governing body and staff at Allerton
High School and views on the proposal were sought from the student council. Local
ward members and MPs have also been fully briefed on the proposal.

3.

Main issues

3.1

There is an identified need for additional secondary places in the Inner North area
of Leeds to meet anticipated demand over future years. Allerton High School is
oversubscribed and has admitted more pupils than its PAN for a number of years to
help meet higher demand in the area. Its PAN permanently increased from 198 to
220 for 2021 and following secondary national offer day in March 2021, a further 30
temporary places were made available at the school, taking the total number of
available Year 7 places to 250 for September 2021. The school is located in an area
of high demographic need and the proposed 60 additional permanent Year 7 places
would address anticipated future local pressure in the Alwoodley/Moortown area.

3.2

Allerton High was rated ‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted at its most recent inspection in
December 2018. The school consistently achieves very good outcomes for its
pupils, both in terms of raw attainment and progress. In 2019, the last year for which
there are published exam results, the progress 8 score for the school was 0.69 –
the second best score in the city. Disadvantaged pupils consistently achieve a
positive progress 8 score. Allerton High had the highest percentage in Leeds of
pupils achieving a grade 5 or better in English and Maths (69%). Post 16 results are
currently the highest in the city in terms of the progress made from GCSE to A level.
Allerton High is a very well led school, with a stable and very experienced senior
leadership team and governing body. Behaviour is excellent. The school community
is diverse but extremely harmonious. Learning Improvement supports the expansion
of this successful school.

3.3

Allerton High School currently offers resource and partnership provision places for
young people with SEND. The resource provision places are for speech and
language communication and the partnership places are for young people who are
on the roll of the North West Specialist Inclusive Learning Centre. Both types of
specialist provision currently on offer at the school would continue if the proposal to
permanently expand the mainstream places went ahead.
Page 49

3.4

The level of engagement with the consultation was very high. A total of 385
consultation survey responses were received during the consultation period of
which 320 (83%) either strongly or somewhat supported the proposal. 58 (15%)
either strongly or somewhat opposed the proposal and a further 7 (2%) neither
supported nor opposed. Local ward members and the head teacher and governing
body at Allerton High School are all supportive of the proposal and of the rationale
behind it.

3.5

A summary of the views expressed by the 320 survey respondents who strongly or
somewhat supported the proposal is below;

3.6



175 respondents supported the proposal as it would enable more children to
attend a local high school. Many respondents made particular reference to
children living relatively close to the school within catchment priority zone 2 who
they said would be unlikely to secure a place at Allerton High School without the
proposed additional places. 43 respondents also talked about the various
benefits of young people living close enough to school to be able to walk there.



96 respondents stated that more secondary school places are needed in the
area to meet future demand and some referred to their own experience of trying
to secure a local school place for their child.



52 respondents made positive comments about Allerton High School and some
went on to say that more children should be given the opportunity to benefit
from securing a place there. Comments were made about how additional places
are needed at the school to enable it to serve its local community.



Comments were received from some families who live in the north of the priority
catchment area for Allerton High School. They noted that without the catchment
priority zones, which were implemented from 2021, and the proposed extra
places from 2022, they anticipate that their children would be very unlikely to
secure a place at Allerton High School and if so would be likely to be given a
placement offer for a school a considerable distance away from where they live
as they wouldn’t be offered a place at any other local school.



Some respondents referred to recent increases in the number of secondary
school aged children in the area and said that more school places will be
needed in future years to accommodate them. References were also made to
increasing numbers of primary aged pupils moving through to secondary
schools in the Alwoodley area following on from expansions to primary provision
in the area over the past few years.

A summary of the views expressed by the student council at Allerton High School is
below;


Overall the student council was very supportive of the expansion proposal and
stated that it was a “fantastic idea” and an “amazing expansion project”. The
students commented that additional students would benefit both the school and
the local community. Students welcomed the potential change to the school and
several commented that it would be exciting to have a fresh extension and
additional resources/new facilities. One student also commented that there

Page 50

would be “more space for focused learning and meaningful communication
between teachers and students”.


Some students expressed concern that the new accommodation would take up
some of the large open green spaces surrounding the school and building work
may cause temporary disruption to learning. One student commented that if the
proposed expansion were to go ahead, the school could “become too big in
terms of the number of students” and queried whether students would be able to
receive the same level of support as they do now. One student was concerned
that there may be more congestion around school at lesson changeover and
another commented on how expensive the expansion would be. Several
students were concerned that the potential expansion would worsen the already
long queues for lunch in the cafeteria. Another student was concerned that the
increase in the school population could cause issues with oversubscription of
extra-curricular clubs and trips.



The students suggested that the potential expansion would require more staff,
additional class spaces and expanded facilities (such as the lunch hall) in order
to cater for the additional pupils. One student suggested that it would be
beneficial to the school community if the school continue providing support and
information regarding the extension.

3.7

A summary of the views expressed by the survey respondents who strongly or who
somewhat objected to the proposal along with a response is below.

3.8

Concern that the proposed expansion would have a negative impact on
class sizes, on standards of teaching and learning and on the school’s ethos.
14 respondents had concerns that the current high standards at Allerton High
School would not be maintained were it to expand. 17 respondents were
concerned about a potential negative impact on teaching and learning and concerns
were also raised about class sizes increasing. A small number of respondents
commented that schools with relatively low numbers of pupils tend to achieve better
outcomes and one suggested that other schools that have recently expanded have
seen a decline in standards. Two respondents raised concerns about the current
ethos of the school; one saying it is too focussed on exam outcomes and the other
claiming that incidents of bullying are not adequately dealt with.

3.8.1 Response.
The school enthusiastically welcomes the opportunity to enable more students to
benefit from its high standards of teaching and learning within a safe, secure and
happy environment. The Governing Body and Leeds City Council’s Learning
Improvement team believe that the school’s leadership team and staff would be
able to successfully manage this change.
Were the school to expand, additional teaching and support staff would be required
over the five year period that it would take for all year groups - Years 7 to 11 - to
increase in size to 280 places. The head teacher has confirmed that there are no
plans to increase class sizes as a result of the proposed expansion.
There is no evidence that smaller secondary schools in Leeds perform better than
larger schools. Some of largest schools in Leeds are the ones with the best
Page 51

Progress 8 scores. The head teacher and governing body at Allerton High School
are committed to maintaining the current high standards and feel that due to the
positive reputation of the school they would be able to continue to attract high
quality staff. They would continue to have the very highest expectations of all
members of the school community to enable all young people there to achieve
success. The quality of teaching and learning would not be negatively impacted and
the school’s leadership and vision would remain the same.
Allerton High School’s exam outcomes are very strong which contributes to the
school being very popular with families. The most recent Ofsted report for the
school (December 2018) stated “The school now has a history of outstanding
outcomes for its pupils. Pupils make sustained progress across the curriculum and
the standards that they reach are high”. Exam outcomes are a key priority for the
head teacher and leadership team at all schools, however there is an appropriate
balance at Allerton High School between the focus on exam results and on the wellbeing of all members of the school community.
The head teacher has confirmed that all bullying incidents are dealt with effectively
by the school.
3.9

Concern about potential negative impact on existing pupils.
Two respondents were concerned that the school is already overcrowded and that
existing facilities are inadequate for the number of children currently on roll there.
Some respondents suggested that the proposed expansion would lead to more
pressure on the school infrastructure, especially on dining facilities and/or sports
facilities. One respondent was concerned that unless the capacity of extracurricular
opportunities are also increased in line with the additional number of pupils, some
young people may miss out. One respondent also raised concerns about the
proposed expansion coming too soon after the disruption caused by the Covid
pandemic.

3.9.1 Response.
The leadership of the school would be responsible for ensuring that adequate
staffing and support for pupils’ welfare and wellbeing was in place, were the school
to expand. The head teacher is confident that she and the senior leadership team
could continue to maintain current high standards in all areas of pupils’ experience
at the school including continuing to provide good pastoral support for all. Despite
the disruption caused by the Covid pandemic, pupils at Allerton High School have
continued to make very good progress and the head teacher and leadership team
are confident that they have the capacity to continue to manage this whilst
successfully implementing a potential permanent expansion at the school.
The school has admitted more pupils than its PAN in recent years in response to
growing pressure on Year 7 places in the area. This has put some strain on the
existing facilities at the school, but the head teacher and leadership team have
ensured that the school environment has remained safe for all pupils and that pupils
have had adequate access to all of the facilities they need. There are plans in place
to make changes to the school day to reduce pressure on current dining facilities at
the school and additional temporary accommodation is being provided to support
the increase of 30 Year 7 pupils agreed for September 2021.

Page 52

Were the school to permanently expand, additional accommodation would be put in
place to ensure sufficient teaching space and ancillary services for a school with a
PAN of 280. Areas such as additional dining capacity, toilets, staff accommodation
and outdoor/sporting provision would form part of the discussions with the school
around requirements during the design development process. Any new
accommodation would be designed to support and improve, where possible, the
movement of staff and pupils around the school site.
If additional students wish to attend extra-curricular activities staffing levels would
be increased as necessary.
3.10

Road safety, traffic and environmental concerns.
Respondents raised a number of concerns relating to potential increases in traffic
congestion in the area, increased demand for parking and negative impact on road
safety. 24 respondents were concerned about a potential increase in traffic levels in
the area and 5 stated that the existing highways infrastructure is already unable to
cope, particularly at peak times. Inconsiderate parking in the area near to the school
at school drop-off/pick up times appears to be causing inconvenience and
disruption to some local residents, with 7 respondents raising parking as a concern.
Road safety concerns were raised by 4 respondents. 5 respondents raised
environmental concerns including potential increases in pollution, litter and noise
and a possible negative impact on local wildlife.
Some respondents requested that if the school were to expand, additional
measures would be needed to manage traffic and parking in and around the vicinity
of Allerton High School particularly at times of day when pupils are travelling to and
from school. One respondent added that highways measures already put in place to
mitigate against the impact of expansions at local primary schools have not been
effective.

3.10.1 Response.
The potential permanent expansion of Allerton High School has been proposed to
address an increase in the number of Year 7 aged young people in the
Alwoodley/Moortown area and especially those living closest to the school. It is
therefore anticipated that the majority of pupils allocated the additional places would
live within a reasonable walking distance of the school. The proposed increase in
pupil numbers would happen gradually over a 5 year period so the full impact would
not be felt all at once.
If the proposed expansion were to progress the planning process would require a
Transport Statement (TS) and Travel Plan (TP) to be developed to assess the
impact of the proposed expansion on the highway network. All highways issues
raised within the consultation process would be assessed as part of the TS. The TS
would review collision data, speed surveys and an assessment of all existing traffic
regulation orders and provide appropriate measures to meet any identified needs
within the area surrounding the school. The TP would look to encourage
sustainable travel modes to and from the school and the provision of improved
cycle facilities and electric parking points to support sustainable travel would be
considered in light of the Council’s commitment to carbon reduction. All identified
highways measures needed to help the school expand, including increasing on-site
car parking facilities for staff, would be delivered as part of the proposals.
Page 53

Highways work has recently been undertaken to improve pedestrian access, road
safety and traffic flow in the area as part of the Allerton C of E Primary School
expansion scheme. This work included;





A new humped Zebra Crossing facility on Nursery Lane.
A junction plateau at the main access point to the school on Lingfield
Approach/Lingfield Gate to reduce vehicle speeds further in the area and
provide level crossing points.
Widening of the footpaths along Lingfield Approach.
Introduction of a new footpath link between Allerton C of E Primary School
and the Park and Ride site on King Lane.

In addition, part of the Park and Ride site has recently been reconfigured to allow
better pick up and drop off facilities for Allerton High School pupils.
Allerton High School has high expectations in terms of how its students should
conduct themselves both inside school and on their journey to and from school and
the head teacher is confident that the proposed expansion would not lead to an
increase in litter linked to its students.
3.11

Concern about delivery of potential new accommodation.
4 respondents raised concerns about the school site not being large enough to
support the proposed expansion and some went on to say that playground space
and/or sports facilities would be compromised. One respondent raised concerns
about the lack of detail currently available about the new accommodation and its
potential impact on pupils and local residents. One respondent commented on the
importance of providing sufficient and suitable accommodation to support the
additional 30 temporary places in 2021.

3.11.1 Response.
The current school building was originally designed so it could be expanded in the
future if required. If the school were to expand, it is anticipated that a new
accommodation block would be provided to support this. The new block would be
attached to the existing main school building and would be set over multiple floors
to minimise the footprint and make it more efficient in terms of impact on outdoor
space.
Public consultation would take place as part of the planning submission to give local
residents/parents and carers and other interested parties the opportunity to view
plans and raise questions. In advance of work commencing on site, local residents
living adjacent to the school would be advised of key aspects of the programme
including the start date, when the most disruptive works would take place in terms
of noise and handover of each phase (if phased). All contractor vehicles would be
managed on the school site and deliveries would be timed to minimise the impact
on the local community.
3.12

Concern that the proposed expansion of Allerton High School is not the best
solution for meeting future demand for secondary places in the Alwoodley
and wider area.
Page 54

12 respondents were concerned that alternative solutions appear to not have been
considered including expanding the capacity at other schools, establishing a new
secondary school in the area or managing future need through temporary solutions.
It was also suggested that the proposed 60 additional places at Allerton High
School is too many.
One respondent claimed that secondary school place planning for the Alwoodley
area has been too reactive and that Leeds City Council should have planned for
increased demand for places following on from expanding primary capacity in the
area.
3.12.1 Response.
When planning school places a number of options are considered before proposals
are developed. A number of local schools have already expanded or admitted over
their PANs and Allerton High School itself admitted additional pupils above its
admission number for a number of years to support the rising demand for more
secondary places in the local area.
Current demographic data supports the need for 60 additional Year 7 places in the
Alwoodley area from 2022 to ensure that Leeds City Council meets its duty to
ensure a sufficient number of places. As Allerton Grange School has already been
expanded, Allerton High School was identified for potential expansion as it sits
directly within the area of need and has the site capacity to expand.
The creation of a new free school would firstly require a large enough site and
would also create too much provision in one area, potentially negatively impacting
on some local schools across the Inner North of the city. This approach would not
be effective in delivering the required places across the Alwoodley/Moortown area.
The alternative of addressing the need for more additional Year 7 places in
Alwoodley/Moortown through making more offers at schools in other areas would
result in some children having to travel an unreasonable distance to access a
school place. This particularly applies to children living in the north of the Allerton
High priority catchment area. This is because if these children did not receive an
offer of a place at Allerton High, they would be unlikely to qualify for a place at any
other Inner North secondary school due to those schools filling with children who
live closer to them. They would then be offered the next nearest school that had a
vacancy and this is highly likely to be at school more than 3 miles from the home
address.
3.13

Concern about potential negative impact on other local secondary schools.
The governing bodies of two other secondary schools raised concerns that the
proposed expansion of Allerton High School is not sustainable in the longer term,
isn’t backed up by future census data and will consequently lead to more surplus
places in other schools, some of which have catchment areas that overlap with
Allerton High School’s catchment priority area. Their view is that if children living in
the north of the Alwoodley area were to travel north for places instead of south, that
other schools could collaborate to meet the need for places nearer their location.
There was also a view that the proposed expansion may be a way for Allerton High
to potentially expand their sixth form.
Page 55

3.13.1 Response.
Pressure on secondary places in and around the Alwoodley/Moortown area has
been monitored over the past few years, with additional places being created at
Carr Manor Community School, Allerton Grange School and Roundhay School.
The timing of any proposed changes is carefully considered to minimise the
potential negative impact on other schools in the area, and current demographic
data supports the need for additional Year 7 places in the Alwoodley area from
2022 to ensure that Leeds City Council meets its duty to ensure a sufficient number
of places.
Creating additional places at other local schools instead of permanently expanding
Allerton High School would be likely to lead to some local families being offered a
school place an unreasonable distance away from where they live. Although
families in Alwoodley may have preferenced schools to the north in the past, this
trend has not been seen in recent years and unless parents/carers could be
encouraged to actively preference these schools again, offers of places at them
would not be considered reasonable due to the distances involved.
The proposal being consulted on is to permanently expand the number of Year 7
places offered at Allerton High School. If the proposal went ahead the new
accommodation provided would support this expansion in Year 7 to 11 only. The
potential expansion of sixth form provision at the school would be a matter for the
governing body to consider and does not form part of this proposal.
3.14

Concern about the current catchment priority zones for Allerton High School
which were introduced in 2021.
12 respondents commented that the zones should be amended to help more
local children secure a place at Allerton High School, especially those living near to
the school in zone 2. Some respondents went on to say that zone 2 includes a
higher proportion of children from more disadvantaged backgrounds than zone 1
and it is discriminatory that these children have a lower priority for a place at the
school.

3.14.1 Response.
The priority catchment zones for Allerton High School were introduced in
September 2021 to give children living in the more rural area to the north of the
school a more meaningful priority for a local school place. Without zones, it would
be likely that the school would need to expand by more than 60 places to ensure
that children living in the north of the Allerton High priority catchment area could
secure a place there and this may negatively impact on schools in neighbouring
areas. In previous years some families living in this area have expressed a
preference for schools in North Yorkshire but more recently these preference
patterns have shifted in favour of Leeds schools resulting in a number of children
being at risk of not securing a local school place.
The introduction of zone 1 and 2 priority catchment areas was implemented from
September 2021 following approval for the change being granted by the Office of
the Schools Adjudicator. The location of the boundary between zones 1 and 2 was
determined through analysis of demographic data and was not linked in any way to
Page 56

levels of deprivation in the respective two areas. Although some zone 2 children live
relatively close to Allerton High School, because they also have priority for one or
more other schools they have a very good chance of securing a local place if they
cannot secure a place at Allerton High and if families preference these schools.
Even with an increase of places at Allerton High, if the zones did not exist there is a
chance that children living in the north of the Allerton High School priority catchment
area would be at risk of not securing a local school place.
3.15

Concern about potential negative impact on SEND provision.
One respondent felt it was incorrect to say that the proposed expansion would not
affect SEND provision at Allerton High School because the school appears to have
recently stopped accepting new pupils in to the on-site Partnership Provision with
North West Specialist Inclusive Learning Centre (SILC). Another respondent was
concerned about the sustainability of the Resource Provision for speech and
language communication at Allerton High School.

3.15.1 Response.
Allerton High School currently offers both Resource Provision and Partnership
Provision places for pupils with additional learning needs. As part of the work done
to develop the current proposal to permanently expand the school, discussions took
place with the school about the accommodation required to enable the Partnership
Provision to continue. Whilst these discussions were ongoing no new children were
placed into the Partnership Provision for September 2021. If the proposed
permanent expansion were to go ahead the associated build scheme would include
sufficient accommodation for both types of specialist provision to be able to operate
effectively, however if the permanent expansion did not go ahead, further work
would need to be done to understand the future accommodation requirements
associated with the SEND provision. In either scenario, it is intended that both the
Resource Provision and Partnership Provision places currently on offer at Allerton
High School would continue to be available in future years.
In future if additional need was identified for speech and language communication
provision, either locally or city-wide, proposals would be brought forward as
required to address the need.
3.16

Concern about the consultation process.
One respondent was concerned that consultation activities were too focused on
seeking views from people who are likely to benefit from the extra places and one
respondent was concerned that a decision has already been made in respect of the
proposal.

3.16.1 Response.
Public consultation on a proposal to permanently expand Allerton High School took
place between 31 March and 7 May 2021. A range of activities were undertaken to
raise awareness of the consultation and these were not confined to families of
primary-aged children. Approximately 1650 leaflets were delivered to households in
the vicinity of Allerton High School and a social media campaign took place
targeting local postcode areas. Information about the consultation was posted on
the Leeds City Council website. Ward members in the Alwoodley and neighbouring
Page 57

wards were informed about the process and information about it was sent to the
parish council. Primary schools in the local area were asked to send information out
about the consultation to their parents/carers and local secondary schools and all
SILCs were informed about it. As part of the consultation process three public
online sessions were held which were open to anyone to attend. LCC officers and
representatives from the school were in attendance at these sessions to share
information about the proposal and answer questions. 309 respondents stated that
they had found the information provided as part of the consultation useful.
If the proposal were to progress, the next stage in the process would be the
publication of a statutory notice. Only following a statutory notice period could
Leeds City Council’s Executive Board make a final decision on the proposal.
However, in order for the scheme to be implemented in time for September 2022,
were it to be approved, some feasibility work related to the potential
accommodation solution is currently being done at risk.
3.17

Concern about the cost of the proposed expansion.
One respondent was concerned that the funding required to expand Allerton High
School would lead to less funding being available for other schools. Other schools
in the wider area are undersubscribed and 4 respondents commented that it would
be more cost-efficient to invest money in improving standards at these schools so
that more young people want to go to them rather than expanding Allerton High
School. One respondent was concerned about how the proposed expansion would
be funded and another raised a concern that funding could run out before new
accommodation is built.

3.17.1 Response.
If the proposal went ahead it would be funded primarily through the Basic Need
grant which is used to deliver additional learning places in areas of identified need.
The funding for this scheme would not negatively impact on the funding for any
potential future expansion schemes at other schools/academies. This report
includes a request for provisional Authority To Spend to fund the proposed scheme,
were it to go ahead.
The popularity of schools/academies as seen through the number of parental
preferences they receive is linked to a range of factors and investment alone cannot
guarantee that a particular provider would become more popular, particularly to
families living in other areas. The council has a legal obligation to provide sufficient
school places and, should this proposal go ahead, would use a combination of
available resources including government grants provided specifically for this
purpose to fund expansion plans. The potential expansion of Allerton High School
would not negatively impact on potential future expansions of other schools or
academies in Leeds.
3.18

Concern about house prices in the area.
One respondent was concerned that the proposed increase in places at Allerton
High School would lead to an inflation in house prices in the area.

3.18.1 Response.

Page 58

The factors affecting house prices in a particular area are complex and variable.
Leeds City Council has a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient learning
places available and this proposal has been brought forward to address an
identified need for additional secondary school places in the Alwoodley area.
4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The process in respect of this proposal has been managed in accordance with the
relevant legislation and with local good practice.
4.1.2 Public consultation on the proposal took place between 31 March and 7 May 2021.
To maximise stakeholder engagement a variety of consultation methods were used,
including email communications and an online survey. Three public online
consultation sessions were also held for parents, residents and other interested
stakeholders which gave attendees an opportunity to discuss the proposal with
representatives from the school leadership team, as well as the council’s
Sufficiency and Participation, Highways, and City Development teams. Leaflets
advertising the consultation were delivered to residents in the local area. Details
about the consultation were also sent to all local primary and secondary schools in
the area and to other stakeholders. Information was available via the Leeds City
Council website and through various social media platforms and accounts. A
targeted Facebook advertising campaign was also undertaken to reach people
living within postcode areas located within the vicinity of Allerton High School.
4.1.3 Online consultation meetings were held with the governing body and staff at
Allerton High School and views on the proposal were sought from the student
council. Local ward members and MPs have also been fully briefed on the
proposal.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The EDCI screening form for this proposal is attached to this report.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 This proposal offers good value for money through its capacity to support
achievement of the Best Council Plan outcome that states ‘we want everyone in
Leeds to do well at all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life’.
4.3.2 This proposal is being brought forward to meet the local authority’s statutory duty to
ensure that there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and
desirable school places, is an efficient use of resources and reduces the risk of nonattendance.
4.3.3 This proposal contributes to the aspiration for Leeds City Council to be the best
council and for Leeds to be the best city in which to grow up, and a child friendly
city. The delivery of pupil places through the Learning Places Programme is one of
the baseline entitlements of a child friendly city. By creating good quality local
school places we can support the priority aims of improving educational attainment
Page 59

and closing achievement gaps for children and young people vulnerable to poor
learning outcomes. In turn, by helping young people into adulthood, to develop life
skills, this proposal provides underlying support for the council’s ambition to
produce a strong economy and a compassionate city. A good quality school place
also contributes towards delivery of targets within the Children and Young People’s
Plan such as our obsession to improve achievement, attainment and attendance at
school.
Climate Emergency
4.3.4 There is an identified need for additional secondary school provision in the
Alwoodley/Moortown area of Leeds. This proposal would meet some of this
increased demand and offer increased choice so that local families are able to
access local places and reduce journey times to and from school. Allerton High
School’s close proximity to residential areas which have experienced population
growth means that walking to school would be a viable option for many of the extra
students who may choose to attend the school.
4.3.5 If the proposal is approved Allerton High School would need to produce an updated
‘Travel Plan’ which would contain a package of agreed measures to mitigate the
potential impact on the highways. Leeds City Council’s ‘Influencing Travel
Behaviour Team’ would support these measures and seek to ensure safe routes to
and from school by promoting walking, cycling and scooting. Progress on these
matters would be monitored and support offered where appropriate.
4.3.6 Existing planning policies seek to address the issue of climate change by ensuring
that development proposals incorporate measures to reduce the impact on nonrenewable resources. The council’s Executive Board has also mandated that the
authority should be carbon neutral by 2030. This will result in sustainable/green
infrastructure being required of all future projects in order for planning permission to
be granted. To this end if the proposal progresses, any build scheme would explore
the potential use of renewable energy and energy saving technologies, with the aim
of increasing sustainability and minimising energy consumption. In parallel with this,
the Energy Unit would support the design team to identify energy saving measures
that could help achieve energy savings comparable to a 47% reduction in average
energy consumption levels, in line with the 2025 requirements. The proposed
energy efficiency standards are likely to increase the capital costs for any build
scheme required, however, there is as yet insufficient benchmark data available to
provide a reliable estimate of how much these additional measures would be likely
to add to the cost of the scheme. Leeds City Council promotes an ‘Invest to Save’
strategy that allows access to funding in order to offset the enhanced capital costs.
The improved energy efficiency would also reduce the school’s overall running
costs, as the building will be more economical to run long-term, eventually paying
for the measures put in place.
4.3.7 Any contractors tendering for the proposed development would need to
demonstrate a robust Waste Management Plan, be registered with The Considerate
Constructors Scheme, of which, the main consideration of the scheme falls into
three categories: the general public, the workforce and the environment.
Contractors would also need to be sympathetic to the Leeds Talent and Skills Plan
by striving to employ local trades thus reducing the impact of extended travel.

Page 60

4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 Based on initial viability, the indicative cost for delivery of a scheme to support an
expansion at Allerton High School is expected to be within the range of £7.5m and
£8m. The proposed works would include the construction of new accommodation to
provide additional classroom and ancillary facilities to support the proposed
expansion. The proposed build scheme would enable the school to continue to
operate the existing partnership and resource provisions for young people with
SEND.
4.4.2 The proposed expansion would be funded from the Learning Places Programme,
primarily through Basic Need Allocations. Once the viability/feasibility stage was
complete and the scheme proceeded to the detailed design phase, budgets would
be aligned to reflect that all parties have agreed the final design and cost estimate,
which would take account of site investigations and survey information, in
accordance with standard project and risk management principles. Once design
freeze was reached, the precise funding packages would be detailed in the relevant
Design and Cost Reports (DCRs) and the Director of Children and Families, in
consultation with School Places Programme Board would be asked to approve final
Authority To Spend for the proposed scheme along with any necessary risk fund
application, in line with the governance arrangements currently in place.
4.4.3 The proposed scheme would be subject to planning permission which would need
to be granted prior to the commencement of construction works and would be
subject to relevant stakeholder consultation.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 The changes that are proposed to Allerton High School form prescribed alterations
under the Education and Inspections Act 2006. The School Organisation
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 and
accompanying statutory guidance set out the process which must be followed when
making such changes.
4.5.2 This report is subject to call in.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 These proposals have been brought forward in time to allow secondary places to be
delivered for 2022. A decision not to proceed at this stage may result in fresh
consultations on new proposals, and places may not be delivered in time. It may
also result in further temporary cohorts being delivered in other local schools which
would be more costly in the longer term. The LA’s ability to meet its statutory duty
for sufficiency of school places in the short term may be at risk.
4.6.2 In response to growing demand for Year 7 places, Allerton High School has already
been admitting over its PAN in recent years. Allerton Grange School was also
permanently expanded in 2021, increasing its capacity by 300 pupils across Years
7 to 11. As the number of secondary-aged students living in the Inner North is
anticipated to increase further in future years, additional permanent places are
required to address the growing need. A decision not to proceed with the proposed
expansion of Allerton High School could result in insufficient school places being
available to meet local demand.
Page 61

4.6.3 If the proposal does not proceed there is a risk that increased demand for places in
the local area would have to be met further away from the area of need, reducing
the opportunity for more children and young people to walk to their local school, and
potentially increasing journey times and car use.
4.6.4 There is also a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient
school/learning places in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local
communities.
5

Conclusions

5.1

Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city we
will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough
school/learning places, is one of our top priorities. This proposal has been brought
forward to support learners in Leeds to benefit from being able to access a local
secondary place and so delivering our vision of Leeds as a child friendly city.

5.2

The vast majority of respondents support the proposal to expand Allerton High
School, provided that the additional teaching accommodation and other facilities
required to manage the increase in students is addressed. Concerns raised during
consultation have been considered, and on balance, the proposal remains strong
and addresses the need for school places in the area.

5.3

In response to growing demand for Year 7 places, Allerton High School has
admitted additional pupils above its admission number for a number of years and its
PAN permanently increased from 198 to 220 from September 2021. A further 30
temporary Year 7 places have also been established at the school for September
2021. Allerton Grange School was also permanently expanded from 2021,
increasing its capacity by 300 pupils across Years 7 to 11. As the number of
secondary-aged students continues to increase this proposal would allow more
children and young people to attend a local secondary school.

5.4

The additional places are required to ensure the authority meets its legal
requirement to ensure sufficiency of secondary provision for September 2022.
There is evidence of local need for places in the area and it is therefore
recommended that the proposal be approved.

6

Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:
a) Approve the publication of a statutory notice on a proposal to permanently expand
secondary provision at Allerton High School from a capacity of 1100 to 1400 pupils by
increasing the admission number in year 7 from 220 to 280 with effect from September
2022;
b) Note that implementation of the proposal would be subject to the response of the
proposed statutory notice and on the outcome of further detailed design work and
planning applications as indicated at section 4.4 of this report;

Page 62

c) Note that the proposal has been brought forward in time for places to be delivered for
2022; and
d) Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Systems.

7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest
opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already
been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Children and Families

Service area: Sufficiency and Participation

Lead person: Darren Crawley

Contact number: 0113 378 7227

Title: Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at Allerton High
School from September 2022
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

x

Other

If other, please specify
The proposal seeks to ensure a sufficiency of school places in the area.
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The Education Act 1996 places a duty on local authorities to ensure there are sufficient
school places for all children living in its area. The local authority (LA) is also required to
promote choice and diversity, and therefore must also ensure that there is a range of
options available to parents/carers.
The proposal is to permanently expand Allerton High School on its existing site from 220
places to 280 places in Year 7 from September 2022 onwards. The total number of
children in the school would increase year on year until the school reached its full capacity.
This screening form looks at the equality considerations that have taken place during the
consultation and engagement process with stakeholders. It also seeks to identify any
future action required to ensure that equality, diversity, cohesion and integration continues
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 65

1

to be well considered throughout the process, should the proposal continue through to the
next stage.
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater
or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that impact
on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
x

x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration


How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

The proposal is to permanently expand Allerton High School on its existing site from 220
places to 280 places in Year 7 from September 2022 onwards. The total number of
children in the school would increase year on year until the school reached its full capacity.
The school’s current sixth form provision and specialist resource and partnership provision
for young people with SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) are unaffected
by this proposal.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 66

2

There has been an increase in the population of children in local primary schools over
recent years resulting in a number of primary school expansions. This is now feeding
through into secondary schools and the number of children living across the
Alwoodley/Moortown area, in particular those living nearest to both Allerton High School
and Allerton Grange School, has increased. A number of local schools have been
expanded or have offered additional places over recent years and further places are
needed to help manage the number of secondary places available for families in the area.
Current population and admissions data indicates that additional secondary school places
will be required in this area by 2022 to ensure local demand is met.
An expansion at Allerton High School which is an oversubscribed, Ofsted rated
‘outstanding’ school would help address the anticipated increased demand for places in
the area.
Public consultation on the proposal took place between 31 March and 7 May 2021. To
maximise stakeholder engagement a variety of consultation methods were used, including
email communications and an online survey. Three online consultation sessions were also
held for parents, residents and other interested parties which gave attendees an
opportunity to discuss the proposal with representatives from the school leadership team,
as well as the council’s Sufficiency and Participation, Highways, and City Development
Teams. Leaflets advertising the consultation were delivered to residents in the local area.
Details about the consultation were also sent to all local primary and secondary schools
in the area and to other stakeholders. Information was available via the Leeds City Council
website and through various social media platforms and accounts. A targeted Facebook
advertising campaign was also undertaken to reach people living within postcode areas
located within the vicinity of Allerton High School.
Interested parties could submit their views on the proposals by completing an online
survey or by emailing/writing to the Sufficiency and Participation Team. The length of
consultation (5 weeks) and the variety of methods in which people could respond to the
consultation were intended to make the consultation open to all and was in line with DfE
guidance.
Allerton High School is a non-selective community secondary school that admits children
and young people in accordance with the Local Authority’s coordinated admission
arrangements.
The school’s Equality Policy Statement (December 2019) states that:
“At Allerton High we believe equality is treating everyone with equal dignity and worth,
valuing their characteristics such as age, disability, gender, ethnicity, religion or belief,
sexual orientation and socio-economic circumstances.”
It goes on to state that: “We welcome our duties under the Equality Act 2010 to eliminate
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations in relation to the
protected characteristics of:





age (as appropriate for schools)
disability
gender reassignment
marriage and civil partnership

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 67

3







pregnancy and maternity
race
religion and belief
sex
sexual orientation.”



Key findings

From the equality impact screening the Sufficiency and Participation Team found that this
proposal would have a positive effect on some of the 6 categories listed below;
•
•
•
•
•
•

Age
Sex and Gender Reassignment
Religion
Ethnicity
Disability
Sexual orientation

The additional learning places would create more opportunities for more pupils to be
supported in a way that meets their individual needs, regardless of age, sex, gender
reassignment, religion, ethnicity, disability or sexual orientation, in an inclusive school
environment. This proposal supports that aim and would not have an adverse impact on
any child or young person who attends the school included in this proposal.
The school’s existing ethos and any new accommodation provided would both help to
ensure that all children and young people who attend can take a full part in the school
curriculum in an environment that supports and protects their own individual equality
characteristics. Expansion of the existing school would ensure that it continues to support
the needs of its community by providing more places for local children. Through the design
process, any new accommodation to facilitate the expansion of the school would be
compliant with the Equality Act 2010.
The proposal would have a positive impact on promoting choice and diversity for local
families who would be applying for a school place, supporting the achievement of The
Best Council Plan outcome that states that ‘we want everyone in Leeds to do well at all
levels of learning and have the skills they need for life’. The proposal also supports the
priority aims of improving educational attainment and closing achievement gaps for
children and young people vulnerable to poor learning outcomes.
The local authority has a statutory duty to ensure the sufficiency of school places for all
children living in Leeds. In addition to our statutory duty we want to further support the
authority’s aspiration to be the best city to grow up in and be a Child Friendly City.
A total of 385 survey responses were received during the consultation period of which 320
(83%) either strongly supported or somewhat supported the proposal to permanently
expand Allerton High School, 58 (15%) either strongly opposed or somewhat opposed the
proposal and a further 7 (2%) neither supported nor opposed.
Further details about the responses and issues identified by stakeholders and
respondents during the consultation period are included in the main body of the Executive
Board report.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 68

4



Actions

If the proposal is taken forward, the extra secondary places would be made available in
Year 7 from September 2022.
During the consultation process, all views and responses were considered equally. If the
proposal is approved, due regard to equality will be given to all aspects of developing and
implementing the proposal with further equality impact assessments conducted at key
points within the programme. Any identified actions would then be used to inform the
proposals and implementation during the design process for new school accommodation.
Any modifications to the site would be fully compliant with the Equality Act 2010. This
would ensure that the building is accessible to all users: students, staff and visitors.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Darren Crawley
Sufficiency and
19/5/21
Participation Lead
Date screening completed

19/5/21

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions
or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 69

5

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 19/5/21
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 70

6

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Elizabeth Richards
Tel: 378 7235
Report of Director of Children and Families
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23rd June 2021
Subject: Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning
places at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School from September 2022
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Wetherby

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the local
authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places. The changes that are
proposed form prescribed alterations under the Education and Inspections Act
2006. The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2013 and accompanying statutory guidance set out the
process which must be followed when making such changes. The statutory process
for making the proposed changes varies according to the nature of the change and
status of the school. The process followed in respect of this proposal is detailed in
this report. The local authority (LA) is the decision maker in this case.



A consultation on a proposal to expand St Edward’s Catholic Primary School to
permanently increase the number of places offered at the school in Reception from
20 to 30 places from September 2022, took place between 15 January and 11
February 2021.



A total of 112 consultation responses were received of which 38.4% either strongly
or somewhat supported the proposal. 58.9% strongly opposed or somewhat
opposed the proposal and 2.7% neither supported nor opposed the proposal.
Further details about the responses and issues identified by stakeholders and
respondents during the consultation period are detailed in the main body of this
report.
Page 71

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)
This proposal offers good value for money through its capacity to support achievement
of the Best Council Plan outcome that states ‘we want everyone in Leeds to do well at
all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life’.
This proposal is being brought forward to meet the LA’s statutory duty to ensure that
there are sufficient school places for all the children and young people in Leeds.
Providing places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and
desirable school places, is an efficient use of resources and reduces the risk of nonattendance.
This proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to be the best council, the best city in
which to grow up and a child friendly city. The delivery of pupil places through the
Learning Places Programme is one of the baseline entitlements of a child friendly city.
Providing additional school places in an already established, Ofsted rated
‘Outstanding’, school in an area where demand for places is increasing will contribute
towards the achievement of the Child Friendly City aim of ‘improving educational
attainment and closing achievement gaps for children and young people vulnerable to
poor learning outcomes’. In turn, by helping young people into adulthood, to develop
life skills, this proposal provides underlying support for the council’s ambition to
produce a strong economy and a compassionate city.
A good quality school place also contributes towards delivery of targets within the
Children and Young People’s Plan such as our obsession to improve achievement,
attainment and attendance at school.
3. Resource Implications


Based on initial viability, the indicative cost for delivery of a scheme to support an
expansion at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School is expected to be within the
range of £360K and £500K. The Diocese has already undertaken some works to
provide an additional classroom and extend car parking facilities at the school and
planning permission is in place for a seventh classroom. Viability work is currently
underway to confirm if this will meet requirements for the expansion to 1FE and
when complete should give a more accurate estimate of the cost of the scheme and
whether further planning permission is required.



The proposed expansion would be funded from the Learning Places Programme,
primarily through Basic Need Allocations. Along with Basic Need funding there are
some Section 106 contributions available arising from local housing development,
some of which could be used to part fund the expansion at St Edward’s. The
precise funding package would be confirmed at the design freeze stage, and
detailed in the relevant Design and Cost report (DCR).

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to:
a) Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently
expand primary provision at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School and increase the
number of places offered at the school in Reception from 20 to 30 with effect from
September 2022;

Page 72

b) Note that implementation of the proposal would be subject to the outcome of the
proposed statutory notice and on the outcome of further detailed design work and
planning applications as indicated at section 4.4 of this report;
c) Note that the proposal has been brought forward in time for places to be delivered
for 2022; and
d) Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Systems.

Page 73

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the Local
Authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places, which supports the
achievement of the Best Council priority to improve educational attainment and
close achievement gaps. This report describes the outcome of a consultation
regarding a proposal to expand primary school provision at St Edward’s Catholic
Primary School and seeks approval to publish a Statutory Notice.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Boston Spa primary planning area referred to in this report includes the
following primary schools; Primrose Lane Primary, Bramham Primary, Lady
Elizabeth Hastings Church of England Primary, St Mary’s C of E Primary and St
Edwards Catholic Primary.

2.2

The demand for primary school places in the Boston Spa area has grown in recent
years. Although the birth rate for the area fluctuates we are not seeing a decline in
births as has been seen in other areas of the city. The variation in the cohort size
has actually reduced in recent years and future cohorts are more consistently in the
middle of the range. Cohort sizes in this area consistently grow from birth to starting
school and there has been an increase in the numbers of children of primary school
age arising from new housing developments. There is also some further housing
that may come forward in the near future.

2.3

Over the last few years some primary schools in Boston Spa have admitted
additional pupils, above their Published Admission Number (PAN), in response to a
rising demand for Reception places. As the number of primary-aged children living
in Boston Spa is expected to increase further over future years, additional
permanent places are now required to address the growing need.

2.4

There have been ongoing discussions with schools in the Boston Spa area about
the need to create some additional primary school places and the proposal to
expand St Edwards Catholic Primary School has been developed through
discussions between Leeds City Council, the Catholic Diocese, the governing body
and the head teacher of the school.

2.5

Public consultation on the proposal took place between 15 January and 11
February 2021 to seek the views of parents, local residents and other stakeholders.
To maximise stakeholder engagement a variety of consultation methods were used,
including email communications and an online survey. Two online consultation
sessions were also held for parents, residents and other interested stakeholders
which gave attendees an opportunity to discuss the proposal with representatives
from the school leadership team, as well as the council’s Sufficiency and
Participation and City Development teams. Leaflets advertising the consultation
were delivered to residents in the local area. Details about the consultation were
also sent to all local primary and secondary schools in the area and to other
stakeholders. Information was available via the Leeds City Council website and
through various social media platforms and accounts.

2.6

Consultation meetings were held with the governing body, and staff of St Edwards
Catholic School, and pupils at the school completed feedback forms with their class
teachers. Local ward members have also been fully briefed on the proposal.

Page 74

3.

Main issues

3.1

There is an identified need for additional primary places in the Boston Spa area to
meet anticipated demand in future years. Additional temporary places have been
offered at a number of schools in the area to help meet demand for places in recent
years and St Edward’s Catholic Primary School which is popular and consistently
over-subscribed offered an additional 10 places above its PAN for Reception 2020
to ensure sufficient Reception places were available in the local area. The proposed
10 additional permanent Reception places would address the anticipated increased
demand for places in the area going forward.

3.2

There are five schools in the Boston Spa planning area. Bramham Primary has
already been expanded from 20 to 30 places, Primrose Lane Primary already has a
PAN of 30 and cannot be expanded further due to site constraints, and Lady
Elizabeth Hastings C of E Primary is also on a constrained site that could not
support expansion. St Marys C of E Primary and St Edwards Catholic primary are
both faith schools with a PAN of 20 and there is potential to expand to 30 on these
sites. It is possible that we will need to expand both schools to 30 in future years
dependent upon general growth and further housing coming forward in the area and
at present an additional 10 places is anticipated to be sufficient to meet anticipated
demand. St Edwards having already undergone recent changes to add a sixth
classroom and additional car parking facilities would be a simpler and more
affordable expansion scheme to undertake.

3.3

St Edward’s Catholic Primary School was rated ‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted at its most
recent inspection and is popular with families. The head teacher and governing
body are confident that if the school were to expand, existing high standards of
teaching and learning could be maintained, resulting in improved outcomes for a
greater number of local children.

3.4

A total of 112 survey responses were received during the consultation period of
which 43 (38.4%) either strongly supported or somewhat supported the proposal to
permanently expand St Edwards Catholic Primary School, 66 (58.9%) either
strongly opposed or somewhat opposed the proposal and a further 3 (2.7%) neither
supported nor opposed. The majority of respondents who either strongly or
somewhat opposed the proposal were local residents who had Highways related
concerns or would have preferred the LA to expand St Mary’s.

3.5

A copy of the responses received can be requested from the Sufficiency and
Participation Team at educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk

3.6

A summary of the views expressed by the survey respondents who supported the
proposal is listed below;


The most frequent comment made, by 30 respondents, was that an expansion
at St Edwards Catholic Primary School is needed in order to address the rising
demand for primary school places in the Boston Spa area. Some respondents
linked the increased need to housing developments in the area and some
mentioned that increasing places available would encourage young families to
move into the area which would be of benefit to the village.



9 respondents commented positively about the teaching and pastoral support
that is available at St Edwards and how this could be extended to more children
through the expansion. Comments made by the respondents included; that the
school is rated outstanding; has strong leadership; has dedicated staff and;
provides an excellent quality of education.

Page 75

3.7



8 respondents felt that teaching and learning at St Edwards would benefit as a
result of an expansion as it will bring in more funding for staff and resources.



11 comments mentioned that an expansion could have benefits to the school in
terms of improvements to facilities (e.g an additional classroom).



11 respondents felt that increasing the number of places would benefit the
school in allowing a move to single aged teaching. Respondents felt that this
would benefit the children and would reduce the size of classes in the upper end
of school where some mixed classes have been above 30.



2 respondents commented that increasing places at St Edwards would enable
the majority of parents to walk their children to school rather than drive.

A summary of concerns raised by respondents and responses to those concerns is
given below;

3.7.1 Concern about potential negative impact on traffic and highways: 33
respondents raised concerns around increased traffic, inconsiderate parking, road
safety issues, highways infrastructure being unable to cope and concern over
possible increase in levels of air pollution as a result of increased traffic. Comments
received expressed concern that there would be increased traffic on roads around
the school which would exacerbate existing issues, some also suggested that a
better alternative would be to build a new school or relocate St Edwards to reduce
traffic on Westwood Way. A number of comments around inconsiderate parking
also suggested that a drop off point should be created for parents/carers from all
local schools to be able to use to drop children off safely and one respondent
requested that the School Streets initiative, which restricts access to roads outside
primary schools at opening and closing times, be considered for Westwood Way.
Response: If the proposed expansion were to progress a full traffic assessment
and a transport statement, based on the results of surveys commissioned for this
project, would be produced to support the development of the scheme and fulfil any
associated planning requirements that may arise. This would include an
assessment of current highways issues and modelling what the impact would be of
additional traffic in the area. Specifically these would look at concerns raised by
residents and parents, such as parking around the school and safe walking routes.
Leeds City Council encourages sustainable travel and although it is expected that
the majority of children would walk to school any planning application required
would need to demonstrate how any issues resulting from an increase in traffic
could be mitigated. An updated school Travel Plan would also be required which
would encourage sustainable modes of travel for pupils. Leeds City Council’s
‘Travelwise Team’ would support school to identify measures that could be
incorporated into the travel plan that ensured safe routes to and from school and
promote walking, cycling and scooting. The school already promotes walking,
cycling and scooting to school and runs a “Walk on Wednesdays” initiative, those
children who take part for each half-term get entered into a prize draw for a £5
reward voucher. St Edwards has recently had some improvements made which
created a number of additional on-site parking spaces. The school feel that the
number of parking spaces will be adequate to accommodate all staff, including
catering staff and any visitors' cars in the car park following the expansion. As part
of any expansion process we would always review the number of parking spaces
available to ensure that this was sufficient for all staff.

Page 76

Recent census information shows that the majority of children who attend St
Edwards Catholic Primary School live within Boston Spa and that 54 percent of
pupils walk or cycle to school. Some families also make use of the nearby Church
Fields car park and walk to school from there. Any future development would
continue to support these trends and promote sustainable methods of travel.
The School Street Initiative would not be appropriate on Westwood Way as it is a
‘through route’ carrying traffic from the High Street in the direction of Clifford.
The increase in pupil numbers would happen gradually over several years so the
full impact of increased numbers of pupils would not take place suddenly. Although
there will be an increase in the admission limit of 10 places per year group for
Reception to year 6 it should be noted that the school already has more than 20
pupils on roll in most year groups and the overall number of children on roll at last
census was 169, meaning the net gain in the school population will actually be
closer to 40 pupils than 70.
3.7.2 Concern that expanding St Edwards would provide places for Catholic
children living outside the village and not help with the local sufficiency
issue: 18 comments received expressed concern that extra places at St Edwards
will bring in more children from outside the village as Catholic children are
prioritised in the Admissions Policy ahead of those living locally, 2 went on to
question whether the potential use of Section 106 (S106) monies to help support
the costs of the expansion would be within the terms of the S106 agreement.
3.7.3 Response: The majority of pupils attending St Edwards live within the Boston Spa
area. The school offered an additional 10 places in Reception in 2020, offering a
total of 30 places. 18 places were offered to Catholic families based on faith criteria
and the other 12 places were offered to non-Catholic families based on distance. All
of the children allocated a place at the school had listed the school as a preference.
St Edward’s is popular with both Catholic and non-Catholic families in the area and
so is anticipated to continue to serve a local need.
Under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended),
agreements and planning obligations can be entered into to mitigate the impacts of
a development proposal. S106 agreements can be made between local authorities
and developers and attached to planning permission outlining conditions which
must be fulfilled to make the development acceptable in planning terms. The
Church Fields development in Boston Spa is subject to a S106 agreement and the
contribution which is index-linked currently stands at £522,033.38 to be “used by
the Council as a contribution towards the capital costs of provision of and /or
improvements to facilities at primary schools in Boston Spa the need for which
directly arises from the Development.” At school census in October 2020 there
were a number of children living on the Church Fields development who were on
roll at St Edwards Catholic Primary School. Along with basic need funding some of
the Section 106 contributions could be used to part fund the expansion at St
Edward’s. The precise funding package would be confirmed at the design freeze
stage, and detailed in the relevant Design and Cost report (DCR).
3.7.4 Concern that places are being created in the wrong school: 20 respondents
suggested that St Marys C of E school should be the school to expand instead, with
some respondents noting that the school had recently been through a Managing
Staffing Reductions process and an expansion there would have a positive impact
on the school’s budget, staffing and organisation. There was a suggestion that the
expansion and investment of capital funding into St Mary’s would help the school to
Page 77

address some building and condition related issues along with a suggestion that
some of S106 monies should be used at St Mary’s. Some respondents expressed
concern over expanding a faith school which admits on faith criteria and suggested
that places are needed in a school that does not prioritise admission based on faith
criteria.
3.7.5 Response: The Education Act 1996 places a duty on local authorities to ensure
there are sufficient school places for all children living in its area. The local authority
(LA) is also required to promote choice and diversity, and therefore must also
ensure that there are a range of options available to parents/carers.
There are 5 schools across the Boston Spa primary planning area. Bramham
Primary School has already been expanded from 20 to 30 places, Primrose Lane
Primary School already has a PAN of 30 and cannot be expanded further due to
site constraints, and Lady Elizabeth Hastings Church of England Primary School is
also on a constrained site that could not support expansion. St Marys C of E
Primary and St Edwards Catholic Primary are both faith schools with a PAN of 20
and there is potential to expand to 30 on these sites. It is possible that we will need
to expand both schools to 30 in future years dependent upon general growth and
further housing coming forward in the area and at present an additional 10 places is
anticipated to be sufficient to meet anticipated demand. St Edwards having already
undergone recent changes to add a sixth classroom and additional car parking
facilities would be a simpler and more affordable expansion scheme to undertake.
Although St Edwards prioritises places based on faith criteria, it is a school that is
preferenced by both Catholic and non-Catholic families. The school offered an
additional 10 places in Reception in 2020, a total of 30 places, and of these 12
places were offered to non-Catholic families based on distance. The additional
places at St Edwards which is popular with local families is anticipated to meet the
need for places across the area.
The LA recognises that St Mary’s has had a number of issues partly arising from a
challenging budget position and has worked with the school to address these. The
authority will continue to support the school going forward and will work with the
Governing body should further places be needed in the future. In relation to the use
of the S106 monies, a feasibility study has been commissioned to look at some
potential areas for improvement to the building/site and in principle use of some of
the S106 monies will be considered to pay for any works identified and agreed.
3.7.6 Concern that there is no need for additional places in the area: 3 comments
received expressed doubt over the need for additional places in Boston Spa.
3.7.7 Response: Data on births, cohort sizes and allocation patterns are reviewed on a
regular basis to look for any changes and identify any emerging need for additional
places. In recent years we have needed to offer additional places above the schools
admission numbers at some schools, for September 2020 St Edwards offered 10
additional places. Current demographic data on the under 5s living in this area
indicates that there will be a continuing demand for places alongside demand from
new housing developments. There are a number of housing sites with planning
permission in the area which will add to the level of demand for places in Boston
Spa.

Page 78

3.7.8 Concern about potential negative impact on teaching and learning: 4
comments expressed concerns that the standards of education and teaching might
be compromised were the school to increase in size.
3.7.9 Response: Were the school to expand, additional teaching and support staff would
be required over the period that it would take for all year groups to increase in size
to 30 places. The head teacher and governing body are committed to maintaining
the current high standards. The head teacher and governing body are confident that
the proposed expansion would not have a negative impact on pupils and anticipate
that with an increase in pupil numbers the school would be more effective at
meeting pupils’ needs as it would enable them to move to single aged teaching
across the whole school rather than having mixed age classes as is currently
necessary in key stage 2.
Schools are funded based on the number of pupils they have on roll. The increase
in the number of pupils would attract an increase in funding for the school which
would allow the school to enhance their curriculum offer and also enable them to
employ more support staff to better support children's individual learning needs and
increase the effectiveness of teaching.
3.7.10 Concern over whether there is enough physical space at the school to
accommodate the increase in pupils: 3 comments received expressed concern
that there is limited space within school to accommodate further pupils.
3.7.11 Response: If the proposal is approved then building work would be required to
provide an extra classroom at the school. The additional space provided would be
in line with the recommendations, set out in the Building Bulletin 103 guidance, for a
1FE school. We would work with school to schedule when the building work takes
place to minimise disruption.
3.7.12 Concern that the school has not had a recent Ofsted inspection: 1 comment
received expressed concern that Ofsted has not visited the school since 2011.
3.7.13 Response: St Edward’s Catholic Primary School is a popular, oversubscribed
school which has an ‘outstanding’ Ofsted rating. Learning Improvement colleagues
within Leeds City Council have indicated that pupils achieve highly across all
statutory year groups and significantly above national levels, and that both
leadership in school and staffing are stable.
3.7.14 Concern that there is an alleged conflict of interest: 5 comments received
expressed concern that the chair of governors has other business interests that
pose a conflict of interest with relation to the expansion of the school, namely that
his company is seeking planning permission for a housing development in Boston
Spa and that the Chair of Governors did not fully declare this business interest in
his Governor profile.
3.7.15 Response: The local authority reviews data on births, cohort sizes and allocation
patterns on a regular basis to look for any changes and identify any emerging need
for additional places. The local authority independently identified a need for school
places in this area and went on to discuss this need with the local schools before
deciding on a proposal to put forward to expand St Edwards Catholic Primary
School.

Page 79

The Chair of Governors previously set out in the introductory section of his governor
profile what his other interests were, however, this has recently been amended to
make it more clear in the declaration of interests section what business interests he
has. The Chair of Governors has had no input into the decision making process
other than as part of the Governing Body which voted unanimously to support the
council’s expansion proposal. The proposal is and always was being made by the
council, and not the school, and so the council is of the view that there is no conflict
of interest to answer. The decision on whether or not to expand the school will be
made by Executive Board.
4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The process in respect of this proposal has been managed in accordance with the
relevant legislation and with local good practice.
4.1.2 Consultation on the proposal took place between 15 January and 11 February 2021
to seek the views of parents, local residents and other stakeholders. To maximise
stakeholder engagement a variety of consultation methods were used, including
email communications and an online survey. Two online consultation sessions were
also held for parents, residents and other interested stakeholders which gave
attendees an opportunity to discuss the proposal with representatives from the
school leadership team, as well as Leeds City Council officers. Leaflets advertising
the consultation were delivered to residents in the local area. Information about the
consultation was posted on the Leeds City Council website and through various
social media platforms. The school informed parents and carers of existing pupils
and details about the consultation were sent via email to primary and secondary
schools in the area to share with their parents and communities. The school also
sought views on the proposal from current pupils.
4.1.3 Consultation responses were received via the online survey and by email from a
range of stakeholders.
4.1.4 Consultation meetings were held with the governing body and staff of St Edwards
Catholic School.
4.1.5 Local ward members have been consulted on the proposal and have expressed
support for the proposed expansion.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The EDCI screening form for the proposal is attached as an appendix to this report.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 This proposal offers good value for money through its capacity to support
achievement of the Best Council Plan outcome that states ‘We want everyone in
Leeds to do well at all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life’.
4.3.2 This proposal is being brought forward to meet the LA’s statutory duty to ensure
that there are sufficient school places for all the children and young people in
Leeds. Providing places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to

Page 80

local and desirable school places, is an efficient use of resources and reduces the
risk of non-attendance.
4.3.3 This proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to be the best council and for
Leeds to be the best city in which to grow up and a child friendly city. The delivery
of pupil places through the Learning Places Programme is one of the baseline
entitlements of a child friendly city.
4.3.4 Providing additional good quality school places in a well-established, Ofsted rated
‘outstanding’ school, in an area where demand for places is increasing, will
contribute towards the achievement of the Child Friendly City aim of ‘improving
educational attainment and closing achievement gaps for children and young
people vulnerable to poor learning outcomes’. In turn, by helping young people into
adulthood, to develop life skills, this proposal provides underlying support for the
council’s ambition to produce a strong economy and a compassionate city.
4.3.5 A good quality school place also contributes towards delivery of targets within the
Children and Young People’s Plan such as our obsession to improve achievement,
attainment and attendance at school.
Climate Emergency
4.3.6 There is an identified need for additional primary school provision in the Boston Spa
area due to changes in the birth rate, increases in the numbers of children of
primary school age and several new housing developments. This proposal would
help meet the current and future increase in demand and help ensure that local
families are able to access local places and reduce journey times to and from
school. St Edward’s Catholic Primary School’s close proximity to residential areas
which have experienced population growth means that walking to school would be a
viable option.
4.3.7 If the proposal is approved St Edward’s Catholic Primary School would need to
produce an updated ‘Travel Plan’ which would contain a package of agreed
measures to mitigate the potential impact on the highway as a result of the
expansion. Leeds City Council’s ‘TravelWise team’ would support school to identify
measures that could be incorporated into the travel plan that ensured safe routes to
and from school and promote walking, cycling and scooting.
4.3.8 Existing planning policies seek to address the issue of climate change by ensuring
that development proposals incorporate measures to reduce the impact on nonrenewable resources. The council’s Executive Board has also mandated that the
authority should be carbon neutral by 2030. This will result in sustainable/ green
infrastructure being required of all future projects. Any build scheme would explore
the potential use of renewable energy and energy saving technologies, with the aim
of increasing sustainability and minimising energy consumption. In parallel with this,
the Energy Unit will support the design team to identify energy saving measures
that can help achieve energy savings comparable to a 47% reduction in average
energy consumption levels, in line with the 2025 requirements. The proposed
energy efficiency standards are likely to increase the capital costs for any build
scheme required, however, there is as yet insufficient benchmark data available to
provide a reliable estimate of how much these additional measures would be likely
to add to the cost of the scheme. Leeds City Council promotes an ‘Invest to Save’
strategy that allows access to funding in order to offset the enhanced capital costs.
The improved energy efficiency will also reduce the school’s overall running costs,
as the building will be more economical to run long-term, eventually paying for the
measures put in place.
Page 81

4.3.9 Any contractors tendering for the proposed development will need to demonstrate a
robust Waste Management Plan, be registered with The Considerate Constructors
Scheme, of which, the main consideration of the scheme falls into three categories:
the general public, the workforce and the environment. Contractors will also need to
be sympathetic to the Leeds Talent and Skills Plan by striving to employ local
trades thus reducing the impact of extended travel.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 Based on initial viability, the indicative cost for delivery of a scheme to support an
expansion at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School is expected to be within the
range of £360K and £500K. The Diocese has already undertaken some works to
provide an additional classroom and extend car parking facilities at the school and
planning permission is in place for a seventh classroom. Viability work is currently
underway to confirm if this will meet requirements for the expansion to 1FE and
when complete should give a more accurate estimate of the cost of the scheme and
whether further planning permission is required.
4.4.2 The proposed expansion would be funded from the Learning Places Programme,
primarily through Basic Need Allocations. Along with Basic Need funding there are
some Section 106 contributions available arising from local housing development,
some of which could be used to part fund the expansion.
4.4.3 Once the viability/feasibility stage was complete and the scheme proceeded to the
detailed design phase, budgets would be aligned to reflect that all parties have
agreed the final design and cost estimate, which would take account of site
investigations and survey information, in accordance with standard project and risk
management principles. Once design freeze was reached, the precise funding
packages would be detailed in the relevant Design and Cost Reports (DCRs) and
the Director of Children and Families, in consultation with School Places
Programme Board would be asked to approve final Authority To Spend for the
proposed scheme along with any necessary risk fund application, in line with the
governance arrangements currently in place.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the local
authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places. The changes that are
proposed form prescribed alterations under the Education and Inspections Act
2006. The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2013 and accompanying statutory guidance set out the
process which must be followed when making such changes. The statutory process
for making the proposed changes varies according to the nature of the change and
status of the school. The process followed in respect of this proposal is detailed in
this report. The LA is the decision maker in this case.
4.5.2 This report is subject to call in.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 This proposal has been brought forward in time to allow additional primary places to
be delivered for 2022. A decision not to proceed at this stage may result in fresh
consultations on new proposals, and places may not be delivered in time. It may
also result in further bulge cohorts being delivered in other local schools which
Page 82

would be more costly in the longer term. The Local Authority’s ability to meet its
statutory duty for sufficiency of school places in the short term may be at risk.
4.6.2 In response to growing demand for Reception places in recent years, some schools
in the Boston Spa area have admitted over their PANs. This includes St Edward’s
Catholic Primary School which offered an additional 10 places in Reception in 2020.
We may also need to offer ‘bulge’ places in September 2021 ahead of any
proposed permanent changes from 2022. As the number of primary pupils living in
the Boston Spa area is anticipated to increase further in future years, additional
permanent places are required to address the growing need. A decision not to
proceed with the expansion of St Edward’s Catholic Primary School could result in
insufficient school places being available to meet local demand.
4.6.3 There is also a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school
places in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local communities.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city we
will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough
school/learning places, is one of our top priorities. This proposal has been brought
forward to support learners in Leeds to benefit from being able to access a local
primary place and so delivering our vision of Leeds as a child friendly city.

5.2

There was recognition from a number of respondents to the consultation that more
school places are needed in this area. The majority of respondents that expressed
concerns were local residents and the concerns raised have been responded to in
this report. All concerns raised during consultation have been considered, and on
balance, the proposal remains strong and addresses the need for school places in
the area. It is recommended that the proposal to permanently expand St Edwards
Catholic Primary School be approved.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently
expand primary provision at St Edwards Catholic Primary School from a capacity of
140 pupils to 210 pupils with an increase in the admission number for Reception
from 20 to 30 with effect from September 2022.

6.2

Note that implementation of the proposal would be subject to the outcome of the
proposed statutory notice and on the outcome of further detailed design work and
planning applications as indicated at section 4.4 of this report;

6.3

Note that the proposal has been brought forward in time for places to be delivered
for 2022; and

6.4

Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Systems.

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest
opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already
been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Children and Families

Service area: Sufficiency and Participation

Lead person: Darren Crawley

Contact number: 0113 378 7227

Title: Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at St Edward’s
Catholic Primary School from September 2022
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

x

Other

If other, please specify
The proposal seeks to ensure a sufficiency of school places in the area.
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The Education Act 1996 places a duty on local authorities to ensure there are sufficient
school places for all children living in its area. The local authority (LA) is also required to
promote choice and diversity, and therefore must also ensure that there are a range of
options available to parents/carers.
The proposal is to expand St Edward’s Catholic Primary School to permanently increase
the number of places offered at the school in Reception from 20 to 30 places from
September 2022. The increase to 30 places in Reception would continue year on year
until all year groups were at the new admissions limit.
This screening form looks at the equality considerations that have taken place during the
consultation and engagement process with stakeholders. It also seeks to identify any
future action required to ensure that equality, diversity, cohesion and integration continues
EDCI Screening
Template updated January 2014
1
Page 85

to be well considered throughout the process, should the proposal continue through to the
next stage.
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater
or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that impact
on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
x

x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration


How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

The proposal is to expand St Edward’s Catholic Primary School to permanently increase
the number of places offered at the school in Reception from 20 to 30 places from
September 2022. The increase to 30 places in Reception would continue year on year
until all year groups were at the new admissions limit.
St Edward’s Catholic Primary School is a voluntary-aided school that admits children and
young people in accordance with the school’s defined admissions arrangements. The
EDCI Screening
Template updated January 2014
2
Page 86

school’s admissions policy contains faith-based criteria and does prioritise children of the
Catholic faith, however, the school does also admit children of other faiths or no-faith
where places are available. As an example in 2020 when the school admitted an additional
10 pupils above their published admission number (PAN), offering a total of 30 places, 12
places were offered to non-Catholic families.
The school’s “Equality Objectives (January 2018)” state that:
“St. Edward’s Catholic Primary School is committed to ensuring equality of provision
throughout the school community.” Their equality objectives include: “To promote spiritual,
moral, social and cultural development throughout all appropriate curricular opportunities,
with particular reference to issues of equality and diversity”, “To ensure that there are
sufficient opportunities within the school’s curriculum to address equalities issues” and “To
ensure the school environment is as accessible as possible to pupils, staff and visitors to
the school”.
The demand for primary school places in the Boston Spa area has grown in recent years.
There have been changes in the birth rate, increases in the numbers of children of primary
school age and several new housing developments. To meet this demand, some schools
in the area have already admitted pupils above their published admission numbers,
including St Edward’s Catholic Primary School which is above its admission number of 20
in most year groups.
We are expecting a continuing growth in pupil numbers in the area, and may need to offer
additional places again in September 2021 ahead of any proposed permanent changes
from 2022. We believe that an additional 10 permanent places in Reception from
September 2022 is needed.
An expansion at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School which is an oversubscribed, Ofsted
rated ‘outstanding’ school would help address the anticipated increased demand for
places in the area.
Public consultation on the proposal took place between 15 January and 11 February 2021.
To maximise stakeholder engagement a variety of consultation methods were used,
including email communications and an online survey. Details about the consultation were
sent to: parent/carers with a child currently attending St Edward’s Catholic Primary School;
staff and governors of St Edward’s Catholic Primary School; all local primary and
secondary schools in the area; local ward members; the local MP; the Diocese; and other
relevant stakeholders. Leaflets advertising the consultation were delivered to residents in
the local area. Information was available via the Leeds City Council website and through
various social media platforms and accounts.
Online consultation sessions were also held for parents/carers, local residents and other
interested parties which offered attendees an opportunity to discuss the proposal with
Leeds City Council officers and representatives from the school’s leadership team.
Interested parties could submit their views on the proposals by completing an online
survey or by emailing/writing to the Sufficiency and Participation Team. The length of
consultation (4 weeks) and the variety of methods in which people could respond to the
consultation were intended to make the consultation open to all and was in line with DfE
guidance.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 87

3



Key findings

From the equality impact screening the Sufficiency and Participation Team found that this
proposal would have a positive effect on some of the 6 categories listed below;
•
•
•
•
•
•

Age
Sex and Gender Reassignment
Religion
Ethnicity
Disability
Sexual orientation

The additional learning places would create more opportunities for more pupils to be
supported in a way that meets their individual needs, regardless of age, sex, gender
reassignment, religion, ethnicity, disability or sexual orientation, in an inclusive school
environment. This proposal supports that aim and would not have an adverse impact on
any child or young person who attends the school included in this proposal.
The school’s existing ethos and any new accommodation provided would both help to
ensure that all children and young people who attend can take a full part in the school
curriculum in an environment that supports and protects their own individual equality
characteristics. Expansion of the existing school will ensure that it continues to support
the needs of its community by providing more places for local children. Through the design
process, any new accommodation to facilitate the expansion of the school would be
compliant with the Equality Act 2010.
The proposal would have a positive impact on promoting choice and diversity for local
families who would be applying for a primary school place, supporting the achievement of
The Best Council Plan outcome that states that ‘we want everyone in Leeds to do well at
all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life’. The proposal also supports the
priority aims of improving educational attainment and closing achievement gaps for
children and young people vulnerable to poor learning outcomes.
The local authority has a statutory duty to ensure the sufficiency of school places for all
the children living in Leeds. In addition to our statutory duty we want to further support the
authority’s aspiration to be the best city to grow up in and be a Child Friendly City.
A total of 112 survey responses were received during the consultation period of which 43
(38.4%) either strongly supported or somewhat supported the proposal to permanently
expand St Edwards Catholic Primary School, 66 (58.9%) either strongly opposed or
somewhat opposed the proposal and a further 3 (2.7%) neither supported nor opposed.
Further details about the responses and issues identified by stakeholders and
respondents during the consultation period are included in the main body of the Executive
Board report.


Actions

If the proposal is taken forward, the extra permanent primary places will be made available
in Reception from September 2022.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 88

4

During the consultation process, all views and responses were considered equally. If the
proposal is approved, due regard to equality will be given to all aspects of developing and
implementing the proposal with further equality impact assessments conducted at key
points within the programme. Any identified actions would then be used to inform the
proposals and implementation during the design process for new school accommodation.
Any modifications to the site would be fully compliant with the Equality Act 2010. This
would ensure that the building is accessible to all users; students, staff and visitors.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Darren Crawley
Sufficiency and
1 March 2021
Participation Lead
Date screening completed
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions
or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate
EDCI Screening

Date sent:

Template updated January 2014

Page 89

5

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 90

6

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Kat Hopley / Mike Kinnaird
Tel: 3786002

Covid-19 Memorial Woodland within New 48 Hectare Parkland
at former South Leeds Golf Course
Date: 23rd June 2021
Report of: Director of Communities, Housing and Environment
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒ Yes ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions









This report outlines a proposal to create a new 48 hectare park incorporating a Covid-19
memorial woodland on the site of the former South Leeds golf course.
The memorial woodland would be created in partnership with Leeds Hospitals Charity and
dedicated to the memory of those who died during the pandemic and for the appreciation of
front line and key workers.
The new park if approved will provide a place for reflection as well as recreation. The
woodland creation supports the council’s pledge to combat the climate emergency by
planting 5.8 million trees over the next 25 years. The local population will also benefit from
the economic, biodiversity and health benefits of good quality green space.
The project will include a launch event for the memorial woodland after which information
will be provided for people who want to either commemorate a loved one, get involved or
wish to donate.
The proposals in this report support the Vision for Leeds 2011 to 2030 and Best Council
Plan aspiration for accessible, better quality green spaces. They also contribute to the
council commitment to make Leeds carbon neutral by 2030.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to approve the following:
a) To establish a formal partnership agreement between the Council and Leeds Hospitals
Charity to create a Covid-19 memorial woodland.
b) To commence consultation on establishing up to 48 hectares of new parkland incorporating
a Covid-19 memorial woodland and other recreational features which will then form part of
Middleton Park.
c) To inject £700k into the capital programme to enable works to commence on establishing
the Covid-19 memorial woodland and delegate authority to spend approval of the full
scheme to the Director of Communities, Housing and Environment. To note the £30k
annual revenue budget provision required to maintain the new parkland.
d) To note that the Chief Officer Parks and Countryside will be responsible for implementing
these recommendations according to the timetable outlined in paragraph 31 of this report.
Page 91

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

2

3

South Leeds Golf Club ceased trading in November 2019 and an administrator was
subsequently appointed in December 2019. The golf club leased the land from the Council
and following a delegated decision (D50642), the lease was surrendered by the
administrator to the Council in March 2020 with the aspiration of expanding Middleton Park
as a significant recreation amenity in south Leeds.
Unrelated to this, the Council were approached last year by the Leeds Hospitals Charity
(formerly known as the ‘Leeds Cares’ charity) expressing their wish to work in partnership
and fund the development of a Covid-19 memorial woodland. This would provide an
opportunity for the city to remember those lost to Covid-19 during the pandemic and to be
one of the first cities to develop a memorial woodland of this nature.
The land at the former golf course provides a unique opportunity to commemorate those
who have tragically died during the pandemic, in addition to creating up to 48 hectares of
new public parkland comprising of a network of paths, naturalistic woodland, grassland
habitats, picnic areas and educational information. The image below indicates the current
extent of the former South Leeds golf course (in red) with the proposed location of the
memorial woodland (in blue) which is 4.5 hectares.

Page 92

Image 1: Former golf course area is shown in red with proposed Covid-19 memorial woodland in
blue.

4

5

6

It should be noted that the new parkland will be contained in the former golf course area
which may also be used to accommodate sports facilities for Cockburn School. In autumn
2020 the opportunity to lease the clubhouse was advertised by the Council and a preferred
bidder has been selected which may also have an impact on some adjacent land
surrounding this building.
The site is currently not being managed and maintained regularly, which therefore
increases the likelihood of activities such as fly-tipping and illegal occupation taking place.
Creating a memorial woodland and public park in this area will dissuade such activity and
provide the local community with all the economic, health and biodiversity benefits resulting
from good quality green space.
Furthermore, the creation of a memorial woodland fits well with the aspiration to develop
the former golf course into naturalistic parkland which will secure the future of the site and
enable it to be integrated with the wider Middleton Park estate. The majority of the
memorial area will be planted with woodland and contribute to the target of creating 50
hectares of woodland each year on Council land in response to the climate emergency.

Page 93

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: Beeston and Holbeck, Middleton Park
Have ward members been consulted?

☒ Yes

☐No

7

An additional 48 hectares of good quality green space would provide economic, health,
wellbeing, biodiversity benefits, the results of which can already be seen by the high
volume of visitors at Middleton Park. Planting of trees on the former South Leeds Golf
Course site will provide a valuable addition to the 81 hectares of existing woodland at
Middleton Park. Developing this site will add around 5 km of new walking routes within the
newly developed parkland, adjacent to the already popular park with scope for the
development of new cycle trails.

8

There is scope for extensive community participation such as volunteering to support tree
planting as well as other conservation activities. Although planting trees proposed for the
area is a major part of the development of the site, areas of open space are also an integral
part of the plans to enhance the natural value of the site. On the site of the memorial
woodland, there will be a variety of habitats, including 9,000 trees, a wildflower meadow
and wetland habitat. Additionally, rewilding practices such as reduced mowing will form part
of the management plan.

Image 2: Example of a shaded wetland habitat similar to what is envisaged for the memorial
woodland site.

Image 3: Harvest mice are one of the species that could potentially benefit from increased
woodland cover and more natural land management practices.

Page 94

Image 4: Volunteer tree planting.

9

It is anticipated that naturally occurring wildflowers will flourish in these areas, providing a
valuable source of food for pollinators. The natural grassland habitat also allows small
mammals to diffuse across areas they previously may not have been able to, improving
food sources for predators such as owls and birds of prey already seen on site. Open
glades will be incorporated into the woodland design providing an opportunity for a variety
of ground flora to grow, in addition to potential picnicking spots, with picnic benches located
at preserved viewpoints and vistas.

Image 5: A natural unmown wildflower meadow and picnic area in woodland glade.

10 The proposed memorial woodland would create an area of natural tranquillity and reflection,
providing a destination for the residents of Leeds to visit to remember their loved ones, or
appreciate the work of front line and key workers. The proposed site is in an area of
increased deprivation compared to some other areas of the city and therefore locating the
memorial woodland here would have added poignancy given the associated increase in
mortality from Covid-19 in such areas. Leeds Hospitals Charity have suggested that in
future years, the addition of a statue or artwork in the woodland may be possible. There is
the potential to develop a focal point as some form of memorialisation to celebrate those
who have contributed to fundraising for the site, which will be located at a southerly spot on
the site, looking out towards the construction of the new Leeds Infirmary expansion.
11 The project will include a launch event for the memorial woodland after which information
will be provided for people who want to either commemorate a loved one, get involved or
wish to donate.
Page 95

Image 6: This viewpoint from the proposed Covid-10 Memorial Woodland looks out across the city.
.

Image 7: Signage describing the species of trees present similar to the example above, will be on
site to educate visitors about their surroundings. Additional interpretation for the memorial woodland
will also be erected.

12 An equality, diversity, community cohesion and integration screening has been conducted
to assess the impact of this proposal.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
13 A number of local stakeholders have been engaged, in the form of virtual and on-site
meetings. Ward members from the Beeston and Middleton Park wards, have expressed
support for the plans in this area of the golf course, subject to public consultation.
Representatives from the local Friends of Middleton Park were also present during the
virtual meeting, with all parties being in broad agreement of the proposed plans. Wade’s
Charity and Leeds Hospital Charity also supported the location of the proposed woodland
creation across the site.
Page 96

14 Subject to approval of the recommendations in this report, it is proposed that public
consultation will commence as soon as possible. The consultation exercise would consider
both the memorial woodland as well as other plans for the rest of the site as follows:
 Letter drops to residents whose homes are adjacent or overlook this section of the golf
course, enclosing the plans and inviting them to comment through an email or letter.
 The potential opportunity to discuss proposals on site in more detail with representatives
from both Parks and Countryside service and Leeds Hospitals Charity.
 An open consultation to the general public, who would be given opportunity to fill in an
online form or provide comments in writing.
 A webinar whereby the proposals for the whole of the South Leeds Golf Course site
would be discussed including the memorial woodland.
What are the resource implications?
15 The Leeds Hospitals Charity wish to meet costs associated with the creation and
development of the memorial woodland (indicated in the blue box in Image 1 above).
16 There are costs associated with the development of this site, such as providing suitable
recreation features, establishing a path network throughout the area with appropriate
signage, car parking as well as securing the site from illegal vehicle access. The minimum
capital cost to develop the site to achieve the significant potential as an accessible,
biodiverse greenspace in a deprived community is £700k in addition to costs associated
with the creation and development of the memorial woodland alluded to above with £30k
revenue to support ongoing maintenance for recreation.
17 A report to Executive Board on 8th June 2021 outlined information about the Levelling Up
Fund with the opportunity to bid for significant capital investment that includes cultural
assets in the city. Reference was made to a potential Leeds Park City themed project to
bring forward a cross-constituency proposal that delivers investment in new and improved
parks and green spaces. Specific reference was also made to the proposals in this report
for which if a bid was successful then the costs could be met via the Levelling Up Fund.
However, it is not currently proposed for Round 1 submission and it could take some time
before the outcome of any bid is known. Therefore, whilst the Leeds Hospitals Charity are
funding the Covid-19 memorial woodland, £100k is required to enable works to commence.
In the event that a bid proves unsuccessful, the Council would also need to underwrite a
minimum of a further £600k to meet capital costs.
What are the legal implications?
18 There are no issues with access to information. The report is a key decision and subject to
call in.
19 A partnership agreement with Leeds Hospitals Charity will be drawn up to clarify the
responsibility of the land, and to ensure that all works are carried out in line with appropriate
standards.
20 The car park will be subject to a planning application in due course.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
21 This proposal presents a unique and timely opportunity to establish up to 48 hectares of
good quality greenspace and capture the economic, health, wellbeing and biodiversity
benefits that creating new woodlands can provide. There is also the opportunity to work
with a well-established local charity to create a memorial woodland, in addition to securing
the future of this site as a publicly accessible recreation space.
22 A decision not to proceed with this proposal could put at jeopardy the willingness of the
charity to proceed with a partnership arrangement to create a memorial woodland. A
Page 97

decision to not develop the land for recreation and conservation as described is likely to
increase the level of illegal occupation and fly-tipping in the heart of an urban community.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

23 Inclusive growth is supported by expanding the Green Flag award winning Middleton Park
to encompass the former golf course area. Studies have shown that improving the quality of
parks and green space makes a place more desirable to live and for businesses to invest.
Volunteering opportunities would help people in the local area to gain confidence and skills
to enable them to seek employment.
24 The impact of the coronavirus pandemic on mental health has been widely reported and
studied. A Covid-19 memorial woodland would provide a place for reflection in a natural
environment with the known associated benefits is connecting with nature. There are also
benefits to health from increased physical activity associated with accessing recreation
parkland.
25 There are opportunities to support cleaner air by promoting the use of public transport
through the bus links adjacent to the site as well as adjacent cycle routes to access the site.
26 This proposal supports the response to the climate emergency by contributing to the aim of
planting 50 hectares of woodland in 2021/22 and each year thereafter. The benefits to
planting trees can be summarised by referring to the following image.

Image 8: Benefits of Planting Trees

27 Leeds Hospitals Charity hope in future years to use the site for a number of activities,
including trips for patients of the paediatric hospital at Leeds General Infirmary. This will
provide those in critical care with an opportunity to experience nature in a relaxed
environment, despite the constraints of their treatment.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
28 This proposal arises out of a unique circumstances following the closure of South Leeds
Golf Club and approach by Leeds Hospitals Charity. No alternative options have therefore
been considered.
b) How will success be measured?
Page 98

29 Success will be measured by observing the increased use and accessibility of the area by
members of the public. Frequent use and attendance of the site will show that the aim to
increase access to recreational space was successful, in addition to improving the health
and wellbeing of those who visit.
30 There are known benefits to the environment in creating natural woodland habitats and
subsequent surveys should demonstrate the range of species supported.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
31 The timetable for implementation is summarised as follows:







June 2021: Executive board approval and launch of partnership with Leeds Hospitals
Charity
June / July 2021: Public consultation
August 2021: Develop final plans
Autumn 2021: Planning approval
Winter 2021: Site development and woodland planting
February 2022: Opening

Appendices
32 Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening.
Background papers
33 None.

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration (EDCI) screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate:
Communities, Housing and Environment
Lead person:
Kris Nenadic

Service area:
Parks and Countryside
Contact number:
0113 3786002

1. Title: Covid-19 Memorial Woodland within New 48 Hectare Parkland at former
South Leeds Golf Course
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

x

Other

If other, please specify: creation of new parkland and woodland

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

A proposal to create a new 48 hectare park and Covid-19 memorial woodland on the
site of the former South Leeds golf course. The proposal incorporates a Covid-19
memorial woodland to be created in partnership with Leeds Hospitals Charity and
dedicated to the memory of those who died during the pandemic and for the
appreciation of front line and key workers.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 101

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes

No
x
x

x

x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 102

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
A number of local stakeholders have been engaged, in the form of virtual and on-site
meetings. Ward members from the Beeston and Middleton Park wards, have expressed
support for the plans in this area of the golf course, subject to public consultation.
Representatives from the local Friends of Middleton Park were also present during the
virtual meeting, with all parties being in broad agreement of the proposed plans. Wade’s
Charity and Leeds Hospital Charity also supported the location of the proposed woodland
creation across the site.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
It is proposed that wider public consultation will commence as soon as possible. The
consultation exercise would consider both the memorial woodland as well as other plans
for the rest of the site as follows:
• Letter drops to residents whose homes are adjacent or overlook this section of the golf
course, enclosing the plans and inviting them to comment through an email or letter.
• The potential opportunity to discuss proposals on site in more detail with
representatives from both Parks and Countryside service and Leeds Hospitals
Charity.
• An open consultation to the general public, who would be given opportunity to fill in an
online form or provide comments in writing.
• A webinar whereby the proposals for the whole of the South Leeds Golf Course site
would be discussed including the memorial woodland.
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
To undertake a consultation process to inform the development and delivery of these
proposals.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 103

3

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Sean Flesher
Chief Officer Parks and
20/05/21
Countryside
Date screening completed
20/05/21

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 104

4

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Chris Way
Tel: 0113 37 8749
Report of Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23 June 2021
Subject: Transforming Cities Fund – Leeds City Centre Cycling Improvements
Yes

Are specific electoral wards affected?

No

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Beeston & Holbeck, Hunslet & Riverside, Little London & Woodhouse.
Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


Leeds City Council has an ambition to deliver a safe and coherent network of
cycling and walking infrastructure across the city, to help encourage sustainable
active travel in line with the priorities of the Best Council Plan 2020-2025



The Transforming Cities Fund offers local authorities the opportunity to deliver
modern accessible transport infrastructure which allows people to make active
travel choices and to reduce the dependence on the private car.



As part of Leeds City Council’s successful TCF bid a package of 6 projects has
been developed to provide cycling and walking infrastructure around the city centre
to link many of its recent high quality projects together to form an accessible and
coherent network to facilitate active travel around the city



These projects will encourage safe and sustainable travel in line with the ambitions
and priorities of the city and remove barriers to cycling as a choice for short and
medium length journeys



Executive Board is asked to consider and endorse the proposed projects and
approve the detailed design and construction, the cost of which will be met entirely
from the Transforming Cities Fund.

Page 105

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The proposals detailed in this report create safe and sustainable infrastructure for
cycling and active travel and help deliver a coherent network linking many of the
cycling and walking projects which have previously been delivered.



As such the proposals contribute to the aims of 6 of the Best City Priorities of the
Best Council Plan 2020-2025 including:
o Sustainable Infrastructure
o Health & Wellbeing
o Inclusive Growth
o Child-Friendly City
o Age-Friendly Leeds
o Safe, Strong Communities

3. Resource Implications


The total value of the proposals in this report is £7.06M, to be fully funded from the
Transforming Cities Fud.



The TCF funding covers all project development costs including detailed design,
supervision, construction and monitoring.



The projects will be delivered by Leeds City Council’s Traffic Engineering service as
part of their annual programmes of works.

Recommendations
a) Note the successful delivery of cycle infrastructure across Leeds as part of Leeds
City Council’s ambition to encourage active sustainable transport and address the
Climate Emergency; and
b) Approve the principle and general layout of the six Transforming Cities Fund Leeds City Centre Cycling projects as detailed in this report; and
c) Note that the costs of £7.06M to design and deliver the 6 projects detailed in this
report will be entirely funded from the Transforming Cities Fund
And to note:
d) Construction of these projects is expected to start in early summer 2021 for
completion in spring 2023; and
e) That the Chief Officer (Highways & Transportation) will be responsible for
implementation and will receive further reports as necessary to facilitate these
proposals and will give authority to spend for the individual projects

Page 106

1. Purpose of this report
1.1

This report seeks approval for the design and delivery of a package of 6 schemes to
provide safe segregated facilities for cycling and walking around the city centre.
These projects link existing cycle routes together to form a coherent network,
facilitating active travel choices and reducing dependency on the private car for
short and medium length journeys.

1.2

The total value of this package is £7.06M and is fully funded from the Transforming
Cities Fund administered by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority.

2.

Background information

2.1

Cycling in Leeds

2.1.1 Leeds City Council has a long standing ambition to increase and improve safe
cycling infrastructure across the city. This includes an ambition to have 500
kilometres of cycle tracks and lanes which can be accessed by all users.
2.1.2 This ambition contributes to a number of established aims, including reducing
carbon emissions, increasing sustainable transport use, improving access to jobs
for all and encouraging active healthy lifestyles.
2.1.3 In recent years Leeds City Council has successfully delivered a number of major
projects to create new cycling and walking infrastructure to support this ambition
through a number of programmes. This includes:


CityConnect 1, a segregated cycle superhighway linking Leeds and Bradford
and extending to Seacroft



CityConnect 2, a segregated cycle superhighway crossing the city centre



CityConnect 3, a package of 3 cycle superhighways creating links from
Beeston, Holbeck and Middleton and also connecting the northern part of the
city centre to existing cycle routes



Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme, providing segregated cycle
routes in conjunction with bus infrastructure improvements on routes linking
to Hunslet, Stourton and further links in the city centre



East Leeds Orbital Route, segregated cycling routes around the northeastern part of the outer ring road and along the line of the new road.

2.1.4 These individual projects offer specific opportunities for cycling and active travel
along the identified corridors but also form major parts of the future network of high
quality safe cycling infrastructure which is now starting to take shape. Future
projects delivered through these and other programmes are expected to contribute
to this wider ambition and to build on and develop the work undertaken to date.
2.1.5 Active travel including cycling and walking offers a number of benefits to both the
individual and to the wider community. Government recommendations are that all
adults should be active on a daily basis, and should engage in at least 2.5 hours of
moderate physical activity per week to maintain health.
2.1.6 Active travel has also been shown to improve the mental health of the individual
with daily physical activity reducing the risk of depression and dementia by 20-30%
2.1.7 In 2019 Leeds City Council declared a Climate Emergency, which resulted in an
increased focus on its efforts to reduce carbon emissions as part of future highway

Page 107

projects. Cycling and other active travel modes can make a major contribution to
this work by replacing private cars for short to medium length journeys.
2.1.8 High quality cycling infrastructure creates opportunities for road users to make
these short to medium length journeys by bicycle instead of car, and to do so with a
good level of confidence that their journey will be safe, direct and comfortable. This
is a major element of the modal shift that supports the reduction in carbon
emissions and will achieve the goals set out in the Climate Emergency declaration.
2.2

Transforming Cities Fund

2.2.1 The Transforming Cities Fund is a national funding opportunity and aims to improve
productivity and spread prosperity through investment in public and sustainable
transport in some of the largest English City Regions.
2.2.2 The West Yorkshire Combined Authority, on behalf of the Leeds City Region,
submitted proposals to the Department for Transport for a package of
improvements designed to deliver a transport network which is “more accessible,
affordable and attractive”. Its proposals aim to create “realistic alternative(s) to the
car and the choice to make journeys that are sustainable, healthier, and that
ultimately enable our towns and city centres to be re-shaped with people at their
heart.” On 11th March 2020 central Government announced that Leeds City Region
had successfully secured £317 million to deliver this package of transformational
projects.
2.2.3 Two projects relating to Leeds City Station were included within the TCF bid:


Leeds City station including New Station Street and forecourt works,
Bishopgate Street works including steps/lifts, bus and taxi interchange, an
800 space cycle storage and hub, and upgrading the Dark Arches to improve
the environment for pedestrians and cyclists. This project is currently being
developed.



Expanding the Leeds City centre cycle network, by in-filling gaps in the
network, including, but not exclusively those adjacent to the City rail station.
This project, known as City Centre Cycling (CCC) is the subject of this report.

These two projects are being developed separately to ensure flexibility of delivery
and that appropriate specialist resource has been assigned to each.
2.2.4 The second project includes £7.06M for cycling infrastructure improvements in and
around Leeds City Centre, designed to facilitate and further encourage active travel
to, from and through the city centre, and forms the basis for the proposals outlined
in this report.
2.2.5 The CCC project was approved at outline business case by WYCA in 2020. The
project team have now moved this forward to full business case which was
submitted in January 2021 and is expected to reach MD sign off in April 2021.
2.2.6 The TCF programme has very tight delivery timescales (TCF guidance states the
fund will run between April 2021 and March 2023) which has led to a rapid
development of the CCC proposals in order to maximise use of this delivery
window.
3.

Main issues

3.1

As noted above the TCF Cycling Connections package is valued at £7.06m, and
comprises 6 individual projects. These are detailed on the plan shown in Appendix
A.
Page 108

3.2

These projects consist of:
i) Holbeck Gateway


A route linking through Holbeck into the western part of the city centre at
Whitehall Road. This project adds to existing work on this corridor and links it
into a coherent route. It provides access to and from Holbeck and forms a
network with the recently delivered CityConnect 2 and CityConnect 3
projects in the city centre and in south Leeds.

This route supports other initiatives in the area including the Healthy Streets project
in the Recreations, and offers safe and easy access to employment and other
opportunities in the city centre.ii) Western Gateway


This project ties together a number of existing routes leading into the West
Street gyratory to enable easy and safe access from one to the other. This
includes CityConnect 1 from west Leeds, CityConnect 2 on Wellington Street
and the A65 Quality Bus Corridor which includes cycle provision.



The project will allow safe transition from one route to the other, allowing
cyclists and others to use routes that better match their travel needs and to
have confidence that their entire journey is safe and without impediment.

iii) Eastern Gateway


This project complements the existing work delivered on St Peter’s Street
from the CityConnect 2 project and the Regent Street project, and offers links
to the current LPTIP works on Vicar Lane and beyond. It will allow an eastwest route to be fully delivered in the northern part of the city centre.

iv) Crown Point Bridge


The Crown Point Bridge scheme will provide a safe segregated route across
the river, serving the south eastern part of the city centre.



The scheme will link with the CityConnect 2 work on St Peter’s Street to
provide both a link into the city centre and also a north south route through
the city centre linking to other projects at Sheepscar interchange.



The project ties in to the LPTIP works on Hunslet Road and also links to and
complements the Crown Point Road works being developed as part of the
City Park project to create active travel options to and from this area.



The route passes or runs to Leeds City College, Leeds College of Building
and Ruth Gorse Academy, enabling active travel for students

v) Southern Gateway


This scheme will create a major route into and out of the city centre from the
south, linking a number of existing routes to and from Leeds Rail Station and
City Square.



The project includes a segregated route on Neville Street across Victoria
Bridge connecting the the CityConnect 3 project at Meadow Lane and from
there to the LPTIP project on Meadow Lane which crosses Leeds Bridge. It
also links to the Hunslet Road LPTIP project referenced above



This scheme develops cycling provision into the South Bank area and
supports future interventions in this area.

Page 109

vi) Dewsbury Road Connector


This project links the existing cycle infrastructure on Dewsbury Road into the
Southern Gateway detailed above and to Hunslet Road and the Crown Point
Bridge Street previously mentioned.



It delivers a missing part of the network in the southern part of the city centre
and complements the current CityConnect 3 project to deliver a safe
segregated route into the city centre from Beeston and Holbeck areas.

3.3

As detailed these 6 projects provide segregated cycle infrastructure linking existing
routes or routes which are currently being delivered, to deliver a coherent and
connected network around the city centre. The plan shown in Appendix A illustrates
how the identified schemes link the existing and proposed routes together.

3.4

The project designs have been developed to reflect Leeds City Council’s experience
in delivering segregated cycle infrastructure through the CityConnect and LPTIP
programmes, and also reflect the advances in national guidance and best practice
which have recently been published in the Department for Transport’s Local
Transport Note 1/20.

3.5

LTN 1/20 places an onus on designers to demonstrate that they have prioritised the
needs of cyclists and pedestrians by completing Cycling Level of Service (CLoS)
assessments. These assessments have been included in the FBC submission to
WYCA to ensure confidence that the high quality design of these projects will result
in increased active travel along these routes.

3.6

Delivery of these projects will start in summer 2021 on a phased approach, with all
schemes being completed in spring 2023 in line with the TCF funding requirements.
Extensive discussions are ongoing regarding the phasing of these schemes to
reflect other city centre commitments and to minimise the disruption to road users
and other stakeholders wherever possible.

4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 A public consultation for this project was undertaken by the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority through their Your Voice platform in January/February 2021. A
summary is appended (Appendix C) to this report, and headline findings were:


A majority of users considered that at least part of the cycling experience in
these locations was poor or very poor



A majority of respondents agreed that the proposals in this report would
improve cycling around the city centre



A minority of respondents considered that the proposals would not
encourage them to cycle more

4.1.2 Ward members and major stakeholders have been briefed and will continue to
receive updates and further communications throughout the development and
delivery of the project.
Page 110

4.1.3 Direct consultation will take place with affected frontagers as the projects move
towards delivery. This approach has worked well on previous projects and ensures
that residents, businesses and others have direct sight of the specifics of each
scheme to ensure that their comments can be reflected in the final project.
4.1.4 User groups have been consulted during development of the schemes and will
continue to be involved as the detailed designs are finalised. This includes Leeds
City Council’s Cycle Forum and WYCA’s TCF Quality Board.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An EDCI screening was completed for this project and is included in Appendix B.
4.2.2 Key finding are:
o Safe cycling facilities, and associated improvements to the adjacent
footways, open up opportunities to people with disabilities, older people and
young people.
o Segregated facilities reduce conflict between pedestrians and cyclists, which
in turn has a positive impact on older people and people with disabilities.
o Safe cycling facilities allow older and younger people, as well as those with
mobility impairments, travel more freely and with confidence that they can do
so without conflict from motor traffic and other road users.

4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan
Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposals detailed in this report contribute to the cross cutting Best City
priorities of the Best Council Plan 2020-2025 including:


Sustainable Infrastructure
o Improving transport connections, safety, reliability and affordability.
o



Improving air quality, reducing pollution and noise.

Health & Wellbeing
o Reducing health inequalities and improving the health of the poorest
the fastest.
o Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles.



Inclusive Growth
o Supporting growth and investment, helping everyone benefit from the
economy to their full potential.



Child-Friendly City
o Enhancing the city now and for future generations



Age-Friendly Leeds
o Developing accessible and affordable transport options which help
older people get around

Page 111

o Providing opportunities for older people to be healthy, active, included
and respected


Safe, Strong Communities
o Being responsive to local needs, building thriving, resilient
communities.

4.3.2 A number of the KPIs in the Best Council Plan are supported by this project,
including those focussed on sustainable transport, health and physical activity and
road safety.
Climate Emergency
4.3.3 These projects make a major contribution towards Leeds City Council’s response to
the Climate Emergency. Cycling is a key alternative to the use of the private car for
short and medium term journeys, and the provision of safe cycling infrastructure has
been proven to increase cycle journeys on those routes.
4.3.4 Transport is a major source of CO2 emissions that contribute to climate change.
Private cars emit around 130g of CO2 per km in the UK, and travel around 8500
miles per year on average (13,600km). This represents an average annual emission
of 1.8 tonnes of CO2 per car.
4.3.5 The proposals contained in this report contribute to the Leeds target of 50%
reduction in carbon emissions by 2030 by improving facilities for cycling close to the
city centre, facilitating linkages to further develop the cycle network, and to
encourage these transport choices as an alternative to short (and longer) car
journeys.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The TCF City Centre Cycling project is entirely funded through the Transforming
Cities Fund.
4.4.2 An outline business case has been approved for the project, and a full business
case was approved in principle by WYCA on 24th March, subject to tendered costs
remaining within the funding envelope.
4.4.3 The TCF City Centre Cycling project is valued at £7.06M, and will be delivered
using Leeds City Council’s framework contracts which have been competitively
awarded.
4.4.4 The detailed design and project management of the schemes delivery rests with
Leeds City Council and will be carried out by the Traffic Engineering section, with
the funding provided by the Combined Authority through the TCF package. The
Chief Officer (Highways & Transportation) will be responsible for the overall
implementation of the project.
4.4.5 Recent projects, including the CityConnect 3 works on Clay Pit Lane and other
routes have demonstrated that the design and delivery method outlined here will
ensure a high quality project with sufficient flexibility to ensure that the project
reflects both user needs but also the needs of residents and businesses who are on
or are adjacent to these routes.
4.4.6 Construction of the projects is expected to start in late spring 2021, with completion
expected in spring 2023.

Page 112

4.4.7 Maintenance of the new infrastructure will be undertaken as part of Leeds City
Council’s ongoing annual maintenance programmes as all new infrastructure will
form part of the adopted public highway. Winter maintenance will be carried out as
per the established practices for previous cycleways and will utilise existing
equipment; costs for this work will be borne from the current winter maintenance
revenue budgets.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 The package of Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) to support the project will be
presented for approval to the Chief Officer (Highways & Transportation) subsequent
to the approval of this report.
4.5.2 Advertisement of these TROs will take place in accordance with statutory
procedures and objections will be properly considered for each element of this
scheme as per the normal reporting process.
4.5.3 All proposed works are within the adopted highway and consequently can be
delivered under the powers of Leeds City Council as the highway authority for
Leeds.
4.5.4 This report is eligible for Call-In.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The proposals outlined in this report offer significant improvements to cycling and
walking provision around the city centre, working towards Leeds’ ambition for a
comprehensive and coherent cycle network. Approving these proposals will allow
the benefits to air quality, health and road safety detailed above to be realised.
4.6.2 The project estimate includes funding for risk and contingency and the project team
will continually review the project against the funding envelope to control costs.
4.6.3 A detail risk register is being developed as part of the Full Business Case and will
be updated throughout the life of the project. The works will be delivered through a
framework contract utilising early contractor involvement to identify any potential
risk areas and therefore minimise risk during the delivery phase.
4.6.4 Extensive consultation and engagement has taken place to develop support for the
project and this is considered to minimise reputational risk to the project from
negative publicity.
5

Conclusions

5.1

The Transforming Cities Fund offers an opportunity to provide several high quality
segregated cycling projects, with associated pedestrian improvements, which make
a major contribution towards Leeds City Council’s ambition to deliver a
comprehensive cycle network across the city. The projects detailed in this report
help complete and connect the network around the city centre to allow cyclists to
make journeys into and around the city centre with confidence in the safety and
continuity of routes.

5.2

Delivery of this project creates modern infrastructure for sustainable travel, allowing
residents to choose alternative travel choices away from the private car. This helps
Leeds achieve the goals of the Climate Emergency and Best Council Plan, and
Page 113

helps residents and others to lead active healthy lifestyles and to access
employment and other opportunities without relying on the private car.
6

Recommendations

6.1

The Executive Board is requested to:
i)

Note the successful delivery of cycle infrastructure across Leeds as part of
Leeds City Council’s ambition to encourage active sustainable transport and
address the Climate Emergency; and

ii)

Approve the principle and general layout of the six Transforming Cities Fund
- Leeds City Centre Cycling projects as detailed in this report; and

ii)

Note that the costs of £7.06M to design and deliver the 6 projects detailed in
this report will be entirely funded from the Transforming Cities Fund

And to note:
iv)

Construction of these projects is expected to start in early summer 2021 for
completion in spring 2023; and

v)

That the Chief Officer (Highways & Transportation) will be responsible for
implementation and will receive further reports as necessary to facilitate
these proposals and will give authority to spend for the individual projects

7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 114

©

Page 115
HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

©

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration Screening

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Highways &
Transportation

Lead person: Chris Way

Contact number: 0113 37 87493

1. Title: Transforming Cities Fund – Leeds City Centre Cycling Improvements
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

X

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
Detailed design and construction of six project to create segregated cycle
infrastructure around Leeds city centre, including footway improvements and
signalled crossings.
Also to include appropriate traffic orders primarily focussed towards a
Prohibition of Parking and Loading on Footway and Cycle Track.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 117

1

the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No

X
X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
The project provides segregated cycle tracks and links at six locations around the city
centre. As part of the proposal improvements are to be made to the footway provision,
including at formal and informal crossing points.
The project offers opportunities to make significant improvements to the current
pedestrian provision, including to those with mobility or other impairments.
The project contributes to a number of corporate policies and targets aiming to improve
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 118

2

equality and diversity, including the Inclusive Growth strategy, by promoting equality of
access and opportunity.
The facilities are being designed for an 8-80 age range, making cycling a practical option
open to everybody, regardless of skills and experience.
Practical support and training is available through Leeds City Council and WYCA to
anyone not confident in their cycling skills and/ or basic bike maintenance and
communities where cycling is not traditionally embedded, such as some ethnic minorities,
may benefit from that.


Key findings

Safe cycling facilities, and associated improvements to the adjacent footways, open up
opportunities to people with disabilities, older people and young people.
Reducing the reliance on private car use will help making the streets more accessible
through minimising pavement parking.
Segregated facilities reduce conflict between pedestrians and cyclists, which in turn has
a positive impact on older people and people with disabilities. Where shared facilities are
required, for example at some crossings or around bus stops, these will be used as a last
resort and designed to minimise the potential for conflict.
Safe cycling facilities allow older and younger people, as well as those with mobility
impairments, travel more freely and with confidence that they can do so without conflict
from motor traffic and other road users.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Removing some of the barriers of motorised traffic and improving street environment
through enabling active travel has the potential to improve community integration through
offering opportunities to mix and interact.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 119

3

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Nick Hunt
Traffic Engineering
1st March 2021
Manager
Date screening completed
1st March 2021
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions
and Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
screening was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 120

4

Leeds City Centre Cycle
Improvements Survey

SURVEY RESPONSE REPORT
10 January 2021 - 22 February 2021
PROJECT NAME:
Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements

Page 121

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

SURVEY QUESTIONS

Page 1 of 26

Page 122

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q1

Please select the option that best describes your most frequent type of journeys into and

out of Leeds City Centre. (Please...

6 (1.4%)
127 (28.8%)

6 (1.4%)
172 (39.0%)

127 (28.8%)
172 (39.0%)

108 (24.5%)

28 (6.3%)

108 (24.5%)

28 (6.3%)

Question options
Frequent commuting to the city centre for work
Frequently visiting the city centre for personal trips

Infrequent commuting to the city centre for work
Infrequently visiting the city centre for personal trips

I do not visit the city centre at all

Optional question (441 response(s), 2 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 2 of 26

Page 123

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q2

Which is your main reason for making these journeys to and from Leeds City Centre?

(Please tick one)

200

187
187

180

160

140

115
120
115

100

80

56
60

56

40

28
21
16
21

20

28

14

16

14

3
3

Question options
I live in the city centre (this means you are likely to make journeys for many reasons)
Visiting health facilities

Going shopping

School / training / education related

Visiting friends / family

Something else

Optional question (440 response(s), 3 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 3 of 26

Page 124

Work / work related (includes commuting)
Visiting leisure facilities / activities

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q3

How often do you make a journey into or out of Leeds City Centre? (Please tick one)

110

97
100

93

97

93
90

76

80

76
70

60
51
51

50

46
46

36

40

33

36

33
30

20
9
10

9

Question options
6 or more days a week
At least once a month

5 days a week
At least once a year

2-4 days a week
Hardly ever / Never

Optional question (441 response(s), 2 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 4 of 26

Page 125

At least once a week

At least once a fortnight

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q4

Please select which modes of transport you use to travel to and from Leeds City Centre.

(Please select all that apply)

250
230
230

218

225

218
193

200

193

175

150

125

98
100

98

75

50

25

Question options
Walking

Private vehicle (this includes car, van, taxi or motorcycle)

Optional question (441 response(s), 2 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 5 of 26

Page 126

Bicycle

Public Transport (Bus or Train)

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q5

If you are a cyclist, please rate your current experience of the following factors:
Question options
Very Good
Somewhat Good

Travelling into or out of
the city centre

2

37

34

77

43

2

37

34

77

43

Neutral
Somewhat Poor
Very Poor

Feeling of safety

Crossing junctions

Space available to move
around other road and...

Condition of
the road/footway for
cycling

Directness of route to
destination

118

36

70

68

118

36

70

68

18

31

78

71

18

31

78

71

13

36

79

65

13

36

79

65

4 26

36

69

57

4 26

36

69

57

12

48

50

44

37

12

48

50

44

37

50

100

150

Optional question (193 response(s), 250 skipped)
Question type: Likert Question

Page 6 of 26

Page 127

200

250

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q5

If you are a cyclist, please rate your current experience of the following

factors:
Travelling into or out of the city centre

Page 7 of 26

Page 128

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Very Good : 2

Somewhat Good : 37

Neutral : 34

Somewhat Poor : 77

Very Poor : 43

10

20

30

40

50

Page 8 of 26

Page 129

60

70

80

90

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Feeling of safety

Very Good : 1

Somewhat Good : 18

Neutral : 36

Somewhat Poor : 70

Very Poor : 68

10

20

30

40

Page 9 of 26

Page 130

50

60

70

80

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Crossing junctions

Very Good : 1

Somewhat Good : 8

Neutral : 31

Somewhat Poor : 78

Very Poor : 71

10

20

30

40

50

Page 10 of 26

Page 131

60

70

80

90

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Space available to move around other road and pavement users

Very Good : 0

Somewhat Good : 13

Neutral : 36

Somewhat Poor : 79

Very Poor : 65

10

20

30

40

50

Page 11 of 26

Page 132

60

70

80

90

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Condition of the road/footway for cycling

Very Good : 4

Somewhat Good : 26

Neutral : 36

Somewhat Poor : 69

Very Poor : 57

10

20

30

40

Page 12 of 26

Page 133

50

60

70

80

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Directness of route to destination

Very Good : 12

Somewhat Good : 48

Neutral : 50

Somewhat Poor : 44

Very Poor : 37

5

10

15

20

25

30

Page 13 of 26

Page 134

35

40

45

50

55

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q6

Which of these alterations would improve facilities for cycling around the city centre?

Please prioritise these from most effective to least effective (most effective = 1 and least
effective = 6)

OPTIONS

AVG. RANK

Segregated cycle tracks

2.33

Routes away from the road or on quieter streets

3.24

Routes next to and following existing main roads

3.44

Cycle superhighways (Such as the Bradford Leeds Cycle

3.59

Superhighway)
Separate traffic signals for cyclists

3.97

Cycle lanes marked on the road

4.13

Optional question (426 response(s), 17 skipped)
Question type: Ranking Question

Page 14 of 26

Page 135

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q7

Please select which parts of the project you would like to give feedback on: (Please tick

all you would like to give feedback on)

225
208
208
200

175

145

141

150
145
124
125

124

127

141

127

100

75

50

25

Question options
Crown Point Road

Holbeck Gateway

Southern Gateway

Optional question (359 response(s), 84 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 15 of 26

Page 136

Eastern Gateway

Western Gateway

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q8

Western Gateway: To what extent to you agree that the proposed plans will improve

connections for cycling in and around the city centre? (Please tick one box)

7 (3.4%)
7 (3.4%)

44 (21.2%)

57 (27.4%)

44 (21.2%)

57 (27.4%)

10 (4.8%)
10 (4.8%)

35 (16.8%)
55 (26.4%)

35 (16.8%)

55 (26.4%)

Question options
Don't Know

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Optional question (208 response(s), 235 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 16 of 26

Page 137

Agree

Strongly Agree

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q9

Eastern Gateway: To what extent to you agree that the proposed plans will improve

connections for cycling in and around the city centre? (Please tick one box)

4 (2.8%)
4 (2.8%)

36 (24.8%)
36 (24.8%)

37 (25.5%)
37 (25.5%)

8 (5.5%)
8 (5.5%)

42 (29.0%)

18 (12.4%)

42 (29.0%)

18 (12.4%)

Question options
Don't Know

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Optional question (145 response(s), 298 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 17 of 26

Page 138

Agree

Strongly Agree

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q10

Southern Gateway:To what extent to you agree that the proposed plans will improve

connections for cycling in and around the city centre? (Please tick one box)

4 (3.3%)
4 (3.3%)

26 (21.1%)
26 (21.1%)

49 (39.8%)
49 (39.8%)

10 (8.1%)
10 (8.1%)

10 (8.1%)
10 (8.1%)

24 (19.5%)
24 (19.5%)

Question options
Don't Know

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Optional question (123 response(s), 320 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 18 of 26

Page 139

Agree

Strongly Agree

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q11

Holbeck Gateway:To what extent to you agree that the proposed plans will improve

connections for cycling in and around the city centre? (Please tick one box)

5 (4.0%)
5 (4.0%)

36 (28.6%)
30 (23.8%)

36 (28.6%)

30 (23.8%)

9 (7.1%)
9 (7.1%)

12 (9.5%)
34 (27.0%)

12 (9.5%)

34 (27.0%)

Question options
Don't Know

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Optional question (126 response(s), 317 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 19 of 26

Page 140

Agree

Strongly Agree

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q12

Crown Point Road: To what extent to you agree that the proposed plans will improve

connections for cycling in and around the city centre? (Please tick one box)

7 (5.1%)
7 (5.1%)

44 (31.9%)
34 (24.6%)

44 (31.9%)

34 (24.6%)

5 (3.6%)
5 (3.6%)

18 (13.0%)
30 (21.7%)

18 (13.0%)

30 (21.7%)

Question options
Don't Know

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Optional question (138 response(s), 305 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 20 of 26

Page 141

Agree

Strongly Agree

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q13

Please choose the statement that best matches how the proposed changes will affect

how you travel to and from Leeds City Centre:

130 (30.0%)
130 (30.0%)

153 (35.3%)
153 (35.3%)

52 (12.0%)
52 (12.0%)

99 (22.8%)
99 (22.8%)

Question options
I am unlikely to consider cycling as an alternative method of travel
I don’t know yet whether the proposed changes will affect my method of travel
I may now consider cycling to or from Leeds City Centre

I will cycle more to or from Leeds City Centre than I currently do

Optional question (434 response(s), 9 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 21 of 26

Page 142

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q14

If you are unlikely to consider cycling as an alternative method of travel, please select

the statements which best explain why:

70
63
60
60

63

60
54

54

54

54

50

40

36
36

27

30

25

25

25

25

27

20

11
11

10

Question options
Other

My current mode of transport is more suitable for my journey e.g. I require a car for work or to travel with another person

The weather conditions are often poor and unpredictable
I don't know how to ride a bike

My health or fitness is a barrier to cycling

I don't feel safe to cycle

I don't have appropriate facilities at my destination (e.g. bike storage / a shower)
My journey is too far and/or hilly

Optional question (153 response(s), 290 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 22 of 26

Page 143

I don't have access to a bike

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q15

Do you identify as:

4 (0.9%)
18 (4.1%)

4 (0.9%)

18 (4.1%)

104 (24.0%)
104 (24.0%)

308 (71.0%)
308 (71.0%)

Question options
Prefer to describe as:

Prefer not to say

Female

Male

Optional question (434 response(s), 9 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 23 of 26

Page 144

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q16

Which age category do you fall within?

5 (1.2%)

3 (0.7%)

5 (1.2%)

3 (0.7%)

83 (19.2%)

18 (4.2%)
18 (4.2%)

83 (19.2%)

143 (33.1%)
143 (33.1%)

180 (41.7%)
180 (41.7%)

Question options
80+

65-79

45-64

25-44

19-24

16-18

Optional question (432 response(s), 11 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 24 of 26

Page 145

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q17

How did you hear about this consultation? (Please tick all that apply)

220
199
200

199

180

165
165

160

140

120

100

80

60

40

30

31

30

31

26
26

20

18
18

Question options
Other

Email / Newsletter

Word of mouth

Through a group, club or network

Social media

Optional question (432 response(s), 11 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 25 of 26

Page 146

Press release / news outlet

Leeds City Centre Cycle Improvements Survey : Survey Report for 10 January 2021 to 22 February 2021

Q18

Please tick to confirm you have read and understood our privacy notice.You can read

the privacy notice by clicking on this link (opens in a new tab).

500

443
450

443

400

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

Question options
I have read and understood the privacy notice

Mandatory Question (443 response(s))
Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 26 of 26

Page 147

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Report author: Adam Harvatt
Tel: 0113 378 7648

Report of Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23rd June 2021
Subject: Leeds Local Plan Update – Public Consultation on the Scope of the
Plan
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s): ALL

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1.

Main Issues.


The Local Plan for Leeds comprises a number of Development Plan
Documents (DPDs), including a Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plans and
Natural Resources and Waste Plan, which together form full statutory
planning policy coverage for development within the Leeds Metropolitan
District. Government advises that plans are kept up to date and reviewed
to see if they need to be updated every five years and whilst these DPDs
already contain policies to help deal with climate change they were made
before the Council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency.



This report seeks approval to commence public consultation on the scope
of a Local Plan Update (LPU), to seek views from the public, businesses
and other stakeholders on what policies the Plan ought to contain.



Informed by declarations made at Full Council, a review of policies, and
detailed discussions with Development Plan Panel it is proposed that the
objective of the LPU should be the introduction of new and enhancement of
existing planning policies to help address the climate emergency. This

Page 149

includes policies on carbon reduction, flood risk, green infrastructure, placemaking and sustainable infrastructure.

2.



The first statutory step in plan-making is to consult on this scope and invite
views as to whether it is the right focus and what the direction of travel of
specific policy areas might be. To aid consultation, 6 papers have been
prepared, with an introductory scope and summary paper, accompanied by
5 detailed topic papers. In addition, to assist discussion and help consultees
engage with the Council’s initial proposed direction of travel on some topics,
options are discussed for potential future policies.



This consultation period provides an opportunity to hear the specific views
of a wide variety of stakeholders with key roles to play in planning for the
climate emergency e.g. from people young and older about the types of
places they want to live, play and move about in, the ways that places can
help deliver health benefits and more accessibility to green space; from
groups keen to help protect biodiversity and trees; from developers who will
be required to build to better standards and layout places that are attractive
and resilient and investors who can capitalise on innovative and attractive
places to live and work.



Members will note that the scope of the policy areas within this proposed
update do also take the opportunity through better place-making and ideas
like 20-min neighbourhoods to align with the Council’s ambition for health
and well-being and inclusive growth.

Best Council Plan Implications


There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s
priorities as established through the Best Council Plan. At this early stage
of preparation, the contents of the Local Plan Update are not known,
however, it is considered that the LPU could contribute positively to the
Council’s key strategies, as follows:
Climate Emergency – by managing the transition to zero carbon via policies
including: increasing the energy efficiency of buildings, the design of places,
the location of development, accessibility to public transport, renewable
energy supply and storage;
Health and Well-being Strategy – through policies including the design of
places, quality of housing and accessibility to green infrastructure and
services;
Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links between
homes and jobs, the location of development, green infrastructure and
connectivity.

3.

Resource Implications


The preparation of the Local Plan Update and accompanying evidence base
is a resource intensive endeavour which incurs additional cost, in terms of
evidence base preparation and consultation, at a time of increased budget
pressure. In general, costs will be met from within existing budgets.

Page 150

4.

Recommendation
Executive Board is requested to:
(i)


agree the proposed initial scope of the Local Plan Update as follows:
Update and create new policies; make consequential changes, within the
Adopted Leeds Core Strategy (amended 2019), the Natural Resources and
Waste Local Plan (2013) and Unitary Development Plan (2006) which focus
on: carbon reduction, flood risk, green infrastructure, place-making and
sustainable infrastructure in order to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of
climate change and ensure the delivery of sustainable development within
the Leeds Metropolitan District for a period of at least 16 years from
Adoption.

(ii)

Agree commencement of consultation on this scope for a period of eight
weeks using supporting topic papers (Appendix 1 and 2);

(iii)

Refer the consultation documentation (Appendix 1 and 2) to the
Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board for
consultation in accordance with the requirements of the Budget and
Policy Framework;

(iv)

Authorise the Chief Planning Officer, in liaison with the Executive
Member for Infrastructure and Climate, to approve any amendments to
the consultation material in advance of public consultation;

(v)

Note that the Chief Planning Officer is responsible for the implementation
of these recommendations.

Page 151

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform Executive Board of the proposed scope
for the Local Plan Update, namely a focus on new or revised planning policy to
help further address the climate emergency. On this basis, the report seeks
approval to commence consultation on the proposed scope of the Local Plan
Update contained within the consultation documents at Appendix 1 and 2.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Leeds Local Plan sets the land use and spatial planning framework for how
Leeds will develop. The current Leeds Local Plan is a set of five Development
Plan Documents (DPDs) mainly covering the period between 2012 and 2028,
but with some policies covering up to 2033. The Local Plan and 17
Neighbourhood Plans together form the statutory Development Plan, which is
used, alongside the National Planning Policy Framework, to help direct
decisions on planning applications in Leeds.

2.2

The Core Strategy DPD sets the overall strategic framework for development
in Leeds and is underpinned by other DPDs covering Natural Resources and
Waste and site allocations as well as saved policies in the Unitary Development
Plan. A number of years have passed since the Core Strategy (CS) was
adopted in 2014. It was subject to an update in 2019, which was selective and
focussed largely on housing, leaving much of the remainder untouched. The
Natural Resources and Waste DPD was adopted in 2013.

2.3

The LPA has a statutory duty to review policies every five years to determine
whether they require updating. Within the context of national planning guidance,
evidence and local priorities, it is crucial therefore that the Local Plan is kept up
to date and subject to regular review and update, to ensure it remains fit for
purpose in providing certainty for communities and investors.

2.4

Following the declaration of the Climate Emergency in March 2019, in
September 2019 Council approved that: “To reflect the Council’s declaration of
Climate Emergency … Council commits to including measures to address the
Climate Emergency in subsequent Core Strategy Reviews. This should include
a strategic plan to deliver more trees in the city, a greater emphasis on how
new housing developments are accessed i.e. not solely by the private car and
a clear commitment to review Spatial Policy 12 of the Core Strategy relating to
growth at Leeds Bradford Airport, as a matter of urgency, and notes that the
Council has already committed to bringing a timetable to Development Plan
Panel this Autumn”.

2.5

Through Development Plan Panel (DPP) consideration and under delegated
decision by the Chief Planning Officer, all policies across the Local Plan were
reviewed in July 2020 (postponed from March 2020). The policies identified as
in need of updating are wide in scope. As a result DPP considered that, to
reflect Council priorities and resources available, the Local Plan Update should
focus initially on policies for the Climate Emergency in Leeds in addition to
responding to the Council’s resolution made in July 2019 outlined above. Other
matters e.g. around employment land, minerals and waste and local and town
centres would be updated by future DPDs. This approach of partial review was
used for the Core Strategy Selective Review and enables a more focussed and
manageable plan-making process to be undertaken at greater speed.

Page 152

2.6

Throughout 2020 DPP have considered in more detail the possible scope of an
update to the Local Plan, known as the Local Plan Update (LPU). The views
expressed by the Panel (including at a dedicated climate change policy
workshop) made clear that the priority for the LPU is to consolidate and move
beyond existing local planning policies to help address climate change and
increase resilience to its impacts, through the establishment of new policies and
guidance within the Leeds Local Plan, which helps address the climate
emergency declaration to achieve net zero emissions by 2030. Having set the
broad scope of the LPU on 3rd November 2020 Members of DPP considered
potential policy approaches on topics related to carbon reduction and
renewable energy, green infrastructure and place-making. Issues relating to
flood risk, sustainable infrastructure and strategic place-making were
considered in January 2021. DPP endorsed the detailed consultation material
on the 18th May 2021, subject to minor revised wording to help clarify matters
relating to the Child Friendly City, blue infrastructure, solar farms and the wider
community benefits of place-making. These themes and topics have also been
considered and influenced by the Climate Emergency Advisory Committees
(CEAC) for Planning, Building and Energy and Food and Biodiversity with the
former advocating for more energy efficient homes and the latter group keen to
see alignment with the Council’s emerging policies on local food production.

2.7

The first regulatory milestone in the preparation of a Development Plan
Document such as the LPU, is an initial stage of public consultation (‘Regulation
18’ consultation). The purpose of this stage is to ascertain views on what
matters the LPU will need to consider and address i.e. its scope in order to
achieve its identified objective. The regulations specify that, as part of the plan
preparation process, we must invite representations on what the Local Plan
ought to contain. Whilst being mindful of the need not to pre-judge the outcome
of that consultation, it is considered that it would be helpful to respondents and
speed up the process if the Council’s general preferred scope of policies (with
initial options for what they could contain) was used as a means of generating
responses to the Plan at this early stage. This would help shorten the timescale
for preparation, focus comments and in due course help clarify the tests of
soundness that are required by national policy.

2.8

As the LPU is a statutory plan-making process it is important to note that issues
raised during forthcoming formal consultation stages, in addition to the focused
input of specialist bodies (for example infrastructure providers and the West
Yorkshire Combined Authority - WYCA), will also inform the future direction and
content of the LPU. The preparation of the LPU is an iterative process and
possible options will narrow and refine in response to emerging information and
evidence as work on the plan progresses. This work will also need to take into
account new evidence and Government legislation as it emerges.

3.

Main Issues
The material for the LPU scoping consultation is set out in Appendix 1 and
Appendix 2. What follows below is a consideration of the main issues in relation
to that statutory consultation.
Background to the Objective of the Local Plan Update

3.1

Leeds City Council has declared a climate emergency and has set an ambition
for Leeds to work towards carbon neutrality by 2030. This is a massive task,

Page 153

needing a sustained effort from not just the Council, who aim to lead by
example, but for other agencies, businesses and residents of Leeds to take this
huge step.
3.2

To achieve our ambitions by 2030 and beyond, a rapid period of transition is
necessary, along with big step changes. The Council aspires to achieve these
because the evidence shows that they are needed now.

3.3

In parallel to considering the climate emergency, the Council has also focused
on the ecological crisis that is being faced, with a loss of 70% of insects over
the last thirty years across Europe. The Council has also sought to align the
resilience that Leeds needs to adapt to climate change with its policies for
health and well-being and inclusive growth as they are inter-related. A need for
resilient places has also been heightened during the past year by the global
pandemic, its localised impacts on communities in “lock down” and its impacts
on the economy.

3.4

The land use planning system plays a critical role in mitigating and adapting to
climate change. Specifically, it can shape places in ways that contribute to
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, it can minimise vulnerability and
improve resilience; encourage the more prudent use of existing resources and
support the move towards renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure.
Planning Policy Context

3.5

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019) sets national guidance
for planning. Section 14 (¶148 – 154), stresses that the planning system should
support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. In particular
Planning should, “…help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical
reductions in greenhouses gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve
resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion
of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and
associated infrastructure”.

3.6

It is noted that the Government is committed to updating the NPPF as part of
its wider Planning White Paper reforms. The Council’s response to the White
Paper (considered by Development Plan Panel and CEAC Panel Members)
alerted the Government to the need for stronger national policies on climate
change in order to plan for zero carbon in advance of the Government’s target
of 2050 and cautioned against setting nationally prescribed development
management policies which may impact on the ability of the Council to have
stronger local ambitions for tackling climate change.

3.7

The Government has begun the process of consulting on amendments to the
NPPF with an initial consultation (released on 30th January 2021) focussed
mainly on changes which improve the quality of design and beauty, but it is
expected that as the Council’s LPU progresses further NPPF changes will be
made.

3.8

In addition to the statutory requirement to take the NPPF into account in the
preparation of Local Plans and in decision taking, there are wider statutory
duties on local planning authorities to include policies in their Local Plans
designed to tackle climate change and its impacts, including:

Page 154



Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 - Planning must secure that the
development and use of land contributes to the mitigation of and adaptation
to climate change;



Planning Act 2008)- A duty that Plans have climate change targets and
policies;



Planning & Energy Act 2008 - Powers to require some low-carbon energy
generation from new development;



Climate Change Act 2008 - Establishes the importance of planning in
securing legally binding targets.

The Climate Emergency in Leeds
3.9

The Climate Emergency affects Leeds in a number of ways, some of which are
specific to the nature and character of Leeds. Leeds has to be ready to deal
with a changing climate (and the associated mitigation and adaption necessary)
in the following ways:


Adapt to a changing climate by preparing for heat waves and their impacts.
It is recognised that as a large urban area Leeds will experience an increase
in temperature fluctuations. The health impacts of heatwaves can be
significant, particularly for vulnerable people, when excess deaths can
occur. Therefore it is crucial that we make places ready for extremes of
temperature to ensure they are resilient. In Leeds the urban heat island
effect will affect those who are most vulnerable within Leeds, including
elderly, those with respiratory conditions and those in built up high density
areas.



Plan for flood risk. Leeds is also well aware of the issues that flooding brings
e.g. the damage caused by Storm Eva in 2015, will increase as the global
and local climate changes.



Heatwaves also have impacts on infrastructure and water resources which
will need to be used more wisely in development and in agriculture.



Temperature changes won’t just affect people and there will be a need to
plan for better biodiversity and resilient local habitats for our species.



Climate change won’t just affect the urban area, but also the countryside
around our city and our major settlements. This will see a changing role for
local food production, tree and woodland planting and opportunities for
renewable energy.

3.10

A Climate Conversation was launched in 2019 as a result of the declaration of
the Climate Emergency and nearly 8,000 people responded to the Council with
the overwhelming majority agreeing with the scientific consensus that the
climate is changing due to human activity, that they are worried about it and
that tackling the climate emergency, becoming a carbon-neutral city and
protecting wildlife diversity should be priorities for the Council.

3.11

The majority of responses also considered that more should be done around
the following issues

Page 155



transport, especially suggestions for a mass transit system;



minimising waste and encouraging recycling;



build ‘greener’ developments, e.g. requiring stricter energy efficiency
standards, the installation of renewables;



make it harder to develop on green field sites;



plant more trees.

3.12

In addition, the Leeds Climate Change Citizen’s Jury was put together in 2019,
who made recommendations to the Council on how best to tackle the climate
emergency. Their 12 recommendations included taking action to reduce use of
private cars, increase the energy efficiency of housing and creating more green
spaces in Leeds.

3.13

Taken together, these issues have helped set the objective and scope of the
LPU and are addressed through the sections on sustainable infrastructure,
whole life carbon and place-making, carbon reduction, and green infrastructure
topics.

3.14

It is important to note that Leeds has a Local Plan with existing policies aimed
at addressing climate change. These policies range from a spatial strategy
which encourages growth in sustainable locations, to detailed policies on
carbon reduction, green infrastructure, flood risk, biodiversity, flood risk, heat
networks, electric vehicles, renewable energy generation, air quality and tree
replacement. However, these policies largely pre-date the declaration of the
Climate Emergency and the aspiration to achieve net zero carbon emissions by
2030. In order to ensure that the existing suite of policies is heightened and
maximised work has been undertaken throughout 2019 and 2020 on
developing training and awareness raising especially on the subject of master
planning and place making so that Council decisions are as aligned with the
Climate Emergency as they can be using existing policies. This work also forms
the basis for Member training on planning, climate change and sustainable
development for the coming year.
The Proposed Scope of the Plan

3.15

As set out in paragraph 2.4 Full Council has resolved that the scope of the
Local Plan Update should be focussed on measures to improve and enhance
the planning policy framework to help address the climate emergency. This
objective has also be informed and endorsed by Development Plan Panel.

3.16

Since the declaration of the Climate Emergency work has progressed on
focussing on improving the delivery outcomes of existing policies that the
Council has, so as to (a) understand what new policies are needed, and (b)
ensure that all new development is doing its best to meet the Climate
Emergency now.

3.17

As a result, it is felt that there are many policy areas that would benefit from
further consideration through the Local Plan Update. The scoping consultation
is an opportunity for the Council to share its direction of travel on new and
updated policies with the public, businesses and consultation bodies.

Page 156

3.18

As part of this consultation, therefore, we are clearly setting out that the
proposed subject of this Local Plan Update will be a focus on carbon reduction,
flood risk, green infrastructure, place-making and sustainable infrastructure in
order to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change and ensure the
delivery of sustainable development within Leeds.

3.19

It is proposed that this will take the form of new and updated policies within the
Core Strategy and may result in consequential changes to the Natural
Resources and Waste Local Plan (2013) and the saved Unitary Development
Plan (2006).

3.20

Taking these considerations together, and working in consultation with
Development Plan Panel, 5 broad topic areas have emerged, with multiple
policy areas sitting underneath. These are set out below:

3.21

Topic Area

Policy Areas Covered

Carbon Reduction

 Whole life carbon costs for
buildings
 Reducing carbon emissions from
buildings
 Sustainable construction
 Resilience to Heat
 Renewable energy generation
 Heat networks
 Energy storage

Flood Risk

 Flood risk
 Functional floodplain
 Sustainable Drainage Systems

Green Infrastructure









Place-making

 Strategic Place-making (incl. 20Minute Neighbourhoods)
 Local Place-making

Sustainable Infrastructure







Strategic Green Infrastructure
Tree Planting
Tree Replacement
Biodiversity
Nature Conservation
Green space
Space for local food growing

High Speed 2
Leeds City Station
Mass Transit
Leeds Bradford Airport
Digital Infrastructure

As a whole they set a scope and a draft direction of travel, which helps address
the following 5 headline objectives:

Page 157

(1) Carbon reduction: For new development, Leeds will seek to minimise
energy demand and meet all demands for heat and power without
increasing carbon emissions, to allow Leeds to meet its climate emergency
commitment of zero carbon by 2030. This is supported by topics
concerning:


Ensuring that the level of embodied carbon in a development is
considered and monitored from construction to demolition;



reducing Carbon Emissions from Buildings for example, by exploring
whether all development could be built to a zero carbon standard;



ensuring Sustainable Construction for example, through setting clear
standards;



Renewable Energy and heat generation and storage infrastructure for
example, through consideration of mechanisms to increase the
generation and storage of low carbon and renewable heat and power
both through stand-alone generation and within new developments.

(2) Flood Risk: Leeds will ensure that new developments are located and
designed to avoid, reduce and mitigate flood risk, increase biodiversity and
reduce the carbon footprint of risk reduction schemes through natural flood
solutions. This is supported by topics concerning:


ensuring that the Council’s policies are supported by up to date evidence
on flood risk;



avoiding development in flood risk areas and managing the functional
flood plain;



reducing the speed of surface water run off through more sustainable
and natural drainage systems for example, through standards and limits
to the paving over of front gardens.

(3) Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity: Leeds will create new Green
Infrastructure (GI) (including Green Space and Natural Environment)
through the planning process, and identify, improve, protect and extend
existing GI to address the challenges of climate change and create a
healthy city. This is supported by topics concerning:


ensuring a strong, clear and consistent approach to the delivery of new
green infrastructure as well as the enhancement and protection of
existing GI alongside a better understanding of the roles and benefits of
individual GI attributes e.g. for play, for well-being, biodiversity (through
hedgerow plating), opportunities for local food growing and more
attractive routes to encourage less car use; ensuring stronger protection
for trees for example, through new land for trees, tree retention and
replacement which considers the carbon sequestration value of trees, in
addition to amenity and alongside other considerations;



ensuring that local wildlife sites and nature conservation designations
are effective at protecting species and habitats and that new
development delivers appropriate levels of net gain for biodiversity;

Page 158

(4) Place-making: Leeds will work in the public interest, prioritising the safety
and well-being of people within a framework of long-term sustainable
development by allowing development that promotes safe, healthy and
resilient places, reflects the issues associated with inclusive growth and an
environment which leaves a positive legacy for all people. This is supported
by topics concerning:


ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps adapt
to the impacts of climate change and balances development needs with
environmental constraints for example, through policies on 20-minute
neighbourhoods;



ensuring high quality design of places for example, through good
practice, standards and design guides that helps ensure better quality,
form and layout;



As part of policies that promote place-making the Council is mindful of
having policies that contribute positively to the Councils’ climate change
ambitions, including increasing active travel and reducing private car
use. Linked to this will be matters related to car parking standards which
can be managed through supplementary guidance which align with the
Council’s wider transport strategies.

(5) Sustainable Infrastructure: Leeds will ensure the delivery of an accessible
and integrated transport system which focuses on public transport and
active travel, is worthy of its role at the heart of the Leeds City Region, and
supports communities and inclusive growth. This is supported by topics
concerning:

3.22



preparing for and maximising the benefits that the national High Speed
2 rail infrastructure project may bring to the City, if built, for example
through shaping the development of Leeds Station, integrating the HS2
line into our city and seeking opportunities for new green and public
spaces to be created alongside HS2, as well as ensuring high levels of
permeability;



preparing for any mass transit system that is provided in Leeds so that it
can align with wider spatial priorities and deliver wider benefits;



managing the future development of Leeds Bradford Airport and access
to it in a sustainable manner;



supporting reliable, high-speed data at work, home and whilst on the
move, so that Leeds is a modern, resilient and efficient economy which
can support increased remote working;



ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps
reduce the need to travel by private car and positively promotes active
travel for example, through policies on 20-minute neighbourhoods and
place-making.

These topics have been created following engagement across the Council and
seeks to deliver a consistent vision as already expressed through documents

Page 159

such as the draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy and the White Rose
Forest Strategy.
3.23

Consultation material has been created for each of the topic areas (appendix
2), with a summary document as an introduction to the whole consultation
material (appendix 1). It is not the intent at this stage to present detailed
policies. Rather, this first consultation stage is being used to explain the scope
of the document and to seek views on the direction of travel.

3.24

As set out above, the consultation will not prescribe what the LPU should
conclude on a particular matter as, at this initial stage in the process,
consultation will help to clarify the scope, seek support for particular options
and continue to develop an evidence base to justify the Council’s preferred
options in due course. The work that has informed this consultation material
therefore does not seek to prejudge consultation on the scope of the LPU,
rather it serves to help inform it.

3.25

With regard to Leeds Bradford Airport, it is recognised that Leeds Bradford
Airport have recently submitted a planning application for a new terminal
building and associated flight regimes, which the Council moved to approve in
principle on the 11th February 2021. This application was assessed against
existing Local Plan policy and other material considerations. The Secretary of
State has the right to ‘call-in’ this application, although at the present time this
right has not been exercised. However, this Local Plan Update process is a
separate planning process to the planning application, and will guide the long
term future of the airport not the current planning application. Consequently the
focus of the consultation will be on the future of the Airport post-completion of
the development already outlined.
Timescales

3.26

It is intended that public consultation will commence in July 2021.

4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The initial proposed scope of the LPU has been shaped with reference to the
Council’s Climate Conversation and engagement with cross Council services
to ensure alignment with strategies such as the Leeds Transport Strategy.
4.1.2 Initial discussion has also taken place with the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority (WYCA). WYCA have ambitions for the sub-region as a whole to be
net-zero carbon by 2038 and to have made significant progress by 2030. The
ambitions within this LPU align with that and there is support for joint work at a
city region level on tackling the climate emergency through planning. This will
be through aligning with and helping to shape a Zero Emissions Investment
Framework (ZEIF) which was a commitment in the West Yorkshire Devolution
Deal and the Leeds City Region Energy Strategy & Delivery Plan.
4.1.3 Development Plan Panel have been closely involved in the production of the
Local Plan Update. The Panel met on the 18th May 2021 and endorsed the
consultation material for Executive Board’s approval, subject to minor revised
wording to help clarify matters relating to the Child Friendly City, blue
infrastructure, solar farms and the wider community benefits of place-making.

Page 160

4.1.4 The consultation on the scope of the Local Plan Update will be subject to an 8
week consultation. Due to the current restrictions arising from COVID-19, it will
not be possible to undertake face-to-face consultation. The Statement of
Community Involvement (SCI) has been revised on an interim basis to allow
consultation to take place with a digital emphasis. All consultation material will
be publicised and made available digitally on the Council’s website. Statutory
consultees will be consulted in line with national regulations.
4.1.5 In advance of going out to consultation, officers will develop a consultation
strategy for the LPU consultation, to be agreed by the Chief Planning Officer in
consultation with the Executive Member for Infrastructure and Climate. This will
place an emphasis on inclusion, to ensure that measures are taken to gain the
views of all people, including young people, the elderly, minority groups and
local community groups. In addition, a communications strategy will be created
through the Council’s Communications and Creative Services teams.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening (Appendix 3) has
been undertaken in considering the equality impact of this report and due
regard has been given. Equality has been a key consideration of the scoping
work so far, with each topic area considering the equalities impacts of the Plan.
The Local Plan Update is at an early stage and as such the recommendation
proposes consultation on the scope of the Local Plan Update, this will allow an
early opportunity to seek comments and to engage the community before policy
formulation is commenced. Further due regard to equality will be undertaken
throughout the process at appropriate stages.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s
priorities as established through the Best Council Plan. At this early stage of
preparation, the contents of the Local Plan Update are not known, however, it
is considered that the LPU could contribute positively to the Council’s key
strategies, as follows:
Health and Well-being Strategy – through policies including the design of
places, quality of housing and accessibility to green infrastructure and
services;
Climate Emergency – by managing the transition to zero carbon via policies
including: increasing the energy efficiency of buildings, the design of places,
the location of development, accessibility to public transport, renewable
energy supply and storage
Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links between
homes and jobs, the location of development, green infrastructure and
connectivity.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The preparation of the Local Plan Update and accompanying evidence base is
a resource intensive endeavour which incurs additional cost, in terms of
evidence base preparation and consultation, at a time of increased budget
pressure. In general, costs will be met from within existing budgets.

Page 161

4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 As a Development Plan Document, the Local Plan Update falls within the
Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. As such, this report is not subject to
call-in. However, the consultation documents will be referred to Scrutiny Board
for Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth with an invitation for them
to make representations.
4.5.2 Consultation must be in accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. This requires
that the Local Planning Authority must notify residents, businesses and
consultation bodies on the “subject of the local plan which the local planning
authority propose to prepare and invite each of them to make representations
to the local planning authority about what a local plan with that subject ought to
contain”. Representations received shall be considered prior to the preparation
of the publication draft LPU.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The proposed direction of travel and initial options that are subject to
consultation have not been assessed for their viability. Following public
consultation, officers will collate the evidence and views presented by
consultees, in order to create detailed policy approaches. Those approaches
and alternative options will be subject to detailed viability assessments, in order
to inform future versions of the Plan. As such, the service will need to
commission a technical evidence base in regard to feasibility, deliverability and
viability, which is expected to be funded through existing budgets.
4.6.2 It is also recognised that there are risks to pursuing a Local Plan Update
focussed on the climate agenda. Changes to the planning system as proposed
within the Government’s White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’ may result in
national Development Management policies (as expressed through a revised
NPPF) not giving local authorities flexibility to set their own policies on the
matters proposed to be in scope for the Local Plan Update. In addition,
proposed changes to the building regulations may result in local authorities
having no scope to prescribe carbon emission rates from new development. It
is also possible that the Government will change how Local Plans are consulted
on and the stages of consultation and preparation required. Should this happen,
this may require the Council to revise documentation and return to earlier
stages of consultation, depending on when the changes are introduced. At
present however, LPA’s are being encourage to continue progressing with their
Local Plans.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

This report recommends that the Council commences consultation on the Local
Plan Update in accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

6.

Recommendation
Executive Board is requested to:

Page 162

(i)


agree the proposed initial scope of the Local Plan Update as follows:
Update and create new policies, make consequential changes, within the
Adopted Leeds Core Strategy (amended 2019), the Natural Resources and
Waste Local Plan (2013) and Unitary Development Plan (2006) which focus
on: carbon reduction, flood risk, green infrastructure, place-making and
sustainable infrastructure in order to adapt to and mitigate the impacts of
climate change and ensure the delivery of sustainable development within
the Leeds Metropolitan District for a period of at least 16 years from
Adoption.

(ii)

Agree commencement of consultation on this scope for a period of eight
weeks using supporting topic papers (Appendix 1 and 2);

(iii)

Refer the consultation documentation (Appendix 1 and 2) to the
Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board for
consultation in accordance with the requirements of the Budget and
Policy Framework;

(iv)

Authorise the Chief Planning Officer, in liaison with the Executive
Member for Infrastructure and Climate, to approve any amendments to
the consultation material in advance of public consultation;

(v)

Note that the Chief Planning Officer is responsible for the implementation
of these recommendations.

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8.

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1: Local Plan Update Scoping Consultation material – ‘Introduction,
Scope and Summary’ Paper
Appendix 2: Local Plan Update Scoping Consultation material – Detailed Topic
Papers
Appendix 3: Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening

8.2
8.3

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless
they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published
works.

Page 163

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1:
INTRODUCTION AND
SUMMARY

1

Page 165

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT

INTRODUCTION, SCOPE AND SUMMARY TO THE LOCAL
PLAN UPDATE SCOPING CONSULTATION

2

Page 166

1

What is the purpose of this consultation?

1.1

Leeds City Council is updating its planning policies, which will form part of the
statutory Local Plan. The focus is on the role of planning in helping the Council
deliver its climate emergency commitments. The Council is seeking views on
which parts of the existing Local Plan to update and what they should contain.

1.2

This update will make changes to the existing Local Plan. The Local Plan sets
out development principles for our area and are used to determine planning
applications.

1.3

There are four formal stages to producing or updating a Local Plan:
 Scoping – the current stage where we seek views from stakeholders about the
ideas, options and direction of travel of a Plan
 Pre-submission – the next stage where we carefully consider the comments
you’ve sent us and use these to draft policy wording which is intended to guide
development in Leeds – we’ll be consulting on these detailed policies towards
the end of year
 Submission – taking into account all the comments we have received, and
making sure that our final draft policies are sound and legal prior to submitting to
the Secretary of State for independent examination by a planning inspector
 Adoption – where, following independent examination (and any proposed
modification), the Council receives an Inspector’s Report and can formally adopt
the policies as part of the statutory Local Plan

1.4

At this stage we need your views on:
 what the Local Plan Update should contain and this ‘Scoping Report’ explains
the range of what may be addressed, including the role of the update, the
Council’s initial thoughts on the content and how it relates to the wider Local
Plan;
 the direction of travel of the policies – are they the right choices, are they
ambitious enough, relevant to Leeds and will they deliver the type of
development that you think the City needs and help make the places you would
want to live in?

1.5

This scoping report and the detailed topic papers that sit underneath it provide
information on a range of issues we think should be considered through the
Local Plan Update. Throughout the documentation, questions are asked,
highlighting where we need your views and opinions.

3

Page 167

2

What is the Proposed Scope of the Plan?

2.1

The priority for the Local Plan Update is to update and improve existing policies
and make new ones to address climate change, and the climate emergency
declaration to achieve net zero emissions by 2030.

2.2

In addition, closely related topics such as green infrastructure, flood risk, placemaking and sustainable infrastructure are also included within the proposed
scope of the Plan. These are explained in more detail below.

3

Why is the Local Plan Update focussing on the Climate
Emergency?

3.1

Leeds City Council declared a climate emergency in March 2019 with an
ambition to work towards carbon neutrality by 2030. This is a massive task,
needing a sustained effort from not just the Council, who aim to lead by
example, but for other agencies, businesses and residents of Leeds.

3.2

Leeds has a Local Plan with existing policies aimed at addressing climate
change. These policies range from a spatial strategy which encourages
growth in sustainable locations, to detailed policies on carbon reduction, green
infrastructure, flood risk, biodiversity, flood risk, heat networks, electric vehicles,
renewable energy generation, air quality and tree replacement. However, these
policies were made before the declaration of the Climate Emergency and the
aspiration to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2030.

3.3

To achieve our ambitions by 2030 and beyond, a rapid period of transition is
necessary, along with big changes.

Why Leeds declared a Climate Emergency
3.4

The Council aspires to be carbon neutral by 2030 because the evidence
supports that, as follows:
 the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change warned that the
opportunity to limit world temperatures to under 1.5 °C and avoid the worst
climate change impacts will vanish in the next decade
 the UK government updated the Climate Change Act, committing to, by law,
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by at least 100% of 1990 levels (net zero) by
2050, in response to the Committee on Climate Change
 to reach this target the government has set legally-binding ‘carbon budgets’ in 5year periods i.e. the amount of greenhouse gases the UK is permitted to emit for
each 5-year period

4

Page 168

 the Committee has found that the government’s policies and plans are not
enough to meet carbon budgets and that the policy gap has widened
 Yorkshire and Humber’s share of the ‘carbon budget’ to 2050 on a per capita
basis is estimated at circa 250 mega-tonnes. If we continue business as usual
the budget will have been used up within the next 5 years
 climate-related events are continuing to occur in frequency and severity both
globally and locally e.g. frequency of storms, such as Storm Eva and the floods
caused over Christmas 2015

3.5

Many local authorities across Yorkshire and Humber and the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority1 have now declared climate emergencies with a
commitment to carbon neutrality. There are varying dates for achieving carbon
neutrality locally, but all commitments are ahead of the government 2050
target. We know this is a challenge, but not trying to achieve zero carbon by
2030 would be worse than doing nothing because:
 we need to plan for the long term to make sure that we are ready for the impacts
of Climate Change - the Council’s Local Plan looks ahead 16 years
 we need to help influence and inform Government on the steps that are
necessary for low carbon cities
 Leeds already has a significant level of development in the pipeline (including
almost 40,000 homes) to deliver, which will last beyond 2050 and if not built to
higher standards may serve to exacerbate the challenge in the future.

3.6

1

According to a carbon roadmap report by Leeds Climate Commission, Leeds
could become a carbon neutral city by 2050 – and potentially by 2030. The
report demonstrates that it is technically, and to a large extent, economically
possible for Leeds to become a carbon neutral city and to meet ambitious
carbon reduction targets in line with the global targets set out by the United
Nations. The roadmap makes clear that no single innovation will resolve the
climate crisis or put Leeds on the right path to zero carbon but that a
combination of activities are essential. This means that no-one can afford to
not play their part or to leave it to someone else to make the efforts. The report
sets out that there are economically viable measures that can be delivered
now.

Definition

5

Page 169

Leeds Climate Conversation
3.7

A Climate Conversation was launched in 2019 as a result of the declaration of
the Climate Emergency and nearly 8,000 people responded to the Council with
the overwhelming majority agreeing with the scientific consensus that the
climate is changing due to human activity, that they are worried about it and
that tackling the climate emergency, becoming a carbon-neutral city and
protecting wildlife diversity should be priorities for the Council.

3.8

The majority of responses also considered that more should be done around
the following issues:
 transport, especially suggestions for a mass transit system;
 building ‘greener’ developments, e.g. requiring stricter energy efficiency
standards, the installation of renewables;
 making it harder to develop on green field sites;
 planting more trees.

The Role of Planning
3.9

There is a legal duty2 to ensure that climate change mitigation and adaptation
is a core objective of a local authorities’ planning policy.
 Climate change mitigation is about reducing the impact of human activity on the
climate, primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions, such as carbon
(CO2) which are produced in the construction industry, when we travel by cars
and when we power and heat buildings
 Climate change adaptation is about adjusting to the impacts of climate change,
to lessen harm e.g. increased flooding protection and adapting to hotter weather.

3.10 Planning policies help determine planning applications for development that
can:
 shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse
gas emissions, e.g. by reducing the need to travel by car
 minimise vulnerability and improve resilience e.g. by avoiding places that
flood and dealing with water
 encourage more prudent use of existing resources e.g. by making homes
more efficient

2

under section 19(1A) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004

6

Page 170



support the move towards renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure e.g. by setting where wind farms and solar farms can be located

3.11 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019) is national guidance for
planning and all local authorities have to consider policies within it. Section 14
(¶148 – 154), stresses that the planning system should support the transition to
a low carbon future in a changing climate. In addition to the statutory
requirement to take the NPPF into account in the preparation of Local Plans
and in decision taking, there are wider statutory duties on local planning
authorities to include policies in their Local Plans designed to tackle climate
change and its impacts, including:
 Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 - Planning must secure that
the development and use of land contributes to the mitigation of and
adaptation to climate change;
 Planning Act 2008 - A duty that Plans have climate change targets and
policies;
 Planning & Energy Act 2008 - Powers to require some low-carbon energy
generation from new development;
 Climate Change Act 2008 - Establishes the importance of planning in
securing legally binding targets.

How the Climate Emergency Affects Leeds
3.12 The Climate Emergency affects Leeds in a number of ways from the inner city
and the City Centre to the outer areas, some of which are specific to the nature
and character of Leeds. Leeds has to be ready to deal with and adapt to a
changing climate in the following ways:
 Preparing for heat waves and their impacts. It is recognised that as a
large urban area Leeds will experience an increase in temperature
fluctuations. The health impacts of heatwaves can be significant,
particularly for vulnerable people, when excess deaths can occur.
Therefore it is crucial that we make places ready for extremes of
temperature to ensure they are resilient. In Leeds the urban heat island
effect will affect those who are most vulnerable, including the elderly,
those with respiratory conditions and those in built up high density areas.
 Planning for flood risk. Leeds is also well aware of the issues that
flooding brings e.g. the damage caused by Storm Eva in 2015, will
increase as the global and local climate changes.
 Protecting our infrastructure which will need to be built to higher
specifications.

7

Page 171

 Protecting our water resources which will need to be used more wisely
in development and in activities such as agriculture.
 Supporting nature Temperature changes won’t just affect people and
there will be a need to plan for better biodiversity and resilient local
habitats for our species.

4

What is the Plan likely to contain?

4.1

At this stage we are proposing topic areas and have prepared 5 topic papers to
provide ideas for how planning policies could change in the future to take
account of the climate emergency. At this early stage, we’d like your views on
these topics and the ideas contained within each topic area. The topic areas
are as follows:
Topic Area

Policy Areas Covered

Carbon Reduction

 Whole life carbon costs for
buildings
 Reducing carbon emissions from
buildings
 Sustainable construction
 Resilience to Heat
 Renewable energy generation
 Heat networks
 Energy storage

Flood Risk

 Flood risk
 Functional floodplain
 Sustainable Drainage Systems

Green Infrastructure








Place-making

 Strategic Place-making (incl. 20Minute Neighbourhoods)
 Local Place-making

Sustainable Infrastructure







8

Page 172

Strategic Green Infrastructure
Trees
Green space
Biodiversity
Nature Conservation
Local Food Production

High Speed 2
Leeds City Station
Mass Transit
Leeds Bradford Airport
Digital Infrastructure

Question: Do you agree that to meet the objective of the Local Plan Update the
scope should focus on the Climate Emergency, including the topics of carbon
reduction, flood risk, green infrastructure, place-making and sustainable
infrastructure?

5

Consultation

5.1

We are at an early stage of plan making and your ideas and opinions are
crucial in shaping this Plan. In these documents we set out the background to
lots of issues and some possible ideas for how planning policy could be used to
help address the Council’s aspirations for net zero carbon emissions by 2030.
There is still lots more work for us to do and your thoughts and ideas on the
direction of travel set out in this consultation will help steer and guide that work.
This is your Local Plan and your views and ideas are important to us.

5.2

It is important to reflect that there are limits to what planning policy can do.
Planning policy can only steer development that requires planning permission.
We also need to be able to demonstrate that new policies are deliverable. In
other words, if we set standards we need to have evidence that shows that they
can be complied with. Where there are important limits to what planning can
do, we have tried to set that out in the topic papers.

5.3

Whilst the topic papers are designed to apply across all of Leeds, we’re also
keen to know your local challenges and ideas. Are there specific climate
change issues in your neighbourhood? Do you have any particular local
evidence to support your views that you’d like to share with us?

5.4

We’d also welcome your general thoughts on whether the direction of travel we
set out is ambitious enough, or whether you think it is unrealistic. Do you have
any other comments that you would like to make?

6

A Summary of the Topic Areas

6.1

The section below provides the ‘key messages’ from the 5 topic areas,
designed as a helpful summary. For further details please see the 5 topic
papers.

9

Page 173

Topic Paper 1: Carbon Reduction
Vision: To minimise energy demand and meet all heat and power requirements
without increasing carbon emissions, to allow Leeds to meet its climate emergency
goal of zero carbon by 2030.
Background
The current Local Plan has numerous policies that help reduce carbon emissions
across Leeds and we have seen significant reductions in carbon emissions in Leeds
since 2005. However these policies were set before the Climate Emergency
declaration and are not aimed at meeting a net zero carbon aspiration by 2030. As
such, we’d like to explore ideas for how we might go further than the existing suite of
policies
Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Emissions
Whole life cycle carbon emissions or ‘embodied carbon’ refers to the carbon emissions
resulting from the construction and use of a building over its entire life, including the
carbon that is emitted from the operation of a building once it is complete and its end
of life demolition and disposal.
We’re exploring ideas for bringing in new policies that could require developments to
measure their whole life-cycle carbon emissions before being granted planning
permission.
Question: Do you think that planning policy should seek to reduce the embodied
carbon emissions across the whole life cycle of a development?
Question: Do you have any further thoughts on whole life-cycle carbon
reduction, such as how quickly it should be used to require zero carbon
development, or whether all developments should be required to carry out
assessments?
Operational Energy Reduction
We expect our buildings not to waste energy by being built to be as energy efficient
as possible. This also helps to reduce household fuel bills (and support initiatives for
‘affordable warmth’), improve business competitiveness, create jobs in the energy
service sectors and provide resilience in our energy supply. Cost implications are
much lower when energy efficiency measures are included in a new building than
when they are retrofitted and it would be a waste of resources to construct buildings
now that will require retrofitting in the future.
We’re keen to explore policy options that will deliver zero carbon developments, in a
way that is feasible, realistic and viable. This could include requiring all development
to be zero carbon from the outset, or a gradual increase of energy efficiency over
time. We’re also keen to explore ways that renewable and low carbon energy can be
delivered on site as part of new developments.
Question: Do you think we should require new development to achieve a zero
carbon energy performance standard for the operational use of the buildings?
10

Page 174

Question: Should developments still be required to include on-site renewable
energy as well as meeting energy efficiency standards? If so, what proportion
of the energy needs of the development should be met by renewable energy?
Sustainable Construction
Sustainable construction concerns the assessment of how environmentally
responsible and energy efficient a construction project is. A number of standards
exist, with perhaps the most well-known being BREEAM. The standards cover areas
such as energy, health and wellbeing, materials, transport, water, waste, pollution
and ecology.
The benefit of standards such as BREEAM Residential is that they give an overall
assurance of the sustainability of a development (not just energy) and the developer
is required to obtain an independent assessment to verify that the standard has been
achieved.
Question: Do you think that Leeds should set a standard for sustainable
construction of new residential development?
Question: If so, do you think we should use one of the established sustainable
construction rating systems such as BREEAM Residential or create our own
set of standards?
Resilience to Heat
Currently it is estimated that 2,000 people a year die from over-heating in England and
Wales. This figure is expected to increase to 7,000 by 2050 as a result of climate
change. Given the importance of adapting to the impacts of climate change we feel it
is important that the Local Plan considers how new developments could be made more
resilient to the impacts of heat.
These options could include requiring developers to use the ‘cooling hierarchy’ to
avoid buildings being at risk of over-heating. This might involve the use of passive
design to minimise unwanted heat gain and manage heat – for example by using
building orientation and natural shading. It could also incorporate the use of natural
cooling by allowing outside air to ventilate and cool a building without the use of a
powered system, for example through windows that can open and ventilation.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan should contain a policy designed
to increase resilience to the impacts of heat?
Question: How do you think Leeds could ensure that homes are more resilient
to overheating?
Renewable Energy Generation
As part of the Local Plan Update we are considering possible options for renewable
energy generation in Leeds. There is no requirement for Local Authorities to set targets
for renewable energy generation, and with national efforts to decarbonise the
electricity grid, it may be considered that such an approach would be unnecessary. In
such a scenario it may still be beneficial to set policies for how applications for
11

Page 175

renewable energy would be assessed against. Alternatively, by setting targets, we
could also identify suitable areas in the district for different types of renewable energy.
The Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan currently includes a criteria based policy
that we use for assessing wind farm applications but a similar policy may also be
beneficial for other large scale energy generating facilities which have similar issues
to those of wind farms. The wind farm policy could therefore be expanded to cover
solar farms and energy storage.
Question: Do you consider that Leeds should set targets for different types of
local renewable energy generation?
Question: Do you have any views about where facilities for local renewable
energy generation, such as wind and solar farms, should be located?
Heat Network
Leeds City Council and its partners Vital Energi are constructing a heat network, via
underground pipes, around Leeds City Centre which re-uses the heat produced from
the Recycling the Energy Recovery Facility (RERF) to supply a low carbon form of
heat in the urban area to local homes and businesses. When complete, the network
will connect nearly 2,000 homes and businesses to provide low carbon heat and hot
water, equating to a saving of 11,000 tonnes of carbon emissions per year.
Given the success of the heat network it may be considered unnecessary to update
existing policies. Alternatively, it might be beneficial to supplement the existing heat
networks policy with a detailed Supplementary Planning Document to match up heat
networks with potential customers.
Question: Would you like to see more connections made to the heat network or
are there other more effective ways to reduce emissions?
Energy Storage
Renewable energy can sometimes result in energy being produced when it is not
needed and therefore can be lost. Energy storage can help reduce this loss by storing
this energy for future use. Whilst storage can take a number of different forms, the
most commonly used for electricity is the chemical battery
Areas suitable for energy storage need to be within good proximity to the grid at
locations where the substation has capacity for the connection. Proximity to a power
generation source is also useful. Industrial areas offer good potential especially if
sites have poor accessibility so as to reduce the impact on the more accessible sites
in the employment land supply.
Given that there are currently no policies within the Local Plan on this topic we
believe that a new local policy would be beneficial. This could include a target to
establish how much energy storage is needed in the district and identify suitable
areas. Or alternatively, it could identify suitable areas for energy storage without
setting a target.

12

Page 176

Question: Do you think that a new policy is required to guide the location of
energy storage proposals, including electricity and hydrogen?
Question: Do you think that a target should be set for the amount of energy
storage in Leeds?

13

Page 177

Topic 2: Flood Risk
Background
The Council has rigorous processes in place to ensure that development avoids
flood risk where ever possible and that development is only approved when there is
adequate mitigation in place. In cities which have developed historically on the
floodplain, it is important to consider other factors alongside flood risk, specifically
the need to focus investment in sustainable locations, close to services. The Council
has a strategy for managing flood risk in the form of the Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment (SFRA). This defines the levels of flood risk throughout the whole
district and gives detailed advice on how to manage it. The SFRA is currently being
updated and we think now is the right time to consider updating our existing suite of
flood risk policies, particularly as we know that the frequency of flooding events in
Leeds is increasing.
Avoiding Development in Flood Risk Areas
We have a robust set of policies related to avoiding development in flood risk areas
in Leeds. The Local Plan Update provides an opportunity to bring all the flood risk
policies together and review their effectiveness in the light of climate change, and an
updated SFRA (due summer 2021).
As part of the Local Plan Update we want to consider whether policies could be
improved to reduce the risk of flooding, and increase our resilience to flooding
events.
There is an important balance to be struck between flood risk and other sustainability
benefits, such as the need for regeneration, the efficient use of brownfield land and
access to services. If policy tests are made tighter to further reduce the number of
permissions for ‘more vulnerable’ development in flood risk areas this could result in
people living further away from services and facilities that they need. This would then
result in longer journeys and add to emission of greenhouse gases and other
pollutant gases.
Question: Do you agree that our policy approach to development in flood risk
areas should be within the scope of the Local Plan Update?
Question: Have we got the balance right between locating homes close to the
services and facilities that people need whilst avoiding high flood risk areas?
Functional Floodplain
The functional floodplain is the land where water has to flow or be stored in times of
flood with a 1 in 20 annual probability of flooding. Most of the functional floodplain is
open land and undeveloped. . Leeds is fortunate that much of the River Aire, as it
flows through the urban area, will have the benefit of the Leeds Flood Alleviation
Scheme and therefore significant parts of the urban area that would have otherwise
flooded with a 1 in 20 year probability, will be protected.
For those urban areas that have a 1 in 20 probability of flood risk but don’t have the
benefit of a flood alleviation scheme the redevelopment potential will continue to be
14

Page 178

limited due to the high flood risk probability. The SFRA will explore the extent of
these areas and the impact of climate change. The Local Plan Update may consider
the policy options for limiting development in those locations.
Question: Do you think that the Local Plan Update should consider limitations
on urban expansion in unprotected areas with a very high probability (1 in 20)
of flooding?
Surface Water Flooding and Sustainable Draining
Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are designed to control surface water run off
close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as closely as possible. One of their
uses is to reduce the causes and impacts of surface water flooding (sometimes
referred to as flash flooding). The current Local Plan already encourages the use of
SuDS but given the many benefits of using SuDS against traditional systems, we
believe the Local Plan Update should consider how the existing policy could be
strengthened to make the use of SuDS a firmer requirement for new development,
particularly given the benefits in addressing climate change resilience, biodiversity,
and health and wellbeing objectives.
One potential option we are considering is the mapping of infiltration rates to identify
the areas that are most suitable for SuDS and this would support delivery of SuDS in
those locations. Another way to help manage surface water flooding is to identify the
‘source’ locations where heavy rainfall can lead to flooding at a downstream
‘receptor’ location. Additional measures to reduce the speed of surface water run off
at the source location, such as tree planting, can avoid the need for mitigation
downstream.
Question: Do you agree with our suggested approach to increasing the use of
sustainable drainage systems in new development?
Question: Do you think identifying and implementing additional measures at
source locations would be an appropriate approach to managing surface water
run off?
Resilience
Flooding has a negative impact on the lives of everyone affected by it. Given the
forecasted increases in rainfall we want to consider what we can do to make sure
that new development is resilient. There has been a rise in purpose built
accommodation for people who are especially vulnerable, such as elderly and
disabled. These people may be less able to cope with the impacts of flooding and
the effects can be devastating for them.
We currently do this by requiring a flood risk assessment FRA to be submitted to
accompany planning applications which sets out mitigation measures to make sure
the development will be safe for its lifetime and without making flood risk worse
elsewhere for all affected people. We wish to explore whether the Local plan could
provide a clearer steer on how developments can be made resilient for all users.
Question: Should the Local Plan set new standards for flood resilient housing?
15

Page 179

Question: Should the Local Plan consider where accommodation for more
vulnerable people is located?
Permitted Development Rights and Porous Paving
The paving over of front gardens can result in increased flood risk caused by surface
water runoff which is unable to drain naturally if impermeable materials are used.
Additionally, the loss of vegetation can contribute to increased air pollution in urban
areas and can affect the character and appearance of traditional streetscapes.
Permitted development rights are set by the Government and set out types of
development that do not require planning consent. Permitted development rights
allow for the provision of a new or replacement hard surface (such as a driveway)
within the curtilage of the grounds of different buildings, such as houses, offices and
industrial buildings.
We’re keen to explore what approaches we could take to ensure that where
landscaping and gardens provide a valuable function in helping manage flood risk,
they are not subsequently lost through permitted development rights.
Question: Should the Local Plan Update consider what approaches could be
taken to limit permitted development rights for new developments to ensure
open areas that are needed for flood risk management are retained?
Question: Whilst not subject of a grant of planning permission should the
Council consider how to control paving over front gardens and loss of soft
and natural landscaping in existing development, for example through
enhanced guidance for householders?

16

Page 180

Topic 3: Green Infrastructure
Background
Protecting, enhancing and increasing green infrastructure (GI) plays an important
role in delivering the Council’s strategies to improve the health and wellbeing of its
citizens and to address the climate change emergency as well as creating high
quality, attractive places for people to live, work and relax in. Through this Local Plan
Update we are aiming to adopt and improve policies that will help development adapt
and mitigate against the impacts of climate change by creating a better more
sustainable environment.
Strategic Green Infrastructure
The current Local Plan already contains a broad suite of policies aimed at protected
and enhancing Green Infrastructure. However, they are located across a range of
different documents and policies. We would like to explore how we might bring this
together to form a single strategic policy that would set a clear definition of GI, set
out a clear network of uses and provide increased emphasis on improving existing
GI and delivering high quality GI through new developments. We are particularly
keen to embrace concepts such as ecosystems services and natural capital and
apply them to Leeds.
Question: Do you agree that enhanced policy for the protection, improvement
and enhancement of GI should be included in the Local Plan Update?
Question: If so, do you have any thoughts or ideas about what you’d like to
see included in such a policy?
Question: Do you think the Green Space protection Policy (G6) should be
extended to all Green Infrastructure?
Trees
Through the White Rose Forest Project the Council is committing to doubling its tree
cover by 2050. Trees have multiple benefits for the environment and our mental
health. In particular, with regards to the climate emergency, they store carbon
dioxide and extract it from the air we breathe.
Whilst the planning system can only provide limited protection for existing trees, we
are keen to explore options for how that protection could be enhanced. Equally,
planning policies could be used to increase tree planting. Current policies require the
replacement of lost trees through development on a 3 new trees for every 1 lost
ratio. However, with mature trees, this often doesn’t reflect the amount of carbon
storage lost. In order to better recognise the role trees have in storing carbon,
options for future policy could include increasing this tree replacement ratio to reflect
the level of carbon stored within trees to be lost.
Question: How could planning policy be used to increase tree coverage across
Leeds?
Green Space
17

Page 181

Policy for the delivery of new green space outside of Leeds City Centre was recently
updated in 2019 and it is not considered necessary to revise this. However, we’re
concerned that our existing policies are not providing enough usable greenspace
within the City Centre. The City Centre is one of the most sustainable locations for
growth across all of Leeds and we want to ensure that current and future residents
have good access to green space, particularly in light of the effect Covid-19
restrictions placed on residents within the area.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider new
policies to enhance green space provision within the City Centre?
Question: If yes, how should policies best achieve this?
Nature Conservation
There is widespread recognition of the importance to protect and enhance the
natural environment, to ensure biodiversity is fully considered in decisions affecting
the use and development of land and to seek opportunities to improve the network of
habitats and green infrastructure to increase biodiversity. Sites are identified and
formally designated to give protection to habitats, flora and fauna which are
important locally, regionally, nationally and internationally.
In Leeds there are a number of such sites which are protected against development
and activities that would harm the sites under national and international legislation,
as well as local policy. In recognition of the importance of land that does not meet
the criteria for formal designation, the Council has identified a broader network of
habitats within the Local Plan.
It is considered that existing Local Plan policy on designating local wildlife sites and
nature conservation designations is effective at protecting species and habitats and if
revised would only require minor changes. This changes could consider updating
outdated terms, references and documents; emphasising monitoring and updating
policy; and considering whether existing maps could be updated more easily.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider enhanced
policy for nature conservation designated sites and species. If so, what would
you like to see a revised policy contain?
Biodiversity
Worldwide we are seeing dramatic losses in the amount and variety of natural life on
Earth. Leeds’ current Local Plan already reflects this loss by requiring new
developments to deliver a net gain for biodiversity. However, we are keen to explore
whether this policy should go further by setting higher standards for the amount of
net gain that should be delivered on new development sites.
Question: Do you agree that the Council should revise its policies on
biodiversity net gain? If so, what would you like updated policies to contain?
Local Food Production

18

Page 182

Local food production is an important part of Green Infrastructure because it helps
deliver many of the benefits of GI (e.g. for biodiversity and well-being). It is also an
important part of cutting carbon in its own right because the travel and processing
associated with food generates lots of carbon emissions.
Whilst there is already considerable enthusiasm and commitment to grow food
locally the planning system can help remove barriers, such has lack of access to
suitable land and through its wider Green Infrastructure policies.
It is proposed that at this initial stage the Plan needs to set a positive framework for
local food growing and provide more detail on how this can be achieved within a
revised approach to protecting, managing and providing new Green Infrastructure
and local place-making policy approaches being advocated elsewhere in this Local
Plan Update.
Question: Do you agree that the Council should include policies to positively
promote local food production?
Question: Do you think all new housing should deliver such opportunities or
do you think they should be more strategically focussed?
Question: What else do you think the planning system can do to encourage
local food growing?

19

Page 183

Topic 4: Place-making
Background
We want to minimise carbon emissions by guiding new development to locations that
offer the best opportunity for active travel, for use of public transport and for minimal
use of private motor vehicles. To do this we need to capitalize upon a local
community’s assets, inspiration and potential and create high quality, sustainable
and resilient places that people want to live, work and play in and promote people’s
health, happiness and well-being.
Strategic Place-making
All development plans produced in Leeds, as part of the Local Plan to-date, have
sought to provide a framework for sustainable and healthy communities, having
regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the environment. This is
achieved through a strategic and spatial approach and a suite of policies relating to
the overall scale and distribution of development, location, layout and fabric of
places.
The impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on people’s access to services and facilities,
coupled with the threat of climate change have placed greater emphasis on a
concept known as the ‘20-Minute Neighbourhood’. The purpose of the concept is
to ensure that residents have quick access to essential facilities and services via
walking, cycling or public transport. This, in turn helps support strong communities
and local economies, recognising that easy and safe walking and cycle access to
services/facilities is good for health, and that physical activity and less reliance on
the private car reduces air pollution and carbon emissions. This approach to local
growth and place making around service centres and hubs is gathering support
across the world and is an easily understood way of planning for the way places
change.
For Leeds to meet its objective of minimising carbon emissions it is considered that
spatial growth, in line with the emerging Leeds Transport Strategy, should continue
to follow a pattern of concentration particularly around the City and town centres and
with less development in relatively unsustainable locations, and promote walkable
neighbourhoods. In this context, we think now is the right time to consider whether
existing policy needs updating to reflect how best to apply the 20-minute
neighbourhood concept to Leeds’ Local Plan.

Question: Does Leeds need a local policy definition of sustainability?
Question: What does a ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ mean to you? Do you agree
that Leeds should aim to create 20 minute neighbourhoods?
Question: How might planning policy support living in a City where you do not
need to own a car?

20

Page 184

Question: Should Leeds introduce a presumption against car dependent
development - aiming to encourage independent mobility, by bike, wheelchair,
public transport or on foot for all users?
High Quality, Resilient and Healthy Places
There is also much research on the relationship between planning and good design
and health benefits (Healthy by Design, NHS England, 2018) that share the benefits
of addressing climate change (mitigation and adaption) through improvements to the
layout and form of buildings and spaces and better use of resources that has clear
health benefits.
Leeds’ current Local Plan has sought to provide a framework for sustainable and
healthy communities, having regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the
environment. All development proposals are subject to a suite of specific and more
detailed place making policies on the layout and fabric of places (covering design,
housing, employment, natural environment, green space/public open spaces,
transport) to achieve a layout, design and fabric efficiency which both mitigates
climate change and addresses impacts, such as flooding.
However, existing design policy P10 of the Core Strategy lacks explicit reference to
climate change, health and well-being. It also lacks clear signposting to other
technical policies which are directly related to good design. There may also be the
opportunity to introduce Sustainable Development Checklists to ensure that health
and wellbeing and climate emergency measures are fully addressed in all
development proposals.
Question: How would you priorities these users of residential streets, in order
of importance? Busses, Cars, Cyclists, Pedestrians (including wheelchair
users).
Question: Do you agree that more emphasis should be placed on climate
change and health and wellbeing matters in future design policies and
guidance? If so, how would you like to see this happen?

21

Page 185

Topic 5: Sustainable Infrastructure
This topic covers a range of different types of infrastructure which all have a role to
play in supporting sustainable development and responding to the climate emergency.
This includes transport infrastructure, considering the proposed High Speed 2 and
West Yorkshire Mass Transit schemes, as well as the growth of Leeds City Station
and managing development at Leeds Bradford Airport. It also considers digital
infrastructure, and access to reliable and high speed data networks.
High Speed 2 and Leeds Station
It is important to stress that the principle and detailed routes of HS2 will not be
decided by planning policy. However, where possible, we want to use the planning
system to ensure that the potential social, environmental and economic benefits of
HS2 for Leeds, and the areas and communities around the line, are capitalised on,
and that any potential adverse impacts are avoided wherever possible, and
minimised or mitigated where not.
As such we are considering the creation of new policy to help us consider proposals
for the development of Leeds Station and HS2. In the future, we could also look to
prepare further guidance that supports the integration of HS2 into the urban fabric of
Leeds. This could provide more detailed information about the opportunities,
aspirations and expectations for development in particular areas / specific plots
under and around the line, and how they relate to the regeneration and development
plans for the wider area.
A new policy could provide support for the growth of the station (already the busiest
in the north of England) in accordance with design principles; identify the types of
uses that would be appropriate alongside (or under) different parts of the new HS2
line; emphasise the importance of new public spaces and connections with the city’s
existing green space network; maximise the potential contribution to addressing
climate change; emphasising the importance of supporting and enhancing
pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes and permeability; encourage temporary
greening measures or cultural, community and commercial uses of land during
periods when land is not required for construction.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include a new
policy on Leeds Station and HS2?
Question: If so, what are you views on the suggestion that this policy could
focus on Leeds Station, development opportunities, integration with the Green
Space network, climate change, pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes and
temporary uses?
Mass Transit
As reflected in Leeds’ draft Transport Strategy, it is acknowledged that for the scale
of growth forecast in Leeds over the next 10-15 years there is insufficient urban
transport capacity to enable urban communities in the Leeds City Region to access
employment opportunities. Alongside facilitating additional capacity, there is a need

22

Page 186

to respond to the Climate Emergency declaration and reduce transport related
emissions across the city.
Whilst Mass Transit is not a planning initiative it is considered important that up to
date local policy is in place to ensure that Mass Transit can be delivered effectively,
and that other associated benefits, such as integration with the green space network,
future developments, and pedestrian and cycle routes are factored in.
The Local Plan Update could contain a policy that sets out strategic support for the
scheme, and that also seeks to ensure that important aspects such as biodiversity,
greenspace, active travel and Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are integrated
into the scheme. There is also the potential for the Local Plan Update to protect the
detailed route of Mass Transit from other uses, which if built on or next to the line
could impede its delivery.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include policy on
Mass Transit? If so, what elements of the scheme would you like to see new
planning policy focus on?
Leeds Bradford Airport
As a regional airport, LBA provides a significant role to the Leeds City Region and
the City as it forms part of the strategic infrastructure and a major economic driver for
the Leeds City Region. The Council’s current policy encourages a well-connected
and accessible airport by sustainable forms of transport and surface access
improvements to support the growth of the airport are one of the City’s existing
spatial priorities.
Air travel is a major contributor to greenhouse gas emissions, both through flights and
travel to and from the airport.
The Leeds Local Plan already contains a policy (SP12 of the Core Strategy) on the
airport which is supportive of growth to enable the airport to fulfil its local and regional
role, provided that a series of criteria would be met. These criteria address a need for
major public transport infrastructure, surface access improvements and a strategy to
guide this, environmental assessment and mitigation and management of local issues.
At this early stage of the Local Plan Update we are seeking views from stakeholders
on whether policies relating to the airport should be within the scope of the Local Plan
Update and what issues an updated policy might address.
Question: Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should contain new or
updated policies for Leeds Bradford Airport? If so, do you have any views on
what new or updated policies should contain?
Question: National policy refers to the importance of achieving sustainable
development in environmental, economic and social terms. Should changes be
made to airport policies within the Local Plan Update to improve the balance
between these three aspects of sustainability?
Digital Connectivity

23

Page 187

The Council has an ambition to deliver wider digital connectivity benefits for the city as
a whole with an ambition to have the best connectivity in the UK for all across the
district, to be able to access gigabit capable services. Access to reliable, high-speed
connectivity will allow people to work from home more easily and will give homes fast
and reliable connections. The Covid-19 Pandemic has in particular highlighted the
essential need for digital infrastructure, with increasing reliance on remote working,
remote communication to include home schooling, online shopping and other services.
Digital Connectivity in terms of gigabit connection is now seen as essential
infrastructure to facilitate the services and facilities which are now an integral part of
our lives.
It is considered that there are benefits to introducing new policy for digital connectivity
to focus on providing digital connectivity for new sites and new developments only.
A new policy could provide a policy hook to ensure that developers are incentivised to
provide gigabit capable new housing. The benefits of this would be that; (i) we are
providing housing which is meeting the needs of our modern lives, (ii) new housing is
designed and built with good gigabit connectivity from the outset, (iii) new housing is
not retrofitted later with digital connectivity provision, (iv) to future proof new housing,
(v) to ensure that digital infrastructure is sympathetically designed as part of site
development as essential infrastructure, (iv) to reduce digital poverty, this would
ensure that digital connectivity is provided for all.
Question: Do you agree that digital connectivity is essential infrastructure for
new housing in Leeds?
Question: Do you agree that a policy should be introduced on digital
connectivity?
Question: Should the policy focus on residential development only or
commercial development too?
Question: Should a digital connectivity strategy be a requirement for all
planning applications?

24

Page 188

7

What will the Local Plan Update look like?

7.1

If adopted the Local Plan Update will replace policies within the existing Leeds
Core Strategy, Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan and saved policies of
the Unitary Development Plan by either deleting or superseding them. Upon
adoption it will therefore be necessary to update the existing Local Plan
documents and the Local Plan Update will be a document which makes
amendments to other Local Plan Documents.

7.2

The Local Plan Update will be prepared in accordance with national guidance
as set out in the NPPF and at its next step, once the precise scope and
direction of policies has been informed by this consultation, will include:
 A preferred approach which sets out detailed policies informed by this
consultation
 A Sustainability Appraisal Report, which will assess the social,
environmental and economic effects of the DPD to ensure that any
decisions made support the principles of sustainable development. The
Sustainability Appraisal will build upon the assessment already completed
for the wider Local Plan and assess reasonable alternatives to the
Council’s preferred approach
 A Habitats Regulation Assessment, which will assess the impact of the
DPD on the integrity of sites of European nature conservation importance
 An evidence base to show that the policies are justified and will be
effective. At present the ideas and options presented as part of this
consultation have not been tested for their viability. Once we’ve captured
views through this consultation we’ll then be able to refine these into more
detailed policies, test their viability and consult on them.
 A monitoring framework to set out how we will ensure that the policies are
achieving their stated aims

7.3

A series of topic papers supplement this introductory paper which explore the
issues in more detail and pose consultation questions.

25

Page 189

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2:
TOPIC PAPERS

Page 191

Page 192

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
REGULATION 18 CONSULTATION TOPIC PAPER
CARBON REDUCTION
BACKGROUND TO THE TOPIC
‘Right now, we are facing a man‐made disaster of
global scale. Our greatest threat in thousands of
years. Climate change.’ David Attenborough 2018
OBJECTIVE: Minimise energy demand and meet all demands for heat and
power without increasing carbon emissions to allow Leeds to meet its climate
emergency commitment of zero carbon by 2030.
Leeds City Council is committed to taking significant action to mitigate and adapt to
the impacts of Climate Change. There is a legal duty under section 19(1A) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to ensure that climate change mitigation
and adaptation is a core objective of a local authorities’ planning policy.
Climate change is also a key concern of Leeds residents. As part of The Big Leeds
Climate Conversation, a survey of Leeds’ residents found that 94.8% are worried
about the effects of climate change on future generations and 96.7% think that public
sector organisations have a responsibility to reduce their own carbon footprint and
make it easier for individuals to make more environmentally-friendly choices1.
Section 182 of the Planning Act 2008 puts a legal duty on local authorities to include
policies on climate change mitigation and adaptation in Development Plan Documents.
Additionally para 148 of the NPPF requires the planning system to help to:
‘Shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve
resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the
conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon
energy and associated infrastructure.’
It is therefore essential for this legal and policy requirement to be addressed in the
Local Plan.
The Local Plan currently has several policies that help reduce and mitigate against the
impacts of climate change. However, these policies were written and adopted prior to
the Council declaring its Climate Emergency. Therefore it is essential to update and

1

http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s198402/Climate%20Emergency%20Report%20Annex%202%201
91219.pdf

Page 193

add new policies, using up to date evidence, to help Leeds meet its zero carbon goal
by 2030.
Existing policies have made positive impacts on carbon reduction but they may not go
far enough. The table below shows the trend of CO2 reductions across the whole of
Leeds since 2005, the year when Local Authority data was first published by the
Government. Figures are recalculated annually and are published 2 years in arrears.
The latest data published in 2020 is therefore from 2005 – 2018.
Carbon Dioxide emissions reduction in Leeds District by major emitter

Year

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Absolute
CO2
Per
Absolute
CO2
Industry Domestic
emissions
capita %
%
reduction
%
%
(m
reduction reduction
(m
reduction reduction
tonnes)
tonnes)
4.951
4.933
4.778
4.709
4.253
4.431
4.015
4.248
4.112
3.630
3.401
3.242
3.085
3.088

0.0
0.5
4.0
5.7
15.1
12.0
20.6
16.8
19.8
29.6
34.7
38.4
41.7
41.9

0.0
0.4
3.5
4.9
14.1
10.5
18.9
14.2
17.0
26.7
31.3
34.5
37.7
37.6

0.0
0.019
0.174
0.242
0.699
0.521
0.937
0.703
0.840
1.321
1.550
1.710
1.867
1.863

0.0
-1.3
3.2
4.2
16.7
12.3
21.7
14.6
17.8
30.3
39.6
44.8
48.7
48.2

0.0
1.3
5.3
5.6
14.4
8.4
19.5
13.5
16.5
29.5
31.5
35.2
38.6
39.0

Road
Transport
%
reduction
0.0
1.9
1.2
4.9
8.9
10.8
12.8
14.6
16.1
15.2
15.5
14.2
15.6
15.5

We would like to hear your views on suggestions for planning policy intervention as
detailed in the following section.

Page 194

POLICY TOPIC AREAS
WHOLE LIFE-CYCLE CARBON EMISSIONS
Background
Whole life cycle carbon emissions or ‘embodied carbon’ refers to the carbon emissions
resulting from the construction and use of a building over its entire life, including the
carbon that is emitted from the operation of a building once it is complete and its end
of life demolition and disposal.
The net zero carbon construction of a building can be achieved through the use of low
carbon products and materials (and their transportation) and the use of carbon offsets
or net export of on-site renewable energy to off-set carbon. As the product supply
chain includes less and less carbon over time and in response to demand, so less
carbon off-setting will be needed.
The net zero carbon operation of a building can be achieved through reducing energy
demand through a high level of energy efficiency and by powering the development
from on-site and/or off-site renewable energy sources, with any remaining carbon
balance offset.
Whole life net zero carbon includes the following elements:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Construction products and processes
Operation of the building
Maintenance, repair, refurbishment and water use
Demolition, waste, disposal
Carbon savings from material re-use.

The UK Green Business Council (UKGBC) has produced the following summary
diagram which identifies the ten key requirements for net zero operational carbon
buildings:
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/UKGBC-Net-Zero-OperationalCarbon-One-Pager.pdf
Current Policy Position
Our current planning policy approach is focussed on reducing operational energy use
but we don’t at present ask for any reduction of the embodied carbon which is emitted
through construction materials and the processes used to create them and transport
them and the maintenance of buildings, repair and replacement as well as dismantling,
demolition and eventual material disposal.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
We want to influence the following elements of whole life cycle net zero carbon:
1. Reduce construction impacts – through a whole life carbon assessment

Page 195

2. Reduce operational energy use – through improvements in the energy
efficiency of buildings
3. Increase renewable energy supply – through the identification of suitable areas
for renewable energy generation in the district
4. Off-set any remaining carbon – through a carbon off-setting methodology
In order to fully capture a development’s carbon impact across the whole of its life,
planning applicants would need to calculate the whole life emissions and demonstrate
how they can be minimized. This approach would lead to a significant reduction in
carbon emissions and support the circular economy (where materials are retained in
use at their highest value for as long as possible and are then re-used or recycled,
leaving a minimum of residual waste).
Proposed Policy Options
We’d like to explore options for how we can integrate policies related to whole lifecycle carbon emissions, with some of the initial options raised below.
Option 1: Require a whole life-cycle carbon assessment to be submitted in support of
all major planning applications to demonstrate how carbon emissions during
construction and operation of the development could be reduced to achieve zero
carbon across the whole carbon life cycle of the development
Option 2: Require assessments to be submitted until 2026 but after that date require
development to meet a set of benchmarks to achieve zero carbon across the whole
carbon life cycle of the development. This would stagger the requirement for
development to meet whole life cycle zero carbon so as to give the industry time to
prepare for the change.
For both options consideration needs to be given to what the application size threshold
should be to trigger a whole life cycle carbon assessment so it avoids placing an undue
burden on smaller developers.
The UK Green Building Council has provided guidance2 for those who are looking to
measure the whole life cycle emissions of a development. The Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) have also published a professional statement on
conducting whole life carbon assessment for the built environment3. London’s draft
local plan includes a policy (Policy SI 2) that sets out a requirement for developments
to calculate and reduce WLC emissions and they are currently consulting on their
Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments guidance4 note for the implementation of this
policy.
Are you a developer or builder that has tried this approach? Was it straightforward?
Do you think that including this as a requirement will encourage carbon use to be

2

https://www.ukgbc.org/sites/default/files/UK‐GBC%20EC%20Developing%20Client%20Brief.pdf
https://www.rics.org/globalassets/rics‐website/media/news/whole‐life‐carbon‐assessment‐for‐the‐‐built‐
environment‐november‐2017.pdf
4
https://www.london.gov.uk/what‐we‐do/planning/implementing‐london‐plan/london‐plan‐guidance‐and‐
spgs/whole‐life‐cycle‐carbon‐assessments‐guidance‐consultation‐draft#Stub‐301723
3

Page 196

considered at the earliest stages of design and layout so as to deliver carbon benefits
in a viable manner?
Consultation Questions
1. Do you think that planning policy should seek to reduce the embodied
carbon emissions across the whole life cycle of a development?
2. Do you have any further thoughts on whole life-cycle carbon reduction,
such as how quickly it should be used to require zero carbon development, or
whether all developments should be required to carry out assessments?

Page 197

OPERATIONAL ENERGY CARBON REDUCTION
Background
The Committee on Climate Change recommendations state net zero is only credible
if policy to reduce emissions ramps up significantly. The UKGBC have identified that
to achieve the Government commitment of zero carbon by 2050, the UK must halve
its emissions by 2030. This means that all new development needs to be built to be
net zero carbon long before that date.
We expect buildings not to waste energy by being built to be as energy efficient as
possible. This also helps to reduce household fuel bills (and support initiatives for
‘affordable warmth’), improve business competitiveness, create jobs in the energy
service sectors and provide resilience in our energy supply. Cost implications are
much lower when energy efficiency measures are included in a new building than
when they are retrofitted and it would be a waste of resources to construct buildings
now that will require retrofitting in the future. Planning is limited in the role it can play
in helping to retrofit existing properties to become more energy efficient. Whilst
planning can promote the reuse of land and existing Council owned properties can be
retrofitted through Council initiatives and funding, requiring the retrofitting of private
properties is generally beyond the scope of planning policies.
Section 1 of the Planning and Energy Act 2008 gives local planning authorities the
power to set energy efficiency performance standards that exceed those required in
Building Regulations. Whilst this power will be amended by Section 43 of the
Deregulation Act 2015, the Government has confirmed that it has no current plans to
commence Section 43 of the Act. The March 2019 update to National Planning Policy
Guidance states:
In their development plan policies, local planning authorities:
•Can set energy performance standards for new housing or the
adaptation of buildings to provide dwellings, that are higher than the
building regulations, but only up to the equivalent of Level 4 of the
Code for Sustainable Homes.
•Are not restricted or limited in setting energy performance standards
above the building regulations for non-housing developments.’
However, with the Government signalling that radical changes are to be made to the
Planning system, through the White Paper and subsequent revisions to the NPPF and
NPPG, it is considered appropriate to consider the Council’s response to the carbon
efficiency of buildings now. There is no similar restriction in national policy on seeking
energy needs of the development to be met by renewable or low carbon energy, such
as solar panels or air source heat pumps
Current Policy Position
The Council currently has a planning policy that goes further than national building
regulations. Core Strategy Policy EN1 requires major development to be 20% more
energy efficient than the Building Regulations standard and requires 10% of the

Page 198

energy needs of the development to come from renewable or low carbon energy
sources. The objective is also met by Core Strategy Policy EN2 which requires major
commercial development to be built to the BREEAM Excellent standard (which
includes mandatory energy standards).
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
The current policy EN1 has helped contribute to significant increases in the energy
efficiency of new developments. However, the requirements of that policy will not
deliver the Council’s climate emergency commitment to make the city carbon neutral
by 2030. As such it is appropriate to look at options for achieving zero carbon in new
development (including improvements in energy efficiency) as well as increasing the
proportion of energy needs that are met by renewable or low carbon energy.
Policy EN1 has the potential to achieve even greater energy savings and this would
help residents who are in fuel poverty by reducing the amount of energy they have to
use to heat their homes and increase energy security by reducing reliance on fossil
fuels that are imported from outside the UK.
Within Leeds there are some great examples of innovative approaches to carbon
reduction. Greenhouse is a development of 166 flats, work spaces, on site gym, café
and other amenities which won the RIBA White Rose Award for Sustainability in 2010.
The scheme has high levels of insulation, a ground source heat pump, solar panels,
roof mounted wind turbines, water recycling systems and sustainable construction
materials. Further information on this development can be found within the Council’s
Building for Tomorrow Today Supplementary Planning Document.

Greenhouse, South Leeds

Page 199

LILAC is a housing community of 20 eco-build households constructed from
prefabricated cells of timber and straw all of which are super insulated. Solar water
heaters and mechanical ventilation heat recovery units ensure a stable indoor air
temperature. Through communal management and a strong community ethic, a LILAC
household is projected to have a carbon footprint which is 65% less than a normal
household. More can be found within their environmental and social impacts report
published in 20205.

Lilac, Bramley, West Leeds

Proposed Policy Options
We’re keen to explore policy options that will deliver zero carbon developments, in a
way that is feasible, realistic and viable. Options for the replacement of Policy EN1
could include the following:
Option 3. Require all development to be built so that carbon emissions associated
with the building’s operational energy are zero or negative
OR
Option 4. Gradually increase improvements in energy efficiency beyond the current
20% improvement combined with renewable energy use to achieve zero carbon
emissions in new development by 2030. This option would need consideration of what
the appropriate increases should be.
5

Lilac‐Impact‐Final‐Draft‐Compressed‐200dpi.pdf

Page 200

OR
Option 5. Require the energy needs of the development to come exclusively from
renewable or low carbon energy sources, either on-site (such as air and ground source
heat pumps) or off-site (such as from a solar or wind farm).
Option 5 without energy efficiency measures does not help to meet the objective to
reduce energy demand but it avoids potential policy conflicts regarding the cap on
energy performance standards in the NPPG associated with Option 4. It may also help
to drive the provision of renewable energy in the district and therefore reduce reliance
on fossil fuels. It may provide a cheaper way for developers to achieve zero carbon in
operational energy but it restricts the freedom of the occupier to choose their energy
provider. The Council proposes to identify suitable areas in the district for renewable
and low carbon energy generation, and supporting infrastructure (see Option 9 below).
Option 3 gives the developer the flexibility to choose the most appropriate solution for
them to achieve zero carbon on operational energy which may be through a
combination of energy efficiency measures and renewable energy generation.
AND
Option 6. Use carbon off-setting to address any residual carbon reductions needed to
achieve zero carbon through a financial contribution to be spent on energy efficiency
improvements, renewable energy generation projects, tree planting or carbon capture.
Developers would still need to do everything they can to achieve zero carbon in the
first instance but this option might be helpful to off-set any remaining carbon.
These options are not an exhaustive list and some of them could be used together.
Consultation Questions
3. Do you think we should require new development to achieve a zero carbon
energy performance standard for the operational use of the buildings?
4. Should developments still be required to include on-site renewable energy as
well as meeting energy efficiency standards? If so, what proportion of the
energy needs of the development should be met by renewable energy?

Page 201

SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION
Background
Sustainable construction concerns the assessment of how environmentally
responsible and energy efficient a construction project is. A number of standards
exist, with perhaps the most well-known being BREEAM (Building Research
Establishment Environmental Assessment Method).
BREEAM sets standards for the following factors:










Energy: building operational energy and CO2 emissions
Management: management policy, commissioning, site management and
procurement
Health and Wellbeing: indoor and external issues (noise, light, air, quality,
etc.)
Materials: environmental impacts of building materials
Transport: transport-related CO2 and location-related factors
Water: building consumption and efficiency
Waste: construction and operational waste management
Pollution: water and air pollution
Land Use & Ecology: site and building footprint and ecological value and
conservation.

All of these factors influence the overall performance of a development and in many
cases they reflect the standards that are in other adopted policies, so meeting
BREEAM helps the developer address a number of planning policy priorities. Good
design standards and adequate ventilation is necessary in combating the effects of an
increase in temperature without reliance on high energy alternatives such as air
conditioning units and personal fans.
The benefit of standards such as BREEAM Residential is that they give an overall
assurance of the sustainability of a development (not just energy) and the developer
is required to obtain an independent assessment to verify that the standard has been
achieved.
Current Policy Position
Leeds wants all development to be built to a high standard across a whole range of
sustainability measures. To achieve this we adopted Policy EN2 in our Core Strategy
to require specific construction standard ratings to be achieved and adopted the
Building for Tomorrow Today— Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) to help developers design and construct sustainable
developments within Leeds. For major residential development it was required to be
built to Level 6 of the Code for Sustainable Homes and major commercial development
to be built to BREEAM excellent standard.
However, in 2015 the Government abolished the Code for Sustainable Homes and
consequently the Council amended Policy EN2 accordingly through the Core Strategy
Review. The revised policy still asks for BREEAM Excellent for non-residential

Page 202

development but for residential development it only asks for a water consumption
standard (in line with the Government’s Technical Standards).
This has led to development such as The Greenhouse where low water consumption
measures, photovoltaic panels and a communal heat and power system are visible
reminders of the more modern and sustainable approach to construction and design.

Greenhouse, South Leeds

Rational for an Enhanced Policy Framework
As set out above, our current policies for sustainable construction have been limited
by changes to national guidance and are not as ambitious as was originally intended.
Whilst we have not been able to set policy to encourage all development to achieve
these standards where we are able (e.g. through our own development) we have
sought to go further.
The Council uses The Leeds Standard for its own council house building programme.
This standard prioritises high quality design, space standards and energy efficiency
standards in new build council homes. Regarding energy efficiency, the standard
encourages a fabric first approach and energy efficient hot water and heating systems.
Based on assessment, Leeds Standard dwellings shall produce an average 0.9 tonnes
of carbon dioxide every year (the average household causes circa 6 tonnes per year).

Page 203

Energy efficiency is a key component of most sustainable construction standards but
the options proposed now for development to achieve zero carbon across the whole
life cycle of a development need to improve even more. One way of helping to achieve
this is through measuring of the improvement through accreditation by a sustainable
construction rating method – which provides a standard against all of the different
sustainable construction factors. Consideration should be given as to whether we
want to introduce another method to measure sustainability for residential
development to replace the Code for Sustainable Homes, such as the BREEAM
Residential (known as the Home Quality Mark).
In practice the Council already sets high standards for development of its own council
housing developments. We are suggesting in this consultation that all development
meet these higher standards.
Proposed Policy Options
We’re looking to explore policy options for how higher environmental standards of
construction could be integrated into planning policy. These options could include:
Option 7: Require residential development to achieve a specific sustainable
construction rating / standard eg BREEAM Residential (Home Quality Mark).
Option 8: Create our own set of standards across a range of sustainable construction
measures equivalent to Code for Sustainable Homes Level 6.
Consultation Questions
6. Do you think that Leeds should set a standard for sustainable construction
of new residential development?
7. If so, do you think we should use one of the established sustainable
construction rating systems such as BREEAM Residential or create our own set
of standards?

Page 204

RESILIENCE TO HEAT
Background
By 2070 the average summer day could be between 1.4 and 5.1 degrees warmer
leading to significant impact on people’s health and wellbeing due to overheating. Heat
stress occurs at temperatures of over 35 degrees centigrade with an impact on
productivity and effects on sleep that can lead to illness and it can even lead to death,
particularly in people over 65. Currently it is estimated that there are 2,000 heat-related
deaths in England and Wales, every year. This figure is expected to increase to 7,000
by 2050 as a result of climate change6.
The NPPF tells us to ‘avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from
climate change. When new development is brought forward in areas which are
vulnerable, care should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable
adaptation measures, including through the planning of green infrastructure.’
(para.150 a).
Permitted development rights allow conversion of office development to residential.
There is often little consideration of overheating when those changes of use take
place. In September 2015 there were rooms in such developments that reached
temperatures of 47 degrees centigrade.
Current Policy Position
There are no policies within the Local plan that specifically consider the overheating
of homes and buildings however it is considered in the Building Regulations.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
Given the importance of adapting to the impacts of climate change we feel it is
important that the Local Plan considers how new developments could be made more
resilient to the impacts of heat.
Proposed Policy Options
We’re keen to explore new policy options that could increase the resilience of homes
and buildings to the effects of over-heating. These options could include requiring
developers to use the ‘cooling hierarchy’ to avoid buildings being at risk of overheating. This might involve the use of passive design to minimise unwanted heat gain
and manage heat – for example by using building orientation and natural shading. It
could also incorporate the use of natural cooling by allowing outside air to ventilate
and cool a building without the use of a powered system, for example through windows
that can open and ventilation. Alternatively, air conditioning could be included in the
mix of solutions. However, given the energy intensive nature of air conditioning
systems it may be that the use of such systems could be a last resort when a
satisfactory level of cooling cannot be achieved naturally.

6

https://www.theccc.org.uk/uk‐climate‐change‐risk‐assessment‐2017/ccra‐chapters/people‐and‐the‐built‐
environment/

Page 205

Consultation Questions
7. Do you agree that the Local Plan should contain a policy designed to increase
resilience to the impacts of heat?
8. How do you think Leeds could ensure that homes are more resilient to
overheating?

Page 206

RENEWABLE ENERGY GENERATION
Background
National policy recognises the role of the planning system to ‘support renewable and
low carbon energy and associated infrastructure’ (para 148). Consideration needs to
be given as to what is the best way for Leeds to do that.
Current Policy Position
Core Strategy Policy EN3 encourages investment in renewable energy and low carbon
infrastructure and the NRWLP (Table 5.1) sets minimum targets for installed and grid
connected energy for each type with an overall target of 81MW by 2021. Leeds has
already granted consent for a total of 77.90 MW, mostly from the Hook Moor Wind
Farm at Micklefield and the Council’s Energy Recovery Facility at Cross Green. 26MW
of the total will be provided by a private Energy Recovery Facility at Skelton Grange
Road. There have been no planning applications for wind energy development in
Leeds since 2015. This follows the Government’s 2015 changes to planning policy
relating to onshore wind development, combined with the withdrawal of subsidies for
renewable energy generation.

Hook Moor Wind Farm, Micklefield
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
The Government’s 2015 changes have meant that our existing Local Plan maps
showing the wind resource across Leeds will not be a sufficient basis for the
consenting of wind farm applications. Consequently, if Leeds is to give any further
consents for wind turbines the wind speed map in the Core Strategy will need to be
replaced with a map showing areas with potential for wind energy development, which
would then be shown on the Policies Map. A similar approach could be taken for solar
farms. This approach would ensure that Leeds was maximising opportunities for local

Page 207

renewable energy generation and reduce reliance on fossil fuels ahead of the
Government’s plans for decarbonisation of the grid by 2050.
Consideration should be given as to whether local renewable generation is the right
option for Leeds as projects such as the wind farm at Hornsea provide far more
renewable energy than could ever be generated locally. However local renewable
energy generation helps Leeds to be more energy secure, it avoids the inefficiencies
associated with loss of energy during its transmission (which is greater the further it
has to go), it creates local jobs and it can provide opportunities for community benefits.
Furthermore local renewable energy generation, such as solar farms, may provide
opportunities for new developments to be directly powered by them and therefore
achieve zero carbon in their operational energy use.
Defining an area where there are opportunities for renewable energy generation helps
to guide energy providers to the most appropriate locations and reduces speculative
applications. It will help the Council to meet its climate emergency commitment by
providing local sources of zero carbon energy which can be used to power industry,
homes and business in the district and will be a helpful step towards providing spatial
guidance for any central government decarbonisation agenda.
Proposed Policy Options
As part of the Local Plan Update we are considering possible options for renewable
energy generation in Leeds, such as from wind and solar farms. There is no
requirement for Local Authorities to set targets for renewable energy generation, and
with national efforts to decarbonise the electricity grid, it may be considered that such
an approach would be unnecessary. In such a scenario it may still be beneficial to set
policies for how applications for renewable energy would be assessed. Alternatively,
by setting targets, we could also identify suitable areas in the district for different types
of renewable energy.
The NRWLP currently includes a criteria based policy that we use for assessing wind
farm applications but a similar policy may also be beneficial for other large scale
energy generating facilities which have similar issues to those of wind farms. The wind
farm policy could therefore be expanded to cover solar farms and energy storage.
Consultation Questions
9. Do you consider that Leeds should set targets for different types of local
renewable energy generation?
10. Do you have any views about where facilities for local renewable energy
generation, such as wind and solar farms, should be located?

Page 208

HEAT NETWORKS
Background
Leeds City Council and its partners Vital Energi are constructing a heat network, via
underground pipes, around Leeds City Centre which re-uses the heat produced from
the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF) to supply a low carbon form of
heat in the urban area to local homes and businesses. When complete, the network
will connect nearly 2,000 homes and businesses providing low carbon heat and hot
water, equating to a saving of 11,000 tonnes of carbon emissions per year.
Current Policy Position
Core Strategy Policy EN4 asks for developments to connect into the heat network
where possible and, in areas that are too far away from the heat network, to create a
new district heat network serving the development. In all cases development should
be designed to be ready to connect to a future heat network. This policy has been
successful and is addressed by developers. The current network is shown on the map
in Appendix 1. The Local Development Order for the district heating network is
currently being reviewed and will be formally consulted on later in 2021.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
However, in most cases the outcome is that developments are designed so as to be
ready for connection to a future heat network, rather than being connected to the
existing network or a new network. We want to further encourage the use of heat
networks by identifying the opportunities for new development to connect in a Heat
Networks Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to which Policy EN4 would be
the ‘parent’ policy. This would bring planning policy on heat networks together in one
place.
Proposed Policy Options
Given the relative success of the heat network it may be considered unnecessary to
update existing policies. Alternatively, it might be beneficial to supplement the existing
heat networks policy with a detailed SPD to help match up heat networks with potential
customers.
Consultation Questions
11. Would you like to see more connections made to the heat network or are
there other more effective ways to reduce emissions?

Page 209

ENERGY STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION
Background
Electricity storage means a generating station, or any part of a generating station that
generates electricity from stored energy. These are often large, industrial looking
buildings that would need to be carefully sited to avoid amenity issues for neighbouring
uses. Stored energy is energy that is converted from electricity, and then stored for
the purpose of its future reconversion into electricity. This covers a wide range of
electricity storage technologies. It can support the use of low carbon technologies,
reduce the overall costs of operating the system and help avoid or defer costly
reinforcements to the networks.
Renewable energy can sometimes result in energy being produced when it is not
needed and therefore can be lost. Energy storage can help reduce this loss by storing
this energy for future use. Whilst storage can take a number of different forms, the
most commonly used for electricity is the chemical battery. Storage has the following
benefits:
•

Storage of renewable energy for use later when it’s needed

•

Provide backup power when blackouts occur

•

Provide voltage stabilisations or other grid balancing services.

Electricity storage is already being deployed across Great Britain and there is currently
around 3GW of storage on the system, the vast majority of which is pumped hydro
(BEIS, 2019). National Grid’s Future Energy Scenarios (FES) predict that between 1229GW of electricity storage could be deployed by 2050. It is very likely that Leeds will
need to provide some energy storage within the district, particularly to help manage
the supply that is generated from renewable energy generating facilities which might
not be constantly producing at times of need.
Areas suitable for energy storage need to be within good proximity to the grid at
locations where the sub station has capacity for the connection. Proximity to a power
generation source is also useful. Industrial areas offer good potential especially if sites
have poor accessibility so as to reduce the impact on the more accessible sites in the
employment land supply. The Northern Powergrid map of sub stations in the district
can be viewed from this link:
https://www.northernpowergrid.com/generation-availability-map
HYDROGEN
In addition to electrical energy storage, the storage and distribution of hydrogen can
play a key role in enabling the UK economy to achieve net zero. It can provide a source
of energy for domestic heating, heavy transport, aviation and industrial processes. In
order for hydrogen to fulfil this role, it would require Britain’s gas network companies
to transition from natural gas to hydrogen. A plan that would allow this can be found in

Page 210

Britain’s Hydrogen Network Plan7. This plan identifies the role that planning should
perform in order for this transition to occur:
The planning system will need to be able to accommodate a large volume of
applications for hydrogen production, storage, pipeline and other facilities.
In order for applications to be determined quickly and efficiently, one option is for the
Council to identify areas or list criteria where hydrogen infrastructure is appropriate
such as in areas of existing industry or near major transport hubs.
Current Policy Position
There is currently no guidance in the Local Plan against which to consider planning
applications for energy storage. The Government has committed to providing some
planning guidance on this issue but it is not yet available.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
Given that there are currently no policies within the Local Plan on this topic we believe
that a new local policy would be beneficial. This could include a target to establish how
much energy storage is needed in the district. This will mean that once the target is
met, applications in the green belt will no longer be able to demonstrate very special
circumstances to justify approval for what is inappropriate development in the green
belt.
The Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (AVLAAP) acknowledges the growing need
for energy storage and identifies that some of the industrial parts of the Aire Valley
may offer potential locations given the nature of sites and locations available within
industrial areas such as Cross Green and Stourton, particularly sites which are
otherwise difficult to develop for employment or other uses. There may be other similar
industrial areas in the district that offer a suitable location for such infrastructure.
Energy storage proposals will need to be subject to other planning considerations such
as visual amenity and impact on adjoining uses and the landscape setting.
Proposed Policy Options
Whilst there is no requirement to set policies on energy storage and distribution, it may
be considered beneficial to introduce one. This policy could set a target for energy
storage and identify suitable areas for it, including hydrogen. Or alternatively, it could
identify suitable areas for energy storage (including hydrogen) without setting a target.
Consultation Questions:
12. Do you think that a new policy is required to guide the location of energy
storage proposals, including electricity and hydrogen?
13. Do you think that a target should be set for the amount of energy storage in
Leeds?

7

https://www.energynetworks.org/industry‐hub/resource‐library/britains‐hydrogen‐network‐plan.pdf

Page 211

APPENDIX 1: Map of District Heating Network (source Local Development Order 2017)

Page 212

Page 213

1

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
REGULATION 18 CONSULTATION TOPIC PAPER
FLOOD RISK

This topic paper sets out to raise awareness and stimulate discussion about
how flooding is considered in planning decisions, what policies the Council
currently has to control development in areas at risk of flooding and what the
recent Flood Alleviation Scheme means for specific parts of the City. It
clarifies that the Council is in the process of updating its facts and figures
about flood risk, which will help tell us how to manage land at risk. It also
looks at how policies might be improved in the face of a changing climate and
how flood risk from rivers and from rain can be better managed in new
developments, including through what’s known as Sustainable Drainage
Systems.
INTRODUCTION TO THE TOPIC
As part of a changing climate MET Office statistics show that winters in the UK have
got 12% wetter over the last 60 years and they predict that rainfall is likely to rise by
a further 20% by 2070 with an increase in rainfall intensity leading to 20% more flash
flooding.
Local rainfall data shows that since July 2019 Leeds has generally been
experiencing higher rainfall than the East and North East England average.
Flood risk from rivers and flash floods is clearly a key part of the climate emergency
agenda and we propose looking at whether our existing policies are strong enough
to protect people and development from flooding and also to make sure that more
development does not increase the risk.
The National Planning Policy Framework requires planning authorities to avoid
locating development in flood risk areas, however it acknowledges that this is not
always possible. In Leeds, which has grown historically along the Rivers Aire and
Wharfe, it is important to consider other factors alongside flood risk, specifically the
development needs of the City Centre and other town centres and the need to focus
investment and regenerate parts of the City. This helps direct investment into places
that need it and also to reduce pressure for release of Green Belt land. The planning
system therefore has to balance competing conflicts in enabling investment whilst
having regard to the effects of climate change.
National guidance also says that where development is necessary, planning
authorities should be sure that it will be safe, without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
In Leeds the Council has rigorous processes in place to ensure that development
avoids flood risk where ever possible and that development is only approved when
there is adequate mitigation in place. Some of our flood risk information comes from
the Environment Agency but the Council also has a more detailed strategy for
managing flood risk in the form of the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. This defines
2

Page 214

the levels of flood risk throughout the whole district and gives detailed advice on how
to manage it.
With the climate emergency it is important to consider whether the existing approach
is still the best one and whether any development should be allowed in high risk
flood areas or whether they can be defended or better designed and laid out. The
predicted increases in rainfall could create problems for Leeds and potentially could
lead to more people suffering the devastating impacts of flooding. The Boxing Day
floods of 2015 resulted in the highest river levels ever recorded on both the River
Wharfe and the River Aire notably more than a metre higher than the ‘Great Flood of
Leeds’ 1866.

Boxing Day 2015 flooding at Kirkstall
What is flood risk?
Flood risk in the UK is divided into different zones according to the probability of
flooding. These flood zones are set by the Environment Agency and do not take
account of any defences and they don’t include the possible impacts of climate
change. The map in Appendix 1 gives an indication of the extent of each of these
flood zones in the Leeds District, however this information will be updated shortly in
the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Update. The flood zones are as
follows:
Zone 1 Low Probability

Land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of
river flooding.

Zone 2 Medium
Probability

Land having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 annual
probability of river flooding;

Zone 3a High Probability

Land having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of
river flooding;
3

Page 215

Zone 3b The Functional
Floodplain

Land where water has to flow or be stored in times of
flood. Usually with a 1 in 20 probability of river flooding

FLOODING IN LEEDS
The frequency of flooding events in Leeds has increased in recent years. Winter
months have seen excessive rainfall over an extended period of time causing the
rivers to exceed their capacity. Summer months have seen an increase in prolonged
dry periods where the ground becomes baked and impenetrable followed by short
intense downpours which run off quickly leading to surface water flooding.
The bar chart below shows the number of incidents reported to the Council where
internal flooding of property took place or there was an imminent threat of internal
flooding. This is perhaps the most destructive type of flooding but flooding that
affects roads and other forms of transport can also be devastating to people’s lives.
The distribution of these incidents across the district can be seen on the map in
Appendix 2.

Number of flood incidents
(internal flooding or imminent threat of internal flooding)
1400
1200

1266

1000
800
600
400

452

200
2

1

2

16

8

264

27

19

13

4

82

44

81 129

35

177 249 15

0

The bar chart shows that there has been an increase in incidents over the last ten
years. The large number in 2015 was due to Storm Eva and the storms that took
place throughout December which meant that the rivers and water table were
already high when Storm Eva took place. Storm Eva led to a 1 in 1,000 annual
probability flood risk event on Boxing Day 2015. The number of properties across
Leeds that were flooded or affected by the flooding from Storm Eva is shown in the
table below:
Flooded

4

Page 216

Affected

Total

Residential

2300

411

2711

‐

Houses

247

144

391

‐

Flats

2053

267

2320

Commercial

541

137

678

3

7

551

3396

Other (churches,
sports clubs)
Total

allotments, 4
2845

DEALING WITH FLOODING
Some flooding can be dealt with through defending land. Leeds is constructing a
flood alleviation scheme for the River Aire from Woodlesford up to Newlay Bridge.
The first section is already constructed and operational, known as FAS 1. The
section from the Railway Station to the Knostrop weirs has a standard of protection
of 1 in 100 annual probability of river flooding including a climate change allowance
to 2039, whilst the section at Woodlesford has a 1 in 200 level of protection. The
second section (FAS 2) includes measures that will have the effect of upgrading the
FAS 1 to a 1 in 200 standard of protection and includes a climate change allowance
up to 2039. The second section (FAS 2) includes measures that will have the effect
of upgrading the FAS 1 to a 1 in 100 standard of protection. FAS 2 is also looking to
identify ‘sacrificial’ land that is designed to flood which will further help us to make
space for flood water. The Council are also implementing flood alleviation schemes
on the River Wharfe at Otley, on the Wyke Beck and Wortley Beck. Neither national
nor local funding exists to provide defences for all the urban areas at risk across the
district.

FAS 1: Knostrop Weir footbridge
5

Page 217

New development is required to provide mitigation to reduce the frequency of
flooding for example ensuring buildings are built to flood resilient standards and that
sustainable drainage systems are incorporated where ever possible.
LEEDS SFRA
Leeds Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) was completed in 2007 and
provides a comprehensive overview of the river and drainage systems across the
district and associated flood risks. Since the SFRA was completed there have been
significant changes, such as the FAS schemes that means it needs to be updated.
The updated version will be used to inform the policies in the Local Plan Update and
should be available by early Summer this year. The updated SFRA will provide
further technical advice on dealing with the flood risk issues listed below. Until it is
available we have sought to scope what the issues are without providing a detailed
range of policy options at this stage.

6

Page 218

POLICY TOPIC AREAS
AVOIDING DEVELOPMENT IN FLOOD RISK AREAS
Background
To minimise new development in areas of flood risk and in line with current
government guidance we use the ‘sequential test’ to avoid development in flood risk
areas as far as possible when allocating sites in the Local Plan and for planning
applications for sites that are not allocated in the development plan. The sequential
test ensures that areas at little or no risk of flooding from any source are developed
in preference to areas at higher risk. The aim is to keep development out of medium
and high flood risk areas (Flood Zones 2 and 3) and other areas affected by other
sources of flooding where possible. Only where there are no reasonably available
sites in Flood Zones 1 or 2 should the suitability of sites in Flood Zone 3a be
considered, taking into account the flood risk vulnerability of the proposed land use.
If the site is proposed for a ‘more vulnerable’ use such as residential and is in a high
flood risk zone (zone 3a), it may also have to pass an Exceptions Test, which shows
that the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community
that outweigh the flood risk and the development will be safe for its lifetime taking
account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and,
where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.
Current Policy Position
This approach forms the basis of flood risk policy in our current policies in the
Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP). Policies are currently split
across different Development Plan Documents with the overarching policy approach
in Core Strategy EN5 and a more detailed suite of policies in the Water section of the
NRWLP. There is detailed guidance on sustainable drainage in SPG22 Sustainable
Drainage. The water consumption policy is in Policy EN2 (ii) of the Core Strategy but
there are also policies on water quality and water efficiency in the NRWLP.
Policy Water 4 was adopted in 2013 and has proved to be sufficiently robust as the
basis for rejecting applications for inappropriate development in flood risk areas and
only giving permission when all the relevant tests have been passed. However,
because significant parts of the urban area include land in flood zones 2 and 3 (as
shown on Map 1), some development takes place in flood risk areas. Where
applications in the urban area have passed the “Exceptions Test” by demonstrating
wider sustainability benefits that outweigh the risk (for example, the need for
regeneration, efficient use of brownfield land or to ensure our centres remain viable),
approvals for planning permission are granted when there is adequate mitigation in
place. This includes ensuring buildings are built to flood resilient standards and that
sustainable drainage systems are incorporated where ever possible. Developers are
also encouraged to lay out development so that open uses are located in the most
risky parts of the site and the built development avoids those areas. For sites with
flood risk issues or any site which is over 1 hectare in size a Flood Risk Assessment
(FRA) is required to be submitted with the planning application. The FRA is
7

Page 219

assessed by colleagues in the Council’s Flood Risk Management team who advise
whether the development will be safe.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
The Local Plan Update provides an opportunity to bring all the flood risk policies
together and review their effectiveness in the light of climate change.
Possible Policy Options
As part of the Local Plan Update we want to consider whether policies could be
improved to reduce the risk of flooding, and increase our resilience to flooding
events.
There is an important balance to be struck between flood risk and other sustainability
benefits, such as the need for regeneration, the efficient use of brownfield land and
access to services. If policy tests are made tighter to further reduce the number of
permissions for ‘more vulnerable’ development in flood risk areas this could result in
people living further away from services and facilities that they need. This would then
result in longer journeys and add to emission of greenhouse gases and other
pollutant gases.
Consultation Questions
1. Do you agree that our policy approach to development in flood risk
areas should be within the scope of the Local Plan Update?
2. Have we got the balance right between locating homes close to the
services and facilities that people need whilst avoiding high flood risk
areas?

8

Page 220

FUNCTIONAL FLOODPLAIN
Background
The functional floodplain is the land where water has to flow or be stored in times of
flood with a 1 in 20 annual probability of flooding. The extent of the functional
floodplain is defined by the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, which was prepared in
2007, and will shortly be updated. Most of the functional floodplain is open land and
undeveloped.
Current Policy Position
The NPPF tells us we should manage flood risk by ‘safeguarding land from
development that is required, or likely to be required, for current or future flood
management’ (Para. 157 b) ). Our current policy in the NRWLP is to safeguard land
for flood storage (zone 3b) as shown in the SFRA. In those areas only water
compatible uses and essential infrastructure is permitted. Leeds is fortunate that
much of the River Aire, as it flows through the urban area, will have the benefit of the
Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme and therefore significant parts of the urban area that
would have otherwise flooded with a 1 in 20 year probability will be protected. The
SFRA will look at reclassifying those areas so that they are not defined as having a
flood storage function.
For those urban areas that have a 1 in 20 probability of flood risk but don’t have the
benefit of a flood alleviation scheme the redevelopment potential will continue to be
limited due to the high flood risk probability. The SFRA will explore the extent of
these areas and the impact of climate change. The Local Plan Update may consider
the policy options for limiting development in those locations. This is only likely to
affect those areas that have a very high level of flood risk and are not protected by a
flood alleviation scheme
Consultation Question
3. Do you think that the Local Plan Update should consider limitations on
urban expansion in unprotected areas with a very high probability (1 in
20) of flooding?

9

Page 221

SURFACE WATER FLOODING AND SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE
Background
Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are designed to control surface water run off
close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as closely as possible. One of their
uses is to reduce the causes and impacts of surface water flooding (sometimes
referred to as flash flooding). SuDS include a number of different practices or
mechanisms designed to drain or soak up surface water in a more sustainable
approach to the conventional practice of draining water run-off through a pipe into a
sewer. Practical examples include soakaways (draining water through permeable
surfaces into the ground) and ponds (draining water into a surface water body). This
water network is sometimes referred to as ‘blue infrastructure’.

Drainage swale
SuDS capture rainfall, allowing as much as possible to evaporate or soak into the
ground close to where it fell, then moving the rest to the nearest watercourse to be
released at the same rate and volumes as prior to development. They improve water
quality by reducing pollutants, such as metals and hydrocarbons from roads and car
parks. Water entering a local watercourse is therefore cleaner and does not harm
wildlife habitats. SuDS can provide a valuable amenity asset for local residents and
create new habitats for wildlife. Any problems with the system are quicker and easier
to identify than with a conventional underground pipe system and are generally
cheaper and more straightforward to rectify. SuDS can also provide passive cooling
which helps to mitigate the effect of temperature rise due to climate change.
Current Policy Position
The NPPF says that major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage
systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate (para 164 c)).
This is the approach taken in NRWLP Policy Water 7 and echoed in Section 12 of
the Sustainable Construction SPD which seek SuDS ‘wherever possible’. The NPPG
gives further guidance on what “inappropriate” means:
‘The decision on whether a sustainable drainage system would be inappropriate in
relation to a particular development proposal is a matter of judgement for the local
10

Page 222

planning authority. In making this judgement the local planning authority will seek
advice from the relevant flood risk management bodies, principally the lead local
flood authority, including on what sort of sustainable drainage system they would
consider to be reasonably practicable.’
The judgement of what is reasonably practicable should be by reference to the
technical standards published by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs and take into account design and construction costs.
The NPPG goes on to set out that expecting compliance with the technical standards
is “unlikely to be reasonably practicable if more expensive than complying with
building regulations”. Similarly, a particular discharge route would not normally be
reasonably practicable when an alternative would cost less to design and construct.
This means that, at present, we cannot ask for sustainable drainage if the developer
can show that a traditional system will be cheaper.
Current policy in the Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) provides
protection for water quality when development takes place close to sensitive water
bodies such as lakes and rivers (NRWLP Policy Water 2).
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
Given the many benefits of using SuDS against traditional systems, we believe the
Local Plan Update should consider how the existing policy could be strengthened to
make the use of SuDS a firmer requirement for new development, particularly given
the benefits in addressing climate change resilience, biodiversity, health and
wellbeing objectives and ambitions to improve the blue infrastructure.
Possible Policy Options
In order to strengthen the requirement to deliver SuDS we’re considering a number
of potential policy approaches. These are not exhaustive and we would welcome any
alternative ideas you may have.
One potential option we are considering is the mapping of infiltration rates to identify
the areas that are most suitable for SuDS and this would support delivery of SuDS in
those locations. Policy should also ensure that the proposed minimum standards of
operation are appropriate and that there are clear arrangements in place for ongoing
maintenance.
Another way to help manage surface water flooding is to identify the ‘source’
locations where heavy rainfall can lead to flooding downstream. Additional measures
to reduce the speed of surface water run off at the source location, such as tree
planting, can avoid the need for mitigation downstream. We are working with the
University of Leeds to identify source locations and it may be appropriate for the
Local Plan Update to provide a policy to ask for additional measures in those areas.
Consultation Questions
4. Do you agree that surface water flooding and use of SuDS should be
within the scope of the Local Plan Update?
11

Page 223

5. Do you agree with our suggested approach to increasing the use of
sustainable drainage systems in new development?
6. Do you think identifying and implementing additional measures at
source locations would be an appropriate approach to managing
surface water run off?

12

Page 224

RESILIENCE
Background
Flooding has a negative impact on the lives of everyone affected by it. Given the
forecasted increases in rainfall we want to consider what we can do to make sure
that new development is resilient. There has been a rise in purpose built
accommodation for people who are especially vulnerable, such as elderly and
disabled. These people may be less able to cope with the impacts of flooding and
the effects can be devastating for them.
Current Policy Position
The NPPF tells us to ensure that development is appropriately flood resistant and
resilient and safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part
of an agreed emergency plan (para. 163). We do this by requiring a flood risk
assessment (FRA) to be submitted to accompany the application which informs the
developer of mitigation measures to make sure the development will be safe for its
lifetime and without making flood risk worse elsewhere for all affected people. The
FRA also has to take account of climate change projections for the future intensity of
rainfall. National policy categorizes all residential development as ‘more vulnerable’
and not appropriate in high flood risk areas unless it has passed the sequential test
(described above) but this does not recognise that some groups of people are even
more vulnerable than others.
Possible policy options
Guidance is available on building flood resilient development, such as the ADEPT
guidance ‘How to consider emergency plans for flooding as part of the planning
process’ but there may be an opportunity to provide a clearer policy steer in the
Local Plan. This could include a consideration of policy regarding safe access and
escape routes and whether there should be any limitations on accommodation for
more vulnerable groups in high flood risk areas.
Consultation Questions
7. Should the Local Plan set new standards for flood resilient housing?
8. Should the Local Plan consider where accommodation for more
vulnerable people is located?

13

Page 225

PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AND POROUS PAVING
Background
The paving over of front gardens can result in increased flood risk caused by surface
water runoff which is unable to drain naturally if impermeable materials are used.
Additionally, the loss of vegetation can contribute to increased air pollution in urban
areas and can affect the character and appearance of traditional streetscapes. The
intensification of built development through the use of permitted development rights
(eg to build extensions and garages) and the impact of climate change further
compounds the problem.
Current Policy Position
As stated above, the Council has existing policies related to sustainable drainage
systems. However, they do not apply where planning permission is not required.
Permitted development rights are set by the Government and set out types of
development that do not require planning consent.
Some permitted development rights allow the building of extensions, garages and
other structures that reduce the extent of the area available for natural drainage and
holding water.
Other permitted development rights allow for the provision of a new or replacement
hard surface (such as a driveway) within the curtilage of the grounds of different
buildings, such as houses, offices and industrial buildings. These permitted
development rights are limited to ensure that permeable materials are used.
Possible Policy Options
We’re keen to explore what approaches we could take to ensure that where
landscaping and gardens provide a valuable function in helping manage flood risk,
they are not subsequently lost through permitted development rights that allow the
householder to build extensions, garages or other structures that reduce the extent
of the area available for absorption.
One of the options may be to provide further guidance to householders on using
porous materials when they are planning to convert front gardens to parking space.
Consultation Questions
9. Should the Local Plan Update consider what approaches could be taken
to limit permitted development rights for new developments to ensure
open areas that are needed for flood risk management are retained?
10. Whilst not subject of a grant of planning permission should the Council
consider how to control paving over front gardens and loss of soft and
natural landscaping in existing development, for example through
enhanced guidance for householders?

14

Page 226

Page 227

1

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE
INTRODUCTION TO THE TOPIC
What is Green Infrastructure?
The purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable development, which is
about meeting current needs without harming the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that
planning authorities should ensure that development meets economic, social and
environmental objectives.
The environmental objective is defined by the NPPF1 as:
“to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic
environment; including making effective use of land, helping to improve
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and
mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon
economy.”

This paper looks at the role of the Leeds Local Plan in supporting Green Infrastructure,
which forms a fundamental part of the natural environment and contributes to more
sustainable development.
Green Infrastructure (GI) is defined by National Planning Policy Framework as
“A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local
communities.”2

This network includes parks, green spaces, gardens, woodlands, street trees, hedges,
green walls and green roofs. Each element of GI is an important asset for local
communities, providing places to play and enjoy and together they make attractive
places to live and invest in.
They are also natural climate change assets, because GI:

1
2



reduces greenhouse gas emissions, such as carbon dioxide, associated
with new development e.g. by capturing carbon



benefits public health by removing and reducing air pollution



if well managed and protected, captures and stores carbon dioxide from
the atmosphere (sequestration)



improves the resilience of places, thereby helping communities adapt to
increases in flooding and heat

NPPF Paragraph – Paragraph 8c
NPPF ‐ Glossary

2

Page 228



helps use scarce resources e.g. water more efficiently



helps provide strong ecosystems and habitats for plants and animals to
reduce biodiversity loss and help species adapt to changes in the climate

The NPPF recognises that GI has a value and recommends assessing the wider
benefits of the natural environment / GI using two approaches:


natural capital – a way of thinking about the natural environment as an
asset



eco-systems services - the benefits and interaction nature (the natural
capital) to people and the environment

In order to achieve net gains in sustainable development, it is therefore important to
plan for Green Infrastructure in a way that:
 clearly sets out its underpinning importance to sustainable development in
Leeds


maximises its natural climate change role



places a value on its management, creation and loss

GI often works hand in hand with “blue infrastructure” such as rivers, streams, canals,
lakes and other water bodies; both blue and green infrastructure are multi-functional.
For instance a well-designed pond can be a sustainable water management system
for drainage of a new housing estate, a natural habitat for species, a means of soaking
up carbon (as well as water), a leisure destination and improve people’s well-being.
On a wider scale, a well-designed, integrated environment can connect individual
green areas and assets to create green routes and corridors, creating pleasant
environments to encourage cycling and walking over large distances. Indeed it is
possible to walk from Leeds City Centre to Windermere via the Dales Way Link to
Ilkley and then the Dales Way to the Lake District. Greening especially the urban
environment can also be a catalyst for investment and economic growth and GI is also
usually cheaper than traditional “grey” infrastructure3, and creates sustainable jobs.
This is often known as using nature-based solutions instead of man-made constructed
solutions.
GI serves many purposes. For instance a small group of trees (copse) has various
Natural Capital functions:





3

biodiversity through both the species of trees, the habitat provided and the soils
carbon capture (also known as sequestration)
water storage
If a forest path is then developed through the copse it potentially adds the
functions/services of health, leisure and education. These are the ‘ecosystem

See the Sustainable Urban Drainage section of the Flood Risk Topic Paper.

3

Page 229

services’ the ‘natural capital’ provides. In essence GI is multi-functional and
should never be seen in isolation.
Our relationship with GI has to be understood in this context; that one asset or ‘capital’
serves different purposes. From a planning point of view it is important that we
understand this. For instance recent research supports the mental health benefits of
Green Space4 but predicates this on our ability to ‘connect’ with it. This means that
Green Space design as well as quantity is important, as is its accessibility to a range
of users.
The pandemic, climate change and the desire to see a healthier society are all key
drivers that reinforce the importance of the natural environment to be available to
everybody at a neighbourhood level and for those with limited mobility at the street
and individual home level.
Elsewhere in the Local Plan Update there are topic papers which also consider
interlinked issues around better place-making and 20-minute neighbourhoods. GI
plays a key role in these planning areas.
What do our policies currently say?
Protecting, enhancing and extending the network of green infrastructure has been a
fundamental element of the Leeds Local Plan for many years. Indeed green
infrastructure forms part of the overall Core Strategy Spatial Vision (bullet 9) and
managing environmental resources makes up 5 of the 24 Core Strategy objectives.
Furthermore, there are many existing policies that fulfil this function which provide an
invaluable and much needed statutory basis to require protection, enhancement and
extension of the natural environment.
The Local Plan currently contains policies which establish key strategic GI and
ambitions to improve the gaps between key corridors.

4

University of Derby – Professor Miles Richardson ‐ https://findingnature.org.uk/2020/04/08/a‐new‐
relationship‐with‐nature/

4

Page 230

This sets the framework for GI management and also more detailed plans e.g. the Aire
Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (2017) which sets a GI network for a discreet area of
the City experiencing transformational growth.

5

Page 231

However, we are not seeing a consistently high standard of GI considerations across
all developments. This is partly because national planning policy has been heavily
focussed on boosting the supply of housing for the past 10 years with penalties on
local authorities that do not have an adequate supply of housing. Thanks to the
adoption of the Site Allocations Plan in 2019 Leeds now has a five year land supply
and can strengthen its focus on housing quality.
We want to avoid green spaces that are sterile and mono-functional such as this:

Instead we want GI to be at the heart of new development as a key underpinning asset
like this:

This helps recognise the multiple benefits and roles green infrastructure can provide,
such as at Killingback Meadows where the planting of 8,000 trees and the delivery of
new ponds and seasonal wetlands will help reduce flooding and provide natural
habitats, as part of the Killingbeck Meadows Flood Alleviation Scheme.
National Changes
Whilst detailed Government planning guidance on GI is limited, it is clear that at a
legislative and departmental level the direction of Government policy has shifted
6

Page 232

recently and creates a more positive context for improved GI policies.
A Natural Capital Committee (NCC) was an independent committee which advised the
government on natural capital, including ecosystems, species, freshwaters, soils,
minerals, the air and oceans, as well as natural processes and functions. It led to a
number of changes which support a strong direction of travel on embedding GI into
planning policy at the local level as follows:


a 25 year Environment Plan (2018) which sets the Government’s goals for
improving the environment, within a generation, and leaving it in a better
state than we found it



an Environment Bill (initially laid before parliament in 2019) setting out how
the Government plans to deliver its commitment to protect and improve the
natural environment in the UK in light of evidence and public concern around
biodiversity and habitat loss, climate change and environmental risks to
public health



guidance (2020) for policy and decision makers to help them to include
contemporary approaches to Green Infrastructure and the value of these into
policy (including changes to HM Government Green Book guidance on how
appraisals are done)

The main issues pertinent to the Local Plan Update are:


setting targets for improving the natural environment and people’s enjoyment
of it and a duty to meet and report on the targets set



a new system for biodiversity and nature protection including a register of
biodiversity gain sites(land which is subject to a conservation covenant or
planning obligation and which is to be managed for the purpose of habitat
enhancement)and establishing a system of biodiversity credits-enabling
developers to 'purchase' credits in biodiversity gain sites



measuring net gain and eco-systems services at the development level

Vision:
Through this Local Plan Update we are aiming to adopt and improve policies that will
help development adapt and mitigate against the impacts of climate change by
creating a better more sustainable environment. With regard to Green Infrastructure
our Vision is as follows:

7

Page 233

Leeds will create new Green Infrastructure (GI) (including Green Space and
Natural Environment) through the planning process, and identify, improve,
protect and extend existing GI to address the challenges of climate change and
create a healthy city.

This topic paper sets out the sorts of areas to be considered in taking this proposed
vision forward and asks a number of questions to find out what you think.

8

Page 234

POLICY TOPIC AREAS
IDENTIFICATION, PROTECTION, ENHANCEMENT AND EXTENSION OF GREEN
INFRASTRUCTURE
Background
The value and importance of open land is widely recognised for a number of reasons
such as giving us opportunities to visit and enjoy nature, providing homes to wildlife
and being the landscape context for where we live. The restrictions due to Covid-19
have brought into focus the importance of accessible land and nature close to our
doorsteps and this, along with the important role open land and the natural
environment has in addressing the climate emergency, only increases the need to
continue to protect, enhance and extend the existing network of green infrastructure
within Leeds.
Policy Aims





To clearly identify existing land which merits protection and state robust
reasons why protection is necessary
To provide statutory protection for all identified green infrastructure through
formal designation and a policy presumption against the loss of GI
To seek improvements and high quality enhancements
To seek the extension of the green infrastructure network through the
identification and protection of additional open land.

Existing Policies and rationale for potential change
Whilst the Local Plan contains an effective suite of policies relating to GI, these
policies are spread across a variety of Local Plan documents. This can be confusing
and they could benefit from being strengthened and consolidated. The Local Plan
Update can set a clear, strong, high level framework and contain more detailed
polices with robust and justified requirements, directions and targets which will
ensure protection and facilitate improvements and extensions. Any policies should
recognise the different values of land, whether it be for agriculture, recreation, wildlife
habitats or the visual beauty of the landscape.
Within this broader framework sit other more specific issues which are considered
later in this document, such as trees, areas protected for nature conservation and
biodiversity.
Identification and Designation
Currently the designation of land as green space is dealt with through Policy GS1 in
the Site Allocations Plan which identifies areas that function as green space; whilst
Core Strategy Policy G6 gives them protection from development. Whilst green
space is an element of wider green infrastructure, it is proposed that there is a need
to widen out policy protection for a greater range of GI categories.
9

Page 235

Protection
Green infrastructure is currently identified in the Core Strategy but there is no
presumption against development. The climate emergency, well-being links and
pandemic have increased its importance and necessitated a rethink of the
mechanisms and levels of protection and situations under which it may be developed
in whole or in part. A “presumption in favour of retaining green infrastructure” could
offer increased protection for GI, however this must be balanced against the needs
for wider sustainable development, whereby some development could be
appropriate. Therefore there needs to be ways in which development can be
accepted, subject to detailed and compelling reasons and the remediation of any
detrimental effects. It is especially important to extend the recognition and protection
into more highly built up areas where open space is at a premium.
Extension of network
Maximising the amount of GI to make the most of its benefits to the climate
emergency and our wellbeing and promoting and seeking additional GI where
possible can be achieved through planning policy. Some areas may be specifically
identified and earmarked for future strategic GI. We can also maximise opportunities
as and when they arise through; development, infrastructure projects, landscaping
schemes, biodiversity improvements, greening features on buildings, land
management and projects to improve the provision of open spaces such as the
White Rose Forest and the Council’s Woodland Creation Scheme. There would also
be benefits to new policy measures to protect any new areas created so that they
were not vulnerable to future development.
Quality and Enhancement
It is important that areas of GI are of good quality to provide beneficial habitats for
nature, opportunities for carbon sequestration and attractive, accessible locations for
outdoor activities. Not all GI provided through development is of a high quality and
there is a continued need for policy and practice to seek quality spaces.
Proposed Policy Options
Currently the key policies are Core Strategy Policies SP13 and G1 which identify
land which is considered Strategic Green Infrastructure. Policy G1 then takes the
defined areas and applies ‘controls’ to development within them. It is felt that the
Policy SP13 in conjunction with Policy G1 would benefit from enhancement,
especially in the context of the Climate Emergency and Covid-19.
One option would be to have an over-arching strategic policy (an updated Policy
SP13) and then have a number of more detailed policies sitting underneath which
give more information, requirements and guidance relating to specific matters. A
further supplementary planning document would provide more guidance and useful
information as well as examples of good practice.

10

Page 236

Key elements could be:


set a more holistic, strategic direction and provide consideration of all
green infrastructure.



set a clear definition of “Green Infrastructure”,



provide a framework for the delivery of new green infrastructure as well as
the enhancement and protection of existing GI.



set a presumption against the loss of any GI.



revise Policy G1 to set out how the green infrastructure network could be
protected, enhanced and expanded and what priorities may emerge more
locally



prioritise connecting strategic GI assets within the City and with
neighbouring authorities



create new green infrastructure



designate wild belts, on land that has little development value but does
not currently benefit from green infrastructure designation or protection.



set a framework for the delivery of localised pockets of GI through green
roofs, green walls, roof gardens and hedges that would help mitigate the
urban heat island effect in built up urban areas and provide additional
greenspace in high density areas.



provide a supplementary guidance document containing additional details,
advice, support, examples of good practice etc. so as to assist developers
and land managers on specific issues such as species, habitat creation,
balance between nature and human activities on GI assets.

Questions for consultation
1. Do you agree that enhanced policy for the protection, improvement and
enhancement of GI should be included in the Local Plan Update?
2. If so, what would you like to see included in such a policy?
3. Do you think the Green Space protection Policy (G6) should be extended to
all Green Infrastructure?

11

Page 237

TREES
Background
At around 13% forest cover in 2015, the UK is one of the least densely forested
countries in Europe (Table 9.1, Figure 9.1). This compares with 38% for the EU as a
whole and 31% worldwide.5
Trees provide many benefits to our environment. They store carbon emissions and
take pollutants out of the air, provide shelter and shade and valuable habitats, soften
the built environment and bring colour and texture , provide opportunities for us to
reconnect with nature and help to support our physical and mental wellbeing which
has been brought into particular focus by the restrictions due to Covid-19.

Figure 1 ‐ Source Forestry Commission

Trees extract and store damaging carbon from the air by what is called carbon
sequestration (Fig 1)6. As trees photosynthesise and grow they absorb carbon dioxide
that would otherwise rise up and trap heat in the atmosphere and contribute to global
warming. In turn they release large quantities of oxygen. It is therefore vitally
important that we protect existing trees and plants as they are an extremely valuable
natural way of reducing carbon dioxide in the atmosphere. Indeed a large, mature tree
could store in the region of 3.5 tons of carbon. Areas of woodland provide the highest
concentrations of trees and carbon storage however a study undertaken by the
University of Leeds concludes that 1% of regions CO2 emissions is taken up by trees
outside woodlands, such as those in urban areas.
The Council is a key partner in the White Rose Forest Project to develop a community
5
6

Forest Cover: International Comparisons
Forestry Statistics 2018 ‐ Chapter 4: UK Forests and Climate Change

12

Page 238

forest for North and West Yorkshire (part of the wider Northern Forest). This is a
partnership between local authorities, landowners, businesses and communities to
increase tree cover across the region and improve the natural environment. The
project will plant millions of trees in urban centres and countryside that will help
manage flood risk, combat climate change, create jobs and provide happier and
healthier places. The overall White Rose Forest Plan is expected to be launched in
August 2021 whilst Leeds City Council’s White Rose Forest Strategy has been
endorsed by Executive Board and is nearing completion. This Strategy aims to
significantly increase the existing 17% tree canopy cover across the District to 33% by
2050 in partnership with business, residents, institutions, communities, landowners
and farmers, building on the substantial work that the Council already carries out
around the planting and management of trees as well as encouraging planting and
protection of trees though the planning process. Leeds City Council has committed to
planting 5.8 million trees over the next 25 years as part of the city’s contribution to the
UK net-zero targets.
Policy Aims





To establish a “presumption in favour of retaining existing trees” within the
existing legal framework
To establish a comprehensive, detailed replacement planting regime which
takes into account age, size, species, carbon storage capacity etc of trees
to be lost and planted to ensure no loss of sequestration levels.
To encourage additional planting and give a strong local statutory
foundation for current and future tree planting projects and programmes.

Existing policies and rationale for potential change
There are currently two key policies in the Local Plan that deal with trees:



Core Strategy Policy G2
Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan Policy LAND2

These are considered to be effective policies, however they were written before the
declaration of the climate emergency and therefore they may need to be adapted
and strengthened to respond to the current environmental crisis. Recent research
from the University of Leeds suggests the 3 to 1 ratio of tree replacement in LAND 2
is inadequate in terms of replacing the carbon sequestration value of mature trees
lost and other factors such as tree type, girth, age etc. need to be factored in. This is
coupled with new pressures and a strengthening of national agendas with regard to
trees that suggest Policy G2 could be made more robust. There are fundamentally
two aspects which need to be addressed.
Protection
Firstly, we need to consider how best to protect the trees we already have, from
large areas of woodland to individual trees. The Council can serve a Tree
Preservation Order on particularly visually important trees but these are only
13

Page 239

appropriate in certain circumstances and they have limited scope to protect in
recognition of trees’ biodiversity or carbon sequestration importance. Under
separate legislation, trees in conservation areas are protected as are those which
are within a statutory designated site or are used by a protected species such as
bats. This means most trees are not legally protected and other methods of
protection such as the planning system must therefore be fully utilised. The control
of development through the application of planning policies and the use of conditions
and legal agreements attached to planning permissions provide tangible and robust
methods to protect trees through, for example, ensuring buildings are far enough
away to protect roots and canopy.
It must be remembered that in some cases the removal of existing trees may be
acceptable, when balanced against other wider benefits, particularly wider
improvements to Green Infrastructure.
Planting More
Secondly, we should consider how the planning system can facilitate the planting of
more trees, over and above requiring landscaping schemes. The Local Plan could
provide a strong framework for planting programmes to work within and potentially
designate specific sites for future planting. We must be mindful that there are other
demands on land and in more rural areas, where there is the scope for larger scale
planting, the desire to plant trees must be balanced with the requirements of
agriculture and food production.
Trees can also be planted as part of a development scheme. They should be an
integral part of open space and, indeed, the layout and design of any housing
development. They can be planted on land that has other functions, such as
sustainable draining facilities, play spaces, verges, gardens etc. and therefore
ensure these spaces are multi-functional and multi-beneficial. We need to be
creative and push the boundaries in how this can be achieved. Tree policies are part
of this but we also need imaginative design and solutions to practical issues e.g.
drainage, transport infrastructure etc. Careful planting and comprehensive, ongoing
maintenance and management is key to trees growing, flourishing and reaching their
full potential in terms of visual quality, carbon sequestration and biodiversity gain.
Proposed Policy Options
Options for future policies could include:




Strengthening policy to establish a presumption in favour of tree retention,
whilst recognising where exceptions may be necessary, such as the
delivery of outstanding improvements to wider Green Infrastructure and
biodiversity.
Strengthening tree replacement requirements to fully recognise the role of
trees in carbon storage and the need to compensate for any loss of carbon
storage through tree removal. This could require applicants to audit the
current carbon sequestration contribution made by trees on site, with a
14

Page 240




requirement to improve that sequestration level through increased and
appropriate tree planting.
Allowing developments to make off-site contributions to identified tree
planting areas where it is not possible to plant trees on sites
Identifying new land for tree planting and protect it from alternative uses,
where possible.

Alternatively, options may include:




Continuing to pursue non-planning solutions to the delivery of increased
tree planting across the District, working with major landowners and other
partners.
Retaining the existing policy approach of replacing lost trees on a for 3:1
ratio basis.

Questions for consultation
4. How could planning policy be used to increase tree coverage across
Leeds?

15

Page 241

Green Space
Background
One of the key elements of Green Infrastructure within Leeds is “green space”. This
is open space which primarily has a recreational function, whether that be, for
example, outdoor sport, allotments or for more informal recreation. The importance
and value of these sites more broadly has been discussed earlier in this document in
relation to access to green space, opportunities for recreation and the enjoyment of
the natural environment and the positive effects these have on physical and mental
health. The current green space sites are formally designated through Policy GS1 in
the Site Allocations Plan (2019) and are shown on the Policies Map and in the Site
Allocations Plan documentation.
Green space is considered as a distinct element of green infrastructure in the Leeds
Local Plan and therefore has its own suite of policies. These polices give clear
requirements for new provision, including amounts per dwelling (Policies G4 and G5)
and protection of existing (Policy G6).
Policy Aims




To ensure new green space is delivered to meet current and future need
To give existing green space strong protection against loss due to
development
To improve existing green space

Existing Policies and rationale for potential change
Green Space Provision
Green space provision outside the City Centre (Policy G4) was recently revised
through the Core Strategy Selective Review (2019) therefore it is considered that
although the Policy is working well, further changes may be appropriate to
strengthen it further to deliver better, high quality Green Space. . However, we would
like to consider our approach to the delivery of green space within the City Centre in
Policy G5 to ensure that we’re getting the balance right between high density
developments in sustainable city centre locations and making sure that those
residents have good access to usable greenspace.
The Council is committed to supporting the delivery of improved green space in the
City Centre, as evidenced through the Our Spaces Strategy which was launched in
March 2020. Within the Strategy it was acknowledged that Leeds City Centre
includes a relatively low quantity and quality of green spaces in relation to its size.
There is also a lack of nature and limited biodiversity corridors in and between the
city centre and the surrounding communities and little provision for children’s play,
physical activity, relaxation and habitat diversity. In response to this, the Strategy
sets key principles designed to ensure that Leeds will be a substantially greener and

16

Page 242

better connected city that is more accessible to more people, creates an
environment to thrive and is recognisable as a unique place to be.
Recently approved proposals at
Aire Park on the Leeds South
Bank and at the Corn Exchange
and the completion of new
green space at Sovereign
Square help us deliver on that
vision. Moving forward, we’re
keen to explore what role
planning policy could play in
supporting the aspirations to
increase the quantity and quality
of green space in the City
Centre.
At present, City Centre developments on land less than 0.5 hectares are not required
to provide green space on site and given the high densities of development, this can
result in large developments not delivering green space. However, this must be
balanced against requirements to utilise land efficiently, and high density residential
development reflects the need to maximise good use of land. Nevertheless, given
the Climate emergency and the local needs exacerbated by Covid-19, it is now seen
as timely to revisit this approach to see if it needs changing to reflect different
circumstances.
Where appropriate, developments can make payments to the Council instead of
providing new Green Space which are used to provide green space elsewhere.
However, the mechanism for calculating this payment means that developments
inside the City Centre contribute less than outside the City Centre. It is proposed to
revisit this and assess whether the calculation should be adjusted.
Commercial developments in the City Centre above 0.5 Ha are expected to provide
Green/Open Space whilst such development outside the City Centre are not. It is
therefore proposed to reassess this aspect of the Policy.
Green Space Protection
As with the broader Green Infrastructure, one of the principle concerns is with the
protection of Green Space, which is currently expressed through policy G6 of the
Core Strategy.
When green space is not maintained it can fall into poor condition which can affect
its usability and make it vulnerable to loss, particularly through development. In
some cases it may be appropriate to redevelop sites but in most cases improving
existing green space should be the preferred approach. The need for the Green
Space is not reduced because of its current condition. Through the Plan we are

17

Page 243

considering whether to revise our approach to the protection of Green Space to see
if this can be improved.
Proposed Policy Options
For City Centre green space, future policy options could include:




Reviewing the site size threshold for the provision of green space
Reviewing the methodology for the calculation of sums in lieu of new green
space on site
Considering the principle of commercial sites providing green space in the
City Centre.

For wider greenspace protection and improvement consideration could be given to
whether protection could be enhanced and whether it could be extended to include
all green and blue infrastructure, such as trees, natural green space specific to
biodiversity aims, new green space etc.
Questions for consultation
5. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider new policies to
enhance green space provision within the City Centre?
6. If yes, how should policies best achieve this?

18

Page 244

Nature Conservation
Background
There is widespread recognition of the importance to protect and enhance the
natural environment and ensure habitats and biodiversity are fully considered in
planning decisions and opportunities to improve the network of habitats and green
infrastructure are utilised.
Indeed the Lawton Report “Making Space for Nature” (Sept 2010)7 reviewed
England’s wildlife sites and the connections between them and concluded that
wildlife sites are generally too small and too isolated, leading to declines in species
and a loss of natural services we depend on. The report recommends that
designated wildlife sites are better protected and managed, non-designated wildlife
sites are better protected, ecological restoration zones are established and we need
a creative approach to water-quality, inland flooding, coastal erosion and carbon
storage that will help deliver a more effective ecological network. Sites are identified
and formally designated to give protection to habitats, flora and fauna which are
important locally, regionally, nationally and internationally. Many organisations and
agencies are involved in the recognition, protection and enhancement of wildlife
habitats and geologically important sites.
In Leeds there are a number of such sites which are protected against development
and activities that would harm the sites under national and international legislation
and Policy G8 in the Core Strategy. In recognition of the importance of land that
does not meet the criteria for formal designation, the Council has identified a broader
network of habitats (statutorily and non-statutorily designated) through the Leeds
Habitat Network which is shown on Map 18 and referred to in Policy G9 in the Core
Strategy. It is important that the Leeds Habitat Network is publicly available,
however maps within Local Plans remain static, representing a snapshot in time, and
become out of date as the network changes over time.
Policy Aims


Provide robust and comprehensive protection of sites and species
recognised for their wildlife and geological significance.



Clarify existing policies and provide rationale for potential change

It is considered that existing Core Strategy policy G8 on nature conservation
designations and species is effective at protecting habitats and species and if
revised, would only require minor changes.

7

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130402170324/http://archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/biodi
versity/documents/201009space‐for‐nature.pdf

19

Page 245

Proposed Policy Options
Future policy options could include:




Updating outdated terms (including the categories of protected sites),
references and documents so the policy is more relevant and applicable.
Adding more explicit provision for monitoring, review and updating in the
policy
Reviewing Map 18 and considering how updated versions can be made
more easily available.
Questions for consultation
7. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should consider a revised
policy for the protection of nature conservation designated sites and
species? If so, what would you like to see a revised policy contain?

20

Page 246

Biodiversity
Background
Biodiversity is the term used to describe the amazing variety of life on Earth. The
National Trust described biodiversity as ‘Big Nature!’8 Biodiversity has a huge role in
helping us live healthy and happy lives; it provides us with food, raw materials,
medical discoveries and what are called ecosystem services. There are also many
and varied benefits provided by the natural environment and from healthy
ecosystems such as natural pollination of crops, clean air, a supply of oxygen, clean
water, extreme weather mitigation and human mental and physical well-being,
recreation and even tourism.
The Earth’s biodiversity is in decline due to human activities such as deforestation,
land-use change, agricultural intensification, over-consumption of natural resources,
pollution and climate change. A report9 from the Intergovernmental Science-Policy
Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) in 2019 stated that nature
is declining globally at rates unprecedented in human history and the rate of species
extinctions is accelerating. The report contains some hard-hitting statistics including:








75% of global environments (excluding marine) have been “severely
altered” to date by human actions
There has been a 47%: reduction in global indicators of the range, scope
and condition of ecosystems against their estimated natural baselines, with
many continuing to decline by at least 4% per decade.
More than 85% of wetlands present in 1700 had been lost by 2000.
Wetland loss is currently happening three times faster, in percentage terms,
than forest loss.
Up to 1 million species are threatened with extinction, many within decades
More than 500,000 (+/-9%) of the world’s estimated 5.9 million terrestrial
species have insufficient habitat for long term survival without habitat
restoration

The IPBES report brings sharply into focus the global scale of the destruction of the
natural environment and the catastrophic effects this is and will increasingly continue
to have on our lives. Biodiversity and climate change are inextricably linked through
the intrinsic balance of nature and ecosystems therefore a significant change in
biodiversity will inevitably have an effect on climate.
Whilst we haven’t seen large scale destruction of rainforests in Leeds, we are seeing
incremental loss of our indigenous natural environment through habitat destruction
and a resulting loss in biodiversity. It is therefore important that we protect the
variety of life locally but also reverse the trend of losing biodiversity and achieve
improvements through “biodiversity net gain”.

8
9

https://www.nationaltrust.org.uk/features/what‐is‐biodiversity
https://ipbes.net/global‐assessment

21

Page 247

The Environment Bill (see para 1.2 above) contains a target of a minimum 10% net
gain which, subject to any revisions as the Bill progresses through parliament, is
expected to become law in 2021. Developments will then be legally required to
deliver a 10% gain for biodiversity. Defra’s Biodiversity Metric is the nationally
recognised tool to measure and quantify biodiversity on sites and will be used to
assess initial biodiversity, guide measure to deliver an improvement and assess the
resulting biodiversity to ensure adequate gain is achieved.
There is scope for biodiversity improvements to be delivered on different sites to
where development is located and details of these will be embedded in Conservation
Covenants (agreements with landowners to deliver the enhancement and
management for a minimum of 30 years). The Council will have a duty to show
where on-site and off-site Net Gain is being delivered and ensure this is achieving
the required biodiversity gains and contributing to the Government’s Nature
Recovery Network. Furthermore, it will need to produce a Local Nature Recovery
Strategy (LNRS) which will consist of a “Habitat Map” (Leeds Habitat Network Map)
and “Statement of Biodiversity Priorities”.
Policy Aims




To strengthen the requirement for improvements in biodiversity and set a
required percentage level of gain
To clarify the use of recognised methods to assess and determine levels
of biodiversity
To provide a robust policy basis for the delivery of schemes, projects and
programmes that will improve biodiversity.

Existing policies and rationale for potential change
The Council has required developments to deliver a gain for biodiversity since 2014
through Core Strategy Policy G9 and first identified the Leeds Habitat Network on
Map 18 – see nature conservation section. Policy G9 is a valuable policy and
establishes the need for development to deliver a net gain in biodiversity. However,
the declaration of the climate emergency, the contents of the Environment Bill (see
para 1.2 above), the Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan and the greater focus
on nature close to where we live due to Covid-19 has emphasised its importance
and required us to consider whether we need to be more ambitious and explicit in
the levels of biodiversity gain required through development.
Possible Approach
Whilst the elements of the Environment Bill are not legally binding yet, the Council
welcomes the introduction of a clear mandatory requirement of at least 10%
biodiversity gain on development sites and is looking to introduce specific
quantifiable requirements in policy. We must be mindful that any figure will have to
be fully justified by robust data and evidence to show it is appropriate, proportionate
and deliverable.
22

Page 248

There also needs to be a system in place to ensure improvements to biodiversity are
actually delivered on the ground in the right place, whether that is on development
sites or elsewhere where ecological opportunities and benefits can be maximised.
Planning policies need to provide a “hook” of key requirements and criteria and set
out clearly how biodiversity issues should be considered during the determination of
a planning application, supplemented by guidance. A Strategic Local Nature
Recovery Strategy for West Yorkshire could be a key mechanism for effective and
successful improvements if there was a link between the planning process and
delivering biodiversity off development sites. We will continue to think how best we
can do this though your ideas and suggestions would be most welcome.
Whilst biodiversity net gain is an extremely valuable mechanism to improve
biodiversity, planning policy and guidance can use many other ways to reverse the
loss of natural habitats and biodiversity such as protecting regionally, nationally and
internationally important habitats is covered previously. But we’d like to consider
revised policy for those important areas which don’t meet the criteria for special
protection. Using a % net gain on sites which already have a low level of biodiversity
will not result in noticeable improvements therefore we’d like your views on how the
protection and improvement of the range of habitats, flora and fauna can be at the
heart of development proposals through a focus on nature and ecological
considerations in scheme layout, design and details, including infrastructure and the
use of “green” products and technology.
Further consideration should also be given to our approach to biodiversity off-setting.
Biodiversity off-setting is a system whereby if one area of natural space is lost to
development, another area is created or restored for wildlife with the aim for an
overall biodiversity gain. This means economic activity can occur and the
environment can continue to flourish.
Proposed Policy Options
Policy options for biodiversity could include


going beyond the provisions for biodiversity net gain within the Environment
Bill and setting more ambitious targets for net gain.

Alternatively the authority could choose to retain its existing approach, either based
on the benefits of the existing policy approach or the expected provisions of the new
Environment Bill.
Questions for Consultation
8. Do you agree that the Council should revise its policy on biodiversity and
biodiversity net gain? If so, what would you like updated policies to
contain?

23

Page 249

Local Food Production
Background
Local food production is an important part of Green Infrastructure because it helps
deliver many of the benefits of GI (e.g. for biodiversity and well-being). It is also an
important part of cutting carbon in its own right because the travel and processing
associated with food generates lots of carbon emissions. Indeed food is one of the
biggest contributors to our individual carbon footprint. It is for this reason that the
Leeds Climate Commission have concluded that growing food locally and reducing
food waste are important steps in becoming a zero carbon city. Food growing can
be on a commercial scale i.e. through farming, and on a local community scale, such
as allotments.
From a commercial perspective the Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan10
notes that the UK needs to optimise sustainable national food production for both the
climate agenda and also to respond to Brexit and make the UK more self-sufficient.
They note that this can be done through improved land management and that “Agritech developments can significantly improve farm performance, in terms of both
profits and the environment.” They note that this can be achieved through more
intensive horticulture, such as polytunnels in the countryside.
Researchers from the University of Leeds recommend that Leeds can also make
better use of brownfield sites for vertical farms (agri-tech farms which use modern
techniques to grow food indoors).
From a community perspective throughout the Big Leeds Climate Conversation
local food production was a prime consideration. Growing food was the 5th most
popular pro-environmental behaviour change that respondents would make, but say
that barriers prevent them11.
Researchers from the University of Leeds recommend identifying and making better
use of urban green space including parks, housing, ex-allotment sites and allowing
better use of and meanwhile uses (which means temporarily using proposed
development sites to grow food; possibly in containers).
The Town and Country Planning Association12 specifically advocates more
community food growing. They define community food growing as “the cultivation of
land by groups based on residential estates, faith premises, places of employment,
schools or within neighbourhoods.” There is a history of this within Leeds with
10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/
25‐year‐environment‐plan.pdf
11

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s198402/Climate%20Emergency%20Report%20Annex%202%201
91219.pdf (see page 29)
12
https://www.sustainweb.org/news/apr14_planning_sustainable_cities/

24

Page 250

places like Meanwood Valley Urban Farm – a larger community farm which also
employs paid workers and organisations such as Feed Leeds, (a local version of the
national Incredible Edible project) involved with sustainable local food.
Policy Aims
Whilst there is already considerable enthusiasm and commitment to grow food
locally the planning system can help remove barriers, such has lack of access to
suitable land and through its wider Green Infrastructure policies. The proposed
policy aim for local food growing are as follows:
As a key part of the multi-faceted Green Infrastructure in Leeds and
recognising its role in the Climate Emergency, the Local Plan
encourages local / community food growing, so as to ensure that those
who wish to grow food locally have the opportunity to do so within
walking distance of their home.
From a commercial perspective it is important to be positive about commercial food
growing so that investors know that Leeds will welcome innovation and development
of the food growing sector.
Existing policies and rationale for potential change
The current Local Plan policies set the framework for Green Infrastructure and notes
in para 2.38 of the Core Strategy that:
“An integral component also of the District’s Green Infrastructure and green
space and in contributing to public health, are the networks of allotment
gardens across the City. These are important facilities in providing for local
food production (close to communities) and in contributing to local amenity
and distinctiveness.”
However, a focus purely on allotments for growing food is considered to be too
narrow, given the wider opportunities that are available and in line with a more
detailed approach on Green Infrastructure policies need to be more explicit and
recognise that food growing can occur on land other than allotments.
In terms of commercial agri-tech food growing opportunities the current Local Plan
identifies over 400 ha of land for general employment, which would allow for vertical
farming on allocated employment land and on other brownfield urban land which was
not allocated for other purposes. But it is important to note that commercial agri-tech
food growing may also be acceptable in the countryside too. The NPPF requires
that “Planning policies and decisions should enable… inter alia… the development
and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses13” and it also
allows buildings for agriculture in the Green Belt14.

13
14

NPPF para 83
NPPF para 145

25

Page 251

Possible Approach
It is proposed that at this initial stage the Plan needs to set a positive framework for
local food growing and provide more detail on how this can be achieved within a
revised approach to protecting, managing and providing new Green Infrastructure
and local place-making policy approaches being advocated elsewhere in this Local
Plan Update. The Local Plan update could therefore provide policies that:







protect existing community food growing spaces
support the provision of new community food growing spaces in or near
existing housing estates
encourage the temporary use of vacant sites and land awaiting development
require the incorporation of community food growing space in new residential
developments as part of Green Infrastructure delivery
require all development to incorporate measures that will contribute to on-site
sustainable food production as part of Green Infrastructure delivery
include community food growing in open space assessments and strategies in
their own right, distinct from consideration of allotments

Aside from strategic support for local food growing it is considered that there are
fewer opportunities to amend or set detailed policies for commercial food growing at
this stage of the Local Plan Update and that the current policies are not restrictive.
However, it is considered that when employment land policies and employment
allocations are updated in the future, the agri-tech food sector should be specifically
considered, potentially through the allocation of specific sites for this purpose. To do
this now, would also necessitate a wider look at all employment sectors as to ensure
that all sectors were considered in the round. This would not align with a focussed
scope of the Local Plan Update for the climate emergency.
Questions for Consultation
9. Do you agree that the Council should include policies to positively
promote local food production?
10. Do you think all new housing should deliver such opportunities or do you
think they should be more strategically focussed?
11. What else do you think the planning system can do to encourage local
food growing?

26

Page 252

Page 253

1

LEEDS LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
REGULATION 18 CONSULTATION TOPIC PAPER
PLACE MAKING

BACKGROUND TO THE TOPIC
This topic area seeks to explore the policies that guide sustainable patterns of
development in Leeds by engaging with concepts such as the 20 minute
neighbourhood as well as focus on creating high quality and resilient buildings and
spaces designed for carbon reduction and the promotion of people’s health,
happiness and well-being.
This paper looks at both strategic place-making (spatial patterns of growth, location
of development) as well as place making in reference to detailed design
considerations at a site, development and building level:
i. Spatial criteria – strategic infrastructure;
reusing land; safe and accessible,
walkable neighbourhoods, resource
efficiency in land-use, reducing
emissions, minimising flood risk,
improving local services and job
opportunities, accessible and safe
routes of travel by sustainable transport,
mixed-use development, mixed
communities, social cohesion,
regeneration, urban design, safe public
spaces, green spaces, digitally
connected.
ii. Place/Site/building criteria – Minimise
waste (create space for composting)
(rationalise and innovate waste
collection), reduce pollution, sustainable
construction, sustainable drainage, energy efficiency, conserve & enhance
biodiversity, smart infrastructure and connectivity, safe walkable and accessible to all
communities and neighbourhoods, green and blue infrastructure (including hedges,
community gardens, green walls/roofs, SuDS & ponds and grey water usage), solar
gain and tree planting for urban cooling and carbon capture.
Taking these aspects together we propose the following objective:
Objective: to minimise carbon emissions by guiding new development to
locations that offer the best opportunity for active travel, for use of public
transport and for minimal use of private motor vehicles and to capitalize upon
a local community’s assets, inspiration and potential and create high quality,
2

Page 254

sustainable and resilient places that people want to live, work and play in and
promote people’s health, happiness and well-being.

3

Page 255

Policy Topic Areas
Strategic Place-making
Background
The intention of the Local Plan Update is to adopt new planning policy that takes
Leeds toward carbon neutrality by 2030. For place-making this means guiding new
development to locations that offer the best opportunity for active travel (by foot or
cycle) and by public transport so that travel by car is greatly reduced. Seeking the
“best opportunity” expresses the desire to optimise carbon reduction through control
of the location of new development, use of appropriate density, efficient use of land
and the creation of cohesive neighbourhoods.
It has long been considered that the most sustainable urban form is one of
concentration of uses, particularly around centres so that people can be closer to
work and other services and make use of public transport. Place making at the
strategic level is about creating places that support people to live, work and enjoy the
environment (incorporating both urban and natural aspects). Done well, place
making minimises the environmental footprint of development; it brings
environmental, economic and social elements of planning together and allows
communities to flourish.
The purpose of the planning system (as expressed through the National Planning
Policy Framework – NPPF) is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development. The NPPF sets out three objectives that broadly contribute to the
wider factors that influence sustainable and healthy places:
a) An economic objective to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in
the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and
improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of
infrastructure;
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to
meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a welldesigned and safe built environment, with accessible services and open
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’
health, social and cultural well-being; and
c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of
land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate
change, including moving to a low carbon economy.
Furthermore, the NPPF specifically sets out that planning policies and decisions
should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which promote social
4

Page 256

interaction, safe and accessible spaces and promote healthy lifestyles. It also
acknowledges that planning policies and decisions play a key role in the provision of
social, recreational and cultural services that meet community needs and support the
delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for all
sections of the community.
All development plans produced in Leeds, as part of the Local Plan, have sought to
provide a framework for sustainable and healthy communities, having regard to
quality of life and to protect and enhance the environment. This is achieved through
a strategic and spatial approach and a suite of policies relating to the overall scale
and distribution of development, location, layout and fabric of places. Primarily,
(through the Core Strategy (CS)) the greatest levels of development are directed to
the existing main urban area (including the City Centre) and major settlements to
minimise travel by private car, as sustainable locations which currently provide the
greatest amount of services and facilities.
Impact of Covid-19
The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted on both people and the economy, changing
the way people work, travel and shop. It’s shown a rise in the number of people
cycling and resulted in cleaner air and quieter streets. However, it’s also shown
widening inequality for those who have easy access and connection to green space
and nature and access to shops and services, and those who are disconnected from
these important facilities. The homes and neighbourhoods where people live and
work have a profound influence on mental and physical health and wellbeing, and
this has become more widely appreciated during the COVID-19 global pandemic.
The physical, economic and social characteristics of housing, places and
communities have an important influence over people’s physical and mental health
and wellbeing, and inequalities in these are related to inequalities in health. Preexisting characteristics of communities shape their resilience to the social and
economic impacts of COVID-19 containment measures. The pandemic has
generated contradictory views that people need larger homes, space and greater
distances to stay safe, and less reliance on centrally located offices given the ability
of office workers to now work from home. The lockdown restrictions have reminded
us all that place making is more important than ever in creating better spaces for
everybody and that our neighbourhoods need to be designed to support people’s
health and wellbeing. This means making walking and cycling easy; providing
affordable and safe housing, easy and safe access to green spaces and creating
opportunities for neighbours to meet.

5

Page 257

Twenty minute Neighbourhoods
The 20-minute neighbourhood concept
has become a focus for a new vision of
locational growth. The purpose of the
concept is to ensure that neighbourhoods
support strong communities and local
economies, recognising that easy and
safe walking and cycle access to services
and facilities is good for health, and that
physical activity and less reliance on the
private car reduces air pollution. This
approach to local growth and place
making around service centres and hubs
is gathering support across the world and
is an easily understood way of planning
for the way places change.
Image curtesy of TCPA, March 2021

The concept of locating development in sustainable locations is nothing new in Leeds
and the accessibility standards set out the Core Strategy go a long way in setting out
the criteria for sustainable development. The concept is further explored in the
recently published consultation document Leeds Local Transport Strategy which sets
out the Council’s ambition for Leeds to be a city where you don’t need to own a car,
where everyone has access to affordable zero carbon transport options.
Whilst beyond the role of Planning, it is important to note the Government’s role in
actively pursuing funding opportunities, including the recently launched Active Travel
Fund which presents real opportunity to create a lasting change to how people move
around towns and cities by enabling and installing infrastructure that supports safe
cycling and walking with the aim to create safe, healthy spaces where communities
can connect - where walking and cycling is the easiest, most attractive option of
movement.
For Leeds to meet its objective of minimising carbon emissions it is considered that
spatial growth needs to continue to follow a pattern of concentration - particularly
around the City and town centres, but with a reflection on the impacts of Covid-19
which highlighted the continued need to promote safe, walkable and accessible for
all communities and neighbourhoods.
Role of towns and local centres
The city centre provides high levels of accessibility. It is the centre of the public
transport network and within and in adjoining neighbourhoods a high density
population that offers opportunities for people to walk or cycle to work and in terms of
city centre employment, Leeds has a thriving legal, media and financial services
sector with a large amount of office floor space. Whilst the role of the City Centre
6

Page 258

may evolve, feedback from local businesses suggests that it will still have a crucial
role to play in the provision of office space, allowing for home working with more
flexibility for “collaboration space”.
Leeds also has 60 town and local centres designated in the Local Plan. These serve
as hubs for local residents to access local shops and services. They can form the
base for rolling out the concept of walkable neighbourhoods, whereby residents can
access all the facilities that they need within a short walk of 15-20 minutes.
The role of Green and Blue Infrastructure
The importance of integrating the natural environment with the urban environment is
a key part of creating successful places, not only in ensuring that places of wildlife
and nature conservation value are protected but that new development creates new
opportunities to deliver enhanced or new green infrastructure ensuring that the
benefits of green and blue infrastructure are integral to healthy spaces. There is
growing evidence on the positive psychological and well-being role created where
there is a relationship between people and nature. This “nature connectedness” has
a strong influence in terms of behaviours around pro-environmentalism and
addressing climate change.
The benefits for biodiversity are also benefits for people and for place and this cycle
of relationships is further explored in the Green Infrastructure topic of this Local Plan
Update.
Current Policy
The current Leeds Local Plan has sought to provide a framework for sustainable and
healthy communities, having regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the
environment. This is achieved through a strategic and spatial approach and a suite
of policies relating to the overall scale and distribution of development, location,
layout and fabric of places.
Core Strategy policy is structured around a Settlement Hierarchy of City Centre,
Main Urban Area, Major Settlements and Smaller Settlements; through this, new
development is channelled toward the urban areas, to avoid travel by private car, as
sustainable locations because these places have access to a range of services via
public transport and walking. Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy is the principal policy
which guides development toward previously developed land, town centre uses to
centres and economic development towards identified and suitable locations. It also
expects regard to be given to the character of place and the role of infrastructure
including waterways, and protection of European environmental designations.
The existing Site Allocations Plan already provides for a range of housing and
employment allocations and these “in principle” locations for development will not be
amended through the Local Plan Update. However, Policy H2 sets locational criteria
7

Page 259

for non-allocated (i.e. windfall) housing sites. It expects new development to be of a
scale appropriate to the capacity of local infrastructure and is to be read alongside
Policy T2 which sets accessibility requirements for new development with particular
standards set out in Table 1 of Appendix 3 of the Core Strategy. Additional criteria
are applicable to green field sites concerning their intrinsic environmental value.
For new employment uses, Policy EC1 sets out preferential locational criteria to
guide the making of allocations for general employment land. These follow Policy
SP1 in giving priority to urban areas of the settlement hierarchy, to regeneration
areas, to existing employment areas and to complement housing in major urban
extensions. Policy EC2 sets out locations for offices, which focusses on the City
Centre and town centres, in accordance with national policy recognising office as a
town centre use.
Rational for an Enhanced Policy Framework
For Leeds to meet its objective of minimising carbon emissions it is considered that
spatial growth, in line with the emerging Leeds Transport Strategy, should continue
to follow a pattern of concentration particularly around the City and town centres and
with less development in relatively unsustainable locations, and promote walkable
neighbourhoods. It is also considered that this should apply to the location of
general employment in appropriate locations. In this context, consideration needs to
be given to how best to successfully integrate the 20-minute neighbourhood concept
into the Leeds Local Plan and to guide the determination of planning applications
The role of the Local Plan Update is to consider how the Council’s ambition for
Leeds to be a city where you don’t need to own a car, where everyone has access to
affordable zero carbon transport options can be addressed and supported through
planning policy.
There is also an opportunity to ensure that the key principles of sustainable
development and strategic place making, supporting the Climate Emergency targets
and ambitions aligned with health and well-being and inclusive growth are further
highlighted, front and centre in the Local Plan.
Future Policy Options
Focused on strategic place making the focus of the consultation is to consider a
policy framework which either alters policies SP1 and H2, or introduces a new
strategic policy on this topic. It is not considered necessary to alter policies relating
to the making of allocations (SP6, SP7, SP10, H7, EC1 and EC2). It is considered
that the review of these policies would be best to take place when new allocations
are required.

8

Page 260

Consultation Questions
Does Leeds need a local policy definition of sustainability?
What does a ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ mean to you? Do you agree that
Leeds should aim to create 20 minute neighbourhoods?
How might planning policy support living in a City where you do not need to
own a car?
Should Leeds introduce a presumption against car dependent development aiming to encourage independent mobility, by bike, wheelchair, public
transport or on foot for all users?

9

Page 261

HIGH QUALITY, RESILIENT AND HEALTHY PLACES
Background
The vision for Leeds is to have a strong policy framework that ensures planning
policy and decisions achieve healthy, inclusive, safe, resilient and adaptable places
(spaces and buildings); that Leeds is designed to achieve a better and more
sustainable future for all, reflecting the 17 interlinked Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs).
The evidence needed on a policy for high quality and sustainable places is
qualitative however the many reports on climate mitigation and adaption return to
quality of place being central to achieving well designed places that respond to the
impacts of climate change through mitigation (reducing greenhouse gas emissions
and minimising embodied energy) and adaptation (such as rising temperatures and
increased risk of flooding).
The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) published
the National Design Guide – Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and
successful places in October 2019. This makes clear that creating high quality
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve. The guide illustrates how well-designed places that are beautiful,
enduring and successful can be achieved in practice.
In August 2020 the Government published a White Paper Consultation on Planning
Reform which introduces discussions on a radical transformation of the planning
system including recognition that “there is not enough focus on design, and little
incentive for high quality new homes and places: There is insufficient incentive within
the process to bring forward proposals that are beautiful and which will enhance the
environment, health, and character of local areas”. It further identifies that the
planning system needs a new focus on design and sustainability, with a greater
focus on ‘place making’ and ‘creation of beautiful places’.
The MHCLG have followed this with publishing (29th January 2021) their consultation
on changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The text has been
revised to implement policy changes in response to the Building Better, Building
Beautiful Commission “Living with Beauty” report1. The consultation is also seeking
views on the draft National Model Design Code, which provides detailed guidance on
the production of design codes, guides and policies to promote successful design.
The government believes “that design codes are important because they provide a
framework for creating healthy, environmentally responsive, sustainable and
distinctive places, with a consistent and high-quality standard of design. This can
1

Living with beauty: Report of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission – an Independent report on
how to promote and increase the use of high-quality design for new build homes and neighbourhoods.
Published 30 January 2020 (MHCLG)

10

Page 262

provide greater certainty for communities about the design of development and bring
conversations about design to the start of the planning process, rather than the end”.
There is also much research on the relationship between planning and good design
and health benefits (Healthy by Design, NHS England, 2018) that share the benefits
of addressing climate change (mitigation and adaption) through improvements to the
layout and form of buildings and spaces and better use of resources that has clear
physiological and psychological health benefits. This is reflected locally in the Leeds
2014 Director of Public Health Report “Planning a Healthy City: housing growth in
Leeds” which considered the detailed ways that Leeds could plan a healthy city
around housing growth reflecting on the need to connect the public health benefits of
good urban design and planning to people, place and the planning process.

Following the 2014 Planning a Healthy City report, an internal officer group of cross
departmental interests have established a Planning and Design for Health and
Wellbeing and Climate Change group looking at influencing the built environment
and has drawn together the key principles diagram above. These three principles
promote:
11

Page 263





Active neighbourhoods – promoting cycling and walking, reducing car usage
and improving children’s opportunities for independent mobility.
Better air quality and green space – using green and blue infrastructure to
provide opportunities for outdoor recreation and promote mental wellbeing.
Cohesive communities – encouraging co-located services and high quality
neighbourhood spaces to encourage social interaction and combat isolation.

With regard to the Council’s Children’s and Young People’s
Plan (2018-2023) and the vision for Leeds to be the best city in
the UK and the best city for children and young people to grow
up in (Leeds to be a child friendly city), there is much urban
design and health research2 that recognises the relationship and influences
between urban design and quality of spaces and streets on the physical,
social and cognitive development of children. It is important to consider the
design of places and spaces (such as greening streets, creating natural
play areas, providing flexible spaces and safe routes) with a focused need
to provide for family and children. Designing successful places and spaces
for children means creating spaces and places that are liveable and
inclusive and fully benefit all ages and abilities.
Leeds Local Plan has sought to provide a framework for sustainable and healthy
communities, having regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the
environment. As covered in the first part of this paper, this is achieved through a
strategic and spatial approach and policies relating to the overall scale, distribution
and location of development. Further, as will be covered in this second part of the
paper, all development proposals are subject to a suite of specific and more detailed
place making policies on the layout and fabric of places (covering design, housing,
employment, natural environment, green space/public open spaces, transport) to
achieve a layout, design and fabric efficiency which both mitigates climate change
and addresses impacts, such as flooding but also has clear physiological and
psychological benefits on health and well-being.
To that end, planning for sustainable place making is embedded within Leeds Local
Plan as part of an integrated approach. The detailed design principles of place
making reflects the origins between health and planning in the ‘Housing and Town
Planning Act of 1909’ (and subsequent re-writes) when urban planning was being
advanced to mitigate the consequences of the industrial age to provide healthy living
spaces and environments. In this context, well designed places have layouts, forms
and mix of uses that:
2

‘Cities Alive: Designing for Urban Childhoods’ published December 2017 (Arups) and ‘Housing Design for
Community Life’ published November 2016 (ZCD Architects)

12

Page 264









reduce the requirements on resources (land, energy and water) - assisting in
increasing the ability for Co2 absorption, sustaining natural ecosystems and
minimising flood risk and potential for flooding and reducing overheating and
pollution;
take advantage of typography and layout - achieving passive solar gain,
retaining and planting new trees for shade and urban heating and carbon
capture and other biodiversity opportunities such as hedgerows, green
walls/roofs and ponds and access to healthy food/food sustainability.
are fit for purpose and are adaptable - providing and linking to sustainable
transport, walking and cycling and promotion of safe walkable and accessible
for all developments and 15/20-minute neighbourhoods where daily needs are
met locally – critical not only for a low carbon and healthy future but also for
resilient places in light of the pandemic.
Design out crime (open, well lit, observable places) as this has a positive
impact on mental health and wellbeing.

Case study: Climate Innovation District - Designed by CITU Design, a sustainable property developer
committed to tackling climate change by creating better places to live, work and play. Homes are timber
framed, manufactured on site, and zero carbon. The location in a riverside setting enables a focus on
biodiversity and green sustainable travel.

Place making integrates all of these policy strands but this paper focuses only on
design and quality. For more detail on the other topics of this Local Plan Update
please refer to the other background documents on Carbon Reduction, Flood Risk,
Green Infrastructure and Sustainable Infrastructure.
Current Policy
Leeds’ current Core Strategy Policy P10 and Saved UDP policy GP5 set out the
requirements of all development to consider normal development management
considerations and design principles. These are well established and well used
13

Page 265

policies and are supplemented by detailed design guidance in the Neighbourhoods
for Living and Building for Today Tomorrow Sustainable Construction Supplementary
Planning guides.
The reasoning for Policy P10 is set out in the supporting text of the Core Strategy at
paragraph 5.3.41 and is worth repeating here:
“Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development and essential in
creating places in which current and future generations can enjoy a high
quality of life which is fulfilling and healthy. Good design goes beyond
aesthetic considerations and should address the connections between people
and places and the integration of new development into the built environment.
Design can also assist in tackling the most cross cutting issues of sustainable
development such as climate change, car dependence, community cohesion
and health and wellbeing. The vast majority of people who live and work in the
Leeds City Region do so in an urban environment. Their quality of life
depends heavily upon the quality of their environment. In order to continue its
economic success in a sustainable manner, and in order to achieve its aim of
being the Best City in the UK by 2030, Leeds must build upon and retain the
high quality of its built, historic and natural environment”.
In line with the NPPF the determination of planning applications needs to be
considered against the Development Plan and all development control
considerations. As such Saved Policy GP5 (UDP, 2006) sets out a high level and
general policy against which all development is to be assessed. This provides the
relevant policy hooks to other parts of the Local plan on matters such as acceptable
provision of vehicular access, surface and foul water sewer disposal, car parking,
greenspace, landscape and detailed design considerations.
The Core Strategy further sets out detailed policies as to the mix, type (older peoples
accommodation; Gypsy and Traveller accommodation) density, affordability and
space standards of new homes, alongside greenspace and green and blue
infrastructure, connectivity and accessibility which when read together help to inform
and shape ‘place making’.
Rational for an enhanced Policy Framework
Policy P10 whilst embedding strong place making principles lacks strategic weight
and there are clear opportunities to strengthen and heighten the signposting to other
technical implementation policies that have a clear cross-over (i.e. green space;
green infrastructure (green and blue); accessibility; space standards, energy and
resources). Current policy also lacks explicit referencing to health and well-being and
climate emergency.
It is not proposed that this Local Plan Update considers the current Core Strategy
Policies on mix, type (older people’s accommodation; Gypsy and Traveller
accommodation) density, affordability and space standards of new homes. However
please refer to the separate topic papers on Carbon Reduction, Flood Risk, Green

14

Page 266

Infrastructure and Sustainable Infrastructure which all integrate into good ‘place
making’.
Future Policy Options
Local Plan Update options include rewriting policy P10 to provide the relevant
signposting to other (existing and proposed) Leeds Local Plan technical
implementation policies and provide heighted references to “health and well-being”,
“climate change”, “high quality place making” and “sustainable active travel”. The
alternative is the introduction of a new strategic policy to provide a stronger hook for
design and place making upfront in the Local Plan, whilst also championing the
importance of 20-minute neighbourhoods, linked with the opportunity to relook at
Policy SP1 and H2 and T2 under Strategic Place-making. There is also the
opportunity to integrate Saved Policy GP5, thus helping to simplify the Local Plan
and the number of policies.
The Local Plan Update provides the opportunity to ensure that the principles of place
making are front and centre in the Local Plan and underpin all the thematic/technical
policies.
Consultation Questions
Question: How would you priorities these users of residential streets, in order
of importance? Busses, Cars, Cyclists, Pedestrians (including wheelchair
users).
Question: Do you agree that more emphasis should be placed on climate
change and health and wellbeing matters in future design policies and
guidance? If so, how would you like to see this happen?

15

Page 267

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 269

1

Sustainable Infrastructure Topic Paper
Introduction to the Topic
This topic paper covers a specific range of different types of infrastructure which all
have a role to play in supporting sustainable development and responding to the
climate emergency. This includes transport infrastructure, considering the proposed
High Speed 2 and West Yorkshire Mass Transit schemes, as well as the growth of
Leeds City Station and Leeds Bradford Airport. It also considers digital infrastructure,
and access to reliable and high speed data networks. Whilst there are other types of
infrastructure including health and education, these are not proposed to form a part of
this LPU because they are not directly provided by the Council or housebuilders, are
for the market to deliver or they are covered by existing policy.
For each topic, general background is provided, and the current policy position is
outlined. The reasons that we are considering enhancing the planning framework
relating to these types of infrastructure, and what a policy could potentially address, is
then identified. This includes:


Leeds Station and HS2: preparing for and maximising the benefits that the
national High Speed 2 rail infrastructure project may bring to the City should it
be built. This includes shaping the development of Leeds Station, integrating
the HS2 line into our city and seeking opportunities for new green and public
spaces to be created alongside HS2;



Mass Transit: preparing for any mass transit system that is provided in Leeds
so that it can align with wider spatial priorities and deliver wider benefits;



Leeds Bradford Airport: managing the development of Leeds Bradford Airport
and access to it in a sustainable manner;



Digital Connectivity: supporting reliable, high-speed data at work, home and
whilst on the move, so that Leeds is a modern, resilient and efficient economy
which can support increased remote working;

Consultation questions for each topic are then set out. These aim to gain insight into
the views of residents, businesses and other interested parties about the proposals
and what future planning policy should do or say.
As we are at an early stage in the plan making process, the level of detail provided on
each topic varies. This reflects that some of the infrastructure schemes that the
policies proposed to respond to – such as High Speed 2 and the growth and
development of Leeds Station – have been in preparation for a number of years, and
so more detailed information about the proposals (and the potential role of planning
policy) is known. Other proposals – such as for Mass Transit – are at a much earlier
stage of development, and specific details are still being worked on.
It is important to recognise that some of the schemes that the topics in this paper
respond to are being advanced by organisations other than Leeds City Council. For
example High Speed 2 is being driven forward by central government, and the Mass
Transit scheme is led by West Yorkshire Combined Authority. This consultation is not
about getting views on the principle of these schemes in themselves, but about how
they should be addressed or responded through new or revised planning policies.
2

Page 270

Leeds Station and HS2
Background
The railway network is hugely important for Leeds’ economy and the decarbonising of
transport. Over the next two decades Leeds Station, which is already the busiest in
the north of England, is expected to see passenger numbers double as more people
choose to travel by more sustainable modes of transport. We will also see substantial
investment being made into our railway infrastructure, with the High Speed 2 (HS2)
and Northern Powerhouse Rail schemes having the potential to transform our intercity
connections.
The Planning System will have an important role to play in supporting this change by
helping to guide and manage the implications that it has for buildings and the use of
land, so that the benefits are maximised and any potential adverse impacts are limited.
This paper sets out some initial
ideas about how we might
introduce a new planning policy
for Leeds that responds to this. It
focusses particularly on the
redevelopment of Leeds Station
and on the implications that HS2
would have for the use of land
under and around the line, as this
is where we think that there is a
particular need to enhance and
strengthen the planning policy
framework.
There is currently some uncertainty about which combination of rail network
improvements the Government will prioritise for funding, including which aspects of
Northern Powerhouse Rail will be taken forward and whether the HS2 network will
reach Leeds. However, despite this, we believe that it is important for us to consider
the implications that the different options may have in terms of land use and planning
policy requirements now. This is to make sure that we are on the ‘front-foot’ when
these decisions are made by Government, and can quickly respond by getting the
necessary policies into place as part of the Local Plan update. This will mean that we
are in the best position to maximise the benefits that investment in the rail network and
station presents for Leeds, and to minimise any potential adverse impacts that it could
have.

What is proposed at Leeds Station?
To accommodate the predicted doubling of passenger numbers at Leeds Station
significant investment and development is going to be required. This will be phased
over a number of years to ensure that the station can continue to function throughout
the construction work. To make sure that all of the different phases of development
3

Page 271

work together to respond to all the various opportunities and challenges that the
redevelopment presents, a Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan (LISM) has been
prepared1. This outlines proposals for a £500m development that will create a new
station campus. It aims to improve the experience of everyone using the station by
increasing pedestrian capacity, supporting the regeneration of the South Bank, and
incorporating the High Speed Two (HS2), Transpennine Upgrade (TRU) and Northern
Powerhouse Rail (NPR) improvements. It will also create opportunities for significant
new commercial and residential development in the centre of Leeds.
In October 2020 planning permission was granted2 for various improvements and
alterations to the station. This enables the creation of a fully accessible multi-modal
transport hub, with free flowing pedestrian movement out of the station to the city
centre and wider city areas. It involves various improvements to the arrival space to
the front of the station, which reduces the flow of vehicular traffic, improves
connectivity and creates a safer and more welcoming environment for pedestrians and
cyclists using the station and adjacent streets. It also includes the creation of a new
purpose built taxi shelter, and environmental enhancements to the area under the
Neville Street Bridge and along Dark Neville Street to make these places feel safer
and more attractive for users.
Further applications are expected to come forward in the future, to enable the delivery
of additional improvements to the station and to increase its capacity.

What is HS2 and how will it be granted consent?

1

https://southbankleeds.co.uk/assets/documents/2017.11.03‐Leeds‐Integrated‐Station‐Masterplan‐LR‐v6‐
DS.pdf
2
Application reference no. 20/02048/FU

4

Page 272

High Speed 2 (HS2) is a new high speed rail line proposed by the Government to link
London to Leeds, Birmingham and Manchester. It will serve over 25 stations,
connecting around 30 million people. By enabling fast trains to travel on their own
dedicated tracks, it will free up space on the existing lines for increased commuter and
freight services. In doing so HS2 aims to support the transition to a net zero carbon
economy, by providing greater opportunities for people to travel by lower carbon forms
of transport.
It is proposed that the HS2 line will be delivered in three phases:




Phase 1: linking London to Birmingham
Phase 2a: linking Birmingham to Crewe
Phase 2b: split into two legs, with the western leg connecting Crewe to
Manchester and the eastern leg connecting Birmingham to Leeds.

The new HS2 lines will connect with the existing rail network, enabling HS2 services
to run onwards on existing lines, and will also be integrated with other rail
investments including Northern Powerhouse Rail and Midlands Engine Rail.

Figure 1 – HS2 route map
Within Leeds, it is proposed3 that the HS2 rail line will enter the district from the South
close to M62 J31, with the line of the route splitting to the south east of Oulton. The
Leeds spur will enter a tunnel under Woodlesford, before continuing on a viaduct
through Stourton and Hunslet and arriving into a new, integrated train station which is
connected to the existing station by a common concourse. The mainline continues
north between Woodlesford and Swillington, including a 2km viaduct over the River
Aire, and then to the north of Garforth before continuing on to Church Fenton. A rolling
stock depot (RSD) is proposed in the Temple Green area (part of the Leeds Enterprise
Zone), immediately adjoining the western side of the M1.

3

This is based on the route plans published as part of the consultation on the Working Draft Environmental
Statement in October 2018, read alongside the revisions made as part of the Design Refinement Consultation
in July 2019 and the update to the safeguarding area boundary published in July 2020.

5

Page 273

Progress on the eastern leg of Phase 2b (which is the part of the line that will travel to
Leeds) is currently paused pending the publication, by the Government, of an
Integrated Rail Plan for the North and the Midlands. This is expected to be published
in 2021.
HS2 is being driven forward by central government. To do this, the Government has
established HS2 Ltd, a non-departmental public body, who are responsible for
overseeing the development and operation of HS2. HS2 Ltd are funded by the
Secretary of State for Transport and are sponsored by the Department for Transport
(DfT). They are responsible for deciding the route of the line, preparing all the evidence
base studies and assessments underpinning the proposals, seeking the necessary
approvals for the scheme and then managing its construction and operation.
Due to the scale of the HS2 project, and the range of statutory powers and
authorisations that a project of its size and complexity requires, the Government
intends to grant planning permission (and the other necessary approvals) for the
construction and operation of HS2 through hybrid Bills. A hybrid Bill is set of proposals
for introducing new laws, or changing exiting ones, that address both public and
private matters. They are generally used to secure powers to construct and operate
major infrastructure projects of national importance, for example the Channel Tunnel
Rail Link and Crossrail.
The route and form of the HS2 route, the measures to be taken to minimise or offset
any adverse impacts associated with the construction or operation of the line, and the
location, boundaries and heights of the new HS2 part of Leeds Station will all agreed
through the hybrid Bill. Through the hybrid Bill, HS2 Ltd will also be given powers to;







operate and maintain HS2 and its associated works;
compulsorily acquire interests in the land required;
affect or change rights of way, including stopping up or diverting highways and
waterways (permanently or temporarily);
modify infrastructure belonging to other organisations (like utility companies);
carry out work on listed buildings and demolish buildings in Conservation Areas;
and
carry out protective works to buildings and third-party infrastructure.

The planning consent provided by the hybrid Bill is, broadly speaking, similar to an
outline planning permission. Leeds City Council will not have any authority over
determining the above matters.
What role does Leeds City Council have in planning HS2?
As outlined above, HS2 is being led by HS2 Ltd and will be decided on by central
government through the hybrid Bill process. Over the last few years we have been
actively engaging with DfT and HS2 Ltd to try and secure a scheme design which
minimises impacts on our communities, businesses and the environment, and

6

Page 274

maximises the economic and regeneration opportunities it presents for us. This has
included;





Responding to the HS2 Phase 2 route announcement in 2013 and securing
subsequent changes to the design, including an integrated station design and
a tunnel rather than viaduct design through Woodlesford,
Responding to HS2’s consultation on the Working Draft Environmental
Statement for HS2 (WDES) in December 2018;
Responding to the DfT’s consultation on the design refinement in September
2019, which revised the plans to propose a viaduct based scheme between
Woodlesford and Leeds Station.

As part of this, we have sought a number of changes to the HS2 plans, which we hope
will be addressed through the final proposals for the line that will be set out in the
hybrid Bill.
In the event that HS2 does not make all of the changes or requests we ask when the
Bill when it is submitted to Government, there will be a further opportunity for us (and
any other interested residents or stakeholders) to respond to a public consultation on
the Environment Statement supporting the Bill. We (and other interested parties) will
also be able to petition and seek amendments to be made as the Bill makes its way
through Parliament. This gives us the opportunity to make the case to the Select
Committee responsible for considering the Bill about why we consider amendments
are necessary.
The consent granted by the hybrid Bill is, broadly speaking, similar to an outline
planning permission. As part of the Bill, Local Planning Authorities can opt to become
a ‘Qualifying Authority’ which has limited powers to approve detailed matters related
to the scheme. It is expected that we (Leeds City Council) would opt to become a
Qualifying Authority.
The issues that we would be able to consider when determining applications for
detailed elements of the scheme would be likely to include whether the works ought
to be modified to preserve the local environment or local amenity, prevent prejudicial
effects on the free flow of traffic, or preserve a site or archaeological or historic interest
or nature conservation value. It is important to note, however, that refusals can only
be justified where the development could reasonably be carried out within the
boundary of the scheme as set out in the Hybrid Bill.
The Council will also have direct responsibility for managing non-HS2 development
under and around the HS2 line (before, during and after construction of HS2). These
applications will be considered through the ‘usual’ planning application process
overseen by Leeds City Council, with HS2 Ltd being consulted on the application
where appropriate.

Vision

7

Page 275

We want to support the role of Leeds Station as key part of the City Centre. We want
to see it redeveloped to make the most of the potential it holds to enhance the
experience of those using the station, incorporating the new HS2 line and Northern
Powerhouse Rail upgrades and supporting the expected growth in the number of
passengers choosing to use more sustainable forms of transport. We want to see the
station form a ‘world class’ and welcoming entrance to our City, which improves
connectivity north-south and east-west across the city centre, and complements the
offer of the rest of the City Centre and the South Bank. We want the energy efficiency
of the station to be maximised, in line with our overarching objective to address the
climate emergency.
We want to ensure that the potential social, environmental and economic benefits of
HS2 for Leeds, and the areas and communities around the line, are capitalised on,
and that any potential adverse impacts are avoided wherever possible, and minimised
or mitigated where not. We want to use the planning system to help support this where
possible, recognising that consent for the HS2 line itself would be granted through the
hybrid Bill process.
We know that to enable the construction of the HS2 line, land along and surrounding
the proposed route would be acquired by HS2 Ltd and cleared. Once the construction
phase is complete, this land would no longer be required by HS2 Ltd. We also know
that the HS2 line is proposed to travel along a viaduct between Woodlesford and Leeds
City Centre. We want to ensure that, when the HS2 line is in operation, best use is
made of the land under and surrounding the line. In some areas, this could see the
land reverting to its previous use, but in others (particularly in the urban area between
Stourton and the City Centre) it could include re-designating it as development land,
as land for public space and recreation, for landscaping and ecological enhancements,
to provide pedestrian, cycling and vehicular connections, or for uses associated with
the operation of the railways. We want all of these uses to integrate well into the
surrounding area, supporting regeneration and connecting to, complementing and
enhancing our existing green infrastructure and transport networks.
The development of the HS2 line may affect sites which are allocated for development,
or which are currently in use by businesses. We want to ensure that the creation of
the HS2 line does not adversely affect the ability of Leeds to meet our city-wide needs
for employment land, and ensure that provision is made to meet changing needs and
displacement impacts.
We have an aspiration for a pedestrian and cycle link to be created along the full length
of the HS2 line, though we recognise that in some locations this may be technically
challenging. We also want to ensure that the development associated with HS2 and
Leeds Station minimises any risk of flooding, with sustainable urban drainage systems
that reduce run off and improve water quality to any receiving water courses or sewers.
In addition, we would like heritage assets along the HS2 corridor to be protected and
enhanced, and for opportunities for their sustainable use and re-use to be taken.
We know that the construction of HS2 would be likely to take around 10 years. As not
all of the land within the construction boundary is likely to be used consistently
throughout this period, we would like to see temporary ‘meanwhile’ uses take place.
8

Page 276

This could include a range of temporary greening measures, cultural, community or
commercial uses occur around the line, which help to keep the area attractive and
vibrant during the construction phase.

Current Policy Position
Leeds Station is mentioned on multiple occasions within existing policy documents
(including the Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plan and Aire Valley Leeds AAP). The
important role of the station as a regional transport hub is recognised and supported.
However, there is no specific policy to guide the future development of the station.
HS2 is referenced in the Core Strategy, SAP and Aire Valley Leeds AAP. The
indicative route is shown on the Core Strategy Key Diagram, and support to the
scheme in principle is given by Spatial Policy 12(i). Through the preparation of the
AAP and SAP efforts were made to ensure that policies, allocations and designations
do not conflict with the safeguarded area of HS2. However, timing of all of these
documents meant that plans for HS2 were not sufficiently advanced to enable it to be
considered in detail. The South Bank Leeds Regeneration Framework SPD does
contain some guidance relating to the HS2 element of Leeds Station and the
integration of the line into the city, but this only covers the South Bank area and does
not have full weight as policy.

Rationale for Enhanced Policy Framework

9

Page 277

Leeds Station
The existing references to Leeds Station in our Local Plan documents do not
specifically recognise or reflect the extent and scale of change that is now proposed
at the station to increase its capacity, incorporate rail infrastructure improvements and
enhance the user experience. They also do not recognise the potential for significant
new commercial floorspace to be created as part of these works. Furthermore, the
redevelopment
and
expansion
of
the
station will be phased
over a number of
years. This will make it
particularly important
for all schemes for
development in and
around the station
work
together
to
achieve the overall
ambitions
for
the
transformed
Integrated
Station.
Whilst the South Bank Leeds Regeneration Framework SPD does include some
masterplanning principles for the Integrated Station, these do not have full weight as
policy. Enhancing the policy framework for the station would help support the delivery
of our vision and maximise the potential benefits associated with the redevelopment
of the station for the City, and the wider sub-region.
HS2
The hybrid Bill for HS2 will be focussed on the construction and operation of the railway
infrastructure, and the measures to mitigate or compensate for adverse impacts. It will
not include the development of any residual land following construction, or integration
into surrounding areas outside of the red line boundary. This leaves a gap which could
make the delivery of our vision more challenging, particularly in the urban area where
the line and viaduct will have many implications for buildings and the use of land.
It is considered that the potential benefits of strengthening the planning policy
framework relating to HS2 are twofold:
1) It would ensure that the Council is the best position to manage the
consequential development / land use implications that result from HS2 through
the planning process. This will ensure that proposals, particularly in the urban
areas where HS2 will open up new brownfield development opportunities
and/or the potential for changes in land use, relate well to wider regeneration
plans and support key council strategies and priorities. It also provides the
opportunity to secure appropriate mitigation for the scheme (which may go
beyond that currently proposed by HS2 Ltd). This will help to maximise the
10

Page 278

potential benefits associated with HS2, and minimise any potential adverse
impacts.
2) It would provide a clear statement of the aspirations and expectations of Leeds
City Council in relation to the detailed design and construction of HS2, with
particular regard to its integration into the City. Whilst planning policy
documents will not hold the same statutory weight in the hybrid Bill process as
they do in the planning application process, they nonetheless would be a
relevant consideration that could be signposted to in responding to any future
consultations on HS2 and/or the petitioning process to support the Council’s
case.

Proposed policy options
At this stage, we are looking at creating a new Core Strategy policy, which creates a
high level framework for considering proposals that are relevant to the development
of the station and HS2. The specific implications that HS2 it has for particular sites
(including the need for any new or revised allocations) would be addressed in due
course, through the review processes for the AVLAAP and SAP. The phasing of this
work reflects that it is likely to be a number of years before any sites affected by the
HS2 line would become available for (re)development, and so allocations are not a
necessity at the current point
in time. This will also
minimise the potential for
abortive work if changes are
made to the HS2 scheme.
In the future, we could also
look to prepare further
guidance that supports the
integration of HS2 into the
urban fabric of Leeds. This
could provide more detailed
information
about
the
opportunities,
aspirations
and expectations for development in particular areas / specific plots under and around
the line, and how they relate to the regeneration and development plans for the wider
area.
There are a number of options about what a strategic policy on Leeds Station and HS2
could address. This includes;
1) Leeds Station – it could provide support for the growth and development of the
station. As part of this, it could give formal weight to the design principles that
have been devised to guide its development and ensure the redevelopment of
the existing station, and the new HS2 station, come together to form a single
11

Page 279

integrated station. It could highlight the importance of improving access through
the station to enhance connectivity and permeability, including through the
provision of a second southern entrance. It could also indicate how much new
floorspace might be likely to be developed at the station, the uses that would
be appropriate, and the importance of this complementing the offer of the wider
City Centre and South Bank.
2) Development opportunities – it could identify the types of uses that would be
appropriate alongside (or under) different parts of the new HS2 line, recognising
that uses suitable around the Station may be likely to differ those which are
appropriate in Hunslet or in Stourton. It could also highlight the importance of
taking opportunities to protect and enhance heritage assets along the rail
corridor through their sustainable re-use and ensuring that surrounding
development is sensitive to their presence.
3) Integration with the Green Space network – it could emphasise the
importance of any new public spaces created alongside or underneath the HS2
line complementing and connecting into the city’s existing green space network.
There may be an opportunity for a new public park to be developed in Stourton,
which incorporates the drainage and flood alleviation infrastructure that will be
needed for the proposed HS2 Rolling Stock Depot, and this could be given
specific support through the policy. The policy could also provide specific
support for the expansion for Rothwell Country Park and Water Haigh
Woodland Park, which we know would be adversely impacted by the
construction of the HS2 line and their expansion could help to sure a long term
benefit.
4) Maximising the potential contribution to addressing climate change – it
could highlight the importance of any new buildings (such as the HS2 element
of the station and the Rolling Stock Depot) being built to high standards of
energy efficiency. It could also support the provision of new Green Infrastructure
under and around the HS2 line, additional tree planting, and the provision of
flood alleviation and sustainable urban drainage measures.
5) Pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes – it could outline the importance of
supporting and enhancing permeability as part of HS2 by protecting and
enhancing existing public rights of ways and bridleways wherever possible, and
of ensuring that new pedestrian and cycle routes are created alongside (and
across) the rail corridor which connect to and complement the wider network.
6) Temporary ‘meanwhile’ uses – it could encourage temporary greening
measures or cultural, community and commercial uses of land within the HS2
construction boundary in periods where it is not actively required for
construction purposes, to help keep these areas attractive and vibrant during
the long construction phase.

12

Page 280

If the plans for the eastern leg of HS2 (which would connect Birmingham to Leeds) are
significantly altered or are not progressed by the Government this would have
implications for the scope of this policy. However, even in the absence of HS2, it is
considered that there could still be a role for a policy which focussed specifically on
guiding and shaping the development of Leeds Station, and any associated works
needed as part of delivering Northern Powerhouse Rail or any other rail network
investments.
Questions for consultation
1. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include a new policy on
Leeds Station and HS2?
2. If so, what are you views on the suggestion that this policy could focus
on Leeds Station, development opportunities, integration with the Green
Space network, climate change, pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes
and temporary uses?

Whilst we think this policy is important, and will help to strength our position in
steering development at Leeds Station and responding to the implications that HS2
will have for Leeds, it is important to recognise the limitations that this policy would
have.
As explained in the background section of this paper, HS2 is a project of central
government and is being delivered by HS2 Ltd. Permission for it will be sought
through Parliament, though the hybrid Bill process. As a result this, consultation is
focussed solely on the principle of creating a planning policy in Leeds which
focusses on the growth and development of Leeds Station, and the implications that
HS2 would have for the use of land under and surrounding the line. The consultation
does not provide an opportunity to debate the principle of creating HS2 in the first
place, the line of the route or the mitigation measures that HS2 Ltd are proposing (or
any details about the scheme itself). This lies out of the control of Leeds City
Council, and so such comments would need to be directed towards HS2 Ltd and the
government.

13

Page 281

Mass Transit
Background
The draft Leeds Transport Strategy sets out a vision for Leeds to be a city where you
don’t need a car and where everyone has an affordable zero carbon choice in how
they travel. It acknowledges that a significant number of new jobs are forecasted in
Leeds City Centre over the next 10-15 years, and that this will put extra pressure on
the already heavily congested transport system. If transport capacity is insufficient,
not everyone will be able to access the employment opportunities in the City, which
in turn could constrain city centre employment and development. There is also a vital
need to respond to the Climate Emergency declaration by reducing transport related
emissions across the city.
Investment in public transport infrastructure capacity can help address these issues.
The draft Leeds Transport Strategy sets a vision for a fully integrated low carbon
transport network. It aligns with the wider vision of the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority (WYCA) for a modern, integrated transport system for West Yorkshire. It is
proposed this will include improved walking, cycling, bus and rail networks alongside
a new ‘Mass Transit’ network. ‘Mass Transit’ is the term used to describe a largescale public transport system, which typically uses modern high capacity buses,
trams and tram-train vehicles (or a combination of these). The vision of the West
Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) is that Mass Transit can fill the gap in public
transport provision between bus services and heavy rail, adding capacity to the key
corridors within the city region, making it easier for more people to access more jobs.
A city region mass transit solution will deliver the right blend of technology, priority
and capacity to move high volumes of people in the parts of our transport network
where demand is greatest. This is a crucial missing element of our transport
investment pipeline for corridors where heavy rail is not an option and the capacity of
bus network solutions is insufficient. It also has the potential to help support
regeneration, with the increased ease of movement helping to deliver wider benefits
to the areas on the route. As such, Mass Transit can support the region’s aims of
raising productivity, delivering inclusive growth, and addressing the climate
emergency through clean growth and a low carbon transport future, all of which are
underpinned by a 21st Century transport system.
Plans for Mass Transit are still at an early stage, but WYCA has made clear that it
will play a crucial role in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and improving air
quality for the region, primarily by being low emission and providing a sustainable
alternative to the private car. Construction is estimated to begin in the mid-2020s,
and will take place in phases, with a target completion date for all phases by 2040.
Further details on the scheme can be found in WYCA’s Connectivity Infrastructure
Plan and Mass Transit Vision 2040.
For clarity it is not for the Leeds Local Plan to approve Mass Transit in principle or its
detailed routes. It is not the purpose of this consultation to seek your views on that
principle or those detailed routes, as the Local Plan is not the mechanism for
deciding on those matters. However, for the reasons set out below it is considered
that there is merit in the Local Plan Update including a policy on Mass Transit.
14

Page 282

Current Policy Position
There are currently no policies on Mass Transit within the Leeds Local Plan. Whilst
the adopted Core Strategy makes reference to NGT (New Generation Transport), a
trolleybus scheme for Leeds, this proposal did not proceed. Mass Transit is a
different scheme, designed and promoted by the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority, at a regional level.

Rationale for Enhanced Policy Framework
Whilst Mass Transit is not a planning initiative it is considered important that up to
date local policy is in place to ensure that Mass Transit can be delivered effectively.
It will also be important that the other associated benefits it may present to places
along the route are capitalised on, including through its integration with the green
space network, future developments, and pedestrian and cycle routes.

Possible Policy Options
The Local Plan Update could contain a policy that sets out strategic support for the
scheme, and that also seeks to ensure that important aspects such as biodiversity,
greenspace, active travel and Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are integrated
into the scheme. It could identify key principles to support the realisation of wider
benefits of the route to the places along the line. One the detailed route of the Mass
Transit network has been determined by WYCA, there is also the potential for the
Local Plan Update to protect the detailed route of Mass Transit in Leeds from other
uses, as developments built on or next to the line could impede its delivery.

Questions for consultation
3. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include policy on Mass
Transit? If so, what elements of the scheme would you like to see new
planning policy focus on?

15

Page 283

Leeds Bradford Airport
Background
Leeds Bradford Airport (LBA) is located in north-west Leeds close to the settlements
of Horsforth, Yeadon and Rawdon.
As a regional airport, LBA provides a significant role to the Leeds City Region and the
City. It acts as an international gateway and forms a key part of our strategic and
economic infrastructure.
The Council’s current policy, adopted in 2014, encourages a well-connected and
accessible airport by sustainable forms of transport and surface access improvements
to manage development at the airport and address environmental impacts such as
carbon emissions arising from buildings and access to the airport. Whilst the airport
is within the Green Belt the current approach is to manage airport related development
within a defined Airport Operational Land Boundary.
Following the declaration of a Climate Emergency in 2019, the Council recognised4
that:





global emissions arising from aviation are significant and damaging to the
environment
planned increases to aviation in the national strategy over the next ten years
will see a rise in emissions that will not be addressed by improvements to fuel
efficiency or technology and that offsetting to compensate for the rise in
emissions will not be sufficient
aviation growth and meeting zero carbon targets are fundamentally
incompatible until such time as new technologies are developed

The Council also recognises the contribution that the local airport makes to the local
economy and the thousands of jobs, directly and indirectly, dependent on it along with
the benefits that international travel brings, both for business and the individual.


Leeds Bradford airport is the 15th busiest airport in the country. In 2016 all
airports in the UK contributed 37.3 million tonnes of Carbon Dioxide (mtCO2)
through domestic and international flights. LBA flights contributed to 0.2
mtCO2. This compares to Heathrow (19.5 mtCO2) and Manchester (3.2
mtCO2)

Most of the passengers from Leeds and the wider region currently choose to fly from
other airports, so managing carbon emissions from flights at Leeds Bradford Airport
alone will not control total aviation emissions generated by the city’s population.
Against this background we are mindful of the challenges of Leeds committing to an
airport strategy, in the absence of a national strategy that takes a holistic approach
covering all UK airports. Therefore the Council has asked Government to:



set an ambitious national aviation strategy that integrates aviation into the
national carbon roadmap;
create a level playing field for all national and regional airports;

4

At a report to Leeds Executive Board 7th January 2020
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s198403/Climate%20Emergency%20Cover%20Report%20191219.
pdf

16

Page 284



invest in rail to provide realistic alternatives to flying for domestic and European
flights (questions on planning for rail infrastructure are set out elsewhere in this
Topic Paper).

In light of this challenging national context, at this early stage of the Local Plan Update
we are seeking views from stakeholders on whether policies relating to the airport
should be within the scope of the Local Plan Update and what issues an updated policy
might address. In particular, we wish to explore whether our existing policies help to
support the airport’s role as a positive international gateway, striking the right balance
between principles of environmental, economic and social sustainability.
Within this review it will be important to be guided by current and emerging national
guidance on airport development.
As you may be aware, Leeds Bradford Airport have recently submitted a planning
application for a new terminal building and associated flight regimes, which the Council
moved to approve in principle on the 11th February 2021, subject to planning
conditions. This application was assessed against existing Local Plan policy and other
material considerations. However, this Local Plan Update process is a separate
planning process to the planning application, and will guide the long term future of the
airport not the current planning application. Consequently the focus of any response
ought not to be concerned with those matters detailed in the recent planning
application, but rather should focus on the future of the Airport post-completion of the
development already outlined.
Current Policy Position
The current Aviation Policy Framework (2013) sets out the Government’s objectives
and principles to guide plans and decisions at the local and regional level. The
Government’s objectives are that airports:




help achieve long-term economic growth, recognising that the aviation sector is
a major contributor to the economy.
need to balance the benefits of aviation and its costs, particularly its contribution
to climate change and noise
can grow so long as they address specific local impacts on a case by case basis

The Government’s approach to climate emissions from flights is for action at a global
level as the best means of securing reductions in carbon from flights. Indeed, the
Climate Change Act (2008) does not include international aviation emissions in the
carbon reduction target set by the act.
Government is in the process of replacing the Aviation Policy Framework (2013) and
the consultation document Aviation 2050: The Future of UK Aviation (Consultation
2018) considers emerging national policy. The consultation ended in April 2019. The
Government signals support for the growth of aviation and the benefits delivered,
provided the growth takes place in a sustainable way, with actions to mitigate the
environmental impacts. Regional growth and connectivity is supported and the
document says:
“The Government is supportive of airports beyond Heathrow making best use
of their existing runways, subject to proposals being assessed in light of
environmental and economic impacts.” (para.4.3).
17

Page 285

The Leeds Local Plan already contains a policy (SP12 of the Core Strategy) on the
airport which is supportive of growth to enable the airport to fulfil its local and regional
role, provided that a series of criteria would be met. These criteria address a need for
major public transport infrastructure, surface access improvements and a strategy to
guide this, environmental assessment and mitigation and management of local issues.
Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
In considering whether the policy should be within scope of the Local Plan Update and
what elements may be its focus the following issues are relevant:


Environmental impacts and mitigation
o noise impacts
o air quality
o landscape
o carbon emissions from surface access (mainly by cars driving to the
airport)



Public Transport Infrastructure
o surface access to and from the airport by sustainable travel options
o the prospective rail halt



Strategic Role
o the role of LBA in Leeds and the wider region.
o Connecting Leeds to a variety of international business and leisure
destinations.
o Inward investment and economic benefits derived through the airport



The local area
o the relationship of the airport with its nearest local communities

Consultation Questions
5. Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should contain new or updated
policies for Leeds Bradford Airport? If so, do you have any views on what
new or updated policies should contain?
6. National policy refers to the importance of achieving sustainable development
in environmental, economic and social terms. Should changes be made to
airport policies within the Local Plan Update to improve the balance between
these three aspects of sustainability?

18

Page 286

Digital Connectivity
Background
The Council has articulated an ambition to deliver wider digital connectivity benefits
for the city as a whole with an ambition to have the best connectivity in the UK for all
across the district, to be able to access gigabit capable services. Access to reliable,
high-speed connectivity will allow people to work from home more easily and will give
homes fast and reliable connections. One in five new-build homes are still being built
without gigabit-speed connections nationwide. A range of evidence shows direct
benefits from improved digital connectivity, including large increases in download
speeds leading to more productive economic activity. Wider potential impacts are in
areas such as remote healthcare, education, travel and transport, and wellbeing,
including loneliness.
The provision of ‘Sustainable Infrastructure’ is an important Leeds Best City priority,
and this includes the provision of digital infrastructure and increasing digital inclusion.
This also aligns with the Council’s inclusive growth ambitions to bring a choice of
connectivity types and providers to residents in Leeds. The Covid-19 Pandemic has in
particular highlighted the essential need for digital infrastructure, with increasing
reliance on remote working, remote communication to include home schooling, online
shopping and other services. Digital Connectivity in terms of gigabit connection is now
seen as essential infrastructure to facilitate the services and facilities which are now
an integral part of our lives.
The Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy also identifies Leeds as a digital city in particular
promoting and growing the digital sector. The Strategy recognises that digital
connectivity is an essential part of the modern economy and increasingly people are
working in more flexible ways and that a smart digital city provides one solution to
congestion and other challenges. Greater digital infrastructure coverage also
increases social inclusion and equality by underpinning wider accessibility for all.
Current Policy Position
The National Infrastructure Strategy (NIS) (November 2020), sets out a plan for longterm investment in the UK’s infrastructure. The government is working with industry to
target a minimum of 85% gigabit capable coverage by 2025, but will seek to accelerate
roll-out further to get as close to 100% as possible, this proposed policy helps to
achieve that target.
National Planning Guidance is supportive of improving digital connectivity. Paragraphs
112 and 113 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) set out support for
improved connectivity. In particular the guidance sets out that (para 112) that
‘Advanced, high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is essential for
economic growth and social well-being’, and that ‘Planning policies and decisions
should support the expansion of electronic communications networks’. Also the NPPF
recognises that Policies should set out how high quality digital infrastructure, providing
access to services from a range of providers, is expected to be delivered and upgraded
over time; and should prioritise full fibre connections to existing and new
developments.’
On the 17th March 2020 the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport
announced that the government will legislate to make sure new-build homes come
19

Page 287

with gigabit-speed broadband fit for the future. The move will mean developers will be
legally required to install high-quality digital infrastructure from the outset, make it a
priority as part of the build, and ensure broadband companies are on board. It is
anticipated that the government will amend building regulations to support gigabit
broadband and housing developers to work with network operators. The details and
scope of this are awaited, it not yet known what level of provision may come out of this
announcement or when this would be applicable.
It is also important to recognise that existing permitted development rights largely for
mobile phone coverage, are wide ranging and it is likely these will be further widened
in the future.
The Leeds Core Strategy sets out local planning policies. The Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 8 (SP8): Economic Development Priorities provides general support for high
quality communications as below;
SP8(ix) Support the advancement of high quality communications infrastructure to
foster sustainable economic growth and to enhance business links subject to
landscape, townscape and amenity considerations
Policy SP8 is supportive of high quality communications infrastructure however a new
single complementary policy which sets out a requirement for new build housing for
new developments is required to ensure that digital infrastructure is considered,
designed and provided sympathetically and early as part of site development.
In addition Leeds City Council is committed to the provision of digital connectivity.
Executive Board in December 2019 agreed the Full Fibre Network Programme for
Leeds to go through a new procurement process for a partner to build and deliver full
fibre connectivity to ensure the provision of the greatest amount of coverage, coupled
with the opportunity to extend connectivity further with commercial investment within
LCC’s financial envelope. Development of a gigabit capable network provides the
Council with an opportunity to influence the digital infrastructure position of the city
which will have positive effects for businesses and residents across the district.
Rationale for enhancing the planning policy framework.
It is considered that there are benefits to introducing new policy for digital connectivity
to focus on providing digital connectivity for new sites and new developments only.
A new policy could provide a policy hook to ensure that developers are incentivised to
provide gigabit capable new housing. The benefits of this would be that; (i) we are
providing housing which is meeting the needs of our modern lives, (ii) new housing is
designed and built with good gigabit connectivity from the outset, (iii) new housing is
not retrofitted later with digital connectivity provision, (iv) to future proof new housing,
(v) to ensure that digital infrastructure is sympathetically designed as part of site
development as essential infrastructure, (iv) to reduce digital poverty, this would
ensure that digital connectivity is provided for all.
An approach which promotes access to all is supported. There is a disparity between
the connection quality of high value and lower value homes, where more expensive
homes are more likely to receive full fibre connections. The policy remit would not
include mobile data connectivity for 4G/5G coverage.

20

Page 288

Proposed policy options
There are two broad options for the approach to digital inclusion for new
developments. These are set out below;
Option (1) Do nothing. This option recognises that digital connectivity is high on the
Government’s agenda, and national guidance may override the need for a policy in
time. The Digital Secretary in March last year announced that ‘The government will
amend building regulations to guarantee that all new homes have the right
infrastructure to support gigabit broadband and housing developers must work with
network operators.’ The outcome of the announcement is awaited. On the 26th Jan
2021, the first house builder ‘Barratt Developments’ announced that they will work with
providers to ensure that “gigabit-capable” broadband infrastructure is “installed as
standard” across all of their new UK build developments. This has shown that the
industry is keen to develop digital infrastructure as an essential part of development,
for sites of 20+ properties (and reduced rates for smaller sites where developers make
a contribution towards the build). It is likely that other developers may follow in time.
Option (2) Introduce a new policy. The policy could set out a requirement for the
provision of digital connectivity for new housing developments. The planning system
can enable the delivery of new infrastructure by ensuring that all premises have
appropriate ducting and other provision built into their design to future proof new
developments. A connectivity strategy as part of a planning application could be
encouraged to avoid the need for retro-fitting to provide full fibre connectivity. In taking
this approach, it could be recognised that digital infrastructure is essential
infrastructure and should not be retrofitted. National guidance may override the need
for a policy, however, until the specification, details and timescales of this are known,
the outcome of this cannot be guaranteed. By introducing a policy the City is being
proactive in setting out a local policy direction which developers will be required to
follow.
Consultation Questions
The Local Plan update consultation is seeking your views on what you think are the
key issues for digital connectivity. In particular we would like to know;
8. Do you agree that digital connectivity is essential infrastructure for new
housing in Leeds?
9. Do you agree that a policy should be introduced on digital connectivity?
10. Should the policy focus on residential development only or commercial
development too?
11. Should a digital connectivity strategy be a requirement for all planning
applications?

21

Page 289

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 3
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Policy & Plans

Lead person:
Nasreen Yunis

Contact number:
0113 3787640

1. Title: Local Plan Update
Is this a:
x

Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This Equality Impact Assessment Screening relates to an update of the local
planning polices known as the Local Plan Update (LPU). The plan is at a very early
stage of policy formulation, the theme of the plan is to address the Council’s climate
emergency. At this early stage of development the focus is to establish what policy
areas should be included within the scope of the Plan whether they be new policies
or revised existing planning policies. A number of policy areas are set in this scoping
stage, and these include a number of topic areas. In addition it is proposed that an
8 week consultation be held to inform the Local Plan Update scope at this early
stage.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 291

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
x

No

x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 292

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
There are 5 broad topic areas which have emerged in relation to the scope of the Local
Plan Update, with multiple policy areas sitting underneath. These are set out below:
Topic Area
Policy Areas Covered
Carbon Reduction
 Whole life carbon costs for
buildings
 Reducing carbon emissions from
buildings
 Sustainable construction
 Resilience to Heat
 Renewable energy generation
 Heat networks
 Energy storage
Flood Risk

 Flood risk
 Functional floodplain
 Sustainable Drainage Systems

Green Infrastructure









Place-making

 Strategic Place-making (incl. 20Minute Neighbourhoods)
 Local Place-making

Sustainable Infrastructure







EDCI Screening

Strategic Green Infrastructure
Tree Planting
Tree Replacement
Biodiversity
Nature Conservation
Green space
Space for local food growing

High Speed 2
Leeds City Station
Mass Transit
Leeds Bradford Airport
Digital Infrastructure

Template updated January 2014

Page 293

3

Each of these topic areas have different equality considerations, but the key point at this
stage is that there is no actual policy to comment on. The focus of the topic papers is on
the quality of development and sustainability. As each policy area develops there will be
a need to consider the impact on the protected characteristics, however from the outset
this has been considered so that any policy formulation is positive.
The consultation on the scope of the Local Plan Update (LPU) will be subject to an 8
week consultation, as part of that consultation an opportunity will be taken to seek early
views before actual policies are formulated. However from the outset each of the topic
areas have considered the impact on the protected characteristics and will continue to
give due regard as the statutory process develops.
Consultation will be held at key stages of the Local Plan Update. The 5 topic papers will
aid consultation and give clarity in terms of the ideas for policy scope. At this stage of
consultation due to the current restrictions arising from COVID-19, it will not be possible
to undertake face-to-face consultation. The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
has been revised on an interim basis to allow consultation to take place with a digital
emphasis. All consultation material will be publicised and made available digitally on the
Council’s website. Statutory consultees will be consulted in line with national regulations.
In advance of going out to consultation, officers will develop a consultation strategy for
the LPU consultation. This will place an emphasis on inclusion, to ensure that measures
are taken to gain the views of all people, including young people, the elderly, minority
groups and local community groups. In addition, a communications strategy will be
created through the Council’s Communications and Creative Services teams.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
This section examines in more detail how equality considerations in relation to the
protected characteristics have been considered at this early stage of the LPU. In terms of
giving due regard, equality has been an integral part of the LPU from an early stage to
ensure that it is a thread which runs through the document in particular in terms of the
impact on the protected characteristics. Whilst topic areas are identified this is a very
early stage of policy formulation, there are no specific policies as of yet to comment on,
only policy areas. Once policies are developed at the next stage, the impact on the
protected characteristics will be further developed. This equality screening sets out below
the 5 policy areas, to include equality considerations.
(1)
Carbon reduction: For new development, Leeds will seek to minimise energy
demand and meet all demands for heat and power without increasing carbon emissions,
to allow Leeds to meet its climate emergency commitment of zero carbon by 2030. This
is supported by topics concerning:
•
Ensuring that the level of embodied carbon in a development is considered and
monitored from construction to demolition;
•
reducing Carbon Emissions from Buildings for example, by exploring whether all
development could be built to a zero carbon standard;
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 294

4

•
ensuring Sustainable Construction for example, through setting clear standards;
•
Renewable Energy and heat generation and storage infrastructure for example,
through consideration of mechanisms to increase the generation and storage of low
carbon and renewable heat and power both through stand-alone generation and within
new developments.
The aim of the proposed policy area is to minimise energy demand and meet all heat and
power requirements without increasing carbon emissions, to allow Leeds to meet its
climate emergency goal of zero carbon by 2030. All protected characteristics will benefit
from the proposals which seek to improve carbon efficiency and sustainability for all. In
particular those on lower incomes, older people, gender, younger people, BAME,
younger families will benefit from the proposals as these will have a direct impact on
quality of life and wellbeing. As these policy areas develop consideration to the protected
characteristics will continue to be integrated into policy formulation.
(2)
Flood Risk: Leeds will ensure that new developments are located and designed to
avoid, reduce and mitigate flood risk, increase biodiversity and reduce the carbon
footprint of risk reduction schemes through natural flood solutions. This is supported by
topics concerning:
•
ensuring that the Council’s policies are supported by up to date evidence on flood
risk;
•
avoiding development in flood risk areas and managing the functional flood plain;
•
reducing the speed of surface water run off through more sustainable and natural
drainage systems for example, through standards and limits to the paving over of front
gardens.
All protected characteristics will benefit from the proposals, in particular those on lower
incomes, and younger people may be impacted. Flooding has a negative impact on the
lives of everyone affected by it and as such the policy approach will as it develops
consider local view and the impact on different groups.
(3)
Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity: Leeds will create new Green Infrastructure
(GI) (including Green Space and Natural Environment) through the planning process, and
identify, improve, protect and extend existing GI to address the challenges of climate
change and create a healthy city. This is supported by topics concerning:
•
ensuring a strong, clear and consistent approach to the delivery of new green
infrastructure as well as the enhancement and protection of existing GI alongside a better
understanding of the roles and benefits of individual GI attributes e.g. for play, for wellbeing, biodiversity (through hedgerow plating), opportunities for local food growing and
more attractive routes to encourage less car use; ensuring stronger protection for trees
for example, through new land for trees, tree retention and replacement which considers
the carbon sequestration value of trees, in addition to amenity and alongside other
considerations;
•
ensuring that local wildlife sites and nature conservation designations are effective
at protecting species and habitats and that new development delivers appropriate levels
of net gain for biodiversity;
All protected characteristics will benefit from the proposals. Green Infrastructure,
biodiversity and local wildlife habitats are beneficial to all the protected characteristics as
they contribute to the health and wellbeing for all. Older people and families with young
children, and disabled people will benefit from green space close by, within easily
accessible distance, as such accessibility is important. Green space can also be
important for inclusion, providing a resource where people can meet. Quality and
usability of green space is also important and can have an impact on all the protected
characteristics. Quantity and quality of greenspace can also impact on good mental and
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 295

5

physical health. As the detail of individual policies develop it is important to continue to
consider the impact on the local community.
(4)
Place-making: Leeds will work in the public interest, prioritising the safety and
well-being of people within a framework of long-term sustainable development by
allowing development that promotes safe, healthy and resilient places, reflects the issues
associated with inclusive growth and an environment which leaves a positive legacy for
all people. This is supported by topics concerning:
•
ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps adapt to the
impacts of climate change and balances development needs with environmental
constraints for example, through policies on 20-minute neighbourhoods;
•
ensuring high quality design of places for example, through good practice,
standards and design guides that helps ensure better quality, form and layout;
•
As part of policies that promote place-making the Council is mindful of having
policies that contribute positively to the Councils’ climate change ambitions, including
increasing active travel and reducing private car use. Linked to this will be matters related
to car parking standards which can be managed through supplementary guidance which
align with the Council’s wider transport strategies.
Good place making and good urban design contribute to a beneficial impact on all the
protected characteristics especially when integrated with active travel. The concept of the
20 minute neighbourhood is a positive initiative which encourages easier access to local
amenities within a 20 minute walk however consideration also needs to be given to those
who are less mobile to understand the implications for their needs and to listen to their
views, and also to understand the socio economics of different communities. Place
making policies will impact in particular the disabled, gender and those on lower incomes.
At this stage the policy is at an early stage of inception, however as the policy develops
consideration for all groups is important.
(5)
Sustainable Infrastructure: Leeds will ensure the delivery of an accessible and
integrated transport system which focuses on public transport and active travel, is worthy
of its role at the heart of the Leeds City Region, and supports communities and inclusive
growth. This is supported by topics concerning:
•
preparing for and maximising the benefits that the national High Speed 2 rail
infrastructure project may bring to the City, if built, for example through shaping the
development of Leeds Station, integrating the HS2 line into our city and seeking
opportunities for new green and public spaces to be created alongside HS2, as well as
ensuring high levels of permeability;
•
preparing for any mass transit system that is provided in Leeds so that it can align
with wider spatial priorities and deliver wider benefits;
•
managing the future development of Leeds Bradford Airport and access to it in a
sustainable manner;
•
supporting reliable, high-speed data at work, home and whilst on the move, so that
Leeds is a modern, resilient and efficient economy which can support increased remote
working;
•
ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps reduce the
need to travel by private car and positively promotes active travel for example, through
policies on 20-minute neighbourhoods and place-making.
The policy aspiration is to seek accessible and integrated transport systems which focus
on public transport and active travel to support communities and inclusive growth is
beneficial to all the protected characteristics, but in particular can have an impact on
those with lower incomes, the disabled and young families as well as the elderly. This
topic paper also considers projects such as High Speed 2, Leeds City Station, Mass
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 296

6

Transit and Leeds Bradford Airport, all of which are schemes for which separate planning
applications have been submitted or approved, as such the equality implications have
been considered as part of the formal planning application process. The HS2 projects
also has a separate Equality Screening which supported the planning application. The
policies in the LPU are more concerned with creating good quality developments with
good urban design principles which tie together the planning schemes with the
surrounding area and create good spatial planning. Improved accessibility for all will in
particular impact the disabled, and older people, BAME, in particular as well as young
children. In addition the final policy area relates to digital connectivity for new build
housing, this proposed policy area will be beneficial to all protected characteristics but in
particular to those on lower incomes as it will reduce digital poverty.

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Once public consultation has been held comments will be considered and feedback will
be used to inform policy formulation for all of the topic areas. Equality, Diversity,
Cohesion and Integration Screenings will be undertaken at all relevant stages of the LPU.
The LPU will be prepared in accordance with a statutory process and further consultation
will be held at relevant stages.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Martin Elliot
Head of Strategic Planning 9/06/21
City Development
Date screening completed

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 297

7

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council
only publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the
decision making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated
Decisions and Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should
be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
screening was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant
Operational Decisions – sent to appropriate
Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 298

8

Agenda Item 12
Report author: Jane Walne/David O’Connor
Tel: 0113 378 5914

Redevelopment of City Square – Outcome of the Design
Competition and Appointment of the Preferred Designer
Date: 23 June 2021
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒ Yes ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report presents the outcome of the design competition for the redevelopment of City
Square as the premier area of city centre public realm, the first experience that many people
have of Leeds when arriving in the city and a key gateway for visitors, workers and
residents. The report seeks approval to the appointment of the preferred designer who will
work proactively with the Council and stakeholders to redevelop City Square from the design
concept submitted as part of the design competition into an approved design.



Following the March 2020 Executive Board, which approved the launch of the Royal Institute
of British Architects (RIBA) led design competition and the formal sign off for the Design
Brief in November 2020. The objective was to seek design responses to the City Square
Design Brief to develop a vision for the ‘creation of world class, vibrant and inclusive public
realm’ as set out in the Our Spaces Strategy, as well as addressing challenges around air
quality, climate change, biodiversity. The design competition was formally launched on the
21st September 2020.



The November 2020 Executive Board, following approval of the Design Brief developed with
the RIBA, gave approval to the Design Brief to be issued to the shortlist of 5 designers for
the progression in to Phase 2 of the competition on Monday 7th December 2020.



The design competition has now completed, with the design review panel and independent
considerations by the Civic Trust and the Quality Spaces and Places Group, identifying a
preferred designer. The preferred designer is Re-form Landscape Architecture, who are a
Leeds based company and throughout the design evaluation demonstrated a passion and
determination to work in partnership with the Council and stakeholders to evolve their design
concept to ensure that City Square re-stablishes itself as the City’s premier area of public
realm.

Page 299



The proposals in this report support the ambitions of the Best Council Plan 2020-2025 for
Sustainable Infrastructure, Child- Friendly City, Age-Friendly Leeds, Culture and also
responds to the declaration of a Climate Emergency:-

Sustainable Infrastructure



A redesigned City Square will improve public transport connections, safety and
reliability.
Removing general traffic on City Square and the provision of bus corridors will
provide a safer environment, enhance the public transport offer and aid the ease of
passenger transport connections.

Child- Friendly City


A new City Square will enhance the city now and for future generations and supports
our ambition to be a child friendly city.

Age-Friendly Leeds



The redesign of City Square will support accessible and affordable transport options
which help older people get around.
The redesigned City Square will be accessible, safe, clean and welcoming.

Culture





The redesigned City Square will provide the opportunity to grow the cultural sector by
providing a programmable space for events, particularly for the year of culture in
2023.
The accessibility of the redesigned City Square will ensure that culture can be
created and experienced by everyone.
The redesigned City Square will enhance the image of Leeds by providing space for
events and managing the arrival for people attending major events and attractions
elsewhere in the city.

The Climate Emergency
 The increase in green infrastructure of City Square as part of the public realm design
will increase carbon capture, improve air quality and assist the management of water
runoff during extreme weather events supporting our ambition to become carbon
neutral by 2030.
Health and Well-Being



Reducing health inequalities and improving the health of the poorest the fastest.
Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles.

Recommendations
a) Approve the appointment of the preferred designer, Re-form Landscape Architecture to
develop the conceptual design proposals to the end of the RIBA Concept Design Stage.
b) Approve the Authority to Spend up to a maximum of £250k to develop the conceptual design
to the end of the RIBA Concept Design Stage.
c) Approve entering into a Professional Service Short Subcontract with Balfour Beatty Civil
Engineering (BB) for the post-competition design fees up to the end of the RIBA Concept
Design Stage.
Page 300

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

Through a range of co-produced and collaborative strategies including the emerging
Transport Strategy and the Our Spaces Strategy, Leeds is making major progress in the
creation of more people focussed infrastructure and public spaces across the city centre.
The vision and ambition is to create a vibrant, inclusive high quality city centre with better
connected spaces which meet the needs of people first, to improve connectivity to and from
surrounding neighbourhoods, help tackle the climate emergency, improve air quality and to
foster health and well-being, innovation and collaboration – all whilst ensuring there is
sufficient resilience within the highway network and promoting sustainable transport modes.

2

The approach to the city centre aims to overcome historic barriers and issues posed by
dominant highways infrastructure advocated by the 1970’s ‘Leeds Motorway City’ approach
to place and infrastructure in the city. In particular, large swathes of ‘through traffic’
contribute to climate issues, disconnect surrounding neighbourhoods from the city centre
and discourage investment.

3

As part of this vision was the opportunity to reimagine City Square as the City’s premier
area of public realm, through the closure of City Square to through traffic enabled by rerouteing the Loop road and the repurposing of this infrastructure into new high quality public
realm. This would enable City Square to expand from its existing area of 0.3ha to almost
1ha of public realm within the immediate confines of City Square but also then facilitates
wider connections to Bishopgate Street Steps, Quebec Street, Park Row and Infirmary
Street which are all undergoing development to increase pedestrian space and new public
realm.

4

Following on from March 2020 Executive Board approval to the Royal Institute of British
Architects (RIBA) led design competition and the approval of the City Square Design Brief,
the design competition was launched in September 2020 and following the first round of
shortlisting, the list of designers was reduced from 29 to 5.

5

The remaining 5 designers were issued with the Design Brief and the design competition
moved in to Phase 2. This required the 5 designers to produce a design narrative and
concept for a new City Square which would fall within the high level construction only
budget of £3.5m. To create a reimagined City Square which is central to City’s identify and
welcome and should be a place which welcomes people, which is also an approachable
space which resonates with the citizens of Leeds and supports healthy lifestyles. Our vision
for a new City Square should respond to Leeds aspirations to create a world class public
realm space that puts people first, incorporates tactical urbanism and addresses climate
change. City Square is to be our ‘front door’ to visitors, businesses and residents. It sets the
tone of our city’s profile locally, nationally and internationally. It is a key gateway into the
city. It will complement the surrounding landmark and listed buildings and will be central to
reinforcing the city’s identity. It will be central to the desire to stitch the city centre and the
South Bank together.

6

The designers, as part of the assessment process, were asked to comment on how their
team would provide quality & architectural distinction in the design concept, how they would
enhance the public realm experience and how a design would relate to the immediate
surroundings and create an identity for the site. In addition the design teams were
assessed against their presented multidisciplinary teams’ make up, experience of delivering
similar projects and stakeholder engagement undertaken.

7

The outcome of the design competition is that Re-form Landscape Architecture were
identified as the preferred designers following the independent assessment and scoring of
all of the design competition panel members and the presentation of the design concepts.
Re-form scored highest in the qualitative questions when measured against the Design
Page 301

Brief and scored equal to the financial questions when compared to the second highest
scoring bidder.
8

The design concept that Re-form are proposing is ‘The Glade’. It is a woodland in the heart
of the city and is conceptually the reincarnation of the ancient Forest of Loidis, the
woodland on which Leeds is built. The Glade forms a circle and mirrors the form of City
Square that was present in its first incarnation in 1897. The Design Concept is shown at
Appendix 1 - City Square Design Concept.

9

The Glade respects the heritage of the square and provides a positive setting for the
existing buildings.

10 The Glade proposes opportunities for informal play to attract children and families which will
support our Child Friendly ambition. There are no proposals for ‘standard play equipment’,
these are important but the design sees these as being better placed in formal play settings
such as playgrounds and parks. The Glade will have opportunities for children to ‘make
their own play’, with platforms and rock steps to climb and jump off, explore the planting,
the water feature and dash through the urban woodland. The design proposals provide a
space for all ages that is interesting and engaging and is also flexible to be a place for
cultural activity from small interactions to larger events when required.
11 Designers were asked to comment on the appropriateness of their design proposal in
response to the design outcomes including but not limited to materiality, sustainability, and
functionality and strengthening the green character of the area.
12 The Glade supports the Climate Emergency Declaration (March 2019) through carbon
absorption, rainwater management, reuse of materials and the selection of trees based on
their air cleaning capabilities. The Glade can also provide a canopy to protect against the
increasing sunny days and higher temperatures. The planting will be selected to support
pollinators and will bring birds and raise the levels of biodiversity within the city centre.
13 The Glade is designed to be for everyone. The design proposals account for the peak
periods of pedestrians entering and exiting the station and moving on through to the city.
This is balanced by The Glade being welcoming for all generations, there is choice between
shaded and open areas, resting spaces with benches that have a range of heights and
back reset but are inclusive for all. There is circulation spaces for wheelchairs and buggies.
14 The Glade is designed to be a gateway as well as a destination with a network of two-way
cycle routes to allow cycle connections through City Square with clear segregation from
people and traffic. The design will be complementary to the proposals within the June 2021
Executive Board report ‘Transforming Cities Fund – Leeds City Centre Cycling
Improvements’.
15 Designers were asked to comment on their proposed team structure, understanding of
Leeds City Council and stakeholder expectations and ability to work in partnership.
16 Re-form are a Leeds based practice and have collaborated with Leeds City Council
previously on Sovereign Square, Leeds Playhouse Gardens. In addition they were the lead
designers for Hull’s City of Culture in 2017 which saw the transformation of Hull’s public
realm in the city centre as part of the year.
17 Their enthusiasm for the project was particularly evident in their presentation and their
commitment to stakeholder engagement Their design proposals include the planting of 33
trees, each one representing a Leeds ward. Their submitted design proposal included
working with the wards and with people of all ages and backgrounds to select trees from
around the world that will illustrate Leeds’ strength of diversity. Each tree will be planted by
a ward representative and will be marked with the name of the ward that it represents.
Page 302

18 Re-form are a member of the Quality Spaces and Places group, a sub group of the
Chamber Commerce and are actively involved in partnership working with Leeds City
Council to provide excellent public realm.
19 City Square is being designed and built through the Scape framework as part of a
programme also delivering Bishopgate Street Steps, Regent Street Bridge, and Armley
Gyratory.
20 The design brief specified that the competition submissions target a direct construction cost
of £3.5m., with an overall budget of £7m– £9.5m, which includes enabling / interface works,
prelims, fees and delivery costs.
21 Scape is a National Civil Engineering framework, covering England, Northern Ireland and
Wales, that is compliant with UK and EU procurement regulations. The framework will
operate for a total of four years and will provide direct access for any public sector
organisation to a principal contractor for civil engineering and infrastructure projects with
values between £50,000 and £100m+.
22 A Professional Service Short Subcontract is required so that the Council has an appropriate
contractual position and partnership working arrangement with BB. The agreement will
provide the contractor with stage payments and assurance that they will be reimbursed for
costs incurred for surveys and fees incurred should the scheme be cancelled, and provide
the Council with assurance of agreed fixed design fees for work prior to the main contract.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: Little London & Woodhouse and Hunslet & Riverside
Have ward members been consulted?

☒ Yes

☐No

23 City Square will increase the available public realm from 0.3 hectare to approximately 1
hectare creating a space which welcomes people, speaks of our diverse communities and
resonates with the citizens of Leeds and supports healthy lifestyles.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
24 The report ‘Redevelopment of City Square’ was submitted to Executive Board on the 18th
March and the recommendation to commission a RIBA led design competition to determine
design options for the future redesign of City Square was approved.
25 A second report ‘Redevelopment of City Square – Design Brief’ was submitted to Executive
Board in November 2020 and approval was obtained to issue a Design Brief to support the
design competition.
26 Engagement has been undertake as part of the Our Spaces strategy detailed in the March
2020 Executive Board report (Our Spaces Strategy – Outcome of Engagement and
Strategy Update). In addition Connecting Leeds have undertaken extensive consultation on
their proposed improvements to city centre gateways. Proposals for the Headrow and Corn
Exchange Gateways include Our Spaces public realm schemes with recent consultation on
the Corn Exchange gateway (2264 contributions received from over 500 people) resulting
in specific support for limiting access to the city centre by private car, including for
environmental reasons and improved pubic realm and greenery.
27 As part of the competition process four key stakeholders with a presence on City Square
and the Civic Trust each gave feedback to the five designers on their design proposals.
Page 303

28 Independently the Civic Trust have provided commentary which has been considered as
part of the selection of the preferred designer.
29 The Quality Spaces and Places group, a sub group of the Chamber of Commerce have
provided commentary which has been consider as part of the selection of the preferred
bidder.
30 Ward Members and the Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable
Development have been briefed on the outcome of the design competition and the
preferred bidder.
31 Next Steps
31.1

The programme below (42) demonstrates the key milestones.

31.2

A four week period has been allowed in the programme to undertake internal and
targeted external consultation at the end of the RIBA Stage 1 Feasibility proposals.

31.3

Full stakeholder engagement will be undertaken at the end of the RIBA Stage 2
Concept Design.

What are the resource implications?
32 City Square has Capital Programme Fund approval of £500k for feasibility work. The
Design competition costs of £238k were approved by the Chief Officer Asset Management
& Regeneration through a delegated decision in April 2020.
33 The post-competition design fees are to be determined but will not exceed £250k.
What are the legal implications?
34 None of the contents of this report are exempt or confidential under the access to
information rules detailed in the constitution.
35 The decision is a Key Decision and is subject to call in.
36 The tenders have been evaluated in accordance with the evaluation criteria set out in the
tender documents and therefore the preferred contractor should be appointed.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
37 Risk is to be managed through application of ‘best practice’ project management tools and
techniques via the City Council’s ‘PM Lite’ risk methodology. Risk management forms just
one part of PM Lite and further details on risk can be seen in the Insite page:
https://insite.leeds.gov.uk/toolkits/managing-a-service/riskmanagement. The progress of
the scheme (RAG rating and comments) will also be included in the routine reporting to the
council’s Strategic Investment Board.
38 Project Management resource has been allocated from within City Development to manage
the project and risk. City Square also has a project board already well established where
the interfaces and delivery of the project will be managed.
39 A priced risk log is being developed for the scheme by Leeds City Council and the
contractor will be engaged to contribute to its development to ensure all the risks for the
project have been identified together with the relevant owner of the risk. The priced risk
Page 304

register will be used to inform the client contingency for the project. The council’s project
risk log will be maintained and updated throughout the project and escalation of any risks
that sit outside of the agreed tolerances will be managed via the City Square Project Board.
40 A client held contingency, commensurate with a project of this value, will be included within
the approval figure to address any risks that occur during construction. The client held
contingency will be calculated as the project progresses.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

This proposal to support the council’s three Key pillars is considered in the section ‘What is this
report about?’.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
41 Not applicable.
b) How will success be measured?
42 The production of a concept design that is approved and allocated a budget by Executive
Board.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
43 Concept Design will begin in July 2021 and complete January 2022 with a planned
submission to Executive Board for approval May/June 2022.
Task Name

Duration

Start

RIBA 1
RIBA 1 Period

8 wks

Wed 21/07/21 Tue 14/09/21

Gateway Review/Consultation 4 wks

Wed 15/09/21 Tue 12/10/21

RIBA 2
RIBA 2 Period
Gateway Review
44 Stakeholder Engagement

10 wks
4 wks
12 wks

Finish

Wed 13/10/21 Tue 04/01/22
Wed 05/01/22 Tue 18/01/22
Wed 19/01/22 Tue 12/04/22

Appendices
45 Appendix 1 - City Square Design Concept
46 Appendix 2 EDCI Redevelopment of City Square
Background papers
47 Not applicable.

Page 305

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 ‐ City Square Design Concept

Page 307

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Asset Management

Lead person: David O’Connor

Contact number: 0113 37 85914

1. Title: City Square Public Realm
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

X

Other

If other, please specify
Physical works to create public realm improvement proposals.
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
City Square is a premier area of public realm in Leeds City Centre and is at a pivotal
point in its history. A number of significant projects and programmes are currently under
development and present the perfect opportunity for the complete transformation of City
Square. It forms part of the welcome to the city, a place which should create a sense of
arrival and wonder.
The changes to the highway network in and around City Square provide a once in a
generation opportunity to bring forward a refreshed public space. Guided by Our
Spaces Strategy and Principles the space can be invigorated to respond to our climate
challenges and cultural ambition. Creating a space which welcomes people, speaks of
our diverse communities and resonates with the citizens of Leeds and supports healthy
lifestyles.
Currently City Square is a small area of public realm (0.3 hectares) with a cycle lane
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 309

1

around its southern edge that is bisected on three sides by up to 4 lanes of traffic on
each side that results in the space facing inwards on itself. These need to be crossed by
over 40,000 pedestrians every day, whether they are arriving by train, bus, and taxi or
walking around the city centre. Linking in to City Square from the south is Neville Street
(via Bishopgate Street), the most polluted street outside of London (Friends of the
Earth).
Closing City Square to general traffic facilitated by the improvements to Armley Gyratory
and alterations to bus routes through the Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme (LPTIP) would increase the area of public realm within and around City
Square to approximately 0.86 hectares.
The increase of available space for public realm provides a unique opportunity to
reconsider City Square and its wider environment. The increase in space will also allow
consideration of the form and function of the space and create the opportunity to
recreate a space which reflects our ambition to be the Best City.
A redeveloped City Square will link to Leeds Station and the construction of Bishop Gate
Steps. With the predicted increase in rail journeys there is a requirement to ensure that
the areas surrounding the exits of the station support the high capacity movement of
people. Leeds Station is the busiest station in the north with 37 million passengers each
year that has openings out onto City Square. The new Northern and TransPennine
franchise, as well as HS2 when it arrives in 2033, will deliver a step change in rail
capacity. Soon the station will be busier than Gatwick Airport, in terms of passenger
numbers and the image of City Square will have even greater significance. Bishop
Gates Steps are to be constructed to aid passenger movement from the station and the
redesigned City Square will complement the welcome and movement out from the
station.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
EDCI Screening

Yes
x

Template updated January 2014

Page 310

No
x

x

2

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
Extensive consultation has been undertaken on the Our Spaces strategy in relation to the
design principles for public realm, these principles will be used to inform the design for
this development. This consultation has included online consultation, presentations to
stakeholders and targeted focus groups and engagement activities to seek representative
feedback.
The Highway realignment portion has undergone consultation through ‘Connecting
Leeds’.
Extensive consultation has also been undertaken on the Headrow Gateway, including the
proposals for Cookridge Street which are summarised below and will be applicable for
consideration in the development of City Square:
The design brief and proposals for the scheme design will include
 Level access across site.
 Wooden benches warmer and more comfortable to sit on.
 Adequate space guided by good practice between planting beds so circulation
space for those with buggies/mobility issues is not restricted.
 Provision of back rests/arm rests as part of the seating provision.
 Taking account of feedback through the LP-TIP and Our Spaces engagement
process and feedback.
 Well lit area so it can be used 24hrs.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 311

3



Close to toilet and baby change provision

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
Based on the Our Spaces principles, the design of the space will be welcoming and
accessible to all taking into account requirements for seating, shade and accessibility.
The proposals will create an area of seating to create areas where groups / families /
individuals can meet and interact and create space for free events.
The proposal will provide a safe space for families to rest, gather and play in the city
centre. This gives an opportunity for any family to meet and socialise thus increasing
contact and relationship forming.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Collaboration and sharing good news stories are key to spreading the message about
improvements to the public realm and making Leeds a child friendly city.
Work with Connecting Leeds and Our Spaces team to promote changes.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
David O’Connor
Project Manager
11/02/2020
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 312

4

Date screening completed

11/02/2020

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:NA

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 313

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Report author: Jane Walne
Tel: 0113 378 7705

Parklife – Fullerton Park and Matthew Murray Update
Date: 23 June 2021
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒ Yes ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report provides Executive Board with an update as to the position around the Council’s
Fullerton Park Parklife scheme and the outcome of recent discussions with LUFC around
their preference to preserve the potential for a disposal of the former Matthew Murray High
School site to Leeds United Football Club (LUFC), as part of the ambition to relocate their
training ground facilities closer to Elland Road and the outcome 55,000 seat expansion of
Elland Road in the future, rather than the 50,000 seats previously agreed.



In September 2019, Executive Board agreed to the shortlisting of the 4 Parklife sites –
Fullerton Park (Elland Road), Woodhall Pitches (Calverley), Green Park (Thorpe Park) and
Boddington (Weetwood – Led by University of Leeds). Since that time Fullerton Park has
secured planning approval and the tenders for the pricing of the works were in preparation.
Aligned with this was the proposal for the disposal of the Matthew Murray site to LUFC to
allow the relocation and development of their training academy at that site, to bring the
facilities closer to the Stadium and the community in which it sits.



Following the promotion of LUFC to the Premier League and the Club securing investment
from the San Francisco 49ers’, the Club have reviewed their stadium development ambitions
and want to preserve their ability to deliver an expanded 55,000 seater stadium at Elland
Road, as opposed to a 50,000 seat capacity previously agreed. The footprint of this 5,000
seat increase would require the Club to work up to a stadium expansion line as shown in
Appendix 2, inclusive of spectator circulation areas. In turn this would require the relocation
of Parklife at Fullerton Park to another area within the Fullerton site, or alternatively the
former Matthew Murray High School site.



In assessing the options the most beneficial option from a facilities offer and an operational
viewpoint is to utilise Matthew Murray for Parklife. Whilst this forgoes a capital receipt, it
provides the opportunity for a future receipt from Fullerton Park and generates a potential
increase in income generation to support the Parklife business case.



The Football Foundation, the NHS (who will occupy part of the Parklife site) and members
are supportive of the approach. LUFC have agreed to cover the cost of the scheme in terms
Page 315

of fees, planning and surveys to develop the new scheme back up to the current position of
the Fullerton scheme.



The proposals in this report contribute to the city’s and Council’s ambitions through:Leeds Best Council Ambition: An Efficient, Enterprising and Healthy Organisation



Effective partnership working and commissioning
Clear focus on delivering high quality, locally integrated public services

Health & Wellbeing


Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles

Child Friendly City



Improving social, emotional and mental health and wellbeing
Enhancing the city now and for future generations

Age-Friendly Leeds


Promoting opportunities for older people to be healthy, active, included and respected

Safe, Strong Communities



Being responsive to local needs, building thriving, resilient communities
Promoting community respect and resilience

Recommendations
Executive Board is recommended to:a) Note the progress made to date with the Fullerton Parklife scheme
b) Approve the principle of the relocation of the Fullerton Parklife scheme to the former
Matthew Murray High School site to preserve the ambitions of Leeds United Football Club to
achieve a 55,000 seater capacity stadium at Elland Road;
c) Note that the principle approval above is subject to LUFC meeting Leeds City Council’s
additional design costs that it will incur as a consequence of this change, as outlined in the
Resources Section of this report at paragraph 23.
d) Note that the relocation proposals will provide the opportunity for an increased facility offer
at Matthew Murray, including 4 full sized all-weather pitches and an increase space take up
by the NHS.
e) Note that the Football Foundation (the main grant funder for Parklife) and the NHS are fully
supportive of the relocation and the positive impact this will have on the Parklife business
case.
f) Note the impact of the relocation of the Fullerton Parklife to Matthew Murray will result in a
loss of the potential capital receipt to be realised from LUFC, however this will in part be
offset from the realisation of a new capital receipt from Fullerton Park for land required as
part of the Stadium expansion.
g) Agree to Council officers working in partnership with Leeds United Football Club on a
revised masterplan for the Elland Road Stadium and Fullerton Park area and to bring back
draft proposals to a future Executive Board in readiness for public consultation.
Page 316

h) Note that the officer responsible for this project and key matters associated with it is the
Head of Projects and Programmes in Asset Management and Regeneration.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1. Parklife is a national programme funded by the Football Association (FA), the Premier
League, Department for Culture Media and Sport, Sport England and the Football
Foundation. The programme seeks to implement a new sustainable model for grassroots
football based on all-weather facilities that are available all year round and not impacted by
bad weather. Parklife provides funding through the FA of 60% towards the costs of
developing football hubs each comprising a minimum of two artificial grass pitches (AGPs)
with associated changing facilities and parking.
2. The draft Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) identifies a shortfall of 13 additional full size allweather pitches across Leeds and through its Parklife bid submission Leeds was included in
the programme. Four sites were approved by Executive Board in September 2019. These
were Fullerton Park, Woodhall Playing Fields, Green Park (Thorpe Park) and Boddington
(being developed and delivered by University of Leeds). These schemes would go a long
way in addressing the all-weather pitch shortfall in Leeds, with the Local Football Facilities
Plan seeking to address any shortfall at sites that did not meet the Parklife programme
criteria.
3. The Fullerton Park scheme consists of the following:







1 full sized all-weather pitch
1 9vs9 all-weather pitch
2 5-a-side all-weather pitches
NHS facility including treatment rooms and pharmacy
A gym
Changing rooms and café facility
Car parking

4. The Fullerton Park scheme has now secured planning approval and was due to be issued
for tender in late summer. Plan attached at Appendix 1.
5. Alongside the development of the Fullerton Park Parklife Project, of which Leeds United
Foundation and other local clubs will be a partner club, was the proposal to dispose of the
former Matthew Murray High School site to Leeds United Football Club (LUFC).
6. At Executive Board in October 2017, Members agreed the principle of the Council formally
entering into one-to-one negotiations with LUFC for the development of new football training
facilities at the former Matthew Murray High School site, for use by LUFC and Leeds United
Foundation. In September 2019 Executive Board approved the draft Heads of Terms
developed and agreed between both parties for the Matthew Murray site to allow LUFC to
bring forward their training ground proposals.
7. Since the approval of the Parklife and Matthew Murray Executive Board reports, whilst the
Fullerton Park scheme has continued to be developed, Leeds United Football Club have
also reappraised the potential for any future expansion of their Stadium. This has been
triggered in part by LUFC’s promotion to the Premier League, outstanding performances by
Page 317

the team leading to a finish in the top half of the Premier League and investment from San
Francisco 49ers’, whose investment arm have bought 37% of the Club.
8. LUFC having reviewed their stadium capacity plans, would like to preserve the potential to
increase to 55,000 at some point in the future and have undertaken high level design
development for a 55,000 seater stadium to assess the footprint implications. This
represents a 5,000 seat increase from the position that the Club previously held. The
outcome of this work means that all the land sitting within the proposed stadium expansion
line would be required to enable the expansion to be realised.
9. The Council were approached by LUFC early in the New Year to undertake a review of the
Parklife layout to see if the scheme could be re-sited within Fullerton Park but to sit outside
of the previously agreed expansion line for the stadium. The Parklife scheme until this point
had been developed in agreement with the Club, up to the edge of the Fullerton Park site
but sits up to 30m inside the stadium expansion line proposed in Appendix 2.

10. Taking account of the stadium expansion options, the remaining area of land at Fullerton
Park (excluding the leased Ice Rink) underwent a review, at the Club’s request, to ascertain
whether the site could accommodate the approved Park and Ride spaces (whether through
decked parking or other potential solutions), the expanded stadium and a relocated and
redesigned Parklife scheme.
11. After collectively reviewing the layout options for Parklife within the remainder of the
Fullerton site, it’s clear that the site constraints on the space available, Park and Ride, match
day parking and the land acquisition LUFC would be looking to purchase within the stadium
expansion zone have led to a position where there is insufficient space at Fullerton Park to
accommodate Parklife, P&R and the stadium expansion. An alternative solution would be to
reduce in the facility offer for Parklife to enable it to fit on the site. However this would impact
the business case to the point where the Fullerton Park scheme was unsustainable and
therefore the whole of Leeds’s Parklife programme at risk.
12. On that basis, LUFC asked the Council to explore the potential option for the former
Matthew Murray site to become the Parklife hub for South Leeds on the basis that any costs
incurred in redeveloping a Parklife scheme up to the stage of the current scheme, would be
met by the Club.
13. In exploring the option for the use of Matthew Murray, the following considerations needed
to be undertaken: Securing of Football Foundation approval (the main grant funder for the programme)
to the change of Parklife site;
 Securing NHS accommodation uptake for the new site
 No reduction in the Parklife provision at Matthew Murray
 The loss of the capital receipt from LUFC for the Matthew Murray site
 Executive and ward member support in principle for the proposal
 The deliverability of the scheme from a technical/planning point of view.
 Implications on the master-planning of Fullerton Park and the Elland Road Stadium.
14. The Football Foundation have reviewed the Matthew Murray site, in fact it was one of the
original 9 sites considered at the start of the Parklife programme. The only reason it wasn’t
progressed as a preferred option was LUFC’s training ground interest. The site is
significantly larger than Fullerton Park and can accommodate up to 4 full sized all-weather
Page 318

pitches, increasing the income generation potential for the facility, as well as the required
NHS provision, the café and changing facilities and the required car parking. Matthew
Murray will also not impact or be impacted by match-day parking. The proposed layout for
Parklife at Matthew Murray is attached at Appendix 3.
15. The NHS is also considering the potential to double their space requirements by adding in
additional healthcare offers, as the site sits now within a more defined community locality
and in an area of need. On that basis the revenue generation potential for this element will
increase and add value to the Parklife business case.
16. Taking all of the above into account the Football Foundation feel that the relocation to the
Matthew Murray site is a positive step as it will site the Parklife facility within the community,
have an increased offer in terms of facilities – both health and sport, will not be negatively
impacted by match-day parking and will have an increased income generation potential. As
a consequence of the above the Football Foundation have offered their full support to the
proposed relocation to Matthew Murray.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: Beeston and Holbeck
Have ward members been consulted?

☒ Yes

☐ No

17 The proposal to relocate the Parklife scheme from Fullerton Park to Matthew Murray site will
have a number of positive impacts:

Following the confirmation from the NHS and the Football Foundation that they are
supportive of the Matthew Murray site it will ensure the whole Parklife Programme across
the city (including Woodhall and Green Park) is deliverable and sustainable in Leeds;



Through the delivery of the 4 full sized all-weather pitches, the 13 pitch shortfall identified
in the draft Playing Pitch Strategy has been fully addressed in Leeds and therefore any
facilities brought forward as part of the Local Football Facilities Plan will assist further in
addressing current grass pitch stock condition;



The Parklife facility in south Leeds will sit within the heart of the local community and
Ingram Road Primary School who will have the opportunity to access world class
sporting facilities, sited right on their doorstep;



It will increase the health provision offer within the locality;



It reduces the impact of the Parklife proposal on the existing Park and Ride and the
proposed stadium expansion.

18 It is important to note that the impact of the change of site from a programme point of view
will be that the facility at Matthew Murray will be delayed by 1 year as a consequence of
needing to undertake design development and secure planning approval on the new site.
However the remaining sites at Woodhall and Green Park will be aligned from a programme
perspective for completion for September 2022. This will maintain the Football Foundation
requirement to have 2 sites operating for the formal launch of Parklife in Leeds in September
2022.
19 The proposals outlined in this report also give rise to the need to refresh the Elland Road
Masterplan, which the Council approved in 2007. On the basis that Fullerton Park will
remain vacant and the Club will be looking at their options for expansion, it is considered
Page 319

timely for the masterplan to be revised, so it can inform future detailed proposals that come
forward as part of a long-term and phased development programme.
It is prudent at this time also to highlight the work around the Local Football Facilities Plan,
which is being led by the Football Association and seeks to address the position around allweather provision on sites that do not meet Parklife criteria. The Council in partnership with
the FA had identified a number of local clubs and organisations for inclusion within the
programme that could benefit from all-weather provision to support their work their
communities. These included the Hunslet Club, Fearnville Well-Being Centre etc. This work
has been on hold during the pandemic, however it is anticipated that the FA will commence
the development of the plan and start to consider how they bring forward the sites identified.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
20 To date consultation has taken place with the Leader of the Council and Executive Member
for Infrastructure and Climate and ward members, who are all supportive of the proposals.
Ward members were keen to stress that issues around match-day parking, which were
under review by LUFC need to be addressed in advance of further expansions that may
impact on local residents.
21 The Football Foundation and the NHS have been consulted and have approved and
supported the proposals respectively.
22 Early discussions with planning have taken place to understand any planning issues or
challenges that will need to be overcome as part of the design as it develops.
Considerations will need to be given to environmental considerations such as noise and
lighting overspill, travel planning and highways, design quality standards and climate
emergency. Further considerations will no doubt emerge as the discussions and design
progress. The proposals for Park Life on the Matthew Murray site will be subject to a full
planning application.
What are the resource implications?
23 In the first instance confirmation has been sought from LUFC that they will cover the
required design development and site investigation fees and costs to enable the scheme to
be designed back up to its current position and be submitted for and secure planning
approval. To date both the Football Foundation and The Council have expended between
them £497k on design development, site and ground investigations and all associated
planning costs incurred to secure planning approval. On the basis that Executive Board
agrees to move the scheme to Matthew Murray then the Council will be able to make some
use of the existing design work as part of any new development proposals. However, it
would incur further costs in developing the specific design proposals for a scheme at
Matthew Murray and the cost estimate of the additional design fees is £325k. Leeds United
have agreed to meet the additional fees at this level in full.
24 The remaining consideration for the Council with regards to resources is the potential loss of
the Matthew Murray site capital receipt. It is important to note however, the current Fullerton
Park Parklife scheme, which extends over the current stadium expansion line. This area of
land will be required by LUFC to expand the stadium to the west and the north and the
relocation of Parklife to Matthew Murray presents the opportunity to realise this capital
receipt as replacement. Any land sale from Leeds City Council to Leeds United Football
Club would be on market terms and supported by an independent Reb Book RICS valuation.
Any terms of such a sale would be subject to a separate report and decision.
Page 320

What are the legal implications?
25 There are no specific legal implications for this report.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
26 Subject to LUFC confirming the allocation of design development costs to enable a scheme
to be submitted for planning approval, the keys risks now are around the Matthew Murray
site itself and whether there are any unknown ground condition issues to be overcome. This
will be managed by the commissioning of ground investigation surveys as early as possible.
All risk is to be managed through application of ‘best practice’ project management tools and
techniques via the City Council’s ‘PM Lite’ risk methodology. Risk management forms just
one part of PM Lite and further details on risk can be seen in the Insite page:
https://insite.leeds.gov.uk/toolkits/managing-a-service/riskmanagement. The progress of the
scheme (RAG rating and comments) will also be included in the routine reporting to the
council’s Strategic Investment Board.
27 Project Management resource has been allocated from within City Development to manage
the project and risk. City Square also has a project board already well established where the
interfaces and delivery of the project will be managed.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

Health and Well-Being



Reducing health inequalities and improving the health of the poorest the fastest.
Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles

Climate Emergency


Achievement off BREEAM excellent rating target for the building development and
use of renewable energy sources for the operational requirements

Inclusive Growth


Through the creation of jobs and skills training for adults and young people and
creating jobs close to communities


Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
28 The only other option is to retain Parklife on the Fullerton Park site and progress as per all
previous approvals. However this would negatively impact LUFC and their ambition for a
55,000 seater stadium and potentially also impact the existing Park and Ride which would
have lost up to 90 spaces as part of the Parklife development.
How will success be measured?
29 It will be measured through the successful delivery of the Parklife facility at Matthew Murray
and the future expansion of LUFC stadium to 55,000.
What is the timetable for implementation?
30 The programme for development is as follows:Page 321



Executive Board approval to site change

June 2021



Design development

June – November 2021



Planning Submission

December 2021



Planning approval

February 2022



Tendering of works

March- May 2022



Start on site

July/August 2022



Practical Completion

August 2023.

31 The EDCI screening is attached at appendix 4.
Appendices
32 Appendix 1 – Fullerton Park Parklife Scheme
33 Appendix 2 – Stadium Expansion Line
34 Appendix 3 - Matthew Murray Proposed Parklife Layout
35 Appendix 4 – EDCI Screening
Background papers
36 None

Page 322

Appendix 1 – Fullerton Park Parklife

Page 323

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2 – Stadium Expansion Line

Page 325

This page is intentionally left blank

RESPONSIBILITY IS NOT ACCEPTED FOR OTHERS SCALING DIRECTLY FROM
THIS DRAWING. DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING, USE WRITTEN
DIMENSIONS ONLY.

Appendix 3 - Matthew Murray site layout

ORIGINAL
SHEET SIZE

0

10m

25m

50m

A3

THIS DRAWING IS PRODUCED FOR USE IN THIS PROJECT ONLY AND MAY NOT
BE USED FOR ANY OTHER PURPOSE. NPS PROPERTY CONSULTANTS LTD
ACCEPT NO LIABILITY FOR THE USE OF THIS DRAWING OTHER THAN THE
PURPOSE FOR WHICH IT WAS INTENDED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PROJECT
AS RECORDED IN THE 'PURPOSE FOR ISSUE' AND 'FILE STATUS CODE'.
THIS DRAWING MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY FORM WITHOUT PRIOR
WRITTEN AGREEMENT.
© CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHTS 2019 ORDNANCE SURVEY
LICENCE NUMBER: 100019340.

KEY PLAN

This layout has been produced from
limited site information using aerial
photography and an LCC site
ownership Plan. Further site
information is required to progress the
layout including a topographical
survey to confirm available space. This
may affect the layouts illustrated.

Notes:

Proposed building
Car park (approx. 150 spaces)
Artificial grass pitch (AGP)
Goal storage area
Pedestrian footpath

Page 327

Kiosk / servery
Tree belt / ecological
enhancements
Pitch circulation / spectator
zone
Approx. trees requiring
removal (subject to tree survey
and planning approval)

FIRST ISSUE

P1
REV

SF

23.02.21

RB

23.02.21

RB

23.02.21

DRAWN

DATE

CHECKED

DATE

APPROVED

DATE

NPS Leeds Ltd
Unit 3a, First Floor, Evolution House, Springwell Road, Holbeck, Leeds, LS12 1AW,
Tel: 0113 320 1630; Email: leeds@nps.co.uk; web:www.nps.co.uk

CLIENT

Leeds City Council
Football Foundation
PROJECT

Former Matthew Murray School Site, Leeds

TITLE

Proposed Site Plan

SCALE

DISCIPLINE

PROJECT NUMBER

1:1500 Architect

TBC

DRAWING NUMBER

REV CODE

NPS-ZZ-00-DR- A -015
STATUS CODE

PURPOSE OF ISSUE

S0

Preliminary
y b

y b

P1

n wda er vDo r p p A
y b

SF

d e k c e hC

RB
File Path: T:\01B - C2 Projects 2018-19\14-24-19-1-1060 - Fullerton - Parklife - Sports Pavillion & Pitches\23 - MMurray Site\2 ACAD Sheets\NPS-ZZ-00-DR-A-015 - Proposed Site Plan.dwg, Saved: 23 February 2021 11:12:44, By: Fleming, Samuel

Date Plotted: 23 February 2021 11:18:59

© COPYRIGHT NPS GROUP 2021

RB

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Asset Management

Lead person: Jane Walne

Contact number: 0113 37 87705

1. Title: Fullerton Park and Matthew Murray Update
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

X

Other

If other, please specify
Physical works to create public realm improvement proposals.
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The screening is assessing the update as to the position around the Council’s Fullerton
Park Parklife scheme, the proposed of recent discussions with LUFC around their
preference to preserve the potential for a disposal of the former Matthew Murray High
School site to Leeds United Football Club (LUFC), as part of the ambition to relocate
their training ground facilities closer to Elland Road and the outcome 55,000 seat
expansion of Elland Road in the future, rather than the 50,000 seats previously agreed.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 329

1

greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
x

x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The proposal to relocate the Parklife scheme to the Matthew Murray site provides a
mixed health and well being offer from physical activity to health care right in the heart of
the Holbeck community. This was a key part of the challenge set by ward members who
were concerned that health facilities at Fullerton Park would not be seen as part of a
Beeston and Holbeck community offer so the change of site provides significant benefit to
that community. It also adds benefit to the Elland Road matchday operations as there will
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 330

2

be more parking spaces for fans and during the week Park and Ride facilities will remain
at over 1200 spaces as these will now be unaffected as a result of the change in site for
Parklife

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
Parklife will play a key role in the educational offer – from a health and wellbeing and
physical activity perspective to many of the local residents, sports clubs and community
groups through sports development and reach out programmes that will be on offer at
Parklife.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Collaboration and partnership working with local sports clubs and leeds united
foundation will be key to promoting positive messaging and outcomes.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
27/05/21
Jane Walne
Head of Projects and
Programmes
Date screening completed
27/05/21
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 331

3

a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:NA

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 332

4

Agenda Item 15
Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Report of Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23rd June 2021
Subject: Financial Performance - Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2021
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


The purpose of this report is to inform members of the final outturn for the financial
year 2020/21 in respect of both the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing
Revenue Account. This report also sets out the financial outturn position for capital
and includes expenditure on schools.



The pre-audited accounts will be presented to the Corporate Governance and Audit
Committee at its meeting on the 30th July 2021.



As set out below, the final position on the General Fund shows an underspend of
£1.1m after the creation of a number of earmarked reserves. When compared to the
provisional outturn position received at Executive Board in April, the overall position
has improved by £1.1m, and this underspend allows for a corresponding
contribution to the Council’s general reserve. As detailed in this report, there have
been changes in individual directorate positions and in the proposed level of
contributions to reserves. As a result, the planned contribution from Merrion House
Capital Receipts is now no longer required.



Throughout the year the Council has continued to incur additional expenditure and
to lose income across services as a consequence of COVID-19. As a result
Directorate dashboards highlight a COVID-19 related overspend of £99.9m before
proposals to balance.

Page 333



The addition of projected losses of council tax and business rates income results in
a total COVID overspend of £149.8m. In addition pension strain and severance
costs associated with staff exiting the Council through the Early Leavers Initiative
increases the overall overspend to £160.5m.



As a result of taking account of non-COVID savings, the application of capital
receipt flexibilities and additional Government funding the projected Directorate
overspend reduced by £14.8m to £85.2m. When combined with corporate
pressures the overall General Fund overspend was reduced from £160.5m to
£145.8m.



The Council received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID19 in 2020/21, of which £2.6m was applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m of available
funding. A £27.4m Government contribution to lost income is also reflected.
Application of this £97.0m of grant has reduced the financial pressure in 2020/21 to
£48.8m.



Since this reported position assumes that the estimated Collection Fund income
shortfall of £49.9m will impact on the revenue position in 2021/22 and future years,
the final financial outturn position for 2020/21 now reflects an underspend of £1.1m
at the year end.



An unfunded deficit of £36.7m has been declared in December 2020 on the
Authority’s Collection Fund in respect of business rates. The Government
announced that the repayment of this deficit must be spread over the following
three year years. The first third of this declared deficit, £12.2m, is reflected in the
approved 2021/22 revenue budget and reduces the revenue funds available to the
Council in that year. However since this deficit was declared in December a number
of issues have been further clarified, including the treatment of a large number of
appeals from ratepayers against their Rateable Value and claims for Empty Rate
Relief during the pandemic which have improved the financial position. These
developments will impact on the deficit that has to be funded in 2022/23 and will not
impact on the 2021/22 budget.



The outturn for the year on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) shows a net
underspend of £15.65m when compared against the 2020/21 budget. This is
primarily due to the reduction in the revenue contribution required to support its
capital programme and also savings in the repairs and maintenance budgets, both
as a consequence of the impact of the pandemic. As the HRA operates as a
ringfenced account, it is proposed these savings are largely appropriated to
reserves.



As at 1st April 2020 the level of general reserve was £31.5m. As per Table 7 at
paragraph 6.1 the balance in the general reserve at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m.
This position reflects the budgeted use of £10m of general reserve in 2020/21, but
also contributions to the reserve totalling £6.2m. This reflects the impact of
budgeted Treasury Management savings of £1m and the repayment of £4.1m of
general reserve funds applied in 2019/20 to manage a shortfall in capital receipts in
that year, as reported to this Board in April 2020. It also includes the 2020/21 year
end underspend of £1.1m which has been transferred to this reserve.



There are contributions to reserves in 2020/21 and this report seeks the Board’s
agreement for the creation of a number of new earmarked reserves.



Given the ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s
financial position, including the potential impact on the Authority’s Collection Fund,
this higher level of reserves, will help to cushion the Council against variations to
Page 334

budget assumptions in 2021/22 and beyond. This approach is consistent with the
Council’s strategy to increase reserves to ensure that the Council’s financial
position is robust, resilient and sustainable.
2. Best Council Plan Implications (see the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The 2020/21 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities
as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on financial performance
against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and
enterprising organisation.

3. Resource Implications


At final financial outturn Directorate dashboards reflect a projected overspend which
largely relates to COVID-19 pressures of £99.9m which when combined with
Corporate pressures results in an overall overspend of £160.5m. After application of
government funding and a range of further measures, this report shows an
underspend of £1.1m for 2020/21 which will be used as a contribution to the
Council’s general reserve.

Recommendations
Members of the Executive Board are asked to;
a) Note the outturn position for 2020/21;
b) Agree the creation of earmarked reserves as detailed in paragraph 6.7 and to
delegate their release to the Chief Officer Financial Services;
c) Note that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be responsible for the
implementation of these actions following the ‘call in’ period.

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report sets out for the Board the Council’s financial outturn position for 2020/21
for both revenue and capital. It also includes the Housing Revenue Account and
expenditure on schools.

1.2

In addition, the report highlights the position regarding other key financial health
indicators including Council Tax and Business Rates collection statistics, sundry
income, reserves and the prompt payment of creditors.

1.3

It should be noted that, in accordance with proper accounting practice, any
significant event which occurs prior to the audit sign-off of the accounts could
impact on the Council’s final published outturn position and hence on the level of
reserves. This is known as a post balance sheet event and, should such an event
occur, it will be reported back to this Board at the earliest opportunity.

1.4

The Council’s unaudited accounts are scheduled to be placed on deposit for public
inspection in August 2021.

Page 335

2.

Background information

2.1

Executive Board will recall that the net revenue budget for the general fund for
2020/21 was set at £525.7m.

2.2

Following the closure of the 2019/20 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve
stood at £31.5m. The 2020/21 budget applied a net £9.0m from this reserve during
the financial year, use of £10m netted down by a contribution of £1m relating to
Treasury Management savings. However, as planned, there has also been a
repayment of £4.1m of general reserve funds which were applied in 2019/20 to
manage a shortfall in capital receipts in that year, reported to this Board in April
2020. The year end underspend of £1.1m has also been transferred to this reserve.
Consequently, the balance at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m, a reduction of £3.8m
when compared to the balance at 31st March 2020.

2.3

Financial monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial
management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget that are
judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, those
budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. This has
again been reinforced through specific project management based support and
reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans.

3.

Main issues

3.1

The final financial outturn position shows a COVID related overspend of £149.8m
which, combined with the additional pension strain and severance costs associated
with staff exiting the Authority through the Early Leaver’s Initiative, results in an
overall overspend position of £160.5m.

3.2

In response to the financial challenge for 2021/22 that was detailed in the Medium
Term Financial Strategy report received by Executive Board in September, 845
employees left the Council through the Early Leaver’s Initiative by the 31st March
2021. The salary savings resulting from these staffing reductions contribute towards
the realisation of the budget savings proposals for 2020/21 received at this Board in
September, October, November and December 2020.

3.3

Whilst the Council has incurred severance and pension strains costs of £17.5m in
2020/21, £12.4m of which relate to the new 2020/21 ELI scheme, it is projected that
over the five year period covered by the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy
savings of £100.2m (before reconfiguration costs) will be realised through the
deletion of the posts relating to the new scheme.

3.4

This overspend position of £160.5m also includes the estimated Collection Fund
deficit of £49.9m resulting from a reduction in collection rates in respect of both
Council Tax and Business Rates.

3.5

Details of the Directorate overspend due to COVID-19 are summarised in Table 1.

3.6

The Council received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID19 in 2019/20 and 2020/21, of which £2.6m was applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m
available. In July 2020 Government announced a further package of financial
support for Local Government to address income losses due to COVID-19, through
which the Council has claimed £27.5m, of which £18.9m has been received to date.
Application of this £97.0m of grant reduces the COVID financial pressure to
£63.5m.

Page 336

Table 1 - summary outturn position
(Under) / Over spend for the current period

Directorate

Director

Staffing
£000

Total
Expenditure

Income

£000

£000

Total
(under)
/overspend
£000

COVID
related
£000

NonCOVID
related
£000

Prov
Outturn
Total
£000

COVID
related
£000

NonCOVID
related
£000

Adults & Health

Cath Roff

229

58,556

(51,873)

6,683

6,683

0

7,114

7,114

Children and Families

Sal Tariq

(2,599)

3,256

3,958

7,214

5,714

1,500

8,092

8,092

0

City Development

Martin Farrington

(3,552)

8,384

11,876

20,260

24,210

(3,950)

22,026

25,180

(3,154)

Communities & Environment

James Rogers

1,847

31,385

(10,219)

21,166

25,025

(3,859)

23,659

26,724

(3,065)

Resources & Housing

Neil Evans

(1,377)

6,339

3,074

9,413

14,090

(4,677)

12,788

17,546

(4,758)

Strategic
Strategic (Balancing Measures)

Victoria Bradshaw
Victoria Bradshaw

(397)
10,705

198,464 (178,046)
(8,620)
(77,668)

20,418
(86,288)

24,200
(86,288)

(3,782)
0

26,754
32,155
(100,433) (100,433)

(5,400)
0

4,856

297,763 (298,897)

(1,134)

13,634

(14,768)

0

16,377

(16,377)

49,890

49,890

0

49,890

49,890

0

48,756

63,524

(14,768)

49,890

66,267

(16,377)

Total Current Month (Dashboards)
Council Tax & Business Rates Losses (Declared)

Previous month (under)/over in directorates

6,474

157,695 (157,695)

0

Full details of the Directorate variations, budget action plans and risk areas for the
year can be found in the financial dashboards attached at Appendix 1. The main
directorate issues contributing to the outturn position are as follows:3.6.1 Adults & Health – As detailed on the dashboard, the final outturn position is an
overspend of £6.7m. This is all attributable to COVID related pressures.
The picture of the year is heavily influenced by COVID in both provision of services
and the management of £46.8m of ringfenced grants received to allow the
directorate to support initiatives and the care market.
The pressure is related to a number of actions taken by the directorate in light of the
pandemic and the resultant impact of those changing priorities on delivering a
number of budgeted savings plans; £2.9m of savings plans have not been delivered
during this financial year. It is noted that this is attributable to slippage and that once
a return to ‘normal’ is achieved the work needed to deliver these plans will resume
and the savings delivered.
The pressures that make up the remaining COVID cost include additional care
packages to meet the needs of people affected by day centre closures and ‘paying
to plan’ on home care. A net £2.3m has been spent in meeting pressures within the
care sector. In line with national guidance to support the provider market the
equivalent of a 10%, 5% and further 5% fee uplift, based on historic payments, has
been paid to providers over each of the first three months of the year. In addition, a
payment to reflect voids within the care home sector was established for a 6-week
period, also at the beginning of the year. Additional support was also given to the
care sector as a whole, though this was from the additional grants provided by the
government.
The above is a £0.4m positive improvement from the reported position at
Provisional Outturn, predominately due to expenditure on demand led budgets
coming in lower than projected.

Page 337

0

3.6.2 Children & Families – As detailed on the dashboard, the outturn position for the
Children and Families directorate is an overspend of £7.21m, an improvement of
£0.88m compared to the previously reported overspend of £8.09m at Provisional
Outturn. £5.71m of the £7.21m is due to a number of pressures as a result of
COVID, with the remaining £1.5m relating to repayment of previous borrowing
against school reserves. The key variances since Provisional Outturn relate to an
improved position on traded budgets, further savings on transport, carry forward of
funding to 2021/22 and repayment of previous borrowing against school reserves.
The £7.21m overspend is broken down as follows:
Expenditure








£m

CLA placements
Non-CLA (financially supported)
Funding carried forward
Repayment of borrowing
Staffing related costs
Transport and travel
Other expenditure

3.96
2.33
1.82
1.50
(2.60)
(2.12)
(1.63)
3.26

Income
 Income from schools
 Childcare income
 School attendance penalty notices
 Other income

£m
0.95
3.01
0.37
(0.37)
3.96

Total overspend

7.21

As shown in the breakdown above, the key pressure within expenditure in 2020/21
related to Children Looked After (CLA) (£3.96m) and financially supported non-CLA
(£2.33m). Although detailed benchmarking is not yet available, feedback from local
authorities across the country is that many are currently seeing an overall increase
in CLA numbers. In Leeds however there has been a decline in CLA numbers since
the start of the year and overall, as at the end of March, there were 70 fewer
placements than originally budgeted, despite the impact of COVID in the city.
Although CLA numbers in the city were less than the total amount assumed in the
budget, the rates paid to providers increased during 2020/21 due to COVID and
there were more external placements than assumed in the budget. In addition,
within the non-CLA placements there was also a pressure on semi-independent
living costs for over 16 year olds due to an increased number of placements
compared to the budget. This reflects the difficulty with young people being able to
move out of these placements in the current climate, as well as the impact of
COVID on providers.
A further key impact of COVID on the Children and Families budget has been on
income, and in total there was a £4.33m loss of income from children’s centres,
school trading and school attendance income. In line with principles laid out by
Government, the Council has taken the approach that schools should be charged
as normal for disrupted Council services for which they have a regular financial
Page 338

commitment, as they have received funding to pay for these services. However
there is still some net loss of income for ad hoc traded services to schools and
those paid for through parental contributions, such as music services. This has
been included on the Council’s claim to Government for funding towards loss of
income.
For 2020/21 there has also been an additional £1.82m of funding carried forward to
2021/22 for future expenditure. In addition this outturn position reflects a £1.5m
payment to schools reserves which is the re-imbursement of a contribution made in
a previous financial year towards the costs associated with early intervention and
preventative services in Children’s Services.
Offsetting some of the pressures noted above are savings on staffing (£2.60m),
transport (£2.12m) and other expenditure (£1.63m), due to COVID and the
Council’s ELI scheme.
3.6.3 City Development – At Outturn the Directorate position is an overspend of
£20.26m, which is a favourable movement of £1.77m from the Provisional Outturn
position previously reported to Executive Board, largely due to additional income in
Highways and Planning and staffing and expenditure savings in Active Leeds,
which equates to 0.65% of Gross Managed Budget for the Directorate. This
includes the impact of COVID-19 of £24.21m. The Directorate's financial position
was significantly affected by the lockdowns and other restrictions in place and the
subsequent impact on the economy, with the vast majority of the overspend
resulting from reduced income across a number of services.
The outturn position also includes additional costs of £935k for Winter Maintenance
due to the particularly cold weather and the need for increased gritting.
The variances below include £0.38m of ELI savings realised by employees leaving
before the 31st March 2021.
The most significant loss in income was in Active Leeds where some facilities only
started re-opening on a staggered basis at the end of July but with reduced
capacity, closing again due to the second and third lockdowns. The year-end
financial position for Active Leeds is an overspend of £11.3m.
Other services that also faced reductions in income include:






Arts and Heritage - £2.1m, net of running cost savings, following the closure
of sites and cancellation of events.
Asset Management and Regeneration - £3.1m from expected reductions and
defaults in rental and other commercial income. This includes the shortfall
against new commercial income included in the 2020/21 budget.
Planning and Sustainable Development - £0.7m due to reduced planning
application fees.
Markets and City Centre Management - £2.4m from a reduction in rental and
advertising income.
Highways and Transportation - £0.92m through a reduction in chargeable
fees and recovery of overheads in the Highways DLO.

Whilst the impact of COVID-19 on City Development has been mostly on income,
some additional costs have also been incurred, totalling £0.74m for the year. The

Page 339

impact of non-realisation of savings to fund the additional cost of the higher pay
award in 2020/21 was £0.37m.
The outturn position includes staff savings of £3.2m on non-chargeable vacant
posts net of the additional costs of the higher pay offer. Savings of £1.26m have
also been achieved via reduced spend on general running costs and travel and
subsistence.
3.6.4 Communities & Environment – the overall Outturn position for the directorate
reflects an overspend of £21.2m which represents an improvement of £2.5m from
the Provisional Outturn, largely due to revised income losses and other running cost
savings in Customer Access, income from the Government income compensation
scheme within the ring-fenced Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service and
improvements in the reported position for Environmental Services and in respect of
Car Parking income losses.
The Directorate's financial position has been significantly affected by the economic
impact of lockdowns and other restrictions in place during the year and the overall
financial impact of COVID-19 on the directorate during 2020/21 was £25.0m
The main areas of variation in respect of COVID-19 are as follows:











Loss of car parking and enforcement income £7.5m
Loss of Parks & Countryside income £4.3m. This includes income from
visitor attractions, cafes, bereavement services, chargeable works within
Parks Operations and Landscaping teams and the cancellation of planned
events.
Loss of Electoral and Regulatory Services income £1.5m. This includes
Registrars, Entertainment Licensing, Taxi & Private Hire Licensing and
Environmental Health activities. These income losses are partially offset by
£0.4m savings resulting from the cancelled May 2020 local elections and
£0.3m from the Government’s income compensation scheme in respect of
the ring-fenced Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service.
Waste Management – net additional expenditure £6.8m. This includes the
cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with increased
volumes of waste, the cost of disposing of the additional waste and the cost
of providing staffing cover and PPE equipment across the service as well as
income losses at Household Waste sites. As part of the Council’s contract for
waste disposal at the RERF, the Council is due to receive income of £0.6m
resulting from the additional waste volumes processed by the RERF during
the year and this one-off income has been transferred to the existing waste
earmarked reserve to support the delivery of the Refuse route review and the
developing waste strategy.
Welfare & Benefits – additional expenditure of £0.7m in respect of the net
cost of Housing Benefit claims for the vulnerable homeless in emergency
accommodation and £0.9m net shortfall in budgeted Housing Benefit
overpayment income. It is proposed that balance of funding (£0.8m) for the
discretionary Test & Trace support scheme (self-isolation payments) will be
carried forward in a newly created earmarked reserve to allow the scheme to
continue in 21/22.
The net cost to the Council of providing a temporary mortuary facility of
£0.9m – this was created as part of the Council's emergency planning
arrangements to deal with a potential increase in mortality rates over and
above current capacity for Leeds and Wakefield.
Page 340





Other areas of income loss/additional expenditure across the directorate of
£3.1m. This includes income losses from community centres,
libraries/community hubs, bulky waste collections and from environmental
enforcement. It also includes additional costs of providing PPE/ Cleaning/
Social distancing measures and software/equipment to support home
working. Other costs incurred include a city wide mailout and staffing related
costs in support of the Council’s response to the crisis. In addition, the
COVID-19 situation impacted on the ability to deliver the savings required to
fund the additional 0.75% cost of the 2020/21 pay award which was £0.7m.
An in year underspend on the Wellbeing budget of £0.4m has been
transferred to the existing Wellbeing earmarked reserve for use in future
years.

The overall position for the directorate also includes other net expenditure savings
of £3.8m. These include savings from the implementation of tighter controls on
recruitment, the part year impact of staff leaving the authority before 31st March
2021 under the Council’s Early Leaver scheme (£1.7m) and net savings of £2.1m
on all other expenditure/income budget headings across the directorate.
3.6.5 Resources & Housing – The Directorate has outturned with an overspend of
£9.4m, which is an improvement of £3.4m compared to the Provisional Outturn
position, which in the main reflects reductions in the forecast net cost of PPE,
arising from additional health income, reductions in actual spend at outturn
compared to forecasts and the requirement to account for stock in hand at 31st
March on the balance sheet and charged to the revenue account in 2021/22 when it
will be used.
In total £14m of pressures are COVID related, broadly summarised into the
following areas across the Directorate’s services:








Trading shortfall within Leeds Building Services (LBS)
Additional PPE (LCC wide)
Homelessness accommodation costs (net of grant)
Catering income & emergency meals
Other income reductions (capital / court fees)
Delays to budget action plans
Savings from Working home/buildings/car allowances - net
Additional pay award

£5.3m
£0.9m
£0.7m
£2.7m
£3.4m
£0.3m
(£0.3m)
£0.8m

The total non COVID related savings are £4.6m and have arisen from a recruitment
freeze, savings in non-essential spend, additional grant income and the impact on
staffing costs of ELI leavers (£1.1m).
3.6.6 Strategic & Central Accounts - At financial Outturn, the Strategic & Central
accounts position is an overspend of £20.4m, of which £24.2m is COVID related,
before taking into account corporate actions to balance the 2020/21 budget.
The £20.4m overspend includes a £3.4m debit for the contribution to reserves of net
non-COVID related underspends identified during the year across directorates. The
outturn position also includes an overspend of £23.3m in MRP, as a result of a
reduced level of capital receipts being available to repay debt as a consequence of
the impact of COVID-19. This is an improvement on the provisional outturn position
which did not assume a number of receipts received in March, for which the timing
Page 341

had been uncertain. This overspend is partly offset by savings of £1.4m in the
remainder of the debt budget.
An underspend of £2.1m has been included for a reduction in the business rates
levy payable, as a result of reduced business rates income for the year. The
position also reflects an additional £155.0m of S31 grants in relation to business
rate reliefs awarded due to the impact of the pandemic. These grants will be carried
forward in an earmarked reserve, as they are required to fund the 2020/21
Collection Fund deficit which will impact on the revenue position in 2021/22.
Estimated grant income to be claimed under the Council Tax and Business Rates
income guarantee schemes of £2.2m and £15.3m respectively have been accrued
for and carried forward in reserves.
Following the government spending review, additional New Homes Bonus grant of
£2.2m has been recognised.
There has been a shortfall of £0.9m in the target budget for general capitalisation,
as overall restrictions on spending have reduced the potential for capitalisation.
However this has been offset by a number of minor savings across other corporate
budgets, totalling £1.4m.
Corporate actions to deliver a balanced budget position are also reflected in the
Strategic position and the appended dashboard, and are discussed below.
Balancing COVID Pressures
3.6.7 Directorate dashboards highlight a COVID-19 overspend of £99.9m which
combined with other pressures, including a variation in the Collection Fund,
pension strain and the cost of severance results in a overspend of £160.5m.
3.6.8 In order to manage this overspend a range of proposals have been identified and
reported throughout the year and these are detailed in Table 2 below.
Table 2 COVID Funding Gap

Directorate/Service
Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing
Strategic & Central

Outturn
20/21
£m
6.68
5.71
24.21
25.03
14.09
24.20

Mitigation- Savings
including Salary
£m
0.00
1.50
-3.95
-3.86
-4.68
-3.28

Directorate dashboards

99.92

-14.27

Corporate pressures:
CT/BR Income Losses
Cost of Severance
Pension Strain
Total General Fund Impact

49.89
9.39
1.32
60.60
160.52

-14.27

Page 342

Use of
Other
Funds
£m

-0.50

Total
£m
6.68
7.21
20.26
21.17
9.41
20.42

-0.50

85.15

-0.50

49.89
9.39
1.32
60.60
145.75

Total General Fund Impact

Outturn
20/21
£m
160.52

Mitigation- Savings
including Salary
£m
-14.27

Use of
Other
Funds
£m
-0.50

Total
£m
145.75

Government Funding
Government Support for
Income Losses
Net Position

-69.53

-69.53

-27.47
-96.99

-27.47
-96.99

Total GF Impact 2020/21

63.52

Council Tax/Business Rates

-49.89

COVID-19 Funding Gap
2020/21

13.63

-14.27

-0.50

48.76
-49.89

-14.27

-0.50

-1.13

3.6.9 The level of non-COVID savings, including those resulting from the deletion of posts
as a consequence of staff exiting the Council through the Early Leaver’s Initiative is
£14.3m and this has contributed towards addressing the highlighted budget
pressures.
3.6.10 This position also reflects use of £0.5m of capital receipts flexibilities, which
contribute to meeting the costs of the new ELI scheme.
3.6.11 Previous Financial Health reports to this Board have highlighted the requirement to
utilise the Merrion House capital receipt from the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve
in order that the Council could deliver a balanced budget position in 2020/21.
However because of the improved financial position for both directorates and
Strategic and Central Accounts that is being reported there is no longer a
requirement to use the Merrion House receipt to support the 2020/21 revenue
budget and instead the balance will be carried forward into 2021/22.
3.6.12 As a result of the above proposals the Directorate overspend reduces to £85.2m
which combined with a Corporate pressure of £60.6m reduces the overall level of
overspend down to £145.8m.
3.6.13 To date the Council has received £72.2m of Government funding towards the
general costs of COVID-19, of which £2.64m was applied in 2019/20, leaving
£69.5m available. A £27.4m Government contribution to lost income is also
reflected, of which £18.9m has been received to date. Application of this £97.0m of
grant in 2020/21 reduces the COVID financial pressure to £48.8m.
3.6.14 Since the Collection Fund income shortfall of £49.9m does not impact on the
revenue position until 2021/22, when it can be spread over 3 years, there is an
underspend of £1.1m in 2020/21 which will be used as a contribution to the
Council’s general reserve.
3.6.15 Clearly there is ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s
financial position in 2021/22 and beyond, including the potential impact on the
Authority’s Collection Fund. The higher level of reserves as at 31st March 2021
discussed in Paragraph 6, will help to cushion the Council against COVID and other
variations to budget assumptions in future years.
3.6.16 Table 3 summarises the movement from the Provisional Outturn position reported
to Executive Board in April and the Outturn position presented in this report. The
table clearly demonstrates the movements in the directorate and Strategic positions
Page 343

detailed in this report, as a consequence of which the planned use of £16.4m of
Merrion House Capital Receipts is now no longer required.
Table 3 - Movement from Provisional Outturn to Outturn

Directorate
Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing
Directorate Sub-total
Strategic & Central Accounts
Use of Merrion House Capital Receipt

3.7

Provisional
Outturn
(April Exec
Board)
£k
7,114
8,092
22,026
23,659
12,788
73,679

Final
Outturn
£k
6,683
7,214
20,260
21,166
9,413
64,736

Variance
Provisional
to Final
Outturn
£k
(431)
(878)
(1,766)
(2,493)
(3,375)
(8,943)

(57,307)
(16,372)
0

(65,870)
0
(1,134)

(8,563)
16,372
(1,134)

Early Leaver’s Initiative

3.7.1 The Council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme since
2010/11 which has contributed to a reduction in the workforce and subsequent
savings which have contributed towards the Council being able to deliver balanced
budget positions. In 2020/21 approval has been given for 845 FTE’s to leave the
Authority through the new 2020/21 Early Leaver’s Initiative and this will generate
savings of £100.2m (before reconfiguration costs) over the five year period up to
and including 2025/26.
3.7.2 Severance and in year pension costs totalling £17.5m have been incurred in
2020/21, for both old and new ELI schemes. Costs arising from the new 2020/21
ELI scheme of £12.4m have required £10.7m of corporate funding. Utilising capital
receipt flexibilities that the Government introduced in 2016 the Council has funded
£0.6m of Early Leaver costs associated with staff exiting the authority in 2020/21
both under the previous and new schemes.
4.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

4.1

The outturn for the year on the HRA shows a net underspend of £15.65m when
compared against the 2020/21 budget. This is primarily due to the reduction in the
revenue contribution required to support its capital programme and also savings in
the repairs and maintenance budgets. The reduction in spend in both of these areas
arose from the impact of the pandemic. As the HRA operates as a ringfenced
account, it is proposed these savings in the main be appropriated to reserves.

4.2

Total income received was £3.0m less than budgeted. Rental income was £1.6m
lower than budgeted, mainly due to a temporary increase in the number of void
properties due to COVID-19. Additionally, £1.9m of income is impacted by forecast
lower staff charges to capital from vacant posts and the reduced capital programme
for 2020-21. Also net external income was £0.5m higher than budgeted.

Page 344

4.3

The cost of disrepair was an additional £2.4m. This was largely as a result of a
combination of resolving an increased number of disrepair cases and increased
costs in relation to cases. The total balance sheet provision for disrepair now totals
£2.7m.

4.4

Against a budget of £49.8m, expenditure on maintaining and repairing the Council’s
housing stock was £4.7m under budget. This was due to the impact of COVID
restrictions, including the ability to access tenants’ properties during periods of
lockdown.

4.5

Savings of £1.1m on staffing costs arose as a result of the authority’s vacancy
management strategy. This £1.1m underspend is the net saving after accounting for
the funding of severance costs for those staff exiting the Authority on the Early
Leavers Initiative (ELI) during 2020/21.

4.6

Premises costs were approximately £0.17m lower than budgeted for, principally due
to savings from utility costs.

4.7

Supplies and Services underspent by £0.59m resulting from a detailed review of all
expenditure as part of the Authority’s response to budget pressures arising due to
COVID.

4.8

Services commissioned from the Council were £0.34m below the budgeted level.
Additional costs of Digital Information Services charges of £0.5m were offset with
savings from other service charges including £0.38m on Grounds Maintenance and
£0.28m from Strategic Housing.

4.9

The revenue contribution to the Capital Programme was £14.2m lower than
budgeted due to a reduction in the programme as a result of the COVID restrictions.
It is proposed to transfer £10.3m to the capital Major Repairs Reserve to support an
ongoing programme of around £80m annually from 2021-22 onwards.

4.10

The unitary charge for the Housing Private Finance Initiative (PFI) schemes was
£0.27m under budget due to a range of adjustments to the unitary charge model.

4.11

£0.16m has been saved on transport expenditure as a result of reduced travelling
over the past year. Housing Advisory Panel expenditure was £0.04m under budget,
and in line with existing policies this will be carried forward to 2021/22 through the
appropriation account.

4.12

The Capital charges underspend of £0.3m reflects the interest charges for assets
under construction being charged to the capital programme rather than revenue.

4.13

Following a review in the level of tenant arrears the provision for doubtful debts was
increased by £0.4m. The total provision for bad debts is now £7.3m.

4.14

A £0.9m overspend on the PFI appropriation account reflects the impact of utilising
less PFI sinking fund reserves than had been budgeted.

4.15

The budget assumed the use of £0.4m from the ELI reserve and £0.7m from the
Welfare Change reserve. In addition there has been a transfer of £0.3m to the HRA
General Reserve, £0.04m to the Housing Advisory Panel reserve and utilisation of
£0.3m from the Sheltered Housing Reserve. Furthermore it is recommended that a
£4.2m Repair/Disrepair reserve is created.

4.16

In summary, the above variations have produced an underspend on the HRA of
£15.6m which will be transferred to reserves for future use.

Page 345

Table 4 HRA Variance to Budget
Variance to Budget £m
Rent / Other Income

3.0

Employees

(1.1)

Repairs /Disrepair

(2.3)

Running Costs

(1.0)

Revenue Contribution to Capital

(14.2)
(15.6)
15.6

Transfer to Reserves

4.17

A summary of the HRA outturn reserves position is shown in Table 5.
Table 5 HRA Outturn Reserves Position

Page 346

5.

Schools

5.1

The 2020/21 outturn position for schools is shown in table 6 below;
Table 6 Schools Outturn Position

Outturn
Schools Reserves
Balance Brought Forward
Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves
Balance Carried Forward
Extended Services & Partnerships
Brought Forward
Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves
Balance Carried Forward
Dedicated Schools Grant
Balance Brought Forward
Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves
Balance Carried Forward

£m
18.2
15.3
33.5
6.3
(1.1)
5.2
(3.2)
1.2
(2.0)

5.2

As schools are funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) their reserves are
ring fenced and must be carried forward. At 31st March 2021, maintained school
reserves stand at £33.5m.

5.3

The significant increase in schools balances of £15.3m is mainly attributable to a
number of COVID-19 related factors. During the pandemic all schools continued to
receive their core funding which was enhanced with additional COVID Specific
funding, however as a result of reduced attendance in schools during lockdown
general expenditure was significantly lower in schools.

5.4

During 2020/21, a contribution of £1.5m was paid from the Children and Families
directorate which repays funding provided in previous financial years to resource
early intervention and preventative services.

5.5

There are also other maintained school-related reserves totalling £2.3m, comprising
a ring-fenced school reserve of £2.0m specifically relating to the carry forward of inyear PFI scheme balances, an SEND funding reserve of £0.04m and a School VER
reserve of £0.25m.

5.6

Taking into account the maintained school reserves of £33.5m (see 5.2), the £2.5m
of borrowing against these (see 5.4) and the £2.3m of other reserves (see 5.5), the
net position for maintained school-related reserves is £33.3m as at 31st March
2021.

5.7

Extended Services & Partnerships reserves amount to £5.2m as at 31 st March
2021. These include balances held by Area Inclusion Partnerships and Clusters.

5.8

At the start of 2020/21 the ring fenced DSG reserve had a deficit balance £3.2m.
During 2020/21 there has been a net movement of £1.2m which is a result of an
over spend on the High Needs Block (£2.3m), partly offset by underspends on the
Schools Block (£1.8m), the Early Years Block (£2.2m) and the Central School
Services block (£0.1m). In addition, £0.6m of the de-delegated DSG surplus
brought forward was refunded to schools during 2020/21. In total a deficit balance
of £2.0m will be carried forward to 2021/22, comprising a general DSG deficit of
£3.1m with an additional surplus balance of £1.1m on the de-delegated DSG. This
position will be reported to Schools Forum in June.
Page 347

5.9

During 2019/20, changes were made to the School and Early Years Finance
(England) Regulations 2020 to make it a statutory requirement that a deficit must be
carried forward to be dealt with from future DSG income, unless the Secretary of
State authorises the local authority not to do this.

5.10

A discussion will be held with Schools Forum in June on options for the use of the
de-delegated surplus balance, as in previous years this may be distributed back out
to schools pro-rata to their original contributions.

5.11

In line with previous years, during 2020/21 there was an underspend on Early Years
funding, due to funding being based on the January census which has higher
numbers of 2 - 4 year olds than the average of all censuses over the year. The
council is looking at how this funding could be redistributed to support the Early
Years sector with the challenges they are facing due to COVID, which will help to
ensure the sufficiency of childcare in the city moving forward.

6.

Reserves

6.1

A full statement of all Council reserves can be found at Appendix 2. A summary of
the reserves is shown in Table 7. Overall, with Board approval, the Council’s total
reserves will increase to £345.0m, an increase of £209.0m when compared to the
position at 31st March 2020. This includes an increase in General Fund earmarked
reserves of £202.5m. It is important to note that this increase includes £155.0m of
Section 31 Business Rates Relief grant funding and £17.5m of Tax Income
Guarantee funding, all of which has been provided to compensate for COVID
related Collection Fund losses in 2020/21 which impact on the revenue budget in
2021/22 and later years, when these funds will be applied to revenue to offset this
impact.

6.2

The increase in General Fund earmarked reserves also reflects the contribution of
£24.3m to the Strategic Contingency reserve which has been established to provide
for any unforeseen events requiring additional resources in 2021/22. This
contribution reflects the application of £20.7m of the Government’s Contain
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) grant to expenditure that the Council incurred
during 2020/21 which had been managed through the use of base budget. As a
result of the release of the base budget a contribution to the Strategic Contingency
Reserve has been made. The balance of the contribution to the reserve has been
funded through £0.1m of New Burdens grant not applied in 2020/21 and £3.5m of
non-COVID directorate savings realised during the year.

6.3

Total General Fund ringfenced and grant reserves have reduced by £16.0m to
£11.6m.

6.4

Given the ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s
financial position, including the potential impact on the Authority’s Collection Fund,
this higher level of reserves, will help to cushion the Council against variations to
budget assumptions in 2021/22 and beyond. This position is consistent with the
Council’s strategy to increase reserves to ensure that the Council’s financial
position is robust, resilient and sustainable.

6.5

As discussed at paragraphs 4 and 5, Schools ring-fenced reserves have increased
by £18.0m and HRA reserves by £8.3m in 2020/21.

Page 348

Table 7 Total Reserves

Reserves

6.6

Balance Transfer Balance
at 31.3.20 to/(from) at 31.3.21
£m
£m
£m

General Fund:
General Reserve
Earmarked Reserves
Ring-fenced & Grant Reserves
Total

31.5
30.1
27.6
89.2

(3.8)
202.5
(16.0)
182.7

27.8
232.6
11.6
271.9

Schools:
Ring-fenced Reserves

18.5

18.0

36.5

Housing Revenue Account:
General Reserve
Earmarked Reserves
Total

6.5
21.8
28.3

0.3
8.0
8.3

6.8
29.8
36.6

Total Reserves

136.0

209.0

345.0

General Reserve

6.6.1 Table 8 provides an explanation of the movement in the general reserve:
Table 8 General Fund Reserve

General Fund Reserve

£m

Opening Balance 1st April 2020

31.5

Budgeted Use
Contribution In Year
In-year Underspend

(9.0)
4.1
1.1

Closing Balance 31st March 2021

27.8

6.6.2 As at 1st April 2020 the level of general reserve was £31.5m. The 2020/21 budget
assumed a net contribution from the general reserve of £9.0m - use of £10m offset
by £1m of Treasury Management savings. During the year £4.1m of general
reserve funds applied in 2019/20 to manage a shortfall in capital receipts in that
year have been repaid and a year end underspend of £1.13m has also been
transferred to this reserve. As per table 7 at paragraph 6.1 the amount of general
reserve at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m.
6.6.3 This contribution to the Council’s general reserve will continue to contribute to the
Council’s financial resilience, particularly in the context of the impact of COVID-19
which has added to the inherent uncertainty resulting from delays to the
implementation of the Government’s intended move to 75% business rate retention
nationally and the outcome of the Government’s Fair Funding Review. Adding to
Page 349

this uncertainty is the continued delay in the publication of the Government’s plans
for social care which will hopefully provide greater certainty around their future
funding intentions.
6.7

Creation of New Earmarked Reserves
It is recommended that the following earmarked reserves are created;

6.8



A Section 31 Business Rates Reserve of £155.0m to carry forward S31
Business Rates relief grants received in 2020/21 to 2021/22, where the
Leeds share of this income will be released in the 2021/22 budget.



A Strategic Contingency Reserve of £24.3m to carry forward directorate
savings to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to ensure the
Council becoming more financially resilient and sustainable. This includes a
£20.7m contribution arising as a result of application of the Government’s
COMF grant to expenditure incurred during the year which had been
managed through the use of base budget, £0.1m of New Burdens grant not
yet applied and £3.5m of non-COVID directorate savings identified in year.



A Council Tax TIG Reserve (£2.2m) and a Business Rates TIG Reserve
(£15.3m), both of which are to carry forward government Tax Income
Guarantee funding from Government to compensate in part for COVID
related Collection Fund losses, and which will be applied to revenue over
three years to match the impact of those losses.



A Self Isolation Payment Reserve of £0.8m to carry forward Government
funding.



A Leeds Building Services Reserve of £0.3m to fund the implementation
costs of the Connect system.



A Revenue Repairs Reserve within the HRA of £4.2m, funded by savings in
the same budget in 2020-21. This reserve will be used to help address any
backlogs in cases that may have occurred during the pandemic.

For completeness, two new ringfenced reserves will be created. These reflect the
conditions of use for the relevant funding and do not require the Board’s approval:


A Rapid Test Fund Reserve of £0.1m to carry forward funding from
Government to support COVID testing of individuals.



A Community Discharge Grant Reserve of £0.9m to carry forward funding
from Government for transitions costs from Hospitals back to Community
Settings.

Page 350

7.

Capital Programme

7.1

The actual capital expenditure for General Fund and HRA in 2020/21 is £404.1m,
an underspend of £32.4m or a 7.4% variation against the February 2021 Capital
Programme projected outturn.
General Fund

7.2

Table 9 shows the in-year actual General Fund capital expenditure against
estimate, split by directorate:
Table 9

Feb 21
May 21
Estimate Outturn

General Fund
Adults & Health
Strategic and Central
City Development
Children & Families
Resources & Housing
Communities & Environment
Total Spend
Financed by
General Fund Borrowing
General Fund Capital Receipts
General Fund Specific Grants and Contributions
Total Funding

Variation

£m

£m

£m

%

2.8
17.4
199.1
75.8
50.9
12.0

2.6
14.5
199.5
70.2
40.5
5.6

(0.2)
(2.9)
0.4
(5.6)
(10.4)
(6.4)

(7.4%)
(16.9%)
0%
(7.4%)
(20.4%)
(53.2%)

357.9

332.8

(25.1)

(7.0%)

123.7
2.0
232.2
357.9

95.5
1.7
235.6
332.8

(28.2)
(0.3)
3.4
(25.1)

(22.8%)
(15.0%)
1.5%
(7.0%)

7.3

A full breakdown of the net variations is detailed in Appendix 3. Comments are also
provided for schemes that have a material variation of greater than +/-£500k.

7.4

The general fund borrowing variation is £28.2m or 22.8% of the expected spend on
borrowing. The treasury outturn position is presented as a separate report to this
Executive Board.

7.5

The General Fund capital programme delivered £332.9m of expenditure including
major works on our Annual maintenance programmes, Highways planned
maintenance to our roads and streets network, Connecting Leeds Transport
Investment Programme, East Leeds Orbital Road, Flood Alleviation, Street Lighting
LED replacement programme, Learning Places programme, Clean Air and energy
efficiency related schemes, District Heating Network, Digital & Information services
programme, provision of Adaptations grants and moving towards an electric vehicle
replacement programme which underpins the Council’s emissions reduction and
climate emergency programme.

Page 351

Housing Revenue Account
7.6

Table 10 shows the in-year actual Housing Revenue expenditure against estimate:
Table 10

Feb 21
May 21
Estimate Outturn

HRA

£m

Council Housing Growth Programme
Housing Leeds Council House Programme
BITMO Council House Programme
Total Spend
Financed by
HRA Self-Financing
HRA Capital Receipts RTBs
HRA Specific Grants and Contributions
HRA Borrowing
Total Funding

7.7

£m

Variation
£m

%

15.9
61.0
1.8
78.6

16.2
54.1
1.0
71.3

0.3
2.0%
(6.8) (11.18%)
(0.8) (45.8%)
(7.3) (9.29%)

52.8
12.3
7.3
6.2
78.6

47.6
12.2
1.2
10.3
71.3

(5.2)
(0.1)
(6.1)
4.1
(7.3)

(9.8%)
(0.8%)
(83.6%)
66%
(9.29%)

The HRA Capital programme delivered £78.6m of expenditure including £15.9m on
the Council House Growth Programme and £55.1m on the refurbishment of our
council house properties.
Capital Programme Resources

7.8

Table 11 details the overall capital financing position for the Council:
Table 11

Net Capital Spend
Financed by
General Fund Borrowing
General Fund Specific Grants and Contributions
General Fund Capital Receipts
HRA Self-Financing
HRA Capital Receipts RTBs
HRA Specific Grants and Contributions
HRA Borrowing
Total Funding

7.9

Feb 21
Estimate
£m
436.5

May 21
Outturn
£m
404.1

(32.4)

(7.4%)

123.7
232.2
2.0
52.8
12.3
7.3
6.2

95.5
235.6
1.7
47.6
12.2
1.2
10.3

(28.2)
3.4
(0.3)
(5.2)
(0.1)
(6.1)
4.1

(22.8%)
1%
0%
(9.8%)
(0.8%)
(83.6%)
66%

436.5

404.1

(32.4)

(7.4%)

Variation
£m

Capital receipts of £1.65m have been utilised in 2020/21 to fund expenditure
capitalised under the government’s flexibility for funding transformational change via
capital receipts. This includes expenditure on eligible projects such as the Core
Systems Review, and the early leaver initiative (ELI) severance costs. In line with
existing accounting policy £4.18m of receipts have been utilised to fund PFI
liabilities, £21.9m have been used to repay debt and no general receipts have been
applied to fund in year spend. Borrowing of £4.6m has been undertaken in lieu of

Page 352

section 278 contributions.
7.10

HRA Council House Growth Programme, Housing Leeds and BITMO have
utilised £47.6m of self-financing funding, £1.2m of external contributions and
£12.2m of Right to Buy receipts and have borrowed £10.3m to fund the programme
in 2020/21.

7.11

The net debt of the Council as at 31st March 2021 is £2.25bn. Further details of this
and the debt financing costs will be presented in the 2020/21 Outturn Treasury
Management report to this Executive Board.

8.

Other Financial Performance

8.1

The performance statistics for the year in respect of the collection of local taxation
are as follows:Table 12
2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Leeds
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Council
Tax
Business
Rates

96.70%

96.60%

96.60%

95.70%

95.70%

95.90%

96.00%

96.10%

96.10%

95.30%

95.23%

97.90%

97.50%

97.60%

97.10%

97.30%

97.80%

97.50%

98.00%

97.80%

97.29%

90.21%

Council Tax
8.2

Following the introduction of the Council Tax support scheme in 2013/14 a 19%
contribution scheme was implemented for working age claimants and this was
increased to 26% for 2014/15 but was then subsequently set at 25% for the years
between 2015/16 and 2019/20.

8.3

In 2020 the Government announced a Hardship Fund to support Council Tax
Support claimants with the economic impact of COVID-19. This fund was
administered by councils and Leeds City Council were granted £8.9m to undertake
this task on behalf of the precepting authorities. As a consequence Leeds City
Council offered discretionary discounts to claimants who met the scheme’s criteria.
In some instances this had the effect of reducing the amount of Council Tax payable
to zero. This funding was for one year only and has not been repeated in 2021/22.

8.4

The collection position for Council Tax at the end of March was as follows:


Numbers of Council Tax Support claimants have increased significantly as a
consequence of the financial impact of COVID-19. This particularly affects
the Working Age claimants, where there were 46,391 claimants at 31 st March
2021, against a budgeted position of 41,500. Application of the Hardship
Fund has had the effect of artificially increasing the collection rate for those
affected by the Council Tax Support Scheme, as noted below. This will also
result in the general Council Tax collection rate being slightly higher than
without the application of funding.



Collection rate for those affected by Council Tax Support scheme – 78.1%
(73.0% last year)

Page 353



Council Tax in-year collection rate – 95.23%, whilst this is below target
(96.1%), the lower collection rate largely reflects the impact of COVID-19.
During the year around 3,800 households were put on alternative payment
arrangements, it was agreed to let those affected have the option to spread
their first 3 instalments of 2020/21 over the remaining months of July to
March. Whilst the collection on these accounts should now be resolved, the
ongoing economic impact of COVID-19 has continued to affect collection
rates. £370.9m has been collected in respect of 2020/21 bills, an increase of
£6.6m when compared to the previous year.

Business Rates
8.5

The budgeted collection rate for business rates is to achieve an in-year collection
target of 97.7%, collecting £363.2m of business rates income billed at 1st April.
However, Cabinet will be aware that in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
Government awarded significant additional business rates reliefs, reducing the
income to be collected directly from businesses in Leeds to £229.1m. These reliefs
will be funded in full by Government through Section 31 grants. Whilst this reduces
the risk to the authority regarding non-collection of business rates income, the
business rates collection at 31st March 2021 was 90.21% which is 7.08% behind the
performance in 2019/20.

8.6

The total rateable value of business properties in Leeds has reduced from £935.2m
at 1st April 2020 to £928.2m at the end of March 2021, a decrease of £7.0m. To
calculate Leeds’ actual income from business rates this total rateable value is
multiplied by the small business rates multiplier (49.9p in the pound). After reliefs
and adjustments this amount is then shared between Leeds City Council (49%),
Central Government (50%) and West Yorkshire Fire Authority (1%). After allowing
for the business rates deficit brought forward, Leeds share of projected business
rates is £79.7m, which is £104.0m below budgeted expectations as at 31 st March
2021. However much of this shortfall is accounted for by the Government’s new
extended reliefs for the retail and leisure sectors and children’s nurseries. This
results in grant funding associated with business rates some £76.3m above that
forecast in the Council’s budget. The Government has also announced that it will
provide 75% compensation to local authorities for their ‘irrecoverable losses’ in
business rates income. The Government only released details of the definition of
‘irrecoverable losses’ in May 2021 and the detailed calculation means that Leeds
will receive a one-off payment from the Tax Income Guarantee Scheme of £15.3m,
which will be placed in a reserve and will contribute to the declared unfunded deficit
that will have to be repaid to the over the next three years.

8.7

The impact of the closing balance on the collection fund is complex because the
authority has to treat different elements of the closing deficit of £104.0m differently.
At the time of declaring the estimated deficit in December the authority declared a
total deficit for business rates of £116.3m, which arose from three elements. These
were £3.6m carried forward from 2019/20 and £76.0m which arose from the fully
funded extended reliefs both of which have to be paid in 2021/22, and finally
£36.7m which arose from other parts of the business rates system principally bad
debts, a reduction in the tax base in Leeds, Empty Rate Relief and a large number
of appeals against Rateable Value which were received in Leeds in 2020/21. The
Government has told local authorities that they must spread the cost of this final
£36.7m over three years and therefore a credit of two years instalments reduced the
total deficit by £24.5m, bringing the deficit that has to be repaid in 2021/22 to
Page 354

£91.9m. This is provided for in the 2021/22 budget and is now fixed so the
improvement in the deficit since declaration will not impact on the 2021/22 budget
position. The improvement was caused by various factors becoming clearer since
declaration including that claims for Empty Rate Relief during the lockdowns would
not be considered valid and the Government announcing in late February that
appeals against Rateable Value on the grounds of COVID-19 related events would
not be successful and result in lost income to the authority. The reduction in these
costs will be carried forward into the amount that has to be repaid in 2022/23
reducing the opening deficit on the collection fund from the anticipated £12.2m (one
third of the unfunded 2020/21 declared deficit) to a balanced position.
8.8

Against a budget of £500k in 2020/21 some £320k of local discounts were approved
under the Council’s own Discretionary Business Rate Relief Scheme which is
intended to support the creation of employment and economic growth and to
increase the business rates base.
Prompt Payment of Creditors

8.9

The prompt payment result at the year-end was 91.65% of undisputed invoices
processed within 30 days or within contract terms (93.87% in 2019/20).

9.

Corporate considerations

9.1

Consultation and engagement

9.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation.
9.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

9.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2020/21 was subject to Equality Impact
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on
26th February 2020.
9.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

9.3.1 The 2020/21 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and
priorities. This report comments on the financial performance against this budget in
support of our Best Council ambition of offering value for money through being an
efficient and enterprising organisation.
Climate Emergency
9.3.2 Since this is a factual report detailing the Council’s financial outturn position for
2020/21 there are no specific climate implications.
9.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

9.4.1 This is a financial report and all financial implications are detailed in the main body
of the report.

Page 355

9.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

9.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.
9.6

Risk management

9.6.1 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where
financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans,
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets.
To reinforce this risk-based approach, specific project management based support
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans was in place
for 2020/21.
9.6.2 Given the ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s
financial position, including the potential impact on the Authority’s Collection Fund,
this higher level of reserves reported at paragraph 6 will help to cushion the Council
against variations to budget assumptions in 2021/22 and beyond.
10.

Conclusions

10.1

The 2020/21 financial outturn position for General Fund services, which is a £1.1m
improvement when compared with the provisional outturn position reported to
April’s Executive Board, allows for a £1.1m contribution to the Council’s general
reserve. As a result the level of general reserve at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m.

10.2

In the Annual Audit Letter for Leeds City Council for the year ended 31 st March
2020 Grant Thornton highlighted “weaknesses in the level of General Fund
Reserves to deal with significant unforeseen circumstances resulting from the
Council’s arrangements for financial management. Except for this matter, the
Council had proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources”. This reported outturn position with
contributions to both general and earmarked reserves, combined with projected
contributions to the general reserve which are contained in the Council’s approved
Medium Term Financial Strategy, demonstrate the Council’s commitment to make
its revenue budget robust, resilient, sustainable and affordable.

10.3

The outturn for the year on the HRA shows a net underspend of £15.65m when
compared against the 2020/21 budget, primarily due to the reduction in the revenue
contribution required to support its capital programme and also savings in the
repairs and maintenance budgets, both as a consequence of the impact of the
pandemic. As the HRA operates as a ringfenced account, it is proposed these
savings in the main be appropriated to reserves.

10.4

At 31st March 2021, mainstream school reserves stand at £33.5m. Extended
Services & Partnerships reserves amount to £5.2m as at 31st March 2021,
including balances held by Area Inclusion Partnerships and Clusters. As a result of
an over spend on the High Needs Block, partly offset by underspends on other
blocks, and a refund of de-delegated DSG surplus brought forward to schools
during 2020/21, a deficit balance of £2.0m will be carried forward on the DSG
reserve to 2021/22.

10.5

Expenditure in respect of the General Fund Capital Programme was £32.4m or
7.4% lower than that assumed in the February 2021 Capital Programme projected
outturn.
Page 356

11.

Recommendations

11.1

Members of the Executive Board are asked to;
a. Note the outturn position for 2020/21
b. Agree the creation of earmarked reserves as detailed in paragraph 6.7 and to
delegate their release to the Chief Officer Financial Services;
c. Note that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be responsible for the
implementation of these actions following the ‘call in’ period.

12.

Background documents1

12.1

There are no background documents relating to this report.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 357

Appendix 1

ADULTS AND HEALTH
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Outturn
The directorate has overspent its budget by £6.7m. The overspend represents the impact and additional costs of the impact of Covid on the directorate. A number of
budget action plans were directly impacted and slippage of £2.9m was recorded.

Page 358

The picture of the year is heavily influenced by Covid in both provision of services and the management of £46.8m of ringfenced grants received to allow the directorate
to support initiatives and the care market.
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Staffing (+£0.1m): the impact of the pay award which was above the budgeted assumptions, the impact and cost of the Council ELI initiative and funded additional posts
in key areas has largely been offset by the savings generated from maintaining vacant posts in other areas.
Buildings (-£0.1m): a net saving of £0.1m is the effect of buildings maintenance and utility savings offset by the NNDR bill for Waterside which was the site for the
temporary morgue and PPE distribution centre.
Supplies and Services (1.9m): overspends within this area are related to Covid costs, these are primarily incurred by Public Health in coordinating the attempts to
control the outbreak, all of which was funded by government grant. This area also includes the additional equipment purchased to facilitate the early discharge of
patients from their hospital setting.
Transport (-£0.2m): a small saving largely through the restrictions on travel for social workers and assessors.
Social Care and Care Market protection (+£22.4m): the social care market was significantly impacted by Covid, with additional packages of care put in place for those
affected by day care closures; an increase in the number and size of home care packages was noticed and it is considered that these were related to a general
nervousness for people going into care homes; it was also noted that significant numbers of deaths within the care home sector necessitated financial support to ensure
stability in the market.
Public Health - Covid (+£25.6m): Public Health managed £26.4m of government grant to contain the Covid Outbreak; there were a number of other savings that were a
result of Covid restructure annual programmes.
Appropriation (+£8.7m): the highly unusual year meant that transfers from reserves were not needed to the degree expected when the budget was set. It is also noted
that a number of unspent ring-fenced grants and partner contributions have been added to reserves.
Income (+£51.7m): a number of Covid funding streams were received in the year NHS Early Discharge funding (£3.3m), Contain Outbreak Management Fund (£26.5m),
Infection Control Fund (£13.5m), Rapid Testing funding (£1.8m) and Workforce Capacity funding (£1.7m).

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget

Income Budget

Latest Estimate

Staffing

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Premises

Supplies &
Services

£'000

£'000

Transport

Internal
Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

1,496

(964)

532

(149)

2

37

(4)

24

(107)

0

0

238

40

(92)

(52)

288,249

(54,725)

233,523

346

(89)

427

(197)

(118)

5,236

(867)

0

2,393

7,132

(4,463)

2,669

Service Transformation

2,379

(387)

1,991

(53)

0

4

(3)

0

(55)

0

0

0

(107)

(68)

(175)

Commissioning Services

24,201

(64,476)

(40,274)

144

(6)

(778)

(9)

3,350

14,920

0

0

3,904

21,525

(17,840)

3,685

Resources and Strategy

6,726

(1,781)

4,944

129

(1)

95

(17)

95

(50)

0

0

87

338

217

555

45,293

(44,949)

344

(187)

12

2,153

(7)

27,226

(1,649)

0

0

2,080

29,628

(29,628)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

368,343

(167,283)

201,061

229

(82)

1,938

(237)

30,576

18,296

(867)

0

8,702

58,556

(51,873)

6,683

Health Partnerships
Social Work & Social Care
Services

Public Health (Grant
Funded)
Appropriation Account
Total

Page 359

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Additional Comments

RAG

A. Key Budget Action Plans
1.

Review of Learning Disabilities

2.

Review of Physical Impairment and home care efficiency

3.

Review of home care efficiency

4.

Demand - continuation of strengths-based approach

5.

Recover unspent Direct Payments (based on trends)

6.

Enablement Service - improvements in productivity

Action Plan Forecast Variation
Value
against Plan/Budget
£m

£m

Caroline Baria
Shona
McFarlane
Shona
McFarlane
Shona
McFarlane
Shona
McFarlane
Shona
McFarlane

R

1.0

1.2

R

0.1

0.1

R

0.1

0.1

G

0.7

0.0

G

0.9

0.0

R

0.5

0.5

Review billing and collection of assessed client contributions and
Steve Hume
trends
Shona
Assistive technology to a city-wide self-pay market
McFarlane
Occupational Therapists: grant contribution funding from the
Shona
DFG
McFarlane

R

1.9

0.5

R

0.2

0.2

B

0.2

0.0

10.

Section 117 and CHC clients - review cost allocations

Max Naismith

B

0.1

(0.2)

11.

CHC - LD: client transport costs/ staffing costs

Max Naismith

G

0.4

0.1

12.

Client transport - route and efficiencies

Steve Hume

G

0.3

0.0

13.

Spring Budget (end of time limited schemes)

John Crowther

B

2.5

0.0

14.

Meals on Wheels

Steve Hume

G

0.2

0.0

15.

Contract management efficiencies

Caroline Baria

G

0.8

0.0

16.

iBCF - Health Funding to support social care & Inflation

Steve Hume

R

3.3

1.4

17.

Staffing - vacancy factor/turnover

Shona
McFarlane

G

0.4

(0.0)

7.
8.
9.

Page 360

B. Other Significant Variations
1.

Staffing

All

relating to staffing turnover and slippage in employing new staff

2.

Commisioned services - care and Public Health

VE/CB

anticipated variation - largely related to one-off funding (see income below)

15.7

3

General running costs

All

Savings of £0.7m are reduced due to Covid-19 costs

32.2

4

Use of reserves

All

Carry forward of Public Health underspend (£0.62m), carry forward of Leeds Plan underspend
(£0.16m), reduced requirement of reserve funding within commissioning (£0.5m) and carry forward
of Adult Safeguarding (£0.03m)

8.7

5

Income

All

Includes Infection Control Grant (£13.5m), Early Discharge funding (£3.3m), COMF funding (£26.5m),
Workforce Development Fund (£1.7m) and Rapid Test Funding (1.8m) all of which are shown as
being offset by matching spend

(54.0)

Adults and Health Directorate - Forecast Variation

0.2

6.7

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - Outturn

Overall Summary - At Outturn the directorate is reporting a pressure of £7.214m, all of which is attributable to Covid-19. The overspend includes a net £5.714m additional expenditure and loss of income attributable to Covid-19. The remaining £1.5m is related to repayment of
previous borrowing against school reserves. The outturn is a positive movement of £0.878m from the reported £8.092m P11 / provisional outturn statement.
Children Looked After (CLA): - The budget for 20-21 is £43.8m, an increase of £1.45m from 19-20. The budget supports 1,346 CLA placements; including 58 External Residential (ER) and 183 Independent Fostering Agency (IFA).
Actual CLA figures as at 21st March were 1,276, which is 70 less than the budgeted number. Despite total CLA numbers being less than budgeted for, an overspend of £3.962m (-£0.25m from P11) is projected as there is a higher proportion of more costly placements than assumed in the
budget and rates charged by providers have increased due to Covid. In house CLA placements are 99 lower than budgeted and external placements are 29 greater than budgeted. Within the external placements pressure, there have been increased numbers in Secure Justice & Welfare
settings. Latest ER numbers are 62 (+4 against budget) and IFA 207 (+24 against budget)
Non CLA Financially supported: - The non-CLA financially supported budget was increased by £1.0m to £13.9m in the 2020/21 budget. Budgeted 20-21 numbers are 950 placements (+46 20-21 -v- 19-20); current numbers are 1,052, creating a pressure of £2.327m. This includes the
increase in the rate for Care Leavers allowances and the impact on semi-independent living as young people have not been able to move on from this accommodation due to COVID and £0.325k s17 payments (Non-Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF)).
Staffing: - Pay savings of £2.6m have been realised. £1.0m for Learning for Life Early Start Little Owls LCC run Children Centres and their inability to open and run at full capacity. £1.65m pay savings realised from in-year vacancy control being implemented and utilising the LCC ELI
programme. £0.7m savings on former teacher retirement costs and staff training. Offset by £0.735m pay pressure in Social Care for LCC run establishments.
Transport: - Passenger Transport savings of £0.811m realised by CEL
Trading and Commissioning: - The directorate have incurred losses of income due to Covid for Children's Centres (£1.945m net figure; £3m fee income shortfall offset by £1m pay saving and detailed in table below) and trading with schools, £1.3m
Supplies & Services & Internal Charges:- Savings on Other Expenditure of £1.273m have been realised, primarily Travel and Subsistence, Legal and Internal Charges.
Other Income / Projects : Overall additional income of £0.4m.

Page 361

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

Demand Led Budgets:
In House placed CLA
Independent Fostering Agency
External Residential
Other Externally placed CLA
Non CLA Financially Supported
Transport
Sub total Demand Led Budgets

Expenditure
Budget

Income
Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

Transport

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

PROJECTED VARIANCES
Internal
External
Transfer
Charges
Providers Payments
£'000

£'000

£'000

21,079
7,681
12,096
2,967
13,872
15,586
73,282

0
0
(3,995)
0
(5,610)
(897)
(10,502)

21,079
7,681
8,101
2,967
8,262
14,689
62,780

0

0

150
150

(811)
(811)

0

6,289

0

Other Budgets
Partnerships & Health
Learning
Social Care (Excl. Early Start & H&W)
LfL - Early Start & H&W
Resources and Strategy
Sub total Other Budgets

5,873
35,580
71,726
67,531
67,570
248,280

(2,328)
(30,366)
(32,065)
(61,571)
(61,755)
(188,086)

3,545
5,213
39,660
5,959
5,815
60,194

(491)
(754)
335
(1,049)
(640)
(2,599)

50
114
53
(223)
(6)

(204)
(500)
(2,592)
(383)
(329)
(4,008)

(860)
(192)
(210)
(28)
(22)
(1,312)

0
(383)
334
(323)
0
(372)

(27)
2,228
404
0
0
2,605

Total

321,562

(198,588)

122,974

(2,599)

(6)

(3,858)

(2,123)

(372)

8,894

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(1,462)
1,047
3,748
629
2,327

0

(1,462)
1,047
3,748
629
2,327
(661)
5,628

0

0

(1,462)
1,047
3,748
629
2,327
(661)
5,628

3
18
(1,263)
607
(238)
(873)

0

(22)
2,099
1,706
0
410
4,193

(1,601)
2,566
(1,172)
(1,123)
(1,042)
(2,372)

390
(841)
682
3,006
721
3,958

(1,211)
1,725
(490)
1,883
(321)
1,586

(873)

0

4,193

3,256

3,958

7,214

Additional Comments

Key Budget Variations:

A. Key variances

£m

Staffing

- Delivery of £2m Staffing Action Plans

£1.0m savings in LfL Children Centres and linked to shortfall in £3.0m income. £1.65m due to
vacancy release control and in-year ELI programme.

- Direct impact of Covid

Additional staffing within LCC run residential homes, 4 x Service Delivery Managers for 6
months and Adel Beck pay pressures re Agency & Overtime.

- Other employee costs

Within Resources & Strategy - £0.7m Central Overhead Account savings on former teacher
severance and pension costs and £0.2m underspend on staff training.

- Delivery of actions within Exec Board report to address
£3.8m pressure identified Feb'20.
Children Looked After & Financially
Supported Non-CLA Demand Budgets

Page 362

- assessed impact on CLA numbers and budget specifically
relating to covid-19.

Non-Staffing

Significant in-year pressure on CLA placements for out of area; ER £3.7m and IFA £1m.
Placement numbers have reduced throughout the year, down to 60 ER and 207 IFA. Other
impact increased weekly rates due to impact of covid. Budget assumed £4,000 per week,
Actual was £4,550. Some will be linked to complexity as well.

(2.649)
0.735
(0.685)

3.301

3.173

- Insourcing of Independent Travel Trainer contract

Impact of COVID on in-sourcing ITT contract

- assessed impact on non-staffing related expenditure
directly due to covid-19

£0.8m private hire savings from CEL Passenger Transport, £0.51m savings on travel &
subsistence and £0.55m on Legal charges. £0.4m savings on supplies & services related to
School Brokerage Grant.

(0.769)

- impact on 20-21 income not directly due to covid-19

Shortfall of £0.324m reduction in Troubled Families Grant. Due to slippage in delivery of the
SFPC Programme £1m of grant income transferred to earmarked reserve. £0.244m CCG
income shortfall for ER placements. £1.2m lower usage of DSG income, Early Years funding.

2.539

- assessed impact on income directly due to covid-19

£3.0m Income shortfall for LfL Children centres and £1.3m shortfall in income from trading
with schools; predominately around the activity centres and 0-19 School Improvement.

4.360

- New grant funding for covid related schemes

DfE PiP 20-21 funding. Due to uncertainty of continuation of the programme late 2019-20
financial year, the 20-21 budget assumed not continuing.

(2.941)

Income (including Grant funding)

Children and Families Directorate - Outturn Variation

0.150

7.214

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - OUTTURN
Overall Summary - The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is made up of 4 separate blocks - the Schools Block, Central School Services Block, Early Years Block and High Needs Block.
For 2020/21 DSG was £1,827k underspent, which includes a surplus on de-delegated budgets of £1,006k. De-delegated budgets are ringfenced, and excluding these the DSG was underspent by £821k. In relation to COVID pressures,
£100k of the costs on the High Needs Block have been identified as due to increased provider rates on outside placements due to the impact of COVID.
Schools Block - This is the largest element of the DSG and mostly consists of delegated funding to local authority maintained schools. When a school becomes an academy, funding payments are made directly by the ESFA and not paid
to local authorities to distribute. When this happens, there is a reduction in grant income which is largely matched by reduced expenditure. Since the budget was set, there have been a number of academy conversions which reduces the
grant received and the school funding paid out. Following these conversions, there is a small one off saving in the year in which it occurs. There are a number of de-delegated services where schools have agreed for the local authority to
retain funding to cover some costs centrally which otherwise would need to be charged to schools (such as maternity costs, trade unions costs and the libraries service). As there were fewer schools converting to an academy by 1st
September 2020, there was additional de-delegated income of £286k and the schools contingency fund had a net nil expenditure which resulted in an underspend of £999k. This is partly offset by overspends of £319k on maternity and
suspended staff pay and £29k on SIMs licences. Overall the de-delegated underspend was £1,006k. The Growth Fund budget remains part of this block and was £531k underspent. This underspend is earmarked for use to fund growth
requirements in 2021/22.
Central School Services Block
This block covers costs such as prudential borrowing repayment, equal pay costs, the admissions service and the retained duties element of what used to be the Education Services Grant (which covers statutory and regulatory duties, asset
management and welfare services). There was an underspend of £143k as a result of vacancies in the admissions service.
Early Years Block - This element is concerned with provision to pre-school children. The uncertainty and changing requirements as a result of COVID19 made accurate projections on this block difficult. The impact on 2020/21 has been
mitigated by a slight change in the way the income due is calculated. For 2020/21 only, the January 2021 early years census will only affect the income due for 3 months of the year, rather than the usual 7 months. This should reduce the
potential volatility of the grant due, though the final grant will not be confirmed until November 2021. In line with the 8p per hour increase in the unit rate received, the unit rates paid to providers has been increased for both 2 year old and 3
& 4 year old providers by 8p. The final position on the early years block was an underspend of £2,228k. In line with previous budget monitoring reports and reports to Schools Forum, it is proposed to make a one off exceptional payment to
providers to 3 and 4 year olds totalling £2,000k in 2021/22.

Page 363

High Needs Block - This element is used to support provision for pupils and students with special educational needs and disabilities. The year end position was an overspend of £2,327k. The largest areas of variance are as follows:
- Mainstream top-ups and additional blocks overspend of £2,305k as a result of an increase in the number and complexity of pupils in mainstream schools.
- An increase in the number of pupils requiring post 18 places resulted in an overspend of £604k.
- Outside placements was overspent by £2,234k due to a shortage of specialist places in Leeds.
- When the budget was set, it was known that there were a number of high needs pupils where special school places had not at that time been identified. Now that they have been and are reflected in the above overspends, that budget of
£2,106k was no longer required.
- The high needs block services provided by Leeds City Council were underspent by £604k.
- At the start of the year, a number of elements of the grant allocation were not confirmed. These have now been confirmed and will result in an additional £120k of grant income.
Reserves - There is an overall deficit brought forward from 2019/20 on general DSG of £3,955k and a de-delegated surplus of £722k. The reserves carried forward into 2021/22 are a deficit on general DSG of £3,134k and a surplus on dedelegated services of £1,158k. In line with the School Forum request in October, the 2019/20 underspend on de-delegated services of £596k has been refunded to schools pro-rata to the de-delegated income received from the school.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
Budget
£'000
Schools Block
DSG Income
Individual Schools Budgets
De-delegated budgets
Growth Fund

Central School Services Block
DSG Income
CSSB Expenditure

Early Years Block
DSG Income
FEEE 3 and 4 year olds
FEEE 2 year olds
Other early years provision

Page 364

High Needs Block
DSG Income
Funding passported to institutions
Commissioned services
In house provision
Prudential borrowing

Projection
£'000

Variance
£'000

(314,877)

(306,600)

8,277

307,309
4,568
3,000
0

298,786
3,562
2,469
(1,783)

(8,523)
(1,006)
(531)
(1,783)

(4,867)
4,867
0

(4,867)
4,724
(143)

0
(143)
(143)

(64,216)
50,897
10,147
3,172
0

(59,247)
46,363
7,699
2,957
(2,228)

4,969
(4,534)
(2,448)
(215)
(2,228)

(79,831)
72,329
1,921
5,023
558
0

(79,951)
75,382
1,919
4,419
558
2,327

(120)
3,053
(2)
(604)
0
2,327

0

(1,827)

(1,827)

Total

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

DSG Grant Reserves

Latest Estimate
Balance b/fwd from 2019/20
Net contribution to/from balances
Balance c/fwd to 2021/22
Projected Outturn
Balance b/fwd from 2019/20
Projected in year variance
Use of reserves
Balance c/fwd to 2021/22

Lead
Officer

General

De-delegated

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

3,955

(722)

3,233

3,955

(722)

3,233

3,955
(821)

(722)
(1,006)
596
(1,132)

3,233
(1,827)
596
2,002

3,134

Additional
Comments

RAG

A. Key Budget Action Plans
Transfer funding to High Needs Block

B. Significant Variations

Schools Block
Schools Block
Schools Block
Early Years Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
CSSB

Transfer of £2.65m from the schools block and £350k from the central school services block to the high needs block
as detailed in report to Schools Forum in January 2020.

In year underspend of £1,032k on de-delegated services
Underspend on growth fund
Underspend as a result of academy conversion adjustments
Underspends within early years block
Increase in high needs funding at mainstream schools
Increase in outside placement costs
Increase in cost of post 18 placements
Budget for new places from September 2020 no longer required (part funds overspends above)
Underspends on services provided by LCC
Final confirmation of grant due for 2020/21
Underspend on admissions service

Dedicated Schools Grant - Forecast Variation

B

Action Plan
Value

Forecast Variation
against Plan/Budget

£m

£m

3.00

0.00

(1.01)
(0.53)
(0.25)
(2.23)
2.31
2.23
0.61
(2.10)
(0.60)
(0.12)
(0.14)

(1.83)

CITY DEVELOPMENT 2020/21 BUDGET
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - OUTTURN
Directorate Summary - The 2020/21 Outturn position for City Development is an overspend of £20.26m which includes the overall impact of Covid 19 on the Directorate's budgets which is 24.21m. This does not include or reflect any compensation
due from the Government for sales, fees, and charges losses. This is a favourable movement of £0.75m from the Period 12 Dashboard which is due to additional savings being realised across services.
The Directorate's financial position has been significantly affected by the current restrictions in place as a result of Covid 19 and by the severe impact on the economy. Active Leeds and Arts and Heritage have been directly impacted by the loss in
income from the closure of all sites and the uncertainty and restrictions on recovery. In other service areas the anticipated economic downturn has impacted on income from the commercial property portfolio, Markets, advertising, planning and
building fees and in Highways from reduced fee recovery as a result of some of the workforce self-isolating and other staff absences.
Staffing – The outturn staffing position is an underspend of £4.05m. In Highways and Transportation most staff costs are chargeable and any vacancies will lead to reduced income or additional contractor costs. Some staff in Asset Management
and Regeneration are also chargeable. Allowing for this the staff savings have contributed a net saving of £3.18m. This also allows for the additional costs from a higher pay award than budgeted for at a cost of £375k although some of this cost will
be charged out. There is a further saving of £378k across all services due to staff leaving via the ELI Scheme prior to the 31st March 2021, after accounting for income generating posts and any interim costs.
Other running cost savings - Where cost savings directly relate to closure of facilities and events then these have been accounted for in the net income loss figures. Additional savings in supplies and services and travel costs of £1.26m have been
realised across the Directorate's services.
Additional Covid 19 costs - Whilst the impact of Covid 19 on City Development is mostly on income, some additional costs are being incurred to ensure services are Covid compliant, assist City Centre Management and other related public health
and health and safety measures. This has amounted to £0.74m across the Directorate.
Planning and Sustainable Development - both planning application and building control fee income were adversely impacted at the start of the pandemic but then started to improve from June onwards but with noted volatility. The final position
for 2020/21 is a 10.9% deficit against budget for Planning Fees and a 4.2% over achievement against budget for Building Control Fees. The planned implementation of revised pre-application charges was initially postponed due to lockdown but has
now started. The 2020/21 budget included additional income of £250k for these charges and the delay has resulted in a shortfall of £50k. The overall shortfall in income of £704k has been partially offset by £0.32m of staffing, transport and
supplies and services savings.

Page 365

Economic Development - The service is forecasting a reduction of income and additional costs of £30k for the year, mainly reduced income from Conference Leeds and reduced recovery of staff costs where staff were working on Covid 19 related
work. This also includes some additional grant income that has been received, and some minor offsetting savings in transport costs.

Asset Management and Regeneration - Due to the economic uncertainties arising from COVID-19 no new strategic acquisitions were made in 2020/21, therefore the Outturn position includes a £1.35m shortfall in income from the nonachievement of budget action plans in relation to the Strategic Investment Fund. It is anticipated that there will be an impact on the collection of rental income from the Non-Prime Commercial Portfolio as some businesses continue to struggle
financially. The service has developed a strategy around rental income and how the service responds to requests from businesses seeking support. However due to the restrictions on debt recovery action implemented by the Government in
response to the Pandemic, and financial reporting standards and principles, the full impact of this will not be fully realised until late 2021/22 at the earliest. Therefore the outturn position includes a £1.3m increase to the Bad Debt Provision.
Employment and Skills - All the major grant schemes that the service manages have been delivered as expected. Savings of £375k have been achieved across staffing and supporting budgets.

Highways and Transportation - The outturn position for Highways is an overall overspend of £793k, which is comprised of several major variations. One of these is the major variation on the amount of highways maintenance work that the DLO
was able to complete due to a reduced available workforce. This resulted in reduced chargeable works which lead to a reduction in income and the recovery of overheads of £917k. The very cold winter led to an overspend of £935k due to the
number of additional grittings required. These additional costs were partially offset by over achievement of income targets and/or underspends in other areas of the service, in particular in Transport Planning at £1.237k.
Arts and Heritage - As facilities were closed during the early part of the financial year and again for Lockdown 2 and 3 the service has suffered significant shortfalls in income. The net position of this is an overspend of £1.81m. This includes the
£300k saving from postponing the Triathlon and the Tour de Yorkshire and will be significantly offset by the Central Government Sales Fees and Charges recompense scheme.
Active Leeds – This service was severely impacted by the pandemic and the resulting lockdowns, as reported previously. The final outturn position for the service is a net overspend of £11.3m of which £12.9m are the reported losses in income due
to the pandemic. This will be significantly offset by the Governments Sales, Fees and Charges compensation scheme.
Resources and Strategy – additional costs that were being incurred as a result of Covid 19 and the original lockdown are being recorded in the Resources and Strategy budget, totalling £0.74m.
Markets and City Centre – Open Market traders were not billed for rent for April to June as part of a Covid support package at a monthly loss of £40k. Indoor Market traders continue to be billed but provided with a rental support scheme (rent
reductions) for July to September, this scheme was extended for a further three months (October to December). Whilst most indoor traders are eligible for support through the Government business support scheme there has been an increase in
voids in the Market and contibuting to the 38% shortfall in income. Due to Lockdown 3 a further package of support measures were introduced and therefore a £300k bad debt provision has been made in respect of this. Furthermore a £700k
shortfall against budgeted income for Advertising, including the £200k additional income assumed in the 2020/21 budget, is recognised also.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget

Income Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

Transport

Internal
Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Planning &
Sustainable
Development
Economic
Development

9,560

(7,877)

1,684

(262)

(56)

(52)

(51)

21

0

85

0

0

(316)

704

388

2,358

(627)

1,731

21

0

14,322

(25)

119

0

0

0

(253)

14,185

(14,156)

30

17,629

(20,788)

(3,159)

(834)

472

(309)

(16)

(33)

0

(384)

0

112

(991)

4,703

3,712

6,245

(4,532)

1,713

(471)

0

(102)

(11)

(110)

108

42

0

0

(544)

170

(375)

65,569

(47,660)

17,909

(329)

329

490

168

345

0

2

0

0

1,005

(212)

793

Arts & Heritage

21,731

(9,350)

12,380

(480)

(212)

(3,342)

(31)

(95)

(1)

280

65

(295)

(4,111)

5,921

1,810

Active Leeds
Resources &
Strategy
Markets & City
Centre
Total

26,626

(20,453)

6,172

(1,562)

(738)

(731)

(27)

(161)

(147)

197

0

1,016

(2,154)

13,457

11,303

1,045

(484)

562

383

112

159

8

275

0

0

0

610

1,547

(1,104)

443

3,542

(4,607)

(1,064)

(18)

(159)

(51)

2

(11)

0

0

0

0

(237)

2,393

2,155

154,306

(116,378)

37,928

(3,552)

(252)

10,384

17

349

(40)

222

65

1,191

8,384

11,876

20,259

Asset Management
& Regeneration

=

Total (under) / overspend
£'000

Employment &
Skills
Highways &
Transportation

Page 366

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
RAG

A. Budget Action Plans

Additional Comments

Lead Officer

Action
Plan
Value

Forecast Variation against
Plan/Budget

£m

£m

1.

Planning & Sustainable Development

David Feeney

Pre-Application fee income in Planning - delayed implementation

A

(0.25)

0.05

2.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Angela Barnicle

Purchase of commercial assets to generate additional rental income over and above the annual costs of
borrowing and other land-lord related costs

R

(0.75)

0.75

3.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Angela Barnicle

Asset Rationalisation

R

(0.20)

0.20

4.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

LED Street Lighting Conversion

G

(0.43)

0.00

5.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Site Development

G

(0.25)

0.00

6.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Utility Permits

A

(0.20)

0.00

7.

Markets & City Centre Management

Phil Evans

Advertising Income

R

(0.20)

0.20

8.

Resources & Strategy

Phil Evans

Use of Balances/One Off Income

G

(0.50)

0.42

(2.78)

1.62

Total Budget Action Plan Savings

B. Other Significant Variations
1.

Planning & Sustainable Development

David Feeney

Planning Application and Building Control Fees

0.65

2.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Angela Barnicle

Additional Capital Receipt Fee Income

3.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Angela Barnicle

Commercial Rental Income & Asset Activities

3.00

4.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Highways Maintenance

0.65

5.

Arts & Heritage

Eve Roodhouse

Net loss of income due to closure of venues

2.56

6.

Arts & Heritage

Eve Roodhouse

Postponement of Tour de Yorkshire and the Triathlon

7.

Active Leeds

Phil Evans

Loss of income due to closure of Leisure Centres and reduced income once they re-open.

13.46

8.

Active Leeds

Phil Evans

Covid related savings in Leisure Centres

(0.60)

9.

Markets & City Centre Management

Phil Evans

Markets, Advertising, and Licences Income

10.

All Services

All

Staffing Vacancies (excluding income funded posts)

(3.18)

11.

All Services

All

Savings on running costs across the Directorate

(1.26)

12.

All Services

All

Additional Pay Award

0.38

13.

All Services

All

Additional spend as a result of Covid 19

0.74

14.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Winter Pressures

0.94

15.

All Services

All

Net ELI savings across all services

(0.41)

(0.30)

2.39

(0.38)

Page 367

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation

20.260

COMMUNITIES & ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE SUMMARY
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
Outturn 2020/21

The overall position is an overspend of £21,166k. Of this net position, £25,025k
relates to the impact of Covid-19. The overall position includes the impact of
tighter recruitment and expenditure controls and the Council's Early Leavers
Initiative (ELI) which have contributed to non-COVID net savings of £3,859k
being achieved.

Communities (£383k overspend)
Covid-19 related costs total £382k which includes a £401k loss of Community
Centre income, £30k delays to planned savings from Community Centres offset by
running cost savings of £79k, and £27k cost of the additional 0.75% pay award.
Other net expenditure variations of £4k include a net £143k overspend on staffing
largely offset by other running cost savings. An in year underspend on the
Wellbeing budget of £391k has been transferred to the wellbeing earmarked
reserve for use in future years.

Page 368

Customer Access (£793k overspend)
Covid-19 costs of £1,174k include the cost of software and equipment to support
home working (£83k), PPE/Social distancing measures and additional cleaning at
Hub sites (£435k), projected net income losses of £379k across the service,
additional cost of overtime £100k and the pay award of £171k. Other variations
include a net staffing overspend of £127k offset by all other non-COVID
expenditure/income savings of £508k.
Elections, Licensing and Registrars (£66k underspend)
The majority of fee earning activities - Registrars, Entertainment Licensing and
Taxi & Private Hire Licensing - have been impacted significantly during the year.
The combined impact on income is £1,457k, with a further £17k cost relating to
the pay award, although these are partially offset by other net savings of £647k,
mainly from the cancelled May elections and additional grant income in respect
of compliance and enforcement activities. Further net savings of £893k across the
service include £313k on staffing, £210k of operational running cost savings
within TPHL and £299k from the income compensation scheme in respect of TPHL
which partially offsets the in-year income shortfall.
Environmental Health (£206k underspend)
The year end position reflects Covid related costs of £59k, mainly due to income
losses from a reduction in activities across the service and the pay award of £10k,
offset by £265k net savings in respect of all other staffing, running cost and
income variations.

Welfare and Benefits (£1,904k overspend)
The year end position includes Covid-19 related expenditure in respect of the net
cost of Housing Benefit claims for rough sleepers (£698k), the net impact on HB
overpayment income (£909k) and the estimated cost of the pay award (£33k). All
other variations total £264k and include the impact of the final HB subisidy claim
(£1.035k - which includes the net cost of supported accommodation cases),
staffing variations of +£103k, partially offset by addititional new burdens income.
It is proposed to carry forward the balance of funding (£844k) for the
discretionary Test & Trace support scheme (self-isolation payments) in an
earmarked reserve to allow the scheme to continue in 21/22.

Parks and Countryside (£4,355k overspend)
The overall impact of Covid-19 on the service is £5,280k. Income losses at income
generating facilities such as Tropical World, Temple Newsam Home Farm,
Lotherton Wildlife World, the Arium, Cafes, Golf courses and concessions in parks
are £2,915k. In addition, shortfalls in income from the reduction in chargeable
works activities within Parks Operations and Landscaping total £1,339k and losses
of income resulting from restrictions within bereavement services are £373k. A
further £142k shortfall of income is due to the cancellation of events held in parks
although savings of £424k from the cancellation of the West Indian Carnival and
bonfires offset this. Other COVID related expenditure of £806k relates to
measures in Parks to facilitate Safer Public Spaces and the cost of PPE equipment
and cleaning. The cost of the pay award is £129k, although offsetting this are
total other net savings of £925k, mainly comprising staffing savings.
Car Parking (£6,846k overspend)
Covid-19 related net income losses of £7,488k across the service have been
experienced. This reflects the impact of the Council’s decision to suspend all car
parking charges and enforcement activity until 4th July and the further reduction
in income levels as a result of the subsequent lockdowns. This includes £3,052k in
respect of on-street parking, £2,856k for off street parking and £1,315k for
income from PCNs. These income losses have been partially offset by staffing
savings of £319k and other net expenditure savings of £323k.
Community Safety (£112k underspend)
The impact of the Covid-19 (£5k) and the impact of the pay award (£53k) has
been offset by net expenditure savings elsewhere in the service of £171k,
including staffing savings from the ELI scheme, general expenditure savings and
additional income across the service.

Waste Management (£6,490k overspend):
Within the Refuse service, additional expenditure of £3,205k has been incurred
which reflects the cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with
increased volumes of waste and to provide necessary staffing cover and PPE
equipment. Additional volumes of waste resulted in additional disposal costs of
£2,683k, although under the contract arrangements with the RERF, the Council
will receive income of £596k resulting from this additional waste. It is proposed to
transfer this one-off income to the waste earmarked reserve to support the
delivery of the Refuse route review and the developing waste strategy. A further
£942k was incurred at Household Waste Sites for the cost of providing PPE
equipment, staffing cover and security at the sites as well as net income losses
from inert waste charges and from the Revive shops. The cost of the pay award is
£155k giving a total Covid related pressure of £6,986k. These additional costs are
partially offset by ELI savings of £71k and other net savings of £425k, mainly
relating to prudential borrowing savings, additional bin sales to developers and
additional weighbridge volume trend income.
Cleaner Neighbourhoods Teams (£437k underspend)
Covid-19 related costs of £242k reflect the loss of income from bulky waste
collections, additional costs of cover for staff in self isolation, litter bin stickers,
PPE equipment and the cost of the pay award. However, these are offset by
staffing savings of £485k and other operational savings of £194k.
City Centre (£39k overspend)
Covid-19 related costs of £157k include the loss of environmental enforcement
income, additional cost of cover for staff in self isolation and the pay award,
although staffing savings of £75k and other net operational savings of £42k
partially offset these costs.
Directorate Wide (£1,177k overspend)
The directorate incurred additional Covid-19 related costs of £855k in respect of a
temporary mortuary facility created as part of the Council's emergency planning
arrangements to deal with a potential increase in mortality rates over and above
current capacity for Leeds and Wakefield. Other covid related costs include a city
wide mail out in respect of accessing support (£134k) and staffing costs incurred in
response to the crisis. Other non-Covid costs include £124k for the impact of
changes to the directorate wide provision for bad and doubtful debts.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;
Summary By Service

Projected variances
Expenditure
Budget

Income Budget

Latest
Estimate

£'000
18,087

£'000
(13,235)

£'000
4,852

27,849

(5,420)

8,295

(6,431)

Welfare And Benefits

193,030

(191,334)

Car Parking Services

4,867

(12,291)

Community Safety

9,376

(7,149)

Waste Management

44,279

(9,794)

Parks And Countryside

33,915
2,119

Communities
Customer Access
Electoral & Regulatory Services
(including Environmental Health)

Environmental Action (City Centre)
Cleaner Neighbourhood Teams
Directorate wide
Total

Premises

Staffing
£'000

£'000

Supplies & Services

Transport

£'000

£'000

Internal
Charges
£'000

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

£'000

£'000

Capital
£'000

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

376

2,736

(2,353)

383

(20)

1,369

2,595

(1,802)

793

(227)

1,167

(228)

(44)

(272)

1,542

12,338

(10,434)

1,904

(592)

7,438

6,846

625

736

(848)

(112)

6,858

13,725

(7,235)

6,490

725

(1,000)

5,355

4,355

44

(59)

98

39

758

0

102

197

(84)

1,186

(9)

210

22,429

557

18

776

(105)

1,864

(691)

(146)

(314)

(17)

1,696

182

(13)

3,771

(20)

67

(7,424)

(295)

294

(432)

2

(161)

2,227

12

10

(267)

(12)

363

34,485

3,371

4

3,283

409

(200)

(26,781)

7,134

(1,142)

(229)

11

(136)

(237)

(427)

1,692

(18)

(3)

(81)

12

(13)

12,762

(4,377)

8,385

(368)

(86)

172

(126)

(21)

80

0

0

0

42

43

1,398

0

0

354,579

(277,239)

77,340

1,847

(192)

9,503

(2)

(239)

6,809
5
8

763

6,809

110

12,786

(349)

(88)

(437)

1,483

(306)

1,177

31,385

(10,219)

21,166

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Total (under) /
overspend

Additional Comments

RAG

Forecast
Action Plan
Variation against
Value (£000s)
Plan/Budget

Page 369

Communities
Communities Team

Communities Team - achievement of staffing efficiencies

Community Centres

Community Centres - asset transfer savings and general efficiencies within Shaid Mahmood
the service

Communities

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Shaid Mahmood

Customer Access
Contact Centre

Secure invest to save funding to partly offset additional staffing

Lee Hemsworth

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Customer Access
Welfare & Benefits
Housing Benefits
Welfare and Benefits
Electoral and Regulatory
Services (incl Environmental
Health)
Elections
All
Car Parking
Car Parking
Car Parking
Waste Management
Refuse
Waste Management - all
Waste Management - all
Parks and Countryside
Parks and Countryside
Parks and Countryside

Shaid Mahmood

G

(75)

A

(100)

30

A

(166)

143

G

(150)

Lee Hemsworth

A

(646)

127

Achievement of staffing reductions
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Lee Hemsworth
Lee Hemsworth

G
A

(200)
(194)

103

Charge PCC for share of elections
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

John Mulcahy
John Mulcahy

Elections deferred until May 21 due to Covid-19 - net saving £379k

G
G

(400)
(177)

(379)

Increase charges at Woodhouse Lane car park by 50p for a full day
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

John Mulcahy
John Mulcahy

Prices resumed but 50p increase to be implemented in 21/22

R
G

(100)
(148)

100

Secure agreement from DEFRA re revision to waste contract
Achievement of management structure staffing savings
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

John Woolmer
John Woolmer
John Woolmer

Confirmation received

G
G
G

(2,200)
(50)
(290)

Additional funding from Children's Funeral Fund
Staffing savings - achievement of vacancy factor

Sean Flesher
Sean Flesher

G
G

(120)
(1,398)

Delays due to Covid-19

Business case approved

Community Safety
Community Safety
Community Safety
Community Safety
Directorate Wide

Other Significant Variations
All
All
All

Maximisation of external funding
Achievement of staffing efficiencies
Achievement of base vacancy factor

Paul Money
Paul Money
Paul Money

Covid-19 related
Staffing
Other

All
All
All

G
G
G

(175)
(17)
(335)

Covid-19 expenditure/income variations not already shown in action plans above
Other staffing savings not shown above
All other variations

Communities & Environment - Variation

25,274
(2,035)
(2,197)

21,166

Page 370

RESOURCES AND HOUSING
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
OUTTURN
Overall
The Directorate has an outturned at £9.4m over for the 2020/21 financial year which reflects an improvement of around £3.4m since the draft outturn was reported to Members in April. Within these figures, the total COVID
related cost/loss of income is £14m is partially offset by savings/income of £4.6m comprising staff savings, additional income and savings in non essential expenditure across all services.
Resources
There is an overspend of just over £1.1m across the Resources group of services, £4.5m of this is due to the adverse impact of COVID partially offset by non COVID savings/income of just over £3.4m.
The most significant items are a loss of court fees in Finance/Legal of £2.5m, £0.4m estimated cost of operating and providing meals from the Food Warehouse, £0.8m reduction in income to capital projects and other charges.
Delays to the implementation of Budget Actions Plans and other COVID pressures in Shared Services are around £0.2m.
There are net savings on non COVID related areas of £3.4m, being a combination of savings against vacant posts, savings from ELIs, non essential spend and other running cost savings
Housing Services
There is an overspend of £0.9m in Housing. Of this £0.8m is the additonal net costs of supporting homelessness and rough sleeping activity during the pandemic Gross spend was in excess of £3m However, income from Housing
benefit and government grants have reduced this pressure.
Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL)
The division has overspent by £6.5m with £7.8m attributable to COVID withpartially offseting savings of £1.3m from additional income and reduced operating costs

Page 371

Of the £7.8m COVID pressure £5.3m is within LBS due to a reduction in income as a consequence COVID. The position in LBS is an improvement on previously monthly forecasts by approx £0.3m.
The other main area of COVID pressures are within Catering, where the impact of school closures upon meals, the provision of emergency meals and the closure of commercial catering has cost approx £2.4m, although
compensasting savings in Catering of £1m and other parts of CEL £0.3m have helped mitigate.
CEL has operational responsibility for the delivery of the Passenger Transport and has delivered outturn savings of £1.1m and £0.3m for the Childrens and Families and Adult and Health directorates respectively which will be
reported separately within the outturn dashboards for these directorates.
The Authority wide net expenditure onthe delivery PPE of £0.9m.
Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget
£'000
Resources
Housing
CEL

Income Budget Latest Estimate
£'000

Premises

£'000

£'000

£'000

Transport

Internal Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

100,415

(32,613)

67,802

2,600

326

183

(119)

53

0

(54)

0

3,139

6,128

(5,002)

1,126

23,148

(15,657)

7,491

(610)

63

2,095

30

(342)

1,507

0

0

1,957

4,700

(3,804)

896

148,396

(140,366)

8,030

(3,609)

212

(5,817)

(617)

(114)

0

0

0

736

(9,209)

15,677

6,468

0

242

914

2,547

94

923

4,720

(3,797)

923

271,959

(188,636)

83,323

(1,377)

1,515

(992)

(612)

(403)

1,507

(54)

0

6,755

6,339

3,074

9,413

PPE
Total

£'000

Staffing

Supplies &
Services

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
RAG

Service

HOUSING
Housing

Budget Action

Lead Officer

Comments

Additional Charges to DFG

Jill Wildman

New structure in Health and Housing in place. No issues expected, but need to keep under review re
level of capital spend to justify charges to scheme

To ensure the delivery of the targeted return (£10.655m) and
ensure service developments and effective productivity
improvements.

Sarah Martin

Turnover approx £14m lower due to pandemic and reduction in HRA Cap prog

CPM
Facilities Management

Additional charges to capital (staffing)
Insourcing of Office waste and Voids

Sarah Martin
Sarah Martin

Facilities Management

Review of servicing offer at Merrion House

Fleet Services

Action Plan
Value

Forecast Variation
against Plan/Budget

£m

£m

G

(0.21)

R

0.00

New structure in place during 19/20.
Insourcing of general waste contract completed, insourcing of voids slipped.

G

(0.04)

G

(0.08)

Sarah Martin

Savings to come from fewer meetings etc as a result of WFH.

G

(0.06)

Electric Vehicle replacement and reduction in hire

Sarah Martin

EV vehicle replacement on track and service working to reduce hire.

A

(0.33)

Fleet Services

Generate additional external income from maintenance of
external vehicles

Sarah Martin

Covid-19 epidemic has delayed savings and income

G

(0.21)

Catering

Generate net additional income from expanding commercial offer

Sarah Martin

Commercial catering all but closed in 20-21

R

(0.03)

Catering

Target saving from reduced reliance on meat based dishes

Sarah Martin

Affected school closures. Catering pressures reported on COVID line

R

(0.04)

G

(0.25)

G

(0.15)

R

(0.14)

G

(0.06)

G

(0.05)

G

(0.25)

CEL
Leeds Building Services

5.26

0.09

RESOURCES

Page 372

DIS / Shared Services

Mail and Print Review - Printer rationalisation

Bev Fisher

Sonya McDonald

This has been done printers required will be in place for end of March and paid from ESP budget
2019/20;
Work in progress to get volumes down – given that the vast majority of staff are wfh there will be
significant reductions in printing. Assuming WFH continues into 2020/21 will bring reduced printing
costs in the new year.
Procurement exercise completed. Contract due to be awarded

DIS / Shared Services

Mail and Print Review - Reductions in the volume of printing (Colou

Bev Fisher

DIS / Shared Services
DIS

Mail and Print Review - new Print Unit Equipment and LCC wide
cost reduction on external spend
DIS Breakfix - reduced external spend

Bev Fisher

This is done - past six months trends show a reduction in costs – no reasons this wouldn’t continue.

DIS

Staffing Reduction - DIS Service Desk

Bev Fisher

Not actioned – given the current demand/volume of calls cannot reduce staffing levels in the service
desk in the near future or maybe at all. Need to identify alternative actions to offset

Bev Fisher

Done and agreed – signed 12 months contracts with health partners

0.07

DIS

DIS - Health and City Partnerships

HR

Staffing reductions

Andrew Dodman

ELI Business case approved. Staff leaving between Mar and Oct; Savings net of ELI costs

G

(0.13)

HR

Income HR

Andrew Dodman

Charges to academies. Agreed

G

(0.02)

HR

Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV)

Andrew Dodman

Anticipate around £10k LCC wide on existing ULEV take up

R

(0.05)

0.05

HR

Apprenticeship Levy (Rolled over 19/20)

Andrew Dodman

This income has not beenreceived. Alternative savings in HR

R

(0.15)

0.15

Shared Services

E Invoices

Sonya MCDonald

Procurement exervise for techincal solution completed

R

(0.15)

0.15

Shared Services

Servicing of meeting savings

Louise Snowden

£200k initial savings; £60k been identified elsewhere. £140k potential issue

R

(0.14)

0.07

DIRECTORATE WIDE
Directorate Wide

Line by Line Reductions

Various COs

HR £44k (Staff shop, Serv Devt); Legal £100k; Pru Borrowing £60k; S&I £50k; IN year monitoring of
spend

G

(0.31)

Directorate Wide

Staffing reductions

Various COs

Passengers £87k ELI done; Housing Options £90k (split GF/ HRA)

G

(0.13)

Directorate Wide

Impact of Covid-19

Additional expenditure/loss of income as a result of pandemic net of £1.3m HB income

R

6.69

Impact of Covid-19

Pay Award

R

0.84

Impact of Covid-19

PPE Expenditure

R

0.92

Directorate/LCC Wide

B. Other Significant Variations
Directorate/LCC Wide

Net pressures, vacancy freeze and non essential spend savings
All Other variations

G

Resources and Housing Directorate - Outturn Variation

(4.88)

9.41

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - OUTTURN
Overall :
The overall outturn position for Strategic & Central Accounts shows an underspend of £65.9m.
The dashboard includes a separate row for corporate Covid-related pressures and income, with a total net credit of £86.3m. This position includes £69.5m of government grant support awarded to the council for the impact of
Covid (of which £19.3m was received in March 2020 and carried forward in reserves) and a projected £27.5m compensation grant for lost sales, fees and charges income during the pandemic. It also reflects the estimated
£11.7m cost of the corporate Early Leavers scheme, less £0.5m to be funded from the flexible use of capital receipt. Following improvements to directorate positions, it has not been necessary to make use of capital receipts
brought forward arising from the Merrion House capital distribution.
The dashboard recognises a shortfall of £23.3m in capital receipts generated in year, as a result of the shutdown in the economy due to the Covid 19 lockdown, which would require a corresponding increase in the level of MRP
chargeable to revenue. This is net of an additional £4.1m target for capital receipts which has enabled a contribution to the general fund reserve. There has been an underspend of £1.9m in the budget for external interest
costs and investment income, partially offset by a reduction of £0.5m in prudential borrowing costs recovered from directorates.
As a result of the impact of Covid 19 on the local economy, the council has received significantly more S31 grants as compensation for the additional business rates reliefs given during the year. There will be a corresponding
impact on the Collection Fund deficit which the council will have to fund in 2021/22 as a result of these additional reliefs, and thus the additional income (£155.0m) will be fully required in 2021/22 and will therefore be carried
forward in an earmarked reserve. Projected grant income under the Council Tax and Business Rates income guarantee schemes of £2.2m and £15.3m respectively have been accrued for and carried forward in reserves. A
reduction of £2.1m has also been recognised in the council's projected business rates levy for the year, as a result of reduced business rates income. Following the 2020 government spending review, an additional £2.2m of
New Homes Bonus grant income has also been recognised.
The general capitalisation budget target has not been met, and reflects a shortfall of £0.9m, however this has been more than offset by other minor savings totalling £1.4m. Non- covid related underspends of £3.4m in the
overall corporate position are shown as a contribution to earmarked reserves.

Page 373

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

Strategic Accounts
Corporate Covid issues
Debt
Govt Grants
Joint Committees
Miscellaneous
Insurance
Total

PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget

Income
Budget

Latest
Estimate

£'000

£'000

£'000

(12,988)
0
35,747
2,161
35,201
5,746
8,764
74,630

(20,089)
0
(17,881)
(27,581)
0
(794)
(8,764)
(75,109)

(33,078)
0
17,866
(25,420)
35,201
4,952
0
(479)

Staffing
£'000

Supplies &
Services
£'000

Premises
£'000

(228)
10,705

External
Providers
£'000

Transfer
Payments
£'000

1,234
(512)

(169)
10,308

Internal
Charges
£'000

Transport
£'000

0

(95)
1,205
1,832

0

(137)
(137)

(67)
(36)
(103)

(2,023)

(2,023)

Capital
£'000

0
16,999

16,999

Appropriation
£'000
4,025
(19,325)
5,229
172,550

489
162,968

Total
Expenditure
£'000
5,031
(8,620)
21,716
170,527
(67)
(300)
1,557
189,844

Income
£'000
(1,327)
(77,668)
94
(175,199)
(57)
(1,557)
(255,714)

Total (under) /
overspend
£'000
3,704
(86,288)
21,810
(4,672)
(67)
(357)
0
(65,870)

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
RAG

Budget

Forecast
Variation
against
Budget

Additional Comments

Lead Officer

£m

£m

1.

Debt Costs and External Income

Victoria
Bradshaw

There has been an underspend on external debt cost.

G

20.2

(1.9)

2.

Minimum Revenue Provision

Victoria
Bradshaw

The budget relies on the use of capital receipts to repay some debt. Due to the slowdown in economic activity, a
reduced level of capital receipts were realised, requiring additional MRP from revenue.

R

14.2

23.3

3.

New Homes Bonus

Victoria
Bradshaw

Forecast increased following recent Government Spending Review

G

(4.7)

(2.2)

Victoria
Bradshaw

There has been an additional £155.0m of S31 grant income in relation to business rates. However this will be
required to fund the Collection Fund deficit expected to be carried forward to 2021/22, and so will be carried forward
in an earmarked reserve.

G

(22.7)

0.0

Section 278 capital spend and funding is was in line with the budget.

G

(4.6)

0.0

Reductions in non-essential spend reduced the potential for capitalisation.

A

(3.5)

0.9

The outturn position was in line with the budget.

A

(3.7)

0.0

Minor net variations.

G

35.2

(0.1)

G

0.0

(97.0)

R

0.0

11.2

G

0.0

0.0

G

0.0

(0.5)

New large claims, partially offset by schools income, have driven an overspend of £489k to be funded from
insurance reserve.

A

0.0

0.0

Shortfall due to slippage in caital spend.

G

(16.6)

0.5

A. Major Budget Issues

4.

Business Rates (S31 Grants & retained income)

5.

S278 Contributions

6.

General capitalisation target

7.

Schools capitalisation target

8.

Joint Committees

Page 374

9

Covid support grants

10

Early leavers costs

11

Use of capital receipts

12

Flexible use of capital receipts

Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw

General Covid support grants totalling £69.5m have been recognised, together with £27.5m of grant in
compensation for lost sales, fees & charges income
Estimated severance costs of £9.5m and pension strain costs of £1.3m have been included in respect of the
corporate ELI scheme
Following improvements in the position across directorates it has not been necessary to use the capital receipt
recognised in relation to Merrion House
It is intended that £0.5m of the Early Leavers costs included in item 10 above will be capitalised under the flexible
use of capital receipts provisions

B. Other Significant Budgets
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw

1.

Insurance

2.

Prudential Borrowing Recharges

3.

Business Rates Levy

Victoria
Bradshaw

Based on provisional outturn, the council's levy payable is expected to be below budget

G

2.1

(2.1)

4

Contributions to earmarked reserves

Victoria
Bradshaw

Potential underspends of £3.4m in the overall corporate position will be contributed to earmarked reserves.

G

0.0

3.4

5

Other government grants

Minor net variations

G

4.9

(0.3)

6

Miscellaneous

Minor net variations

G

4.9

(0.4)

7

Strategic - other budgets

Minor net variations

G

0.0

(0.7)

Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation

(65.9)

Housing Revenue Account - Outturn
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Summary of over / (under) spends (Housing Revenue Account)
Directorate
Income
Rents
Service Charges
Other Income

Total Income

Page 375

Expenditure
Disrepair Provision

Current Budget

Outturn Spend

£000

£000

Variance to
budget
£000

(212,140)

(210,495)

1,646

(8,484)

(8,484)

(1)

(33,772)

(32,457)

1,315

(254,396)

(251,437)

2,960

Comments
£1,028k Increase in Voids due to Covid 19. £365k pre-covid trend void rate moved from 0.75 to 0.92. £197k Net impact of reduction in
RtBs sales offset by ROFR delays. Garages rent pressure £77k.

Previous period
variance
£000
1,738
3

£304k RtB admin income due to Covid 19. £45k Technical cap sals. £626k Civica project team not charged to capital. £250k staff not
working on capital schemes due to Covid 19. £642k vacant posts in P&I not charged to cap schemes. £412k Hsg growth posts vacant offset in emp costs. £200k reduction in Court income due to Covid 19 - offset in Internal Charges. Leeds Pipes pressure £191k. £(300)k
Telecoms income. £(840)k Gainshare income. £(204)k App levy grant.

1,571

3,313

1,400

3,774

2,374

Repairs to Dwellings

49,786

45,107

(4,679)

Council Tax on Voids

778

1,124

346

31,402

30,378

(1,024)

8,202

8,034

(168)

£140k Naviagtion House Delapidation work. Electricity and water savings £(227)k. (£(37)k Crabon reduction levy ended.

(547)
(311)

Employees
Premises

Increase in case numbers and average costs.
Covid 19 impact.
Covid 19 impact due to void level.
Hsg Mgt £(1,508)k, P&I £(708)k, Hsg Growth £(370)k, Technical £(18)k. £1,201k Severance costs and £150k pension strain for employees
leaving before end of 20/21. £204k App Levy costs.

3,835

3,254

(581)

£(169)k ICT savings review, £(75)k Environ budgets, £(44)k Tenant mobility scheme, £(39)k income mgt costs plus WFH and line by line
review savings.

Internal Services

44,064

43,725

(339)

£480k Civica DIS staff not charged to capital. £(194)k reduction in charges for Court cost - offset in internal Income. £(35)k PFI movement.
£(153)k Leeds pipes reduction in consumption. £(117) Community safety recharge. £309k Disrepair legal costs. £(378)k grounds
maintenance. £102k Community Hubs. £(283)k startegic hsg recharges.

Capital Programme

55,845

41,627

(14,218)

Unitary Charge PFI
Capital Charges

10,417
44,334

10,143
44,049

(274)
(285)

Other Expenditure

5,739

5,980

242

255,800
1,404

237,194
(14,243)

(18,606)
(15,647)

(216)

674

890

Supplies & Services

Total Expenditure
Net Position
Appropriation: Sinking funds

(1,188)

3,268

4,456

(Surplus)/Deficit

0

(10,300)

(10,300)

Total Current Month

0

Appropriation: Reserves
Transfer to Capital Reserve

10,300

10,300

(0)

(0)

£14.2m reduction in transfer to capital due to slippage in the programme. £10.3m transfer to capital reserve, £3.9m funding other
pressures.
To reflect movement on PFI.
£(278)k to fund capitalised interest for assets under construction.
Provision for bad debt £388k pressure. £(163)k transport saving due to Covid 19. £(103)k Reduced Community Payback payments due to
Covid 19. £(41)k HAP offset in appropriation entry. £216k Sheltered hsg scheme charge to reserve. £(33)k DHP.

2,130
(4,200)
346
(1,452)
(37)

(14,186)
(274)
(1)
(1)

(18,532)
(15,220)
Movement in PFI - offset above.
£129k to EIT reserve. £4,200k Transfer to Repair / Disrepair reserve. £41k HAPs reserve. £(216)k Sheltered reserve. £292k to General
reserve.

Transfer to Capital Reserve

881
4,039

(10,300)

10,300

0

Housing Revenue Account - Outturn
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Change in Stock

Budget

Right to Buy sales
Right of First Refusals/ Buybacks
New Build (Council House Growth)
Total
Right to Buy Receipts
Total Value of sales (£000s)
Average Selling Price per unit (£000s)
Number of Sales
Number of Live Applications

Outturn
(645)
65
80
(500)

(411)
51
75
(285)

2019/20 Actual
33,931
55.4
612
1,333

2020/21 Outturn
23,551
57.3
411
1,503

Page 376

h
Arrears
Dwelling rents & charges
Current Dwellings
Former Tenants
Under occupation
Volume of Accounts
Volume in Arrears
% in Arrears
Value of Arrears
Collection Rates
Dwelling rents
Target
Variance to Target

2019/20
2019/20 Week 53

2020/21
£000

7,142
4,716
11,858
2019/20 Week 53
3,051
1,198
39.3%
197
2019/20 Week 53
96.43%
97.50%
-1.07%

2020/21 Week 52

Variance
£000
6,765
4,356
11,122

£000
(376)
(360)
(736)

2020/21 Week 52
2,687
838
31.2%
121

(364)
(360)
-8.1%
(77)

96.70%
97.50%
-0.80%

0.3%
0.0%
0.3%

2020/21 Week 52

Housing Revenue Account - Outturn
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Financial Position on Reserves

Reserves b/f

Use of Reserves Contribution to
Reserves

Closing
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

(6,495)

0

(292)

(6,787)

Welfare Change

(807)

651

0

(156)

Housing Advisory Panels

(507)

0

(41)

(548)

(2,777)

216

0

(2,561)

(408)

408

0

0

(23)

0

(10)

(33)

Changing the Workplace

(151)

0

0

(151)

ERDMS

(257)

0

0

(257)

0

0

(4,200)

(4,200)

(4,930)

1,275

(4,251)

(7,906)

Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund

(1,474)

0

(1,397)

(2,871)

LLBH&H PFI Sinking Fund

(6,025)

723

0

(5,302)

(7,499)

723

(1,397)

(8,173)

MRR (General)

(8,278)

46,620

(51,927)

(13,586)

MRR (New Build)

(1,105)

961

0

(144)

(9,383)

47,581

(51,927)

(13,730)

(28,308)

49,579

(57,867)

(36,596)

HRA General Reserve
Earmarked Reserves

Sheltered Housing
Early Leavers' Initiative

Page 377

Wharefedale View

Proposed Repair / Disrepair Reserve
PFI Reserves

Capital Reserve

Total

Appendix 2

Directorate

Description of Reserve
GENERAL FUND

Balance at
1st April
2020

Transfers
To & From
Reserve

£k

£k

Balance at
Outturn
2020/21
Reason for Reserve
£k

(31,520)

3,761

(27,759)

Page 378

Adults & Health
Adults & Health
Adults & Health
Adults & Health

S256 funding for Health Inequalities
Health & Social Care (CCG)
Prisons Reserve
Drugs Commissioning

(1,823)
(4,165)
(126)
(133)

0
(1,056)
0
0

(1,823)
(5,221)
(126)
(133)

Adults & Health

Transforming Care

(2,766)

373

(2,393)

Adults & Health

Social Care Development Reserve

(976)

0

(976)

Adults & Health

Resilience Reserve

(627)

627

0

Adults & Health
Adults & Health
Adults & Health
Children & Families
Children & Families
Children & Families
City Development
Communities & Environment
Communities & Environment
Communities & Environment
Communities & Environment

Safeguarding (Adults)
Spring Budget
Skills For Care
Health Innovations
Safeguarding (Children's)
BS Scheme
Armed Forces Day
Casino License
NEW - Self-Isolation Payment Reserve
Economic, Social and Environmental Wellbeing fund
Communities Innovation Fund

(266)
(7,600)
(192)
(745)
(230)
(20)
(6)
(216)
0
(209)
(20)

(16)
(723)
0
241
12
20
0
26
(844)
(182)
(12)

(282)
(8,323)
(192)
(504)
(218)
0
(6)
(190)
(844)
(391)
(32)

Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing
Resources & Housing
Resources & Housing
Resources & Housing
Resources & Housing
Resources & Housing
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central
Strategic & Central

Waste Management
Homelessness Prevention Fund
Lord Mayor
Members club
Low Carbon Programme
NEW - Connect Implementation 2021-22
Section 256
Energy Efficiency Reserve - LCC
General Insurance
Mutual Municipal Insurance
Legal Cost of VAT claims
Capital Reserve

(540)

(157)

(697)

(1,047)
(10)
(8)
(8)
0
(360)
(221)
(3,278)
(11)

28
0
0
(150)
(300)
68
0
(2,699)
0

(1,019)
(10)
(8)
(158)
(300)
(292)
(221)
(5,977)
(11)

(63)

0

(63)

(1,745)

(226)

(1,971)

NEW - Merrion House Reserve
NEW - S31 Business Rates Reserve

0
0

(2)
(155,019)

(2)
(155,019)

NEW- Strategic Contingency Reserve

0

(24,338)

(24,338)

NEW - Council Tax TIG reserve
NEW - Business rates TIG reserve
Invest to Save
Business Rates Distribution

0
0
(444)
(2,206)

(2,234)
(15,297)
(1,231)
568

(2,234)
(15,297)
(1,675)
(1,638)

Sub-total Earmarked Reserves

(30,061)

(202,522)

(232,583)

Total non-ring fenced Reserves

(61,581)

(198,761)

(260,342)

Specific funding from Leeds South and East CCG for tackling health inequalities.
To fund Health and Social Care priorities
CCG funding for social work in prisons
Carry forward of external income for drug and alcohol priorities
Provision to mitigate against costs associated with the NHS England led transfer of care packages to a community setting, in
accordance with 2017/18 budget report
Provision to meet costs associated with development of social care models e.g. Recovery Model in accordance with 2017/18
budget report
Provision to mitigate against unforeseen demand pressures e.g. caused by hot summers, cold winters, flu outbreaks etc., in
accordance with 2017/18 budget report
Independent Safeguarding Board - carry forward of partner contributions.
Carry forward of Spring Budget monies from DCLG.
To provide funding for training of Care Workers
Monies given by Health Service for a number of joint initiatives around commissioning & children's centres
Independent Safeguarding Board - carry forward of partner contributions to fund serious case reviews
Funding from the CCG to continue the Intensive Positive Behaviour Service in 20/21
Funding for Armed Forces Days
Reserve for creation of Social Inclusion Fund as per licence bid
Self-Isolation Payment funding to carry forward
Carry forward balances on the wellbeing budgets of Community Committee.
To fund work with the 3rd Sector to develop future financial sustainability in the sector.
Balance of waste disposal contract savings secured in 19/20 to support the delivery of the Refuse route review and the
developing waste strategy.
To fund Homelessness prevention
Balance of budget carried forward.
Surplus on the Members Club.
To support delivery of work on Air Quality
To fund the implementation costs of the Connect system in LBS.
Funding from the CCG to be utilised by DIS to fund development of Digital Solutions for Personalised Care
Energy efficiency reserve to fund invest to save energy efficiency initiatives.
To help fund cost of future insurance claims
Reserve to fund potential claw backs of past insurance receipts from MMI.
Funds set aside from £8.4m VAT claim refund received in 10/11 (originally £100k) to help fund legal costs for remaining VAT
cases
Directorate contributions towards borrowing costs of capital schemes. Contributions received over life of asset and released
back to revenue to cover debt costs over life of loan. Reserve now exhausted.
Reserve to fund the future costs of the Merrion House lease
Reserve to carry forward S31 NDR relief grants received in 20/21 to 21/22
Non Covid directorate savings - to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to ensure the Council becoming more
financially resilient
Income guarantee for lost C Tax in 20/21, to be spread over next 3 years.
Income guarantee for lost NDR in 20/21, to be spread over next 3 years.
Fund to get projects off the ground to generate future revenue savings.
To carry forward 2018/19 Business Rates Pool surplus and funding allocated to projects.

Directorate

Schools
Schools
Schools
Schools
Adults & Health
Adults & Health
Adults & Health
Communities & Environment
Strategic
Strategic

Description of Reserve

Extended Schools Balances
Schools Balances
Dedicated Schools Grant
SEND Fund
NEW - Rapid Test Fund
NEW- Community Discharge Grant
Public Health Grant
Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Surplus
Energy Efficiency Reserve - Salix
Revenue grants

Sub-total General Fund Ring-fenced Reserves

Page 379

Note 1: Revenue Grants
Adults & Health
Children & Families (Partners in Education)
Children & Families (Other)
City Development
Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing
Strategic Accounts (Brexit)
Strategic Accounts (COVID-19 Grant Reserve)
Sub-total Revenue Grants
HRA RING FENCED RESERVES
HRA General Reserve
Welfare Reform
Housing Advisory Panels (HAPs) Reserve
Sheltered Housing
Early Leavers' Initiative

Balance at
1st April
2020

Transfers
To & From
Reserve

Balance at
Outturn
2020/21
Reason for Reserve

£k

£k

£k

(6,252)
(15,398)
3,233
(100)
0
0
0
(246)
(510)
(26,852)

1,054
(17,838)
(1,231)
58
(115)
(855)
(1,191)
(14)
11
18,195

(5,198)
(33,236)
2,002
(42)
(115)
(855)
(1,191)
(260)
(499)
(8,657)

(46,125)

(1,926)

(48,051)

(270)
(1,615)
(864)
(1,403)
(51)
(3,138)
(186)
(19,325)

0
566
291
(1,573)
0
(414)
0
19,325

(270)
(1,049)
(573)
(2,976)
(51)
(3,552)
(186)
0

(26,852)

18,195

(8,657)

(6,495)
(807)

(292)
650

(507)

(40)

(2,777)

216
408

(23)

(11)

Changing the Workplace

(151)

0

eFiles Box It Project

(257)

0

(1,474)
(6,025)
0
(9,384)

(1,396)
723
(4,200)
(4,346)

Sub-total HRA Reserves

(28,308)

(8,288)

(36,596)

Total Ring-fenced Reserves

(74,433)

(10,214)

(84,647)

(136,014)

(208,975)

(344,989)

Swarcliffe PFI
LLBH&H PFI Sinking fund
NEW - Revenue Repairs Reserve
Major Repairs Reserve

TOTAL RESERVES

Revenue Grants Carried Forward
Revenue Grants Carried Forward - DfE Partners In Practise funding.
Revenue Grants Carried Forward
Revenue Grants Carried Forward
Revenue Grants Carried Forward
Revenue Grants Carried Forward
Revenue Grants Carried Forward
Revenue Grants Carried Forward - MHCLG COVID Support Grant

(6,787)
(157) To fund pressures arising form welfare reform.
To fund projects identified by Housing Advisory Panels which benefit the tenants and residents in the community they
(547)
represent.
To fund investment in sheltered housing schemes which will contain shared bathing facilities and fund improved access for
(2,561)
people with mobility issues.
0 To fund the cost of approved severance payments
Contribution from shared owners towards future costs of replacing furniture and carpets at Wharfedale View Extra Care
(34)
facility
(151) To fund the cost of ‘new ways of working’ for staff in Housing Leeds as office moves are completed.
Principally to fund the scanning of Housing Management paper files to electronic files - to assist the Housing Service in the
(257)
preparation for moving to Community Hubs.
(2,870) PFI Sinking Fund
(5,302) PFI Sinking Fund
(4,200) Carry forward of in year underspend due to COVID
(13,730) Ring-fenced to fund capital expenditure or redeem debt.

(408)

Wharfedale View SF

Surpluses on extended school activities carried forward
Schools balances net of VER, Children's Services and BSF PFI borrowing
Carry forward of ring fenced DSG funding.
Funding received for work with children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
Funding from Central Government to support COVID rapid testing of individuals
Funding from Central Government for transitions costs from Hospitals back to Community Settings
Public Health grant carried forward
Ring fenced reserve for taxi and private hire licensing service.
Energy efficiency reserve to fund invest to save energy efficiency initiatives.
Revenue grants carried forward as per IFRS requirements (see note 1 below)

APPENDIX 3
CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS
The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.
The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.
Directorate

Programme/ Scheme

Adults & Health

All Schemes

Feb 2021
£000s

2020/21
Variation Under Reason for variation
Actual £000s (-)/ Over £000s

2,776.7

2,570.0

2,776.7

2,570.0

(206.7) No material variances on the 23 schemes delivered within Adults and
Health.
(206.7)

Page 380

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS
The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.
The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Page 381

Directorate

Programme/ Scheme

Strategic & Central

PFI Lifecycle costs

9,389.4

8,280.1

Transformational
Change, General
Capitalisations,
Capitalisation of Interest

5,986.0

5,320.1

Revolving Infrastructure
Fund (RIF)
Other schemes

1,040.9

0.0

974.6

855.9

17,390.9

14,456.1

Feb 2021
£000s

2020/21
Variation Under Reason for variation
Actual £000s (-)/ Over £000s

(1,109.3) Delays in undertaking lifecycle works significantly reduced by £1.1m the
financial model figures that could be capitalised.
(665.9) The transformational change programme assumed a higher level of early
leaver intitiative £0.35m. On general capitalisations funding of £0.2m was
transferred / utilised for additional Schools Capitalisation. The capitalisation
of interest on assets under construction is under by £0.1m due to slippage
within the overall programme.
(1,040.9) Delays in finalising loan agreements has resulted in slippage of new
drawdowns against the RIF.
(118.7) No material variances on Future Ways of Working programme and within
the Ward Based Initiative schemes within Strategic and Central.
(2,934.8)

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS
The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.
The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.
Directorate

Programme/ Scheme

City Development

Highways

183,552.6

190,011.6

6,459.0 Highways accounts for 47% of the total general fund capital programme in
2020/21 and 92% of the overall 2020/21 City Development programme.
Highways has delivered and progressed schemes totalling £190m. Main
variances occured on Connecting Leeds Public Transport Initiative, a DFT
grant funded programme where the full year projection of £67.2m was not
adjusted and remained as reported to DFT. The programme achieved
£75.8m of spend which accounts for most of the Highways variance in
2021/22. During the COVID pandemic low levels of traffic, general fair
weather conditions and more resources supplied on the ground has allowed
us to over deliver in excess of planned works on some of the directorates
high priority schemes - particularly the City Centre Gateways £24m which
are transforming the city centre including schemes on the Headrow,
Infirmary St and Corn Exchange - Park & Ride schemes have delivered
£21m with key achievements and progress being made at Stourton £19m
and the completion of Elland Road P&R. Other notable programmes which
have progressed and achieved more than the estimates are Street Lighting
LED replacement programme £3.1m, Regent St Flyover £1m and the Flood
Alleviation programme £1m. Some programmes and schemes resulted in
being under the estimated provision £3m with the other major projects
programmes being East Leeds Oribtal Road £1.6m, Corridor improvement
programme £1m due to the late swap of 3 schemes transferred from LPTIP
and £0.4m on the development of schemes from WYCA funded
programmes. Other highways schemes within the 345+ schemes delivered
in year have no material variances within this report.

Asset Mgt

4,479.0

4,135.8

(343.2) The main variance to report in Asset Management was Redhall Demolition
£0.3m due to the complexity around utility connection terminations which
have delayed some of the demolition works. While no other material
variances to report there have been some over and underspends within the
remaining 31 schemes delivered.

Feb 2021
£000s

2020/21
Variation Under Reason for variation
Actual £000s (-)/ Over £000s

Page 382

4,611.3

1,760.9

(2,850.4) The development of the Parklife schemes have been delayed as a direct
result of COVID resulting in slippage of £1m at outturn. West Yorkshire
Playhouse estimate didn't reflect the position at the time of the setting of the
capital programme resulting in a £788k slippage, the scheme will be
completed early in the new financial year. While no overall material
variances within the Culture and Sport programme there have been some
minor over and underspends on the 26 schemes delivered in 2019/20.

Economic Development

3,634.3

2,342.4

(1,291.9) Late decision to drawdown loans to Leeds Studios of £1m were paid out in
March for the TV & Film Studio loan scheme over the estimated provision
within the scheme. This was offset by City Centre Management public realm
scheme delays of £1.3m and Markets schemes £0.7m with delayed
implementation of the 1875 Roof and block shops and the new hall units.
While no overall material variances within the remaining schemes delivered
within Economic development there have been some over and
underspends on the 50+ schemes delivered in 2020/21.

Regeneration

2,831.6

1,246.5

199,108.8

199,497.2

(1,585.1) This variance is mainly due to Lower Kirkgate grant scheme provision
remaining unchanged at the capital programme setting resulting in £1m of
slippage. The Local Centre Programme has encountered delays in the
development of the programme resulting in £0.5m slippage to 2021/22
however we aspire to deliver this programme in the next 18 months. The
remaining schemes in Regeneration are offset with over and unders
resulting in no other material variances.
388.4

Page 383

Culture and Sport

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS
The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2020.
The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Page 384

Directorate

Programme/ Scheme

Children & Families

Learning Places

46,883.3

43,819.9

Schools Capital
Maintenance and Health
& Safety

21,534.1

19,156.4

Other Children's Services
Schemes

7,371.6

7,214.4

75,789.0

70,190.7

Feb 2021
£000s

2020/21
Variation Under Reason for variation
Actual £000s (-)/ Over £000s

(3,063.4) The main variances within the Learning Places Programme were down to
some delays in designing up schemes, difficulty in sub contractors
procuring materials and delays in agreeing final accounts which we
assumed would be settled in year. There have also been some minor over
and underspends on the 67 schemes delivered in 2020/21.
(2,377.7) Benton Park HS redevelopment achieved 86% of the projected spend at
the setting of the cpaital programme which has resulted in £2.1m of
slippage to 2021/22. There have been some minor over and underspends
on the 44 remaining schemes within the programme in 2020/21.
(157.2) Variances within the remaining 70 schemes within Children and Families
have been offset by the over and underspends within the year which has
resulted in no net material variance.
(5,598.3)

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS
The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2020.
The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Page 385

Directorate

Programme/ Scheme

Resources & Housing
General Fund

District Heating Network,
Fuel poverty fund and
Clean Air Zone

9,467.2

10,601.5

1,134.3 SECC was successful in a bid worth £25m to the Government's public
sector decarbonisation programme after the capital programme was set and
contributed to the £2.2m spend over estimates within the energy efficiency
programme in 2020/21. This has been offset by net underspends of £1m
mainly due to the Clean Air Zone grant being repurposed with discussions
ongoing with Government on what similar energy efficiency and climate
related schemes we can progress in 2021/22.

CPM - works to
Corporate buildings,
Backlog Maintenance
Fire Risk assessment
works and Demolitions
Vehicle Replacement
Programme

6,546.6

4,383.5

6,789.9

3,555.3

Digital Information
Services and Finance

14,433.4

13,037.8

(2,163.1) A large part of the underspend £1.1m has taken place within backlog
maintenance and this has now slipped to 2021/22. No other individual
material variances have occured within the programme where there have
been some minor over and underspends on the 140 schemes delivered in
2020/21.
(3,234.6) The vehicle replacement programme is moving to a majority electric fleet
and through lockdown we have taken the opportunity to slow the planned
replacements £2m and extend the life of some vehicles. This allows us to
look at service needs moving forward taking account of the fast changing
specifications of electric vehicles together with the infrastructure needed
across the city. The Electric trial scheme £1m was also stalled with private
sector businesses slow to come forward, there were also difficulties
encountered with loaning out vehicles during lockdown.
(1,395.6) Some budgets realigned within the essential services programme and while
kit has been ordered it will now arrive in May in the new finacial year £0.7m.
On the Full Fibre Network the external provider has encountered delays in
connecting the planned sites scheduled with £0.3m slipped to future years.
DIS are also reassessing equipment requirement needs in services with the
large take up in ELIs across the council £0.2m.

Feb 2021
£000s

2020/21
Variation Under Reason for variation
Actual £000s (-)/ Over £000s

Housing Supported
Loans, Adaptations
programme, private
sector renewal and
Travellers Sites.

13,618.8

8,881.7

50,855.9

40,459.8

(4,737.1) The new supply affordable and supported housing loans scheme
underspent as a result of delays in taking up loans available £2.1m.
Holbeck Group Repair Ph2 which will deliver works to 150 properties
encountered delays in signing up these properties and will now be delivered
in 2021/22 utilising getting building funding £2.65m and private sector
contributions. Adaptations resulted in being £0.6m under estimates as a
direct result of the pandemic with difficulties in delivering works in peoples
homes. No other individual material variances within the remaining R&H
programme.
(10,396.1)

Page 386

Feb 2021

Page 387

Directorate

Programme/ Scheme

Communities &
Environment

Parks Main Programme

6,697.6

1,841.2

Cemetries & Crematoria

1,010.3

59.6

Community Hubs and
Customer Access
systems
Waste Operational

1,569.4

1,521.9

1,617.2

1,200.5

Other E&H General Fund

1,073.9

974.3

11,968.4

5,597.5

357,889.7

332,771.3

Total General Fund Variances

2020/21
Variation Under Reason for variation
Actual £000s (-)/ Over £000s

(4,856.4) The replacement of Parks Equipment and Machinery £0.8m while ordered
will now be delivered early in the new financial year. A number of COVID
related pressures resulted in reduced capacity and therefore scheme delays
leading to slippage into 21/22 financial year.
(950.7) Options to identify localised expansion of cemetery provision continue to be
explored. Schemes under development were delayed in 20/21 due to
technical and capacity related reasons that were exacerbated by COVID
and as consequence this has lead to slippage into 21/22 financial year.
(47.5) While no overall material variances within the programme there have been
some over and underspends on the 18 schemes delivered in 2020/21.
(416.7) The main underspend within Waste relates to the scheme for the build of a
new citywide Environmental Services depot/offices. This was delayed due
to finalising the site requirements and contractual details, together with
some groundwork issues. In addition, provision remains in the garden waste
wheelie bins scheme for future new builds/developments that have been
factored into the route review.
(99.6) No other material variances on remaining 143 schemes within Communities
and Environment.
(6,370.9)
(25,118.4)

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 HRA, HOUSING LEEDS & BITMO OUTTURN VARIATIONS
The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.
The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.
Feb 2021
2020/21
Variation Under Reason for variation
Directorate
Programme/ Scheme
£000s

Resources and Housing Council Housing Growth
Programme
HRA
Housing Leeds & Other
HRA

Page 388

BITMO

Total HRA Variances
Total Capital Program Variances

Actual £000s (-)/ Over £000s

15,904.1

16,225.5

60,959.4

54,154.1

1,785.2

961.7

78,648.7

71,341.3

436,538.4

404,112.6

321.4 No material variances on the schemes being delivered within the
programme and overall managed well within the overall budget available.
(6,805.3) Housing Leeds outturn is £6.8m below projections mainly due to
estimations remaining unchanged at the setting of the capital programme in
February. Some of the schemes encountered delays and didn't deliver as
much as expected and these have been slipped to 2021/22. Movements in
year between budgets have generally been contained within budget
provision and while there have been overs and unders on some budget
headings during the year HL have managed the 2020/21 programme within
the existing overall funding available under extenuating circumstances
throughout the year.
(823.5) Some of the main schemes delivery have been affected by delays down to
COVID and have slipped into 2021/22. While no overall material variances
within the programme there have been some over and underspends on the
34 schemes delivered in 2020/21.
(7,307.4)
(32,425.8)

Agenda Item 16

Report author: V Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Report of Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23rd June 2021
Subject: TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2020/21
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

√ No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

√ No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

√ No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

√ No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1

Main Issues

1.1 This report sets out for Members’ approval the Treasury Management Outturn Report
for 2020/21.
1.2 This report shows that net external debt at 31st March 2021 was £2,252m, £31m lower
than the February 2021 forecast. This movement is due to lower than anticipated
revenue balances of £5m, an increase in MRP of £2m and a decrease in assumed
treasury borrowing of £24m for the capital programme. The level of debt and liabilities
should be viewed in the context of the Council’s assets which were valued at £6.2bn as
at 31st March 2020. The value of assets as at 31st March 2021 are pending the
completion of the Councils draft balance sheet and statement of accounts which are not
finalised at this time.
1.3 The level of debt has remained within the authorised limit and operational boundary as
approved by the Council in February 2021.
1.4 The average rate of interest paid on the Council’s external debt was 3.28% for 2020/21
compared to 3.30% for 2019/20.

Page 389

2

Best Council Plan Implications

2.1 Treasury Management strategy secures funding to support the Council’s Policies and
City Priorities as set out in the Council capital programme and is consistent with the
Best Council Plan.
3

Resource Implications

3.1 This treasury strategy recognises the borrowing necessary to fund the capital
programme requirements of both General Fund and HRA. The revenue costs of
borrowing are included within the revenue budgets of the general fund and HRA.
3.2 The strategy for 2020/21 has resulted in an underlying surplus of £1.4m by funding at
lower rates than anticipated however strategic use of capital receipts and a switch to
revenue support for the costs of MRP has resulted in an overall deficit the details of
which can be found in the Revenue outturn report elsewhere on this agenda.
Recommendations
1.

Executive Board are asked to note the Treasury Management outturn position for
2020/21 and that treasury activity has remained within the Treasury Management
Strategy and policy framework.

Page 390

1

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report provides members with a final update on Treasury Management Strategy
and operations in 2020/21.

2

Background information

2.1

The operation of the treasury management function is governed by provisions set out
under part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003, whereby the Council is required to
have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2017 in particular:




The amended 2017 Prudential Code requires that full Council set certain
limits on the level and type of borrowing before the start of the financial
year together with a number of prudential indicators.
Any in year revision of these limits must be agreed by Council.
Policy statements are prepared for approval by the Council at least twice a
year.

2.2

These codes have been updated and re-issued late in 2017/18 together with the
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance in
relation to Investments and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). These codes are
currently subject to consultation with a view to updating both codes during 2021/22
and a further update will be provided when these new codes are issued. The CIPFA
codes and MHCLG guidance have been formally adopted.

3

Main Issues

3.1

Review of Strategy 2020/21

3.1.1 Table 1, below shows that net borrowing in 2020/21 was £2,252m, £31m lower than
the February 2021 forecast. This movement is due to lower than anticipated revenue
balances of £5m, an increase in MRP of £2m and a decrease in assumed treasury
borrowing of £24m for the capital programme. The actual movement in the capital
programme is explained in the revenue outturn report elsewhere on the agenda.
TABLE 1

Page 391

3.1.2 The level of debt and liabilities should be viewed in the context of the Council’s assets
which are valued at approximately £6.2bn as at 31st March 2020. The value of assets
as at 31st March 2021 are pending the completion of the Councils draft balance sheet
and statement of accounts which are not finalised at this time. The Capital programme
outturn position is reported in the June Financial Performance - Outturn Report to
Executive Board elsewhere on the agenda.
3.1.3 Graph 1, below shows that the level of debt during 2020/21 remained within
Authorised limits during the year. The Authorised Limit is the maximum permitted
amount of borrowing the Council can have outstanding at any given time and has not
been breached during 2020/21. The operational boundary is a key management tool
and can be breached temporarily depending on cash flow. This limit acts as a warning
mechanism to prevent the Authorised limit from being breached. Treasury
management activity has resulted in no breach of its prudential indicators which are
detailed in Appendix A. All of these other prudential indicators are within the normal
tolerance levels of treasury management.
Graph 1

3.1.4 The 2020/21 borrowing strategy continued to fund the capital programme borrowing
requirement from short dated loans and internal cash balances whilst looking for
opportunities to lock into attractive longer dated funding. Whilst this approach
continues to deliver lower costs of financing, the proportion of borrowing funding by
short terms loans has been reduced to 3% (Table1) due to increasing the use of the
Council’s balance sheet to fund its borrowing requirement from the start of the year.
This exposure to interest rate refinancing has decreased slightly from 2019/20
however it is expected to rise to approximately 26% in 2023/24 if only short term
funding is utilised. Provision exists in 2022/23 and 2023/24 within the MTFS to enable
the switching of all short term borrowing to Long term funding in which case the
interest rate exposure would fall to 3.5%.
3.1.5 Since the economic update to Members in February, the uncertainty surrounding the
impact of the Covid-19 outbreak provide the backdrop for the economic performance
outlined below. Generally the economy suffered a contraction larger than the financial
crash of 2008/09 however the rollout of vaccination programme promises a return to
something approaching normality. In addition with the exceptionally high household
Page 392

saving rates seen since March 2020, it is thought that significant pent up consumer
demand exists and leads some commentators to predict the UK economy could
recover to pre-pandemic levels during Q1 of 2022. The key movements are:















The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) reduced bank rate from 0.75% to
0.25% and then 0.1% in March 2020 and these rates remain unchanged. In
addition the MPC introduced a further £450bn of Quantitative Easing (QE)
during the crisis bringing the total issuance of QE to £895bn. During the
year negative bank base interest rates were discussed but these have not
materialised. Also in its August report the MPC stated that “it does not
intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear evidence that significant
progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and achieving the 2%
target sustainably”. This leads some commentators to expect base rates to
remain at current levels for some time despite short term expectations of a
moderate inflation spike above 2% forecast for the end of this year.
The government has also been active in providing support to businesses by
way of cheap loans and other measures such as business rate grant
support to support businesses in furloughing staff.
The Brexit agreement was signed on 24th December 2020 and eliminated a
significant downside risk to the UK economy although it is noted that much
work remains to be completed in this area.
Inflation as measured by the CPI index, started the year at 1.5% in March
2020 but fell rapidly as lockdown measures were implemented and rose at
the end of the year to finish at 0.7% in March 2021.
In the US the economy suffered a contraction as the pandemic escalated in
early 2020 and like the UK led to a policy response by the Federal Markets
Open Committee (FMOC) to reduce rates to near 0% together with
significant fiscal stimulus through QE. In December a package of support
totalling $900bn was issued followed by a further $1.9trn (8.8% of GDP) in
March from the incoming administration after the November election. US
inflation has generally undershot the 2% inflation target for most of the last
decade and the risk of a Japanese style deflationary trap is noted by many
economists. Markets are also aware of the longer term potential inflationary
risks around the accommodative policy stance and this led to an increase in
longer term Bond yields. Again as in the UK the key metric will be the
amount of spare capacity in the economy as normality returns.
In Europe also remain well below the 2% target however the European
Central bank (ECB did not cut its policy rate which was already at -0.5%.
The ECB did however embark on an expansion of its QE programme in
March 2020 and December 2020 to the tune of 1.85trn Euro.
In China economic growth contracted in Q1 2020 however a strong
response to the outbreak enabled them to recover all of the Q1 contraction.
In addition a programme of fiscal and monetary support has been effective
at stimulating short term growth.
In Japan 3 rounds of government fiscal support relatively effective virus
containment and vaccines rollout in 2021 are thought to ensure a strong
recovery in 2021 with an expectation of being back to pre-covid levels by
Q3.
World growth was in recession in 2020 however inflation in most countries
is not thought to be a problem for some years due to excess production
capacity and depressed demand.

Page 393

3.1.6 Graph 3 below shows the movement in PWLB interest rates over the year. Although
underlying Gilt yields have risen during 2020/21 by around 0.5% PWLB rates
accessible by the Council are actually lower. This is due to the removal of the 1%
margin imposed by Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT). This additional margin over gilts
was imposed on 9th October 2019 and removed on 26th November 2020. It should be
noted the PWLB borrowing is now only accessible provided the Council states that it is
not investing in capital assets primarily for yield. Longer term PWLB rates (49½-50
year) have varied during the year but ended the year 1.99% and achieved a low point
which occurred in mid-December. Shorter term rates (9½-10 year) have also fallen
from the start of the year and again hit a low point in mid-December. PWLB rates can
now be summarised as follows
 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)
 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

The graph below also shows the long term funding activity undertaken as detailed in
table 2 below.
Graph 3

3.1.7 The strategy for 2020/21 has resulted in an underlying surplus of £1.4m. However,
strategic use of capital receipts and a switch to revenue support for the costs of MRP
has resulted in an overall deficit the details of which can be found in the Revenue
outturn report elsewhere on this agenda. The treasury surplus is due to lower
borrowing levels and increased income from eternal investments.
3.1.8 Table 2 shows £5m of longer term funding was secured during the year and no PWLB
was taken after the £486.5m funding taken during 2019/20. The table also shows that
no market loans options were exercised during the entire year, whilst £8.8m of PWLB
loans reached maturity during the period. Approximately half of market loans
outstanding are termed Lenders Option Borrowers Option (LOBO) and contain
clauses which allows the lender, at pre-determined dates, to vary the interest rate on
the loan. If one of these options is exercised and the new rate is not accepted, the
borrower then has the option to repay the loan without penalty. £110m of these
Page 394

market loans were subject to a class action initiated by a total of 7 Councils. However
a decision in an unrelated case significantly weakened the position of the class action
and an application to strike out the claims was decided in Barclays’ favour. As a result
all parties agreed not to pursue the legal proceedings any further, and to bear their
own costs.

Table 2
Loan re paym e nts and borrow ing 2020/21
Loan Re paym e nts
Date

Am ount
(£m )

Ne w Borrow ing

Original Dis count
Rate
Rate
(%)

PWLB Loans

Date

8.8

Sub Total

8.8

3.30%

Non PWLB Loans

*

3.2

(£m )

(Ye ars )

Inte re s t
Rate
(%)

n/a
0.0
Non PWLB Loans
SALIX PH1

Total

Te rm

PWLB

04/09/2020

Sub Total

Am ount

0.000
8.8

5.0

8

0.00

5.0
Total

5.0

Taken f or the HRA account

Interest Rate Performance and Average Maturity Profile

3.2.1 The average rate of interest paid on the Council’s external debt was 3.28% (down
from 3.30%) as shown in Graph 3. This decrease is due to the level of short term
funding at attractive rate and the resources available to defray external borrowing.
Graph 3

3.2.2 Whilst the average borrowing rate remains low it is important to note the average
maturity profile of the Council’s debt. The average length of all loans to final maturity
including temporary loans is 35.6 years. The average length of all loans to the next
option date including temporary loans is 30.1 years. This provides a large degree of
funding certainty within the overall debt portfolio. Appendix B analyses debt as at 31st
March 2021 by interest rate band and the year of maturity or first option date for
LOBO loans. The final maturity of LOBO loans is shown as a memo item in the table
at the bottom of Appendix B.
Page 395

4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 This report is an update on strategy as presented to Executive Board in February
2021, as such no consultation has taken place. However, consultation with the
Council’s treasury advisors takes place regularly throughout the year.
4.1.2 The borrowing requirement is an outcome of the capital programme which has been
the subject of consultation and engagement as outlined in the February capital
programme report.
4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration requirements are addressed as part of
individual capital scheme and programme approvals. The borrowing to deliver these
capital schemes is executed through treasury strategy and as such there are no
further equality, diversity, cohesion and integration issues.
4.3

Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Treasury management strategy secures funding for the council’s capital programme
that supports the authority’s policies and priorities as set out in the Best Council Plan.
These include our Best Council ambition to be an efficient and enterprising
organisation.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at full Council in March 2019. As the
Treasury Management strategy secures funding for the Council’s capital programme
the impact of the Council’s activity and implications for the climate emergency will be
considered in each individual capital programme and scheme project report.
4.4

Resources, Procurement and Value for Money

4.4.1 This update on the treasury strategy recognises the borrowing necessary to fund the
capital programme requirements of both General Fund and HRA. The revenue costs
of borrowing are included within the revenue budgets of the General Fund and HRA.
4.4.2 An underlying surplus of £1.4m has been generated by funding at lower rates than
anticipated. However strategic use of capital receipts and a switch to revenue support
for the costs of MRP has resulted in an overall deficit the details of which can be found
in the Revenue outturn report elsewhere on this agenda.
4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, decisions on
borrowing limits, treasury management indicators, investment limits and the Treasury
management Policy Statement are approved by Council. Monitoring reports are
considered by Executive Board and are subject to call in. There are no further legal,
access to information or call in issues.

Page 396

4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1 This report sets out performance against the 2020/21 treasury strategy. The
execution of strategy and associated risks are kept under regular review through:




Monthly monitoring of debt costs and reporting forms part of the monthly
update on the Council’s Revenue position to Executive Board.
Quarterly strategy meetings with the Chief Officer Financial Services and the
Council’s treasury advisors; and
Regular market, economic and financial instrument updates and access to
real time market information.

5

Conclusions

5.1

This Treasury Management Outturn Report for 2020/21 provides a final update on
loans undertaken to fund the capital programme requirements for both General Fund
and HRA. Treasury activity during the year was conducted within the approved
borrowing limits for the year and resulted in an overall deficit to the revenue budget as
detailed in 3.1.7.

6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board are asked to note the Treasury Management outturn position for
2020/21 and that treasury activity has remained within the treasury management
strategy and policy framework.

7

Background documents 1
None

1

The background documents listed in this section are available for download from the Council’s website, unless
they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published
works.

Page 397

Leeds City Council - Prudential Indicators 2020/21
PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR
No.

1a
1b
2a
2b
5

6
7

8
9

(1). EXTRACT FROM BUDGET AND RENT SETTING REPORTS
Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
General Fund (Borrowing Only)
General Fund (Borrowing and Other Long Term Liabilities)

14

15

Outturn (This
Report)

19.08%
28.28%

19.34%
28.53%

11.52%
18.19%

11.60%
18.32%

11.54%
18.23%

Gross external borrowing requirement (Gross Debt and CFR)
The Net Borrowing Requirement should not exceed the capital financing
requirement (Note 3)

2,414,000
OK

2,323,726
OK

2,294,946
OK

Estimate of total capital expenditure (including PFI)
General Fund
HRA
TOTAL
Capital Financing Requirement (as at 31 March)
General Fund
HRA
TOTAL

£'000
434,209
154,067
588,276
£'000
2,353,759
851,819
3,205,578

£'000
357,890
78,649
436,539
£'000
2,357,637
814,503
3,172,140

£'000
332,771
71,064
403,835
£'000
2,327,411
818,599
3,146,010

HRA (Borrowing Only)
HRA (Borrowing and Other Long Term Liabilities)

PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR

11

Feb 21
Report

18.08%
27.13%

No.
10

Appendix A
Feb 20
Report

(2). TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS
Authorised limit for external debt - (Note 3)
borrowing
other long term liabilities
TOTAL
Operational boundary - (Note 3)
borrowing
other long term liabilities
TOTAL
Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure
expressed as either:Net principal re fixed rate borrowing / investments OR:Upper limit for variable rate exposure
expressed as either:Net principal re variable rate borrowing / investments OR:-

Feb 20
Report

Feb 21
Report

Outturn (This
Report)

£'000

£'000

£'000

2,800,000
660,000
3,460,000

2,800,000
700,000
3,500,000

2,800,000
700,000
3,500,000

2,650,000
640,000
3,290,000

2,650,000
680,000
3,330,000

2,650,000
680,000
3,330,000

115%

115%

115%

40%

40%

40%

£'000
150,000

£'000
150,000

£'000
150,000

98.76%

98.28%

98.07%

Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments

17

Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days
(per maturity date)

18

Net Debt as a Percentage of gross Debt

16

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 2020/21
under 12 months
12 months and within 24 months
24 months and within 5 years
5 years and within 10 years
10 years and within 20 years
20 years and within 30 years
30 years and within 40 years
40 years and within 50 years
More Than 50 Years

Lower
Limit
0%
0%
0%
0%

Upper
Limit
15%
20%
35%
40%

25%

90%

Actual
31/03/21
1%
3%
10%
7%
6%
0%
36%
31%
6%
100.0%

79%

Notes.
1 The indicator for the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for General Fund is now
calculated based on the External Borrowing costs only and Borrowing and Other long term Liabilities
(PFI and leasing)
2

The Changes to the Prudential Code 2017 retired the Indicator 3 and 4 on the incremental impact of New Capital
decision on HRA and GF as well as Indicator 13 the need to explicitly adopt the Code of Practice. In addtion Indicator 9 the
relating to the MHCLG imposed HRA borrowing debt ceiling has been recinded and is therefore no longer reported

3

In order to ensure that over the medium term gross borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the
Council should ensure that gross external borrowing does not exceed the total capital financing
requirement in the preceding year plus estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for
the current and next two financial years. This is a key indicator of prudence and was changed from Net Borrowing to gross
borrowing under the update to the Codes in 2017.

4

Prudential indicator 12 relates to actual external debt at 31st March, which will be reported in the
Treasury Management Annual Report.

5

Indicators 14 and 15 are no longer explicit within the updated codes however these have been but have been retained
pending further review

6

Indicator 17 relates solely to Treasury Management investments made under Section 12 of the Local Governement act 2003

Page 398

Debt as at 31st March 2021

Appendix B

Table below shows a breakdown of the maturity structure of the authority giving totals
Year
to 2%
2% to 2.99% 3% to 3.99% 4% to 4.99%
Greater
Principal
Ending
Than 5%
31st
March
Fixed Rate Loans - LOBO to First Option
2022
315
41,436
20,000
61,751
2023
630
20,000
27,624
35,000
83,254
2024
630
30,000
106,436
137,066
2025
630
25,000
20,000
45,630
2026
630
5,000
20,000
25,630
2027
6,305
28,812
35,117
2028
630
25,000
25,630
2029
630
15,000
20,000
35,630
2030
25,315
25,315
2031
25,000
25,000
2032
25,000
25,000
2033
16,500
16,500
2034
10,000
10,000
30,000
2035
25,000
5,000
2036
30,000
30,000
2037
25,000
25,000
2052
2053
2054
2055
2056
2057
2058
2059
2060
2061
2062
2063
2064
2065
2066
2067
2068
2069
2070

100,000
25,000
50,000

25,000
50,000
40,000
70,000
40,000
55,000
100,000
115,000
55,000

5,000
10,000
17,624
10,000
10,000
30,000
-

28,727
145,396
49,347
75,782
72,173
115,436
102,218
17,624
35,000
5,000
-

14,099
-

28,727
145,396
49,347
80,782
82,173
115,436
116,317
25,000
100,000
42,624
17,624
50,000
50,000
70,000
85,000
90,000
100,000
115,000
105,000

2077
2078
2079
Sub Total

285,715

716,500

20,000
280,495

85,000
20,000
933,137

14,099

20,000
85,000
20,000
2,229,947

Temporary Loans
2021
65,000
Sub Total
65,000
CABP

350,715

716,500

-

-

280,495

933,137

Memo : LOBO Variable Rate Loans to Maturity
2047
2055
2056
2066
10,000
2067
25,000
2077
40,000
2078
2079
Sub Total
75,000

15,000
45,000
10,000
15,000
15,000
55,000
155,000

Page 399

14,099

-

65,000
65,000
2,294,947

15,000
45,000
20,000
40,000
55,000
55,000
230,000

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17
Report author: Lee Arnell
Tel: 0113 378 87717

White Rose Railway Station
Date: 23 June 2021
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒ Yes ☐ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☒ Yes ☐ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


The White Rose railway station is proposed at the White Rose Park in South Leeds (see
appendix 1). The station will support the city’s response to the climate emergency by helping
to take cars off the road to improve air quality and reduce carbon emissions. It will improve
accessibility of rail services and better serve the communities of Cottingley, Churwell and
Millshaw, whilst also better connecting people to jobs, education and training.



The station will also act as the catalyst for the regeneration of the White Rose Park as a key
economic recovery initiative. The emerging economic masterplan infuses ambitions for
inclusive growth, innovation land use targeting key priority sectors, climate change
interventions and new developments for new jobs, learning and living (the economic
masterplan is included at appendix 2).



Munroe K, owner of the White Rose Park, will act as the developer of the Station. This is an
innovative model whereby the private sector is taking the lead in delivering the infrastructure
though collaboration between the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, Network Rail and the
Council. There is a window by which could see the construction start in autumn 2021 and
complete late 2022.The station is forecast to cost c£22m, and a cocktail of funding is
proposed with £5m of Connecting Leeds grant, £5m of New Stations Fund (announced in
May 2021), up to £12m of Transforming Cities Fund, and up to £4.5m plus land from Munroe
K.



This paper outlines a proposal and rationale for the Council to provide a loan facility to
Munroe K, in compliance with subsidy control, to finance Munroe K’s maximum contribution
to the scheme. This is to ensure momentum to the station is maintained, whilst helping to
accelerate the delivery of economic and environmental benefits.

Recommendations
a) To approve that the Director of City Development, in consultation with the Chief Officer Financial Services and the Executive Member for Resources, develop and enter into a Loan
facility Agreement of up to £4.5m with Munroe K as per the Heads of Terms and principles
detailed in exempt appendix 3.
Page 401

b) To inject £4.5m into Capital Scheme Number 32774/WHI/000 in order to finance the loan
facility; and that the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of City Development
and the Chief Officer -Financial Services to enable the Director and Chief Officer to provide
‘authority to spend’ up to that amount in order to provide the loan, subject to the completion
of legal agreements with Munroe K.
c) Request a future paper on the delivery of the economic masterplan and emerging spatial
masterplan at the White Rose Park.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

As highlighted in the executive summary, the White Rose Station offers a number of social,
economic and environmental strategic benefits to the city to respond to the climate
emergency, support post COVID economic recovery and to achieve inclusive growth. The
station benefits from approval of its Full Business Case from the WYCA and a detailed
planning consent. Design is at a very detailed and evolved stage and represents a shovel
ready infrastructure project.

2

Of the required funding c£22m, up to £4.5m of funding plus land is proposed from Munroe
K. This forms part of match funding from Connecting Leeds, WYCA and a £5m grant from
the New Stations Fund. Munroe K’s intention was to finance its contribution by disposing of
land adjacent to the station for residential development. The site was allocated in the Site
Allocation Plan. Further to Executive Board’s decision in March 2021, this site was remitted
and returned back to the Green Belt. Munroe K has been exploring alternative financing
options as detailed in exempt appendix 3.

3

If funding is not finalised in the next two months, then the scheme will stall and be in
abeyance until such time that funding was made available. Accordingly, in order to ensure
momentum is retained and to unlock the benefits to the city, Munroe K has approached the
Council regarding the Council providing a loan facility to finance its contribution.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: Morley North, Beeston and Holbeck
Have ward members been consulted?

☒ Yes

☐No

4

Ward members have been consulted.

5

Should the Council agree to provide the loan facility, subject to the outcome of the grant
application to Government, there will be full funding in place for the Station. This will allow a
contract to be let in September. This will unlock the delivery of new construction jobs and
lead to the station being completed towards the end of 2022 ahead of the station opening
for operations thereafter.

6

As highlighted, the station will unlock a number of benefits across the city as energy is
focussed on economic recovery. Namely:
i)
ii)

iii)
iv)

A new station serving the local communities of Cottingley, Churwell and
Milshaw to better serve local demand.
Connecting employees, customers, students and visitors to the Milshaw
Industrial Estate including the White Rose Office Park, White Rose Shopping
Centre and Elliot Hudson Academy.
Connecting people to employment, education and training opportunities at
existing and new developments in the area.
Providing a fully accessible station.
Page 402

v)
vi)

vii)
7

Supporting local regeneration, housing and economic growth.
Significantly improving the walking and cycling routes that will link the station
to the local communities and White Rose Shopping Centre and bus
interchange.
Modal shift from car to train reducing congestion and improving air quality.

Should Executive Board agree to provide a loan facility, Munroe K will formally commit to
collaborate with the Council on the delivery of its economic masterplan (included at
appendix 2), which sets out the potential future of the White Rose Park across eight
economic key moves:
i)

Kickstarting the economic recovery

ii)

Supporting inclusive growth

iii)

Maximising the benefits of the new Railway Station

iv)

Creating a modern business location alongside a wider mix of uses

v)

Supporting innovators and entrepreneurs

vi)

Tackling climate change

vii)

Developing as a learning campus meeting economic needs

viii)

Providing quality homes

8

Accordingly, it would be the intent to accelerate this work to optimise the benefits
associated with the station and to deliver and sustain new jobs, and sustainable inclusive
growth. It is envisaged that this will include the development of a new spatial masterplan for
the White Rose, alongside specific economic development and inward investment activity.

9

An equality screening assessment has been completed, and this demonstrates the
potential positive equality and diversity implications arising from the delivery of a new
station here. In particular, this is due to the improved physical access, and the socioeconomic and environmental benefits associated with the station.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
10 There is no legal requirement for the Council to publicly consult on the proposals contained
within this report, although local ward members have been consulted and no objections
have been raised on the proposals contained within this paper.
11 The proposals for the White Rose Station have been subject to comprehensive public
consultation exercises in the development of its business case and securing of Planning
consent. This consultation demonstrated that 71% of respondents were happy or very
happy with the proposals and 83% important or very important to have a station with
improved access. Furthermore, it would be the intent for there to be further consultation and
engagement on the spatial masterplan for the White Rose Park as this is developed.

Page 403

What are the resource implications?
12 Capital Funding and Cashflow
WHITE ROSE RAILWAY STATION ‐ 32774/WHI/000
Injection required for this approval

TOTAL

TO MARCH
2021

FORECAST
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

£000's

£000's

0.0

0.0

£000's

£000's

£000's

OTHER COSTS (Loan Facility) (7)

4500.0

0.0

4500.0

TOTALS

4500.0

0.0

4500.0

Total overall Funding

TOTAL

LCC Capital Program m e

TO MARCH
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

LCC BORROWING (Specific Loan)

4500.0

0.0

4500.0

0.0

0.0

Total Confirmed Funding

4500.0

0.0

4500.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Total Funding Balance

2021

FORECAST

13 The proposals for a Council loan facility would require the Council to undertake borrowing
to finance this. The Council’s finance costs, and any subsequent interest repayments,
would be repaid in full by Munroe K. The facility would be cost neutral to the Council.
What are the legal implications?
14 It is proposed that the Council would enter into a loan facility agreement with Munroe K as
per the Heads of Terms detailed in exempt appendix 3.
15 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 empowers the Council to do anything that individuals
generally may do, subject to any restrictions as to the use of its powers to which the
Council was subject when that Act came into force or which have subsequently been
imposed. In the case of the proposals outlined in this report, the Council will have to comply
with the provisions of section 3 of the Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963 in so far as they are
applicable.
16 The information contained in appendix 3 is exempt under Access to Information Rule 10.4
(3) as it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular
person (including the Council). It is considered that the public interest in maintaining the
content of appendix 3 as exempt outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information
as doing so would prejudice the Council’s commercial position and that of third parties
should they be disclosed at this stage.
17 The Council has a common law duty to the Council Tax and business rates payers of Leeds
to conduct its financial affairs in a business-like manner, with reasonable care, skill and
caution, and with due regard to their interests. It is considered that, in the case of the
proposals outlined in this report, they will, at worst, be cost neutral to the Council. The
Council will also obtain adequate security in respect of Munroe K’s liability to the Council.
18 Where the Council is providing a subsidy, it must comply with all applicable provisions of
the various trade agreements to which the United Kingdom is subject. However, as a
commercial interest rate will be payable by the Developer, it is considered that the
proposals outlined in this report will not constitute a subsidy. . In any event, the loan facility
Page 404

agreement will provide that if any subsidy control laws are breached then the Developer will
have to repay any subsidy arising.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
19 With New Stations Fund grant secured, there is full funding available should Executive
Board agree to these proposals, to allow the scheme to move forward with the current
budget forecast. The funding profile, and extent of loan facility that may ultimately be
required, is being considered with the Combined Authority. In any instance, the Council’s
loan will not exceed £4.5m.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

20 The proposals achieve a wide range of objectives across the three pillars. The station, and
the associated regeneration of adjoining sites, is named as a priority project to support the
federal economy in the inclusive growth strategy through investing in 21st century
infrastructure. The reduced carbon emissions through increased public transport use will
also improve health and climate outcomes. The broader spatial masterplan work will seek
to maximise the benefits across each of the three pillars.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
21 Two other options were considered: ‘do nothing’ and ‘grants’,
22 Do Nothing – for the reasons outlined in exempt appendix 3, should the Council do
nothing, it is considered that the whole project would be indefinitely delayed until such time
that Munroe K was able to finance its contribution. As such, there would a risk that the
project would not be delivered in time to benefit from wider TransPennine Route upgrades,
and the costs for the project would likely increase over time through price inflation. This was
not considered to be an appropriate strategy given that % of funding already secured and
the major social, environmental and economic benefits that could be unlocked.
23 Grants – a grant from LCC was explored, but the Council does not have capital budget
available for this purpose. Furthermore, other grant schemes were explored but none were
considered suitable to achieve the timescales of the project. It is considered that a loan, as
proposed, is more appropriate and will provide a net zero cost to the Council over the
duration of the loan agreement.
b) How will success be measured?
24 The Station has been subject to a Full Business Case as per the WYCA Programme
Assurance. It is proposed that success will be measured by monitoring the outcomes of the
project against the stated benefits within that Business Case. Ultimately, it is considered
that success will be the delivery of a station which will commence operations by 2023 and
that achieves the social, environmental and economic benefits detailed in this report.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
25 Should Executive Board agree to the proposals, it is proposed that a Funding Agreement is
entered into by August 2021, leading to a contract being let in August/ September 2021,
with the station completing by the end of 2022, and opening for operation thereafter.
Page 405

Appendices
26 Appendix 1 – Site location
27 Appendix 2 - White Rose Park Economic Masterplan
28 Exempt (under Access to Information Procedure Rule. 10.4(3)) Appendix 3 – Loan
Agreement Heads of Terms and Appraisal
29 Appendix 4 – Equality, Diversity, Inclusion and Cohesion screening form.
Background papers
30 None

Page 406

Appendix 1
White Rose Station Location

Page 407

This page is intentionally left blank

W H I T E R O S E PA R K , L E E D S

Economic Masterplan
Phase 1 Report Summary

Page 409

White Rose Park Leeds | Economic Masterplan

Contents
Introduction								

3

Building back better						

4

White Rose Park: Regional and National Impact				

6

White Rose Park: An Innovation Hub					

8

Timeline								

10

Economic Key Moves						

12

Conclusion								

14

4

Page 410

Phase 1 Report Summary

Introduction
Aquired in 1995 by Munroe K, White Rose Park has developed into a significant
contributor to Leeds, the city region and the Northern Powerhouse. It is now firmly
established as one of Leeds’ foremost business locations, home to many global
names such as HSBC, Capita and DAZN. Over the next 10 years, connected by a
new regionally significant railway station, White Rose Park will further develop
its anchor role as an inclusive, innovative and sustainable business park that links
education, academia and technology, that can support growth and the economic
competitiveness of Leeds and the city region.
In recent years Leeds has developed
as a successful, ambitious and
competitive regional city, at the
heart of a successful city region
attracting increasing levels of
inward investment, supporting a
fast-growing cluster of knowledgebased firms, and creating new
businesses and growth. Leeds and
the city region has a rich history
and a contemporary expertise in
innovation, based on its diverse
economy, strong universities, and the
creativity and entrepreneurship of
its businesses and people. There has
been recent rapid growth in sectors
such as financial and professional
services, digital, telecoms, data
analytics, media, architecture and
built environment consulting and
health innovation. White Rose
Park, in South Leeds, has supported
the growth of these sectors, with
over 5,000 people employed at the
existing office park.
There is widespread commitment
across major organisations and
businesses in the city and city region
to supporting inclusive growth,
ensuring everyone contributes to
and benefits from growth to their
full potential, and to tackle climate
change. The aim is to create more

and better jobs, to improve the public
transport network, the education and
skills system, the support provided
to innovators and entrepreneurs, and
to create modern, attractive business
locations.
Now, as we seek to rebuild the
economy following COVID-19,
investment in connectivity,
innovation, skills and growth that
White Rose Park can support the
immediate economic recovery and
help build the foundations for a more
resilient, sustainable, inclusive and
productive Leeds economy over
the longer term, benefitting local
people and thanks to the excellent
connectivity that will be enhanced
through the new White Rose Station,
people across the city region.
This report is a summary of more
detailed economic analysis that is
available in a background report.
It describes the current role and future
of White Rose Park in the Leeds
economy. It explains how White
Rose Park can contribute to the future
economic success of Leeds and the
Northern Powerhouse. It identifies
a series of “Key Moves” or guiding
principles for the future development
and growth of this important
Pagehub.
411
economic

5

White Rose Park Leeds | Economic Masterplan

Building
back better
THE CURRENT CHALLENGE

We are at a pivotal time in the
economic development of Leeds
and the city region. The city has
been successful in recent years, with
significant growth in employment.
Leeds has a clear and ambitious
strategy for inclusive growth, and
the city has been making good
progress in improving skills,
tackling health inequalities, helping
people to access good jobs, and
through investment and regeneration
in neighbourhoods. The city region
is developing an ambitious local
industrial strategy and will benefit
from a devolution deal.
But COVID-19 poses a major
long-term risk to the economy.
Increased unemployment and loss
of investor confidence could impact
for years to come. The pandemic
has highlighted structural challenges
in the economy. People in low-paid,
insecure jobs have been hit hardest.
This is likely to impact South Leeds
disproportionally, which already
lags behind the Leeds average on
several socio-economic indicators.
There is a risk that businesses
will reduce investment, impacting
productivity. The city’s shortage of
available office space, and grow-on
space for innovative businesses, and
the transport system could become
real constraints on growth.
6

There are grounds for optimism.
The building blocks for strong
economic recovery in Leeds and the
city region are in already in place
as a result of the leadership across
the public and private sectors, the
rapid recent growth and success
in attracting increasing levels
of inward investment. In South
Leeds there are a range of positive
projects that will support growth,
including investment in transport,
infrastructure and housing.
Through the MIT Regional
Entrepreneurship Acceleration
Programme (REAP), the city
and city region are bringing
together university and health
sector innovators, entrepreneurs,
corporates, investors and the
public sector to create more
innovation driven start-up and
scale-up firms. The Leeds Inclusive
Growth Strategy provides a clear
framework for action, identifying
priority locations (including White
Rose Park) for growth. Economic
opportunities will stem from the
city’s commitment to becoming net
zero carbon by 2030.
Through the Leeds 2023 initiative,
the city is using culture to bring
people together, and project an
image as diverse, creative, and
outward looking.

Page 412

Phase 1 Report Summary

SUMMARY OF CURRENT ECONOMIC ISSUES AND
CHALLENGES IN LEEDS AND THE CITY REGION

STRONG
F O U N D AT I O N S

- Strong recent economic
growth, particularly in
knowledge-based sectors.
- A step change in inward
investment performance
in recent years, including
securing the Channel 4
headquarters.
- A diverse, resilient,
knowledge-intensive
economy, with good
universities.
- Positive and progressive
economic leadership across
different organisations and
sectors.

CHALLENGES

- Kickstarting the economic
recovery from COVID-19
in a way that accelerates
productivity growth over
the longer term.
- Tackling poverty, creating
more and better jobs, and
helping people gain the
education and skills to
access them, particularly in
South Leeds.
- Developing well-connected,
low carbon business
locations that meet the need
of the modern economy,
increasing the supply of
office space, and growon space for innovative
businesses.
- Improving public transport
and walking and cycling
routes to help people access
jobs, and to spread the
benefits of economic hubs.

Page 413

MAJOR GROWTH
I N I T I AT I V E S

- Supporting inclusive
growth. within the
framework of the Leeds
Inclusive Growth Strategy,
the emerging Local
Industrial Strategy, and
the Covid-19 recovery
planning.
- Creating more innovationdriven start-ups and scaleups, through the Leeds City
Region MIT REAP.
- Leeds becoming a net-zero
carbon city by 2030.
- The West Yorkshire
Devolution deal, including
investment in transport,
infrastructure and the skills
agenda.

7

White Rose Park Leeds | Economic Masterplan

White Rose Park: Regional
and National Impact
Through the core ambitions of innovation, education, technology and sustainability
in all past, present and future development at White Rose Park, there is a key role to
play in achieving local, regional and national ambitions for 2030 and beyond.
S U S TA I N A B L E A N D S T R AT E G I C
TRANSPORT

I N C L U S I V I T Y, E D U C AT I O N
AND SKILLS

There is a national and regional aim
to improve transport, to help people
access jobs, to support economic
growth, and to tackle congestion,
and to reduce pollution and carbon
emissions. The new station, which
will open in 2022, will improve the
accessibility of the site and maximise
its positive impact across the city
region.

As part of its inclusive growth
agenda, Leeds seeks to achieve a
more inclusive economy, with good
quality, secure jobs located close
to where people live or in locations
accessible to them. White Rose
Park is unique in its offer of both
education and employment, which
supports the region wide ambition
of an education and skills system
that supports people in accessing
jobs, progressing their careers and
adapting to change in a rapidly
changing economy.

I N N O V AT I O N A N D D I G I TA L

Leeds’ creative and digital sector is
fast growing, exemplified by Channel
4’s decision to relocate to Leeds, and
DAZN to White Rose Park. Investment
in digital infrastructure enables Leeds
to establish itself and compete on a
global scale as a prime investment
location for businesses in the sector.
White Rose Park is already home to
some of the city’s most innovative and
data driven employers. White Rose
Park has an ambition to develop a
regional innovation district that will
promote collaboration between public,
private, third and academic sectors
and provide a space where digital
start-ups and SMEs can participate in
solving big city challenges such as:
implementation of 5G, net zero carbon,
inclusivity and health.
8

S U S TA I N A B I L I T Y

Leeds City Council and West
Yorkshire Combined Authority have
both declared a climate emergency,
with the aim of a net zero carbon
economy. White Rose Park can
support this regional ambition not
only through delivery of the station,
but through opportunities such as
retrofit of office buildings, delivery
of aspirational and sustainable
housing, and increased walking
and cycling opportunities across
the campus. On-campus digital
innovation opportunities may offer
solutions such as decentralised
energy options using solar and
battery powered energy.

Page 414

Phase 1 Report Summary

South Leeds Map
Location of White
Rose Park

Dewsbury

Wakefield

Key
Leeds Boundary
Milshaw Park
White Rose Park
White Rose
Shopping Centre
Rail
Motorway
Proposed Railway
Station
Bus Stop

1

Morley Town Deal - as
part of the Government’s
Stronger Towns programme

2

Leeds United and Leeds
United Foundation Training
and Community Facility

3

South Bank Regeneration

4

Leeds Station (and HS2
terminal)

5

Capitol Park (Employment
Zone for Morley)

Leeds United has put forward proposals
for a new training ground facility in south
Leeds for senior and academy players,
as well as a community sports hub at
the Elland Road site. These proposals,
coupled with the buzz created by Leeds
United’s return to the premier league, have
the potential to have a catalytic effect in
South Leeds and beyond, giving young
people access to state-of-the-art training
facilities, raising aspirations and the city’s
profile. Complimenting this, DAZN at White
Rose Park are a key player streaming
premier league football online.

Page 415

9

White Rose Park Leeds | Economic Masterplan

White Rose Park:
An Innovation Hub
Innovation is at the heart of White Rose Park: in its past, present and future.
White Rose Park has played an important part in the recent success and
growth in the Leeds economy. White Rose Park hosts leading firms in the
growing sectors in Leeds, including finance and professional services and the
digital sector. Home to 5,300 employees and 900 pupils, and supporting over
7,500 jobs in the Leeds economy, it is the location for key employers such as
HSBC, Capita, sports streaming and data firm DAZN, global engineering and
built environment firm WSP, HMRC and West Yorkshire Police.

Approximately

500,000 sqm

of office space with the
ambition for an additional

126,500 sqm

as part of the masterplan

10

5,300

approx people currently
employed at White Rose
Park with ambitions for an
additional

5,000

Page 416

New railway station

open by 2022
with a forecasted

343,000
yearly trips

Phase 1 Report Summary

The building blocks for the first
phase of future development of
White Rose Park are in place:
- The White Rose Station is due
to open in 2022, with 343,000
passengers annually.
- There is a draft allocation for
residential development at
the site, which will deliver
sustainable and high-quality
homes.
- White Rose Park is a growing
education hub with the expansion

of Elliott Hudson College and
introduction of the Maths School
for Yorkshire in 2022.
- DAZN, a subscription sports
streaming service and data
business, have just received
planning permission to expand
their building at White Rose Park.
- The Amazon Web Services Re/
Start programme will provide
digital skills to young people and
veterans via the Princes Trust.

JOB

7,500 jobs

in Leeds currently
supported by
White Rose Park,
with the potential
to double following
implementation of
the masterplan

15,000
visitors

to the office park
per weekday

1600
students

on site by 2022

Page 417

There are
exciting plans for

65,000m2

new aspirational
residential space
(c.580 homes) at
White Rose Park

11

White Rose Park Leeds | Economic Masterplan

Timeline

1995
NOW

White Rose Office Park was acquired by Munroe
K in 1995. From 1995-now the office park has
undergone over £100million of investment,
including grade A office space. This development
has created a sense of community, culminating
in the opening of the Elliott Hudson Sixth Form
College in 2015. In 2019, sports data and digital
media firm DAZN occupied a new 40,000 sq ft
building on the site.

2020
2030

This will be an exciting decade for White Rose
Park. In 2020, planning consent was granted
for a new DAZN building to enable the firm to
expand on the site. In 2021 a new 5G network
is to be installed, as well as the Smart Cities
Development Centre (SCDC) in partnership with
Leeds City Council, which will deliver projects
using IoT (Internet of Things).
In 2022, the new maths school and railway
station is due to open. Beyond 2022, there are
plans for expansion to create a real sense of
community in line with Munroe K’s commitment
to inclusive growth, including around 65,000m2
residential (c580 homes), a hotel, 125,000m2
office space, a doctors’ surgery and a primary.

BEYOND
2030

12

Page 418

Continued expansion of the
Park, creating a smart and
sustainable place to live,
learn and work.

Phase 1 Report Summary

Artist’s impression of new DAZN building

Artist’s impression of potential future masterplan

Page 419

13

White Rose Park Leeds | Economic Masterplan

Economic Key Moves
Eight Key Moves are proposed to set the framework for the development of
White Rose Park to support the future growth and competitiveness of Leeds and the
city region. This will require a transformation from a traditional office park to become
a modern, sustainable, innovative urban district, creating jobs, supporting businesses
to develop and grow alongside other uses such as education and residential.
K I C K S TA R T I N G T H E
ECONOMIC RECOVERY

SUPPORTING INCLUSIVE
GROWTH

The first stage of the expansion of White Rose
Park, includes the new station, which is a
shovel-ready project that can create jobs, and
help Leeds and the city region bounce back
from COVID-19. It is a project that creates
jobs in the short-term and will be a boost to the
city’s long-term economic competitiveness.

White Rose Park can help Leeds create more
and better jobs, and provide employment and
education opportunities for local people.
The jobs and education provided at White
Rose Park can provide a range of opportunities
accessible to people in South Leeds and
beyond.

C R E AT I N G A M O D E R N
B U S I N E S S L O C AT I O N
ALONGSIDE A WIDER
MIX OF USES

MAXIMISING THE BENEFITS
O F T H E N E W R A I LW AY
S TAT I O N

The new station will transform the accessibility
of White Rose Park, strengthening business-to
business links and widening access to jobs.
The new station is a priority for Munroe K,
Leeds City Council, and WYCA, and will
be a catalyst and focal point for the future
development of White Rose Park.

14

White Rose Park can meet the changing needs
of occupiers, combining the security and
privacy measures that some occupiers want
with an attractive, campus environment, good
public transport, and a diverse mix of uses,
spaces and amenities. There is potential for
modern med-tech, research and manufacturing
space, alongside a clear plan to bring forward
other sites to support manufacturing and
logistics firms in South Leeds.

Page 420

Phase 1 Report Summary

S U P P O R T I N G I N N O V AT O R S
AND ENTREPRENEURS

TA C K L I N G C L I M AT E
CHANGE

As a home to knowledge-based businesses,
through the partnership with Leeds City
Council to create the Smart Cities Development
Centre (SCDC), and the Amazon Web Services
re/Start initiative, and through providing
flexible workspaces White Rose Park can
support innovators and entrepreneurs in Leeds.
This includes using the planned 5G network
and the infrastructure to support White Rose
Park becoming a test-bed for innovation in realworld conditions.

White Rose Park can be an exemplar in
the transformation of existing office space
alongside new buildings to improve energy
efficiency, support renewable energy, electric
vehicle charging infrastructure, and by locating
new business space and homes around public
transport and walking and cycling routes.

DEVELOPING AS A LEARNING
CAMPUS MEETING
ECONOMIC NEEDS

Through the existing pre-school provision
on the site, expansion of the Elliot Hudson
College, the new Maths School for Yorkshire,
a teacher training centre and innovation centre,
and links to employers White Rose Park
can become a learning campus, integrating
education and business to support people to
move from education to a world of work.

PROVIDING QUALITY
HOMES

As part of the commitment to provide the
whole work life package at White Rose Park,
an aspirational residential and leisure offer is
critical to offer a community spirit and central
meeting space. Supporting the aim of building
aspirations for young people in Leeds, the
development needs to set the precedent for
aspirational and sustainable living across the
city region.

Page 421

15

White Rose Park Leeds | Economic Masterplan

Conclusion
White Rose Park is well positioned and can grow to support this future
growth of Leeds. It can provide an environment that inspires and stimulates
growth, where innovative organisations can develop and test new ideas, and
entrepreneurial people can start-up and scale-up firms. It can be a place
where connections are made; where education and business come together,
innovators work with entrepreneurs, and life and work are integrated.
And through the new station, better local transport and walking and cycling
links, and education and training, people in South Leeds, and across the city
and city region can access the opportunities that will be created.
Throughout history, the economy
of Leeds and the city region has
been able to innovate, develop
and change in response to the
emergence of new technologies,
shifts in the global economies and
economic shocks. This has been the
result of the diversity of the city’s
economy, the skills and ingenuity
of its people, the dynamism of its
businesses and the excellence of its
education system.
The COVID-19 pandemic has
accelerated a shift towards a more
knowledge-based economy, and
Leeds has many strengths to buildon: a large base of knowledge
intensive businesses, excellent
universities, diverse and creative
communities, entrepreneurial
people, and progressive leadership
across the public, private and
community sectors.
Over the past few decades White
Rose Park has hosted many
innovative businesses and continues
to do so today. One of the first mass
produced computers, the world’s
first internet service provider, the
telephone bank, and one of the
16

leading global sports subscription
services have all been developed at
White Rose Park.
Leeds and the city region needs
bold, delivery ready projects that
can rebuild the economy and create
jobs in the short term, which lay the
foundations for the city to capitalise
on its strengths and to build back
better by creating a more inclusive,
productive, resilient and greener
economy for the longer term.
This should include developing
well-connected urban districts to
meet the needs of how businesses
will operate and innovate, and how
people will live, work and learn in
the future.
Through investment in the railway
station, digital infrastructure, the
Smart Cities Development Centre
and an aspirational residential and
leisure offer, White Rose Park is in
a unique position to be the catalyst
for economic regeneration in Leeds,
across the city region and the
Northern Powerhouse.

Page 422

Phase 1 Report Summary

Page 423

17

Page 424

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)

Document is Restricted

Page 425

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Asset Management and
Regeneration

Lead person: Lee Arnell

Contact number: 0113 378 87717

1. Title: White Rose Railway Station
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

X

Other

If other, please specify
Proposal to enter into a loan agreement
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The screening relates to the Executive Board recommendations to agree a loan facility
with Munroe K to facilitate the timely delivery of the White Rose Station.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 433

1

reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
x

No
x
x
x

x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
In considering whether to provide a loan facility or not, officers have considered the
outcomes of the comprehensive consultations that was undertaken by WYCA, and also
considered the potential benefits or dis-benefits of the Council providing a loan. WYCA
has, for example, engaged with access groups and the public comprehensively on the
delivery of the station.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 434

2

The Station’s fundamental objectives, and outcomes delivered are as follows
i)

A new station serving the local communities of Cottingley, Churwell and
Milshaw to better serve local demand.

ii)

Connecting employees, customers, students and visitors to the Milshaw
Industrial Estate including the White Rose Office Park, White Rose
Shopping Centre and Elliot Hudson Academy.

iii)

Connecting people to employment, education and training opportunities at
existing and new developments in the area.

iv)

Providing a fully accessible station.

v)

Supporting local regeneration, housing and economic growth.

vi)

Significantly improving the walking and cycling routes that will link the
station to the local communities and White Rose Shopping Centre and bus
interchange.

vii)

Modal shift from car to train reducing congestion and improving air quality.

The Station will therefore provide a much enhanced piece of infrastructure located in an
area of high socio-economic deprivation. This will provide greater access to public
transport, job opportunities and remove reliance on car journeys. In providing the loan,
certainty can be given on the delivery of the station and the delivery of these benefits,
including new construction jobs. The Council will also work with Munroe K on a wider
spatial masterplan for the area around the station - which will seek to optimise benefits.
Further the station will be designed to modern accessibility standards in line with all
relevant legislation.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
The Council will ensure its loan facility delivers the scheme as agreed by the Local
Planning Authority
The Council will continue to develop, with Munroe K, the broader spatial and
economic masterplan to optimise wider benefits.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 435

3

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Lee Arnell
Executive Regeneration
10/06/2021
Manager
Date screening completed
10/06/2021
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:NA

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 436

4

Agenda Item 18
Report author: Daniel Slater
Tel: 0113 336 8744

Disposal of land at Dawson’s Corner by The Calverley
Charity
Date: 23 June 2021
Report of: Chief Officer of Asset Management and Regeneration
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒Yes ☐No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


Leeds City Council (LCC) is the sole trustee of The Calverley Charity – The Workhouse
Allotment (charity number 504497) (‘the Charity’).



The Charity currently has a small cash reserve and owns approximately seven acres of land
at Dawson’s Corner, Pudsey. The land is unused other than for the occasional grazing of
horses and generates very little income for the Charity.



LCC acting in its capacity as Highways authority has approached the Charity to purchase
the land. The Charity is prepared to dispose of the land to LCC generate funds for the
Charity. The proceeds of the sale will be used to fulfil the objectives of the Charity.



This report is on behalf of the Charity and the City Council acting in its capacity as sole
trustee is requested through Executive Board to approve the terms of the sale.



The land is privately owned by the Charity and this report is specifically for the purpose of
Executive Board approving the transaction in its capacity as sole trustee.

Recommendations
A) Executive Board is asked to approve, on behalf of the Council acting as sole trustee of the
Calverley Charity, the terms of the disposal of the Charity’s land at Dawson’s Corner, and
delegate the approval of any variation to the final terms to the Chief Officer of Asset Management
and Regeneration in consultation with the Executive Member for Resources in so far as there is
no conflict with the regard to the delegation and the respective interests of the parties.
B) Executive Board is invited to note the officers responsible for this matter are Daniel Slater (Land
& Property) and Shazia Ali (Legal). Upon approval of the sale terms by Executive Board the sale
will be progressed and completed in timescales to suit the Charity and the purchasing Highway
Authority (aim to complete by end of 2021).

Page 437

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

The Charity has been asked to sell its land to facilitate highway improvements to the A647
Dawson’s Corner roundabout. It is proposed that the Charity sells the land and Leeds City
Council acting as sole trustee through Executive Board is asked to approve the sale terms.

2

Elsewhere in the agenda to this meeting is a report from the Director of City Development
entitled “Acquisition of land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner junction improvement
scheme” outlining recommendations for the acquisition of the land.

3

The Charity intends to use the proceeds of sale on the objects of the Charity. The objects
of the Charity are ‘the relief of hardship and need of the residents’ of the Consent will need
to be sought from Commission consent to the disposal of the land to Leeds City Council
and it will be approached once the consultation has completed at the end of June 2021.

4

As Leeds City Council is acting as sole trustee in the disposal and is also purchasing the
land stringent measures to mitigate any potential conflict of interests have therefore been
put in place.

5

An independent RICS Red Book valuation of the land was undertaken on 10 April 2017 by
Cushman & Wakefield with a further update dated 18 May 2021. The May 2021 report
concludes that the Market Value of the land is £1,400,000.

6

The freehold interest in the land is to be transacted at the Market Value determined by the
Cushman & Wakefield May 2021 update.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected: Calverley & Farsley
Have ward members been consulted?

☒Yes

☐No

7

The sale of the land will generate income required for the Charity to fulfil its objectives.

8

Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration was considered throughout this process. The
additional capital received from the proceeds of this disposal will enable the Charity to
provide assistance to a wider section of the community.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
9

At the time of writing a consultation is being prepared by appointed consultation experts
WSP, the outcome of which will be reported at the meeting if the consultation results are
available at that point.

10 If the consultation results are not available by the time the meeting occurs, a return to
Executive Board will be required to report if there have been any significant objections.
11 This report has been prepared with the support of Ward Members for the Calverley and
Farsley ward. Ward members have been kept fully up to date on all issues relating to the
disposal.

Page 438

What are the resource implications?
12 Disposal of the land will enable the Charity to fulfil its objectives more effectively and will
also relieve the charity of any liability to maintain the land.
What are the legal implications?
13 Disposal of the land owned by the Charity must comply with the requirements of the
Charities Act 2011, otherwise an order of the Court or the Charity Commission will be
required before the land can be disposed of.
14 Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6 of the Trusts of Land and Appointment of
Trustees Act 1996, in disposing of land, the trustees of a charity must comply with the
provisions of Sections 117-120 of the Charities Act 2011 (in so far as they are applicable to
the proposed disposal) and Section 1 of the Trustee Act 2000. In addition, the trustees
must also have regard to the rights of the beneficiaries of the charity who are the residents
of the wards of Calverley and Farsley.
15 Section 117 of the Charities Act 2011 provides that no land held by or in trust for a charity
can be disposed of without an order of the Court or the Charity Commission unless: ꞏ


the disposal is made to a person who is neither a trustee or a ‘connected person’
(somebody who is connected to the trustees in some way); and



(in the case of a disposal of the nature proposed by this report) the disposal complies
with the provisions of Section 119(1) of the Act.

16 Section 119(1) of the Charities Act 2011 provides that, before disposing of any land, the
trustees must:


obtain and consider a written report on the proposed disposition from a qualified
surveyor instructed by the trustees and acting exclusively for the charity;



advertise the proposed disposal for such period and such manner as is advised in the
surveyor’s report (unless the surveyor’s report advises that it would not be in the best
interests of the charity to advertise the proposed disposal); and



decide that they are satisfied, having considered the surveyor’s report, that the terms
on which the disposal is proposed to be made are the best that can reasonably be
obtained for the charity.

17 Section 1 of the Trustee Act 2000 provides that trustees must exercise such care and skill
as is reasonable in the circumstances, having particular regard to any special knowledge or
experience which they have or hold themselves out as having and (if they are acting as a
trustee in the course of a business or profession) to any special knowledge or experience
that it is reasonable to expect them to have as a result of that business or profession.
18 In respect of the sale price, this is being recommended for approval on the basis of an
independent valuation commissioned under the terms of the Charities Act which represents
market value.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
19 Disposal of the land will provide funds for the Charity to fulfil their objectives more fully and
provide greater/more/something for the community the charity serves. Should the land not
be disposed of, the Charity will have very little money to make available for the benefit of
Page 439

the local community. Additionally, if land is not disposed of the Charity will remain
responsible for maintaining it. This risk is being managed via the disposal of the land.
20 The risks associated with the disposal of the Charity’s land to LCC are as follows:


if the land is not disposed of, the charity will remain responsible for maintaining it;



the land is allocated for housing in the Site Allocations Plan and there would therefore
be other willing buyers should LCC not acquire the land;ꞏ



although unlikely, LCC may withdraw their offer before exchanging contracts for the
purchase of the land – this is a risk on any property transaction.

21 As the Council is the sole trustee of the Charity approving the terms of the sale, and acting
in its capacity of Highway Authority purchasing the land any risk of a conflict of interests is
being managed through multiple methods. These include: internal information barriers,
meaning that the disposal and acquisition are being managed in separate capacities, using
different surveyors and solicitors
22 The risk of a market value not being realised by the Charity for the sale of the land is being
mitigated by ensuring that the price realised is determined by a RICS Red Book valuation,
undertaken by an external third party professional valuers appointed by the Charity. The
valuer was determined and selected via a competitive tendering process.
23 The Charity has access to internal legal support but to ensure they have independent legal
advice it has also appointed external solicitors, Wrigleys, acting for it and advising it.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☐Inclusive Growth

☐Health and Wellbeing

☐Climate Emergency

24 This is a report on behalf of the Charity, therefore the council’s 3 Key Pillars are not
applicable.
25 Albeit there is nothing in this report that is contrary to the Council’s Key Pillars.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
26 Other options are detailed below:
27 The Charity could retain the land however this would not help fulfil the objectives of the
Charity and ownership liabilities would remain with the Charity.
28 The Charity to sell to another party on the open market or by other methods. The Charity
has decided, however, to dispose of the land for the essential highway improvements at
Dawson’s Corner.
b) How will success be measured?
29 That the land is disposed at Market Value and the Charity realises funds to fulfil its
objectives.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
30 Upon approval of the sale terms by Executive Board the sale will be progressed and
completed in timescales to suit the Charity and the purchasing Highway Authority. Once
Executive Board approval is provided in relation to the disposal of the land, the consultation
will be undertaken. At this point we will seek the consent of the Charities Commission to
the disposal and advise them that we have undertaken a consultation. Once we have
Page 440

Charities Commission consent we can then proceed to complete the disposal. The initial
aim is to complete by the end of 2021.

Appendices
31 Plan - 11527L Calverley Allotment Land Pudsey PANEL.
32 Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening

Background papers
There are none.

Page 441

This page is intentionally left blank

IE
PR

CALVERLEY ALLOTMENT LAND
DAWSONS CORNER
STANNINGLEY, LS28
S TH

OR

A
ME

A
PE

DO

U
VEN

AR
WP
KC

E

1 to 30

13

18

CEN
RES

¯

TCB

Park House

T
El Sub Sta

6

21

10

29

5

14

146.3m

17

27

12

3

8

1

231

29 0

6

13

8
5

G RO

VE

17

C
PLA
E

N
NI
AN
ST

EY
2

ND S

BA C

O
KW

O DL

AND

S GR

O VE

23

RS L

Ma
sts

GL

PO

RD

ROA

D

Cycle Way
Shelter

Gas
Gov

33

D FO

S
AS
-P
BY

BRA

LB

EY

35 6

O D LA

9

ME

34 4

WO

13

WO
32 2

Offices

ay
le W
Cyc

AVENUE

1

30 8

31 0

BACK WO ODL
ANDS

10
22

WOODLAND S AVENUE

2

30 0

1

T

´

CEN

1

ES

2

CR

25 3

W

PAR
K

24 9

T

24 1

OF

DO

R
KC

A
ME

PAR

219

2

229

1

5

144.2m

El Sub Sta
ESS

34 3

Dawsons House

34 7

Shelter

34 9

1

2

35 5

OW

Dr

in
Dra

LC

ain

OT
ES
LA

3

NE

11

GP

15

SP

ET L

17

E
ED
RO

16

DR

a
17

11

YD

Tun

in
Dra

nel

IVE

11 a

19

15

23

E
ED

75

YD

6

RO

1

GR

Pudsey
Ward

8

28

E
OV

m

64

2

65

29
63

S
El
Sta

10

ub

1

E
TH

IR
FA

46

14

53

AY
W

51

30
MP 0.25

1

Sewage
Ppg Sta

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020 Ordnance Survey LA100019567
14

´

48

LCC INTERNAL USE ONLY, NOT FOR EXTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

Calverley & Farsley
Ward

LAND OWNED BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SUBJECT SITE

LAND LEASED OUT BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

LAND SOLD BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

WARD BOUNDARY

0 10 20

40

60

80
Metres

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data
to third parties in any form.
Produced by Land Records, City Development, Leeds City Council
Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\11500 - 11599\11527L Calverley Allotment Land Pudsey PANEL.mxd

Page 443

PREP BY

M. CHRISTIAN

DATE SAVED:

10/05/2021

OS No:

SE2034

SCALE

1:2,500

PLAN No

11527/L

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration (EDCI) screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Asset Management and
Regeneration

Lead person: Daniel Slater

Contact number: 0113 336 8744

1. Title: Disposal of land at Dawson’s Corner by The Calverley Charity – The
Workhouse Allotment
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

x

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The disposal of land at Dawson’s Corner with Leeds City Council acting in its
capacity as sole trustee of the Charity.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 445

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
x
x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 446

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 447

3

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Mary Stockton
Deputy Head of Land &
03 Aug 2018
Property
Date screening completed
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 448

4

Agenda Item 19
Report author: Annabel Phipps
Tel: 0113 37 88305

Acquisition of land for the A637 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner Junction
Improvement Scheme
Date: 23 June 2021
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒Yes ☐No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☒Yes ☐No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


Highways improvements are needed at A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner as is it a strategic
location on the transport network. It is the junction between the Leeds – Bradford corridor
and the Outer Ring Road, as well as being located on the Bradford to Leeds CityConnect
Cycle Superhighway and facilitates access to the New Pudsey railway station. The
improvements to the junction will improve pedestrian and cycling safety and connectivity. It
will also provide a dedicated bus lane and reduce congestion for all traffic through the
junction.



The highways improvements at A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner contributes towards the
Best Council’s Plans objectives to improve the city’s transport infrastructure and tackling
climate change risks. This is achieved through improved safety for all road users, providing
new crossing facilities for pedestrians and cyclists to improve accessibility, improve journey
times or buses via the implementation of designated bus lanes through the junction and bus
priority traffic signals, and reducing traffic congestion which will lead to better environment in
terms of improved air quality.

 There is insufficient land within the highway boundary to accommodate the junction
improvements. Leeds City Council therefore needs to acquire both permanent and
temporary land interests from a third party (as shown in the plan in Appendix 1) located
directly to the southwest (A), northeast and north west of the junction (B, C and D).
 One of the parcels of land (A) is owned by The Calverley Charity for which Leeds City
Council is the sole trustee. Therefore elsewhere in the agenda to this meeting is a report
from the Director of City Development entitled “Disposal of land at Dawson’s Corner by The
Calverley Charity – The Workhouse Allotment” outlining recommendations for the disposal of
the land.

Page 449

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
a) Approve the principle of acquiring third party land to enable the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s
Corner junction improvements;
b) Give approval to the terms agreed for parcel A as detailed in appendix 2 and B and C as
detailed in the confidential appendix 3; and
c) Note that should there be any changes to the agreed terms for A, B and C these to be
approved by the Director of City Development under delegated powers.
d) Give authority for officers to negotiate acquisition terms for parcel D and for these terms to
be approved by the Director of City Development under delegated powers.
e) Note that the timescales for the implementation are for third party land to be acquired by the
end of 2021 and, subject to funding, junction improvement works starting in either spring
2022 or spring 2023 with the construction period due to last around 12-18 months.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

Highways improvements are needed at A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner as is it a strategic
location on the transport network. It is the junction between the Leeds – Bradford corridor
and the Outer Ring Road, as well as being located on the Bradford to Leeds CityConnect
Cycle Superhighway and facilitates access to the New Pudsey railway station.

2

The improvements to the junction will improve pedestrian and cycling safety and
connectivity. It will also provide a dedicated bus lane and reduce congestion for all traffic
through the junction.

3

There is insufficient land within the highway boundary to accommodate the junction
improvements. Therefore, Leeds City Council (LCC) need to acquire third party land
located directly to the southwest, northeast and northwest of the junction.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected: Calverley & Farsley
Have ward members been consulted?

☒Yes

☐No

4

Improvements to the A647 /A6120 Dawson’s Corner junction will improve connectivity
between Leeds and Bradford.

5

Traffic congestion at the junction results in delays, especially at peak times, when journey
times can take three time as long. The improvements to the junction layout will make the
junction more efficient for traffic at this critical intersection, supporting and promoting
economic growth across Leeds and Bradford. The reduction in congestion will lead to a
better environment in terms of improving air quality.

6

The improved junction incorporates new bus lanes which will improve journey time,
reliability and make public transport more attractive.

7

Cyclists and pedestrians will have improved connectivity and increased safety when
crossing the junction.

8

Consideration has been given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration for the A647 /
A6120 Dawson’s Corner as part of the consultation and engagement process. The design
considers all road users and looks to achieve a balanced proposal benefiting all road users.
Page 450

The new pedestrian / cycle facilities would provide positive impact towards the protected
characteristics such as disabled, elderly and/or children.
9

There has been an Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening (EDCI)
completed at Outline Business Case (OBC) as part of the West Yorkshire Plus Transport
Fund (WY+TF) Corridor Improvement Programme (CIP) which gained Executive Board
approval in September 2017. Refer to link below:
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?Id=44822

10 An updated EDCI Screening has been prepared for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner
scheme at this stage to support the Full Business Case (FBC) which can be found in
Appendix 5.
11 The parcel of acquired land will be used for the construction of highways improvements as
well as landscaping mitigation works which can be seen in appendix 4. The scheme is
required as part of planning policy to replace every tree removed with three new trees. The
increase in trees will help improve air quality in the area.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
12 As part of the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP), an initial round of
public consultation on the identified issues and potential opportunities was undertaken
between February and March 2018, to allow the public to express their views as
pedestrians, cyclists, bus users, motorists, business owners or local residents. Over 3,700
contributions to the public consultation were received.
13 A second programme of public and stakeholder engagement was undertaken in November
to December 2018 to obtain feedback on more detailed plans and ideas on specific
sections of the A647 corridor, which included the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner. 188
people provided feedback to the proposals for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner, which
consisted of widening the junction, creating a bus lane, installing Microprocessor Optimised
Vehicle Actuation (MOVA) controlled traffic signals and enhancing the pedestrian/cyclist
facilities. 51% of respondents felt positive or slightly positive about the proposals, 30% of
the respondents felt negative or slightly negative and 19% of the respondents felt neutral.
14 An update has been provided to ward members for Calverley & Farsley on the changes
made to the scheme since the consultation. Ward members felt that the changes made
were positive. Furthermore, the scheme has been presented to the Executive Board
Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development who is satisfied with
the scheme. Following feedback from the ward members, it is proposed to undertake the
landscape appraisal earlier in the design stage to develop a landscape mitigation strategy.
15 A further update has been provided to the ward members for Calverley & Farsley regarding
the requirement to purchase third party land on 27 April 2021. No comments were
received.
16 A report was previously taken to Executive Board on the 20 September 2017 regarding the
Key junction Improvements (CIP phase1). The resolve of the report relevant to the
acquisition was as follows:
a)

The report received support for the principle of development of junction improvement
scheme at Dawson’s Corner, Dyneley Arms and Fink Hill, together with land acquisition
where required, with it being noted that the West Yorkshire Combined Authority has
approved in principle sufficient capital to substantially fund the implementation under the
Corridor Improvement Programme (CIP)
Page 451

b)

That ‘authority to spend’ £1.525M, which is funded from the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority CIP grant be approved in order to enable Phase 1 of the scheme development,
in advance of signing the grant funding agreements, if required. Further to this the
funding agreement has since been revised to reflect the WYCA approval on 13 th
December 2019 for the progression of the schemes to Full Business Case. The authority
to spend for Dawsosn’s Corner has been revised to £2.598 Million.

What are the resource implications?
17 The junction improvements will be funded by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority
(WYCA) through the WY+TF. The current cost estimate for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s
Corner scheme is £18.8m.
18 The junction improvements are part of the CIP. This is a WYCA funded West Yorkshire
wide programme of highway interventions on strategic highway corridors which aims to
improve connectivity and accessibility to support economic growth. In order to achieve this,
the programme aims to deliver a reduction in journey times for all traffic, with a higher
reduction in journey times for buses.
19 LCC have secured £14.48m via the WY+TF with the remainder unsecured. LCC are
pursuing options to secure full funding for the scheme.
20 There has been a separate funding bid submitted as part of the Transport for the North
Major Roads Network (MRN) for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner and Stanningley
Bypass (combined scheme). The MRN bid is mitigation to bridge the funding gap for
Dawson’s Corner and at the same time to deliver the Stanningley Bypass maintenance
works, which are currently unfunded. Both elements will be packaged as one coherent
scheme. The OBC is in development and will be submitted by the end of 2021.
21 The land acquisitions, which will enable the junction improvements, will be funded via the
above mentioned funds.
22 A valuation for the larger parcel of land detailed as (A) in appendix 1 has been undertaken
by an independent accredited RICS Registered Valuer on behalf of the third party land
owner. This valuation has been reviewed by Land and Property Officers and is considered
to represent a fair opinion of market value in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors - Valuation (RICS) Global Standards 2019 (Effective from 31 January 2020).
The other parcels of land have been valued by Land and Property internally and due to the
level of value an external valuation was not necessary.
What are the legal implications?
23 The Deputy Head of Land and Property recommends the terms as set out in appendix 2
and 3 as being acceptable and representing a fair market value for the land parcels
involved.
24 The information contained in Appendix 3, 3b and 3c are exempt under Access to
Information Rule 10.4(3) as it contains information relating to the financial or business
affairs of a particular organisation and of the Council. This information is not publicly
available from the statutory registers of information kept in respect of certain companies
and charities. It is considered that since this information was obtained through one to one
negotiations for the proposed land exchange then it is not in the public interest to disclose
this information at this point in time. Also it is considered that the release of such
information would or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in
relation to other similar transactions in that prospective transacting parties for other similar
sites would have access to information about the nature and level of consideration which
Page 452

may prove acceptable to the Council. It is considered that whilst there may be a public
interest in disclosure, much of this information will be publicly available from the Land
Registry following completion of this transaction and consequently the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at this
point in time.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
25 The delivery of the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner scheme is essential to the Council’s
ambitions to encourage people to walk and cycle. The proposed scheme complements the
LPTIP improvements on the A647 corridor with the aim to improve bus journey time
reliability and make public transport more attractive to travellers which would have a
beneficial effect towards contributing in reducing the risk of climate change. The
improvements aim to reduce delays and enable the junction to operate more efficiently
leading to better environment in terms of air quality and enhance the key objective of all
road user safety.
26 If the third party land is not purchased the junction improvements will not be feasible. This
has been managed through early engagement and regular communication with the various
land owners.
27 The scheme is reported at WYCA CIP board and LCC Programme Board. Risks are
actively managed through these Boards.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

28 The improvements to the junction will allow cyclist and pedestrian to cross the junction
more safely. This will encourage people to walk and cycle more consequently helping
benefit their health and wellbeing.
29 The junction improvements complements the LPTIP improvements on the A647 corridor
with the aim to improve bus journey time reliability and make public transport more
attractive to travellers which would have a beneficial effect towards contributing in reducing
the risk of climate change.
30 The landscape mitigation works on the acquired land will help to improve air quality and
help reduce the risk of climate change.
31 Also the improvements to the junction will help improve access to jobs in the City which in
turn will help promote inclusive Growth.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
32 Four options concepts were considered in early development:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Option A: Do minimum, minor interventions to add lanes or improve the geometry of the
existing roundabout.
Option B: Removal of U-turners (especially from the south) considering both at-grade
and grade separated options north of the railway (requires 3 rd party land take).
Option C: At grade improvement with or without widening of the existing railway bridge
(requires 3rd party land take).
Option D: Grade-separated improvement, focussing particularly on a west-to-south
Bradford to Leeds (requires 3rd party land take).
Page 453

33 Following a technical review in 2017 it was concluded that Option C would have capacity to
accommodate the 2028 flows. Further technical options and analysis was undertaken in
2018, with a recommendation to develop an improvement at Dawson’s Corner as a
signalised gyratory without a flyover.
34 The junction improvements were modelled without the third party land, however the benefits
from a reduced scheme were not economically viable.
b) How will success be measured?
35 The plan for Dawson’s Corner is proportionate, consistent and appropriate at a CIP and
project level. The main measure of success for the scheme will be freer flowing traffic
during peak periods, reduced journey times and greater reliability of journey times for all
users when compared to the situation with no improvement to this section of the ring road.
The focus of monitoring and evaluation for the scheme includes (in a before and after
situation):
• Delays for buses
• Delays for general traffic
• Air quality
• Level of road traffic collisions and near misses, particularly for pedestrians and cyclists
• Perceived improvements experienced by users (including buses users and general traffic)
and local residents/businesses
36 The land acquisitions will be legally completed in a timely manner and within approved
budget parameters as set by Highways.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
37 Planning application for the junction improvements is to be submitted by summer 2021.
38 Third party land is to be acquired by the end of 2021.
39 Junction improvement works start on the ground by:
 Spring 2022 if the June levelling up fund bid is successful (£14.48m is currently
secured from the WY+TF) or
 Spring 2023 if the MRN Dawson’s Corner Junction & Stanningley Bypass bid is
successful.
40 The construction period is expected to take between 12-18 months. The completion date is
dependent on the successful funding route.
Appendices
41 Appendix 1: Plan
42 Appendix 2: Outlining the main heads of terms for parcel A.
42.1

Appendix 2a: Plan of parcel A

43 Appendix 3: Confidential appendix outlining main heads of terms for Parcel B & C
Exemption from Access to Information Procedure Rule applies under rule 10.4(3)
43.1 Appendix 3b: Confidential Exemption from Access to Information Procedure Rule
applies under rule 10.4(3)
Page 454

43.2

Appendix 3c: Confidential Exemption from Access to Information Procedure Rule
applies under rule 10.4(3)
44 Appendix 4: Landscape mitigation plan
45 Appendix 5: Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening
Background papers
46 No.

Page 455

This page is intentionally left blank

CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME (CIP)
DAWSONS CORNER
STANNINGLEY
PUDSEY
LEEDS LS28

Calverley & Farsley
Ward

50

C

59

44

Car Park

47

32

´

44

¯

FB

25

34

Allotment Gardens

26

Pa th

DAW

A
ME

UA
S SQ

Civic Hall

RE

148.1m

B

DO

A
PE
U
VEN

1 to 111

Greenleigh
Cou rt
1 to 30

18

CEN
RES

13

TCB

Park House

´

KC

E

AR
WP

24

DO

33

18

OR

A
ME

E
RIV

S TH

KD

IE
PR

AR
WP

ESS

SO N

T

El Sub Sta

6

2

9
17

EY

O
KW

O DL

AND

S GR

O VE

TERRACE
23

E

N
NI
AN
ST

C
PLA

BA C

23

RS L

Ma
sts

32 2

14

WOO DLA NDS

VE

13

ME
2

G RO

24

17

13

8

ND S

AVENUE

O D LA

WO

34 4

WOODLAND S AVENUE

WO

13

Offices

ay
le W
Cyc

BACK WO ODL
ANDS

21

5

29

1

1

30 8

1

10
22

1

27

3

´

25 3

2

30 0

31 0

5

24 9

1

29 0

2

T

24 1

W

CEN

219

DO
ES

209

5

2

A
ME
CR

207

12

8

PAR
K

144.2m

231

10

D

229

14

146.3m

GL

´

D

Cycle Way
Shelter

El Sub Sta

Gas
Gov

33

ROA

33

RD

S
AS
-P
BY

D FO

EY

BRA

LB

34

PO

WOO DLANDS

ROAD

ESS
34 3

Dawsons House

34 7

34 9

2

1

OW

in
Dra

Dr

LC

ain

ES
LA
NE

11

GP

15

SP

ET L

17

E
ED
RO

16

DR

a
17

11

YD

Tun

in
Dra

nel

New
Pudsey
Station

11 a

IVE

Pudsey
Ward

19

15

23

E
ED
RO
YD

75

GR
28

E
OV

64

65

29

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020 Ordnance Survey LA100019567
S
El

63

ub

LCC INTERNAL USE ONLY, NOT FOR EXTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

´

Sta

10

Bdy
Ward

FB

OT

A

Shelter

LAND OWNED BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SUBJECT SITE

LAND SOLD BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

WARD BOUNDARY

0 10 20

40

60

80
Metres

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data
to third parties in any form.
Produced by Land Records, City Development, Leeds City Council
Path: G:\PROPERTYSVCS\Land Records Plans\20000 - 20099\20012X Dawsons Corner CIPD PANEL.mxd

Page 457

LAND LEASED OUT BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

PREP BY

TEMPORARY
LANDTAKE

M. CHRISTIAN

DATE SAVED:

05/05/2021

OS No:

SE2034

SCALE

1:2,500

PLAN No

20012/X

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

Subject: Acquisition of land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner junction improvement scheme
1.

Main heads of terms

1.1

The below table details the main heads of terms provisionally agreed for parcel A. Details of parcels B & C are confidential
and detailed in exempt appendix 3. This report seeks approval to the following agreed terms on parcel A as detailed below.
Any changes to the below terms, should there be any, will be brought by a separate report for approval by the Director of
City Development under delegated powers.

Page 459

Freehold area
Vendor/Lessor

A (appendix 2a)
11527/A
Agreed
The Workhouse Allotment
Dawson’s Corner
Leeds
LS28
7.2 acres
Calverley Charity (Charity No. 504497)

Consideration

£1,400,000

Fees

Council to pay reasonable legal and surveyors fees

Conditions

-Subject to contract
-Good marketable title

Timetable

-Target exchange contracts 6 weeks from issue of the contract documentation and
legal pack
-Complete 10 days after exchange of contracts

Site
Plan Number
Main terms
Property

2.

Conclusion

2.1

As referred to in the main report a valuation for the larger parcel of land detailed as (a) in appendix 1 has been undertaken
by an independent accredited RICS Registered Valuer (Cushman and Wakefield) on behalf of the third party land owner
(Calverley Charity). As a charitable organisation, for any disposal of land, approval is required from the Charity
Commissioners, supported by an external independent valuation .In accordance with standard procedure, the valuation was
paid for by the purchaser, namely Leeds City Council (Highways Service). The Council is actually the trustee of the Charity
and it seemed financial prudent for the Council to review the valuation undertaken by Cushman and Wakefield rather than
source and pay for a separate report.
The valuation undertaken by Cushman and Wakefield has been reviewed by Land and Property Officers and is considered
to represent a fair opinion of market value in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors - Valuation (RICS)
Global Standards 2019 (Effective from 31 January 2020).

2.2

The terms have been negotiated on behalf of highways, with their approval, and reflect standard commercial terms and fair
market value for the property.

Page 460

CALVERLEY ALLOTMENT LAND
DAWSONS CORNER
STANNINGLEY, LS28

¯

6

21

14

5

146.3m

10

17

27

12

3

8

1

5

144.2m
2
241
290

2

1

W

ENT
SC

253

A DO
E
CR

249

ME
PA R
K

300

10

13

22

8

Cyc

310

Offices

ay
le W

W OO

N
DL A

EY

Ma

sts

AN
ST

K
BA C

2

Y
LE
NG
NI

CE
PL A

322

17

R SL

OAD
DR

Cycle Way
Shelter

WO

O DL

Gas
Gov

S
AS
-P
BY

El Sub Sta

343

R
DFO
BRA

E
ROV

9

ME

5

WO

344

DS G

1

308

347

Shelter

349

1

ain
Dr

2

in
Dr a

11

GP

15

ET L

17

E
ED
RO

n
Tu n

in

el

a

IVE
DR

16

17

YD

Dra

19

23

28

75

64

65

29
S
El

63

ub
a
St
E
TH

IR
FA

46

14

53

AY
W

30
MP 0.25

© Crown Copyright and database right 2019 Ordnance Survey LA100019567
Sewage

0 510 20 30 40
Metres
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data
to third parties in any form.
Produced by Land Records, City Development, Leeds City Council
Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\11500 - 11599\11527K Calverley Allotment Land Pudsey CONVEY.mxd

Page 461

PREP BY

M. CHRISTIAN

DATE SAVED:

10/05/2021

OS No:

SE2034

SCALE

1:2,000

PLAN No

11527/K

OVE
S GR
AND

This page is intentionally left blank

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)

Document is Restricted

Page 463

This page is intentionally left blank

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)

Document is Restricted

Page 465

This page is intentionally left blank

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)

Document is Restricted

Page 467

This page is intentionally left blank

DO NOT SCALE

KEY:

Site Boundary
Existing Features
Existing Woodland / Trees / Shrubs
To Be Retained
0

50m

Existing Hedge Retained
Proposed Features

SCALE 1:1250

Proposed Heavy Standard Trees
Total = 90
Native Woodland Mix
*To comprise 5% feathered stock
(2.5-3m height) to be planted at 1.5m spacings
Area = 6728 m2 Trees = 2895

Notes:
THE COOP ACADEMY
PRIESTHORPE

-Proposed tree locations subject to further service
investigation

Native Shrub With Intermittent Trees Mix
*To comprise of 10% small tree species
To be planted at 1m spacings
Area = 4685 m2 @ Plants = 4685, Trees = 468

-Planting under overhead lines and 30m easement restricted
to low growing shrubs and hedge.

Proposed Native Species Hedge 6no./Lm
Length = 205m Plants = 1230
LEEDS
LEEDS
B'FRD
STLY
OWLC

- The native woodland mix consists of 95%transplants and
5% Feathered trees (2.5-3m height). Feathered trees are
proposed, as opposed to Heavy Standards, to improve the
likelihood of effective establishment and a higher survival
rate as well as reducing costs.

Amenity Grass
Amenity Grass - under lower intensity
management regime to allow longer grass and
more diverse habitat
Wetland Grass Mix

LONGER AMENITY GRASS FOR HABITAT DIVERSITY
OFFSET 5M FROM FOOTPATHS AND KERB LINES

Construction Compound

B'FRD
B'FRD
GR

RIN

- Plant spacings within native shrub mix to be 1m.

Footway

LEEDS
LEEDS
STLY
OWLC

- Plant spacings within native woodland mix to be 1.5m.

Off Road Cycle Infrastructure
Refer to Engineers Drawings

OAD

Proposed Attenuation Tank

S
FAR
LEY

Estimated Total Trees Removed: 1533 (not including
hedgerow trees or Hawthorn and scrub within Groups G81,
G83 or G84)

Informal gravelled footpath
T

OWLC

STLY
B'FRD

LEEDS LE
OWLC

EDS

BUS
LANE

BUS
LANE

OAD

RD R

DFO

BRA

B'FRD
H'FTH

FRD
LEEDS B'

EXISTING MAST AND SERVICE
CABINETS

LEEDS
P

B'FRD
H'FTH

-Number of newly planted trees required under LCC Core
Strategy policy LAND2: 4599

LEEDS
OWLC

-Total Trees Proposed: 3543

EXISTING OVERHEAD POWER LINES
STLY

OW
COTES L
BFRD
H'FTH

H'FTH

-Total Hedge removed: 73 linear meters
Total Hedge proposed: 205 linear meters (1230 plants)

H'FTH

BFRD

H'FTH

LEEDS
LEEDS
OWL
COTES

H'FTH

STLY

BUS
LANE

STLY
OWL
COTES

LEEDS LEEDS

DS LEEDS
H'FTH LEE
STLY
OWL
COTES

T
T

BUS
LANE
H'FTH

B'FRD

BUS
LANE
ROA

T

T

LEEDS

P

B'FRD
B'FRD

BUS
STOP

H'FTH
STLY
OWL
COTES

H'FTH

P

BU
LANE S

DRAWING STATUS:

S1- FOR COORDINATION

STLY

H'FTH

H'FTH

BUS
LANE

S

New Pudsey Station
AN

ST

WOODLAND PLANTING TO BE NO CLOSER
THAN 15m TO OVERHEAD LINES

B'FRD

BY
SS
PA

B'FRD

LY

NG

NI

SET A

ON IN

SHRUB MIX IN PROXIMITY TO POWER LINES
TO CONTAIN SMALL SPECIES TREES ONLY
SUCH AS BIRCH, ROWAN OR HAZEL

STOP

BUS
LANE

S
INUE

ED
LEEDS LE
H'FTH
STLY
OWL
COTES

P

BUS

CONT

BUS
LANE

H'FTH

H'FTH

P

BUS
LANE

STLY
OWL
COTES

H'FTH

B'FRD

B'FRD

S

H'FTH

LEEDS

BUS
LANE

LEED
LEEDS
H'FTH
STLY
OWL
COTES

BUS
STOP

RD

STLY
OWL
COTES

BUS
LANE

KEEP
CLEAR
D

DFO

BRA

B'FRD

Outstanding trees required to meet LAND2 policy
requirement = 1056

OWL S
COTE

KEEP KEEP
CLEAR CLEAR

H'FTH

-Total Shrubs Proposed: 4217

T

LEEDS
LEEDS
OWL
COTES

Page 469

BUS
LANE

File name \\UK.WSPGROUP.COM\CENTRAL DATA\PROJECTS\700545XX\70054580 - CIP PHASE 1 - DAWSONS CORNER - ACTIVITY 4\03 WIP\LA LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT\02 CAD BIM MODELS\70054580-WSP-HGN-DAW-DR-CH-0200 - LANDSCAPE MITIGATION.DWG, printed on 15 July 2020 18:12:39, by Jones, Mark

LEEDS

P

SCALLOPED EDGE TO WOODLAND
SUFFICIENT SPACE BETWEEN HEDGE
AND WOODLAND FOR MAINTENANCE
POTENTIAL TREE RETENTION WITHIN
SOUTHERN EXTENT OF COMPOUND AREA
(To be resolved at Detail Design stage)

B'FRD

W

AY

IR

INFORMAL PATH UTILISING GAPS
BETWEEN EXISTING RETAINED TREES
(ie no additional tree clearance)

E

FA

TH

H'FTH

Three White Rose Office Park, Millshaw Park Lane, Leeds, LS11 0DL, UK
T+ 44 (0) 113 395 6200, F+ 44 (0) 113 395 6201
wsp.com

STLY L
OW S
COTE

FORMALISED CYCLE PATH
THROUGH FIELD

CLIENT:

EXISTING OVERHEAD POWER LINES

SITE/PROJECT:

DAWSON'S CORNER
JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS
TITLE:

LANDSCAPE MITIGATION

DRAFT

SCALE @ A1:

CHECKED:

1:1250
PROJECT NO:

70054580

APPROVED:

SL
DESIGNED:

MJ

SF

DRAWN:

DATE:

JD

DRAWING No:

JUNE 2020
REV:

70054580-WSP-ELS-DAW-DR-LE-0200

c WSP UK Ltd

P03

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration (EDCI)
screening

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Asset Management &
Regeneration

Lead person: Annabel Phipps

Contact number: 0113 37 88305

1. Title: Acquisition of land at A647/A6120 Dawson’s Corner Junction
improvement scheme
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

x

Other

If other, please specify: Land acquisition
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This screening exercise concerns the proposal for the Council to acquire third party land
to enable highways improvements at A674 /A620 Dawson’s Corner.
Dawson’s Corner has a strategic location on the transport network, it is the junction
between the Leeds-Bradford corridor and the Outer Ring Road. Dawson’s Corner is also
located on the Bradford to Leeds Cycle Superhighway and facilitates access to the New
Pudsey railway station.
Improvements at Dawson’s Corner are a key component in the wider package of
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 471

1

measures proposed along the Bradford to Leeds route. The area has recently
experienced major investment to deliver the Bradford to Leeds Cycle
Superhighway.
To improve the capacity of Dawson’s Corner and improve pedestrian and cycle facilities,
the footprint of the junction will need to be increased. The Dawson’s Corner
improvement scheme replaces the existing signalised roundabout with a signalised
gyratory, which has significantly larger footprint. Dawson’s Corner comprises of four
approach roads: A647 Bradford Road, A6120 Ring Road, B6157 Bradford Road and
A647 Stanningley Bypass.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No

X
X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 472

2

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The proposed scheme at Dawson’s Corner includes improvements to the pedestrian and
cycle facilities including controlled crossing facilities. Changes to junction may affect
mobility (The improvements are likely to be beneficial for the mobility impaired and
children).
The first round of engagement to identify issues and potential opportunities was
undertaken in February 2018. A second programme of public engagement was
undertaken in November 2018.
188 people provide feedback to the proposals for Dawson’s Corner, which consisted of:
widening the junction, creating a bus lane, installing Microprocessor Optimised Vehicle
Actuation (MOVA) controlled traffic signals and enhancing the pedestrian/cyclist realm. 96
(51%) of the respondents felt positive or slightly positive about the proposals, 56 (30%) of
the respondents felt negative or slightly negative and 36 (19%) of the respondents felt
neutral.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The proposals form part of the wider emerging transport strategy incorporating feedback
from the Transport Conversation (seeking views of Leeds’ residents and interest groups
on the future of transport in Leeds). Taken together the proposal is intended to facilitate
access to employment especially by bus, walking and cycling, which are measures which
can help to advance equality of opportunity.
The scheme improves the cycle crossing facilities and ties-in to the previously consulted
Bradford to Leeds Cycle Superhighway. Also, the pedestrian crossing facilities includes
the addition of a new shared cycle footway through the centre of the junction. These
measures will reduce community severance and provide enhanced mobility for users
including disabled, elderly and young people.
The scheme will reduce queuing and congestion on the approaches to the new junction,
which will have a beneficial effect on greenhouse gas emissions, journey time and
reliability.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 473

3

The Highways and Transportation service will follow well practiced procedures in
engaging with relevant groups and adopting design standards to achieve the expected
outcomes.
5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Mark Mills
Head of Asset Management
10 May 2021
Date screening completed 15 October 2019
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 474

4

Agenda Item 20
Report author: Ian Cawthorne, Emma Jaye,
Jeff Thompson.
Tel: 07891 271243
Report of Director of Resources
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23rd June 2021
Subject: Health, Safety and Wellbeing Performance and Assurance Report
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues
a) This report is designed to provide assurance to the Executive Board on health, safety and
wellbeing matters and to enable Elected Members to demonstrate how duties assigned
within the Leeds City Council Health and Safety Policy are discharged. It covers the period
1st April 2020 – 31st March 2021. There was no corresponding report written last year due
to the Covid Pandemic.
b) The Council Health, Safety and Wellbeing Policy clearly sets out everyone’s
responsibilities – from the strategic decisions made by Elected Members, the policy
framework led by the Chief Executive and his Leadership Team and the day to day
management of health and safety risks by everyone from directors to all employees
wherever they are working.
c) Health and safety is especially important in a local authority setting, especially in acity the
size of Leeds. This is because the Authority will play many roles and be responsible for a
variety of duties including that as an employer, an exemplar, an enforcement body and a
large organisation able to influence safety through the supply chain and wider economy.
d) While there has been a significant increase in the levels of fines for failing to comply with
H&S Legislation the penalty for LCC would be much greater when taking into account any
reputational damage.
e) The Covid 19 Pandemic has had a major impact in relation to the health, safety &
wellbeing of our staff. This report also want to emphasise the close and collaborative work
with Trade Union Representatives in helping to keep staff safe during this period.
f) There are many indicators of health and safety performance, none of which operate in
Page 475

isolation. This year again saw no formal enforcement notices relating to health and safety
for the eighth consecutive year; an overall reduction in accidents in the Council; statutory
assessments and surveys largely taking place on time; and many key improvement
initiatives relating to staff wellbeing undertaken successfully.
g) This annual review helps to ensure the right strategies are in place to address the key
challenges and sustain the work that is bringing about improvements. The Corporate
Leadership Team continue to be fully engaged in health and safety matters and approve
the key priorities. The Director of Resources, the CLT Health and Safety lead, seeks
assurances from the Head of Health, Safety & Wellbeing during monthly meetings and
keeps himself regularly updated on all matters of H&S.
2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


This report assists the Council in determining whether it is complying with its Health and
Safety Policy, which is signed by the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council. A large
percentage of Council employees are also residents of Leeds and so using the workplace
setting to enhance their health, safety and wellbeing also contributes to many aspects of
the Best Council Plan, particularly around inclusive growth and helping to reduce health
inequalities.

3. Resource Implications


No funds are being sought in this report.



A positive approach to health, safety and wellbeing contributes to savings in respect of:
reduced sickness absence; less money paid out in Employer and Public Liability claims;
reduced likelihood of prosecutions by enforcement bodies and subsequent large fines; less
damage to property, equipment and Council vehicles; and increased staff engagement,
commitment and morale leading to higher productivity.

Recommendations
a) It is recommended that the Executive Board notes the contents of this report and
recognises that a robust, yet proportionate approach to risk management within the Council
continues to be applied
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to briefly review the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021
in terms of: the Council’s performance on health, safety and wellbeing; the improvements
made; and the challenges ahead

2.

Background information

2.1

There is no impact in relation to any specific ward. The Council has many responsibilities
in terms of health and safety – as a duty holder with large numbers of employees, a
regulator (through Environmental Health) and a large-scale procurer and commissioner of
goods and services that can influence safety through the supply chain.

3.

Main issues

3.1

Roles and Responsibilities
Page 476

3.1.1 A safe and healthy workforce is a prerequisite to the delivery of excellent services to local
communities.
3.1.2 Elected Members, particularly Executive Board and portfolio holders, have a significant
part to play in securing the health, safety and wellbeing of the Council’s workforce.
3.1.3 Members are not responsible for managing health and safety services on a day-to-day
basis, but can affect it through strategic decisions on plans, priorities and budgets. Elected
Members also have potential criminal and civil liabilities as individuals or as a collective
body.
3.1.4 Day to day management of health and safety within the organisation is the responsibility of
officers in charge of service provision. The Chief Executive is ultimately accountable and
members of the Council’s Corporate Leadership Teamhave a collective role for directing
the health and safety strategy. The Director of Resources is the nominated Director for
Health and Safety Policy.
3.1.5 Corporate Leadership Team, Executive Board and service managers receive competent
health and safety advice from a professionally qualified Health and Safety and
Occupational Health Team, which is part of Human Resources.
3.1.6 Compliance with health and safety legislation by the Council is enforced by the Health and
Safety Executive and fire safety by the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service . The Care
Quality Commission and OfSted also have a role in care and educational settings.
3.1.7 Civil claims for compensation can also be brought against the Council by employees or
members of the public injured or made ill due to the Council’s work activities.
3.2

Sensible Risk Management

3.2.1 Health and safety is about saving lives, not stopping people living. Leeds City Council
supports the Health and Safety Executive’s campaign for sensible risk management,
where it is based upon practical steps to protect people from real harm and suffering - not
bureaucracy. The approach is to seek a balance between the unachievable aim of
absolute safety and the kind of poor management of risk that damages lives and the
economy.
3.3

What are the legal implications/The National Picture

3.3.1 A significant amount of current health and safety legislation derives from European
Directives and there has been some uncertainty regarding the impact of ‘Brexit’ on the
future of regulation. Current legislation is risk-based and has been found to be fit for
purpose by several independent reviews. The UK government has said to date that it has
a “clear commitment to protect workers’ rights and ensure that they keep pace with the
changing labour market.”
3.3.2 Health and safety performance in the UK has plateaued in recent years. 2019/20 statistics
showed that there were: 111 fatal injuries, nearly 15,000 deaths due to past exposure to
health hazards at work and 1.6 million workers living with work-related ill- health.
3.3.3 The current priorities for health and safety determined by the Health and Safety Executive
are work-related stress (accountable for 55% of all ill health working days lost days),
musculoskeletal disorders (accountable for 27% of all ill-health working days lost) &
Occupational lung disease (estimated to account for 12,000 deaths per year). All of which
are relevant to work undertaken within Leeds City Council.
3.3.4 New sentencing guidelines for health and safety offences and corporate manslaughter
which came into force saw significant increase in levels of fines in the first few years.
2019/20 has seen a reduction in guilty convictions. Fines totaling £35.8 million, an
average penalty of around £110,000 per case resulting in conviction. This is down from
£76 million in fines & £150,000 per case the previous reporting period.
Page 477

3.3.5 National security has also been prominent in recent years with a number of ‘terror’ attacks
through the UK, which has led to the national threat level being raised to highest level at
certain points. This, of course, impacts on LCC and the communities it serves.
3.3.6 Personal safety and security of staff and Elected Members is also a high priority following a
rise in violence and aggression and targeted protests.
3.4

Management of Health, Safety and Wellbeing in LCC

3.4.1 Health and safety management in the Council follows the Health and Safety Executive’s
Leadership Model – ‘Plan, Do, Check, and Act’. This is realised through the Health and
Safety Policy and a series of Health and Safety Policies, jointly agreed with the Trade
Unions. Co-operation and consultation with the workforce on health and safety matters is
extremely positive and this is facilitated through Directorate/ Service level Health and
Safety Committees and a Corporate Health and Safety Committee.
3.4.2 Assurance meetings are held every month between the Director of Resources and the
Head of Health, Safety & Wellbeing.
3.5

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Performance

3.5.1 This compares the last two financial years of complete records i.e. 2020/21 compared to
2019/20. It also takes into account the fluctuation in headcount and so considers ‘incident
rates’ instead (number of incidents divided by headcount x 100).
Performance Headlines
a.

Formal Enforcement Action
No prosecutions or enforcement notices were served on LCC during
2020/21 – for the eighth consecutive year.

b.

Accidents Reported to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE)
This gives an indication of the more serious work related accidents. The HSE require
notification of accidents resulting in broken bones, absence from work for over 7 days,
death, dangerous occurrences or hospital treatment/stay. Due to Covid-19 this was also
an additional reportable disease where it was likely that it was contracted through work
rather than a community transmission.

c.

Insurance Claims
A reduction in Insurance Claims for the 3rd consecutive year.

Page 478



Key Performance Indicators
100% of LCC buildings have a current Asbestos Management Plan in place. 91.2% of
annual reviews were completed in 2020/21. 45 small Industrial Units (SIU’s) are still to
complete. Mainly issues relating to access. 100% of maintained/controlled schools
have a current Management Plan in place.
Awaiting information on annual reviews.
All LCC occupied buildings have a Fire Risk Assessment in place and 96% of these
have been reviewed in the past 3 years. Some work is required to review arrangements
in premises leased out by LCC. In Schools, currently there are 29 Fire Risk
Assessments out of date. Reminders have been sent out.
LCC Water Management Team are fully up to date with Legionella Risk Assessments.

The in-house Occupational Health Service continues to provide support and guidance to
help keep our employees at work or return to the workplace from a period of sickness
absence.
In 2020/21 due to the pandemic, this service was delivered by telephone consultation /
virtually. Number of standard referrals: 2274, pre-employment health checks: 202,
individual Covid-19 assessments: 2097, number of hours allocated for Covid-19
enquiries: 878, number of CEV/CV drop in surgeries facilitated: 56, number of
physiotherapy referrals: 390

2020/21 1333 calls were made to the Employee Assistance Programme which was a
reduction of 21% on 2019/20. 224 staff members received telephone Counselling, 17
video counselling and 34 staff members accessed Cognitive Behavioural Therapy online. There was no face to face counselling due to Covid restrictions.

3.6

Key Achievements

3.6.1 The Health and Safety Management System has operated largely as expected. The
Annual Council Risk Report, considered by Executive Board, defines the overall rating for
‘health and safety’ as high because of the possible impact should things go wrong. The
stated target is to reduce the probability from possible to unlikely.
3.6.2

There were a number of key achievements which have improved health, safety and
wellbeing in the past two years and highlights include:

a) Health, Safety and Wellbeing Support for Schools
 Services for schools - a wide range of health, safety, wellbeing and safeguarding services
are provided to schools. These include statutory services to community schools and also
traded services to schools where LCC is not the employer. A joined up approach with
other services is taken, offering schools the best provisionand helping to fulfil Leeds role
as a child friendly city.
 Covid Response – the last year has seen the majority of the Team resources focused on
providing support, guidance and monitoring around Covid-19 for all schools in Leeds
Page 479

(regardless of status or level of traded service). The Team have supported over 250
schools and produced / provided the sample overall Covid Management Risk Assessment,
an updated Individual Risk Assessment taking Covid into account, interpretation of central
guidance and what it has meant in practice, sample letters, flowcharts and all the updates
following governmental changes to guidance and advice. To support this the Team have
also produced further detailed guidance on a regular basis via over 70 Bulletins which
explain changes to guidance and advise on issues that have arisen across schools.
 The Team developed the process for all schools to notify LCC of positive cases in their
settings and monitor these on a daily basis. Working closely with colleagues in Public
Health and Infection Control via weekly Incident Management meetings and fortnightly
CYP Educational Establishment Outbreak Management meetings they monitor and track
potential outbreaks and rates in the community to offer a joined up approach / support to
schools and the wider community.
 Keeping schools safe in West Yorkshire – LCC Health and Safety Team continues to
support and deliver the training developed via a joint initiative with other Councils,
Emergency Planning, Police and West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service to design and
deliver training on school security and emergency preparedness.
 Construction safety in schools – working with colleagues in the HSE and other Local
Authorities, including North Yorkshire County Council, Wakefield and Kirklees, the Team
developed Managing Construction in Schools seminars which were delivered jointly in
Harrogate and Leeds towards the end of 2019. These seminars will continue in the form of
smaller training sessions as part of the schools training programme for Sept 2021 to
August 2022.
 Violence and aggression – this continues to be a challenging area for schools. Qualified
staff in the Team deliver Care and Control training for schools and adult services, support
and train schools with pupil risk assessments and are regularly involved in multi-agency
meetings around individual pupils.
b) Employee Wellbeing
 LCC demonstrated its commitment to the health and wellbeing of its workforce by adding
‘healthy’ to its ambitions of being an ‘enterprising, efficient and healthy’ organization.
 The new People Strategy was launched early 2020 and places workplace wellbeing as a
central 'enabler’ as part of its five year vision and mission. The People Strategy is aligned
with, and a part of the best council plan.
 Mental Health Wellbeing - The Council continues to maintain its status as an active Mindful
Employer and have introduced several interventions to help to prevent mental ill health
being caused by work and to support people who have mental health conditions. These
have included:
o Training of 800 LCC staff to be Mental Health First Aiders along with providing a
vibrant peer support network – Healthy Minds; and working jointly with the Trade
Unions to look at stress in the workplace. Additional support includes ‘How are you
feeling sessions’ for managers, as well as sessions for frontline staff. There are also
‘listening ear’ sessions, peer support sessions and also a dedicated mental health first
aider support line as well as various staff networks offering support.
 Coronavirus Pandemic Response: The challenges we faced in 2020 were numerous and
the impact on health and wellbeing was unprecedented (at least in our lifetimes). One of
the first actions taken was to put in place a dedicated wellbeing team to get things moving
quickly and make sure that all employees had access to support at the time that they
Page 480









needed it. We set up a new “Core Wellbeing Group” to oversee the work and make
connections with other key COVID response projects. This was complemented by a “Trade
Union Wellbeing Group” already in existence for consultation. Six key principles were
quickly agreed and an action plan formulated to make sure that all six areas were acted
upon. The Trade Union input and assistance with promoting these was welcomed.
The Creation of #TeamLeedsBeWell" wellbeing brand, "Core Offer" booklet and #BeWell
bulletin was developed to provide a coherent corporate-wide identity and ‘brand’ for
wellbeing interventions. The creation of a new recognisable wellbeing brand
(#TeamLeedsBeWell) allowed us to package all of our offer and signpost more easily
employees to credible sources of information and support.
Three wellbeing pulse surveys were undertaken with employees during 2020 – in May,
June and October. Despite all the challenges that 2020 threw upon us, the majority of
employees remained positive and felt well supported. The pulse surveys enabled us to
identify those areas of greater concern. The surveys also invited staff to seek a “callback”
should they be particularly concerned about their personal wellbeing. The HR Team
reached out to hundreds of staff as a result, supporting the most vulnerable during
lockdown.
Workplace Wellbeing Champions have played a critical role in signposting employees to
support, raising awareness, and holding wellbeing events in their local areas. HR have
continued to offer online development sessions for Champions. There have also been
regular opportunities for Champions across the Council to come together as a group and
share best practice. The work of the Champions has been promoted in the Wellbeing Offer
Booklet and through the regular Be Well Bulletin.
Flu Vaccination Programme - the reach and number of flu vaccinations being offered to
the workforce has increased with colleagues in all front line care roles being prioritised in
Adults and Health and Children’s Services. The programme was extended this year due to
the COVID virus and offered to all staff who were identified with key risk factors in
Category 1 and 2, colleagues who live with someone in either of these categories, BAME
colleagues and Men over 60 (If they did not get the vaccine offered free via the NHS).
Planning is underway for 2021 programme which will include the introduction of an online
booking process via the NHS.

c) Occupational Health and Wellbeing Service
 Refresh of the Occupational Health Service - eleven years on from becoming an ‘in house’
provider, the service is striving to become more proactive, getting out and about into the
workplace and supporting both employees and management alike. The service also aims
to becoming SEQOH (Safe, Effective, Quality, Occupational Health) accredited in the near
future.
 Services - The Occupational Health Service provides a range of services including:preemployment assessments; job related assessments; workplace adjustments/equipment;
rehabilitation and sickness absence advice; vaccination programmes; health surveillance;
ill health retirement where required; wellbeing advice; training/awareness raising; and
support for disabled employees.
 This year, the service has been an integral part of the Council’s response to the
Coronavirus pandemic. During 2020/21 the service has undertook 2,097 individual Covid19 assessments and allocated 878 hours of advisor time to answer enquiries from
employees, trade union colleagues & managers. The service also created and facilitated
weekly drop in surgeries for clinically extremely vulnerable and clinically vulnerable
employees.
 Specific Projects – includes delivering a monthly ‘Men’s Wellbeing Group’ ‘drop in’
session’ In addition to covering general men’s health issues, there is always a key topic
area for example ‘prostate cancer’; testicular cancer, ‘diabetes’; ‘cardiovascular disease’;
Page 481

‘alcohol awareness’ and stress to name but a few. The idea is to provide a safe place for
men to informally talk about any issues or concerns they may have relating to mental and
physical wellbeing, where employees can ask questions, share experiences and thoughts
or just simply listen and not say anything. There is also capability for a one to one private
discussion with one of the advisors outside of the session. In addition to this, there is also
a Women’s Wellbeing Group, drop-in session again covering women’s health issues as well as
general health and wellbeing. Topics so far have included ‘cancer’ and ‘irritable bowel syndrome’.
d) Access, Inclusion and Culture Change,
 New Ways of Working – The pandemic meant that around 8,000 staff were routinely
working from home. This created issues of ensuring staff had the right technology and
equipment to do this safely. Working with DIS and Facilities Management colleagues
around 23,000 items of equipment or furniture was issued out to staff in their homes.
Hundreds of staff were also helped that required assistive technology or reasonable
adjustments to ensure they could work from home safely and productively.
 Disability - HR and Occupational Health continues to work closely with the Disability and
Wellbeing Network (DAWN) on improving the experience of disabled colleagues in LCC,
also linking into ‘assistive technology’ colleagues as part of a working group. The Council
maintained their accreditation as a Disability Confident Leader.
 A successful Mindful Employer Event was organized where many speakers from the
Council were able to share their processes, experiences and knowledge in managing all
aspects of mental health and improving the experience of staff facing mental health issues.
LCC continues to be accredited as a “Mindful Employer”.
e) Fire Safety
 Since the Grenfell Tragedy, work continues to review and monitor all fire risk assessments
for our social housing in a structured and programmed manner. The program of sprinkler
installation, which started in 2013 in High Rise blocks citywide, is continuing and 57 High
Rise blocks & Sheltered Housing Complexes will be completed by financial year 2021/22,
providing the highest safety provision to the residents of Leeds.
 Hackitt phase 1 inquiry, the Council is an “early adopter” of the Hackitt review
recommendations with WYFRS and commenced Tactical Information Plans for 118 High
Rise blocks 18+ meters or 6 stories in height with a challenge to complete by December
2021. In addition, working on Evacuation procedures with WYFRS benefiting all our High
Rise residents citywide.
 Fire stopping works and the compartmentalisation of flats in high rise blocks and
retirement life housing complexes across the City have been completed, further enhancing
resident safety, focusing now on our low rise accommodation.
 Fire safety works are programmed for converted Victorian properties that have been
converted to flats with 26 complete and in older back to back properties, raising the safety
provision within these type of properties to a higher level with 182 complete.
 LCC continues to work closely with West Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service through
partnership agreements and the Concordat agreement further enhancing fire safety.
 False alarms have been reduced by 50%, which saves the Council money as well as
reducing complacency when an alarm sounds, in addition attendances for fire crews have
reduced allowing WYFRS to deal with emergency incidents.
 Last year in Schools fire stopping schemes were completed at Millfield, Hunslet Carr,
Yeadon Westfield Infants & Juniors, Westwood (Ph1). These schemes were all capital
works funded via Planned Maintenance Programme. In addition fire alarm replacement
works were completed at Adel and Armley PS. The LCC Fire Safety traded offer was
expanded to eLearning Fire warden course, which has proved very popular with schools.
Page 482

f) Covid Secure Inspections and Auditing
 Covid Rules – H&S have worked closely with Facilities Management colleagues and have
been extremely busy making all our sites Covid secure. This involved designing layouts,
ensuring signage, screens, markings, sanitizer products, PPE etc. were all available.
Where all measures were in place a Covid site risk assessment and Covid safe certificate
were issued. This also involved visiting all 317 identified Polling stations to ensure they
were suitable for the May planned Local & Mayoral Elections.
 Regular ongoing auditing and monitoring was also undertaken by the Covid Secure Task
Group to ensure standards were being adhered to and to deal with any staff complaints or
concerns.
 The HSE have carried out a number of audits or investigated complaints relating to Covid
measures. All audits and investigations have concluded that we have had the required
systems in place and were pleased with our Covid secure measures.
 Covid advice, guidance and site visits have also involved working closely and supporting
Partner Organisations. This included producing risk assessments for the Elland Rd
Vaccination Centre, the Asymptomatic Testing Centres and Mobile Vaccination Units
3.7 Challenges
3.7.1 To instill and maintain a positive health and safety culture, LCC needs to continually review
performance and seek to improve. With this in mind the current challenges are:
 Violence, Aggression and Abuse – this is an issue both in some public-facing Council
premises and for staff/Members carrying out their duties in the community.
 Projects, Contracting and Commissioning – work will continue to improve the
management of construction projects and contractors, including clarity around legal roles
and responsibilities.
 General Health and Wellbeing – priority actions have been developed, driven by the
Employee Wellbeing Strategy. This includes a focus on: the things that shape and
determine health behaviors; mental wellbeing; physical health; healthy lifestyles; a culture
that supports health and wellbeing; and specific demographic support (e.g. multigenerational workforce). We continue to share resource and engage with our Anchor
institutions, the Health & Care Academy and other local partners.
 Mental Wellbeing – whilst LCC has much support in place around mental and social
wellbeing, this must remain a priority. In 2021/22 we will continue to work with Trade
Unions colleagues and other partners to prevent stress-related illness and support people
with mental health issues especially post the Covid-19 pandemic.
 Work-related Ill-Health – continuing to look for innovative ways to prevent workersfrom
exposure to hazardous substances like silica dust or wood dust through bettertools, on tool
extraction, dust reduction, personal monitoring and health surveillance. Exposure to
vibration and noise will also be a priority.
 Supporting Staff at Work Charter – a Charter will be introduced that enshrines the
Council’s commitment to supporting staff and to the adoption of the Social Model of
Disability. This will be brought to life by the requirement for managers to hold a proactive
Wellbeing Conversation with their members of staff, using documentation and guidance
provided.
 H&S Training for School Staff - the necessary focus on Covid support and the impact of
Page 483

Covid on the ability of the Schools H&S Team to be able to offer the usual training
programme which means many of the usual health and safety activities and training have
been on hold. The challenge going forward will be to balance delivering ongoing Covid
support with re-focusing on the statutory and traded services and meeting the backlog of
training schools staff require.
 Fire Safety in Schools – the reduction of capital funding and school budgets. Also
resource to deliver fire safety in schools
3.8

Looking Forward/Health, Safety & Wellbeing Priorities

4.

Corporate considerations
The Council has many roles in relation to health, safety and wellbeing and as an employer
LCC must be an exemplar in this respect. A Council-wide approach to health and safety
management is essential to ensure the right priorities are identified and addressed in a
pragmatic way which will enhance, not stifle, the delivery of efficient services to the people
of Leeds.

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 A collaborative approach to the management of health, safety and wellbeing is essential to
ensuring its success. Consultation with key stakeholders is on-going including Trade
Unions, service managers, the Disability and Wellbeing Staff Network, Elected Members,
enforcement bodies and other private and public sector organisations. This has resulted in
the joint development of policy and procedures, awareness raising campaigns and
training/development.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 A positive attitude to health, safety and wellbeing enhances the Council’s position as an
inclusive, diverse and fair employer. In particular, there are close links with disability in:
ensuring that work does not contribute to or exacerbate ill health; that a‘social model of
disability’ approach is taken, that reasonable adjustments are understood and always
considered appropriately; that health and safety is not used as a barrier to employment
based on an individual’s disability; and that stigma around mental health is removed and
appropriate support provided. Health and safety policy and procedures are always
developed to take into account the needs of all members of staff and service users.
Page 484

4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 This report assists the Council in determining whether it is complying with its Healthand
Safety Policy, which is signed by the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council. A large
percentage of Council employees are also residents of Leeds and so using the workplace
setting to enhance their health, safety and wellbeing also contributes to many aspects of
the Best Council Plan, particularly around inclusive growth and helping to reduce health
inequalities.
Climate Emergency
Whilst this report does not specifically reference environmental considerations, the Health
and Safety Team work closely with services such as Fleet Management to support the safe
roll out of new technology aimed at reducing the carbon emissions.There are also links
through building rationalisation as part of New Ways of Working. Also taking health
surveillance out to services this year rather than all employees individually travelling to the
one site will reduce our carbon footprint
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 No funds are being sought in this report.
4.4.2 A positive approach to health, safety and wellbeing contributes to savings in respect of:
reduced sickness absence; less money paid out in Employer and Public Liability claims;
reduced likelihood of prosecutions by enforcement bodies and subsequent large fines;
less damage to property, equipment and Council vehicles; and increased staff
engagement, commitment and morale leading to higher productivity
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report addresses LCC’s compliance with its statutory duties laid out in the Health and
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and related health and safety regulations.
4.5.2 The report is subject to call in, and does not contain any exempt or confidential
information.
4.6

Risk management

5.

Health and Safety is on the Corporate Risk Register and the annual report on risk and
performance to Executive Board usually contains an assurance report on health and
safety covering what the risk is, how the risk is being managed and what more needs to be
done to address any concerns
Conclusions

5.1

Good progress continues to be made in the management of health, safety and wellbeing
within the Council. Challenges and priorities are clearly identified and there is a clear
strategic vision for what needs to be achieved and how

6.

Recommendations

6.1

It is recommended that the Executive Board notes the contents of this report and
recognises that a robust, yet proportionate approach to risk management within the Council
continues to be applied.

Page 485

7.

Background documents1

7.1

No background documents submitted as part of this report.

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they contain
confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 486

Agenda Item 21
Report authors: James Rogers &
Paul Money

To consider future developments with regards to
addressing and reducing on-street sex work in the city
Date: 23rd June 2021
Report of: Director of Communities, Housing and Environment
Report to: Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒Yes ☐No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


On the 20th July 2020, Members of Executive Board received a report titled ‘The Managed
Approach Independent Review’. This report documented the findings and recommendations
from the Independent Review of the Managed Approach (MA) in Leeds. Members agreed
that Executive Board should be kept informed and updated on any key changes proposed
arising from the independent review which this report now seeks to do.



This report sets out proposals for evolving our approach to addressing and responding to
the issue of on-street sex work in Leeds. The proposals contained in this report build on the
successes and developments of the Managed Approach since its introduction in 2014; the
outcomes of the Independent Review into the MA; the Voice of Holbeck’s Listening Well
campaign, and; importantly, the data and intelligence picture which evidences a significant
reduction in the number of women engaging in on-street sex work in the city.



The MA represents a multi-faceted, multi-professional, co-ordinated response to managing
on-street sex work in Leeds and the issues and problems associated with it.



The MA was developed and introduced by the Safer Leeds Partnership in October 2014,
initially for a one-year trial period, as a response to the various issues concerning preexisting on-street sex work in the Holbeck area of South Leeds, particularly the high number
of reports and complaints of sex work in residential areas and the low rate of reporting
crimes and linked incidents to the police.



Leeds has an ambition to have a strong economy whilst being a compassionate city. A key
dimension of this is tackling poverty and inequality. The MA is a strategic response to
managing pre-existing on-street sex work in the city, with the ambition of reducing the
prevalence of street-based sex working in Leeds as well reducing the problems caused by
on-street sex working to residents and businesses which currently suffer from such
nuisance. It also seeks to improve engagement with street sex workers to facilitate the
Page 487

provision of appropriate support to improve their safety, health and wellbeing and to enable
them to ultimately exit on-street sex work.


The objectives of the MA support the strategic objectives of Safe, Strong Communities as
part of the focus on keeping people safe from harm, protecting the most vulnerable and
tackling crime and anti-social behaviour.

Recommendations
Members of Executive Board are recommended to:
a) Endorse the proposal to now cease with the Managed Approach and replace it with the
revised approach outlined in this report to tackle and reduce on-street sex work in the city,
subject to agreement by the Safer Leeds Community Safety Partnership (LSP);
b) Acknowledge and note the significance of the operational developments leading to the
proposed revised approach;
c) Note that the Director of Communities, Housing and Environment, and where appropriate
partner organisations and representatives, will be responsible for delivering the revised
approach, and;
d) Agree that members of the Executive Board be kept informed and updated on any key
changes arising from the implementation of the new approach.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

Leeds City Council, West Yorkshire Police and all partners in the Safer Leeds Community
Safety Partnership remain committed to managing on-street sex work in the most
appropriate manner possible in order to reduce harm associated with on-street sex work
and meet the three key aims of our strategy, those being:
-

to reduce the problems caused by on-street prostitution to residents and businesses
which currently suffer such nuisance;
to better engage with on-street sex workers to improve their safety, health and wellbeing
with a view to reducing their need to be actively involved in sex work, and;
to reduce the prevalence of on-street sex work in the city.

2

The proposals contained within this report further build on improved outcomes that have
been progressively delivered with the MA since alterations were made to the governance
and operational delivery arrangements in 2018 and acknowledged in the Independent
Review of the MA. They also link to recommendations in that same report aimed at
ensuring the approach within the MA continued to evolve cognisant of relevant
developments.

3

We have also sought to capture the learning about what has worked with regards the
delivery of support to sex workers following the advent of the coronavirus pandemic and the
introduction of public guidance and associated legislation regarding social distancing and
gatherings. In essence, the Managed Approach has not operated in its previous form since
mid-March 2020 when coronavirus restrictions were first introduced. Since March 2020, the
Safer Leeds partnership has sought to utilise every power at its disposal to make sure that
the coronavirus restriction measures are properly adhered to. Just as importantly, the
variety of support put in place through the initiative to protect the health and welfare of all
Page 488

sex workers has also evolved and we are now able to provide better access to support
services, accommodation and welfare assistance which are all factors which contribute to
sex workers reducing the hours they work and in some instances exiting on-street work in
full.
4

An evaluation of the current picture in the Managed Approach area has found the number
of sex workers currently operating to be now substantially lower compared to numbers
before the Managed Approach was introduced. The impact of coronavirus over the past
year, coupled with the progress the partnership have secured through the delivery of a
cohesive, comprehensive partnership plan put in place to support sex workers in terms of
their health, safety and wellbeing, provide signposting to important services such as
housing and substance misuse support and the work done to support the local community
and significantly reduce the adverse consequences of on-street sex work taking place in a
particular community have all contributed to this reduction.
Case Study 1

B had a history of prolific on-street sex working for some years which increased up to
2020. Her behaviour escalated to the point of the partnership exploring an anti-social
behaviour injunction due to a high level of very challenging behaviour. The Managed
Approach policing team colleagues continued their support and engagement through
the Managed Approach partnership and via the sex worker liaison police officer.
B finally engaged with Basis and Forward Leeds and was supported in a number of
ways including through their outreach work. She is now accessing intensive support
through the Housing First programme and continues to make very good progress. In
addition to not engaging in sex work, she is also being supported by Forward Leeds
with her addiction issues. B also has regular family contact now in place which is
assisting in terms of her wider support and coping mechanisms.

5

Taking these factors into account and supported and informed by partnership intelligence
and data, it is proposed that further changes in terms of the operational and strategic
management of our approach to managing on-street sex work are now progressed.

6

These changes will continue to deliver against the three strategic aims of our approach to
managing on-street sex work in the city but will amount to:
-

The MA’s previously defined hours of operation (pre March 2020 - 8pm to 6am)
whereby women could solicit for sex without being subject to police engagement and
enforcement action in specific circumstances will not be re-introduced into the
partnership working arrangements. This change reflects the current situation concerning
on-street sex work in the area and the reduced number of women known to be actively
involved. The introduction of this element of the Managed Approach was to manage a
very specific problem at the time linked to a high volume of active sex workers which did
not significantly reduce despite many enforcement led initiatives over a long period of
time. This issue in terms of numbers and the impact on the local community caused by
on-street sex work has now significantly changed and this change in policy reflects that.

-

As such, no soliciting offences will be allowed to take place at any time in the area
previously covered by the Managed Approach. Appropriate powers will be
proportionately used to seek to prevent soliciting taking place in any area of the city
where it may be occurring. This new approach will send a very clear message that any
individual wishing to purchase sex on the street of Leeds will not be encouraged in any
Page 489

way to return to any area of city. Whilst all legal powers will be used as necessary and
appropriate, our focus will continue to be on providing meaningful support to help sex
workers to improve their safety, health and wellbeing with a view to enabling them to
exit this way of life. There will, however, be a renewed focus on seeking to use all legal
powers available to partners against those seeking to pay for sex. These developments
will be subject of ongoing assessment and set within the operational context in which
on-street sex work is taking place.
-

Work is also currently being undertaken to assess the feasibility of introducing a Public
Space Protection Order (PSPO) in selected residential areas located near where sex
work has been identified as taking place. A PSPO is an order that identifies the public
place and prohibits specific things being done in a restricted area and/or requires
specific things to be done by persons carrying on specified activities in that area. Failure
to comply with a PSPO is an offence. If granted, this will provide additional powers to
tackle issues such as anti-social behaviour and on-street drinking and in so doing
provide staff operating in these residential areas with additional powers to take action,
including the issuing of on-the-spot fines against anyone found to be involved in this
type of activity. In assessing the feasibility of introducing a PSPO it will be important to
ensure that any offences committed are proportionately managed recognising the
potential vulnerability of people living in challenging circumstances and, therefore, any
enforcement activity will need to be carefully balanced with outreach and support.

7

With the significant changes now proposed, and the fact that the Managed Approach is
synonymous with a defined geographic area previously referenced as the ‘Managed Area’,
it is now proposed that the Managed Approach formally comes to an end. The cessation of
the MA at this time builds on the successes and developments of the Managed Approach
since its introduction in 2014; the outcomes of the Independent Review into the MA; the
Voice of Holbeck’s Listening Well campaign, and; importantly, the data and intelligence
picture which evidences a significant reduction in the number of women engaging in onstreet sex work in the city.

8

Whilst it is proposed that the Managed Approach will now cease, we recognise that some
degree of sex work is still likely to be seen in Holbeck and surrounding areas as there
remains a small number who, for many different and often complex reasons, wish to
continue operating. It is for this reason that other important elements of our work will
continue including: the dedicated police patrols; the extensive use of public CCTV; late
night Safer Leeds high visibility mobile and foot patrols; the dedicated street cleansing
service; as well as outreach activity and the full range of support services assisting the
women involved. It is acknowledged that these key components of our response work well
and will continue to be utilised for as long as on-street sex work exists in Leeds.
Case Study 2

C started sex working in 2019 whilst in the early stages of pregnancy. She was
quickly engaged by various partners in the Managed Approach including police,
Basis and Joanna Project. Her relationship with statutory partners prior to this period
was not a positive one but through the approach adopted she was supported by
Basis and Forward Leeds who provided assistance with a range of complex needs.
This included support to address health-related needs as well as other needs
relating to lifestyle, including financial support. C gave birth and continued to sex
work and use Class A drugs. With continued engagement and support C is no longer
sex working, is engaging well with support from Forward Leeds in relation to her
drugs programme and has moved out of the area with supervised access to her
children.
Page 490

9

Our overall approach to addressing the issues associated with on-street sex work has and
will continue to evolve as is necessary and linked to the current circumstances of on-street
sex work being experienced in the city. The decision to now cease with the Managed
Approach by removing the set hours of operation within a specified geographic zone and
progressing the development of a PSPO in the local area has been taken following an
assessment using intelligence, police incident/crime report data and after consultation with
key stakeholders including representatives from the local Holbeck community. These
changes are significant and will see what was the Managed Approach now evolve into a
new approach to managing on-street sex work. The new approach will continue to focus on
reducing harm associated with on-street sex work and on delivering the three key aims of
our over-arching strategy.
Case Study 3

F had a number of complex needs including drug addiction, poor mental health and
ongoing sex work with high risk behaviours. F had been provided with temporary
accommodation but was struggling to maintain the accommodation offer because of
various factors, including drug use. A meeting was held with the partnership
agencies to discuss F’s needs and how they could work together to support her to
achieve her goals. F expressed that she would like to go to detox rehabilitation so a
referral was made and she successfully gained a place. However, part way through
F exited the programme unplanned and returned to Leeds. Agencies quickly linked in
with one another to understand why F had left the programme and worked together
to support her to access it once again. F is now back in the detox unit, is doing well
and is not engaged in sex work.

10 There are no plans to reduce resourcing currently deployed to address on-street sex work
in the city. We continue to believe the safest approach is to neither sell nor buy sex on the
street, and the ideal outcome continues to be that street sex work does not exist.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected: Beeston & Holbeck
Have ward members been consulted?

☒Yes

☐No

11 The revised approach should see better outcomes being sustained for both women
involved in on-street sex work and the local community in which it is taking place. This is
assessed and measured dynamically and over longer time periods with the partnership
work being delivered within our recognised Bronze, Silver and Gold governance
arrangements that sees accountability sit with the statutory community safety arrangements
in the city - the Safer Leeds Executive at Gold. The assessment includes a mix of
quantitative data sets from partners, intelligence and other more qualitative sources of
information used to monitor development and ensure resources are used to best effective
with regards delivery of our strategic intent.

Page 491

Case Study 4

D had previously been a prolific on-street sex worker who had been subject to
enforcement action for a number of months due to her chaotic and problematic
behaviour which put herself at risk and caused anti-social behaviour related issues
within the local community. She subsequently built up stronger relationships with
partners through the intensive work and support she was in receipt of, and overtime
she began to engage well with Joanna Project, particularly through the pandemic
period of 2020. The links with Joanna Project helped D to forge a better relationship
with Forward Leeds in relation to her addiction issues. D has now successfully
completed a programme that has seen her become completely free from drugs and
she has not sex worked since the summer of 2020.

12 What consultation and engagement has taken place?
Officers and partners have been engaging with a full range of stakeholders seeking their
views on how to best to develop the approach over recent months and using feedback
secured by both the Independent Review in to the MA conducted by academics at
Huddersfield University as well as extensively engaging local Holbeck based stakeholders,
including active Executive Member and officer support for an organised community
‘Listening Well’ process involving a large number of local people and locally based
community organisations. Most recently a new Holbeck based Communication and
Engagement Group has been set up involving local people supported by Beeston and
Holbeck ward councillors and officers and this group has provided feedback with regards
supporting the proposed changes to our approach. Commissioned and third sector support
through BASIS and the Joanna Project have also been engaged with mixed feedback
having been received recognising the diverse group of people those organisations support.
What are the resource implications?
13 There are no additional resource implications arising out of this proposal. The existing
resources engaged on the partnership MA team in terms of statutory, commissioned
services (BASIS) and third sector support (Joanna Project) will continue to operate in a
coordinated way.
What are the legal implications?
14 There are no legal implications at this stage.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
15 The key risk is that with the cessation of the managed approach we could see an increase
in sex work in areas outside of the current MA designated area. Whilst this is possible, our
data and intelligence on those individuals engaged in sex work is now far more
sophisticated than it was pre-2014 and with the support and dedicated resourcing that we
now have in place we are confident that such risks can be managed and mitigated. Our
overall approach to addressing the issues associated with on-street sex work will continue
to evolve as is necessary and linked to the current and future circumstances of on-street
sex work being experienced in the city. In considering the risk of vulnerability, our new
approach will continue to focus on reducing harm associated with on-street sex work and
on delivering the three key aims of our over-arching strategy.
Page 492

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☐Climate Emergency

16 Leeds has an ambition to be a city with a strong economy whilst being a compassionate
city. A key dimension of this is tackling poverty and inequality. The approach to tackling
on-street sex work related issues is a strategic response to managing pre-existing on-street
sex work with the ambition of reducing the prevalence of street-based sex working in Leeds
reducing the problems caused by on-street sex working to residents and businesses which
currently suffer from such nuisance. It also seeks to improve engagement with street sex
workers to facilitate the provision of appropriate support to improve their health, safety and
wellbeing and enable them to exit on-street work. This is consistent with our efforts to
provide safer and stronger communities protecting the most vulnerable.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
This is a proposal to improve services already being delivered and to achieve stated
objectives. The key alternative option would be to not make these strategic and operational
changes however this would risk seeing an increase in the number of women engaging in
on-street sex work, particularly when coronavirus restrictions are further lifted.
b) How will success be measured?
The revised approach should see better outcomes being sustained for both women involved
in on-street sex work and the local community in which it is taking place. This is assessed
and measured both dynamically and over longer time periods with accountability sitting at
the Safer Leeds Community Safety Partnership. The assessment includes a mix of
quantitative data sets from partners, intelligence and other more qualitative sources of
information used to monitor developments and ensure resources are used to best effective
with regards delivery of the strategic intent.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
As soon as practically possible and subject to appropriate ongoing consultation
requirements associated with introducing PSPOs and agreement through the Safer Leeds
Community Safety Partnership.

Appendices
There are no appendices to this report.

Background papers
There are no background documents relevant.

Page 493

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration (EDCI) impact assessment
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment.
This form:
 can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment
 should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion
of the assessment
 should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable
Directorate: Communities, Housing and
Environment

Service area: Safer Stronger Communities
(Safer Leeds)

Lead person:
Contact number:
Paul Money
Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:
8th June 2021
1. Title: Future developments with regards to addressing and reducing on-street
sex work in the city
Is this a:
X Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Members of the assessment team:
Name
Organisation

Paul Money
Jane Maxwell
Nicola Stewart

Role on assessment team
For example, service user, manager
of service, specialist

Safer Stronger
Communities (Safer
Leeds)
Safer Stronger
Communities (Safer
Leeds)
Safer Stronger
Communities (Safer
Leeds)

Chief Officer of Safer Stronger
Communities (Safer Leeds)
Head of Service
Programme Manager

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 495

1

3. Summary of strategy, policy, service or function that was assessed:
This EIA assesses the impact of the development and implementation of a proposed
revised approach to tackling on-street sex working in the city.
The new approach proposed would replace the existing ‘Managed Approach’ (MA), which
has been the evolving model for managing on-street sex work in Leeds since 2014, and
aims to:
 reduce the problems caused by on-street prostitution to residents and businesses
which currently suffer such nuisance;
 better engage with on-street sex workers to improve their safety, health and
wellbeing with a view to reducing their need to be actively involved in sex work, and;
 reduce the prevalence of on-street sex work in the city.
The proposals for a revised approach follow an evaluation of the current evidence which
finds that the number of sex workers currently operating is now substantially lower than
before the MA was introduced, and has further decreased when compared to the period
immediately before the Covid-19 restrictions were imposed in the UK. The impact of
Covid-19 coupled with progress in the delivery of wide-ranging support to sex workers and
the work done to reduce the adverse consequences of on-street sex work taking place in a
particular community have all contributed to this reduction.
The new approach will continue to focus on reducing harm associated with on-street sex
work and on delivering the three key aims of our overarching strategy. However, the
following changes to operational delivery are proposed:


The MA’s previously defined hours of operation (8pm to 6am) whereby women
could solicit for sex in a small light industrial area of Holbeck, without being subject
to police engagement and enforcement action in specific circumstances, have not
been active since March 2020 in line with Covid-19 legislation and government
guidance. It is proposed that these defined operational hours will not be reintroduced into the partnership working arrangements. As such, no soliciting
offences will be allowed to take place at any time in the area previously covered by
the MA.



Appropriate powers will be proportionately used to seek to prevent soliciting taking
place in any area of the city where it may be occurring, with a renewed focus on
seeking to use all legal powers available to partners against those seeking to pay
for sex.



In addition, work is currently being undertaken to assess the feasibility of
introducing a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) in selected residential areas
located near to where sex work has been identified as taking place. If granted, this
will provide additional powers to tackle issues such as anti-social behaviour and onstreet drinking and will include the issuing of on-the-spot fines against anyone found
to be involved in this type of activity. This will be managed in a way that will ensure
that any offences committed are proportionately progressed recognising the
potential vulnerability of people living in challenging circumstances.

We recognise that some degree of sex work is still likely to be seen in Holbeck as there
remains a number who, for many different and often complex reasons, wish to continue
operating. We’re acutely aware of the vulnerability of the women involved in on-street sex
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 496

2

work and the need to continue to safeguard them and mitigate the risks associated with
this type of activity. It is for this reason that other important elements of our work will
continue including:






The dedicated police patrols,
The extensive use of monitored public CCTV,
Late night Safer Leeds high visibility mobile and foot patrols
Outreach activity and the full range of support all services assisting the women
currently provide
Dynamic and dedicated street cleansing capability

4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment
(complete - 4a. if you are assessing a strategy, policy or plan and 4b. if you are assessing
a service, function or event)
4a. Strategy, policy or plan
(please tick the appropriate box below)
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes and the supporting
guidance
A specific section within the strategy, policy or plan

X

Please provide detail:
The three overarching aims of the strategy remain the same, and a number of key
components of the existing delivering model will continue to exist. This assessment
therefore relates only to the changes in operational delivery which are described above.
4b. Service, function, event
please tick the appropriate box below
The whole service
(including service provision and employment)
A specific part of the service
(including service provision or employment or a specific section of
the service)
Procuring of a service
(by contract or grant)
Please provide detail: N/A

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 497

3

5. Fact finding – what do we already know
Make a note here of all information you will be using to carry out this assessment. This
could include: previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception
surveys, equality monitoring and customer/ staff feedback.
(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information)
Sex working cohort
The on-street sex working cohort in Leeds is intensively case managed through close
partnership working with LCC, WYP and third sector agencies and this provides an
understanding of the equality characteristics of this group.
It is known that all individuals known to be selling sex on-street in the Holbeck area of
Leeds are women*. Prior to Covid-19, a significant minority of those women were Eastern
European, with the majority British and predominantly White.
Since March 2020, there have been significantly fewer women selling sex on street in
Holbeck. There is also no longer evidence of a significant Eastern European minority and
data suggests the women actively working are British, predominantly White and live in
Leeds.
*This includes trans women, although based on the equality data available, trans women have only been
identified on a very small number of occasions.

Factors driving entrance into on-street work include: poverty, debt, homelessness
(including insecure and unsafe accommodation), drug and alcohol addiction, long-term
physical and mental health conditions, domestic abuse, coercion and barriers to alternative
employment e.g. criminal record, low qualification levels and lack of suitable work. For
many women working on street, a number of these factors will be present.
Previous consultation with on-street sex workers
Consultation with sex workers has been largely led by the specialist sex worker services
who are engaged through the MA governance arrangements and have existing, trusting
relationships with the women they support. Services have sought the views of sex workers
in relation to the MA and the provision that is (or needs to be) available to them, and fed
this back through various appropriate forums. Additionally, the commissioned specialist sex
worker service have developed their offer in co-production with women who have
experience of on street sex worker to ensure it meets their needs.
Local Holbeck community
Holbeck is an MSOA in the inner south of Leeds with an estimated population of 8815
(ONS, 2019). Based on the 2011 Census, 61.1% of Holbeck residents are White British
and 38.9% Minority Ethnic. When compared with Leeds and England, Holbeck has a
relatively young population and a high proportion of transient renters. Holbeck is home to
one of Leeds City Council’s twelve priority neighbourhoods (LSOAs) which have been
identified as being in the most deprived 1% of neighbourhoods nationally. The total crime
rate per 1000 population is higher than that for Leeds and England for most crime types.
The Listening Well report published in January 2021 by the Voice of Holbeck describes the
Holbeck community as “a local community [which] continues to face many challenges but
also houses people of exceptional resilience.”
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 498

4

Previous consultation with the Holbeck community
Consultation around the response to on-street sex work in Holbeck has been ongoing with
members of the local community for a number of years, with records of specific groups
meeting to discuss the issue with Councillors, Council Officers and West Yorkshire Police
dating back to 2009.
In 2016, following the implementation of the MA, QA research were commissioned by
Leeds City Council to consult with local residents about businesses about the MA. 308
Holbeck residents and 49 businesses contributed.
When asked ‘What decision would you like the council and police to take about the
“managed approach” locally?’ the responses were as follows:
Continue with the
MA as it is
Residents
Businesses

38%
24%

Continue with the
MA but with rule
changes
32%
41%

Stop the MA
30%
35%

Following this, rule changes were made for example, the operational hours were shortened
from 7pm – 7am to 8pm – 6am and additional investment was made into street cleansing
services.
From 2017 onwards, the MA strategic leads met regularly with local resident groups to
hear their views, and community members were invited to have a regularly position at the
MA operational group.
Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information?
Please provide detail:
Sex worker cohort information is largely based on sex worker engagement with the
dedicated policing team and support services. The quality of this data has improved over
time and is now considered by all partners to be highly accurate. There are however some
gaps in equality monitoring information, as women are not required to provide this
information when accessing services.
Equality monitoring data was not collected as part of the QA research so it is not known the
extent to which the findings were wholly representative of the local community.
Action required:
Please see section 6 below, which provides details of how ongoing consultation and
engagement will be delivered.

6. Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to
be affected or interested
X

Yes

No

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 499

5

Please provide detail:
Officers and partners have been engaging with a full range of stakeholders seeking their
views on how to best to develop the approach over recent months. This has included:


Drawing upon feedback from the Independent Review conducted by academics at
the University of Huddersfield, which consulted sex workers, local residents,
Elected Members and key partners



Officer and Member engagement with the community-led ‘Listening Well’ process
which included a series of community meetings focused on resident feedback in
relation to on-street sex work and wider community safety issues, followed by the
publication of findings



Local resident and community organisation representatives sharing views through
the Holbeck based MA Communications and Engagement Group, chaired and
attended by Ward Councillors



MA ‘Silver’ partners (responsible for the operational management of the MA)
sharing views from an organisational/service perspective as well as views from
service users

Views of sex workers
Sex workers were consulted in relation to the response to on-street sex work in Holbeck as
part of the Independent Review ‘IR’ (September 2019- July 2020) which found that the
majority of sex workers felt the Managed Approach makes them safer. Specific responses
from some individuals put this down to males being less likely to commit crimes against
them because they know:



sex workers are ‘allowed’ to solicit and therefore more likely to report crimes against
them to the police without fear of arrest; and
the authorities are “bothered about” the women (their safety and wellbeing), so if
men are violent or otherwise harmful towards them, action will be taken.

Sex worker consultation as part of the IR was conducted pre-March 2020 so is not
reflective of the approach that has been in place during the Covid-19 restrictions.
In April/May 2021 sex workers engaged with specialist sex worker support services were
asked to share their views on the changes to the MA during Covid-19. The feedback was
mixed.
Some women reporting the ongoing support, some of which has been enhanced through
Covid-19 related new ways of working, has enable them to sustain a life away from onstreet sex work in Holbeck.
Whilst a number of women have stopped working on street a number of them have
intimated they would only return occasionally if they really needed to.
Feedback was also received from other women who:
 have continued to work indoors accepting ‘riskier jobs’;
 have continued to work on-street later at night/in the early hours, or in other areas,
to avoid police;
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 500

6




have continued to work on-street but in residential areas because there is no
differentiation in enforcement; and
have not reported crimes committed against them to the police because of reduced
trust or fear of enforcement.

This information was shared with the MA Silver partnership group in their discussions and
was considered in the development of the new approach. (Further information about
potential adverse impacts for sex workers, risk mitigation and actions in section 8 below).
Views of the Holbeck community
Residents and businesses were also consulted as part of the IR., albeit the response rate
was somewhat low. In relation to the strategic aim of “reducing the problems caused by
on-street sex work to residents and businesses”, the key findings were as follows:




The impact of on-street sex work had become worse, up until the 12 months prior to
the research
Generally, residents and businesses felt that in the 12 months prior to the research,
the negative impact had reduced – supported by data relating to the number of calls
to the dedicated police line
Cleanliness in Holbeck had greatly improved

Early in 2019, the Voice of Holbeck (a community group which had representation from 14
local organisations) launched a series of 9 public workshops under their ‘Listening Well’
campaign. Some key findings from this community-led research included:



the experience, or fear of, being ‘kerb-crawled’ and witnessing sex acts made
residents feel less safe and worried about going out alone and/or after dark
significant local issues also included drug use, street-drinking and anti-social
behaviour

More recently, a new MA Communications and Engagement Group has been established,
chaired by a Ward Councillor and attended by a wide range of local residents, businesses,
churches, schools and third sector organisations that live or operate in Holbeck. This
group was consulted on the positive and negative impacts seen and felt as a result the
changes to managing on street sex worker during Covid-19, and what they would like to
keep or change moving forwards. All were supportive of intensive support continuing for
women who sell on street but residents expressed their concerns that if the operational
hours and geography were resumed, they may see an increase in soliciting, kerb crawling
and sex litter which has decreased since March 2020.
Views of the MA partnership
Views of professionals involved in the delivery of the MA, from a range of different
organisations and services, have been sought through discussions with the Executive
Member, strategic leads, local Elected Members and MA Silver Accountability Group. The
proposed new approach has been developed in partnership with key professionals who
have considered the views expressed by sex workers and the local community.
Action required:
To continue to receive stakeholder feedback, in relation to the impact of the new approach
through:
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 501

7



The existing partnership accountability arrangements, which will continue to
oversee the strategic and operational delivery of the new approach, and enable:
o key partners to feed back
o services providing support to sex workers to seek and share sex
worker/service user feedback



Continued support for, and delivery of, the Holbeck based Communications and
Engagement Group to seek ongoing community feedback.

7. Who may be affected by this activity?
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers
that apply to your strategy, policy, service or function
Equality characteristics
Age

Carers

Disability

Gender reassignment

Race

X

Sex (male or female)

Sexual orientation

X

Other

Religion
or Belief

(Other can include – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, and those
areas that impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and wellbeing)
Please specify: Sex workers, residents in a priority neighbourhood and the surrounding
area
Stakeholders
X

X
X

Services users

Partners

X

Employees

Trade Unions

Members

Suppliers

Other please specify: residents (predominantly of Holbeck)

Potential barriers

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 502

8

Built environment

Location of premises and services

Information
and communication

Customer care

Timing
Cost

X

X

Financial exclusion

Stereotypes and assumptions
Consultation and involvement
Employment and training

specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function
Please specify

8. Positive and negative impact
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the
barriers
8a. Positive impact:
As outlined above and in the report, there are no changes proposed to the elements of the
MA which partners and stakeholders agree to be beneficial, so the positive impacts of
these will continue e.g.:






The dedicated police patrols,
The extensive use of monitored public CCTV,
Late night Safer Leeds high visibility mobile and foot patrols
Outreach activity and the full range of support all services assisting the women
currently provide
Dynamic and dedicated street cleansing capability

The additional positive impacts are expected for sex workers and the Holbeck community:
The number of sex workers currently operating on street in Holbeck is significantly lower
than pre-March 2020 and this is in part due to the development of an enhanced service
offer which has supported women to maintain a reduction in on street sex working – or to
not need to sell sex on street at all – during the pandemic. The proposal not to re-introduce
the defined operational hours of the MA area seeks to maintain this good progress by
avoiding a scenario whereby soliciting is ‘allowed’ again and thus encourages people to
come back to the area to buy or sell sex. As recommended by the Independent Review,
the new approach will continue to see the same high level of investment in support for sex
workers which will continue to reduce harm and improve outcomes for individuals who are
often in highly vulnerable circumstances, whilst maintaining a reduction in the overall
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 503

9

numbers of individuals working on street.
Community engagement identified anti-social behaviour e.g. street drinking, and kerbcrawling as two significant concerns of local residents. The work currently being
progressing to seek a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) which, if granted, will prohibit
street-drinking and other anti-social activities, seeks to reduce such community nuisance
and thus have a positive impact on residents who are affected by the adverse impact of
anti-social behaviour. Additionally, by using all available powers to prevent males from
soliciting on street for the purpose of paying for sex (‘kerb-crawling’), it is intended that
kerb-crawling will significantly reduce and residents, particularly females, will feel safer in
their local community.
Residents have also expressed strong concerns about the perception of Holbeck as a
‘legal red light district’, a phrase which is factually inaccurate but regularly used in local
and national media. Many felt that this sends a message that kerb crawling in residential
areas of Holbeck is acceptable and also gives a negative impression of the area as a
whole. It is likely that by not reintroducing the operational hours and geography the
misinterpretation of Holbeck as a ‘legal red light district’ will cease to be reinforced.
Action required:
To continue to monitor the impact of the proposed changes on sex workers and local
residents, using a wide range of data and intelligence, to ensure that the intended positive
outcomes are as predicted based on the evidence considered in developing the new
approach.
8b. Negative impact:
Although the defined operational hours of the MA have not been active since March 2020,
the proposed changes do reflect a significant change in what has been the approach to
managing on street sex work in Holbeck since 2014, and this change will be particularly
significant for women who sell sex on street.
The introduction of the MA helped to build trust between sex workers and the police, and
the reduced likelihood of enforcement coupled with the police role in safeguarding, has
been fundamental in increasing the confidence of many on-street sex workers to report
crimes committed against them. Furthermore, having a defined geography and specific
hours better enabled outreach services to locate and engage with women, build their trust
and confidence, and support them to access a wide range of services to improve their
safety, health and wellbeing.
There is a risk that the removal of the defined operational hours/area will negatively impact
on the relationship with sex workers and the police. This could result in a reduction in
crimes reported which can ultimately prevent violent perpetrators from being brought to
justice. The lack of the defined operational hours/area may also mean it is harder for
outreach services to locate women, which could reduce their engagement with the support
offer.
Arrangements will be in place to mitigate against these risks. The police focus when
engaging sex workers will continue to be focussed on safeguarding and the police Sex
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 504

10

Worker Liaison Officer who has an existing strong, positive reputation within the sex work
community will continue to engage with and support women. Partnership weekly tasking
meetings will continue to take place which involve intensive case management of
individuals known to be working. If disengagement occurs, partners will work together to
formulate appropriate action plans for each individual.
In addition, the increased enforcement of kerb-crawlers could result in the displacement of
on-street sex work to areas where purchasers are less visible to police, Safer Leeds patrol
officers and CCTV cameras and less likely to be seen by passers-by. It may also lead to
women working in risker indoor circumstances to avoid enforcement (for themselves or
purchasers). This could increase the vulnerability of sex workers.
Displacement will be closely monitored and responded to appropriately. All services will be
responsive and ensure that safeguarding and support is available to sex workers wherever
sex work presents. Risk increases when sex workers are in greatest need, so the intensive
case management approach will continue to seek to reduce the need to sex work on street
by ensuring the needs which drive their sex working can be otherwise met (e.g.
accommodation, drug treatment, food parcels, clothing).
Action required:
To continue to monitor data and quantitative/anecdotal evidence for impact on the:
 the number of crimes against sex workers which are reported by sex workers to the
police
 the number of women known to be sex working and the number of those women
engaged with services
 displacement of kerb-crawling to other areas

9. Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the
groups/communities identified?
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
The relationship between sex workers in Holbeck, and the wider Holbeck community is
complex. Many people from the local community have expressed empathy for sex workers
and are extremely keen to ensure sex workers can access appropriate services. Similarly,
sex workers have expressed their understanding of the impact on street sex worker can
have on the community.
However, there have also been reports of negative interactions between residents and sex
workers and in particular, when soliciting is taking place in residential areas. It is likely that
this is exacerbated by the concerns residents have expressed about kerb-crawling.
The new approach intends to reduce kerb-crawling and soliciting in residential areas and
therefore reduce the negative relationship that can present between sex workers and local
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 505

11

residents.
Action required:
None (any specific concerns will be observed through feedback and other monitoring
arrangements).
10. Does this activity bring groups/communities into increased contact with each
other? (for example, in schools, neighbourhood, workplace)
Yes

X

No

Please provide detail:
N/A
Action required:
N/A
11. Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of
another? (for example where your activity or decision is aimed at adults could it have an
impact on children and young people)
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
Because this represents a significant change to policy which affects the way in which sex
workers are ‘allowed’ to work, it is possible that the sex working community may perceive
the changes as having positive impacts for the community, but negative impacts for
themselves.
Action required:
The dedicated policing team, the Sex Worker Liaison Officer and the specialist sex worker
support services will work closely with women to help them understand the changes being
made, the rationale for these changes and the support that is available to them to reduce
the short-term impacts and improve their long-term safety and health.

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 506

12

12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action)
Action

Timescale

Measure

Lead person

To continue to receive stakeholder
feedback, in relation to the impact of the
new approach through:

Ongoing, but
considered at
every regular
meeting of the
following:

Stakeholder feedback

Paul Money, Chief Officer
Safer Stronger Communities
(Safer Leeds)

Stakeholder feedback (as
above), plus data and
intelligence provided by a wide
range of partners and collated
by Safer Leeds Intelligence
Service e.g. crime data, PSPO
enforcement data, calls to the
dedicated policing team,

Paul Money, Chief Officer
Safer Stronger Communities
(Safer Leeds)



Page 507


The existing partnership accountability
arrangements, which will continue to
oversee the strategic and operational
delivery of the new approach, and
enable:
o key partners to feed back
o services providing support to sex
workers to seek and share sex
worker/service user feedback

Partnership
accountability
group (monthly)
Communications
and Engagement
Group (bimonthly)

Continued support for, and delivery of,
the Holbeck based Communications
and Engagement Group to seek
ongoing community feedback.

To continue to monitor the impact of the
proposed changes, using a wide range of
data and intelligence, to ensure that the
intended positive outcomes are as
predicted based on the evidence
considered in developing the new
approach.

Monthly (with
analysis of
longitudinal
change)

13

Action

Timescale

Measure

Lead person

numbers of sex workers
sighted soliciting etc.
To continue to monitor data and
quantitative/anecdotal evidence for impact
on the:


Page 508



Monthly (with
analysis of
longitudinal
change)

Partnership data as described.

Paul Money, Chief Officer
Safer Stronger Communities
(Safer Leeds)

As soon as
possible after the
new approach is
approved

Sex worker feedback

Inspector Lucy Leadbeater –
WYP

the number of crimes against sex
workers which are reported by sex
workers to the police;
the number of women known to be
sex working and the number of those
women engaged with services; and
any displacement of kerb-crawling to
other areas.

The dedicated policing team, the Sex
Worker Liaison Officer and the specialist
sex worker support services will work
closely with women to help them
understand the changes being made, the
rationale for these changes and the
support that is available to them to reduce
the short-term impacts and improve their
long-term safety and health.

14

13. Governance, ownership and approval
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration impact assessment
Name
Job title
Date
Paul Money
Chief Officer, Safer
09.06.21
Stronger Communities
(Safer Leeds)
Date impact assessment completed
09.06.21
14. Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
actions (please tick)
X

As part of Service Planning performance monitoring
As part of Project monitoring
Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board
Please specify which board
Other (please specify)

15. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality impact assessment should be attached as an appendix to the
decision making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions
and Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality impact assessments that are not to be published
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
assessment was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

15
Page 509

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 22
Report author: Sarah Buncall
Tel: 0113 3764269

Adults & Health Service Review 6 – Care Delivery: Care
Homes, Post Consultation Recommendations Report
Date: 23rd June 2021
Report of: Director Adults & Health
Report to: Leeds City Council Executive Board
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒Yes ☐No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☒Yes ☐No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
In October 2020 the Council’s Executive Board approved a consultation on the proposals to close Home Lea
House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care
Home in Farsley, which would contribute annual savings of £1.531 million to the identified Council budget
gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing financial impact of Covid-19.
This supports the legal requirement for the Council to set a balanced budget and also the Best Council Plan
Financial Strategy aim to be “financially resilient and sustainable”, provide “value for money” and to “target
resources to meet our priorities”.
This report summarises the findings of the consultation; the impacts of the proposals on affected residents,
family / carers, staff, and the wider local communities; and the proposed mitigating options, which overall are
that the vast majority of respondents are strongly against the proposed closures of both care homes and
would want the financial savings to be found elsewhere.
The Council’s own view is that the Council has many priorities to meet the needs of its citizens but given the
outlined challenging financial context for local authorities, the Council unfortunately has insufficient funding
to meet all of these. The proposals will not reduce or remove the care of our most vulnerable people now or
in the future; the proposals are principally based upon insufficient demand for our residential beds and
therefore providing the same service at a reduced overall cost which in turn helps the Council deliver more
of its citizens’ needs.
If a decision is made to close the two care homes, the transfer of residents will be carefully planned and
carried out professionally, sensitively, and safely, in accordance with the Council’s Care Guarantee. Those
who use the homes for planned respite will be supported to ensure this provision can be continued in a new
location suitable to meet the individual’s needs. The programme will continue to work closely with all
affected staff and Trade Unions with a view to retaining and redeploying staff into other council services, so
their good practice is retained.

Recommendations
a) Note the outcome of the full consultation reports with stakeholders, (Appendix 3), and the information
within confidential Appendix 7: Estimated Land Valuation.

Page 511

b) Approve the recommendation to decommission services at Home Lea House Residential Long Stay
Care Home, in Rothwell.
c) Approve the recommendation to decommission services at Richmond House Short Stay Residential
Care Home, in Farsley.
d) Agree the timescales for ceasing the services based on the timeline attached in Appendix 9.
e) Note that there is a commitment in principle for the sites to be used for the development of supported
housing; general needs housing at the Home Lea House site in Rothwell, and supported housing for
older people at the Richmond House site in Farsley.
f)

Note that the lead responsible officer is the Director Adults and Health.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

The proposals to close Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell and
Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley are being put forward to Executive
Board due to the financial savings of £1.531 million that would be made annually by closing these
two care homes. As the council is legally required to set a balanced budget all council services were
required to put forward savings proposals that would contribute towards the highlighted budget gap
in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing financial impact of Covid19.

2

These proposals are not made lightly as all are aware of the personal impact on individuals.
However, the only remaining alternative would be to reduce the Directorate’s spend on discretionary
preventative services which we know contribute to supporting people to live at home longer, in their
own communities and with their families and friends. The investment in prevention both enables
people to live a good life at home but also reduces demand on the social care service by reducing
demand and/or delaying entry to formal care services which saves the Council money.

3

The proposals to close Home Lea House and Richmond House will not reduce or remove the care
of our most vulnerable people now or in the future: the proposals are principally based upon
insufficient demand for our residential beds and therefore providing the same service at a reduced
overall cost which in turn helps the Council support more of its citizens.

4

The Better Lives strategy is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support needs. Previous
reports to both Executive and Scrutiny Boards as part of the Better Lives Programme have
documented how the aspirations of people with care and support needs have changed over time
and that there is a strong and increasing desire to remain living in one’s own home for as long as
possible. As such a key aspect of the Better Lives strategy has been a continuous review of the
Council’s in-house services for older people with the focus being on how they meet both current
expectations and crucially how they can contribute to maximising people’s independence, recovery
and rehabilitation in the future.

5

The reviews evidenced that demand for traditional forms of residential care for older people have
continued to reduce with a switch to greater demand for models of care that provide housing-withsupport such as extra care housing. This has meant that between 2011 and 2016 a number of inhouse care homes closed.

6

Alongside the challenging financial context, we recognise the need for the most efficient and
effective model of services to make the Leeds pound go further. As such, it is also timely to review
in-house service provision and consider future options as part of the Council’s medium-term
financial strategy.
2

Page 512

Home Lea House
7

Home Lea House is a 29 bedded long-stay residential home situated in Rothwell. There are two inhouse care homes in Rothwell and Home Lea House is the older of the two homes which is why it
has been put forward for closure. Occupancy at Home Lea House is currently 18 (62%). The current
gross budget is £789k and the net budget is £547k. In a full year it would be possible to save the
gross budget of £789k as the client income will follow the client. Closing this facility from 1st
February 2022 would save £789k by the end of 2022/23. The one-off costs of alternative
independent provision (for those taking up on the care guarantee) would need to be offset against
these savings.

8

As outlined in the report to Executive Board in October 2020, the proposal to decommission the
service is based on national data which supports the view that people are being supported to live
independently and safely in their own homes and communities for longer. The need for residential
homes is decreasing within Leeds and where this resource is required to meet people’s needs there
is a well-developed independent sector care home market. The council has two residential care
homes situated in Rothwell, the other is Dolphin Manor, both of which are under occupied. The
number of residential care homes across the city rated by the Care Quality Commission as good or
outstanding is now 83%.

Richmond House
9

Richmond House is a 20 bedded residential service situated in Farsley. The current service offer is
short term care and support to people who require a period of convalescence following a hospital
admission. The service also offers support to people from the community to prevent hospital
admission. Average occupancy since 2018/19 is 55%. The current gross and net budget is £742k.
There is no associated income from short term residents. The part year saving from closure on 1st
November 2021 would amount to £309k, with the full saving of £742k in 2022/23.

10 As outlined in the report to Executive Board in October 2020, the proposal to decommission the
service is based on occupancy and the need for this type of service across the city.

11 Until 2017 Richmond House provided a Community Intermediate Care (CIC) bed service,
commissioned by the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The contract with Richmond House
ceased because the CCG wanted to commission a new model of service. The council was
successful in gaining a contract in partnership with Leeds Community Healthcare (LCH) for the
provision of three new Community Care Bed services but Richmond House could not be used for
this purpose as it had too few beds which made the unit cost prohibitive as the CCG has a duty to
seek best value. The Directorate decided to continue to deliver a revised service and offering short
term placements and three respite beds to people to support hospital discharge and hospital
avoidance, supporting the wider system and enabling social workers to make placements to this
type of service offer as this fitted with Better Lives transformation agenda.

12 However, Leeds now has a range of services to meet the needs of people who require some type of
intervention to either support them to reach their optimum with therapeutic and recovery focused
support to return home or to undertake an assessment to support their longer term needs. The CCG
Community Care Beds contract is now established and provides a greater recovery residential and
nursing offer. While Richmond House offers short term support, it does not provide any additional
therapeutic input that is often required when people are discharged from hospital. Richmond House
is continually under occupied and the current type of provision can easily be assimilated in wider
system provision.

3

Page 513

Wards Affected: Calverley and Farsley, Rothwell
Have ward members been consulted?

☒Yes

☐No

What impact will this proposal have?
Overall impact summary
1

As described above, the total saving of closing Home Lea House and Richmond House is estimated
at £1.531m, in a full year. The part year saving in 21/22 is estimated to be £0.420m.

2

If a decision is made to close the care homes, residents would be supported to transition to
alternative residential accommodation that meets their individual needs. This would be carefully
planned and carried out professionally, sensitively, and safely, in accordance with the Council’s
Care Guarantee, provided at Appendix 1. Those who use the homes for planned respite would be
supported to ensure this provision can be continued in a new location suitable to meet the
individual’s needs. The programme would continue to work closely with all affected staff and Trade
Unions with a view to retaining and redeploying staff into other council services, so their good
practice, skills and experience is retained.

3

The consultation asked people what they would consider to be the impacts of the proposals. The
submission responses showed key themes, with key issues and messages relating to each theme.
These are detailed in full in the Consultation Findings Report at Appendix 3, along with a response
from Adult Social Care. They are also summarised below.

4

The proposals are the subject of an Equality, Diversity, Cohesion, and Integration (EDCI)
Assessment and an Organisational Change EDCI Assessment which specifically focuses on the
impact of organisational change on the workforce. These have been completed as a parallel
process to the consultation and have been used to inform this report. Identified impacts arising from
these assessments are also summarised below.

People’s Health and Wellbeing Impacts
5

Concerns were raised as to the impact on the mental and physical health and wellbeing of long stay
residents having to leave their home, with additional worry created for residents, families / carers
and staff around settling into a new environment or in finding alternative employment. It was felt that
the uncertainty during this process and any decision to close placed additional burden on residents,
frontline workers, and unpaid carers.

6

In drawing up the initial proposals, conducting the consultation and in making the formal
recommendations described in this report, officers have been acutely conscious of the depth of
feeling aroused among service users, families, carers, staff, and local communities.

7

If a decision is made to close Home Lea House and / or Richmond House the transfer of residents
will be carefully planned and carried out professionally, sensitively, and safely. As per the Care
Guarantee ,which was an established process that has been used in previous transfers of care, a
team of qualified social workers would carry out the assessment and transition of people, and they
will follow the assessment and transfer protocol, which ensures they are fully conversant with the
needs of residents, including people with dementia. The transfer process would follow government

4

Page 514

guidelines to ensure any move during a time of increased transmission of Covid is safe. Family
members would be involved in the transfer process including the choice of an alternative care
home. The continued wellbeing of people who had moved into new services would be monitored by
reviews after three, six- and 12-months following transfer.

8

Everyone who receives a service at Richmond House either returns to their own home, is supported
to bid for rehousing or moves to longer term care. Average length of stay is three and a half weeks.
The Adults & Health social work teams support and facilitate appropriate moves for people with the
assessed level of care package.

9

The social work teams who currently support people to access respite at Richmond House and
Home Lea House would undertake a review of anyone who has been affected so that planned
respite can be continued in a new location suitable to meet the individual’s needs.

10 The commitment and quality of care provided by staff at both homes is fully recognised and
acknowledged. It is also fully acknowledged that hearing that your workplace is subject to a
consultation on possible closure can create uncertainty and worry. However, it is important that staff
are made aware of any recommendations affecting the future of their workplace directly and at the
earliest opportunity. Keeping staff informed and involved is expected as a good employer. It is also
integral in helping to provide a greater sense of security on the part of customers. The programme
would continue to work closely with all affected staff and Trade Unions with a view to retaining and
redeploying staff into other council services, so their good practice, skills and experience are
retained.

Quality Impacts
11 Concerns were raised about the impact on the quality of care and support received by residents
should they have to move to alternative provision. The high quality of care and support provided at
Home Lea House and Richmond House is recognised and acknowledged. The context within Leeds
is that there is a well-developed independent sector care home market. Following concerted work
by the Council’s Care Quality and Commissioning Teams from 2017 the number of residential care
homes rated good or outstanding is now 83%.

12 The issue relating to alternative care homes being of comparable quality has been, and will continue
to be, guided by the Council’s Quality Standards in the Residential and Nursing Framework
contract. Also, as detailed in the Leeds Integrated Market Position Statement 2019-22, the Adults
and Health Care Quality Team delivers proactive, targeted support around providing care to
regulated care providers in the city. In addition, the Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Quality team is an established team within Leeds CCG that supports the maintenance and
improvement of quality in care homes with nursing, using targeted support (in collaboration with
LCC or independently through contract processes). Quality improvements are also further
supported through Commissioning for Quality and improvement (CQUINs) built into contracts and
monitored as part of that process, which helps to further incentivise defined improvements.

13 Appendix 2: Profile of Services provides information on alternative good quality provision within 5
miles of the care homes under consultation. There are 14 care homes within five miles of Home Lea
House, including a Council-run home, that are CQC registered as Outstanding (1), Good (9), and
Requires Improvement (4). Of the 10 homes that are rated as Good or Outstanding, six offer
residential care, four offer both residential and nursing care. Seven of those homes are listed by the
CQC as offering specialist Dementia provision.

14 The Profile of Services also provides information of good quality alternative provision within 5 miles
of next of kin address for those people living at Home Lea House as long stay residents. Analysis
5

Page 515

into residents’ previous home addresses and the addresses of their next of kin during previous
transfers of care found that those using services had not always come from the same ward area as
the care home, though they had generally come from within 5 miles. Families may choose a care
home closer to where they live for ease of visiting. This mapping allows an understanding of viable
alternatives for each individual allowing them to maintain any community, friendship, or family links
with the area.

15 Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of people who require some type of intervention to
either support them to reach their optimum with therapeutic and recovery focused support to return
home or to undertake an assessment to support their longer term needs. The CCG Community
Care Beds contract is now established and provides a greater recovery residential and nursing
offer. While Richmond House offers short term support, it is not commissioned to, nor does it
provide, any additional therapeutic input that is often required when people are discharged from
hospital. Richmond House is continually under occupied and the current type of provision can
easily be assimilated in good quality wider system provision. The closest commissioned Community
Care Bed service is Green Lane Intermediate Care Centre in Armley, with 49 beds, which is 5.5
miles away from Richmond House.

16 Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social worker will approach care
homes at the time required, and if there is capacity, will spot commission a short break or extended
short stay depending on need. There are 27 out of the 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond
House that are rated ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’, totalling 1131 beds. 18 of those 27 care homes are
registered with CQC for dementia provision. There are also 4 care homes yet to be inspected and 1
Inspection not complete, totalling 230 beds, all of which are registered with CQC for dementia
provision.

Financial Impacts
17 Concerns were raised about the cost of alternative provision and the impact of this on families and
carers financially, alongside concern over the Council’s need to balance financial savings against
the impact of closing services for vulnerable people, that had also had recent investment made into
the buildings. Staff raised concerns as to the impact on them financially if they were unable to find
alternative suitable employment.

18 As outlined above, the key driver for the proposal to close the two homes in question is due to the
Council facing financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial impact
of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented. The proposals will not reduce or remove the
care of our most vulnerable people now or in the future; the proposals are principally based upon an
under-occupancy of Council provision against demand for our residential beds and therefore
providing the same service at a reduced overall cost which in turn helps the Council deliver more of
its citizens’ needs.

19 The Council is committed to ensuring that no individual is disadvantaged because of the
recommendations contained in this report. The Care Guarantee would be used to give assurance
that, where the Council is currently contributing towards a resident’s care home fee, there will be no
financial detriment to the resident or carer/family in choosing a new care home from the Council’s
quality framework list. Any proposed transfer to a care home not on the Council’s quality framework
list will be considered on an individual basis and may incur a top-up fee. The Council will not pay
any non-care supplement relating to enhancements that a care home may offer (such as a larger
room). Respite beds are means tested so there is no cost difference between LCC and independent
placements. Only respite stays that are commissioned and used are funded unlike Richmond
House, which receives set funding whether or not the beds are occupied.

6

Page 516

20 Since 2018, there has been in the region of £200k capital and revenue spend on each of the care
homes in question, in order to carry out essential maintenance works to ensure the building remains
“wind and watertight” and suitable for the people residing there. This has included some larger
works such as a new lift and replacement windows at Richmond House and lift refurbishment, new
Stannah Lift and roofing works at Home Lea House.

21 Both buildings are over 50 years old and fall within the Grade B category which indicates stock
condition is satisfactory and performing as intended but exhibiting some deterioration. Further longterm capital investment in the region of £300k to £500k will be required to bring each building and
facilities up to a good standard to comply with current legislation and support continued use.
Additionally, the cost for full refurbishment is estimated to be £1.7m which far outweighs the
expenditure in recent years.

22 There are currently a total of 47 Adult Social Care (ASC) and 11 Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL) staff
employed affected by the proposals. Ongoing engagement is taking place with staff and Trade
Unions regarding potential opportunities for all staff if they are affected by any of the proposals.
Some of the affected staff have previously made expressions of interest in the Council’s Early
Leavers Initiative. There are staffing vacancies within the Care Delivery Service and more recent
recruitments into vacant posts have been on a temporary basis to minimise the likelihood of staff
being put at risk. The Directorate will also work with all affected staff to identify development and
training opportunities which could assist staff to move into new or alternative roles within the
Authority. Continued formal consultation will take place under Employment Legislation with Trade
Unions and staff and support would be provided for staff throughout the decommissioning process
through the Managing Staff Reductions (MSR) Policy, including identifying any opportunities for
employment within the Council. It is hoped that this work will significantly minimise the risks to staff
in terms of compulsory redundancy.

Locality Impacts
23 Concerns were raised about the impact on the ability of family / carers to visit relatives easily within
their local community should the homes be closed and that closing the homes would limit people’s
choices of quality provision in their local area and could lead to insufficient provision compared to
demand in the future. The negative impact of buildings sitting empty on local communities was also
noted.

24 There is a range of good quality alternative provision as detailed above, and all those affected
would be supported to transfer to suitable alternative provision that meets their individual needs,
and the needs of their family / carers. The Council’s Extra Care Supply & Demand Model calculates
anticipated future demand for residential, nursing, and extra care provision, taking into account
proposed population changes to 2028 at a ward level, and suggests there is sufficient capacity of
alternative good quality provision. The Rothwell ward area has an oversupply of residential care
provision by 119 beds.

25 The 10 care homes rated as Outstanding or Good within five miles of Home Lea House total 501
beds. Occupancy at care homes can vary from week to week. As of 10th May 2021, occupancy
rates at those homes ranged from 42% to 95% with an average occupancy of 78%. The council has
two residential care homes situated in Rothwell, Dolphin Manor has 35 beds and on average
achieved 67% occupancy during 2020-21. Current occupancy at Dolphin Manor is 60%.

26 Over the last 3 years 196 individuals were admitted to Richmond House, on average 65 people per
year, staying an average of 30 days. 11 of the individuals were from the Farsley area (with postcode
LS28 5). For the wider LS28 postcode area over the same time period 37 individuals attended
(including the 11 above). As described above, the CCG are satisfied that sufficient community care
bed provision is available across the city. Over the last three years monthly occupancy rates in
7

Page 517

community care beds across the city ranged from 47% % to 100%, with average monthly
occupancy over that time ranging between 72% and 82%.
27. As detailed in the Better Lives Strategy (which is the Council’s strategy for people with care and
support needs) we know from our discussions that many older people want a wider choice of
accommodation and support options with, as much as possible, support being delivered in their own
homes or in care environments like extra care housing. It is equally important that we make sure our
services can still meet the city’s changing requirements for care, with more people living
independently for longer and a rising number of people needing specialist care, such as those who
develop dementia.

28 Delivering new housing-with-care provision in line with the current and future demand is one of the
key drivers of the Better Lives Strategy and Adults & Health continue to work alongside the Housing
Growth Team to consider strategic housing requirements based on supply and demand modelling.
In January 2019 Leeds City Council appointed a delivery group made up of Ashley House Ltd,
Morgan Ashley LLP and Home Group to deliver four Extra Care schemes on Council-owned sites in
Leeds including Windlesford Green in Rothwell, which will deliver 64 units of Extra Care housing.
Following planning being awarded on 3rd June 2021 work on site is due to commence this October
with a view to the Windlesford scheme opening from April 2023.

29 Adults and Health work closely with Leeds Care Association and care home providers to understand
any pressures affecting the market and have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to
understand the impact of Covid on cost pressures for care homes. The 14 care homes within 5
miles of Home Lea House are owned by 11 different providers. The 35 care homes within 5 miles of
Richmond House are owned by 30 different providers. These range from individual owners, small to
medium enterprises through to large national providers.

30 Should the decision be taken to close the current provision at Richmond House and Home Lea
House, the sites would be transferred into void management with responsibility for safety, security
and maintenance being managed by LCC Facilities Management until brought forward for any redevelopment. Asset Management under the delegations in place to the Director of City
Development are already in the process of considering alternative uses for the sites considering
Council’s priority programmes and requirements in particular from Adults and Health and the
Council Housing Growth Programme; and there is a commitment in principle for the sites to be used
for the development of supported housing; general needs housing at the Home Lea House site in
Rothwell, and supported housing for older people at the Richmond House site in Farsley. This may
involve direct delivery by the Council, delivery in partnership with external organisations or disposal
to third parties. Early demolition of the buildings at to limit the costs of maintaining security will also
be explored. Asset Management will lead discussions about the future use of the sites with elected
members and key partners.

Strategic Impacts
31 The reputational impact on the council was voiced should the decision to close the two home be
made when money is being spent on other services viewed by the respondents as of less value
than keeping council-run care home provision, with examples such as road schemes and City of
Culture 2023 referenced. Also, the impact on the quality and availability of long and short stay
residential care and support in the future if a reliance is placed so heavily on the private sector, with
a need for long term strategy. There was also concern that the closures could add additional
pressure on NHS services ability to effectively discharge people from hospital.

32 As detailed above, the Council has many priorities to meet the needs of its citizens, but
unfortunately has insufficient funding to meet all of these. The Council has a duty under the Care
8

Page 518

Act 2014 to meet needs for care and support, subject to meeting the statutory eligibility criteria.
However, needs can be bet in a variety of different ways. As set out elsewhere in this report, there
has been a move in recent years away from traditional residential care models toward more
housing-with-care provision, for example Extra Care Housing. The Council also has a duty under
the Care Act to promote diversity and quality in the provision of services. It is submitted that there is
sufficient diversity and quality provision within the local Leeds market to continue to meet the needs
of those currently accessing services from Home Lea House and Richmond House. The proposals
will not reduce or remove the care of our most vulnerable people now or in the future; this proposal
is principally based upon insufficient demand for our residential beds and therefore providing the
same service at a reduced overall cost which in turn helps the Council deliver more of its citizens’
needs.

33 National guidance on hospital discharge changed in April 2020, refreshed in August of the same
year, and now relies on a Discharge-to-Assess principle, which means that whenever possible,
people should be supported to return to their home as the first option. Adult Social Care provide the
SkILs Reablement Service which offers short term intensive care and support for people in their
home, supporting hospital discharge and hospital avoidance. Leeds Community Healthcare
Neighbourhood Teams provide at home therapy services, such as Occupational Therapy,
Physiotherapy and District Nursing. In addition, Adults and Health are not experiencing long wait
times for the commencement of independent home care packages.

34 Where residential provision is needed to meet an individual’s needs, as evidenced above, based on
supply and demand analysis of residential care provision currently and to 2028 in line with forecast
population growth of older people, there is an oversupply of residential provision in the city. Other
options are also available for those seeking respite services, such as community based short
breaks, or a personal budget to arrange a short break that suits the carer and the cared-for person.
This could be through various organisations such as private home care agencies, charities, or
community interest companies. The council also provides a Shared Lives Service which provides a
more homely approach to the provision of respite services.

35 It is equally important that we make sure our services can still meet the city’s changing
requirements for care, with more people living independently for longer and a rising number of
people needing specialist care, such as those who develop dementia. Adults and Health is
therefore continuing to invest in the development of extra care accommodation and, as
outlined above, to work with NHS partners to model service developments to support people
with dementia and complex needs.

36 The Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will be reviewing their short stay community care
bed commissioned service in the next 18 months but at time of writing are content that they have
sufficient resource available to them.

37 In addition, the NHS has provided temporary funding to the CCG to support hospital discharge
during the pandemic. The CCG have used this funding to commission a number of community beds
(nursing and residential) across the city as part of this Discharge-to-Assess process, although this is
reviewed on a regular basis and it is intended to reduce reliance on these beds as the impact of the
pandemic decreases. People are supported to stay there while their needs are assessed, and their
care arranged at home or in another residential care or nursing home. Their needs are assessed
very quickly and a sizeable proportion of the people who are discharged in this way return home
within a week to ten days.

38 There is greater demand for, and an undersupply, of extra care accommodation and specialist
provision for people with the most complex needs, including people living with dementia in Leeds.
The Integrated Commissioning Executive has taken a number of reports which have attempted to
9

Page 519

model the needs of people with complex dementia and as a result the following service
developments have been put in place, as detailed in the Leeds Integrated Market Position
Statement 2019-22:NHS development of intensive and responsive specialist support to care homes,
an individualised approach to the funding of care, including transitional support to leave hospital as
well as long-term funding; and the development of training in ‘leadership in dementia care.’

39 The Department for Health and Social Care White Paper: Integration and Innovation: Working
together to improve health and social care for all, Feb 2021, provides a basis for further consultation
and discussion with interested or affected groups on improving integrated care; the Council’s Adults
and Health Directorate, the different political parties in Leeds, and other organisations, will
contribute as appropriate to shape the Health and Care Bill that will be presented to Parliament.

Methodology Impacts
40 The impact of the timing of the proposals during Covid-19 were raised as adding an additional
burden on residents, families and carers, and frontline workers, at a time when respite provision
was already unavailable as a result of the pandemic, and when family / carers cannot visit residents
to find out how they are and to ask them what they want.

41 As referenced above the timing of the proposals was in response to the requirement of the Council
to respond to the financial challenges and financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, along with the
legal requirement of the Council to set a balanced budget. Also as referenced above, while it is
acknowledged that the uncertainty created by the proposals on the future of the two care homes
creates worry for those affected, it is also important that people are made aware of any
recommendations affecting the future of their home, services they use and their workplace directly
and at the earliest opportunity.

42 The timeline for the process is based on best practise; for example, not running a consultation over
the Christmas holiday period, allowing sufficient time for a consultation of this nature to take place,
and appropriate time for the assessment and transition process, within a timescale which will
minimise disruption and discomfort for those affected. Nothing will happen suddenly or
unexpectedly, either for staff or for residents and we will continue to work with Trade Unions to
support affected staff through this process.

43 The consultation provided different options for participating, including online, over the phone, via
email, by posting a paper copy to us, or through a face to face discussion. The consultation survey
was also open to the public via leeds.gov.uk. People only stay at Richmond House for a short
period of time and so current residents will not be affected by the proposed closure, however
throughout the consultation period all residents were informed about the consultation taking place
and encouraged to participate if they wished to do so.

44 The services also proactively engage customers in the use of technology (such as iPads, tablets,
mobile phones, Alexa’s) where appropriate, to keep in touch with loved ones during their stay. In
addition, window visits, garden visits and use of in-door pods have enabled choices to suit
customers in being able to communicate with one another.

10

Page 520

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
Previous Consultation – Home Lea House.
45 Home Lea House was subject to consultation during Phase 2 of Residential and Day Services
project, specifically regarding the potential development in partnership with a community group /
Third sector organisation and Executive Board approved these proposals in September 2013. The
November 2014 Executive Board Report gave an update on the position relating to all four homes
under review during that phase. Regarding the proposals for Home Lea House, the report
recommended a progress report setting out a clear and conclusive business case for a local social
enterprise to be submitted and considered by Executive Board in summer 2015. If that was not
possible, an alternative proposal was to be brought back to the Executive Board within that same
timescale. There has been no feasible business case relating to establishing a social enterprise and
no alternative proposal has been submitted to date.

46 While legal advice suggests there is not a formal obligation to re-consult on the proposals for each
of the homes, it was felt that a further consultation period should be carried out with residents, their
families and carers, staff and other key stakeholders as significant time has passed since the
previous Executive Board decision on the future of the four homes considered in Phase 2 of the
Residential and Day Services project.

Establishing clear lines of communication
47 Letters were sent to all those directly affected before and after the October 2020 Executive Board
meeting, advising of the recommendations to consult on the proposed closures, along with a fact
sheet providing background information, details of the proposals, the consultation process and
where to seek further help and information. Briefs were also sent to all MPs and Elected Members
in the affected ward areas. A telephone helpline and email address, staffed by experienced officers
in the Programme Team was made available to provide residents, their family, and carers with the
appropriate level of information from the beginning of the process.

48 Following the Executive Board meeting on the 21st October 2020 and the subsequent five day
period in which councillors can review the decision or seek further clarification, the Council
approved the recommendations for a 12 week period of consultation to take place from 9am on
Monday 4th January 2021 to 5pm on Friday 26th March 2021.

49 On 4th January 2021, letters were sent to all those directly affected to provide further information
about the consultation, including how people could participate to share their views on the proposals,
and what would happen after the consultation finishes. Throughout this period managers from Adult
Social Care held regular meetings with staff members and with Trade Unions to explain plans in
more detail and to respond to any questions.

50 The aim of the detailed consultation on the proposals was to consult with those directly affected and
as a priority the residents, their families, and carers and with affected staff and Trade Unions.
Detailed consultation also took place within the locality, including Elected Members, and was open
to the public. The purpose was to hear people’s views about the possible closure of the two care
homes, what the impact of the proposed change might be, and how those impacts could be
reduced.

Consultation Methods
51 As described in Appendix 3: Consultation Findings Report the consultation included residents,
service users, and their family / carers, affected staff and the wider local communities. People
were encouraged to participate in the consultation via a variety of methods, including through
completion of the online surveys (one for each care home), by phone, by email, in writing, by
participating in a community committee meeting, and for those directly affected also through a
11

Page 521

face to face meeting. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the use of remote voice / video
technology could be used where appropriate and in line with safe working practices.

52 A relative or friend could be present at the meeting to provide support and for people who are
not able to express their views for themselves, or have no relatives or friends to be present, an
independent advocate was present to ensure the individual could be appropriately consulted
and their views recorded.

53 For affected staff, drop-in sessions (where safe to do so, remote voice / video technology could
be considered) took place each month during the consultation period. In addition to the
consultation survey (approved by the Trade Unions) separate briefings on employee matters
also took place, with Trade Union meetings to ensure employee matters were given high
priority.

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration (EDCI)
54 The EDCI Assessments are submitted at Appendix 4 and 5 to be considered through the Council’s
decision-making process. It is proposed that should agreement be given to progress with the
proposed options, that an implementation plan is developed in line with the Assessment and
Closure Protocol available at Appendix 6. The implementation plan would show how any closures
would be managed over the agreed timescales and how residents, relatives, carers, and staff will be
supported to safeguard human rights and equal rights, minimise distress and maximise benefits to
individuals.

Consultation Findings Overall Summary
55 Appendix 3: Consultation Finding Report provides full details of all consultation submissions
including a breakdown of submissions by stakeholder group and method. Overall, 141 separate
submissions were received, mostly via the online survey. There were also three petitions, two
petitions via change.org; one opposing the closure of Richmond House (1178 signatures), the other
opposing the closure of Home Lea House (1248 signatures) and a petition from Trade Union GMB
Members (390 signatures).

56 The responses to the consultation via the methods and stakeholder groups described above were
detailed and diverse. The range of engagement methods allowed people to express their views on
the proposals and responses were gathered, as well as specific questions about the proposals.

57 Overall, the vast majority of respondents are strongly against the proposed closures of both care
homes. A few people stated they understood or agreed with the proposals, also highlighting the
importance of supporting the move of residents to alternative suitable, high quality, local provision
and of ensuring staff could be redeployed into other roles and not lose their jobs.

58 Residential care is described by many as ‘their home’ and the staff are seen as ‘their family’. There
is clearly a feeling of anger, sadness, and distress by the proposals to decommission the homes.
Many people have said the proposals are unfair and that the council does not have the interests of
older people at heart, that the financial savings should be found elsewhere, and the homes should
be retained as well respected high quality care provision in their local communities.
 The satisfaction with the current service appeared to be high. It was stated that the council
provides a high-quality service and that the homes should not close.
 It was felt that the private sector could not match the quality of service provided by the council
and that the council had a duty to provide services for elderly people and people with
dementia.
 The staff were viewed as being highly trained, skilled, caring, and professional.
12

Page 522

 Respite was seen as crucial to help carers continue in their caring role and keep people living
at home rather than in permanent care.

59 Residents and their families / carers at Home Lea House were asked additional questions about
what would be important to them in any future residential care home setting. Details of these
responses are in Section 4 of the Consultation Findings Report. A place that could meet their
needs, well trained and friendly staff, quality of care, not losing staff/carers, having choice over the
type of accommodation lived in, and who provides and runs the home were all considered very
important by most respondents. This was closely followed by not changing routine, not having to
pay more, moving with friends, a good-sized room with en-suite, close to where they live and near
to family and friends. Most of the respondents stated all the different factors listed were either very
important or quite important.

60 Key themes have emerged, and key issues and messages relating to each theme are captured in
the Consultation Findings Report along with a response from Adult Social Care. These are also
summarised in the Impacts of this Proposal section of this report above.

What are the resource implications?
Finance
61 The current gross budget for Home Lea House is £789k and the net budget is £547k. In a full year it
would be possible to save the gross budget of £789k as the client income will follow the client.
Closing this facility from 1st February 2022 would save £789k by the end of 2022/23. The one-off
costs of alternative independent provision (for those taking up on the care guarantee) would need to
be offset against these savings.

62 The current gross and net budget for Richmond House is £742k. There is no associated income
from short term residents. The part year saving from closure on 1st November 2021 would amount
to £309k, with the full saving of £742k in 2022/23.

63 Financial savings of £1.531 million would be made annually by closing these two care homes.
64 As central government funding to local authorities decreases and demand for services increases
councils are under pressure to find more efficient and cost-effective ways of doing things. The
Council has many priorities to meet the needs of its citizens but given the outlined challenging
financial context for local authorities, the Council unfortunately has insufficient funding to meet all of
these. The proposals will not reduce or remove the care of our most vulnerable people now or in the
future; the proposals are principally based upon insufficient demand for our residential beds and
therefore providing the same service at a reduced overall cost which in turn helps the Council
deliver more of its citizens’ needs.

HR
65 There are currently a total of 47 Adult Social Care (ASC) and 11 Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL) staff
employed affected by the proposals. Ongoing engagement is taking place with staff and HR
regarding potential opportunities for all staff if they are affected by any of the proposals. The
Directorate will also work with all affected staff to identify development and training opportunities
which could assist staff to move into new or alternative roles within the Authority. Continued formal
consultation will take place under Employment Legislation with Trade Unions and staff and support
would be provided for staff throughout the decommissioning process including identifying any
opportunities for employment within the Council. It is hoped that this work will significantly minimise
the risks to staff in terms of compulsory redundancy.

Land and Buildings
66 The Council has a number of competing demands for its strategic land assets. It continues to
investigate opportunities to support the wider housing growth programme including through the
13

Page 523

delivery of specialist housing and affordable housing both via its current portfolio of vacant sites,
and those that are likely to become available as a result of service changes which enable asset
rationalisation.

67 As detailed above, Asset Management under the delegations in place to the Director of City
Development are already in the process of considering alternative uses for the sites considering
Council’s priority programmes and requirements in particular from Adults and Health and the
Council Housing Growth Programme; and there is a commitment in principle for the sites to be used
for the development of supported housing; general needs housing at the Home Lea House site in
Rothwell, and supported housing for older people at the Richmond House site in Farsley. This may
involve direct delivery by the Council, delivery in partnership with external organisations or disposal
to third parties. Early demolition of the buildings at to limit the costs of maintaining security will also
be explored. The combined value of these sites has recently been estimated for residential use. The
estimated amount in question is potentially commercially sensitive information and therefore
provided in confidential Appendix 7. Asset Management will lead discussions about the future use of
the sites with elected members and key partners.

What are the legal implications?
68 This decision is a key decision, has been published to the List of Forthcoming Key Decisions, and is
subject to the call-in process as a report to Executive Board.

69 The review of services has taken into consideration the Council’s statutory duties and Adult Social
Care’s specific duties, including duties contained in the Care Act (2014) to meet the needs of those
members of the community who require care services. Public consultation on the proposals have
been undertaken in accordance with guidance.

70 When deciding on this matter Executive Board must have “due regard” to its duties under section
149 of the Equality Act 2010. In doing so Executive Board must take account of the impact the
proposals could have on different equality groups and consider ways of mitigating or avoiding any
adverse impact.

71 To assist Executive Board to make an informed decision on these matters full EDCI Assessments
have been carried out considered within this report, with the full documents available at Appendix 4
and 5.

72 The combined value of the two care home buildings has recently been estimated for residential use.
The estimated amount in question has been identified as exempt in accordance with Access to
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) because it is commercially sensitive, should an open market
disposal process be approved. Keeping the information confidential avoids potentially prejudicing
the Council’s commercial position and that of third parties, should the estimated valuation amounts
be disclosed at this stage. The exempt information is provided in Appendix 7. The information is
exempt if and for so long as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. Executive Board may wish
to consider the estimated value of the buildings in this regard as potential further contribution to
council financial savings, in relation to the public interest.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
73 A risk log has been maintained throughout, in-keeping with the Better Lives Programme approach to
managing projects. All risks are recorded, and a governance board oversees the process. The key
risks relating to approving these proposals or not approving these proposals are outlined in
Appendix 8: Key Risks & Mitigations.

14

Page 524

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☐Climate Emergency

74 The proposals to close Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell and
Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley, which would contribute annual
savings of £1.531 million to the identified Council budget gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which
£59.1 million is due to the ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. This supports the legal requirement
for the Council to set a balanced budget and also the Best Council Plan Financial Strategy aim to be
“financially resilient and sustainable”, provide “value for money” and to “target resources to meet our
priorities”.

75 In addition, it supports the ambitions of the Better Lives Strategy, the Council’s strategy for people
with care and support needs, which helps the Council deliver overarching Health and Well-being
Strategy aim for Leeds to be: “A healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are the
poorest improve their health the fastest”. A key aspect of this strategy over recent years has been a
strategic review to transform the Council’s in-house service for older people.

76 This strategy focuses, amongst other things, on the Council’s capacity to help support the growing
number of older people with their care and support needs. It recognises the changing expectations
and aspirations of people as they grow older and the need to match these with appropriate and
affordable responses.

77 Previous reports to both Executive and Scrutiny Boards as part of the Better Lives Programme have
documented how the aspirations of people with care and support needs have changed over time
and that there is a strong and increasing desire to remain living in one’s own home for as long as
possible. As such a key aspect of the Better Lives strategy has been a continuous review of the
Council’s in-house services for older people with the focus being on how they meet both current
expectations and crucially how they can contribute to maximising people’s independence, recovery
and rehabilitation in the future.

78 Implementing the Better Lives Programme is key to delivering the Council’s ‘Best Council Plan 2020
– 2025, in particular the following elements of the council’s Best City priorities:


Health and Wellbeing “Working as a system to ensure people get the right care, from the
right people in the right place”



Inclusive Growth “Supporting the city’s economic recovery from COVID-19 and building
longer-term economic resilience”



Housing “Providing the right housing options to support older and vulnerable residents to
remain active and independent”

Options, timescales and measuring success
79 Respondents to the consultation were asked to consider options that would mitigate the impact of
the proposals. A variety of options were submitted, which are considered in detail in the
Consultation Findings Report. They are summarised below.

80 The proposals being put forward to close Home Lea House and Richmond House are considered
the recommended option for the reasons detailed in this report.

15

Page 525

What other options were considered?
Don’t close either care home and find the financial savings elsewhere.
81 As detailed above, if the proposals to close these two care homes were not brought forward Adult
Social Care would be required to find the financial savings elsewhere, which could only be achieved
through considerable further reduction of funding to other directly provided or commissioned service
provision. The proposals to close Home Lea House and Richmond House will not reduce or remove
the care of our most vulnerable people now or in the future; the proposals are principally based
upon insufficient demand for our residential beds and therefore providing the same service at a
reduced overall cost which in turn helps the Council deliver more of its citizens’ needs.

Don’t close either care home and promote the service more to increase occupancy levels.
82 Health and social care professionals are aware of the services provided at both care homes and will
refer / recommend people there based on the individual needs of the person requiring care and
support. Even if the occupancy at both homes could be increased, the type of provision offered can
easily be assimilated into wider system provision.

Use social care reserves to keep Home Lea House open for another year and work with the
community to keep it open.
83 As previously stated, the Council is looking to have less of a reliance on residential provision,
preferring a move to other services including Extra Care Housing which we believe is a preferred
model of support by our citizens. As an authority we have, over recent years, seen a reduction in
the numbers of people we place in residential care and Commissioners have, over that same
period, recorded an excess of provision over demand, and this is noted whilst in a period of an
ageing population. In this context it is difficult to see how a business case could be made by a
community consortium to make this a going concern.

84 Reasonably recent experience of this type of proposal failed. It is also considered highly unlikely
that this could be actioned within a twelve-month period, which could therefore necessitate the
further use of scarce resources. As such, for the reasons above, this option is not one that would
be recommended.

Negotiate with the NHS to have therapeutic input at Richmond House again.
85 Richmond House did operate very successfully as an intermediate care resource (known at the time
as Community Intermediate Care, CIC). However, when the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
reviewed the Community Intermediate Care (CIC) service, they identified a different set of priorities
for the Community Care Bed service. Leeds Adults & Health were successful in bidding to the new
specification and secured, in partnership with Leeds Community Healthcare, two new nursing
services and one residential service, in buildings owned by LCC across Leeds. Richmond House
could not be used for this purpose as it had too few beds which made the unit cost prohibitive. The
CCG has a duty to seek best value in its commissioning decisions. The CCG will be reviewing their
commissioned service in the next 18 months but at time of writing have commissioned 232 beds
across the city and are content that they have sufficient resource available to them.

Close Richmond House as a short stay residential service and instead use it for either residential
dementia care, for solely respite provision, or for specialist mental health assessment provision for
older people.
86 There is already a range of good quality residential care provision in the city. 25 of the 35 homes
within 5 miles of Richmond House are CQC dementia registered. However, there is an undersupply
of nursing provision for people with the most complex needs.
16

Page 526

87 Mixed models of long stay and respite / short stay provision offer greater economic viability. There is
no independent sector provision that offers only respite bed accommodation. People like to choose
where they go on respite and still want to maintain links to family and local services, so Adult Social
Care couldn’t mandate that people used Richmond House for respite, and as a result it would likely
be under occupied.

88 Moving someone from home to a residential setting for a specialist mental health assessment would
increase the likelihood of confusion. People are assessed either at home, in outpatient or other
settings, or while in hospital if they are really unwell. Any such ‘specialist assessment centre’ would
be NHS funded and provided as it would be clinically led. Also as outlined above, it would be
unlikely that it would be economical to re-model the building for such a type of alternative provision.

89 Given the age of the building it may be uneconomical to remodel for alternative provision.
Consultant Norfolk Property Services has stressed that refurbishment alone will not meet current
statutory requirements and nationally described space standards due to some corridor widths being
too narrow and a number of bedroom sizes being too small. To meet this standard major structural
and internal alteration would need to be carried out. High level refurbishment budget costings
indicate that a capital spend of in the region of £1.7m would be required to bring the property up to
current required standard including nationally described space standards and to meet the minimum
requirements set out in the Leeds Model for housing with care.

90 Given the Gross Internal Area of Richmond House this would equate to approximately £1150 per
sqm to refurbish against a cost in the region of £2000 per sqm for new build so on this basis the
most cost effective approach would be new purpose built accommodation that will meet modern
building standards and is more conducive to health and wellbeing of residents.

Close both care homes and provide new build alternative provision
92. Significant work has been undertaken by Adults & Health to help drive and reshape the current
provision of supported living options across the city by advancing our strategic vision for Better Lives
and promoting the delivery of accommodation-based support which provides greater choice and
independence.
93. Leeds City Council is part of the local Transforming Care Partnership with Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group which is NHS England’s specialist commissioner and we are working jointly to
deliver the Transforming Care Programme which will allow service users with learning
disabilities/autism/ mental health needs to transition from long stay inpatient settings to residential
community based accommodation. As part of this work we continue to explore development
opportunities utilising Council owned land assets to bring forward schemes which can meet the longterm accommodation needs of individuals within the Transforming Care cohort.
94. We are currently developing a residential facility for people with learning disabilities and autism and
mapping the accommodation needs for Working Age Adults with a Learning Disability, Physical and
Sensory Impairment or Mental Health as part of our wider strategic review. Adults & Health are also
working closely with colleagues in LCC Asset Management to determine if operational needs can be
identified to justify the retention of any sites that may become available through estate
rationalisation.
95. Capacity and constraints studies have been undertaken by LCC design officers for several sites
which explore potential options for future use. These confirm that both sites could support some form
of new build re-provisioning for people with care and support needs, whether this is bungalows or
apartments. The site at Richmond House could potentially support up to 30 x 1-bedroom apartments
or 13 standard 2-bedroom bungalows, while the site at Home Lea House could potentially support up
to 26 x 1-bedroom apartments or 10 ‘courtyard’ style bungalows. The sites are too small to support
17

Page 527

Extra Care housing as we work on a minimum capacity of 60 units for a viable extra care
development.
96. Should the decision be taken to close to current provision at Richmond House and Home Lea
House, detailed ground investigations and a PSA (preliminary site appraisal) would be required
before proceeding with a full feasibility study and any ensuing development. The site would be
managed by the LCC Corporate Property Management team until it is brought forward for any redevelopment. As detailed above, discussions around the future use of the building would take place
with local elected members and key partners, and there is a commitment in principle that both sites
will be used for supported housing in the future.

Close the two care homes and sell to private care home providers.
96 Purchase by another provider could be an option should the decision be taken to close the sites and
should the sites ultimately be deemed surplus to requirements, following the agreed Council
process for open market disposals. However, as outlined above there is a commitment in principle
that should the decision to close be made, that both sites are used for supported housing.

How will success be measured?
97 Should the proposals to close be approved, the following will be the measures of success:


The level of financial savings as outlined in this report.



The assessment and transfer of all current residents at Home Lea House to alternative care
home provision that meets their individual needs and the needs of their family / carers. This
will be carried out in accordance with the Assessment and Closure Protocol, available at
Appendix 6. The continued wellbeing of people who had moved into new services would be
monitored by reviews after three, six- and 12-months following transfer.



The assessment and transfer of all short stay residents at Richmond House to alternative
provision that meets their individual needs and the needs of their family / carers. Average
length of stay is three and a half weeks. The Adults & Health social work teams support and
facilitate appropriate moves for people with the assessed level of care package.



A review carried out by social work teams who currently support people to access respite, of
anyone who has been affected so that planned respite can be continued in a new location
suitable to meet the individual’s needs.



Affected staff supported effectively through the MSR Policy. The programme would continue
work closely with all affected staff and Trade Unions with a view to retaining and redeploying
staff into other council services, so their good practice is retained.

98 All the above measures would be monitored with regular updates provided to the Director of Adults
and Health.

What is the timetable for implementation?
99 If the proposal to close both care homes is approved by Executive Board, and any associated call in
or Scrutiny process, letters will be issued to all affected stakeholders to advise them of the decision
to decommission. The assessment and transition of customers to suitable alternative provision
would commence, as would options meetings with staff and Trade Unions. The Timeline for
Implementation provided in Appendix 9 estimates closure of the service at Richmond House by 1st
November 2021, and closure of the service at Home Lea House by 1st February 2022. The process
will be carried out in line with the Assessment and Transitions Protocol and therefore it may be that
all residents and service users are transferred, and the services are able to close sooner than this.

18

Page 528

Appendices
100Appendix 1: Care Guarantee
101 Appendix 2: Profile of Services
102Appendix 3: Consultation Findings Report
3a) Consultation Survey Questionnaire Detailed Responses
3b) Consultation Submissions and Responses
3c) Consultation Petitions

103Appendix 4: EDCI Assessment
104Appendix 5: EDCI Organisational Change Assessment
105Appendix 6: Assessment & Closure Protocol
106Appendix 7: Confidential: Estimated Land Valuation in accordance with Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3).

107Appendix 8: Key Risks and Mitigations
108Appendix 9: Timeline for Implementation

Background papers
109 None.

19

Page 529

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Leeds City Council Care Guarantee
Our Care Guarantee
It is recognised that decisions to close or re-commission any local authority care home is likely to cause
anxiety for residents, their families, carers, and staff.
To alleviate these anxieties, Leeds City Council Adult Social Care has developed the following Care
Guarantee for people affected by the changes. This guarantee outlines our commitment to provide you with
support and help throughout the whole process.
Our commitment to you:
▪

We have and will continue to consult and engage fully and widely and make sure people’s views are
considered, with ongoing engagement at every stage of the process.

▪

Older people and people acting on their behalf can contact Leeds City Council by telephoning one
telephone number for information about services and we will get back to you within 1 working day
(during the working week). This number is 0113 3783821.

▪

Information on decisions and timescales will be shared with residents and their families in a timely and
accessible manner.

▪

When a home is closing, people’s dignity, choice and rights will be protected.

▪

People who don’t have the capacity to understand what is happening will be provided with an
independent advocate arranged by us.

▪

The health and wellbeing of residents is paramount and risk assessments will be carried out to ensure
their needs – both social and health related are responded to urgently and with sensitivity.
The assessment of need, care planning and choice of alternative service will be focused on the
individual, their carer/family and developed in partnership with their named social worker.

▪

Residents will not be asked to move until we are sure we have alternative options available; these may
include housing with care schemes, other Council-run homes or residential homes in the private and
independent sector – depending on the person’s individual needs.

▪

Support will be given to residents and their carer/family in identifying and moving to an alternative home
that meets the person’s individually assessed need; a dedicated social worker will work with each
resident throughout the whole process.

▪

Residents of the Council’s residential care homes and their carer/family will have visits arranged to
alternative home(s) of their choice where they will have the chance to meet other residents and speak
with staff before any decision to move is made. This will be done in a Covid-safe way and in line with
any Covid restrictions. We will work with you to ensure that you are given as much control over your
choices depending on the circumstances at the time).

▪

Where the Council is currently contributing towards a resident’s care home fee there will be no financial
detriment to the resident or carer/family in choosing a new care home from the Council’s quality
framework list. Any proposed transfer to a care home not on the Council’s quality framework list will be
considered on an individual basis and may incur a top-up fee. The Council will not pay any supplement
relating to enhancements that a care home may offer (such as a larger room).

1

Page 531

Appendix 1
▪

Staff in the current home will work closely with any new provider to ensure that they get to know each
new resident, their likes, and dislikes. Ongoing support will be available for new residents and their new
care provider.

▪

The move of residents from their existing care home to another will be carried out by a dedicated team
of social workers and will include the multi-disciplinary team involved with you including community
nurse, GP.

▪

A resident or anyone acting on their behalf who is concerned about the transition process can speak to
their social worker or the team manager.

▪

When a resident has moved to their new care home their care plan will be reviewed by the social work
team after approximately three months or as needed. Once the resident has settled in, the care plan
will be reviewed on an annual basis. The resident’s social worker will be available for support and to
answer any queries throughout this period.

Reviewed May 2021

2

Page 532

Appendix 2: Profile of Services
Name of service: Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home
Total number of residents affected by the proposal = 18
Residents' Previous Home
Address by Ward
Adel and Wharfedale
Alwoodley
Ardsley and Robin Hood
Armley
Beeston and Holbeck
Bramley and Stanningley
Burmantofts and Richmond Hill
Calverley and Farsley
Chapel Allerton
City and Hunslet
Cross Gates And Whinmoor
Farnley and Wortley
Garforth and Swillington
Gipton and Harehills
Guiseley and Rawdon
Harewood
Headingley
Horsforth
Hyde Park and Woodhouse
Killingbeck and Seacroft
Kippax and Methley
Kirkstall
Middleton Park
Moortown
Morley North
Morley South
Otley and Yeadon
Pudsey
Rothwell
Roundhay
Temple Newsam
Weetwood
Wetherby
Outside Leeds Ward Area
Total

Number
of
people
0
1
0
0
1
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
3
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
7
0
2
0
0
0
18

Independent sector provision in Rothwell Ward
Care beds without nursing (residential only)
77
Care beds with nursing
35
Extra Care Housing units*
0
Independent sector provision within 5 miles of
Home Lea House
Care beds without nursing (residential only)
391
Care beds with nursing
591
Extra Care Housing units
93
`

*In January 2019 Leeds City Council appointed a delivery group made up of Ashley House
Ltd, Morgan Ashley LLP and Home Group to deliver four Extra Care schemes on Council
owned sites in Leeds including Windlesford Green in Rothwell which will deliver 64 units of
Extra Care housing.

1

Page 533

Care Homes within 5 miles of Home Lea House Care Home
There are 10 out of the 14 care homes within 5 miles of Home Lea House that are rated
‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’, totalling 501 beds. 7 of those 10 care homes are registered with
CQC for dementia provision.
Care Home Provision
within 5 miles of Home
Lea House

Ward

No of
Care
Beds

Actual CQC
Rating (as at
30/4/21)

Category of Care

62
35
40
88

Outstanding
Good
Good
Good

Residential and Nursing
Residential
Residential
Residential

Distance
(miles)
from
Home
Lea
House
4.0
1.0
3.0
2.5

Pennington Court
Dolphin Manor
Larchfield
Lofthouse Grange and
Lodge
Cedars
Mulgrave House
Middleton Park Lodge
Sunnyview House
Victoria House
Ashby Lodge
Nesfield Lodge

Hunslet and Riverside
Rothwell
Hunslet and Riverside
Ardsley and Robin
Hood
Kippax and Methley
Rothwell
Middleton Park
Beeston and Holbeck
Middleton Park
Outside Leeds
boundary
Middleton Park

44
35
50
84
41
22

Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good

Residential
Residential and Nursing
Residential and Nursing
Residential and Nursing
Residential
Residential

4.0
1.3
4.0
5.0
3.3
4.0

44

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Residential

3.0

Oulton Manor

Rothwell

77

Residential

2.2

Aspen Hill Care Village

Hunslet and Riverside

180

Residential and Nursing

3.2

West Ridings

Outside Leeds
boundary

180

Residential and Nursing

4.0

982

Number of care homes and number of beds rated ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ within a 5mile radius of next of kin address
NOK
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15

Homes Beds
9
417
22
955
11
597
12
511
9
417
9
417
11
503
11
491
3
134
9
420
2
98
11
424
33
1541
18
846
8
385

Current Home Lea House NOK live on average 3.7 miles from the home.
Please note there are only 15 next of kin. This is due to three residents either not having a
next of kin or having no contact.
2

Page 534

Name of service: Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home
Everyone who receives a service at Richmond House either returns to their own home, is
supported to bid for rehousing or moves to longer term care. Average length of stay is three
and a half weeks. The Adults & Health social work teams support and facilitate appropriate
moves for people with the assessed level of care package.
Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of people who require some type of
intervention to either support them to reach their optimum with therapeutic and recovery
focused support to return home or to undertake an assessment to support their longer term
needs. The CCG Community Care Beds contract is now established and provides a greater
recovery residential and nursing offer.
Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social worker will
approach care homes at the time required, and if there is capacity, will spot commission a
short break or extended short stay depending on need.

Independent sector provision in Calverley and Farsley
Ward
Care beds without nursing (residential only)
0
Care beds with nursing (nursing only)
63
Care beds – both residential and nursing
92
Extra Care Housing units
0
Independent sector provision within 5 miles of
Richmond House
Care beds without nursing (residential only)
Care beds with nursing
Extra Care Housing units

3

Page 535

921
734
51

Care Homes within 5 miles of Richmond House care home
There are 24 out of the 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond House that are rated
‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’, totalling 954 beds. 18 of those 24 care homes are registered with
CQC for dementia provision.
There are also 6 care homes yet to be inspected and 1 Inspection not complete, totalling 230
beds, all of which are registered with CQC for dementia provision. Beech Hall and Mill View,
both originally rated Outstanding, have now changed provider and are awaiting new
inspection. Claremont, originally rated Good, is now rated Requires Improvement.
Care Home
Provision within 5
miles of Richmond
House

Ward

Acacia Court
Aire View
Airedale
Amber Lodge
Charlton Court

Pudsey
Armley
Pudsey
Farnley and Wortley
Calverley and Farsley
Headingley and Hyde
Park
Armley
Kirkstall
Farnley and Wortley
Armley

Headingley
Hillcrest
Kirkstall Court
Manor House
Paisley Lodge
Red Court & The
Grove
Rievaulx House
Summerfield Court
Sunningdale
The Gables
The Spinney
Ashcroft
Beckfield
Bierley Court
Langdale
Oak Lodge
Park View
Sunningdale
Westfield Manor

Pudsey
Farnley and Wortley
Bramley and
Stanningley
Horsforth
Pudsey
Armley
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Calverley and Farsley

Claremont
Howgate House

Outside Leeds boundary

Knowles Court

Outside Leeds boundary

No of
Care
Beds
41
84
40
40
64

Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential and Nursing
Residential and Nursing

Good

103
50

Good
Good

17
35
23
30
42
35
40
19
32
23
41
25
63

Outside Leeds boundary
Armley
Pudsey
Horsforth
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Outside Leeds boundary
Calverley and Farsley

Good
Good
Good
Good
Good

Good
Good
Good
Good

146

Beech Hall
Hutton Manor
Olive Lodge
Mill Lodge
Mill View
Shakespeare Court
St Luke's

Category of Care

38
19
38
30
45

63

The Links

Actual CQC Rating
(as at 02/06/21)

85
64
40
40
42
50
80
28
1655

Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Good
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
To be inspected
To be inspected
To be inspected
To be inspected
To be inspected
To be inspected
Inspection not
complete

4

Page 536

Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Nursing
Residential and Nursing
Residential
Residential and Nursing
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential and Nursing
Nursing

Distance
(miles)
from
Richmond
House
1.5
4.7
1.5
4.8
1.0
4.9
4.3
5.0
4.2
4.6
2.2
4.8
1.9
4.4
1.9
4.1
3.0
4.1
4.1
4.0
4.6
4.9
4.9
4.8

Residential and Nursing

0.7
4.4

Residential and Nursing

4.1

Residential and Nursing

2.5

Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential and Nursing
Residential
Residential and Nursing
Residential and Nursing

4.7
2.0
4.2
2.4
4.1
3.0
2.7

Appendix 3.

Service Review Report: Care Delivery Transformation: Care
Homes
Consultation Findings Report on the Proposed Closure of Home Lea
House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell and Richmond
House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley.
June 2021
Contents:
Section one: Purpose of the report and background
Section two: Methodology and process
Section three: Overall summary of the consultation
Section four: Detailed findings relating to the proposal for each care home

1
Page 537

Section One – Purpose of the report and background
Purpose
The purpose of this report is to inform Executive Board of the outcome of a process
of consultation in relation to the proposed closure of two council run care homes:
Home Lea House long stay residential care home in Rothwell, and Richmond House
short stay residential care home in Farsley. It is also to give Executive Board
sufficient information to enable it to make an informed decision about the proposed
future options for these services.
This consultation report takes the opportunity to formally recognise and acknowledge
the great deal of time and effort that has been put into the responses by contributors
to the consultation.
All respondents offered very helpful and detailed comments which have provided a
valuable insight into their opinions and wishes and helped to refine
recommendations. The findings from the consultation, and the strength of feeling
expressed by respondents, have enabled officers to consider the proposals whilst
fully taking into account the key themes and issues regarding potential positive and
negative impacts on those directly affected, and those in the wider local community,
and mitigations against these.

Background
A report to the Council’s Executive Board in October 2020 highlighted a budget gap
in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing financial
impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required to set a balanced budget,
therefore a number of savings proposals have been put forward, including one for
the proposed closure of Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in
Rothwell, and the closure of Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in
Farsley, making savings annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget
gap identified.
This report follows the decision of the Executive Board in October 2020 to begin a
period of statutory consultation on these proposals.

2
Page 538

Section Two – Methodology and Process
Consultation approval process
The Better Lives strategy is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support
needs. A key aspect of this strategy over recent years has been a strategic review to
transform the Council’s in-house service for older people. The main drivers for these
specific proposals are:





The aspiration of older people to have a wider choice of appropriate
accommodation and support options with, as much as possible, support being
delivered in their own homes or in care environments like extra care housing.
The challenging financial context for local authorities which has been further
impacted by COVID-19, and the need for the most efficient and effective
model of services to make the Leeds pound go further
The need for significant capital investment in these two buildings.
The impact on occupancy levels of older people exercising choice on the two
care homes and therefore the unit cost of services

Previous reports to both Executive and Scrutiny Boards as part of the Better Lives
Programme have documented how the aspirations of people with care and support
needs have changed over time and that there is a strong and increasing desire to
remain living in one’s own home for as long as possible. As such a key aspect of the
Better Lives strategy has been a continuous review of the Council’s in-house
services for older people with the focus being on how they meet both current
expectations and crucially how they can contribute to maximising people’s
independence, recovery and rehabilitation in the future.
The reviews evidenced that demand for traditional forms of residential care for older
people have continued to reduce with a switch to greater demand for models of care
that provide housing-with-support such as extra care housing. This has meant that
between 2011 and 2016 several in-house care homes closed.
As detailed above, the Council is facing financial challenges unlike anything in the
past, and in addition, the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is
unprecedented. All parts of the Council have had to look carefully at the cost of all
our services and put forward options to support the reduction of the financial gap and
to help build financial resilience over the next five years. The challenging financial
context for local authorities has been further impacted by COVID-19, and we
recognise the need for the most efficient and effective model of services to make the
Leeds pound go further. It is therefore timely to review in-house service provision
and consider future options as part of the Council’s medium-term financial strategy.

3
Page 539

Home Lea House
Home Lea House is a 29 bedded long-stay residential home situated in Rothwell.
There are two in-house care homes in Rothwell and Home Lea House is the older of
the two homes which is why it has been put forward for closure. Occupancy at Home
Lea House is currently 18(62%). The current gross budget is £789k and the net
budget is £547k. In a full year it would be possible to save the gross budget of £789k
as the client income will follow the client. Closing this facility from 1st February 2022
would save £789k by the end of 2022/23. The one-off costs of alternative
independent provision (for those taking up on the care guarantee) would need to be
offset against these savings.
The proposal to Executive Board in October 2020 was to commence consultation on
the proposal to decommission the service, based on national data which supports
the view that people are being supported to live independently and safely in their
own homes and communities for longer. The need for residential homes is
decreasing within Leeds and where this resource is required to meet people’s needs,
there is a well-developed independent sector care home market. The number of
residential care homes rated by the Care Quality Commission as good or
outstanding is now 83%.
Richmond House
Richmond House is a 20 bedded residential service situated in Farsley. The current
service offer is short term care and support to people who require a period of
convalescence following a hospital admission. The service also offers support to
people from the community to prevent hospital admission. Average occupancy since
2018/19 is 55%. The current gross and net budget is £742k. There is no associated
income from short term residents. The part year saving from closure on 1st
November 2021 would amount to £309k, with the full saving of £742k in 2022/23.
The one-off costs of any potential alternative independent provision would need to
be offset against these savings.
The proposal to Executive Board in October 2020 was to commence consultation on
the proposal to decommission the service based on occupancy and the need for this
type of service across the city. Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of
people who require some type of intervention to either support them to reach their
optimum with therapeutic and recovery focused support to return home or to
undertake an assessment to support their longer term needs. The Leeds CCG
Community Care Beds contract is now established and provides an enhanced
recovery residential and nursing offer. While Richmond House offers short term
support, it does not provide any additional therapeutic input that is often required
when people are discharged from hospital. As such Richmond House is continually
under occupied and the current type of provision can easily be assimilated in wider
system provision.
Everyone who receives a service at Richmond House either returns to their own
home, is supported to bid for rehousing or moves to longer term care. Average
length of stay is three and a half weeks. The Adults & Health social work teams
4
Page 540

support and facilitate appropriate moves for people with the assessed level of care
package.
Previous consultation: Home Lea House
Home Lea House was subject to consultation during Phase 2 of Residential and Day
Services project, specifically about the potential development in partnership with a
community group / Third sector organisation and Executive Board approved these
proposals in September 2013. The November 2014 Executive Board Report gave an
update on the position relating to all four homes under review during that phase.
Regarding the proposals for Home Lea House, the report recommended a progress
report setting out a clear and conclusive business case for a local social enterprise to
be submitted and considered by Executive Board in summer 2015. If that was not
possible, an alternative proposal was to be brought back to the Executive Board
within that same timescale. There has been no feasible business case relating to
establishing a social enterprise and no alternative proposal has been submitted to
date.
While legal advice suggests there is not a formal obligation to re-consult on the
proposals for each of the homes, it is felt that a further consultation period should be
carried out with residents, their families and carers, staff and other key stakeholders
as significant time has passed since the previous Executive Board decision on the
future of the four homes considered in Phase 2 of the Residential and Day Services
project.
Following the Executive Board meeting on the 21st October 2020 and the
subsequent five day period in which councillors can review the decision or seek
further clarification, the Council approved the recommendations for a period of
consultation to take place, from 9am on Monday 4th January 2021 to 5pm on Friday
26th March 2021.

Consultation – Methodology and Process
The aim of the detailed consultation on the proposals was to consult with those
directly affected and as a priority the residents, their families, and carers and
with affected staff and Trade Unions.
Detailed consultation also took place within the locality, including Elected Members,
and was open to the public.
The purpose was to hear people’s views about the possible closure of the two
care homes, what the impact of the change might be, and how we might reduce
that impact as we make our plans.
Establishing clear lines of communication
Letters were sent to all those directly affected on 13th October 2020 advising them of
the recommendations in the forthcoming Executive Board report, along with a fact
5
Page 541

sheet providing background information to the proposed changes, details of the
proposals, the consultation process and where to seek further help and information.
A brief was also sent to all MPs and Elected Members in the affected ward areas.
Letters were then sent to all those directly affected on 3rd November 2020 advising
them of the Executive Board’s decision to commence consultation on the future of
Home Lea House long stay residential care home and Richmond House short stay
residential care home. A brief was also sent to all MPs and Elected Members in the
affected ward areas.
A telephone helpline, and email address, staffed by experienced officers in the
Programme Team was made available to provide residents, their family, and carers
with the appropriate level of information from the beginning of the process.
On 4th January 2021, letters were sent to all those directly affected to provide further
information about the consultation, including how people could participate to share
their views on the proposals, and what would happen after the consultation finishes.
Throughout this period managers from Adult Social Care held regular meetings with
staff members and with Trade Unions to explain plans in more detail, and to respond
to any questions.
Consultation Methods
A variety of methods of communication were made available for all people to use
during the consultation period. These included in writing, by email, completing an
online survey, by phone, or by observing (via live stream YouTube video) or
contributing (via written submission in advance of the virtual meeting) to a
community committee meeting.
Two community committee meetings were held.



Outer West Community Committee meeting (Richmond House focus) on
Monday 18th January 2021 at 1 pm.
Outer South Community Committee meeting (Home Lea House focus) on
Monday 15th March 2021 at 4pm.

Links to the surveys were made available via the council website leeds.gov.uk
and on council social media posts. Links were also provided in the letters and
briefs that were issued as described above.
For people directly affected including residents, their family / carers, managers
also offered one-to-one meetings to explain the proposal, answer any questions
and gather views using the survey questions for consistency. Due to the Covid19 pandemic the use of remote voice / video technology could be used, where
appropriate and in line with safe working practices.

6
Page 542

A relative or friend could be present at the meeting to provide support and for
people who are not able to express their views for themselves, or have no
relatives or friends to be present, an independent advocate was present to
ensure the individual could be appropriately consulted and their views recorded.
For affected staff, drop-in sessions (where safe to do so, remote voice / video
technology could be considered) took place each month during the consultation
period. In addition to the consultation survey (approved by the Trade Unions)
separate briefings on employee matters also took place, with Trade Union meetings
to ensure employee matters were given high priority.
Detailed Survey
As described above, a detailed survey was made available and could be completed
via different methods. The purpose of using a survey was to ensure consistency
throughout this process.
However, submissions to the consultation could take any form and did not have to be
via this method; letters, phone calls, emails and online petitions were also received
and have been considered as part of the consultation process.
There were two versions of the survey, one for the public and one for those people
directly affected with additional questions specific to their circumstances. These are
detailed in the findings below.
The survey uses a mix of a quantitative and qualitative approach and has ratings
style questions along with open comment boxes to capture concerns, impact,
comments and other ideas or options.
Methodology for data collection and analysis.
Approach to the evaluation
The evaluation draws upon the following data sources:
Quantitative data – All quantitative data have been collated and analysed in spread
sheets from which charts and tables have been produced and are included in this
report in section 4.
Qualitative data – To capture the views, thoughts and feelings of respondents, a
qualitative methodology has been chosen. This data has been gathered from the
open ‘comment’ boxes and from consultation submissions that did not choose to use
the survey format. Comments have been analysed for recurring themes and general
trends and categorised under the following headings, used in section 3 of this report:





People
Quality
Financial
Locality
7
Page 543




Strategic
Methodology

Further detailed comments are summarised and documented in section 4.
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion, and Integration (EDCI)
The proposals are the subject of an EDCI Assessment which has been completed as
a parallel process to the consultation. The proposals are also subject to an
Organisational Change EDCI Assessment which specifically focuses on the impact
of organisational change on the workforce, also completed as a parallel process to
the consultation.
The EDCI Assessments are submitted with this consultation report to be considered
through the Council’s decision-making process. It is proposed that should agreement
be given to progress with the proposed options, that an implementation plan is
developed in line with the Assessment and Closure Protocol which is appended to
the Executive Board report. This would show how any closures would be managed
over the agreed timescales and how residents, relatives, carers, and staff will be
supported to safeguard human rights and equal rights, minimise distress and
maximise benefits to individuals.

8
Page 544

Section Three – overall summary
This section of the report provides summary detail of the consultation submissions.
Further and more detailed information from the feedback and responses from
consultation undertaken is contained in section 4.

Summary of consultation submissions and engagement activity by
stakeholder group
Overall, 141 submissions were received. This included 103 survey responses, 3
emails, 5 letters (all of which were sent as emails with letter attached), 3 phone calls,
3 petitions and 24 meetings.
Table 1: Consultation Submissions / Engagements
Method of Consultation Submission / Engagement

Care Home
Home Lea House (HRH)
Richmond House (RH)
Stakeholder Group
Resident
Respite Resident
Relative
Representative
Staff Member
Trade Union
General Public
Voluntary, Community
& Faith Group
NHS Leeds
Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group
(CCG)
Elected Member
MP
Full Council
Scrutiny Board
Cabinet
Community Committee
Totals by Method of
Engagement

RH

HLH

Surveys
12
14
2
0
3
9
0
4
3
15

RH

HLH

RH

Emails

HLH

Letters

RH

HLH

Phone Calls

RH

Petitions

22

RH

HLH

Meetings

1
2
2

19

HLH

2

1

1

1

1

1

2
15

1

2

1

1

1
1
1
1
1

103

3

5

3

Please note:
‐ Where a field is blank no method of submission / engagement was received or requested.

9
Page 545

3

1
24

‐
‐

Unless specified below or shown by a merged field, each submission / engagement was specific to the particular
home.
The email from the public listed against HLH related to both care homes.

Consultation with Residents, Family / Carers, Representatives
All the residents at Home Lea House during the consultation period completed a
survey response, supported by family or representative where appropriate. 9
relatives and 4 representatives also submitted a survey response. 1 relative also
phoned the consultation line.
12 surveys were received for residents at Richmond House during the consultation
period, out of 17 people who stayed at Richmond House during that time. Richmond
house provides short stay provision, with average length of stay approx. 3 and a half
weeks. During the consultation period all residents during that time were informed of
the consultation taking place and how they could participate. 3 relatives also
submitted a survey response.
2 respite residents at Richmond House completed the survey out of the 6 people
who currently use Richmond House for respite provision. All six were contacted by
the Head of Service and informed of the consultation taking place and how they
could participate.
Consultation with Staff
15 staff members completed the survey who work at Home Lea House. Roles
include: Registered Manager, Deputy Manager, Senior Support Workers, and
Support workers. There are also staff from Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL) who work at
Home Lea House: Kitchen Assistants, Cleaning Supervisors and Cleaning
Operatives.
3 staff members completed the survey who work at Richmond House. Roles include:
Registered Manager, Deputy Manager, Senior Support workers and Support
Workers. There are also staff from CEL who work at Richmond House: Catering
Team Leader, Kitchen Assistants and Cleaning Operatives.
Meetings were held with all affected staff to advise them of the recommendation to
start the period of consultation on the proposed closures, and to advise them of the
decision. Regular staff meetings along with Trade Union meetings have taken place
throughout this process and will continue to do so.
Staff raised issues related to the following key themes:
 Do not want the home to close
 Staff feel they deliver a good high-quality service
 Staff feel that the decision will be made to close the services
 Concern about the health and wellbeing of residents
 Concern about their own future work opportunities (employment, pensions,
personal finances)
10
Page 546






Perceived lack of alternative services in the area
Felt that money should be saved elsewhere
Perceived lower quality of care in the private sector care homes in
comparison to the Council provided care.
Don’t want to break up their staff team.

Staff have been involved throughout the consultation process and will continue to be
supported throughout the implementation of any proposals agreed by Executive
Board.
Consultation with Trade Unions
As above, regular meeting with Trade Unions have taken place throughout the
process to date and will continue to do so.
Trade Union GMB submitted a letter on behalf of their members and a petition, with
390 signatures.
Leeds Unison Retired Members Group submitted a letter on behalf of their members.
Consultation with General Public
19 surveys were submitted by members of the public in relation to Richmond House,
22 surveys in relation to Home Lea House.
2 members of the public called the consultation phone line, one had read an article
about the proposals in the Rothwell Record and wished to add her support to the
petition against the proposed closure of the home. The other was a care home
provider interested in potential purchase of Richmond House.
3 emails were received from the public.
‐ One on behalf of Liberal Democrats in Calverley and Farsley opposing the
proposals in relation to Richmond House.
‐ One from a retired senior mental health social worker suggesting that
Richmond House could become a specialist assessment centre for people
over 65 years with mental health issues.
‐ One from a care home provider interested in the purchase of either site.
A petition was created on change.org called “prevent the closure of Home Lea
House, Rothwell”. It has 1248 signatures and 139 comments. Full details are in
Section 4.
Although not formally submitted to the consultation, a petition was also created on
change.org called “proposed closure of Richmond House in Farsley”. It has 1178
signatures and 90 comments. Whilst this petition was not formally submitted to the
consultation, it has been considered as part of this consultation findings report and
full details are in Section 4.
11
Page 547

There were two community committee meetings held during the consultation, Outer
West Community Committee meeting (Richmond House focus) on Monday 18th
January 2021 at 1 pm, and Outer South Community Committee meeting (Home Lea
House focus) on Monday 15th March 2021 at 4pm. Whilst these had to be held
virtually due to national lockdown during the pandemic, they were live streamed on
YouTube.
The Outer West Community Committee held on 18 January 2021 has had 180 and
43 views as per the links below. This meeting has two separate links.
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cIThxpa_xtw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q57_c0fcY-Q
The Outer South Community Committee held on 15 March 2021 has had 79 views
as per the link below.
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iP04h_9gWlk
Members of the public could make submissions in advance to be discussed during
the meetings. There were 2 submissions made to the Community Committee
Meeting on 18th January 2021: one on behalf of campaign group Leeds Hospital
Alert, and one on behalf of Trade Union UNISON. No submissions were made to the
Community Committee Meeting on 15th March 2021.
Consultation with Voluntary, Community and Faith Groups
In addition to the submission to the community committee meeting from Leeds
Hospital Alert referenced above, two letters were received via email opposing the
proposals: one on behalf of Rothwell Neighbourhood Forum and one on behalf of
Carlton Village Neighbourhood Forum, both relating to Home Lea House.
Consultation with NHS Leeds and NHS Leeds CCG
No formal engagement / consultation submissions received.
Consultation with Elected Members and MPs
As described above Elected Members in the affected ward areas received briefing
notes ahead of October Executive Board advising of the proposals, after Executive
Board to notify them of the decision to consult and next steps, and in January to
provide full details of the consultation and how people could participate.
Two emails were received from Elected Members as follows.
‐ Queries raised about Richmond House ahead of the October Executive Board
meeting from Councillor Andrew Carter, Councillor Amanda Carter, and
Councillor Caroline Anderson.
‐ Queries raised about Home Lea House ahead of October Executive Board
meeting from Councillor Stewart Golton.
12
Page 548

A meeting was held with Councillor Neil Dawson to discuss queries raised in relation
to Richmond House, including how many local residents use Richmond House, how
many people access Richmond House for respite, and how people attending have a
dementia diagnosis.
Elected Members also participated in various Council Forums that discussed the
proposals as outlined below:
Consultation at Council Forums including Full Council, Scrutiny Board,
Cabinet and Community Committee
The proposals were discussed at the Council’s Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles
Scrutiny Board meeting on 20th October, at Executive Board on 23rd October at
which the recommendation to start consultation was approved, and at the two
Community Committee meetings described above.
In addition, a special meeting of Cabinet was held on 25th January 2021 to discuss
Richmond House and potential future use of the building should a decision be made
to decommission the service.

Themes arising from all consultation and engagement activity
The responses to the consultation via the methods and stakeholder groups
described above were detailed and diverse.
The range of engagement methods allowed people to express their views on the
proposals and as such responses were gathered, as well as specific questions about
the proposals.
Key themes have emerged and key issues and messages relating to each theme are
captured in the following sections below. A response from Adult Social Care is also
included.
Unless specified as specific to Richmond House or Home Lea House the narrative
below relates to both care homes.
Overall findings relating to the proposals
Overall, the vast majority of respondents to the consultations are strongly against the
proposed closures of both care homes. A few people stated they understood or
agreed with the proposals, also highlighting the importance of supporting the move
of residents to alternative suitable, high quality, local provision and of ensuring staff
could be redeployed into other roles and not lose their jobs.
Residential care is described by many as ‘their home’ and the staff are ‘their family’.
There is clearly a feeling of anger, sadness, and distress by the proposals to
decommission the homes. Many people have said the proposals are unfair and that
13
Page 549

the council does not have the interests of older people at heart, that the financial
savings should be found elsewhere, and the homes should be retained as well
respected high quality care provision in their local communities.
 The satisfaction with the current service appeared to be high. It was stated
that the council provides a high-quality service and that the homes should not
close.
 It was felt that the private sector could not match the quality of service
provided by the council and that the council had a duty to provide services for
elderly people and people with dementia.
 The staff were viewed as being highly trained, skilled, caring, and
professional.
 Respite was crucial to help carers continue in their caring role and keep
people living at home rather than in permanent care.
Residents and their families / carers at Home Lea House were asked additional
questions about what would be important to them in any future residential care home
setting. Details of these responses are in Section 4.
A place that could meet their needs, well trained and friendly staff, quality of care,
not losing staff/carers, having choice over the type of accommodation lived in, and
who provides and runs the home, were all considered very important by most
respondents. This was closely followed by not changing routine, not having to pay
more, moving with friends, a good-sized room with en-suite, close to where they live
and near to family and friends.
Most of the respondents stated all the different factors listed were either very
important or quite important.
People’s health and wellbeing
Key issues and messages


Residents are happy and feel the quality of care they receive is high.



Residents mostly don’t want to move, leave their home and their friends. One resident
said they hoped to move to their own house if wheelchair friendly and with some help
with their care.



Residents and their family / carers raised concerns about how long it could take to settle
in at another long stay residential care home,



Residents and their family / carers raised concerns about the impact of moving residents
on their mental and physical wellbeing, the distress it could cause, that it could lead to
early deaths or that it could progress an individual’s dementia.



Residents and their family / carers would miss the staff and were worried about whether
the quality of care would be as good somewhere else.
14
Page 550



Residents and their family / carers said this would create additional stress on top of the
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.



There was a view that this decision was taking away resident’s choice; that they had
chosen Home Lea House as their home.



Significant impact on unpaid carers by closing respite services.

 Some staff have applied for the Council Early Leavers Initiative as they do not want to be
deployed elsewhere, travel further, or start a whole new role elsewhere.
 Worry about alternative work even when given assurances that alternative work will be
sought.
 Upheaval placed upon front-line workers who have been at the forefront of a pandemic
whilst worrying about contracting the virus and taking it home to their loved ones.
 Some staff feel they have been given up on or that the decision is a “done deal”.
Our response
Full Equality, diversity, cohesion, and integration (EDCI) impact assessments have
been carried out as part of the consultation process. One focuses on the potential
impacts to people using the service and their families/carers and one will be specific
to organisational change impacting on the workforce for the staff affected. These
impact assessments are included along with the report to June’s Executive Board.
If a decision is made to close Home Lea House or Richmond House, the transfer of
residents will be carefully planned and carried out professionally, sensitively, and
safely. This will be done within a timescale which will minimise the disruption and
discomfort for those affected.
As per the Care Guarantee which was an established process that has been used in
previous transfers of care a team of qualified social workers will carry out the
assessment and transition of people, and they will follow the assessment and
transfer protocol, which ensures they are fully conversant with the needs of
residents, including people with dementia. General Practitioners from the local
practices will provide advice and support to the assessment and transfer team and
will ensure a person only moves when deemed fit by GP/consultant. The Team
would be experienced, knowledgeable and sensitive in carrying out the assessment
and transfer of residents in line with the resident’s needs.
Family members would be involved in the transfer process including the choice of an
alternative care home. Where a resident cannot make an informed choice or has no
family an independent advocate would be made available. No resident would
transfer if, in the opinion of their doctor or specialist, they were considered too ill to

15
Page 551

be moved. Service users will also be supplied with the Care Guarantee clearly
stating the service user’s and carer’s rights.
The continued wellbeing of people who had moved into new services would be
monitored by reviews after three, six- and 12-months following transfer.
Should the proposals be agreed, current staff will support residents in the
assessment and transfer process. Any move to a new service will be supported by
the assessment and transfer team, who will continue this support before, during and
after the move to ensure the resident settles into their new service and becomes
familiar with their new surroundings and the staff team.
The transfer process would follow government guidelines to ensure any move is
Covid safe. This would include timely testing of residents and ensuring a negative
result prior to any move. In addition, the Council will ensure that the receiving home
has all infection prevention control measures in place and are adhering to the
relevant guidance including testing of staff and residents and the correct use of
personal protective equipment.
The social work teams who currently support people to access respite at Richmond
House would be informed of the decision and would undertake a review of anyone
who has been affected so that planned respite can be continued in a new location
suitable to meet the individual’s needs.
Both Dolphin Manor in Rothwell, Knowle Manor in Morley, and Spring Gardens in
Otley, all of which are Local Authority homes, have availability within their respite
provision. This is in addition to the available capacity in the independent sector
homes.
Staff at Home Lea House and Richmond House
The commitment and quality of care provided by staff at both homes is recognised
and acknowledged. It is also fully acknowledged that hearing that your workplace is
being consulted on for closure can create uncertainty and worry.
It is important that staff are made aware of any recommendations affecting the future
of their workplace directly and at the earliest opportunity. Keeping staff informed and
involved is expected as a good employer. It is also integral in helping to provide a
greater sense of security on the part of customers.
Staff have used their experience and expertise in helping to coordinate the
consultation process by assisting service users and their relatives to understand,
consider and take-in the information. Managers have arranged one to one sessions
with the residents and their relatives, and with staff, using the consultation survey to
identify any impact the proposed future changes may have on individuals. This is
much appreciated. It will help us to manage and reduce these impacts where
possible.
The programme will work closely with Trade Unions to ensure employee matters are
given high priority and regular meetings with trade unions have and will continue to
16
Page 552

take place. Nothing will happen suddenly or unexpectedly, either for staff or for
residents and we will continue to work with Trade Unions to support affected staff
through this process.
Moving care home residents cause of early deaths
The Assessment and Transfer protocol was informed by the paper “The Impact of
Relocation on care home residents: a review of evidence for Leeds City Council”
produced by Public Health, which summarises as follows: “Mortality - The overall
message from this body of work is of no significant difference in mortality rate
between relocates and comparison groups, with a lower mortality rate reported in
some cases. Morbidity - Most studies found (perhaps surprisingly) a higher level of
general health or no clear change following relocation. This was true for both interinstitutional and intra-institutional movement of residents.”
Consultation Outcomes and Recommendations
In previous years, consultation on proposals to close council-run care home
provision has changed the original proposal and has seen services retained or
developed under a different operating model. Consultation is a vital part of the
process of shaping the future of services and allows the council to understand the
issues people would like to raise.
Quality
Key issues and messages
 The homes are considered to deliver high quality care and are well respected in the
community.
 The high quality of care provided by staff was highlighted, and concern at the loss of a
good staff team.
 Concern as to the quality of alternative provision, with experiences referenced of other
places that were not as good or didn’t feel as safe.
Our response
Quality of Care
The high quality of care and support provided at Home Lea House and Richmond
House is recognised and acknowledged. It is the staff group that has helped the
homes gain their good ratings and we hope to retain the staff and redeploy them into
other council services, so their good practice is retained.
Quality of alternative long stay residential care provision
The need for residential homes is decreasing within Leeds and where this resource
is required to meet people’s needs, there is a well-developed independent sector
17
Page 553

care home market. Following concerted work by the Council’s Care Quality and
Commissioning Teams from 2017 the number of residential care homes rated good
or outstanding is now 83%.
There are 14 care homes within five miles of Home Lea House, including a Councilrun home, that are CQC registered as Outstanding (1), Good (9), and Requires
Improvement (4). Of the 10 homes that are rated as Good or Outstanding, six offer
residential care, four offer both residential and nursing care. Eight of the homes are
listed by the CQC as offering specialist Dementia provision.
If a recommendation for closing Home Lea House was made and approved, no-one
will have their care taken away or their level of support reduced.
Quality of alternative short stay residential care home provision
The current service offer at Richmond House is short term care and support to
people who require a period of convalescence following a hospital admission. The
service also offers support to people from the community to prevent hospital
admission.
Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of people who require some type of
intervention to either support them to reach their optimum with therapeutic and
recovery focused support to return home or to undertake an assessment to support
their longer term needs. The CCG Community Care Beds contract is now
established and provides an enhanced recovery residential and nursing offer. While
Richmond House offers short term support, it is not commissioned to nor does it
provide any additional therapeutic input that is often required when people are
discharged from hospital. As such Richmond House is continually under occupied
and the current type of provision can easily be assimilated in good quality wider
system provision.
There are 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond House, 24 have a CQC rating
of Good and two have a rating of Outstanding.
Quality of the care home market
As detailed in the Leeds Integrated Market Position Statement 2019-22 the Adults
and Health Care Quality Team delivers proactive, targeted support around providing
care to regulated care providers in the city. The purpose of the team is to improve
quality of care for those citizens of Leeds receiving care in the city as measured
against success criteria, such as the percentage of CQC Good rated care homes,
improved feedback from residents and families etc. Initially working with Care Home
sector the team gives care home providers in Leeds access to a responsive support
and specialist advice and guidance network committed to improving quality of life for
older people receiving care through regulated services in the city and thence
improved CQC ratings and feedback.
In addition, the Leeds CCG Quality team is an established team within Leeds CCG
that supports the maintenance and improvement of quality in care homes with
18
Page 554

nursing beds, using targeted support (in collaboration with LCC or independently
through contract processes).
Quality improvements are also further supported through Commissioning for Quality
and improvement (CQUINs) built into contracts and monitored as part of that
process, which helps to further incentivise defined improvements.
Quality of the building at alternative council run care home Dolphin Manor
Dolphin Manor is a single-story building with small kitchenettes and lounges leading
from each corridor giving a homely feel. People can live and dine in smaller groups
as opposed having meals in a large dining area with 29 other people. By
comparison, Home Lea House is a two-storey building with three large communal
living spaces and a large dining room away from the bedrooms. It is more difficult for
people to live in small friendship groups because of the layout of the building.
There are en-suite facilities (a toilet and sink) to most bedrooms at Home Lea House
(Dolphin Manor does not have en-suite facilities), however, they are small and not
fully accessible (not large enough to accommodate a wheelchair). The environment
at Dolphin Manor lends itself to supporting people with dementia and additionally has
an exit from the living area on the garden space. It is the larger of the two homes and
is more suitable for dementia provision, which is why it attracted investment from
Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for a “proof of concept” short term
dementia care pilot. Home Lea House by contrast is not suitable for dementia
provision.
Home Lea House (built 1964) is a substantially older building than Dolphin Manor
(built 1987) with a shorter remaining asset life which will require significant capital
investment in the near future in order to bring the building and facilities up to an
acceptable standard that complies with current legislation. Dolphin Manor is currently
performing as intended and requires only minor improvements. The property
condition report for Home Lea House and projected component life expectancy and
renewal costs indicate more substantial investment would be required which may be
uneconomical given the remaining asset life.
Finance
Key issues and messages
 Other homes may cost more and impact on families / carers financially.
 The cost of respite services is increasingly expensive.
 In the wider financial context, the money to be saved was a “drop in the ocean”.
 If the Council must make savings and it has to be done, then so be it.
 Economic sense but that needs to be balanced with people’s needs and closing services
for vulnerable people is not a good choice by the Council.
19
Page 555

 Concern that money had been recently invested into the building at Richmond House
which would be wasted.
 The impact on staff’s jobs, and concern about finding alternative employment.
 Successful recovery for older people coming out of hospital is extremely cost-effective
for both the NHS and Social Care so why close.
Our Response
Cost of alternative provision
The Council is committed to ensure that no individual is disadvantaged because of
the recommendations contained in this report. The Care Guarantee would be used to
give assurance that where the Council is currently contributing towards a resident’s
care home fee there will be no financial detriment to the resident or carer/family in
choosing a new care home from the Council’s quality framework list. Any proposed
transfer to a care home not on the Council’s quality framework list will be considered
on an individual basis and may incur a top-up fee. The Council will not pay any noncare supplement relating to enhancements that a care home may offer (such as a
larger room).
Respite beds are means tested so there is no cost difference between LCC and
independent placements. Only respite stays that are commissioned and used are
funded unlike Richmond House.
Closure proposals
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in October 2020,
the key driver for the proposal to close Home Lea House long stay residential care
home and Richmond House short stay residential care home is due to the Council
facing financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.
The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget gap in 2021/22 of
£118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing financial impact of Covid19. The council is legally required to set a balanced budget therefore, a number of
savings proposals have been put forward, including one for the proposed closure of
Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and the closure of
Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley, making savings
annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget gap identified.
Building Maintenance Work
Since 2018, there has been in the region of £200k capital and revenue spend on
each of the care homes in question, in order to carry out essential maintenance
works to ensure the building remains “wind and watertight” and suitable for the
people residing there. This has included some larger works such as a new lift and
20
Page 556

replacement windows at Richmond House and lift refurbishment, new Stannah Lift
and roofing works at Home Lea House.
Both buildings are over 50 years old and fall within the Grade B category which
indicates stock condition is satisfactory and performing as intended but exhibiting
some deterioration. Further long-term capital investment in the region of £300k to
£500k will be required to bring each building and facilities up to a good standard to
comply with current legislation and support continued use. Additionally, the cost for
full refurbishment is estimated to be £1.7m which far outweighs the expenditure in
recent years.
Impact on staff jobs
As outlined above, the high quality of care and support provided at Home Lea House
and Richmond House is recognised and acknowledged. It is the staff group that has
helped the homes gain their good ratings and we hope to retain the staff and
redeploy them into other council services, so their good practice is retained.
There is currently a total of 47 Adult Social Care (ASC) and 11 Civic Enterprise
Leeds (CEL) staff employed affected by the proposals at time of writing. Ongoing
engagement is taking place with staff and HR regarding potential opportunities for all
staff, if they are affected by any of the proposals. There are staffing vacancies within
the Care Delivery Service and more recent recruitments into vacant posts have been
on a temporary basis minimise the likelihood of staff being put at risk. The
Directorate will also work with all affected staff to identify development and training
opportunities which could assist staff to move into new or alternative roles within the
Authority.
Continued formal consultation will take place under Employment Legislation with
Trade Unions and staff and support would be provided for staff throughout the
decommissioning process including identifying any opportunities for employment
within the Council. It is hoped that this work will significantly minimise the risks to
staff in terms of compulsory redundancy.
The programme will work closely with Trade Unions to ensure employee matters are
given high priority and regular meetings with trade unions have and will continue to
take place. Nothing will happen suddenly or unexpectedly, either for staff or for
residents and we will continue to work with Trade Unions to support affected staff
through this process.
Cost effectiveness of recovery services
As outlined above, Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of people who
require some type of intervention to either support them to reach their optimum with
therapeutic and recovery focused support to return home or to undertake an
assessment to support their longer term needs. The CCG Community Care Beds
contract is now established and provides a greater recovery residential and nursing
offer.

21
Page 557

Locality
Key issues and messages
 Concern about where residents and staff will go instead and the importance of finding
alternative suitable, quality, local provision.
 Concern that residents at Home Lea House won’t be able to go to Dolphin Manor if they
wish.
 The importance of resident’s families and friends being able to visit easily and that this
may be more difficult if must travel somewhere else that is further away, not a walkable
distance, or not on a bus route.
 There is demand for this type of service in the local community.
 There is an ongoing need for respite outside of hospital to free up beds, especially in a
pandemic.
 Concern that Richmond House is not being used effectively which is why the numbers of
people attending are low.
 Reason for low occupancy at Richmond House due to the residents changing from older
people to higher-dependency younger people.
 Limited accommodation opportunity for people to stay in their own homes in the area.
 Alternative care home/respite/recovery provision in independent sector is unstable and
homes may not survive the pandemic.
 Concern about the buildings sitting empty if the services are closed.
Our Response
As detailed in the Better Lives Strategy we know from our discussions that many
older people want a wider choice of accommodation and support options with, as
much as possible, support being delivered in their own homes or in care
environments like extra care housing.
It is equally important that we make sure our services can still meet the city’s
changing requirements for care, with more people living independently for longer
and a rising number of people needing specialist care, such as those who
develop dementia.
Adult Social Care is therefore continuing to invest in the development of extra
care accommodation and, as outlined above, to work with NHS partners to
model service developments to support people with dementia and complex
needs.
22
Page 558

Capacity of alternative provision for Home Lea House residents
The 10 care homes rated as Outstanding or Good within five miles of Home Lea
House total 501 beds. Occupancy at care homes can vary from week to week. As of
10th May 2021, occupancy rates at those homes ranged from 42% to 95% with an
average occupancy of 78%. The council has two residential care homes situated in
Rothwell, Dolphin Manor has 35 beds and on average achieved 67% occupancy
during 2020-21. Current occupancy at Dolphin Manor is 60%.
The Rothwell ward area has an oversupply of residential care provision by 119 beds.
The Council’s Extra Care Supply & Demand Model calculates anticipated future
demand for residential, nursing, and extra care provision in the city, considering
proposed population changes to 2028 at a ward level, and suggests there is
sufficient capacity of alternative good quality provision.
Delivering new housing-with-care provision in line with the current and future
demand is one of the key drivers of the Better Lives Strategy (which is the Council’s
strategy for people with care and support needs) and Adults & Health continue to
work alongside the Housing Growth Team to identify suitable sites for extra care
housing.
In January 2019 Leeds City Council appointed a delivery group made up of Ashley
House Ltd, Morgan Ashley LLP and Home Group to deliver four Extra Care schemes
on Council owned sites in Leeds including Windlesford Green in Rothwell, which will
deliver 64 units of Extra Care housing.
Capacity of alternative provision for Richmond House residents
Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite provision. It has not
provided rehabilitation services since 2017 when the service was de-commissioned
by Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The CCG commission citywide
Community Care Beds for rehabilitation. Adults & Health previously reviewed
whether Richmond House could offer CCB provision, however the size of the home
made the unit cost per head prohibitive. The CCG has a duty to seek best value in its
commissioning decisions.
The CCG commission community care beds providing short term care and support,
in addition to the at home services and are satisfied that sufficient community care
bed provision is available across the city. The closest commissioned Community
Care Bed service is Green Lane Intermediate Care Centre in Armley, with 49 beds,
which is 5.5 miles away.
Over the last three years monthly occupancy rates in community care beds across
the city ranged from 47% % to 100%, with average monthly occupancy over that
time ranging between 72% and 82%.

23
Page 559

Care Home/Respite Alternative provision
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond House (21
people over the last 3 years), to arrange a short break or an extended short day
depending on the need of the individual and their family / carer.
Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social worker will
approach care homes at the time required, and if there is capacity, will spot
commission a short break or extended short stay depending on need.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds Boundary within 5
miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good, one as outstanding and 4 are
awaiting an inspection outcome. 14 are CQC dementia registered. 15 are residential,
2 are nursing and 4 offer both.
There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles of Richmond
House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as good, one as outstanding, 3
require improvement and 2 are awaiting inspection. 11 are CQC dementia
registered. 7 are residential and 7 offer both residential and nursing care.
Occupancy Rates at Richmond House
Over the last 3 years 196 individuals were admitted to Richmond House, on average
65 people per year, staying an average of 30 days. The current market for older
people’s residential care has capacity to absorb this demand.
11 of the individuals were from the Farsley area (with postcode LS28 5). For the
wider LS28 postcode area over the same time 37 individuals attended (including the
11 above). Average occupancy since 2018/19 is 55%.
Staff were fully informed that the service was being reconfigured following the
withdrawal of funding from the CCG and have been supported, developed, and
offered training in relation to the needs of people with mental health needs and other
dependencies. The staffing levels at the service are based on customer need and
where new admissions have been facilitated staffing levels have been reviewed.
Stability of the care home market
The 14 care homes within 5 miles of Home Lea House are owned by 11 different
providers. The 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond House are owned by 30
different providers. These range from individual owners, small to medium enterprises
through to large national providers. Adults and Health work closely with Leeds Care
Association and care home providers to understand any pressures affecting the
market and have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to understand impact
of Covid on cost pressures for care homes.

24
Page 560

Option to move to Dolphin Manor
As the closest alternative in-house provision, Dolphin Manor has 35 beds and on
average achieved 67% occupancy during 2020-21. Home Lea House has 29 beds
and at time of writing has 18 residents.
The service has received two enquires to date from relatives of residents at Home
Lea House about availability at Dolphin Manor. Those relatives are happy to wait
until the Executive Board decision in June, and should the decision to close go
ahead, they understand the need for a social work re-assessment at that time.
The Leeds CCG commissioned 10 beds at Dolphin Manor to trial discharge to
assess short term care for people with dementia as a proof of concept. This will have
concluded by the time any Home Lea House residents may be looking to transition
there.
In addition, we know from previous closures that some residents choose to move
closer to their family, also that upon assessment some residents’ needs have
changed and they require a move to nursing care provision.
Should the recommendations to Executive Board in June post consultation be for the
closure of Home Lea House, residents and their families / carers would be fully
supported by the assessment and transition social work team, in accordance with the
Care Guarantee, to ensure they choose an alternative home that meets their
individual needs.
Management of Buildings
Should the decision be taken to close the current provision at Richmond House and
Home Lea House, the sites would be transferred into void management with
responsibility for safety, security and maintenance being managed by LCC Facilities
Management until brought forward for any re-development. Asset Management
under the delegations in place to the Director of City Development are already in the
process of considering alternative uses for the sites considering Council’s priority
programmes and requirements in particular from Adults and Health and the Council
Housing Growth Programme; and there is a commitment in principle for the sites to
be used for the development of supported housing; general needs housing at the
Home Lea House site in Rothwell, and supported housing for older people at the
Richmond House site in Farsley. This may involve direct delivery by the Council,
delivery in partnership with external organisations or disposal to third parties. Early
demolition of the buildings at to limit the costs of maintaining security will also be
explored. Asset Management will lead discussions about the future use of the sites
with elected members and key partners.
Strategic
Key issues and messages
 The Council had its priorities wrong; if money could be found for things such as road
schemes, cycle superhighways, City of Culture 2023, it should be found for the care of
vulnerable people.
25
Page 561

 LCC needs a long-term strategy to survive the continuing cuts to funding being made by
the government, not knee-jerk reactions that will only save money in the short term.
 Rather than shrinking the public sector we would like to see the Council doing exactly the
opposite, seeking to take private providers of social care and support into public
ownership.
 The future is uncertain so people may need such provision in the future either for
themselves or for their family members.
 Demand for respite is high and likely to increase.
 The council should not be relying on the for-profit private sector for the care of the
elderly.
 Concern about the future of other council-run care home provision and if those will be
closed in the future too.
 Closure of council-run provision creates additional pressure on the NHS, with people
stuck in care homes awaiting re-assessment before they can go home.
 The closure of Richmond House is premature before a full study is done into the
acknowledged gap in the need for places for people with complex needs, including
dementia and nursing care.
 Richmond House is under-used over the last 12 months due to Covid.
 Belief that numbers within Richmond House have been kept low to justify any potential
closure.
 Concern that NHS appear to be “calling the shots”.
Our Response
Leeds City Council’s Financial Position
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in October 2020,
the key driver for the proposals to close Home Lea House long stay residential care
home and Richmond House short stay residential care home are due to the Council
facing financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.
The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget gap in 2021/22 of
£118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing financial impact of Covid19. The council is legally required to set a balanced budget therefore, several
savings proposals have been put forward including a number relating to services
across the Adults and Health Directorate. The proposed closures of the two care
26
Page 562

homes in question would make savings annually of £1.531million as a contribution to
the budget gap identified.
The Council has a duty under the Care Act 2014 to meet needs for care and support,
subject to meeting the statutory eligibility criteria. However, needs can be bet in a
variety of different ways. As set out elsewhere in this report, there has been a move
in recent years away from traditional residential care models toward more housingwith-care provision, for example Extra Care Housing. The Council also has a duty
under the Care Act to promote diversity and quality in the provision of services. It is
submitted that there is sufficient diversity and quality provision within the local Leeds
market to continue to meet the needs of those currently accessing services from
Home Lea House and Richmond House.
The proposals will not reduce or remove the care of our most vulnerable people now
or in the future; the proposals are principally based on under-occupancy of Council
provision against demand for our residential beds and therefore providing the same
service at a reduced overall cost which in turn helps the Council deliver more of its
citizens’ needs.
Future supply, demand, and market stability
As detailed in the Better Lives strategy, the Council’s strategy for people with care
and support needs, we know from our discussions that many older people want a
wider choice of accommodation and support options with, as much as possible,
support being delivered in their own homes or in care environments like extra care
housing.
Wherever possible, people should be supported to return to their home as the first
option. Adults & Health provide the SkiLs Reablement Service which offers short
term intensive care and support for people in their home, supporting hospital
discharge and hospital avoidance. Leeds Community Healthcare Neighbourhood
Teams provide at home therapy services, such as Occupational Therapy,
Physiotherapy and District Nursing. In addition, Adults and Health are not
experiencing long wait times for independent home care packages.
It is equally important that we make sure our services can still meet the city’s
changing requirements for care, with more people living independently for longer
and a rising number of people needing specialist care, such as those who
develop dementia.
Adults and Health is therefore continuing to invest in the development of extra
care accommodation and, as outlined above, to work with NHS partners to
model service developments to support people with dementia and complex
needs.

27
Page 563

Residential Long Stay Care Services
Based on supply and demand analysis, Rothwell has an oversupply of 119
residential care home beds. As detailed above, there is sufficient alternative good
quality local supply if Home Lea House were to close.
Residential Short Stay Care Services
Richmond House did operate very successfully as an intermediate care resource
(known at the time as Community Intermediate Care, CIC). However, when the
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) reviewed the Community Intermediate Care
(CIC) service, they identified a different set of priorities for the Community Care Bed
service. Leeds Adults & Health were successful in bidding to the new specification
and secured, in partnership with Leeds Community Healthcare, two new nursing
services and one residential service, in buildings owned by LCC across Leeds. The
CCG will be reviewing their commissioned service in the next 18 months but at
present are content that they have sufficient resource available to them.
In addition, the NHS have provided temporary funding to the CCG to support hospital
discharge during the pandemic. The CCG have used this funding to commission a
number of community beds (nursing and residential) across the city as part of this
Discharge to Assess process, although this is reviewed on a regular basis and it is
intended to reduce reliance on these beds as the impact of the pandemic decreases.
People are supported to stay there while their needs are assessed, and their care
arranged at home or in another residential care or nursing home. Their needs are
assessed very quickly and a sizeable proportion of the people who are discharged in
this way, return home within a week to ten days.
Respite / Short Breaks Services
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond House, to
arrange a short break or an extended short stay depending on the need of the
individual and their family / carer. All local authority in-house homes offer respite bed
places as well as Richmond House.
Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social worker will
approach care homes at the time required, and if there is capacity, will spot
commission a short break or extended short stay depending on need. As outlined
above, there is sufficient alternative good quality care home provision.
Other options are also available such as community based short breaks, or a
personal budget to arrange a short break that suits the carer and the cared-for
person. This could be through various organisations such as private home care
agencies, charities, or community interest companies. The council also provides a
Shared Lives Service which provides a more homely approach to the provision of
respite services.

28
Page 564

Nursing Care / Specialist Provision for people living with dementia
There is greater demand for and an undersupply of extra care accommodation and
specialist provision for people with the most complex needs, including people living
with dementia in Leeds.
The pilot service at South Leeds Recovery Hub offers nursing provision for people
with the most complex needs including people with dementia. Adults & Health
previously reviewed different models of care and support that could be offered at
Richmond House, however the size of the home made the unit cost per head
prohibitive for investment by the CCG, which would be a requirement for the
provision of this type of service.
The Integrated Commissioning Executive has taken a number of reports which have
attempted to model the needs of people with complex dementia and as a result the
following service developments have been put in place, as detailed in the Leeds
Integrated Market Position Statement 2019-22; NHS development of intensive and
responsive specialist support to care homes, an individualised approach to funding
of care, including transitional support to leave hospital as well as long-term funding;
and the development of training in ‘leadership in dementia care.’
Market stability
As detailed above, Adult Social Care works closely with Leeds Care Association and
care home providers to understand any pressures affecting the market and have
continued to do so throughout the pandemic to understand impact of Covid on cost
pressures for care homes.
Future of other Council-run care home provision
The professional recommendation of the Council’s Director of Adults and Health is
that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care homes be approved for
closure, that no further council run care homes should be put forward for
decommissioning. This would enable the council to retain flexibility in the face of any
potential future challenges and retain expertise.
This would mean Dolphin Manor, along with Knowle Manor (Morley South) and
Spring Gardens (Otley and Yeadon) would be retained in the city as council-run care
home provision.
Occupancy rates at Richmond House.
Richmond House supports a citywide short-term care and support offer along with
but distinct from Community Care Beds as there is no associated therapeutic input
to Richmond House. People are referred to a suitable short-term provision based on
their individual needs and preferences. As detailed above occupancy rates since
2018/19 have averaged 55%.

29
Page 565

Health and Social Care
As noted above, the size of Richmond House made the cost per head prohibitive for
investment by the CCG for CCB provision. It does have a responsibility to ensure
value for money in what it commissions.
The Department for Health and Social Care White Paper: Integration and Innovation:
Working together to improve health and social care for all, Feb 2021, provides a
basis for further consultation and discussion with interested or affected groups; and
Leeds Adults and Health, the different political parties in Leeds, and other
organisations, will contribute as appropriate to shape the Health and Care Bill that
will be presented to Parliament.
Methodology
Key issues and messages


Staff need to know a decision as soon as possible in the process so they can plan
ahead.



Poor timing during the pandemic, at a time when can’t visit residents to find out how they
are and to ask them what they want.



Poor timing as respite services have been closed during the pandemic and people need
this support.



No social worker has provided information about alternative respite provision.
Our Response
The key driver for the proposal to close Home Lea House long stay residential care
home and Richmond House short stay residential care home is due to the Council
facing financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.
As detailed above, it is important that staff are made aware of any recommendations
affecting the future of their workplace directly and at the earliest opportunity. Keeping
staff informed and involved is expected as a good employer. It is also integral in
helping to provide a greater sense of security on the part of customers.
The programme will work closely with Trade Unions to ensure employee matters are
given high priority and regular meetings with trade unions have and will continue to
take place. Nothing will happen suddenly or unexpectedly, either for staff or for
residents and we will continue to work with Trade Unions to support affected staff
through this process.
If a decision is made to close Home Lea House or Richmond House the transfer of
residents will be carefully planned and carried out professionally, sensitively, and
30
Page 566

safely. This will be done within a timescale which will minimise the disruption and
discomfort for those affected.
Communicating with residents
We are keen to ensure that we hear the voices of people who use the services being
consulted on, and the consultation provided different options for participating,
including; online, over the phone, via email, by posting a paper copy to us, or
through a face to face discussion. The consultation survey was also open to the
public via leeds.gov.uk.
People only stay at Richmond House for only a short period of time and so current
residents won’t be affected by the proposed closure, however throughout the
consultation period all residents were informed about the consultation taking place
and encouraged to participate if they wished to do so.
The services also proactively engage customers in the use of technology (such as
iPad, tablets, mobile phones, Alexa’s) where appropriate, to keep in touch with loved
ones during their stay. In addition, window visits, garden visits and use of in-door
pods have enabled choices to suit customers in being able to communicate with one
another.
Respite Services
Should the decision be made to close the homes in question a review would be
carried out by social work teams who currently support people to access respite, of
anyone who has been affected, so that planned respite can be continued in a new
location suitable to meet the individual’s needs.

Suggested Mitigations
 Most respondents don’t want the homes to be closed and would want the council to find
the financial savings elsewhere.
 Negotiate with the NHS to have therapeutic input at Richmond House again.
 Instead of people being stuck in hospital wards or paying private care homes while
people are waiting there for re-assessment, use that money on having professionals at
Richmond House.
 Turn Richmond House into a residential dementia care unit to address the lack of
specialist provision for people with dementia.
 Turn Richmond House into a specialist assessment centre for people over 65 years with
mental health issues as there is a need for this type of resource in the area.
 Turn Richmond House into respite provision.

31
Page 567

 Sell the homes to private providers.
 Richmond House needs more promotion and then it would be used more.
 Reduce the number of high paid senior managers in services who cost a lot but don’t
provide a direct service.
 Elected Members used to be more involved, the research to put suggestions forward are
made by unaccountable officers.
 Use social care reserves to keep Home Lea House open for another year and work with
the community to keep it open.
Our Response
To contribute to the budget gap identified Adults and Health Directorate have
reviewed all its services and financial spend and has put forward a number of
savings proposals. The proposed closures of the two care homes in question would
make savings annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget gap
identified.
As outlined above the council has many priorities to meet the needs of its citizens,
but unfortunately has insufficient funding to meet all of these. The proposals will not
reduce or remove the care of our most vulnerable people now or in the future; this
proposal is principally based upon under-occupancy of our residential beds and
therefore providing the same service at a reduced overall cost which in turn helps the
Council deliver more of its citizens’ needs.
Therapeutic input at Richmond House
As described above, Richmond House did operate very successfully as an
intermediate care resource (known at the time as Community Intermediate Care,
CIC). However, when the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) reviewed the
Community Intermediate Care (CIC) service, they identified a different set of
priorities for the Community Care Bed service. Leeds Adults & Health were
successful in bidding to the new specification and secured, in partnership with Leeds
Community Healthcare, two new nursing services and one residential service, in
buildings owned by LCC across Leeds. Richmond House could not be used for this
purpose as it had too few beds which made the unit cost prohibitive. The CCG has a
duty to seek best value and is satisfied that they have sufficient resource available to
them.
The service provided in the wards at LTHT is nursing care, whereas Richmond
House provides residential care. Also, some of the people are only resident in the
wards at LTHT for a few days whilst home care services are arranged. It wouldn’t be
appropriate to discharge from the hospital, admit to Richmond House, and then go
home, all within a few days. There are significantly more beds in SJUH and
Wharfedale than we could provide in Richmond House.
32
Page 568

Continuing Health Care (CHC) nurses were not able to undertake assessments from
March to August last year, therefore. a number of individuals who were thought to
need Continuing Health Care funding in a nursing care setting were awaiting
reassessment. However, once the service was able to recommence, social workers
worked with the CHC team to review/reassess everyone who was in that position.,
These assessments were concluded by 31st December 2020.
Residential dementia care provision at Richmond House
There is already a range of good quality residential care provision in the city, 25 of
the 35 homes within 5 miles of Richmond House are CQC dementia registered.
However, there is an undersupply of nursing provision for people with the most
complex needs.
Given the age of the building it may be uneconomical to remodel. Consultant Norfolk
Property Services has stressed that refurbishment alone will not meet current
statutory requirements and nationally described space standards due to some
corridor widths being too narrow and a number of bedroom sizes being too small. To
meet this standard major structural and internal alteration will need to be carried out.
High level refurbishment budget costings indicate that a capital spend of IRO £1.7m
would be required to bring the property up to current required standard including
nationally described space standards and to meet the minimum requirements set out
in the Leeds Model for housing with care.
Given the Gross Internal Area of Richmond House this would equate to
approximately £1150 per sqm to refurbish against a cost of IRO £2000 per sqm for
new build so on this basis the most cost effective approach would be new purpose
built accommodation that will meet modern building standards and is more
conducive to health and wellbeing of residents.
Leeds City Council is part of the local Transforming Care Partnership with Leeds
Clinical Commissioning Group which is NHS England’s specialist commissioner and
we are working jointly to deliver the Transforming Care Programme which will allow
service users with learning disabilities/autism/mental health needs to transition from
long stay inpatient settings to residential community based accommodation. As part
of this work we continue to explore development opportunities utilising Council
owned land assets to bring forward schemes which can meet the long-term
accommodation needs of individuals within the Transforming Care cohort.
We are currently developing a residential facility for people with learning disabilities
and autism and mapping the accommodation needs for adults with care and support
needs as part of our wider strategic review. Adults & Health are also working closely
with colleagues in LCC Asset Management to determine if operational needs can be
identified to justify the retention of any sites that may become available through
estate rationalisation.
Capacity and constraints studies have been undertaken by LCC design officers for
several sites which explore potential options for future use. These confirm that both
sites could support some form of new build re-provisioning for people with care and
33
Page 569

support needs whether this is bungalows or apartments. The site at Richmond
House could potentially support up to 30 x 1-bedroom apartments or 13 standard 2bedroom bungalows, while the site at Home Lea House could potentially support up
to 26 x 1-bedroom apartments or 10 ‘courtyard’ style bungalows. The sites are too
small to support Extra Care housing as we work on a minimum capacity of 60 units
for a viable extra care development.
Should the decision be taken to close to current provision at Richmond House and
Home Lea House, detailed ground investigations and a PSA (preliminary site
appraisal) would be required before proceeding with a full feasibility study and any
ensuing development. The site would be managed by the LCC Corporate Property
Management team until it is brought forward for any re-development. As detailed
above, discussions around the future use of the building would take place with local
elected members and key partners, and there is a commitment in principle that both
sites will be used for supported housing in the future.
Use Richmond House as a specialist assessment centre for people over 65 years
with mental health issues
Moving someone from home to a residential setting for such an assessment would
increase the likelihood of confusion. People are assessed either at home, in
outpatient or other settings, or while in hospital if they are really unwell. Any such
‘specialist assessment centre’ would be NHS funded and provided as it would be
clinically led. Also as outlined above, it would be unlikely that it would be economical
to re-model the building for such a type of alternative provision.
Use Richmond House just for respite provision.
Mixed models of long stay and respite / short stay provision offer greater economic
viability; there is no independent sector provision that offers only respite bed
accommodation. People like to choose where they go on respite and still want to
maintain links to family and local services, so Adult Social Care couldn’t mandate
that people used Richmond House for respite, and as a result it would likely be under
occupied.
Purchase by private providers.
Purchase by another provider could be an option should the decision be taken to
close the sites and should the sites ultimately be deemed surplus to requirements,
following the agreed Council process for open market disposals. However, as
outlined above there is a commitment in principle that should the decision to close be
made, that both sites are used for supported housing.
Increase occupancy at Richmond House
Health and social care professionals are aware of the services provided at Richmond
House and will refer people there from across the city based on the individual needs
of the person requiring short terms care and support.
34
Page 570

Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of people who require some type of
intervention to either support them to reach their optimum with therapeutic and
recovery focused support to return home or to undertake an assessment to support
their longer term needs. The CCG Community Care Beds contract is now
established and provides a greater recovery residential and nursing offer. As such
Richmond House is continually under occupied and the current type of provision can
easily be assimilated in wider system provision.
Use of social care reserves
As previously been stated, the Council is looking to have less of a reliance on
residential provision, preferring a move to other services including Extra Care
Housing which we believe has better outcomes for our citizens. As an authority we
have, over recent years, seen a reduction in the numbers of people we place in
residential care and Commissioners have, over that same period, recorded an
excess of provision over demand, and this is noted whilst in a period of an ageing
population. In this context it is difficult to see how a business case could be made by
a community consortium to make this a going concern.
Reasonably recent experience of this type of proposal failed. It is also considered
highly unlikely that this could be actioned within a twelve-month period, which could
therefore necessitate the further use of scarce resources. As such, for the reasons
above, this option is not one that would be recommended.

Section Four – detailed consultation findings relating to the proposal
for each care home
The following information represents feedback and responses from consultation
undertaken with those people currently living in the care homes and their relatives
and carers as well as staff working in the homes and the local community. The
questions highlighted are taken directly from the survey questionnaire.
As an ‘open comments’ section was used in the questionnaire, some respondents
made multiple comments in these sections which is why the number of comments is
generally greater than the number of people responding to the questionnaire.
All questions were optional, so some people chose not to complete every question.
There were also some people who did not complete the questionnaire, with a variety
of reasons for non-completion (e.g. declined or relative completed questionnaire on
their behalf).
Measures were taken to ensure that people with dementia who may not be able to
complete a questionnaire by themselves were supported to do so.
Where names, ages or relationships were used in the comments these have been
redacted to comply with data protection requirements.
35
Page 571

4a) Consultation Survey Questionnaire Detailed Responses
Please note any personally identifiable information such as names, relationships and
ages have been redacted.
Home Lea House General Public Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey
Results (22 Responses)
After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you
understand why the Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
21
1
0

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Home Lea
House long stay residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly
Agree
Neither agree Disagree
Strongly
agree
nor disagree
disagree
0

3

0

1

36
Page 572

18

Please tell us the reason for your answer
My great grandmother resides in the care home. As a family, we placed her in several care
homes, in which she didn't feel comfortable, until settling on Home Lea. Closing the
home would result in great distress and anxiety for her, which has been magnified after a
year not understanding why her family have hardly been able to see her, and would
potentially ruin the peace we expected for her in what are likely her final years with us.
While I understand long stay is not for everyone and others will want to stay at home for
as long as possible, this is simply not possible for her. Instead she has somewhere she
feels at home and where she is superbly cared for.
Rothwell is a large community that requires local services for its people. It is not well
served by public transport to enable friends and relatives to visit care homes in other
areas especially elderly people. Where people have lived together at home and one is
now in care easy access is required. Dolphin Manor is described as being Council run but
it’s not too long since you wanted to close that. It was saved through local action and
now you are suggesting that is all that will be left! Please do not close Home Lea. It is a
lovely friendly caring home that we need.
The residents living in Home Lea House have made a carefully considered decision to
move in here after looking around to find the most suitable home for them. They have
then moved in and settled into their new home and become comfortable in their new
home. They are now facing the possibility of having the trauma and upheaval of having to
be moved. A number of residents within the home, including both of my grandmothers
have dementia, along with other health conditions. The thought of them having to move
at their ages, 93 and 89, is just unthinkable. The fact that the proposed closure is solely
based on saving money is absolutely disgusting and totally wrong. These people have
lived in the local area all of their lives and should, therefore, be able to stay living within
the area, surrounded by their families and friends, and not have the worry of having to
find a new home. This could then potentially mean they will have to move out of the area
to somewhere they have no family or friends around to visit them.
The Council should not put the onus on the private sector to look after our elderly.
I am Rothwell born and bred. Home Lea is an amazing home, the residents are settled and
really happy there. It would be a real shame to see it close. Rothwell and surrounding
37
Page 573

areas are forever growing in size, houses are been thrown up everywhere you look.
People are living longer and leaving the area with only one care home will not be enough.
Local people will not be able to stay in the area they love, it’s just wrong. I am a tax payer
and I’m sure the Council can cut back elsewhere to save this wonderful home.
It is a much needed well run residential home which gives an opportunity for local
residential care.
Why are the Council still wasting our (tax payers) money on stupid Leeds 2023? No one
wants this or any other of Judith Blake’s money wasting schemes in Leeds. Why not invest
in making these 2 homes more modern, viable and attract some private paying customers
to help up keep. These facilities once gone will never be replaced and means Council
social spending increases on private homes lining the pockets of greedy owners of elderly
care facilities. Keep the homes and not a bean more to be spent on Leeds 2023.
Because better care can be provided to people in a non‐profit setting. I strongly disagree
with the state paying profit making organisations for care. There is still a shortage of care
beds ‐ there a huge amount of ‘super stranded’ patients awaiting care packages in NHS
beds
The care residents receive at Home Lea is excellent. As a Council run home, residents
family feel secure knowing their loved ones are being cared for at a high level. A lot of
private care homes seem to think it is more important to have pianos and chandeliers
rather than good quality care.
These care homes are essential for the elderly in our community. My grandma has been
here for 12 months. She is coming up to 98. This was a stressful time after living
independently for 97 years. The home made her feel at ease and she has adjusted well.
Moving these residents further a field where family may not be able to visit will isolate
families and cause unnecessary stress. My grandma pays for her own care and sold her
house to fund this.
Care homes are needed for old people to be cared for in the community. It's on a bus
route for family members to be able to travel to see them.
I completely disagree with this decision as there are many residents in Home Lea
including my two grandmas that have dementia. One of which has always been very
unsettled, that was until she moved into Home Lea. My grandma now sees Home Lea as
her home and I believe it would be too upsetting and unsettling to move any of the
residents that live there. The staff are very professional and always make visitors
welcome. It would be such a shame if the home were to close as it makes so many people
happy, both residents and the people that visit, as we can see how happy and settled our
family members are.
Both my grandmas are living in Home Lea House and they are both happy and settled.
They both have dementia and they don't need the worry of getting kicked out of their
homes on top of having that! All their family live in the Rothwell area and there's only
one other care home in Rothwell and that has no room for any new residents, so if they
got kicked out of Home Lea they would have to move out of the area and that would be
very upsetting for them and also detrimental to their health and also their families.
Home Lea House is a much loved local facility. Rothwell is very much a family community
and older people here value their local links. If I were ever to need care, I would be much
happier in my own area where family and older friends can visit.
This provides a lovely home for local residents and surrounding areas. I understand that
Dolphin is also in the area but in these times with care needs for the elderly in great
38
Page 574

demand I feel it will be a great loss to the area, and in the grand scheme of things what
the Council will save by closing Home Lea it’s a drop in the ocean.
My 97 year old grandma is a resident at this care home. For my grandma, a very proud
lady, it was a huge decision to leave her home, her independence to move into a care
home. She was frightened that she would be neglected and not looked after in the way
she deserved. It was important to her to pick the right care that she was going to spend
her remaining years at. The staff at Home Lea House have not only been kind, friendly and
attentive to her every needs, they have also been a great source of comfort, when we as
family have been unable to visit during the pandemic. Home Lea have become a surrogate
family to the residents.
My mum moved to Home Lea House in February 2020, just before lockdown. We had
suffered a horrible year, where my mum's mobility deteriorated to a point where as a
family we couldn't cope with her living by herself. We fell in love with Home Lea straight
away and the staff have supported both mum and us throughout a traumatic year with
the extra trauma of Covid. It is her home where she feels secure, well cared for and loved.
Where her 'family' of friends and staff live and work to help our elderly relatives live
happily and thrive. I don't think the proposal to close Home Lea takes this into
consideration. Who wants to move house in your 80's? For people like my mum, the
Council home was, and is the best option to keep her safe and stable and for families to
relax in the knowledge that the standard of care is high.
I think the private sector have got their act together and, as the report says, this is
currently a declining market. The land is also prime development land and the income
could boost the Council coffers. Dolphin Manor is the more modern of the two and
should be retained.

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on
you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
10
6
6

Please tell us the reason for your answer
39
Page 575

It would cause stress and anxiety for all the family as we seek to find somewhere that will
suit my great grandmother, but most of all, it will worsen her final years.
As above.
There would be a significant impact on me and my family. I have two family members
currently living in Home Lea House and they are both very settled and happy. I visit my
grandmothers every couple of days (before Covid 19), with my four children. We all enjoy
walking to Home Lea House and seeing just how happy they are living in there, and being
able to spend time with them. If the proposed closure goes ahead, this would impact us
significantly as we would not be able to visit them as often which would consequently
affect both of my grandmothers’ mental health. As they both suffer with dementia, the
visits they receive from family living in the local area is critical for their overall wellbeing.
We have lots of family living in the local area that frequently visit Home Lea House,
however if they are forced to move, these family members would not be able to get to
other areas to visit them.
I don’t have anyone in there but may need it in the future.
I don’t have family at the home, however, I know its fabulous reputation within the area.
When I grow old who will take care of me? Like the residents in the home who have paid
Council Tax/National Insurance all their lives, why should the older people be affected.
Why can’t the Council cut back in other areas? This money saving exercise will be a
massive loss to the community of Rothwell should the home close. I am strongly against
this.
I have a mother who is in her nineties who receives care at home by a care firm but I think
she would be better looked after in a local residential home as between care visits it is a
very lonely existence. There is a great chance this would not be available for her locally
without Home Lea House.
I might need these facilities one day.
I work in adult social care and there is already a shortage of good care homes.
We have no idea what will happen and how this change could affect my grandma’s
health.
If my mum mother‐in‐law needed to go into a home I would choose this one.
At the moment me and my two children are able to visit both my grandmas as we live in
Rothwell so can walk there. I have two brothers and one sister who also visit with their
children and my parents. None of us want to see any of the residents upset. Home Lea is
their home and they shouldn't be in a way evicted from it.
If they closed Home Lea House it would have a big impact on me because I would be
constantly worrying about my grandma’s mental health and well‐being. It would also
impact me because before Covid hit I was able to walk up to the care home to visit my
grandmas at least once a week. If they were moved out of area I'd hardly be able to see
them due to my wife working and needing the car. I wouldn't be able to walk to see them
if they weren't living in the area.
Sadly I have terminal cancer so the thought I have had about eventually going into Home
Lea is no longer relevant, but I have many older friends who could be impacted if this
place was lost.
I am a chef within Leeds City Council so I feel it could impact on my job. I also really feel
sad for the residents as I feel this will unsettle them.
The impact on us as a family is significant as we now have the stress and the anxiety of
40
Page 576

trying to find another care home that will be able to care for my grandma the way Home
Lea has.
I am worried about the impact on my mum's physical, mental and emotional well‐being if
she has to move home, especially during the times of Covid and the worry and
uncertainty this brings. She is easily upset and anxious about everything and will not cope
with any change.
I'm early 60s so hopefully a care home is a few years off but I would not be looking at
Home Lea as my first choice for myself or my family.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
If the Council is to move residence, it should do so in a phased approach, where residents
are slowly introduced to their new home to see if it suits them and to lessen the distress
on them.
It should also consider a longer time line than the one proposed so that families can make
arrangements and so that residents can be prepared.
As Rothwell is quite isolated I don’t think there is anything that could lessen the impact.
Do not close the care home.
Keep it open.
Don’t close the home, look at other areas that can cope with a cut in funding.
Nothing, once it’s gone it will never be replaced and will be a great loss.
Keep them open and invest in them.
Keep the beds open.
Not close the home ‐ investment in the building.
Not close the home.
Keep it open.
Keep Home Lea open.
Build another care home in Rothwell!
Sorry, no ideas.
Don’t close the home.
Not close. I believe choosing to close ANY care home under the current circumstances is
insensitive.
Obviously the best outcome would be to keep Home Lea open. To reduce impact we
would be hopeful for her to move to another Council run home (e.g. Dolphin Manor) as
we appreciate the standards of care she has received and mum seems to feel happier
about a possible move to Dolphin Manor. It would be good if some of her friends could
move together, and even staff if this was possible.
N/A.

Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe should be
considered?
I'm sure the Council has done as much as it can (and I sympathise with them over the
financial position the government has put them in) but other services should be cut and
infrastructure projects should be scaled back. Importantly, I believe this should be done in
Leeds City Centre where it often seems the wealth of the city is pumped back into.
41
Page 577

Keep it open, allow continued choice, look at budget cuts in other areas.
Look to save money in other areas, instead of the elderly and vulnerable. They do not
deserve this at this time in their life.
No.
Keep it open and save money elsewhere.
Yes, try changing the law to stop greedy selfish people playing the social care system. Sick
of hearing about wealthy families who get parents to sign over property to children so
they don’t have to pay a penny of elderly care bills ‐ people who know how to play the
system. No wonder council social care costs are out of control when not everyone is
paying their way. Council run homes must be there for those who genuinely can’t afford
to pay for care, to create/keep jobs running homes and to ensure capacity for care is
always available. Too many horror stories about privately run home care so that’s not
always the right approach either.
Council care homes provide a better level of care.
N/A.
Stop wasting money like on park and rides that don't get used.
Keep Home Lea open.
It is hard to believe that a community of 22,000 cannot fully use 2 homes. I think there are
many in their own homes who put up with isolation and risk unnecessarily because
funding demands the cheapest minimum provision.
I think that care homes for the elderly should be last on the list for closures because of
the negative impact this has on the residents. It is after all their HOME. I think that
although important, things like clubs and day centres should be looked at first. I feel that
leisure and the arts should be looked at, e.g proposals to close Lotherton Hall for part of
the week. I strongly believe that the Council run home is still needed in our community to
provide for elderly people like my mum. Private care homes do not have the trust with
older people and the high fees can be a problem.
None.
Finally, do you have any other comments?
Yes, Rothwell in my view has been targeted. We have lost our Council offices, nursery
and day centre and the other support services for elderly people and families with
children at home have been massively cut, leading to much more need for emergency
response and loneliness. Keep Home Lea open, add some day care facilities or short term
respite facilities, work with live at home scheme to identify who is vulnerable and needs
help.
It’s wrong how the Council are off loading everything. What exactly are they running?
Please re‐think, saving such a small amount of money in the grand scheme of things isn’t
worth closing an amazing home. The area can’t cope with only one home.
Saving money by closing a good quality well run well staffed residential home for old frail
people cannot be the way forwards. Look to saving money in areas of less impact.
As above.
The biggest issue with residential care homes that are privately run is that they can charge
what they like. It’s time there was a charging cap on residential care.
Please do not close this brilliant care home.
It would be a huge mistake to close Home Lea House. So many people call it home and a
42
Page 578

lot of staff have a stable job. Please reconsider the decision and stop the uncertainty to
the poor residents and staff.
If Home Lea House were made to close, it would have a massive negative impact on a lot
of people! All the people living in Home Lea and all the residents’ family and friends. Most
of the residents that live there have grown up and lived in Rothwell all their lives and are
very old and have health issues, the last thing they need in their condition is to be kicked
out of their homes. They have made strong relationships with each other in there and
become good friends so they would be devastated if they got dragged apart from each
other and stuck in another care home god knows where!
Just that it is a home with a great reputation.
I just feel sad that this may close and have a huge impact on the elderly residents.
I would like to thank everyone working at Home Lea for their constant hard work during
the last year. I couldn't have asked for a better home for my mum and wish and hope that
the Council decide to keep such a crucial facility open.
No.

43
Page 579

Home Lea House Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey Results (39
Responses)
Are you a?
Resident
Respite
Relative
Representative Staff member
resident
14
0
9
4
15
Please note the answer to the above could be more than one category.

The information you have read at the start of this survey explains the
background to these proposals and outlines the consultation process. Have
you read it or had it fully explained to you?
Yes
No
39
0

44
Page 580

After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you
understand why the Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
36
2
1

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Home Lea
House Long Stay residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly
Agree
Neither
Disagree Strongly
No
agree
agree nor
disagree
reply
disagree
0
1
2
7
28
1

Please tell us the reason for your answer
45
Page 581

I am local, lived here all my 60 years and Home Lea House has always been a part of the
community. My sister, (anonymised) has recently become a resident here. The staff have done
fantastically well to help the resident settle into her new home and are definitely meeting her
needs. My sister is happy here, however she has started worrying about where she will be
moved to, if the closure of Home Lea House goes ahead! It is a really poor decision to suggest
the closure of Home Lea House. Surely there has to be another way to recoup some of the
deficit. There are less necessary projects than care homes I would imagine! Shame on the
Council for even thinking we need less care Homes for the elderly!
I am Chair of Rothwell Tenants and Residents Association. I therefore consider the residents in
Home Lea House are part of our wider community. After a recent annual report and receiving
a glowing reference from CQC for "Excellent caring" and 4 other services as "Good," I strongly
disagree with the proposed closure of Home Lea. Several years ago, LCC invested money to
upgrade the building and install en‐suite facilities etc. which was a real boost for morale for
the residents and staff alike. On the other hand, Dolphin Manor was also earmarked for
closure and did not have the benefit of en‐suite facilities, but our community fought a
successful campaign to keep it open. We have an ageing population in Rothwell with limited
accommodation for the elderly to be able to remain in their own homes and also requiring 24
hour specialist care that can be provided in a care home setting. I strongly object to any
closure of care homes in the city, and more so in my community. We, and LCC have a duty of
care to provide a safe and secure environment for our elderly residents who need to be
protected in their twilight years. Angela Kellett (Chair, Rothwell Tara).
Because this is someone’s home. I personally have worked at Home Lea for 30 years. I have
looked after some of these residents who have been there years and it's the only home they
know. It will be very distressing for them when the home closes.
The home is part of the community not only providing outstanding care but supporting people
who still live in the community, giving them a place to go and socialise and have contact with
others which they may not otherwise have. The people who work there don’t see it as a job,
they put a lot more into it. Those who live at Home Lea are going to have their lives turned
upside down at such an age where they should feel secure and settled. If the Council had a
better sense of business and how to best control finance this probably wouldn’t be happening.
The need for residential care homes is expected to rise in the future, not decrease, therefore
the argument put forward by LCC does not make sense. Moving the residents to another care
home is likely to be catastrophic on their mental and physical well‐being and could lead to
early deaths. Moving them to Dolphin Manor has been suggested but it wasn’t that long ago
that LCC proposed closing that care home, how long will it be before that is on the table again?
LCC needs a long term strategy to survive the continuing cuts to funding being made by the
government, not knee jerk reactions that will only save money in the short term.
We need to keep care homes local so that residents in them can easily be visited by friends
and family, and also so that they stay in a familiar place.
There appears to be no long‐term planning. We have an ageing population so demand for this
sort of facility will only increase. However, the Council seem to be looking only as far as 2021‐
22.
Not all elderly people requiring care have the funds available to pay for private care. It is vital
that people requiring care should have the option of staying local, to enable continuing contact
with friends and relatives. This is an important aspect of maintaining their wellbeing. Hospital
beds are still being blocked by elderly people requiring care so, therefore, there is an actual
need for more beds. Leeds City Council could surely look at other options of saving money,
46
Page 582

why is it that elderly care is the first choice?

Under the question 'do you understand why the Council wants to make these changes', the
relative also says 'Would understand if she had to move'. The resident wouldn't want to move,
she has been here nearly 2 years. She lived in Garforth for over 50 years and when she needed
to move, all the family was in Rothwell. She needed to be encouraged and is happily settled
and sees her son, her grandchildren and great grandchildren who are all nearby. When the
resident first came to Home Lea, she had been reluctant, but loved it so much, she stayed and
didn't want to go home at all. She likes to be independent but needs the care from people
who know her well.
I don't think it's a good idea. I don't want to move. I like living here. daughter, says she is still
where she's always lived ‐ in the same area. She likes the care she gets. She is settled which is
very important for her wellbeing.
It's a very good home with an excellent CQC report. Money has been spent on the home. We
don't understand why they have selected. Mum is 90, has lived here over 2 years ‐ with Covid
we haven't been able to visit and it's her home and her second family. Very traumatic and
detrimental to her health. It took her a long time to settle in and now she has. It's worrying
the cuts made to essential services. People do need 24 hour care ‐ if mum could be at home,
she would be.
Granddaughter supported the resident (anonymised) to represent her and her family's views:
The resident: 'I would be sad and would like it to stay open. I like it there. I've always liked it'.
Granddaughter: 'We know that nan has settled really well and is very well looked after. The
reason she is there is because of her dementia and because she lived alone and was lonely.
She has settled and got used to company. She has never had a sad day there'.
If it's got to be done, it's got to be done. There's money involved ‐ they need to make savings.
It's a good home. It's my home ‐ it's lovely. I've been here nearly 2 years. It's all about money.
If we had the money, we'd buy the home to keep it. We've got a great staff team. You can
have your say and they help with any problems.
Home Lea House is one of the better homes in Leeds and the staff are good. The care is good
and it would be a shame to move vulnerable people at their stage in life. It's exploiting people
at their age. People are in the area they want to be. 'My family knows what's best for me and
they think the home shouldn't be closing'. They should close other places that have lower CQC
ratings. We chose this home as the best of the homes offered. 'I can't fault Home Lea'.
I like it just as it is here. I've been here a year and it's my home. I couldn't cope at home
before I came here. I kept falling. I could enjoy life again and I was happy again. My own
home has gone. I get on with everybody and I've made friends with residents and staff. I feel
safe here. None of us want to leave our homes. I was often in hospital. I needed somewhere
to live where there was someone all the time to make sure I was safe.
I wouldn't want it to close. It's a lovely place ‐ they take care of us. I never thought I'd end up
like this. My daughter couldn't look after me. I don't want to move to a different home
because I'd worry too much. The place I was at before wasn't like here ‐ it wasn't as good. I
didn't feel safe.
This is my home and I want it to stay open. I like mixing with people and I like being with
people I know. Family say that it helps to be very close (in walking distance). It's been here a
long time because it's a good home.
1 ‐ In November 2019 we were informed by social services at St James Hospital that the
47
Page 583

Council homes are all full and we would have to find a private home for my Mother. We
checked all private care homes in Rothwell and they were all full. A neighbour told us about
Home Lea House. We contacted them and they said that two rooms were vacant (after we had
been told the Council homes were all full) that could be the reason for low occupancy.
2 ‐ Some people cannot live in their home for a variety of reasons and need 24 hour care.
3 ‐ My Mother tried home care package and she was being left for 12 hours some days in a
soiled incontinence pad, some days she only had tea and a slice of toast for breakfast at 8am
then was left till 6pm one day. We had to go feed her. Her health was deteriorating until she
went into Home Lea House. Now she is a different person, they have turned her life around.
4 ‐ The need for Home Lea House is very important to the Rothwell community.
5 ‐ If nobody needed a care home place, they would not be still building them around
Rothwell.
Because it is people's home. They are happy and settled at Home Lea and don't want to move
somewhere else. Moving to Home Lea due to needing 24 hour care was a big move for most
of the residents and it just seems unfair that they may have to move again and build
relationships with another staff team and with other residents.
I understand why financially but at the end of the day we are dealing with people who depend
on staff and also people think it's their home. They feel safe knowing that there's someone
24/7 to support not just with personal care tasks, with support of people's mental health and
due to Covid, people need support even more.
Because I'm settled and happy with the home and the surroundings for my husband to visit
regularly. Due to his illness, he can't travel long distances. He has frequent hospital visits and
needs to be able to visit whenever he can (for peace of mind about my wellbeing). He doesn't
drive. We have lived in Rothwell (Wood Lane estate) for twenty‐odd years. My husband's
family is nearby. My friends are nearby and would like to visit when it's possible and maintain
contacts. My parents came from Castleford and I have cousins locally. I know all the local
shops and facilities. I would like to stay in the area due to this reason.
I'd cry if they had to close it. I love it here. I love it all ‐ my room, the lounge, the dining room.
We get lovely meals to eat and we get looked after ever so well here. I like it here best. I was
in a privately run care home at Roundhay Park and I didn't like it there. (When mum was in
private home it was all about money, not care). (We wouldn't want that experience again).
I don't want it to close because it's in a good place. The people who live here fit very well with
each other. I was a bit hurt to hear they wanted to close the home. People get on here.
There's a good atmosphere. I like to be with people. The staff help you mix. The staff are very
helpful and always consider you before they consider themselves. I like everything about this
home, they want us to be happy here. This place has got something about it that's there all
the time. There's a lovely garden you can sit out in.
The home is well‐run. There is a need for it. It is very unsettling for someone with dementia
needs and won't understand the changes. For her to be plucked up and put in somewhere
new, we don't know what that will do to her. She knows everyone and is comfortable. The
staff understand the resident and she is confident at Home Lea. The staff have been fabulous
with her. If she was somewhere else, I'm not sure that wouldn't "tip the resident over".
I disagree because I have concerns about the welfare of our residents. They get very anxious
about where they are going to live. I also have concerns as regards my job.
Home Lea is a great place for our residents. It's like home from home for them. It feels part of
my life. I feel it's like looking after my own family and to close Home Lea, I myself will be
devastated and so will our residents as this is their home and should stay this way. You could
48
Page 584

cut back in other areas.
I disagree with the proposal to close Home Lea. I believe the Council waste a load of money in
other areas i.e. bonfire night fireworks displays, lighting up buildings for occasions which all
costs money and manpower. Home Lea is a happy home, residents are very happy here and
good care is given. I have worked for the Council nearly 34 years and for all the homes that
have been closed, no replacement has been built and land has been sold off. Where does this
money go?
Home Lea House is a council run home with a good CQC report with caring ‘outstanding’. The
building has recently undergone extensive re‐refurbishment including a new lift, flooring and,
furniture and most rooms are en‐suite. Dolphin Manor which is due to be kept open does not
have en‐suite bedrooms, and a separate wing only has 2 television rooms and no lounge. The
residents on this wing have to be taken down a long corridor to the main lounge. Although the
staff and care are second to none in both homes, my Mother has stayed in both buildings and
Home Lea is definitely better and the bedrooms appear to be larger. Due to the Council
wanting to save money, to me it would appear that the Home Lea site has more commercial
value and a larger footprint than Dolphin Manor to be sold off for housing/profit.
I disagree to Home Lea House closing as my Mother lives here and I believe this would have a
detrimental impact on her emotional well‐being. It is not just a temporary accommodation, it
is her home and she has settled well there, making friends with residents and carers. My
Mother is already emotional and upset after a Covid outbreak at the home during which
residents unexpectedly died and she had to stay isolated in her room for over a month. She
needs stability and security, not the additional threat and worry of her home being taken
away.
Home Lea is the best residential home in Rothwell. When we were first looking at homes in
our area, so many people recommended Home Lea mainly because they had previously or
currently had relatives in there. The staff are so lovely and the home in general feels warm
and safe.
Because this is the ressies home.
I understand why the proposal has been made due to the financial difficulties but at the same
time feel that over the last 10 years the older people have had a lot of closures of services
leaving them with only the private sector to choose from.
The closure of Home Lea House would have a significant impact on various people. Residents,
staff and family members, Home Lea House is one big family. Closing Home Lea House is
taking people's homes away from them when they are all happy and settled. I personally think
it's disgusting. Leeds City Council can surely find other ways of saving money without it
causing upset and disruption to the most vulnerable of people.
I strongly disagree as this is people's homes. There is a lot of money spent on things that are
not needed within the Council and this home is not one of them. I think there are more things
that could be done to save money within the Council instead of taking people's homes away
from them (disgrace).
I understand that the Council needs to save money but I like my job very much and don't want
to lose it. It's not easy for the residents ‐ we are so close with them. When you move from
your house, it's hard and sad at any age and now at their age it's even worse.
I feel divided. I recognise that there are gaps in funding to run a service like ours. However,
it's not nice for our residents that love our home and feel safe and cared for by the team. We
as a staff team work well with each other to ensure our residents are cared for in the best
possible way and we don't want to be split up just like our residents don't want their home
49
Page 585

shut and have to relocate.
I feel insecure and don't know if I'm going to have a job. I feel like this is 'family'. The staff
team has been the residents' family for the last year. We've been through Covid together and
it feels unfair and terrible to close the home now. This is their home. I leave here and go
home. I feel like I might be in the same position. If I don't have a job, I could lose my home.
I'd be devastated if I had to leave my home. The residents are coming to the end of their lives
and thought this would be their forever home, but might have to start again.
It is very distressing for all residents and staff, as everybody treats Home Lea as their second
home. Residents are worried where they will end up living and staff are afraid there are going
to be no jobs for them.
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
28
7
4

Please tell us the reason for your answer
Because the idea of closing any care home let alone one that has provided care and protection
for generations has to be wrong.
Having being retired for 6 years myself, I too may need support in the near future!!
I have worked at Home Lea for 30 years. It’s like my second home. I will be 64 when or if it
closes. I have been there half of my life. To start working somewhere else at my age is not
good.
I work there, it’s my main source of income. I live nearby, have a great relationship with the
clients, their families and the staff team. I feel we should be told now what is the plan for
employees so we can plan best for us when the closure comes.
I will not be impacted by the closure currently, however, my mother has Alzheimer’s disease.
When the time comes that my father no longer can care for her, the choice of care homes will
be reduced if Home Lea is closed.
I am an elderly client solicitor and have seen the negative impact being moved far from home
can have on vulnerable people needing care.
Living locally, I do expect that family or friends will in the future have a need for these services.
No particular impact as I have property which would fund care, but there are significant others
who don’t have funds. My relatives are no longer local so Rothwell would not be my choice,
but again there are many many families who have been local residents throughout
50
Page 586

generations.
We don't want her to have to move again and move from the area where her only family are.
She is here with another family member so both are looked after and visited together. Family
are worried that it would make her dementia progress more. She wouldn't understand where
she is and the changes would affect her. She wouldn't understand the reason why she had to
move and her routine and familiar surroundings would change. Family might not visit as often
if she had to go further away.
I would be unhappy. I like it here. I feel unsettled sometimes anyway (not liking change and
getting easily confused). The resident says it would have a massive impact on her mental
health. She has long‐term mental health problems and has anxiety and depression which
would potentially get worse. She can get very distressed and needs the support of the care
team who knows her best and who she feels safe with.
At this age and in this state of health, it would be shocking for her to have to move. She has
lived in Rothwell all her life. We are nearby and would find it difficult to travel to see her. Her
closest friend is nearby. Home Lea House is her second family. It took a long time to find the
right home and mum is now settled. It would be awful at this stage to have to start again. This
is mum's home now. We think this will be the end for her if she has to move.
'Where would I go? Because I feel safe where I go now. I like to have a laugh'. Granddaughter
said she feels the change and move are not good for someone with dementia. It's worrying for
all the family. Some days she is a bit confused and because the team knows her well, we can
all work together.
They'd have to find me somewhere. I'm hoping I could be moved into my own house. It would
have to be somewhere where I could get about with my own wheelchair. I might need a bit of
help with my care.
I have been feeling very low in mood and this will just make me feel worse. I don't want to
leave here. I will miss all the staff who help me. I have a nice group of friends and I will miss
them. It's been a hard year and I lost my closest friend. I feel I wouldn't want to live if I had to
move.
Moving and disruption at a time when things are hard anyway with Covid 'I get very anxious
and worried about things anyway'. Daughter stated 'Staff at Home Lea know mum well and
help her with family ‐ in another home, they might not understand her as well, not give her the
right support and that could affect the care she receives. We feel mum is safe, well cared for
and takes pressure off. We feel guilty that we can't look after mum all the time but we know
she is well cared for'.
I can get very upset. I worry about lots of things ‐ anything out of my normal routine affects
me. Any changes upset me. At the moment, with Covid, it's a hard time to move and the
logistics will be hard. Losing the level of care. It would affect my health and wellbeing. It's a
big change at my age.
I'd be worried about the home closing. I've got family but I couldn't go to them. I'm a born
worrier ‐ I worry over everything. I don't want anything to change and I don't want to go to
another home. When I came here I felt really poorly and now I'm getting right again. I used to
have carers at home but I still kept falling. I've been depressed and worried before and made
myself poorly.
It's my home and I'd be upset if it closed. My brother says it's taking the freedom and choice
away. Family say it would be devastating for the resident. It would cause a lot of stress and
affect resident health. (anonymi gets very upset anyway. It has been hard for everyone and
51
Page 587

residents have been affected by Covid so it's adding another stress.
1 ‐ Because My Mother is double incontinent she requires the same facilities and care she has
now.
2 ‐ My Mother needs a W.C in her room and help to get to it also in the night time. We are
concerned that staff may not be available in a different home.
3 ‐ We care for Grandchildren all week which includes school drop off and pick up. If my
Mother is moved out of Rothwell the family may not be able to visit the same.
4 ‐ We need the same level of contact as we have now mobile and facetime.
5 ‐ We would be concerned about her health as she hates change.
It will mean starting again in another setting, building new relationships with colleagues and
customers. It also causes a certain level of anxiety wondering where I may end up working and
how far I may have to travel. I currently travel from Huddersfield to Home Lea but this is quite
an easy commute as it is mainly all motorway, whereas previously I have travelled to Yeadon
which is mainly A roads and took much longer. I have been very happy and settled while at
Home Lea and believe I have very good relationships with both customers and colleagues.
Having to move somewhere else means I have to start again, with the thought of am I going to
move again which the residents will probably think that too, so I may feel a bit unsettled.
Because I need to feel content with my surroundings and feel happy with the staff team and
the staffing levels. I'd be worried about being somewhere where there were lower standards.
I am happy with the support I receive at the moment. I have been at Home Lea before for
respite on several occasions before deciding to stay here. It was my first choice. I have a
range of health issues. I wanted to stay with my own GPs who are as kind and considerate as
the staff who look after me here. My family are happy with me being here. I don't want to
change my support network. The environment is exceptional and the food, cleaning and
garden.
I hope they never close this place down. I love it here. I don't know how I'd go on if I had to
move somewhere else. I'm worried about where I'd go. All the staff that work here would
have to find other jobs. Daughter states, they're wanting to make these savings but at a cost
to the weakest, elderly, infirm and vulnerable members of society. It could kill some people
early in the last years of their life.
I'd be most upset. I'd worry about where I was going to end up. I get on with everybody and
that might not be the case somewhere else. It took a while to find out where things were here
and fit in and get routines ‐ it would be hard to go to a new place and not know where
everything is.
It takes a while to get to know somebody. She has deteriorated mentally, but is doing well
physically and is happy because of how she is supported with her care there. She would
definitely need care in a home and she would find a move quite terrifying. She struggled to
move initially and would feel even more isolated and lost with another move. Continuity is a
massive thing for someone like the ‐ she won't know where she is.
Because I am concerned whether I will have a job.
Because as long as I have worked in Home Lea, I feel that I belong and I love all residents and
staff. It is very homely and should stay this way.
Very few homes left, the impact will be my job, income.
The impact on my 90 years old Mother would be catastrophic. She has resided in Home Lea for
two and a half years and it is her home. During the Covid 19 pandemic, the staff have become
her family as we have been unable to visit for the majority of the time and to move her could
make lost the will to live.
52
Page 588

I think closing Home Lea House would have a big impact on my mum's emotional well‐being.
She needs security of the people she knows and trusts at this time. Also I am currently in the
process of selling my mum's home. Losing her house where she has lived for almost sixty years,
as well as most of her possessions, has been very upsetting for her to have to deal with. Losing
two homes at the same time is awful for my Mother.
My nan is currently living in Home Lea due to her dementia and living alone was not working in
her best interests mentally. Our biggest fear as a family is the huge impact moving would have
on my nan's mental health. She has suffered with her nerves all her life and to see her so
relaxed and feeling safe and surrounded by familiar faces is a huge importance to us.
Just will.
I am currently doing a 12 month temporary post and will be returning to my substantive post
after the 12 months has finished.
Change of job. It will affect me financially. It is a job I enjoy.
Home Lea is a lovely home to work in. We have ‘outstanding’ in care delivery and it's a kick in
the teeth to shut our home when we are good at what we do. Covid has impacted everything,
however, given when the world can return to normal we could recover and become a fully
occupied home again if we were given a chance instead of closing us. I suffer with anxiety and
it can be difficult being placed in a new team and environment. I love my job and my team at
Home Lea.
Because I wouldn't have a job here anymore. I have worked for the Council for more than 20
years and I have been through this before. It wasn't nice wondering if I would have a job and
what would happen. I can get quite down and feel this will make things worse. We are a
good, supportive team and I rely on my colleagues who have helped me through some
challenging times.
I am afraid for my job. I have mortgage to pay and I worry I could possibly lose my job.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
They could do the right thing for the residents of Home Lea House and their families and
cancel the proposed closure!
The families of the residents are understandably very worried for their elderly relatives and
can have a devastating effect on their health and well‐being.
Ensure that whatever the plan is for residents and staff that we are informed immediately, not
at the last minute so we can plan and the residents can get used to knowing they will be
moving. It’s going to close so the hope that just maybe it might not has to be completely
dispelled.
Don’t close the home, simple as that. Reconsider where long term savings could be made. I
work in the public sector and am familiar with responding to funding cuts. Work more
efficiently, do not fill staff vacancies and reviewing how much you are charging for services are
longer term viable options for saving money.
Keep the home open.
Increase provision.
One option would be provision of local, modern assisted living accommodation, to facilitate
independence for longer. Professional, well trained carers should be a priority available at a
local level. Full time care should always be a last option.
Don't close the home. Leave the residents in a place where they are happy and settled and let
them see the rest of their days out where they want to be.
53
Page 589

Keep the home open. That's the only thing that's going to make any difference. Look to save
money in other areas.
Keep it open or make sure mum is kept locally with all the same support as she has now.
Not close the home. The family understand the financial side but 'people like nan and the
other residents shouldn't suffer from financial issues'. We strongly need somewhere close to
family. We have always seen her every day. We moved her to be near to us.
Make sure I still have the same level of care and support.
Keep the home open. Try and raise money to keep it open. How can the Council save the
money somewhere else?
Not to close Home Lea.
Help to know the options. Need for similar care and support. The best result would be that
they don't close this home but that, if they do, I go to Dolphin Manor. Make it more local for
family to access.
Help me to stop worrying. I'd feel better if they told me the home isn't going to close. I've
made myself poorly in the past with worry. I've been on anti‐depressants and I don't want to
go that way again.
Not close the home. The resident’s says they, the Council, have to look elsewhere ‐ the small
amount saved won't make a big difference ‐ rather than affect the elderly residents). They
should be getting better treatment.
1 ‐ Do not close Home Lea House.
2 ‐ Find a Council home in Rothwell with the same facilities.
3 ‐ With the same dedicated staff.
Don't close the home!! Other than keeping the home open, I don't really know.
Cut back elsewhere where possible.
Not close it. Feel sympathetic towards residents. Give the same quality of care in the same
area. I'd want to be able to move around in my wheelchair and still feel as independent and
be able to do things with the right level of support.
Aside from not closing it down, I don't know, because I don't know what the options are.
If the home closed I'd have to be helped to go somewhere very similar.
If the home is closed, it would impact her anyway. Help with the changes.
Ensure staff have good redeployment.
Stay open please, update the building, look after our elders. Let's keep them safe and happy.
Keep Home Lea open and update the building.
The Council could look again at the closure and move funds from other less important areas to
keep the home open. If closure occurs, current residents should be kept local so that they are
near to their relatives, as good quality affordable care is rare in the area.
I think if the closure goes ahead my Mother would benefit from moving to Dolphin Manor as it
is similar to Home Lea House.
KEEP HOMELEA OPEN!!!
I truly don't see how a closure wouldn't impact on my nan. Due to Covid 19, I also think the
impact would be even more destructive to my nan's mental health.
Keep the home open, as it's friendly and a homely place to live.
Possibly look at a partnership with NHS or LYPFT to use the space as it has in other services.
Leeds City Council could surely find other ways of saving money. The impact that it will have
on all involved is unfair. This home provides a safe and happy environment. All the residents
are happy, content and settled. To take all that away is disgusting.
54
Page 590

For a start, just as an example, send one man and a van out to fix car part runners, it does not
take 3 work men and 2 vans to do a simple task/job, just think what that costs to send all the
workmen out to do a one man 5 minute job. The list could go on.
Help me to get another job. Help the residents to find somewhere suitable.
There's a lot of MPs/Councillors that get paid a high wage/salary. May be they should have a
pay cut to help reduce Council spending. Also there are a lot of managers ‐ their roles could be
condensed to save money. Look at other services instead of our elderly.
Not close the home. Make savings elsewhere. Find suitable accommodation for the residents
if the home does have to close. Find alternative employment for the staff (with the residents).
Help with job interviews and training.
Not close the home. Make sure our jobs are safe.
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead, what do you consider to be
important for you / your relative in any future residential care home in relation
to the following?
Care and Support
Q9.1 Finding somewhere that meets my needs
Very
Quite
Not important at all Not
No reply
important
important
applicable
26
0
0
10
3

Well trained/friendly staff
Very
Quite
important
important
28
0

Not important at
all
0

55
Page 591

Not
applicable
9

No reply
2

Quality of care
Very
Quite
important
important
28
0

Not losing staff/carers
Very
Quite
important
important
21
6

Not important at all
0

Not important at all
1

56
Page 592

Not
applicable
9

Not
applicable
9

No reply
2

No reply
2

Not changing my routine
Very
Quite
important
important
19
6

Not having to pay more
Very
Quite
important
important
18
5

Not important at all
0

Not important at all
1

57
Page 593

Not
applicable
12

Not
applicable
13

No reply
2

No reply
2

Accommodation
Moving to new accommodation with friends
Very important Quite important
Not important at
all
16
7
5

Not
applicable
9

Having choice over the type of accommodation I live in
Very important Quite important
Not important at Not
all
applicable
22
2
1
12

58
Page 594

No reply
2

No reply
2

Finding accommodation that meets my needs
Very important Quite important
Not important at
all
25
0
0

Not
applicable
12

Good sized bedroom with ensuite bathroom and toilet
Very important Quite important Not important at
Not
all
applicable
17
8
0
11

59
Page 595

No reply
2

No reply
3

Plenty of social activities
Very important Quite important

Not important at
all
1

Not
applicable
11

Space for entertaining visitors in private
Very important Quite important Not important at
all
14
8
4

Not
applicable
11

15

10

60
Page 596

No reply
2

No reply
2

Enough space for some possessions and my own furniture
Very important Quite important Not important at
Not
all
applicable
12
13
1
11

Who provides and runs the home
Very important Quite important Not important at
all
21
3
1

61
Page 597

Not
applicable
9

No reply
2

No reply
5

Location
Having choice over where I live/receive respite
Very
Quite
Not important at all
important
important
26
0
0

Not
applicable
11

Close to shops/other facilities
Very
Quite
Not important at all
important
important
7
8
11

Not
applicable
11

62
Page 598

No reply
2

No reply
2

Good bus/train service
Very
Quite
important
important
10
7

Close to where I live
Very
Quite
important
important
19
5

Not important at all
8

Not important at all
3

63
Page 599

Not
applicable
12

Not
applicable
10

No reply
2

No reply
2

Near to family and friends
Very
Quite
important
important
19
5

Not important at all
1

Not
applicable
12

No reply
2

Other (please state)
All family members live locally and visit regularly. She gets a lot of pleasure from this.
It's important for the home to be well‐run and staff to be familiar and know Vera well. At
the minute, the family are all within walking distance.
You know that council care homes stick to the rules ‐ the quality of care is better, there's
less staff turnover and the staff are better trained. Must be near family.
For stability and because of dementia, it needs a secure manager and regular team ‐
familiar faces who know nan well.
I don't mind who runs the home as long as it's run well. I want to be in Kippax if possible.
I lived there all my life.
I'm not keen to move on. I suppose it would have to be Dolphin Manor.
The home has to be run well. It's been excellent. Needs to be very close to family.
Would like to be local because it makes it easier for family to visit (as they all use public
transport).
I need help with everything because I've got health problems and I can't see.
The most important thing is to be near my family in Rothwell.
Live locally with the same level of support.
I'd prefer it to be Leeds City Council after my experience with the private sector.
It's important to me to be near and with friends.
It has to be a good home. Activity is important but has to be tailored to (anonymised)
needs and interests.
N/A
I would like to work in a similar job not too far from where I live.
I need to be able to get to work on public transport.
If the home closed, I would like to be reassured that I have job to go to.
Q12. Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe
should be considered?
Reconsider the decision for closure, and invest in people, jobs and livelihoods.
Look at other areas within the Council where money is wasted and streamline the
64
Page 600

business as a whole to be more efficient.
Office staff could work from home, save money on buildings. Try and save money in other
areas rather than affect the elderly.
Save money in different areas e.g. cut down on staff offices, cut down on office overheads
and do more home based working.
The older people at the moment are more important than the young ones ‐ they're more
vulnerable ‐ they don't have time left and need to be cared for properly. They have been
through enough not seeing family. Leisure services can be put on hold and come to later
for example.
We don't want to talk about her going anywhere else because we think it would have to
be a last resort.
Not really ‐ if the home's losing money. Unless you can get the home full.
Don't close the home.
Better links with NHS to fill beds and reduce hospital bed blocking.
Any other options would be better than taking someone's home away (e.g. non‐vital
services ‐ there are important places and groups e.g. youth groups and Lotherton Hall)
that aren't someone's home.
I'd like the home to be kept open.
Family feel the Council should try and find the funds elsewhere ‐ don't take things away
from old folk. Especially for the small amount they will save through closure ‐ it can surely
be found elsewhere.
Leeds City Council should get together with other local councils to lobby Government for
extra
funding for Covid 19 safety measures in care homes and other services. Old people are
already selling their homes to pay for care. They cannot pay more.
Look at other options to save money.
Keep it open with same staffing levels. Get rid of some of the top bosses. Don't know.
Make some other cuts.
Look at other cost saving measures rather than closing my care home.
It is a problem. No matter what you do, you're going to cause upset. Get more people to
fill the homes.
N/A.
I think the Council should close other things instead of old people's homes. This is not a
luxury for my mum, this is her home. It is not fair for the people who live there.
Covid has impacted so many elderly people with loneliness. Mainly that I feel we need all
the homes we can for the future.
The amount of vans and workers that come to do the same job, too many bosses.
They could put more people in the home instead of closing it down.
Explore other services that can be condensed to save our home from closure. Explore new
directions for our home to go to help save it e.g. end of life care.
Find cuts elsewhere ‐ don't waste money on projects that aren't needed. Cut managers
where they aren't needed.
Q13. Finally, do you have any other comments?
As above.
As a staff member I would like to see the residents have time to get used to the idea that
65
Page 601

the home is definitely closing. It’s not fair that the words “may close” are used as it is
closing, we know that for sure. Giving them that bit of hope is cruel. Also the staff who
work there need to know what will happen to them so we can all make plans necessary for
our best interests too.
It is very disappointing that elderly care is undervalued still in 2021. Lack of investment,
such as modernisation of existing premises, allowance of big private companies to run
social care for profit is morally wrong. Every elderly person irrespective of their financial
means should receive care appropriate to their needs, in a local suitable environment.
These people have over the years contributed to society in a variety of ways, which
unfortunately is often unacknowledged by society in general. Staff in care homes and care
services should be well trained and monitored, they should also be paid a salary which
reflects the importance of their job. This would help in long term retainment of staff and
in time save some of the training costs which are incurred with high turnover of staff.
From Daughter‐in‐Law: It's wrong to close people's homes, they are vulnerable. Currently,
the situation is affected by Covid. We're worried that there aren't as many people in
because places have become vacant and potential residents and their families might be
reluctant to move in because of the threat of closure.
My mum has lived in Rothwell since 1952. She has been a Leeds City Council resident.
She should still have some say as to where she lives and that shouldn't be taken from her
at her age. We considered other homes and Home Lea was our choice. The Council
shouldn't be taking that choice away from her.
We desperately want the home to stay open and let my mum live in a nice secure place
where she's well looked after. (We would like to know if existing residents would have
priority over the home they want), aware of transitions social work team.
Granddaughter: We need her to feel safe. We know now that she feels secure and happy.
It's been a tough year and this has made it even tougher. We hope Home Lea House can
stay open. We are so worried about the upheaval and disruption and how it would affect
nan's mental health and wellbeing.
I like Home Lea House. I feel great for being here. I like to be independent and get the
help I need.
I'm very happy here. We're very well looked after.
Family need more ongoing support from social work team for future care and support.
The ideal scenario would be to keep the home open. If the Council can't then the most
support to me and my family. 'They should keep the home open because that's what we
all want'.
I was so fed up and poorly before I came here. It's helped me feel better living here.
The resident seems to be a lot happier than she was before coming to the home. She is
more talkative and outgoing. She's happy so the home is really good for her and us and
we don't want that to change. That must be due to how the home is run and the staff.
I think it would be a shame for the home to close and feel it will cause a lot of anxieties for
the customers and staff team.
Why do they want to close a home when it's detrimental to people's lives?
It's devastating news for the people living here. At any age being told that you're losing
your house is the worst thing that can happen to you. To lose your home, your friends,
your routine when you're happy, to cost cut ‐ there must be other ways of doing this. 'It's
our home'.
66
Page 602

If you close this home, there will be all the upheaval and upset. We're all elderly people.
I'm so impressed with the staff and home. It's one of the nicest homes I've been in.
Everyone is so accommodating and welcoming. It's an incredible place. She thrives there.
I sleep well knowing she's there. It's peace of mind for the family.
None.
Save Home Lea.
Leeds City Council have tried to close both care homes in Rothwell. Due to the lack of
success in closing Dolphin Manor, they have changed their plans to close Home Lea
instead. The statement saying that more people wish to have care in their own homes on
the report is misleading. Many of the residents in Home Lea have slight dementia and
have only been placed in a care home because they can no longer stay at home with
carers. My Mum has Parkinson’s Disease and Parkinson’s related dementia and needs 24
hour care. Having a warden in a flat would not fulfil her needs. She has experienced 3 local
independent care homes where she has suffered falls, and in one of them neglect to the
extent that she almost died of de‐hydration due to the lack of care and constant use of
agency staff who were not even aware of her situation.
I understand Council has budgets and cuts to make but through Covid 19 we have
protected the elderly and vulnerable massively and now closure of ANY homes is
devastating. I believe cuts for budgets could definitely be made in other ways. Let's not
let our elderly and vulnerable down!
We want the residents to be alright because Home Lea House is such a lovely home. If the
decision is made, we hope to be able to keep a job.
Home Lea is a happy home. Our residents love living here. They shouldn't have to face
the stress and anxiety/worry that comes from this process. It will be so much upheaval if
they have to move somewhere else, as they are vulnerable and should be living life stress
and worry free.
I am very committed to my work and hard working. I am worried for the residents and for
myself and my colleagues. I am worried about having to go for interviews at my age.
Home Lea House is a really good place to work. Staff are friendly and hard working.
Residents are lovely and very supportive families. Also Rothwell community is amazing.

67
Page 603

Richmond House General Public Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey
Results
(19 Responses)
After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you
understand why the Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
14
4
1

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Richmond
House short stay residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly
Agree
Neither agree Disagree
Strongly
agree
nor disagree
disagree
0

2

1

4

Please tell us the reason for your answer
68
Page 604

12

If the occupancy has been low for the past year, it’s not being used and I agree could be
closed to make savings, as long as existing occupants are moved or supported within
home care. If it does close then I agree with what is being proposed.
The beds are needed. What would happen to those people who don’t have the funds
constantly required for care.
Whilst it initially sounds an extreme measure to save money, after reading the paper and
levels of occupancy being below, 100% it does make economic sense. However, this must
be balanced with the needs of the people requiring care.
I don't think closing a service to vulnerable people is a good move but I understand the
reasons why the Council need to make budgetary cuts.
Short term care is essential to support carers.
There is no other facility like this in the west of the city. Family members of the residents
may not be able to travel across the city to visit their loved ones meaning the resident
may feel abandoned. This is not a good way to save cash! This will only put hardship on
residents, future residents and all of their relatives.
Again LCC has priorities all wrong. Why should we care for the elderly when you want
another silly cycle path? Why provide care for the elderly when you can raise Council Tax
3.99‐4% year on year and blame the government for “cuts” when you get paid £100k
annually salary wise? I strongly disagree with the closure of Richmond House. You have no
idea what the people of the real world have to endure. No idea at all and you certainly
have no idea about cost saving, given your silly road schemes/cycle super highway
rubbish.
Where else in the area provides the same provision?
You don't explain how many people went through Richmond House during a year. If
average occupancy is 62% presumably this is not unexpected for some term return to
own home accommodation. If closed where do these people go? No doubt they will
become more institutionalised in a home forever. This will increase council costs paying
for long term care.
I put up a change.uk poll on the local Farsley Community What’s On Facebook page and
over 1200 signatures were obtained from members of the public objecting to the closure.
It is a very much required facility in West Leeds and I am afraid to say that LCC have
deliberately run the numbers down to try and show that it is not required. Richmond
House is a far better facility than the one in Beeston and it is easier for relatives to access.
LCC have tried this tactic before as they see this is valuable land for building on. From
figures I have seen on savings it is very short sighted.
It has a wonderful track record of caring for people. Well respected in the community.
We need to keep this home. Please rethink.
There are no similar facilities in this area but for some reason, it isn't being used in
appropriate circumstances. My Mum was sent to Middleton, from Pudsey, for 10 weeks,
my 82 year old Dad drove there and back, 3 times each day, they have been married for
over 60 years, they need each other, they have a big family but it isn’t the same.
Fortunately, he was physically and financially able to do this, I don’t wish for others to be
in this position. Look at why it isn't being used. Look at where our residents are currently
being sent further afield, why and what this costs. Put energies into promotion and
alignment to current, local needs. Work with ALL people, professional and public to find a
way forward to keep Richmond House for its current demographic. The community
respect this facility and will rally to support it.
69
Page 605

There is an ongoing need for respite facilities like Richmond House to allow people to
recover outside of a hospital setting, to free those beds up especially in times of a
pandemic.
A service that needs promoting and being allowed to be used to its full potential.
Short‐term care helps recovering people to prepare for the next step without making
them too reliant on others. It gives them a positive experience.
When our elected people make decisions re. savings, the research to put suggestions
forward is made by unaccountable officers regardless of the impact on local services.
Surely one cannot justify the employment of people higher up. Adult services who cost
the tax payer yet provide no direct service, that’s where I would begin. Councillors of any
persuasion in times past were more involved and defended the vulnerable.
Over the years I have had several friends and relatives who have been grateful for the
care and respite that Richmond House provides, both for patients and their relatives.
Respite is the description of the facilities and that is what is provided. We are all getting
older and these council care homes are getting fewer and fewer. The thought of a few
weeks in there to get back on one's feet, is surely better than facing longer spells in
hospital or a permanent care home. Try saving money in other ways. Stopping cycle lanes
would be my choice for saving vast amounts of money. Care facilities are used
significantly more than the cycle lanes and are much more in use than cycle lanes.
I first went to Richmond House about five years ago after I had broken my hip. I had two
stays there and had physio and rehab before I returned to my own home. I was dealt with
kindness, caring good humour from all there and because of their support I was able to
return home. After that I have returned regularly for respite care so my daughter who
looks after me can go on holiday. The care team have remained the same and treat me
like an old friend. I feel comfortable there and enjoy going. It is a lovely place and from
catering staff, cleaners and care staff, all are lovely. It is clean, a well‐appointed home
from home. Why would you want to close somewhere like that?
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on
you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
4
7
8

70
Page 606

Please tell us the reason for your answer
I live in Farsley, however have never had to visit the centre in question.
I do not have relatives with a need as yet.
I live in the locality but have no direct involvement with the care home.
I am not a user of the service.
The older population is increasing and we need services to meet need, especially in times
of family breakdown/crisis.
At this stage I have not used the facility nor would potentially have use for it in the short‐
term ‐ however I feel it is a very necessary facility for the west of the city.
My father is 90 years old, he is currently in hospital and has been admitted on two other
occasions since July. He is at the stage where this provision would help him adjust from
being in hospital and getting on his feet for going home.
We are all getting older and will need this service in the future.
Many of the people who use this facility are from Pudsey, Farsley, Calverley, Rodley,
Bramley and Stanningley and it has easy access for friends and relatives to visit.
I may need this facility at some point but as treasurer of an elderly person lunch club, I
know how important this local facility is.
To me at this time, none, although it has in the past affected my immediate family (see
first response). It's not about me, it's about my community, which includes old as well as
young. I know many older people and many people who have older family members.
Richmond House would be ideal for many who find themselves in need of services, but
they are sent elsewhere much further away. Many can't travel far so absence is enforced.
This impacts others’ health and is totally avoidable and a hidden cost.
I currently don’t have anyone in my family that are in need of their services.
I live in the area and I have friends who live local and work in Richmond House.
I live round the corner from Richmond House. It would be an ideal venue if I had to
recover from hospitalisation.
No service locally for the area, pressure on NHS, more deaths, increased pressure on
families. As an older person, just imagine the Council’s hands when they cannot fulfil a
need!
71
Page 607

My husband and I are in reasonable health and may not need to have care. We have a
family unit that is strong but there are lots of elderly people that have no other means of
care. For people to have to come out of hospital to an empty house must be terrible. I
know that there can be care packages put in place but that is not the same as having
someone around all the time.
It is one of the very few places that is affordable. A lot of other places charge a lot more
money, have fancy features but the care is not as good. We cannot afford to go to some
of these places anyway so my daughter will not be able to have a holiday which she
needs.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
Plan in advance!!! Ensure residents have a place to go before closure. Tell local residents
plans for the building when it’s closed. People do not like to see run down derelict
buildings in this village and a lot of people will want to know what’s happening to the site
once it closes.
A phased approach to closing the care home must be done, taking into account the needs
of all the residents, the staff and families affected.
Keep Richmond house open and consider alternative cuts elsewhere in the Council's
services.
Look at other areas where they waste budgets.
Leave the facility alone, it is needed and fulfils a need to residents in the west of the city.
Don’t close the care home!!!
Sell some of their empty premises and unused equipment.
Charge for the cost of the accommodation on a means tested basis. Alternatively offer the
property as a community asset and get someone else to run the property as a need for
this type of accommodation exists.
Keep it open for future generations of old people.
Keep this facility open and save money elsewhere.
Keep it open by understanding why it is low occupancy when the local need is so great
then fix that problem.
Maintain funding and recognise its value.
Leave it open.
Make savings in other sections of their remit or raise Council Tax.
Use money it has in other areas to support this local service. Keep the service.
Keep places like Richmond House open and cut back on things like the previously
mentioned cycle lanes. You can drive miles down the road between Leeds and Bradford
without seeing a single cyclist. They cause more disruption for other road users and
pedestrians.
Not close the place or offer places of a standard the same as Richmond House for the
same money.
Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe should be
considered?
Keep it open, develop it to have day services as well providing respite for carers.
As above.
Less spent on external services.
72
Page 608

Stop wasteful spending on car parks, hotels and city of culture 2023 among other things!
Look after your residents properly.....
You should look to scrap the pointless bus lane schemes, aimed at increasing car
congestion for your precious bus contracts with First. Would save how many millions???
Transfer to another party to run it as a business.
From the amount of money they are saving, no. They could stop some of the other hair
brain schemes they come up with, which quite frankly do not work but the Leader and
other members think they look good.
Understanding what the issues are rather than killing the problem.
None.
As above.
As above.
How about not seeing it as a foregone conclusion in the first place. Look at a cost benefit
analysis and determine how you can take a hard look at people’s salaries in relation to a
diminished service.
There is no other alternative. Neither myself or my daughter who is my carer can afford
to pay more.
Finally, do you have any other comments?
Times have changed and people live at home longer. If the Council can close this home
and offer people better care in home or a more equipped centre then I see no reason why
it shouldn’t be closed. Staff MUST be reassigned locally, however, I feel this is only fair if
you decide to close the site. You must have alternative employment for those care staff.
No.
Look at wage costs for top posts ‐ is it right that a fairly junior post in the administration
pays a larger salary than those who run the country??
I think I’ve said all I need to.
Please think about our community and the care needed, especially for the older citizens.
If this property does close what is proposed for the site?
No.
Only to say a facility like this cannot and should not be replaced elsewhere.
How local needs will be met both to the patients and the needs of their families.
I hope the campaign to keep Richmond House and similar facilities open is a success.
If it closes, as you are planning, local people will draw attention to who it is across our city
who are making these decisions and involve the press and MPs.
I think I have covered all my concerns.
Yes, I understand the Council has money problems but why close a well‐run, well‐staffed
place. I am sure savings could be made in other ways. If the place isn’t full all the time
why not do something to ensure it is. Once people go there they want to go again. Where
can people go to give carers a break that doesn’t cost the earth? I suspect this is not a
real consultation and that the decision has already been made, but I think you are wrong.
You talk a lot about carers and looking after them but provide nothing for carers if they
have no money, it’s all talk. In addition, I got this form on 23rd March, closing date for
consultation is 26th March. How on earth could I fill it in and post it back! I have had to
get someone to type it for me, as I say you have already made the decision and are just
pretending to go through the motions.
73
Page 609

74
Page 610

Richmond House Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey Results (20
Responses)
Are you a?
Resident
Respite
Relative
Representative Staff member
resident
12
2
3
1
4
Please note the answer to the above could be more than one category.

The information you have read at the start of this survey explains the
background to these proposals and outlines the consultation process. Have
you read it or had it fully explained to you?
Yes
No
20
0

75
Page 611

After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you
understand why the Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
19
0
1

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Richmond
House short stay residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly
Agree
Neither agree Disagree
Strongly
agree
nor disagree
disagree
1

1

2

5

11

Please tell us the reason for your answer
I do not feel like Richmond House has been supported, not just through the pandemic,
76
Page 612

but beforehand. As stated, only 60% of the beds were full, but it hasn’t been taken into
consideration about the residents we are getting in and staff numbers on the floor. We
can have 10 residents and it can feel full due to individual needs. Nobody explained to
staff about the change in residents we were receiving and the issues they had, or even
ages. (Not elderly men and ladies ‐ young people with serious mental
health/alcoholics/drug addicts). If staff were updated and provided training for this, it
would have been managed better. Richmond House has so much potential to be a ‘safe
place’ if support to the home was given. Admissions were being held back due to the lack
of this, especially when only x2 members of staff were allowed on the floor due to low
numbers but dealing with high dependency residents. We all feel we have been given up
on.
The staff are good and you get looked after well. It's a nice place to be.
Because there are a lot of unwell people in this place.
If you're in hospital you need somewhere to recuperate. It's a local home. Family can
come and see you. It's not far to come. You get well looked after. If you need help,
they're there all the time. The staff are all friendly. The other place I went to was all very
old people. I want to live somewhere like this where there's staff all the time.
We don't want it to close. The staff are like family. I love it here. I love everything about
it. It's a bit like a hospital and a home.
I came here because I was stuck in hospital for a long time. The staff here help me with
washing myself, cleaning my room, making my meals. They got me new clothes. I need
more help otherwise things go back to the same way. They will help me with that here.
It's up to the Council because it's a business. If you are not meeting your targets, it's no
use moving forwards.
You never know when you might need a service like this and they aren't close together.
People need this help and the staff are kind. It's a nice home.
Because things change. The Covid pandemic means we don't know what things will be
like in 6 months. The care staff do a great job. I've never been in a place like this before.
They work hard, make you feel comfortable and do the best they can.
Over 10 years we have struggled to get respite, which allows us to continue to care.
Richmond House has been the most consistent, high quality service in the whole of Leeds
for respite. It's the one service where I have peace of mind. The best care elderly frail
people can have is with their family but quality respite is essential to keep this going. It's
an easy target but very short‐sighted in the long term. The people who use the service
deserve continuity.
My 87 year old mother is familiar with the routine of a two week stay at Richmond House.
It’s local for my nieces and I to pop in. The staff are great, my mum looks forward to 2
weeks over the Christmas period and 2 weeks in August which allows me to have a
holiday with my family. It’s a local home ‐ the rest of the family is too far away. There’s
just me and her niece in Pudsey so it is local to us to take her there and back because she
doesn’t like travelling with taxis or other transport. We have tried other places and it is a
lot more money and not as good quality.
It just needs to fill its rooms up. It's a nice home with friendly staff. When you come out
of hospital and you can hardly walk like I could ‐ they can handle it.
A decision has to be made. If it's not financially viable to keep it going then the residents
will have to be dispersed amongst other homes. I have found it a good place, people try
and do their best for you here.
77
Page 613

They need to look after people. These people who work there are very helpful and will
lose their jobs. The people who live there might end up on the streets. The people who
live there are very poorly. The residents and staff deserve much better.
I understand the budget position and the occupancy at Richmond House has been low
since I have been in post and I do believe the service can be provided in other ways. If the
customers were permanent residents then I would perhaps hold a different opinion on
the proposal but the customers here are short stay and do not have any ties to the
service. They will all be moving on at some point.
Part of the information is about people going into permanent care at the start of the
form. Given that affordable options for carers are reducing, there are so few places for
respite across the city without a massive top‐up. It means that, as a carer, you have very
little, if any choice of where to go. Sitting services are increasingly expensive. For some
people, the cost is a massive issue. There needs to be some way of getting a break to
allow us to keep caring for people at home. There is a consistent, well‐trained, person‐
centred staff group and dad loves them all. It's provided very good care ‐ daughter can go
on holiday because she has full confidence that they will look after dad well.
They want to save money. They will have nowhere to go. They shut all the centres down
‐ even the new ones get shut down now. I've been in centres and a hostel and they
flattened that down. People are alright here. The staff put you to bed and give you a
bath or a shower. They help me.
Richmond House is well known for being a caring well‐run establishment. It doesn't have
a quick turnover of staff. Many have worked at Richmond House for many years. Outside
agencies have regularly commented at how we look after our customers with pride and
full respect. I think it would be a shame to close a well‐run highly committed and
dedicated team/home down.
I do not agree at all and believe the Council is being very short sighted and denying
people like my mother and myself the local authority respite facility. 10 years ago my
mother was assessed and I was assessed regarding care needs. My mother has dementia;
arthritis; glaucoma; coeliac to mention a few of her ailments. These have only worsened
over the last 10 years, including falls with broken bones (one in rehab ‐ Green Lane as
recent as yesterday at 21.3.01). Jane Atkinson, the social worker at the time, assessed her
needs as needing respite 42 days a year. The last year this service denied due to Covid.
At no time has any social worker consulted me about the closure and given any useful
information about any alternative local authority respite provision. Unpaid carers like me
save the local authority thousands of pounds looking after disabled people. It is
disgraceful that the local authority propose to cut this service, which is the one thing that
I as my mum's full time carer value more than anything. Until Covid it was a service that I
utilised 100% and the staff provided excellent respite care for (anonymised), unlike any
provision.
I understand to what has been said about the closure, that old people do not want to be
in such a setting which doesn't motivate them to still be alive. The building was built for
nursing people, they, the rooms are not en‐suite most of them that residents have to use
commode or walk out of there to bedrooms to use toilets which are communal.
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on
you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
78
Page 614

11

3

6

Please tell us the reason for your answer
I worked so hard for this role. For 5 years I was on the local care force agency and this was
the only home I came to where I felt at home. Only last year I got the position and I’ve
never felt so happy and complete in what I did. The managers and staff are all so
wonderful and approachable. The hours suited my life as I have a two year old.
It would be such a huge shame and such a sad day if Richmond closes. I feel so passionate
about it. It would impact on my life hugely.
I won't be here because I am going home but I still don't think it should be shut.
I like it here, I feel safe, I've got used to it.
I'm going to move on. I know it will take time. It all depends whether there is somewhere
I can go from here. I'm wondering about where I'll go next.
I hope I won't still be here and they will have helped me move on. I'm waiting for my
home to be cleaned.
There will be an impact for people who don't/won't/can't live privately. People would be
worried about where they will go.
I'll be going back home, but if something happened in future, you might need it again.
There's an impact on the other people, especially people who are here longer.
Because I don't know what happens next.
People who are full‐time carers will hit a brick wall and won't be able to continue caring if
they don't have trusted respite to be able to alleviate some of the pressure and allow for
some time off. Respite has been the most valuable support the local authority has been
able to give us. When the Green shut, I had great trouble finding another place, then we
tried Yeadon and that shut. When we got to Richmond House, we were able to book
regular respite and plan ahead, which we couldn't anywhere else. We have great anxiety
that the service is just being withdrawn. The need for respite will increase, not decrease.
79
Page 615

My mum has dementia (and has had it for 10 years), has benefitted from the continuity
from the team at Richmond House and has remembered and mentioned Richmond House
to the hospital staff recently.
I will have to cancel the summer holiday with my children and be available 24/7 365 days
of the year, unless alternative arrangements could be put in/be in place for summer and
Christmas. At some times over the past year, because of Covid restrictions, they couldn’t
take her anymore and I am desperate for some respite.
I won't be here. Other people will be.
I live on my own and my family aren't close by so it doesn't make much difference where
I'm staying. To somebody else, it may make a big difference. Everybody has a different
situation.
It's very bad to move him. The people who work with these people know the residents
well. (my brother) needs 24 hour care from people who understand him. People are
poorly and will get more poorly and stressed and it's not right, especially at this time.
I am hopeful that if Richmond House does close I will be granted ELI and be able to take
early retirement.
Daughter says dad goes happily to the home and enjoys the care and support. Daughter,
Fiona can go away with confidence and know dad is okay ‐ needs a break emotionally,
physically and psychologically from caring (with peace of mind). Daughter wouldn't be
able to go on holiday if the home were to close because dad wouldn't want to go
anywhere else and the strain of caring would hugely increase.
I won't be here, will I? But other people were here before I came. I don't know if they
would still be here.
There is no other Council home in this area. I live in a very isolated place with no means
of transport as my husband has not long passed away. It would mean walking to catch
two buses late at night/early morning. I would also miss the support of my
friends/colleagues who I have worked with for many years.
It will 100% affect my ability to permanently care for my mother and give such stress and
ill health to myself and my family not being able to plan any break in my 100% care of my
mother. I have other care commitments to my grandchildren too and what kept me going
was knowing every few weeks I could plan for mum's care to be taken over by a group of
people who really understand my mother's care needs and responded appropriately. I
believe the Council are targeting unpaid carers as an easy target for cuts. It is the case
that no alternative provision from the local authority has been discussed with myself.
It will be a significant impact to my system because I am getting old and starting
something new will be a good challenge for me. Anyway, when I joined the Council in
2008 I managed to upgrade myself educationally and gained an Honours degree in Youth
and Community Development in 2012. I can work with young people in residential which
will be good for me. However, 3 years ago I managed to gain a Diploma in Adult and
Social Care which can be useful, hence I have duty of care and I can work with parents and
their children.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
The Council need to speak up. SUPPORT US! Listen to staff concerns, have some answers
as to why we have never had a meeting about the clientele in, and when requested one,
everyone is always too busy. Keep us open, supply us with the training and keep us in the
loop.
80
Page 616

Don't know.
Keep it open to help everybody. If they close this down, where's other people going to
go.
This is the first time I've been in a home so I don't know what somewhere else would be
like.
Provide another house for them with all the care needed (or send people back to their
family with help by sending carers to their family house).
Don't close it. Keep people close to home and family. When my dad was in a council
home and it closed, he had to go to Bingley and it was awkward for family to get there.
Obviously finding somewhere adequate to move to, may be another care home.
Ensure that there is an equivalent service. I'd like to know what and where and have a
plan in place. I'd rather that a facility which is working perfectly well was not closed. The
demand for respite will not decrease. It's only going to increase with the effects of long
Covid and also as Covid restrictions allow respite again, there will be a much higher need.
People are waiting to have a break and are in great need of it to be able to continue
caring.
Please keep it open, or make similar alternative accommodation. We would like to not be
forgotten about and have the same respite times, the same cost and the same level of
care.
They need to get some more clients.
The Council needs to do their best to make sure your needs are cared for.
It's not right to close the home. There is such a high quality of care.
Keep somewhere like Richmond House open or provide an alternative at local authority
rates so carers can get a break (of a similar standard of care). Why couldn't it be used
better as a hub? It's not known about enough, which makes it under‐utilised. They used
to have physios and OTs ‐ given that hubs are bursting at the seams, why couldn't it be
used that way?
I don't know.
Provide an immediate named local authority short term/respite provision that is
guaranteed I will be able to use in the near future.
First I need my redundancy pay or Early Leavers if not then secondly, I need to work with
young people, if possible not in another home with elderly people no. I am a mature
woman which will make sense for me for the 3 choices I have put across. Most
importantly I am a single woman and I have never been on benefit since I came to the UK
21 years ago.
Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe should be
considered?
We haven’t been full because of the reasons I’ve stated. Fill us up, let us have more staff
on shift, provide us with training and see what difference it can make.
There must be other ways to save money. The government should give the Council more
money.
They could charge people to stay permanently. If they kept it open, they could make it
into a permanent home and people could stop here all the time. I like it here and would
stay here.
I don't know.
81
Page 617

The Council needs to look at why they are not meeting their targets. Do they need to
reduce the workforce or add more patients?
I've heard they've spent a lot on making changes in the city centre (pavements and cycle
lanes). The Council needs to think more about other areas where people live.
The Council doesn't appear to have an option, the way that it's put here because the
figures show a massive gap. It makes sense in a business sense but not for the people
that live in the homes.
If you contacted all the respite customers from prior to Covid (over the previous year) you
would find a higher need. What time frame was used to compile the statistics? There has
been a freeze on respite so this has affected the occupancy figures over the last year.
They should put the prices up for respite. It's much cheaper than my mother going into a
home 24 hours.
None.
Why not let all the rooms out?
I don't know.
Disabled and poorly people need special help, especially at this time when people can be
very low. The Council should keep places and good staff because these are the people
who need it most.
Not a money‐saving approach, but it could be better used. It's been refurbished and has
great facilities.
I don't know.
Respite home.
I do not believe the local authority should reduce/stop any respite provision. It is short
sighted and not cost effective in the long term. Us unpaid permanent carers gave Leeds
local authority 13 billion pound a year as it is.
As for Richmond House, the best thing is to demolish it and build new housing or flats for
elderly people to live. As for me, my Early Leavers and redundancy pay, that will be nice.
Finally, do you have any other comments?
Please listen to staff. We know better than anyone, it’s so unfair during a pandemic
especially. I have worked through the whole thing and my mental health has been hit
hard. I know Richmond House is better than this. Thank you.
It's not fair on the staff.
No, because all the staff are nice and make you welcome.
While there's a pandemic (and all the time) it's a safe place. I'm worried about the staff
and the other residents and where they will all go.
The staff are alright. They help me and make sure I get a shower and my tablets.
I like the service here. They are very respectful and they make the house like a family
house. They don't treat you like a patient. They listen to your problems and advise you if
you need it.
Where would you go if you closed this home? Would you have to go further and how
would people visit? A lot of people haven't got cars. It will also affect people's jobs.
Although it might be a quick cut, if you look at what the local authority saves through
having carers caring, that saves much more. Demand for respite won't decrease but
demand for 24 hour care, which is more costly will increase as a direct consequence of
short breaks being in shorter supply.
82
Page 618

We do our bit and although I get 2 weeks off here and there, I think we save the Council a
lot of money. The time off we get is a godsend – we really need it.
Obviously, if you're closing somewhere, you're losing facilities, so it must be a difficult
decision. I've found the care here has been very good. People are interested in you and
your health. They're all doing their best.
Everybody should have rights and be well looked after.
The level of care is what is important. It's not about the building, it's about the care the
team shows towards the residents (which is very individual and very personalised).
It's alright here. I like it.
I think it will be a very sad day when we close.
I am horrified at the poor level of care provided by the rehab centre that the local
authority is using for people discharged from hospital (Green Lane). My mother, Joan
Scott was a previous regular respite user of Richmond House.
My Early Leavers and redundancy pay please.

83
Page 619

4b) Home Lea House and Richmond House closure proposals
Consultation Submissions and Responses Please note names have ben redacted.

Page 620

Submission
1. Why is it not possible to negotiate with the NHS to have
therapeutic input at Richmond House again? This joint
working of physiotherapists, occupational therapists,
including one expert on splints, and a joint care
manager, worked well with the care home staff? This is
needed more than ever now for those people who are
stuck in care homes waiting for (re-)assessment by
social workers under the Care Act and/or Mental
Capacity Act and new care packages to be put together
to be able to go home. I know from personal experience
that this is an even lengthier wait at the moment due to
Covid restrictions.

Raised By
On behalf of
Leeds
Hospital Alert

Response
Richmond House did operate very successfully as an intermediate
care resource (known at the time as Community Intermediate Care,
CIC). However when the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
reviewed the Community Intermediate Care (CIC) service, they
At Outer West identified a different set of priorities for the Community Care Bed
Community
service. Leeds Adults & Health were successful in bidding to the
Committee
new specification and secured, in partnership with Leeds
meeting in
Community Healthcare, two new nursing services and one
February 2021 residential service, in buildings owned by LCC across Leeds. The
CCG will be reviewing their commissioned service in the next 18
months but at present have commissioned 227 beds across the city
and are content that they have sufficient resource available to them.
Continuing Health Care (CHC) nurses were not able to undertake
assessments from March to August last year. As such, as number of
individuals who were thought to be in need of Continuing Health
Care funding in a nursing care setting were awaiting reassessment.
Once the service was able to recommence, social workers worked
with the CHC team to review/reassess everyone who was in that
position, these assessments were concluded by 31st December
2020.
Adults and Health are not seeing long wait times for independent
home care packages, and there is a range of good quality
residential care provision in the city, with 25 of the 35 homes within
5 miles of Richmond House CQC dementia registered.
84

Submission
2. How many people, how long are they waiting, and how
much is the Council paying for these people who are
stuck in private homes waiting for re-assessment and
packages of care? Couldn't this be spent on
professionals for Richmond House instead?

Page 621

3. I was not reassured to learn of the large number of
vacancies in private care homes in west Leeds as a
measure of availability of places and stability of the
market. Has Adults and Health done a survey to find out
how many of these care home businesses will survive
the pandemic?

Raised By

Response

On behalf of
Leeds
Hospital Alert

As described above, there was one group of people who were
waiting for CHC assessment and during the period in which the
CHC team were unable to assess, the CCG funded their care.

At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting in
February 2021

In addition, the NHS have provided temporary funding to the CCG to
support hospital discharge during the pandemic. The CCG have
used this funding to commission a small number of community beds
(nursing and residential) across the city, and as part of this
Discharge to Assess process; people are supported to stay there
while their needs are assessed and their care arranged at home or
in another residential care or nursing home. Their needs are
assessed very quickly and a sizeable proportion of the people who
are discharged in this way, return home within a week to ten days.

On behalf of
Leeds
Hospital Alert

The 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond House are owned by
30 different providers; ranging from individual owners, small to
medium enterprises through to large national providers. Adults and
Health work closely with Leeds Care Association and care home
providers to understand any pressures affecting the market, and
have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to understand
impact of Covid on cost pressures for care homes.

At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting in
February 2021
4. Surely it is premature to plan the closure of Richmond
On behalf of
The pilot service at South Leeds Recovery Hub offers nursing
House before a full study is done into the acknowledged Leeds
provision for people with the most complex needs including people
gap in the need for places for people with complex
Hospital Alert with dementia. Adults & Health previously reviewed different models
needs, including dementia and nursing care, which Cath
of care and support that could be offered at Richmond House,
Roff said is being trialled in the 10 pioneering places at
At Outer West however the size of the home made the cost per head prohibitive for
the South Leeds Recovery Hub?
Community
investment by the CCG, which would be a requirement for the
Committee
provision of this type of service.
85

Submission

Page 622

5. “ Richmond House has a reputation second to none for
supportive, person-centred and effective rehab care for
older people.

Raised By
Response
meeting in
February 2021 The Integrated Commissioning Executive has taken a number of
reports which have attempted to model the needs of people with
complex dementia and as a result the following service
developments have been put in place, as detailed in the Leeds
Integrated Market Position Statement 2019-22; NHS development of
intensive and responsive specialist support to care homes, an
individualised approach to funding of care, including transitional
support to leave hospital as well as long-term funding; and the
development of training in ‘leadership in dementia care.’
On behalf of
Leeds
Hospital Alert

Successful rehab for older people coming out of hospital
is extremely cost-effective for both the NHS and Social
At Outer West
Care.
Community
Committee
The "market" in Care Home/Respite/Rehab
meeting 18th
accommodation is extremely unstable (and likely to be
January 2021
more so after the pandemic). If Richmond House
closes, private provision is unlikely to meet these needs
in future.
When you break up a good staff team in a care home
they are gone forever. ”

Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. It has not provided rehabilitation services since 2017 when the
service was de‐commissioned by Leeds CCG.
The CCG commission citywide Community Care Beds for rehabilitation.
Adults & Health previously reviewed whether Richmond House could
offer CCB provision, however the size of the home made the cost per
head prohibitive.

Care Home/Respite Alternative provision
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond
House, to arrange a short break or an extended short day depending on
the need of the individual and their family / carer.
Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social
worker will approach care homes at the time required, and if there is
capacity, will spot commission a short break or extended short stay

86

Submission

Raised By

Response
depending on need.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds
Boundary within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good,
one as outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14
are CQC dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and
4 offer both.
There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles
of Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as
good, one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are
awaiting inspection. 11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are
residential and 7 offer both residential and nursing care.

Page 623

Short Stay Residential Alternative provision
There are 258 beds (not including Richmond House) across the city
providing short term care and support, in addition to the at home
services.
There are 8 short term beds in services within 5 miles of Richmond
House (all D2A beds).
Hutton Manor (awaiting inspection), with 5 residential dementia D2A
beds is 2.3 miles from Richmond House;
St Luke’s (to be inspected), with 3 nursing D2A beds is 2.5 miles from
Richmond House.
By comparison, there are 84 short term beds that are 6 miles or less
from Richmond House, all at provisions rated as Good or To be
Inspected,
87

Submission

Raised By

Response
Between April and August 2020 occupancy rates in community care
beds across the city ranged from 53% to 78%.
Occupancy Rates at Richmond House
Over the last three years, 11 individuals from the Farsley area (with
postcode LS28 5) attended Richmond House. For the wider LS28
postcode area over the same time period 37 individuals attended
(including the 11 above). Total number of individuals attending over
that time period is 196. Of the 11, most stayed for between 2 and 41
days (one was 138 days) with an overall average stay of 30 days.

Page 624

Richmond
House
(built 1971)
12.58
63%

6. “Leeds UNISON believes it is because of Covid that the
last 11 months Richmond House has been under used.

On behalf of
Leeds Unison

monthly
occupancy
Average 2016/17
14.83
74%
occupancy
Average 2017/18
14.58
73%
occupancy
11.42
57%
Average 2018/19
occupancy
Average 2019/20
10.67
53%
occupancy
Occupancy levels
10
50%
at 4 January 2021
Occupancy rates at Richmond House.
The home supports a citywide short term care and support offer

88

Submission
LCC upgraded Richmond House extensively in 2018 to
ensure it was fit for purpose to accommodate residents
comfortably. By closing Richmond house the money
that was spent will be wasted.

Raised By
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting 18th
January 2021

Richmond House was awarded a CQC rating of good.

Page 625

Leeds UNISON believes there may be an alternative to
closing Richmond House. The alternative would be to
turn it into a residential dementia care unit. The Green
in Seacroft provided long term care for dementia
patients, but this was closed by the Council. The
closure of the Green was strongly opposed by Leeds
UNISON at the time. LCC has only 10 specific beds for
service users with Dementia care across the City.
Caring for people who are suffering from dementia is a
specialised job that requires skills, understanding,
patience, and commitment. Leeds UNISON believe if
Richmond House was opened as a Residential Care
home specialising in dementia care this would give
people who have family members suffering from
dementia the reassurance that their loved ones were
being cared for in a safe environment.

Response
along with Community Care Beds. People are referred to a suitable
short term provision based on their individual needs and
preferences.
Over the last three years, 11 individuals from the Farsley area (with
postcode LS28 5) attended Richmond House. For the wider LS28
postcode area over the same time period 37 individuals attended
(including the 11 above). Total number of individuals attending over
that time period is 196. Of the 11, most stayed for between 2 and
41 days (one was 138 days) with an overall average stay of 30
days.
Building Maintenance Work
Since 2018, there has been £216,870 capital and revenue spend on
Richmond House, in order to carry out essential maintenance works
to ensure the building remains “wind and watertight” and suitable for
the people residing there. This has included some larger works
such as a new lift and replacement windows at Richmond.
Richmond House is 50 years old (built 1971) and falls within the
Grade B category which indicates stock condition is satisfactory and
performing as intended but exhibiting some deterioration. Further
long term capital investment in the region of £300 to £500k will be
required to bring the building and facilities up to a good standard in
order to comply with current legislation and support continued use
as intermediary care facilities. Existing mechanical services are in
need of attention to prevent major break down of the plants
associated items along with upgrades to the electrical installation,
wind and weathertight items and associated building works.
Additionally the cost for full refurbishment is estimated to be £1.7m

If LCC go ahead with closing Richmond House this will
be another important resource that will be gone from
Farsley and the west of Leeds.”

89

Submission

Raised By

Response
which far outweighs the spend in recent years.
Alternative use as residential dementia care
There is already a range of good quality residential care provision in
the city, 25 of the 35 homes within 5 miles of Richmond House are
CQC dementia registered. However, there is an undersupply of
nursing provision for people with the most complex needs. To
respond to this need, the council with partners is piloting this type of
provision in the South Recovery Hub, which is possible as Leeds
Community Healthcare provides the nursing care.

Page 626

Given the age of the building it may be uneconomical to remodel.
Consultant Norfolk Property Services has stressed that
refurbishment alone will not meet current statutory requirements
and nationally described space standards due to the some corridor
widths being too narrow and a number of bedroom sizes being too
small. To meet this standard major structural and internal alteration
will need to be carried out.
High level refurbishment budget costings indicate that a capital
spend of IRO £1.7m would be required to bring the property up to
current required standard including nationally described space
standards and to meet the minimum requirements set out in the
Leeds Model for housing with care.
Given the Gross Internal Area of Richmond House this would
equate to approximately £1150 per sqm to refurbish against a cost
of IRO £2000 per sqm for new build so on this basis the most cost
effective approach would be new purpose built accommodation that
will meet modern building standards and is more conducive to
90

Submission

Raised By

Response
health and wellbeing of residents.
Delivering new housing with care provision in line with the current
and future demand is one of the keys strategic drivers of the Better
Lives Programme.
LCC Design team have been commissioned to undertake
preliminary site analysis and desktop capacity and constraint
studies in order to understand options for re-provisioning of
specialist accommodation should sites become available through
asset realisation. This will provide indicative site capacity and
compatibility with proposed future land uses. It is anticipated that
this will be completed by end of January.

Page 627

By
Councillors
in attendance

8. What evidence is there that the proposed future placements
for people who would have gone to Richmond House will be
any more effective and safe?

At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting 18th
January 2021
By
Councillors
in attendance

7. Has a full impact assessment been done on the implications
of the closure of Richmond House on current and possible
future residents' physical and mental health and
rehabilitation potential?

At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting 18th
91

Full Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessments will
be carried out as part of the consultation process. One will focus on the
potential impacts to people using the service and their families/carers
and one will be specific to organisational change impacting on the
workforce for the staff affected.

Richmond House has taken short term/step down placements directly
from social workers and in some cases from hospital (LTHT and LYPFT). If
Richmond House was not there anymore as a resource then other
placements would be sought. Generally these would be in residential care
homes offering good quality care.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds Boundary
within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good, one as

Submission

Raised By
January 2021

Response
outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14 are CQC
dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and 4 offer both.
(There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles of
Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as good,
one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are awaiting
inspection. 11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are residential and 7 offer
both residential and nursing care).

Page 628
9.

Over the last 3 years 196 individuals were admitted to Richmond House,
on average 65 people per year, staying an average of 30 days. The current
market for older people’s residential care has capacity to absorb this
demand.

The Council‐employed hospital social workers are working
with people in the 4 wards in Beckett Wing at St. James
Hospital and Wharfedale General Hospital, outsourced to
Villacare, which all "need improvement" according to the
latest Care Quality Commission reports. Why not transfer
directly to Richmond House, a "good" care home?

By
The service provided in the wards at LTHT is nursing care, whereas
Councillors
Richmond House provides residential care.
in attendance
Also, some of the people are only resident in the wards at LTHT for a few
At Outer West days whilst home care services are arranged; it wouldn’t be appropriate
Community
to discharge from the hospital, admit to Richmond House, and then go
Committee
home, all within a few days.
meeting 18th
January 2021 There are significantly more beds in SJUH and Wharfedale than we could
provide in RH and the CCG wouldn’t fund non‐nursing care provision.

Dear Rachel Reeves MP,
Have you heard about the campaign to keep open Richmond

Sylvia
Landells via
Rachel
92

Consultation on potential closure
Richmond House is a 20 bedded residential service situated in

Submission
House care home at Farsley, which is run by Leeds City
Council Adults and Health as a short term residential
rehabilitation place (recovery hub for west Leeds), especially
for people coming out of hospital?

Raised By
Reeves MP,
26 Jan 2021

Response
Farsley. The current service offer is short term care and support to
people who require a period of recovery following a hospital
admission. The service also offers support to people from the
community to prevent hospital admission.
A report to the Council’s Executive Board in October 2020
highlighted a budget gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which
£59.1 million is due to the ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. The
council is legally required to set a balanced budget therefore, a
number of savings proposals have been put forward, including one
for the proposed closure of Home Lea House Long Stay Residential
Care Home in Rothwell, and the closure of Richmond House Short
Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley, making savings annually of
£1.531million as a contribution to the budget gap identified.

I think it is underused at present because it doesn't take
people with dementia. I know from personal experience that
some people are being placed in private care homes, paid
for by the local authority, until the social workers are able to
re‐assess their needs and mental capacity to make decisions
about their care, review their social care services, and put
together a package of care.
Page 629

There appear to be even more delays in this process at the
moment due to the effects of the pandemic. People often
wish to return to live at home and it is very difficult to get
enough home care, which has already largely been
privatised in Leeds. This is especially difficult if you need
more help in the evening or at night and/or you have
dementia.

On the 21st October 2020 Leeds City Council’s Executive Board
approved a period of consultation on a proposal for the closure of
Home Lea House long stay residential care home and Richmond
House short stay care and support service. The consultation period
started on 4th January 2021 and will end on 26th March 2021. The
findings of the consultation will be analysed and a report with
recommendations will be presented to the Council’s Executive
Board in June 2021.

The local authority appears to be outsourcing some of their
services to private, profit‐making care home companies
when they have in‐house services which could be utilised,
with some change, in order to be able to take people with
dementia, as happened with the South Leeds Recovery Hub.

For your information I have attached a copy of the brief sent to all
Elected Members and MPs representing the affected ward areas,
which includes all the information about the consultation; including
timescales, options for participation, how to seek support to
participate where needed and next steps following the consultation
period.

I am concerned that people may feel stuck in the system
where they don't want to be, and Council Tax payers are not
93

Submission
getting value for money. It is very hard to visit or telephone
friends and relatives in care homes at present to find out
how they are and ask them what they want.

Raised By

Response
Short term services for people living with dementia
Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. It has not provided rehabilitation services since 2017
when the service was de-commissioned by Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG). The CCG commission citywide
Community Care Beds (CCBs) for rehabilitation. People are referred
to a suitable short term provision based on their individual needs
and preferences.

I do hope that you can make some enquiries about this
proposed closure and help with this campaign.

Page 630

There is already a range of good quality residential care provision in
the city, and 25 of the 35 homes within 5 miles of Richmond House
are CQC dementia registered. However, there is an undersupply of
nursing provision for people with the most complex needs. To
respond to this need, the council with partners is piloting this type of
provision in the South Recovery Hub, which is possible as Leeds
Community Healthcare provides the nursing care.
Adults & Health previously reviewed different models of care and
support that could be offered at Richmond House, including whether
Richmond House could offer Community Care Bed provision,
however the size of the home made the cost per head prohibitive for
investment by the CCG.
Supporting people to return home
As detailed in the Better Lives strategy, the Council’s strategy for
people with care and support needs, we know from our discussions
that many older people want a wider choice of accommodation and
support options with, as much as possible, support being delivered
in their own homes or in care environments like extra care housing.

94

Submission

Raised By

Response
Wherever possible, people should be supported to return to their
home as the first option. Adults & Health provide the SkiLs
Reablement Service which offers short term intensive care and
support for people in their home; supporting hospital discharge and
hospital avoidance. Leeds Community Healthcare Neighbourhood
Teams provide at home therapy services, such as Occupational
Therapy, Physiotherapy and District Nursing. In addition, Adults and
Health are not seeing long wait times for independent home care
packages.
Communicating with residents

Page 631

We are keen to ensure that we hear the voices of people who use
the service and the consultation provides different options for
participating, including; online, over the phone, via email, by posting
a paper copy to us, or through a face to face discussion during their
short stay. The consultation survey is also open to the general
public via leeds.gov.uk.
People only stay at Richmond House for only a short period of time
and so current residents won’t be affected by the proposed closure,
however throughout the consultation period all residents are being
informed about the consultation taking place and encouraged to
participate if they wish to do so.
The service also proactively engages customers in the use of
technology (such as ipads, tablets, mobile phones, Alexa’s) where
appropriate, to keep in touch with loved ones during their stay. In
addition window visits, garden visits and use of in-door pods have
enabled choices to suit customers in being able to communicate
with one another.
Rothwell has two high quality performing council‐run care

Cllr Stewart
95

Based on supply and demand analysis, Rothwell has an oversupply

Submission
homes. Dolphin Manor has been put forward as alternative
to Home Lea house, however Dolphin Manor has previously
been brought to Executive Board for closure. At that time we
were told that Dolphin Manor had worse facilities that Home
Lea House. Has the council decided to withdraw from in‐
house provision altogether?

Raised By
Golton at
Outer South
Community
Committee
meeting

Response
of 119 residential care home beds. There is sufficient alternative
local supply if Home Lea House were to close.
Regular rolling stock condition surveys are carried out, Home Lea
House is 20 years older than Dolphin Manor and is a smaller home.
My professional recommendation as the Director of Adults and
Health is that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care
homes be approved for closure, that no further council run care
homes should be put forward for decommissioning. This would
enable the council to retain flexibility in the face of any potential
future challenges and retain expertise.

Page 632

Cllr Stewart
Golton at
Outer South
What is the occupancy in independent sector provision?
Community
Committee
meeting
Could social care reserves be used to keep Home Lea House Cllr Stewart
open for another year and work with the community to keep Golton at
Outer South
it open?
Community
Committee
meeting
I am writing on behalf of Rothwell Neighbourhood Forum to On behalf of
register its opposition to proposals that could see the Home Rothwell
Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell
Neighbourhood
The independent sector care provision if precarious.

96

This would mean Dolphin Manor, along with Knowle Manor (Morley
South) and Spring Gardens (Otley and Yeadon) would be retained
in the city as council-run care home provision
Occupancy figures can be provided if requested, they do change on
a regular basis.

Reserves could be used to keep the home open for a further year
but this would not resolve the need for the council to make recurrent
revenue savings as part of delivering a legally balanced budget.

Closure proposals
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in

Submission
threatened with closure.

Raised By
Forum

Response
October 2020 and at the Outer South Community Committee
Meeting on the 15th March 2021, the key driver for the proposal to
close Home Lea House long stay residential care home is due to the
Council facing financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and
in addition, the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is
unprecedented.

This is a particularly unsatisfactory state of affairs when one
recognizes the success of the existing provision, as illustrated
by the most recent CQC report, and in particular the
comments contained within the report allied to the
“outstanding” designation of the Home in terms of caring for
its residents.

Page 633

The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget
gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the
ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required
to set a balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals
have been put forward, including one for the proposed closure of
Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell,
and the closure of Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care
Home in Farsley, making savings annually of £1.531million as a
contribution to the budget gap identified.

A rough analysis of all the care home facilities on the CQC
web site that have been subject to inspection, and are within
10 miles of Rothwell, reveals that out of 243 facilities only 8
are better rated than Home Lea and another 6 are rated the
same. In other words Home Lea is, from a rating perspective,
in the top 6% of facilities in the immediate area.
On the basis of this information and bearing in mind that this
is a local authority home, it is extremely difficult to
understand why it is being targeted for closure, other than
what is perceived to be a financial imperative.
It is important that within a local community there is a
robust provision in respect of this type of care, especially
recognizing local demographics which show that the number
of people in the community above the age of 65 is
considerably in excess of the figure for Leeds as a whole and
above the average figure for England (Source Leeds
Observatory).

Quality of Care
The high quality of care and support provided at Home Lea House is
absolutely acknowledged. However, the need for residential homes
is decreasing within Leeds and where this resource is required to
meet people’s needs, there is a well-developed independent sector
care home market.
There are 14 care homes within five miles of Home Lea House,
including a Council-run home, that are CQC registered as
Outstanding (1), Good (9), and Requires Improvement (4). Of the 10
homes that are rated as Good or Outstanding, six offer residential

It therefore appears to be short sighted in the extreme to
97

Submission
remove a facility of clear quality from an area with a
population where demographics suggest an ever increasing
requirement for its services. Reliance on underfunded
private provision is not a comprehensively sustainable
solution.

Raised By

Response
care, four offer both residential and nursing care. Eight of the homes
are listed by the CQC as offering specialist Dementia provision.
If a recommendation for closing Home Lea House was made and
approved, no-one will have their care taken away or their level of
support reduced.

Page 634

The local nature of such facilities is also considered
extremely important and a home where residents are still
within the body of the community is a valuable consideration
and makes it less likely that people, requiring the care the
home provides, might have to be relocated to other areas.
This must surely be something that residents appreciate
notwithstanding access for family and relatives etc. If there is
one thing that the last year has made clear it is that this
category of provision is very much needed and services of
this type must be retained notwithstanding the pressure on
local authority budgets. A report by the Director Adults and
Health prepared for a recent meeting of the Outer South
Committee establishes one of the reasons cited for the
proposed closure of Home Lea House ,notwithstanding
purported changes to models of care and financial
considerations, is the age of the building. Surely it is the
quality of the care provision that is paramount.

Capacity of alternative provision
The 10 care homes rated as Outstanding or Good within five miles
of Home Lea House total 501 beds. Occupancy at care homes can
vary from week to week; as of 11th March 2021 occupancy rates at
those homes ranged from 44% to 95% with an average occupancy
of 79%. The council has two residential care homes situated in
Rothwell, Dolphin Manor has 35 beds and on average achieved
67% occupancy during 2020-21.
The Rothwell ward area has an oversupply of residential care
provision by 120 beds. The Council’s Extra Care Supply & Demand
Model calculates anticipated future demand for residential, nursing
and extra care provision, taking into account proposed population
changes to 2028 at a ward level, and suggests there is sufficient
capacity of alternative good quality provision.
Delivering new housing-with-care provision in line with the current
and future demand is one of the key drivers of the Better Lives
Strategy (which is the Council’s strategy for people with care and
support needs) and Adults & Health continue to work alongside the
Housing Growth Team to identify suitable sites for extra care
housing.

The model of care argument within the aforementioned
report is understood, but not fully accepted and while a
strategy that maximises independent living facilities is
welcomed, the question of those with greater dependency
and requiring the present model of care is not very clearly
98

Submission
addressed. There is also a suggestion in the report that
Dolphin Manor in Rothwell is an alternative provision option.
It is not long since that Dolphin Manor was identified for
closure, but which due to local opposition was retained and
it is therefore difficult to have long term confidence in such a
strategy.

Raised By

Response
In January 2019 Leeds City Council appointed a delivery group
made up of Ashley House Ltd, Morgan Ashley LLP and Home
Group to deliver four Extra Care schemes on Council owned sites in
Leeds including Windlesford Green in Rothwell. The Windlesford
Green Scheme will deliver 64 units of Extra Care housing with
anticipated start on site in June 2021.

Page 635

The 14 care homes within 5 miles of Home Lea House are owned
by 11 different providers. These range from individual owners, small
to medium enterprises through to large national providers. Adults
and Health work closely with Leeds Care Association and care
home providers to understand any pressures affecting the market,
and have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to
understand impact of Covid on cost pressures for care homes.
Quality of the Building
Home Lea House (built 1964) is a substantially older building than
Dolphin Manor (built 1987) with a shorter remaining asset life which
will require significant capital investment in the near future in order
to bring the building and facilities up to an acceptable standard that
complies with current legislation.
Dolphin Manor is currently performing as intended and requires only
minor improvements. The property condition report for Home Lea
House and projected component life expectancy and renewal costs
indicate more substantial investment would be required which may
be uneconomical given the remaining asset life.
In addition, Dolphin Manor is the larger home and the building is
suitable for dementia provision which is why it attracted investment
99

Submission

Raised By

Response
from Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for a proof of
concept short term dementia care pilot. Home Lea House by
contrast is not suitable for dementia provision.
Dolphin Manor

Page 636

As discussed at the recent Outer South Community Committee
meeting on 15th March, my professional recommendation as the
Director of Adults and Health is that should Home Lea House and
Richmond House care homes be approved for closure, that no
further council run care homes should be put forward for
decommissioning. This would mean Dolphin Manor, along with
Knowle Manor (Morley South) and Spring Gardens (Otley and
Yeadon) would be retained in the city as council-run care home
provision.
Re the proposed closure of local authority care
homes but of Richmond House in particular
I’m writing on behalf of Leeds Unison retired members
group to urge Leeds City Council to rethink plans to
close two residential care homes, one of which provided
invaluable short stays and respite care.

On behalf of
Leeds Unison
Retired
Members
Group

1: The moves to shut community facilities
As detailed in the Better Lives strategy, the Council’s strategy for
people with care and support needs, we know from our discussions
that many older people want a wider choice of accommodation and
support options with, as much as possible, support being delivered
in their own homes or in care environments like extra care housing.
Wherever possible, people should be supported to return to their
home as the first option. Adults & Health provide the SkiLs
Reablement Service which offers short term intensive care and
support for people in their home; supporting hospital discharge and
hospital avoidance. Leeds Community Healthcare Neighbourhood
Teams provide at home therapy services, such as Occupational
Therapy, Physiotherapy and District Nursing. In addition, Adults and
Health are not seeing long wait times for independent home care

1. The moves to shut community facilities runs
counter to the current proclaimed intent in the local
and regional integrated care partnerships to
frontload support in the community and take
pressure off secondary/hospital care. Some of us
remember times when Leeds Social Services were
100

Submission
able to provide older people and their families with
much needed breaks and convalescence by the
coast but these facilities are long gone. Richmond
House is the only local authority home left which
provides vital respite care for people and their
families. As we come through what we hope is the
worst of the pandemic, with many of an estimated
eight million informal carers stretched to the limit, we
should be seeking to provide many more short stays
to help reinvigorate and sustain older people and
family carers, not closing what little is on offer.

Raised By

Response
packages.
Short Term Services
Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. The CCG commission citywide Community Care Beds for
rehabilitation. Adults & Health previously reviewed whether Richmond
House could offer CCB provision, however the size of the home made the
cost per head prohibitive. The CCG will be reviewing their commissioned
service in the next 18 months but at present have commissioned 238 beds
across the city and are content that they have sufficient resource available
to them.

Page 637

In addition, the NHS have provided temporary funding to the CCG to
support hospital discharge during the pandemic. The CCG have
used this funding to commission a number of community beds
(nursing and residential) across the city (currently 97 beds), as part
of this Discharge to Assess process, although this is reviewed on a
regular basis. People are supported to stay there while their needs
are assessed and their care arranged at home or in another
residential care or nursing home. Their needs are assessed very
quickly and a sizeable proportion of the people who are discharged
in this way, return home within a week to ten days.

2. The closure of local authority residential
provision means that more people will be
directed to private homes which have no
accountability to local people, are obliged to
prioritise profit over care, often pay below the
minimum wage, offer little training and poor
conditions of service for staff, as well as being
inherently unstable. The larger providers who have
been hoovering up smaller concerns, tend to build
big to maximise economies of scale, even though
most people would prefer to live in smaller cosier,
neighbourhood facilities. There is also some
evidence to suggest that large private chains of
homes have been less safe in the pandemic. The

Short Break / Respite Services
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond
House, to arrange a short break or an extended short stay depending on
the need of the individual and their family / carer.

101

Submission
Office for National Statistics report on the impact or
coronavirus on care homes in May to June this year
found a lower incidence of infections in care homes
which pay sick pay and a higher incidence amongst
those employing agency workers and workers who
work across multiple sites.

Raised By

Response
All local authority in‐house homes offer respite bed places as well as
Richmond House.
Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social
worker will approach care homes at the time required, and if there is
capacity, will spot commission a short break or extended short stay
depending on need.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds
Boundary within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good,
one as outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14
are CQC dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and
4 offer both.
There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles
of Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as
good, one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are
awaiting inspection. 11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are
residential and 7 offer both residential and nursing care.

Rather than shrinking the public sector we would like
to see the Council doing exactly the opposite,
seeking to take private providers of social care and
support into public ownership.
Page 638

3. We are also concerned that the NHS seems to
be calling the shots on what the City Council
provides, as we understand that a proposal was put
forward for Richmond House to continue to provide
care, support and rehabilitation but Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group deemed the costs too high.
Presumably what are regarded as high costs include
complying with the minimum standards embodied in
Unison’s ethical care charter, unlike private
providers. The imbalance of power between Local
Authorities and the NHS is reflected in proposals in
the recent Health White paper which seem to view
social care’s primary role as handmaiden to health,
keeping the pressure off hospitals and facilitating
speedy discharge. It is worrying that the White paper
proposes to relegate the weight of local authority

Other options are also available such as community based short
breaks, or a personal budget to arrange a short break that suits the
carer and the cared-for person. This could be through various
organisations such as private home care agencies, charities or
community interest companies.
2: The closure of local authority residential provision means
that more people will be directed to private homes
As noted above, of the 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond
House, 24 have a CQC rating of Good and two have a rating of
Outstanding.
The 35 care homes are owned by 30 different providers; ranging
102

Submission
Raised By
power into subsidiary ICS Boards and private
providers are given significant opportunity to skew
the agenda by being offered seats at the same table.
It is also of concern that that despite the emphasis
on joint working and seamless support between
health and social care there seems to be a degree of
”pass the parcel” going on regarding the
responsibility for the growing group of people with
dementia who need substantial support.

Page 639

4. We do want to see a radical transformation of
social care and support in which residential care
would play a much smaller part but now is not
the time, in the middle of a pandemic to start
rushing into restructuring which can’t easily be
undone. Developing flexible alternatives for
independent living and building inclusive
communities where everyone has a access to a full
life needs to be done in full and transparent
partnership with people who use support services,
their families and neighbourhoods and takes time
and care. It also needs to start from what people
want and what works best not from what is the
cheapest option.

Response
from individual owners, small to medium enterprises through to
large national providers. In terms of the size of the homes, 9 have
30 or less beds, 17 have between 31 and 60 beds, and 9 have over
60 beds.
As detailed in the Leeds Integrated Market Position Statement
2019-22 the Adults and Health Care Quality Team delivers
proactive, targeted support around providing care to regulated care
providers in the city. The purpose of the team is to improve quality
of care for those citizens of Leeds receiving care in the city as
measured against success criteria, such as the percentage of CQC
Good rated care homes, improved feedback from residents and
families etc. Initially working with Care Home sector the team gives
care home providers in Leeds access to a responsive support and
specialist advice and guidance network committed to improving
quality of life for older people receiving care through regulated
services in the city and thence improved CQC ratings and feedback.
The overall quality of independent sector provision in Leeds has
been steadily improving with 83% of all registered provision now
rated good or outstanding.
In addition, the Leeds CCG Quality team is an established team
within Leeds CCG that supports the maintenance and improvement
of quality in care homes with nursing beds, through the use of
targeted support (in collaboration with LCC or independently
through contract processes).
Quality improvements are also further supported through
Commissioning for Quality and improvement (CQUINs) built in to
contracts and monitored as part of that process, which helps to
further incentivise defined improvements.

5. We appreciate that the Council is facing gross
103

Page 640

Submission
underfunding from a Government who have little
commitment to public services and finds it hard to
take a stand on its own. However Leeds is by no
means on its own and if all councils bow down under
government pressure, who speaks up for local
people? Strong Labour Councils like ours could put
their foot down and appeal to the public for support.
Covid has made many people realise that the
marginalisation of older and disabled people in our
society and the undervaluing of care and support
workers, which is the other side of the same coin is
all wrong. This is a great opportunity to make a
stand and insist that we all start building a better
future.

Raised By

Response
3: We are also concerned that the NHS seems to be calling the
shots
As noted above, the size of Richmond House made the cost per
head prohibitive for investment by the CCG for CCB provision. It
does have a responsibility to ensure value for money in what it
commissions.
The Department for Health and Social Care White Paper:
Integration and Innovation: Working together to improve health and
social care for all, Feb 2021, provides a basis for
further consultation and discussion with interested or affected
groups; and Leeds Adults and Health, the different political parties in
Leeds, and other organisations, will contribute as appropriate to
shape the Health and Care Bill that will be presented to Parliament.
The Integrated Commissioning Executive has taken a number of
reports which have attempted to model the needs of people with
complex dementia and as a result the following service
developments have been put in place, as detailed in the Leeds
Integrated Market Position Statement 2019-22; NHS development of
intensive and responsive specialist support to care homes, an
individualised approach to funding of care, including transitional
support to leave hospital as well as long-term funding; and the
development of training in ‘leadership in dementia care.’
4: We do want to see a radical transformation of social care
and support in which residential care would play a much
smaller part but now is not the time, in the middle of a
pandemic
Adults and Health work closely with Leeds Care Association and
care home providers to understand any pressures affecting the

104

Submission

Raised By

Response
market, and have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to
understand impact of Covid on care homes.
As detailed in the Better Lives Strategy we know from our
discussions that many older people want a wider choice of
accommodation and support options with, as much as possible,
support being delivered in their own homes or in care environments
like extra care housing.

Page 641

It is equally important that we make sure our services can still
meet the city’s changing requirements for care, with more
people living independently for longer and a rising number of
people needing specialist care, such as those who develop
dementia.
Adults and Health is therefore continuing to invest in the
development of extra care accommodation and, as outlined
above, to work with NHS partners to model service
developments to support people with dementia and complex
needs.
5: We appreciate that the Council is facing gross underfunding
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in
October 2020, the key driver for the proposals to close Home Lea
House long stay residential care home and Richmond House short
stay residential care home are due to the Council facing financial
challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.
The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget
gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the
105

Submission

Raised By

Response
ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required
to set a balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals
have been put forward. The proposed closures of the two care
homes in question would make savings annually of £1.531million as
a contribution to the budget gap identified.
My professional recommendation as the Director of Adults and
Health is that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care
homes be approved for closure, that no further council run care
homes should be put forward for decommissioning. This would
mean Dolphin Manor, along with Knowle Manor (Morley South) and
Spring Gardens (Otley and Yeadon) would be retained in the city as
council-run care home provision.

Page 642

GMB Submission regarding the closure of
Osmondthorpe Day Centre, Richmond House Farsley
and Homelea House in Rothwell.
Osmondthorpe

On behalf of
GMB

GMB have several concerns about the closure of
Osmondthorpe Day Centre, whenever a community
provision is lost you will almost certainly lose customers,
out of the 125 customers who were accessing the day
centre prior to the pandemic only 67 have registered an
interest in alternative provision. The reasons that
management have given us why only 67 have
registered an interest is varied, from shielding to family
issues and Health, we asked if the travelling had an
impact, and the management response was that 50% of
customers will be travelling more and 50% travelling
less. We also have concerns about the alternative

Thank you for contacting on behalf of GMB, with regards to the
proposals relating to consultation on the future of Home Lea House
long stay residential care home, and Richmond House short stay
residential care home. I can also confirm receipt of the petition on
behalf of GMB Members.
Your submission on behalf of GMB will be considered along with all
consultation submissions and the findings of the consultation will be
analysed and a report with recommendations will be presented to
the Council’s Executive Board in June 2021. In the meantime I
have responded on the points your raise in your letter below.
To clarify, Osmondthorpe Day Centre is not part of this consultation.
The report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in October 2020
regarding the proposals in relation to Osmondthorpe Day Centre
were classified as Business As Usual, therefore not subject to
mandatory consultation, and this position was accepted by the
Executive Board at that time. Under recommendation (b) of the

106

Page 643

Submission
Raised By
provision in respect of disability access, Holt Park,
Stocks Hill, Calverlands and Wykebeck Day Centres,
are the alternative offer and two of the centres we do
not believe are big enough to accommodate the PI
(Physical Impairment) service, Stocks Hill and
Calverlands we do not believe will have the space for
many wheelchair users including personal care access
which must be resolved prior to accepting customers in
the alternative sites. Osmondthorpe was the only
provision in an already deprived demographic in the
Burmantofts and Richmond hill Ward, we think this is a
huge loss and having visited the Day Centre regularly
and seeing such a wonderful provision first-hand it is a
sad day to think this facility is no longer part of this
community, it should also be noted that the there is an
impact to those who provided services such as wood
making and gardening, many relationships will have
been formed over many years and that needs to be
factored in as the consistency can impact on a service
users mental health and wellbeing.
Industrial Issues
The staff from Osmondthorpe have all been redeployed
across the Adults service; this has caused a lot of
anxiety and uncertainty as the roles are not permanent
and their future unknown at least 5 members of staff are
just floating in other services. Some staff have added
anxieties about driving across the city and these
anxieties need to be taken into consideration when
realigning those staff. We also have concerns that travel
expenses are currently not being paid as the previous

Response
report Executive Board was requested to “Note the ‘Business as
Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect to them shall be
taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with
the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions)”.
Whilst a formal consultation process is not required, conversations
with existing service users at Osmondthorpe day centre in relation
to their individual care and support plans have taken place. In
addition, I and other Senior Officers have met with local Elected
Members and the Executive Member for Children, Families and
Adult Social Care and we are working with them to answer their
questions on this matter. They in turn are seeking the views of local
community groups. The points your raise with regards to
Osmondthorpe Day Centre will be considered as part of the
significant operational delegated decision and associated EDCI
impact assessment. In the meantime I have responded on the
points your raise in your letter below.
Osmondthorpe Day Centre
There are 103 people registered with the service at Osmondthorpe,
of which 67 people have to date re-engaged with the service. Other
people are receiving welfare calls and/or a digital offer. As
restrictions lift and people feel more confident we will see more
people return to a building base and/or community group.
People registered with the service live across Leeds, therefore
some people may travel further whilst others travel less as they
choose which services and activities they wish to attend; this tends
to be with friendship groups.
Stocks Hill is used by the Pottery and Art Groups and the service

107

Submission
Raised By
line manager is not at work and nobody had taken over
that responsibility, GMB do not believe this is
acceptable on top of an already stressful situation and
we are ensuring that this is rectified and that when any
service change occurs, we do not find it acceptable that
they must wait for additional travel expenses to be paid.
There is concern from both groups of staff; Complex
Needs and the Physical Impairment service about
aligning roles and how this will work going forward,
there will be a mix of pay grades and an uncertainty
about if their roles will change. We would like the
management team to prioritise the future for the service
to relieve some anxieties.
Page 644

Homelea House
The decision to propose closure of a residential care
home that has a current good CQC rating overall and
outstanding for care is a travesty, the alternative LCC
provision in Rothwell is Dolphin Manor which scored
good overall but required improvement on safety when
previously inspected, Dolphin Manor only has 9 current
vacancies and 16 customers current live in Homelea,
we are informed by management that the families are
already requesting a place at Dolphin Manor and we
have concern that not all families will have a place for
their relative. We know there is considerable opposition
to this closure in the community and it is not surprising.
We are wholly opposed to the closure of Care Homes
especially in the middle of a pandemic, the crisis in care
is widely publicised and the pandemic has shone
another light of public vs private when it comes to

Response
has an accessible toilet facility. Calverlands has a registered
Changing Place facility and a sizable extension built at the back of
the building. Health and Safety risk assessments are reviewed to
ensure suitability of any building base to be used for services /
activities proposed to operate from them, along with the EDCI
Assessment to consider impacts and mitigations for all those
affected by the change in service delivery.
Wykebeck complex needs centre is council run and is 1 mile away
from Osmondthorpe day centre. There are also local
Neighbourhood Networks, along with other charitable and
community group organisations.
The Workers Education Association provided groups/activities and
when guidance allows will be providing these groups at the other
building bases including Holt Park Active.
The services and activities that people attend are linked to the goals
within their individual support plans, and we will continue to work
with people to ensure these goals can be met. When guidance
allows, the organisations that provide services and activities will be
providing these at the other building bases.
Staff at Osmondthorpe
The management team is currently working closely with the Day
Opportunities staff to engage them in shaping how the service will
look moving forward. All staff have been extremely flexible with
some staff covering the critical services, these staff will begin to
return to their substantive roles as the number of customers
attending services increases. The aim is to ensure staff have a
substantive base and minimum travel where possible. The difficulty
with staff claiming expenses has now been resolved and briefings

108

Page 645

Submission
Raised By
managing a crisis. 84% of all care homes are in the
private sector now, the sector is now so heavily
fragmented created by the 2012 Health and Social Care
Act that it was always going to a logistical nightmare
when having to respond to a pandemic, when run by the
local authority you can regulate and provide a
consistent approach. When you allow too much
customer choice you remove the ability to monitor
effectively. If only all the money handed out to Serco for
a disastrous test and trace system had been distributed
to the NHS and Local Authorities, and then there was
the PPE scandal which ultimately caused unnecessary
deaths. Whenever we are about to lose a public care
provision, we sigh a deep sigh as we all know that once
it has gone it is never coming back. We urge the
authority to rethink this decision.
Richmond House
This was the least surprising to see on the executive
board paper as the GMB have been raising concerns
over many months/years with management that
numbers within the home have been kept low to justify
any potential closure and although we cannot evidence
this it is a belief all the same. There is no other provision
within the locality and customers will have to travel a lot
further to access future care in either the East or South
of the city. The provision allows for high quality respite
when leaving hospital prior to returning to their home.
The home has had over 100k spent on renovation only
a few years ago including new windows, decorating and
a new heating system and has a very good reputation in

Response
have been delivered to support staff with the self-service function.
There is no intention to change job descriptions or pay grades but to
support staff to work to these as effectively as possible. Priority and
time is being given to the Day Opportunities service to ensure that
staff feel supported and included in the future developments.
Home Lea House
Provision at Dolphin Manor
Dolphin Manor (35 beds) is the larger of the two homes and the
building is suitable for dementia provision which is why it attracted
CCG investment for the proof of concept short term dementia care.
Home Lea House by contrast is not suitable for dementia provision.
In addition, in terms of life expectancy and renewal costs, Home Lea
House is a substantially older building than Dolphin Manor, with a
shorter remaining asset life which will require significant capital
investment in the near future in order to bring the building and
facilities up to an acceptable standard that complies with current
legislation and supports continued use as an intermediary care
facility. Dolphin Manor is currently performing as intended and
requires only minor improvements.
Option to move to Dolphin Manor
As the closest alternative in-house provision, Dolphin Manor has 35
beds and on average achieved 67% occupancy during 2020-21.
Home Lea House has 29 beds and currently has 16 residents.
The service have received two enquires to date from relatives of
residents at Home Lea House about availability at Dolphin Manor.
Those relatives are happy to wait until the Executive Board decision
in June, and should the decision to close go ahead, they understand

109

Submission
Raised By
the community. GMB as above would urge the authority
to reconsider this decision.

Page 646

Industrial Issues at Homelea and Richmond House
Some staff have applied for ELI in the knowledge that
the closures of these homes are looming, some have
taken the opportunity to leave early as it is their wish to
do so but some tell us that they have applied as they do
not want to be deployed elsewhere and travel further
and start a whole new role elsewhere. The worry about
alternative work when your workplace is proposed to
close is huge even when given assurances that
alternative work will be sought as we live in an uncertain
economic climate and this worry cannot and must not
be underestimated. We will support our members
through this process but want the authority to recognise
the upheaval placed upon those front-line workers who
have been at the forefront of a pandemic whilst worrying
about contracting the virus and taking it home to their
loved ones, it is so sad that instead of commending their
work they are having to consider either leaving a role
they have worked in for years or move across the city to
keep their job.

Response
the need for a social work re-assessment at that time.
The Leeds CCG commissioned 10 beds at Dolphin Manor to trial
discharge to assess short term care for people with dementia as a
proof of concept. This will have concluded by the time any Home
Lea House residents may be looking to transition there.
In addition, we know from previous closures that some residents
choose to move closer to their family, also that upon assessment
some residents needs have changed and they require a move to
nursing care provision.
Should the recommendations to Executive Board in June post
consultation be for the closure of Home Lea House, residents and
their families / carers would be fully supported by the assessment
and transition social work team, in accordance with the Care
Guarantee, to ensure they choose an alternative home that meets
their individual needs.
Care Home Market
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in
October 2020, the key driver for the proposals to close Home Lea
House long stay residential care home and Richmond House short
stay residential care home are due to the Council facing financial
challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.

Please accept this submission on behalf of GMB
members and representatives and the wider community
we serve.

The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget
gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the
ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required
to set a balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals
have been put forward. The proposed closures of the two care
homes in question would make savings annually of £1.531million as
110

Submission

Raised By

Response
a contribution to the budget gap identified.
Adults and Health work closely with Leeds Care Association and
care home providers to understand any pressures affecting the
market, and have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to
understand impact of Covid on care homes.
As detailed in the Better Lives Strategy we know from our
discussions that many older people want a wider choice of
accommodation and support options with, as much as possible,
support being delivered in their own homes or in care environments
like extra care housing.

Page 647

It is equally important that we make sure our services can still
meet the city’s changing requirements for care, with more
people living independently for longer and a rising number of
people needing specialist care, such as those who develop
dementia.
Adults and Health is therefore continuing to invest in the
development of extra care accommodation and, as outlined
above, to work with NHS partners to model service
developments to support people with dementia and complex
needs.
Independent Provision
The need for residential homes is decreasing within Leeds and
where this resource is required to meet people’s needs, there is a
well-developed independent sector care home market. Following
concerted work by the Council’s Care Quality Team from 2017 the
number of residential care homes rated good or outstanding is now
83%.
111

Submission

Raised By

Response
There are 13 independent care homes within 5 miles of Home Lea
House (not including Dolphin Manor). 7 offer residential care, 6 offer
residential and nursing. 1 home is CQC rated Outstanding, 8 rated
Good, 4 rated Requires Improvement. Those rated Outstanding or
Good total 501 beds. 7 of those rated Outstanding or Good are listed
by CQC as offering specialist Dementia provision.

Page 648

My professional recommendation as the Director of Adults and
Health is that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care
homes be approved for closure, that no further council run care
homes should be put forward for decommissioning. This would
mean Dolphin Manor, along with Knowle Manor (Morley South) and
Spring Gardens (Otley and Yeadon) would be retained in the city as
council-run care home provision.
Richmond House
Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of people who
require some type of intervention to either support them to reach
their optimum with therapeutic and recovery focused support to
return home or to undertake an assessment to support their longer
term needs.
Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. The CCG commission citywide Community Care Beds for
rehabilitation. Adults & Health previously reviewed whether Richmond
House could offer CCB provision, however the size of the home made the
cost per head prohibitive. The CCG will be reviewing their commissioned
service in the next 18 months but at present have commissioned 238 beds
across the city and are content that they have sufficient resource available
to them.
112

Submission

Raised By

Response

Page 649

In addition, the NHS have provided temporary funding to the CCG to
support hospital discharge during the pandemic. The CCG have
used this funding to commission a number of community beds
(nursing and residential) across the city, and as part of this
Discharge to Assess process, currently 97 beds although this is
reviewed on a regular basis. People are supported to stay there
while their needs are assessed and their care arranged at home or
in another residential care or nursing home. Their needs are
assessed very quickly and a sizeable proportion of the people who
are discharged in this way, return home within a week to ten days.
All are citywide services, with beds offered to individuals and their
families / carers based on those closest to home and also the
particular needs of the individual. Over the last three years, 11
individuals from the Farsley area (with postcode LS28 5) attended
Richmond House. For the wider LS28 postcode area over the same
time period 37 individuals attended. This is out of a total of 196
individuals admitted citywide in that time period.
The closest commissioned Community Care Bed service is Green
Lane Intermediate Care Centre in Armley, with 49 beds, which is 5.5
miles away.
Short Break / Respite Services
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond
House, to arrange a short break or an extended short day depending on
the need of the individual and their family / carer. All in‐house care homes
offer two or three respite beds.
Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social
113

Submission

Raised By

Response
worker will approach care homes at the time required, and if there is
capacity, will spot commission a short break or extended short stay
depending on need.

Page 650

There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds
Boundary within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good,
one as outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14
are CQC dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and
4 offer both.
There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles
of Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as
good, one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are
awaiting inspection. 11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are
residential and 7 offer both residential and nursing care.
Other options are also available such as community based short
breaks, or a personal budget to arrange a short break that suits the
carer and the cared-for person. This could be through various
organisations such as private home care agencies, charities or
community interest companies.
Building Maintenance Work
Since 2018, there has been significant capital and revenue spend
on Richmond House, in order to carry out essential maintenance
works to ensure the building remains “wind and watertight” and
suitable for the people residing there. This has included some larger
works such as a new lift and replacement windows at Richmond.
Richmond House is 50 years old (built 1971) and falls within the
Grade B category which indicates stock condition is satisfactory and
performing as intended but exhibiting some deterioration. Further
114

Submission

Raised By

Response
long term capital investment in the region of £300 to £500k will be
required to bring the building and facilities up to a good standard in
order to comply with current legislation and support continued use
as intermediary care facilities. Existing mechanical services are in
need of attention to prevent major break down of the plants
associated items along with upgrades to the electrical installation,
wind and weathertight items and associated building works.
Additionally the cost for full refurbishment is estimated to be £1.7m
which far outweighs the spend in recent years.

Page 651

Staff at Home Lea House and Richmond House
The commitment and quality of care provided by staff at both homes
is acknowledged. I also fully acknowledge that hearing that your
workplace is being consulted on for closure can create uncertainty
and worry.
As outlined in my first letter to advise staff of the recommendations
to consult on the closure of Home Lea House and Richmond House
in October 2020 ahead of Executive Board, I also feel it is important
that staff are made aware of the recommendations directly from me
and at the earliest opportunity. Keeping staff informed and involved
is expected as a good employer. It is also integral in helping to
provide a greater sense of security on the part of customers.
Staff have used their experience and expertise in helping to
coordinate the consultation process by assisting service users
and their relatives to understand, consider and take-in the
information. Managers have arranged one to one sessions with
the residents and their relatives, and with staff, using the
consultation survey to identify any impact the proposed future
changes may have on individuals. This is much appreciated, it
will help us to manage and reduce these impacts where
115

Submission

Raised By

Response
possible, and I’m sure I can rely on staff’s ongoing
professionalism and commitment to our residents.
The programme will work closely with Trade Unions to ensure
employee matters are given high priority and regular meetings
with trade unions have and will continue to take place. Nothing
will happen suddenly or unexpectedly, either for staff or for
residents and we will continue to work with Trade Unions to
support affected staff through this process.

I write on behalf of Carlton Village Neighbourhood Forum to
register an objection to proposals that threaten the closure
of this Residential Care Home in Rothwell.
Page 652

On behalf of
Carlton Village
Neighbourhood
Forum

Scrutiny of the most recent CQC report for this home
together with other local homes reveals that Home Lea
House is in the very top tier of performers in our area and
that in terms of caring for its residents it is rated as
outstanding. With this status in mind, it is hard to accept why
this particular home is being identified for closure other than
purely on financial grounds. Logically one would hope that
closures should be directed at less well performing facilities.
A report authored by the LCC Director of Adults and Health
points to the assessment that the building is less new than
the other home in Rothwell. However Home lea has the
benefit of ensuite facilities and is specifically configured for
the type of resident that it accommodates. Dolphin Manor
which it is understood has less bespoke facilities was subject
to closure itself some time ago and local opposition was

Closure proposals
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in
October 2020 and at the Outer South Community Committee
Meeting on the 15th March 2021, the key driver for the proposal to
close Home Lea House long stay residential care home is due to the
Council facing financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and
in addition, the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is
unprecedented.
The Executive Board report in October 2020 highlighted a budget
gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the
ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required
to set a balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals
have been put forward, including one for the proposed closure of
Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell,
and the closure of Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care
Home in Farsley, making savings annually of £1.531million as a
contribution to the budget gap identified.
Quality of Care

116

Submission
instrumental in negating this action. This does not appear to
be strategy that the local community can have confidence in.

Raised By

The report also highlights changes to models of care citing
the requirement by residents for increased independence.
This is a laudable aim and will certainly benefit residents who
fall into a category where sustainable levels of independence
are possible. However, more dependent patients surely
require a more intensive and constant caring service such as
that made available at Home Lea.

Response
The high quality of care and support provided at Home Lea House is
recognised and acknowledged. It is the staff group that has helped
the home gain its good rating and we hope to retain the staff and
redeploy them into other council services so their good practice is
not lost.
The need for residential homes is decreasing within Leeds and
where this resource is required to meet people’s needs, there is a
well-developed independent sector care home market.

Page 653

There are 14 care homes within five miles of Home Lea House,
including a Council-run home, that are CQC registered as
Outstanding (1), Good (9), and Requires Improvement (4). Of the 10
homes that are rated as Good or Outstanding, six offer residential
care, four offer both residential and nursing care. Eight of the homes
are listed by the CQC as offering specialist Dementia provision.
If a recommendation for closing Home Lea House was made and
approved, no-one will have their care taken away or their level of
support reduced.

The idea that a top quality bespoke well run home should be
subject to the proposed action, with the potential to divert
patients to a home not specifically designed for the types of
dependent resident living at Home Lea is wrong and short
sighted.
The provision of homes for dependent people is very
important and something that local demographics and
medical trends suggest will need to enhanced and not
reduced.

Quality of the Building
Dolphin Manor is a single story building with small kitchenettes and
lounges leading from each corridor giving a homely feel. People are
able to live and dine in smaller groups as opposed having meals in
a large dining area with 29 other people. By comparison, Home Lea
House is a two storey building with three large communal living
spaces and a large dining room away from the bedrooms. It is more
difficult for people to live in small friendship groups because of the
layout of the building.

It is important that within a local community there is a
robust provision in respect of this type of care, especially
recognizing local demographics which show that the number
of people in the community above the age of 65 is
considerably in excess of the figure for Leeds as a whole and
above the average figure for England (Source Leeds
Observatory). It therefore appears to be short sighted in the

There are en-suite facilities to most bedrooms at Home Lea House
(Dolphin Manor does not have en-suite facilities), however, they are
117

Submission
extreme to remove a facility of clear quality from an area
with a population where demographics suggest an ever
increasing requirement for its services.

Raised By

Page 654

The local nature of such facilities is also considered
extremely important and a home where residents are still
within the body of the community is a valuable consideration
and makes it less likely that people, requiring the care the
home provides, might have to be relocated to other areas.
This must surely be something that residents appreciate
notwithstanding access for family and relatives etc. If there is
one thing that the last year has made clear it is that this type
of provision is very much needed and services of this type
must be retained notwithstanding the pressure on local
authority budgets.

Response
small and not fully accessible (not large enough to accommodate a
wheelchair).
The environment at Dolphin Manor lends itself to supporting people
with dementia and additionally has an exit from the living area on
the garden space. It is the larger of the two homes and is suitable
for dementia provision, which is why it attracted investment from
Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for a “proof of concept”
short term dementia care pilot. Home Lea House by contrast is not
suitable for dementia provision.
Home Lea House (built 1964) is a substantially older building than
Dolphin Manor (built 1987) with a shorter remaining asset life which
will require significant capital investment in the near future in order
to bring the building and facilities up to an acceptable standard that
complies with current legislation.
Dolphin Manor is currently performing as intended and requires only
minor improvements. The property condition report for Home Lea
House and projected component life expectancy and renewal costs
indicate more substantial investment would be required which may
be uneconomical given the remaining asset life.

A report by the Director Adults and Health prepared for a
forthcoming meeting of the Outer South Committee
establishes the reasons for the proposed closure of Home
Lea House and notwithstanding purported changes to
models of care and financial considerations, the age of the
building is cited as a reason for the action to be taken. Surely
it is the quality of the care provision that is paramount.

Capacity of alternative provision
The 10 care homes rated as Outstanding or Good within five miles
of Home Lea House total 501 beds. Occupancy at care homes can
vary from week to week: as of 11th March 2021 occupancy rates at
those homes ranged from 44% to 95% with an average occupancy
of 79%. The council has two residential care homes situated in
Rothwell, Dolphin Manor has 35 beds and on average achieved
67% occupancy during 2020-21.

The model of care argument within the aforementioned
report is understood, but not fully accepted and while a
strategy that maximises independent living facilities is
welcomed, the question of those with greater dependency
and requiring the present model of care is not very clearly

The Rothwell ward area has an oversupply of residential care
118

Submission
addressed. The suggestion is that Dolphin Manor in Rothwell
is an alternative option of provision. It is not long since that
Dolphin Manor was identified for closure, but which due to
local opposition was retained and it is therefore difficult to
have long term confidence in such a strategy.

Raised By

Response
provision by 120 beds. The Council’s Extra Care Supply & Demand
Model calculates anticipated future demand for residential, nursing
and extra care provision, taking into account proposed population
changes to 2028 at a ward level, and suggests there is sufficient
capacity of alternative good quality provision.

Page 655

Delivering new housing-with-care provision in line with the current
and future demand is one of the key drivers of the Better Lives
Strategy (which is the Council’s strategy for people with care and
support needs) and Adults & Health continue to work alongside the
Housing Growth Team to identify suitable sites for extra care
housing of which there is an undersupply, and also with Health
partners and independent care sector providers for the development
of more nursing care for people with the most complex needs
where, again, there is an undersupply.
In January 2019 Leeds City Council appointed a delivery group
made up of Ashley House Ltd, Morgan Ashley LLP and Home
Group to deliver four Extra Care schemes on Council owned sites in
Leeds including Windlesford Green in Rothwell. The Windlesford
Green Scheme will deliver 64 units of Extra Care housing with
anticipated start on site in June 2021.
Dolphin Manor
As discussed at the recent Outer South Community Committee
meeting on 15th March, my professional recommendation as the
Director of Adults and Health is that should Home Lea House and
Richmond House care homes be approved for closure, that no
further council run care homes should be put forward for
decommissioning. This would mean Dolphin Manor, along with
Knowle Manor (Morley South) and Spring Gardens (Otley and
Yeadon) would be retained in the city as council-run care home
119

Submission

Raised By

Response
provision.

4c) Consultation Petitions
Home Lea House petition – online comments
Petition ꞏ Prevent the closure of Home Lea House, Rothwell. ꞏ Change.org

Page 656

Total signatures - 1248
Number of comments – 139
Comments:
More elderly in society means more not less homes like this. Not everyone can live
independently, a caring society and City (LEEDS) knows this and provides.
Why am I reading recent updates on numerous housing developments within
Rothwell then reading that the council intend to close this amazing care home!
This is the second one they have tried to close in recent years! The population of
Rothwell is growing so where do they intend for us all to go when we reach an age
where we depend on these services?! I know I would want to remain in this area
where I was raised and where I’ve raised my children! Absolutely despicable of the
Council!
This is a lovely place to live the staff are great and the cook is always baking buns,
what is up with these people who want to close homes like these.
We know there is inadequate provision in the private sector and it is a total folly for
the Labour Council to continue close public services when there is inadequate
provision elsewhere. They did this at The Green in Seacroft decimating dementia
provision. As an independent councillor I am very happy to sign this. It’s a
ridiculously short term view.
120

Page 657

I’m signing because !! Whoever took the decision to close is a C**T !!
They think Covid will be a smokescreen for them, absolutely disgusted
We do not want Home Lea to close down
How can closing Home Lea solve the care crisis in this country?! Ridiculous!
Incomprehensible! My grandma was cared for here in her final years. More homes
need to be provided by Leeds City Council, not fewer!
This place has been home to many local residents it is a disgrace that anyone
would think of closing it
It’s not fair that people homes where they are settled and looked after and you are
going to unsettle them all just because u want to close it leave it open
The home is needed by many people. Closing will affect them, their families, the
staff and the local area.
We need care homes more than ever
I know a lot of people want this to stay open
People deserved to be looked after in fabulous care homes such as Home Lea!
Where is the council proposing they go?
This care home has provided excellent care for the elderly in this area for many
years and it closure will mean another essential service closed for the most
vulnerable in our community. Shame on those responsible who think this can be
just sold off.
A lot of elderly people have lived in Rothwell and when the time would come where
they need to be cared for I'm sure they would certainly wish to stay in their local
village and be near family and friends.I know I would if it came to this.
Moves are detrimental to the health of elderly residents especially during a
pandemic
We need care homes at all times x
Where are the elderly going to live and get together with the rest of the elderly
residents. All the council want to do is cut back on everything
I'm signing this as this is a group of people's home, we are a community so sick
together and remember morals
It needs to stay open
My friend's mum is here. It's a lovely home and well run. Feels like all the big
121

Page 658

consortiums are taking over and losing that family friendly touch
We need more elderly care places, not fewer, and the short-sightedness of LCC is
dangerous.
If it is closed what happens to the residents. Let’s think about them and not budget
cuts. They elderly deserve the best. They are what makes a family and country
whole
I am signing because this home means so much to friends and family, good
nursing homes are hard to find and we need to keep them open
The closure of this home is a backward step and needs rethinking!
Vulnerable people need to be protected
Not enough homes, stupid to close this one
I'm old myself and this sounds like somewhere I would like to go
To maintain local provision of 24 hour care for those who need it.
Protect the elderly and vulnerable
Because LCC think they can treat our elderly and vulnerable with contempt and
get away with it.
We need good homes
My auntie is a resident here and has settled in so well
My dad stays there for respite care. It's so important for our family
My dad was cared for at home lea. The staff were lovely and gave me and my
family reassurance he was safe.
Save our elderly care as it’s needed so much.
My mum has advanced dementia and not long in the near future I will probably
have to make the heart wrenching decision to put her in a home. Good nursing
homes are hard to find and shutting them down is absolutely ridiculous. We need
more good homes like these to stay open
We are an ageing population and need more homes like this rather than shutting
them. Find other areas to save money
My grandma was looked after there and clearly there is a shortage in this country
of residential care for the elderly. Should be expanding provision not closing
homes!
122

Page 659

Only heard good things about this home.
Care homes provide a vital service that is needed more than ever due to an ageing
population. We need more not less.
There should always be care homes for vulnerable people
we need homes like this in our area please do not close Home Lea House
Don't take their home from them. The care of these vulnerable adults should come
well before budget cuts.
My Mum is a resident at Home Lea and she is very settled there. It has an
outstanding CQC report and fabulous staff. After being isolated for so long due to
covid, it’s the worst thing that could be happening to them at this time. We must
fight this closure.
I had a dear friend whose mum was a resident here. Local homes for local people
need to remain part of the community.
My father in law is here, happy and settled, he has lived in Rothwell all his life, this
will be a huge upset if he has to move elsewhere.
My grandad is happy and settled here
I signed because not only is it the most stupid idea ever under present
circumstances, I’m sure they could find other areas within their own organisation
that wastes our hard-earned money to make cuts.
Would be a shame to close.
It is a fantastic home best in the area would be sinful to shut it.
It is a needed residence in the area.
As it’s taxpayer funded, I as a taxpayer say no to its closure.
My grandma is a resident!
This is a well-run home leave it alone if the council stop putting asylum seekers in
motels that will more than pay for the home
I don't think they should close any care homes as we need them to protect our
elderly people and their families also more people will lose more jobs and we have
lost enough places and jobs already
Too many care homes are closing down and they are needed more than ever. My
dad only spent a few months in a home before he passed away but I remember
him saying that he wished he had done it much sooner because he wasn’t so
123

Page 660

lonely there.
It’s their home.
Home Lea House is a valuable community asset and should be kept open
We need more homes for our elderly
I think it would be very unfair to close it down.
Please keep it there
I know of 2 people who received excellent care here. It is a vital place in the
community and to close it would be a disgrace. These are people not just
numbers.
There needs to be council funded care homes for those not fortunate enough to
have £££££ set aside or a house to sell to pay for a place in a private care home,
where money comes before care
I care
This is part of the heritage of Rothwell.
Why is it always the elderly to suffer. They've paid all their lives, this is their home.
Don’t take it away from them
Because our elderly need more homes like this one. There is no need for it to
close at all
There are other areas Leeds City Council could make savings but elderly care
should not be one of them. With an increasing population of older people, this is
exactly the area we need to be spending on long term future goals putting people
before profits. Where do you expect those residents to go? Please consider the
impact on the local community there in an already challenging time ahead and the
residents in their last few years if life.
We need this care home.. Too many are closing in an ageing population. It’s not
good business sense at all.
We should be building more care homes not closing them. What are the residents
supposed to do ?
Home Lea is a much needed home in this area, staff are great, would be awful to
lose such a caring home
Leeds City Council have forgotten those that they serve. They should hang their
collective heads in shame
124

Page 661

We love Home Lea.
I have worked here whilst the home I worked at was getting renovated and the
staff were so caring not only about their residents but about their staff also .. it's
like one massive family vibe & they do loads of fund raising so they can take them
on trips out ... please do not shut this home, just think of the residents being
isolated because of covid19 & now they’re losing home/family /friends if you close
this home. You’re making a massive mistake and we will see a lot of deaths but
not to covid19 but to broken hearts...
I may need this lovely care home myself in the future
Closing a lovely care home where so many happy people live is ludicrous! These
are people not piles of rubbish that can be just moved on with no care or thought
for the trauma and upset it will cause.
Home Lea has been there for all my life the staff are amazing and this is a vital
service for our elderly. Closing this place would be devastating for staff residents
current and the future. Look after our elderly and the people who care for them
A vital local resource.
This home has been there for years, it’s people’s home, needs to stop open
We need care homes in the area. Why close an excellent facility that is giving
outstanding service
Disgusting, Leeds City Council has the best care
They were amazing with both my grandma and grandad. They are wonderful and a
much needed service for our community.
I have someone in this home and it’s a lovely place, he’s settled. This damn
country, government, council NEVER learn. It’s more homes we need with more
investment and facilities. For gods sake stop ripping everything and everyone
apart
I visited there as community nurse. The staff were a brilliant..
When i worked as a community staff nurse many years ago this was a fantastic
place. The staff were outstanding. It will be tragic for the residents to loose there
home and their families
Leeds city council has closed down too many homes already Home Lea is the only
home left in Rothwell for the local community.
125

Page 662

This is a beautiful and well looked after care home also is part of the Rothwell
community.
It's short sighted to close council run care homes.
My father is in home lea and he loves it it would be a massive shame to close now
Some years ago Leeds City Council declared that they wanted to be "The"
dementia friendly city in the UK. The way this announcement has been made,
hidden away,under the news of today is shambolic. People are living longer, more
are being diagnosed with dementia,and more will be requiring the specialist care
needed. Familiarity and routine are important to those with dementia, especially as
many have not seen family for many months, any move now will certainly have an
impact on their well being.
My sister here and just settled in after losing her mum after living with her for 70+
years, please don’t take her safety net away
This home has been part of Rothwell for as long as i can remember there are
never enough places for the elderly were they can feel safe in there elderly years
so why close down a good thing that they have and upset the residents in there
later years
Good care homes & staff are very few & far between unlike private care homes
that are more interested in making money than actually caring about their
residents.
One if the best care homes in Leeds. Put care before money.
It’s important.
This is their home.
That’s the easy option. Think harder.
It’s an essential part of Rothwell community
South of the Aire also needs residential care.
The residents have contributed all their life and now the Councils are effectively
stealing all their input. The government just want to euthanise the elderly and keep
reducing funding!
I lived in Rothwell for much of my life and my parents still live there. I remember
going to Home Lea to do school concerts and seeing the care the residents
received. To rip them from the place they are comfortable and where they feel safe
126

Page 663

is disgraceful. Never forgetting the families, you will destroy as they watch their
loved ones crumble or (staff) lose their jobs. This is not about one issue, it’s about
a myriad. Hang your heads in shame for treating people like this!!
Nooo! People who now live there depend on the security and support provided by
Home Lea. An enforced removal of vulnerable elderly people who will be confused
and even more devastated through the lack of contact with family and friends. It
does not bear thinking about and would be the ultimate betrayal
We cannot afford to lose such a vital and well-loved service
It would be a real shame to see such a wonderful place closed. Many people rely
on these to keep family local and well card for. Its one of the better care facilities in
Leeds.
It’s just not the time to close care and support venues and homes
My Grandma lives here.
My grandma is in this home, it’s the happiest she has been in years and she has
met some lovely people. Why do this to these residents who are settled, cared for
exceptionally by amazing carers?
Too many homes for the elderly are closed with little consideration of the
consequences for the residents they care for! Please do not close this care home
in Rothwell
Residents should not be part of any "Budget Plan" ...it is their Home ...Please do
not let this happen ..
This home is lovely, the staff are amazing and it would be such a loss for the lovely
residents that live there it’s there home :(
Supporting friends who have family in this lovely local care home
People’s lives should not be part of a "Budget Plan" ...
Supporting family
Home lea house provides a vital local service
My sister Laura Harwood is a resident there
It should not be closing, we need more not less nursing homes
Rothwell must continue to provide a safe environment for our elderly community. I
don’t understand the rationale for the proposed closure but I know that this is a
much needed service.
127

Page 664

Why would you close it, just don’t
They elderly need to be taken care of and this home is a wonderful part of our
community.
Please do not close
We need local care homes for the local elderly people
Care homes are needed in this community!
We need places like this in our area for our elder family members
My nan is is there and she is very settled and well looked after by all staff
This is a valuable part of the community and is much needed
Extremely needing this in the area. Why do they have to do this, or is it all about
the money again for the council?
This is a vital local service
Home Lea provides exceptional care for our community
This wonderful home is a large part of the community and needs to stay
My Aunt spent her last happy years in Home Lea House. This is a vital service for
the Rothwell community. We need Home Lea House, there is always a waiting list
for places demonstrating a need for this service.
Care homes are needed more than ever this has always been a good place
This is a lovely care home and it’s amazing for the community to help our
vulnerable
Because it's needed
Home Lea is a wonderful home for elderly residents we shouldn't be losing such a
vital service
This is vital to the older people in this area.
Care homes are needed now more than ever. The staff obviously care for their
residents. Budgets can be easily cut elsewhere.
During the current problems we should be supporting those with dementia and
their families, not trampling on them.

128

Richmond House petition – online comments
Petition ꞏ Proposed closure of Richmond House in Farsley ꞏ Change.org

Page 665

Total signatures - 1178
Number of comments – 90
Comments:
We need Richmond House, especially in view of the Pandemic
We need to look after our elderly
We’re signing because my mum stayed here. It’s such a community building- with
fabulous personal care
I’m signing because it is a wonderful local service. My grandma was looked after
there, such high standard of service
My Mum was cared for wonderfully by the staff after having a hip operation. A vital
service both for the residents and local community.
This is crazy it is a well-used home and a step up to people getting back to their
own independent living after an illness or fall.
Moving frail, elderly people at any time, is traumatic and particularly in a pandemic
- distressing for residents and their families.
A friend of mine had a short stay in this care home after being placed there from
hospital after a fall at home. She made great progress with her rehabilitation while
there and was able to return home successfully in a planned way with carers.
Many more people need to get back home in this way instead if being put in
private care homes subsidised by the Council.
A vital service both for the residents and local community.
Want to save Richmond House
It's the only Council run local one with a good reputation
Richmond house provides much needed care and respite to the elderly. Instead of
closing all these facilities we need to be supporting them and keeping them open.
Some of these people will have been there for years and having to move and get
used to change will be so stressful for some of these poor people!
129

Page 666

Cutting back facilities doesn’t create job and doesn’t help the local community. The
government can do better then closing this place.
These homes are needed and those there I feel be very upset to move
This place is so needed for our elderly as LCC have closed most of the others, it’s
a good place for rehabilitation to get people back into the comfort of their own
homes.
Because it needed in the community
I care
My grandad stayed here and they don't a fabulous job!
This is a vital resource for the local area which is needed for supporting the most
vulnerable and should not be closed.
You can’t just close it, where do the elderly go? To strange places they don't know,
they will die from upset. Like a member of my family did
Much needed facility for local people.
Try to keep all good care homes open. Communities need them.
This is a fantastic facility run by people who really care about the vulnerable
people in our community.
It's a valued part of Farsley
It’s a much needed service, especially in these times
I want to see our community built on and our older people looked after. Not
everything closed and demolished!
We really do need this, in fact we need more places like this!
No care home should be closed
its a disgrace that you are trying to close Richmond House once more.
We need more care homes for the elderly not less.
It's a lovely place of retired of the elderly
There aren’t enough care facilities as it is. This needs to stay open for the
community who need the services it offers.
Residential and care homes are needed more than ever with an ever-increasing
ageing population
Elderly people need safe local places to live in comfort the life they deserve
130

Page 667

So many Farsley and Pudsey residents rely on Richmond House, it is needed!
Residential homes are essential part of the community, especially for those unable
to be cared for by relatives. 'Care from the cradle to the grave' was a slogan we're
familiar with and wish to see it lived up to.
I'm from Farsley and can't bear the thought of this closing unnecessarily.
My grandma lives in a care home and if hers was made to close lots of people
would have nowhere to live
This is short sighted in every aspect and everyone will agree we all get older
discriminative to say the least
The people deserve the best care possible in our area.
This is a great care home and heart of Farsley community.
This facility is essential for the wellbeing of the local community.
Now more than ever these facilities are desperately needed to help the elderly and
their families
My friend was in Richmond house for months after an operation, the staff provided
excellent care. This is short sightedness on Leeds city council If it was not for
places like Richmond House offering care for those that need it, people would end
up staying in hospital for longer periods, bed blocking, which in the end would be
more costly.
My friend was in Richmond house for months after an operation, the staff provided
excellent care. This is short sightedness on Leeds city council If it was not for
places like Richmond House offering care for those that need it, people would end
up staying in hospital for longer periods, bed blocking, which in the end would be
more costly.
It is much needed to care for our elderly population. Please LCC why are you
aiming to close this and the one at Rothwell? We are living longer and we need a
place for our increasing older population that will otherwise have to take up a place
in hospital as they cannot afford private care.
Richmond House provides high quality respite and short term care and
assessment for elderly people. It was purpose built and has a spacious and
comfortable feel which gives residents dignity and care.
Richmond House is a valuable asset to the are fabulous staff and care
131

Page 668

Just think Councillors, you might need it yourselves one Day. You can destroy the
City Centre and spend over £20m doing it and at the same time say you have no
money for such as this! Lies, all of it.
Richmond House has cared for many people over the years. It should be allowed
to continue its work! We are losing too many of our much needed Care Homes
Especially at this particular time this closure makes no sense whatsoever. The
wellbeing of residents must be first priority not money.
We need more places like this not less
This facility is needed in the area to cut down on travel for elderly family and
friends. It is well located with good transport links and parking
This is upsetting people’s lives, especially the elderly!
This is a much needed, and loved, care home, locally used and a local asset.
Our elderly are not disposable
We need our elderly to be safe in their home. There are far too few good ones and
this deserves to stay open
It’s paramount to have this facility for the local people
This is a very valuable asset within the community.
It needs to be saved for the older generation in the community
My dad was in there and it’s a vital service that can’t be lost
It's a ridiculous, short sighted idea.
We need to keep places like this open – wonderful place and one of the best in my
opinion - looked after my dad amazingly
Richmond House provides an excellent service to those who need it.
Its been there many years and used by patients all over Yorkshire it will be very
sad if this closes. I have many a memorable day there visiting from school n the
harvest festival
And the staff provide such care. Don’t let it close. .
This service is needed now more than ever
Was very convenient when my mother in law needed respite care
Does so much good for the community
It’s much needed, for the residents it gives them hope and reassurance they will
132

Page 669

be cared from
We need this resource in our area. My dad would have been lost in the system
when he came out of hospital a few years back.
We need to keep this in our community it is a great help for people in their time of
need.
It offers a vital service to the area and was a blessing when my father was ill with
Parkinson’s giving my mum the much needed respite
I think its disgusting they are wanting to close this place
We need this home to remain a home
Very important to the local community
Farsley needs Richmond house
There are too many closures of homes. More are needed.
Simply I think it's disgusting that you’re taking this home away from the elderly who
have most likely lived most of their lives in Farsley. You should be ashamed of
yourselves, corrupt idiots
We have lost too many valuable adult social care services. Let's not reduce
services provided by statutory services to zero, we are failing the vulnerable in our
society.
This is a much needed resource for the area
Leeds city council have just scrapped a clean air zone vanity scheme at a cost of
millions but when it comes to looking after the elderly “we’ve got to cut costs”
People of Farsley depend on this home so they can stay in the village they’ve
been all their lives, which is everything, Farsley is more than a place to live, it’s
home and memories
This is a lifeline to patients recovering they need the transition from hospital to
home especially if theres no one there when they get home
I object to this fantastic local provision being decommissioned - it is the only local
respite care available and is desperately needed.
We need to retain local services for local people
Because we need this home it's a community resource that Leeds City council
have failed to promote
133

This home was a life saver for us when we needed it for my mum who had
Parkinson’s. Lovely, homely and caring staff. Not just left to sit in a chair. We loved
going to visit.
The elderly a soft target, time we stood up, enough is enough.
Our elderly needs one where safe to live.
GMB Petition – 390 signatures

Page 670

Submitted as an exported PDF from website
Comments:
So disappointed that it has got to the point of cutting homes for older people. The
system is broken.
Solidarity from Leeds TUC.
Care facilities are our lifeline.
We have seen how great the private sector is. Low pay, long hours and lack of
necessary kit and little scrutiny or accountability.
Solidarity to one of my favourite cities.
The last thing to go is not the lights, it’s the care homes. Stop it!
For the good of our communities, Leeds Trade Unionists should support the GMB.
We are in the middle of a pandemic and have a proposal to close care homes for
the most vulnerable people in society, it is wrong and we need to stop accepting
the funding cuts imposed on local authorities by fighting back.
Labour Councillors do not make cuts in my name as a Labour Party member and
Trade Unionist. We need to publicly fight against cuts. I am a member of Leeds
Labour Representation Committee and we will support any Trade Unions and
campaign groups organising against cuts.
The private sector is not fit for purpose. The closure of the OAP homes in Leeds
was the Council’s worse decision ever.
Our elderly have given so much, when it's time to give a little back you can't just
say no and forget what they have given. Disgraceful Leeds. I know the twits in
London pull the strings, so push for a united Yorkshire to hold your own purse
134

Page 671

strings and tell London to get lost.
I worked in older people’s services for many years and have seen the impact of
closing people’s homes where they feel safe and supported by people they have
come to see as family. It is devastating.
Care homes have been hit far too much, they should be supported and protected.
We must protect our local authority communities before they are stripped bare.
Private sector is a business run purely for shareholders pockets.
Leeds needs these essential services, please avoid closures.
This is very sad to hear, it is always the vulnerable and elderly that suffer! The
elderly that have worked hard all their lives to be treated like this and the staff that
have cared for them throughout this pandemic now face losing their jobs, it's very
disappointing.
I am disgusted, closing the homes.
We need to look after the customer and take care of them. If they move from one
home to another they will possibly pass away.
Not the right time!! Never the right time!!
Whoever has decided the closures should hang their heads in shame. It’s always
the elderly and the most vulnerable that takes a hit.
Devastating news. What has happened to duty of care?
We need council care homes. Too many closing, for the residents and staff.
Keep them open.
I'm at one of the facilities - worked tirelessly through this pandemic on the front line
putting myself and family members at risk, sacrificed so much of myself willingly
and with loyalty by completing lots of extra Covid related duties and restricted
myself from going anywhere and doing anything other than work and home in an
effort to keep my customers safe only to be told that a proposal of closure has
been submitted to the executive board. I then read in the tabloids that 600 jobs are
to be axed - so how do I and my colleagues feel right now??
betrayed...…...worthless...….. used...…. for many of us this is not the first time we
have faced this awful situation.
Let's all sign and stop this from happening.
Very sad, great service and staff.
135

Page 672

Keep the care homes open.
Decisions made by people wealthy enough to never feel its consequences.
We need care homes for our vulnerable people. They need to feel they have care
and support and be around people to give them some life.
Keep open, the governments shut everything down.
Devastating.
Everyone needs to sign this to stop closures.
It’s disgusting that they always pick on the most vulnerable people in society and
they always get away with it. We need stick together to protect them.
Everyone needs to sign this to stop closures.
It’s an absolute disgrace the closure of the homes.
It’s ridiculous that these care homes are being threatened with closure, especially
in these chaotic times, where care homes are invaluable.
It would be devastating if it was your mother or father who was having to undergo
such a traumatic experience. Older people can't cope with changes like this. If it
was the case that the Council had decided to renovate the properties, that could
be done incrementally, with support from staff. If they wanted to close the care
homes, the Council should phase them out, gradually over time.
There is nowhere for the elderly to go if government is closing homes down. It's
always elderly that has to suffer.
I totally agree with GMB stance on this matter.
Appalling.
Don’t close them.
Stop closure of the 3 care homes.
The passion the adults and young people show throughout this pandemic in the
nursing homes has not shone as much as it should have. A massive shout out for
the legends who were left behind. Keep fighting for justice, every one matters, love
and happiness will defeat the
bugs!!!!!!!!!!!
My sister works in one of these care homes and all the hard work for the residents
in protecting them from Covid whilst maintaining the standard of care they provide,
whilst living with the increased risk themselves, they should be rewarded for their
136

Page 673

efforts. This does not feel right.
Appalled to hear this news. C19 has been the excuse to dismantle so many
services of care and NHS.
Disgraceful.... Do the vulnerable in our city not count as citizens of our city.
Those older people need to be kept in their home especially as we are in Covid.
It's upsetting to see this sort of thing in this day and age.
Hope all the front line service’s staff who make a difference to the people of Leeds
can get through this uncertain and difficult time and can in time have a bright future
to look forward to.
We need our care homes. Please consider the consequences if we shut our
homes down. Some elderly people use this as their comfort zone. Please be
considerate.
Homes are important for people who don’t have family to care for them.
We need these facilities to help take the pressure off the hospitals.
It’s a disgrace.
Disgusting.
We need these care homes for vulnerable elderly people. It’s imperative that they
stay open.
Stop closure of care homes.
Absolutely stunned. Why is it always the vulnerable that are penalised at a time
when residents, staff and families have enough worries?
LCC have to claw back this deficit. It is a worrying time when much needed care
homes become a target for austerity measures. These are front line provisions and
the workers are doing a much needed service. Please allow them to continue in
their posts; LCC you must reconsider.
Keep these places open and stop privatising care places. It's not a business, it’s
about CARING.
LCC should be protecting the vulnerable.
We don't need more homes closing.
Care homes are important.
We need these homes, so why do you need to shut them. It's not right when you
137

Page 674

are shutting down. Where are people going to go?
I work in one of these buildings and I feel as though the money is more important
than the PEOPLE that work there and most importantly the poor unforgettable
PEOPLE that live in them, the ones that think they won’t have to move again when
they are settled and have trust in the PEOPLE that support them and the PEOPLE
that the only family they have are the ones that support them and that they live
with. PEOPLE’S mental health is not even taken notice of as when these PEOPLE
have to move they will become only a shell and probably will be thinking “when will
I have to move again?” So they will not be able to settle and relax. Anyway rant
over as no matter what is said or done no one listens or even cares.
What's the point of anything if our final years are unhappy. It's more important we
safeguard our elderly and ensure they benefit from their own contributions.
Absolutely disgusting!!!
There are not enough decent care facilities and resource centres around these
days to provide the care and support these people need anyway. Absolute
disgrace!
It's easy to fall out of society, not easy to get back in and with that is a much higher
cost to be paid, both personal and loss of economic activity.
Appalling.
Disgraceful. We are still working through this pandemic. Coming to work to care for
the vulnerable putting our own health at risk and the health of our own families.
Just where do they think these people are going to go. Generally elderly and
vulnerable people do not like change of any kind.
Must be saved.
Really bad.
Services for our elders and vulnerable citizens need to remain as for a lot it is their
only human contact that day.
They are the only care homes I would trust with my relatives, the rest are just
money grasping institutions.
A travesty! With this government it’s always the vulnerable who suffer!
It’s sad to hear this.
This is disgusting. The old and vulnerable need looking after. How can they justify
138

Page 675

closing homes down.
It is disgraceful that yet again the elderly and the vulnerable are cast to one side to
save money along with dedicated staff set to lose jobs. Everything should be done
to stop this. You have my support.
These care homes should be the last places the Council should look to save
money by closures, surely it’s a civilised society’s duty to provide decent adequate
care to residents of Leeds.
It's a shame that the Tories are treating our elderly like this. Some have been
through wars, paid their taxes and national insurances, to be now slapped in the
face. The government really needs to hold their heads in shame.
We can't afford to lose any more care homes. Where are the elderly supposed to
live out their lives. They will have worked all their lives and end up getting pushed
all over the place.
My mum has been a devoted care worker for Leeds City Council for nearly 30
years.
I have worked in dementia for twenty years and with LCC they won't stop until
they’re all closed, after all elderly people can't fight back.
All LCC want to do is save money again. Not considered the residents who live
there and once again they have the money to waste on Leeds city centre work.
Just not fair.
Outrageous.
Been out there from day one of lockdowns from Covid-19. I don't think and feel
like I've been appreciated. I am worried and concerned about my working future
and income, my mental health has also suffered due to worrying, but I'm still here
working hard for LCC.
My mother is in a nursing home. The waiting times for places are agonising,
worrying about your loved one being safe.
We need to protect our vulnerable people.
We need these to look after our parents and grandparents to know they are safe
and cared for.
Care homes will be required in the future after this pandemic is over and if we start
losing them now, we will increase the care crisis in the longer term.
139

Page 676

My late grandma worked at Richmond House, Pudsey for many many years. You
can't shut it down, it's a much needed home that is usually to full capacity.
I agree wholeheartedly, far too many homes and facilities have been shut down
over the past few years, leaving the elderly and the vulnerable sad and confused.
You have my backing all the way.
Stop this barbaric treatment to our elderly.
It’s disgusting, our elderly and vulnerable need support, shutting down care homes
is appalling.
We need to support all staff and service users.
Keep council carers.
I think we are seeing the true face of Conservative, caring yet again!
This cannot be right! What are the cared for and carers supposed to do? My lovely
late Grandma lived at Richmond House and couldn't have been treat better, keep
these homes open!
I have elderly parents and if they were to need to go in to a care home, it would not
be in the local area of Rothwell where they live, and have friends and family.
Been there myself, when they closed the home I work in. It’s not a nice thing to go
through, hopeful that won’t come to that for them.
These care establishments are where I live, this effects lots of people in my
community, this cannot be right, outrageous!!!
Years of Tory cuts to local authority funding has brought about this crisis in care
facilities.
For staff this will be devastating financially and the mental health impact for staff
and for service users.
The Tories clearly do not care about the elderly, vulnerable and hard working
public sector workers.
We need these homes for our residents who get the best care that they deserve.
You have already lost the Labour seats in Rothwell and won’t get them back
making moves like this.
Don’t be foolish.
Shut the Houses of Parliament. They don't do anything apart from sitting around
and be given bonuses for doing jack.
140

Page 677

I acknowledge the LA's financial pressures but also recognise the importance of
homes such as these play in caring for the vulnerable in our society.
This should not be happening, typical of of Tory rule.
The elderly in these care homes are in the midst of a pandemic, they now should
not be losing their homes.
LCC front line staff have risked their lives to keep these people safe, so we need
to fight to keep their jobs.
Why would the Council sell their care homes when there is an intensive demand to
house older people and those with disabilities? This in the long run will add
additional pressures to local authorities’ service in the future, also jobs will be lost
in the process. What will happen to tenants and occupants who have had to use
these types of facilities prior awaiting discharge for health reasons.
Need to keep all care in house not for private profit.
Sad times.
LCC must demand emergency funding from the Tory government. Our local
authorities have been starved of funds for too long! End austerity now.
Why is Richmond House care home proposed for closure by Leeds City Council
while they are still funding services for people leaving hospital and awaiting
reassessment and review of their care plans in private care homes? This outsourcing and privatisation should stop in order to save money and preserve the
community facilities for rehabilitation and recovery of Leeds people.
I feel the decision to close at such an unprecedented moment in time is harsh.
Keep the Council facilities open! It is so important to keep valuable public services
operating.
We need these homes.
Where will vulnerable people who need these amenities go. How much has the
government spent on Serco?
This is such a remarkable facility which is not available in many parts of the
country. It would be a tragedy to lose it.
What a way to treat frontline staff after risking their lives to care for some of the
most vulnerable people in society. I know the pandemic has had an effect on
everyone, but to potentially lose your livelihood at any time is devastating. I hope
141

that GMB fight this all the way.
Devastating news for so many in the elderly and disabled community. Really hope
these care homes and Osmondthorpe HUB can stay open. Very sad for residents,
service users and staff!
I have been working in this care home for the past 2 months and cannot believe
they are going to close it. The elderly need looking after and this place is fantastic
for them, they are all happy and content here.

Page 678
142

Appendix 3a) Consultation Survey Questionnaire Detailed Responses
Home Lea House General Public Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey Results
(22 Responses)
After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you understand why the
Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
21
1
0

After reading the information or having it fully explained to
you, do you understand why the Council wants to make these
changes?
25
20
15
10
5
0
I do understand

I don’t understand

Don’t know

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Home Lea House long stay
residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly agree
Agree
Neither agree
Disagree
Strongly disagree
nor disagree
0
3
0
1
18

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to
close Home Lea House long stay residential care home?
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Page 679

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Please tell us the reason for your answer
My great grandmother resides in the care home. As a family, we placed her in several care homes,
in which she didn't feel comfortable, until settling on Home Lea. Closing the home would result in
great distress and anxiety for her, which has been magnified after a year not understanding why
her family have hardly been able to see her, and would potentially ruin the peace we expected for
her in what are likely her final years with us. While I understand long stay is not for everyone and
others will want to stay at home for as long as possible, this is simply not possible for her. Instead
she has somewhere she feels at home and where she is superbly cared for.
Rothwell is a large community that requires local services for its people. It is not well served by
public transport to enable friends and relatives to visit care homes in other areas especially elderly
people. Where people have lived together at home and one is now in care easy access is required.
Dolphin Manor is described as being Council run but it’s not too long since you wanted to close
that. It was saved through local action and now you are suggesting that is all that will be left!
Please do not close Home Lea. It is a lovely friendly caring home that we need.
The residents living in Home Lea House have made a carefully considered decision to move in here
after looking around to find the most suitable home for them. They have then moved in and
settled into their new home and become comfortable in their new home. They are now facing the
possibility of having the trauma and upheaval of having to be moved. A number of residents
within the home, including both of my grandmothers have dementia, along with other health
conditions. The thought of them having to move at their ages, 93 and 89, is just unthinkable. The
fact that the proposed closure is solely based on saving money is absolutely disgusting and totally
wrong. These people have lived in the local area all of their lives and should, therefore, be able to
stay living within the area, surrounded by their families and friends, and not have the worry of
having to find a new home. This could then potentially mean they will have to move out of the
area to somewhere they have no family or friends around to visit them.
The Council should not put the onus on the private sector to look after our elderly.
I am Rothwell born and bred. Home Lea is an amazing home, the residents are settled and really
happy there. It would be a real shame to see it close. Rothwell and surrounding areas are forever
growing in size, houses are been thrown up everywhere you look. People are living longer and
leaving the area with only one care home will not be enough. Local people will not be able to stay
in the area they love, it’s just wrong. I am a tax payer and I’m sure the Council can cut back
elsewhere to save this wonderful home.
It is a much needed well run residential home which gives an opportunity for local residential
care.
Why are the Council still wasting our (tax payers) money on stupid Leeds 2023? No one wants this
or any other of Judith Blake’s money wasting schemes in Leeds. Why not invest in making these 2
homes more modern, viable and attract some private paying customers to help up keep. These
facilities once gone will never be replaced and means Council social spending increases on private
homes lining the pockets of greedy owners of elderly care facilities. Keep the homes and not a
bean more to be spent on Leeds 2023.
Because better care can be provided to people in a non-profit setting. I strongly disagree with the
state paying profit making organisations for care. There is still a shortage of care beds - there a
huge amount of ‘super stranded’ patients awaiting care packages in NHS beds
The care residents receive at Home Lea is excellent. As a Council run home, residents family feel
secure knowing their loved ones are being cared for at a high level. A lot of private care homes
seem to think it is more important to have pianos and chandeliers rather than good quality care.
These care homes are essential for the elderly in our community. My grandma has been here for
12 months. She is coming up to 98. This was a stressful time after living independently for 97
years. The home made her feel at ease and she has adjusted well. Moving these residents further

Page 680

a field where family may not be able to visit will isolate families and cause unnecessary stress. My
grandma pays for her own care and sold her house to fund this.
Care homes are needed for old people to be cared for in the community. It's on a bus route for
family members to be able to travel to see them.
I completely disagree with this decision as there are many residents in Home Lea including my two
grandmas that have dementia. One of which has always been very unsettled, that was until she
moved into Home Lea. My grandma now sees Home Lea as her home and I believe it would be too
upsetting and unsettling to move any of the residents that live there. The staff are very
professional and always make visitors welcome. It would be such a shame if the home were to
close as it makes so many people happy, both residents and the people that visit, as we can see
how happy and settled our family members are.
Both my grandmas are living in Home Lea House and they are both happy and settled. They both
have dementia and they don't need the worry of getting kicked out of their homes on top of
having that! All their family live in the Rothwell area and there's only one other care home in
Rothwell and that has no room for any new residents, so if they got kicked out of Home Lea they
would have to move out of the area and that would be very upsetting for them and also
detrimental to their health and also their families.
Home Lea House is a much loved local facility. Rothwell is very much a family community and
older people here value their local links. If I were ever to need care, I would be much happier in
my own area where family and older friends can visit.
This provides a lovely home for local residents and surrounding areas. I understand that Dolphin is
also in the area but in these times with care needs for the elderly in great demand I feel it will be a
great loss to the area, and in the grand scheme of things what the Council will save by closing
Home Lea it’s a drop in the ocean.
My 97 year old grandma is a resident at this care home. For my grandma, a very proud lady, it was
a huge decision to leave her home, her independence to move into a care home. She was
frightened that she would be neglected and not looked after in the way she deserved. It was
important to her to pick the right care that she was going to spend her remaining years at. The
staff at Home Lea House have not only been kind, friendly and attentive to her every needs, they
have also been a great source of comfort, when we as family have been unable to visit during the
pandemic. Home Lea have become a surrogate family to the residents.
My mum moved to Home Lea House in February 2020, just before lockdown. We had suffered a
horrible year, where my mum's mobility deteriorated to a point where as a family we couldn't
cope with her living by herself. We fell in love with Home Lea straight away and the staff have
supported both mum and us throughout a traumatic year with the extra trauma of Covid. It is her
home where she feels secure, well cared for and loved. Where her 'family' of friends and staff live
and work to help our elderly relatives live happily and thrive. I don't think the proposal to close
Home Lea takes this into consideration. Who wants to move house in your 80's? For people like
my mum, the Council home was, and is the best option to keep her safe and stable and for
families to relax in the knowledge that the standard of care is high.
I think the private sector have got their act together and, as the report says, this is currently a
declining market. The land is also prime development land and the income could boost the
Council coffers. Dolphin Manor is the more modern of the two and should be retained.

Page 681

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
10
6
6

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the
impact be on you?
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Significant impact

Some impact

Little or no impact

Please tell us the reason for your answer
It would cause stress and anxiety for all the family as we seek to find somewhere that will suit my
great grandmother, but most of all, it will worsen her final years.
As above.
There would be a significant impact on me and my family. I have two family members currently
living in Home Lea House and they are both very settled and happy. I visit my grandmothers every
couple of days (before Covid 19), with my four children. We all enjoy walking to Home Lea House
and seeing just how happy they are living in there, and being able to spend time with them. If the
proposed closure goes ahead, this would impact us significantly as we would not be able to visit
them as often which would consequently affect both of my grandmothers’ mental health. As they
both suffer with dementia, the visits they receive from family living in the local area is critical for
their overall wellbeing. We have lots of family living in the local area that frequently visit Home
Lea House, however if they are forced to move, these family members would not be able to get to
other areas to visit them.
I don’t have anyone in there but may need it in the future.
I don’t have family at the home, however, I know its fabulous reputation within the area. When I
grow old who will take care of me? Like the residents in the home who have paid Council
Tax/National Insurance all their lives, why should the older people be affected. Why can’t the
Council cut back in other areas? This money saving exercise will be a massive loss to the
community of Rothwell should the home close. I am strongly against this.
I have a mother who is in her nineties who receives care at home by a care firm but I think she
would be better looked after in a local residential home as between care visits it is a very lonely
existence. There is a great chance this would not be available for her locally without Home Lea
House.
I might need these facilities one day.
I work in adult social care and there is already a shortage of good care homes.
We have no idea what will happen and how this change could affect my grandma’s health.
If my mum mother-in-law needed to go into a home I would choose this one.
At the moment me and my two children are able to visit both my grandmas as we live in Rothwell
so can walk there. I have two brothers and one sister who also visit with their children and my

Page 682

parents. None of us want to see any of the residents upset. Home Lea is their home and they
shouldn't be in a way evicted from it.
If they closed Home Lea House it would have a big impact on me because I would be constantly
worrying about my grandma’s mental health and well-being. It would also impact me because
before Covid hit I was able to walk up to the care home to visit my grandmas at least once a week.
If they were moved out of area I'd hardly be able to see them due to my wife working and needing
the car. I wouldn't be able to walk to see them if they weren't living in the area.
Sadly I have terminal cancer so the thought I have had about eventually going into Home Lea is no
longer relevant, but I have many older friends who could be impacted if this place was lost.
I am a chef within Leeds City Council so I feel it could impact on my job. I also really feel sad for
the residents as I feel this will unsettle them.
The impact on us as a family is significant as we now have the stress and the anxiety of trying to
find another care home that will be able to care for my grandma the way Home Lea has.
I am worried about the impact on my mum's physical, mental and emotional well-being if she has
to move home, especially during the times of Covid and the worry and uncertainty this brings. She
is easily upset and anxious about everything and will not cope with any change.
I'm early 60s so hopefully a care home is a few years off but I would not be looking at Home Lea as
my first choice for myself or my family.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
If the Council is to move residence, it should do so in a phased approach, where residents are
slowly introduced to their new home to see if it suits them and to lessen the distress on them.
It should also consider a longer time line than the one proposed so that families can make
arrangements and so that residents can be prepared.
As Rothwell is quite isolated I don’t think there is anything that could lessen the impact.
Do not close the care home.
Keep it open.
Don’t close the home, look at other areas that can cope with a cut in funding.
Nothing, once it’s gone it will never be replaced and will be a great loss.
Keep them open and invest in them.
Keep the beds open.
Not close the home - investment in the building.
Not close the home.
Keep it open.
Keep Home Lea open.
Build another care home in Rothwell!
Sorry, no ideas.
Don’t close the home.
Not close. I believe choosing to close ANY care home under the current circumstances is
insensitive.
Obviously the best outcome would be to keep Home Lea open. To reduce impact we would be
hopeful for her to move to another Council run home (e.g. Dolphin Manor) as we appreciate the
standards of care she has received and mum seems to feel happier about a possible move to
Dolphin Manor. It would be good if some of her friends could move together, and even staff if this
was possible.
N/A.

Page 683

Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe should be considered?
I'm sure the Council has done as much as it can (and I sympathise with them over the financial
position the government has put them in) but other services should be cut and infrastructure
projects should be scaled back. Importantly, I believe this should be done in Leeds City Centre
where it often seems the wealth of the city is pumped back into.
Keep it open, allow continued choice, look at budget cuts in other areas.
Look to save money in other areas, instead of the elderly and vulnerable. They do not deserve this
at this time in their life.
No.
Keep it open and save money elsewhere.
Yes, try changing the law to stop greedy selfish people playing the social care system. Sick of
hearing about wealthy families who get parents to sign over property to children so they don’t
have to pay a penny of elderly care bills - people who know how to play the system. No wonder
council social care costs are out of control when not everyone is paying their way. Council run
homes must be there for those who genuinely can’t afford to pay for care, to create/keep jobs
running homes and to ensure capacity for care is always available. Too many horror stories about
privately run home care so that’s not always the right approach either.
Council care homes provide a better level of care.
N/A.
Stop wasting money like on park and rides that don't get used.
Keep Home Lea open.
It is hard to believe that a community of 22,000 cannot fully use 2 homes. I think there are many
in their own homes who put up with isolation and risk unnecessarily because funding demands
the cheapest minimum provision.
I think that care homes for the elderly should be last on the list for closures because of the
negative impact this has on the residents. It is after all their HOME. I think that although
important, things like clubs and day centres should be looked at first. I feel that leisure and the
arts should be looked at, e.g proposals to close Lotherton Hall for part of the week. I strongly
believe that the Council run home is still needed in our community to provide for elderly people
like my mum. Private care homes do not have the trust with older people and the high fees can be
a problem.
None.
Finally, do you have any other comments?
Yes, Rothwell in my view has been targeted. We have lost our Council offices, nursery and day
centre and the other support services for elderly people and families with children at home have
been massively cut, leading to much more need for emergency response and loneliness. Keep
Home Lea open, add some day care facilities or short term respite facilities, work with live at
home scheme to identify who is vulnerable and needs help.
It’s wrong how the Council are off loading everything. What exactly are they running?
Please re-think, saving such a small amount of money in the grand scheme of things isn’t worth
closing an amazing home. The area can’t cope with only one home.
Saving money by closing a good quality well run well staffed residential home for old frail people
cannot be the way forwards. Look to saving money in areas of less impact.
As above.

Page 684

The biggest issue with residential care homes that are privately run is that they can charge what
they like. It’s time there was a charging cap on residential care.
Please do not close this brilliant care home.
It would be a huge mistake to close Home Lea House. So many people call it home and a lot of
staff have a stable job. Please reconsider the decision and stop the uncertainty to the poor
residents and staff.
If Home Lea House were made to close, it would have a massive negative impact on a lot of
people! All the people living in Home Lea and all the residents’ family and friends. Most of the
residents that live there have grown up and lived in Rothwell all their lives and are very old and
have health issues, the last thing they need in their condition is to be kicked out of their homes.
They have made strong relationships with each other in there and become good friends so they
would be devastated if they got dragged apart from each other and stuck in another care home
god knows where!
Just that it is a home with a great reputation.
I just feel sad that this may close and have a huge impact on the elderly residents.
I would like to thank everyone working at Home Lea for their constant hard work during the last
year. I couldn't have asked for a better home for my mum and wish and hope that the Council
decide to keep such a crucial facility open.
No.

Page 685

Home Lea House Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey Results (39 Responses)
Are you a?
Resident
Respite resident Relative
Representative
14
0
9
4
Please note the answer to the above could be more than one category.

Staff member
15

Are you a resident, respite resident, relative, representative or
staff member?
20
15
10
5
0
Resident

Respite resident

Relative

Representative

Staff member

The information you have read at the start of this survey explains the background to these
proposals and outlines the consultation process. Have you read it or had it fully explained to you?
Yes
No
39
0

The information you have read at the start of this survey
explains the background to these proposals and outlines the
consultation process. Have you read it or had it fully explained
to you?
50
40
30
20
10
0
Yes

No

Page 686

After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you understand why the
Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
36
2
1

After reading the information or having it fully explained to
you, do you understand why the Council wants to make these
changes?
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
I do understand

I don’t understand

Don’t know

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Home Lea House Long Stay
residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly agree
Agree
Neither agree
Disagree
Strongly disagree No reply
nor disagree
0
1
2
7
28
1

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close
Home Lea House Long Stay residential care home?
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Page 687

Disagree

Strongly disagree

No reply

Please tell us the reason for your answer
I am local, lived here all my 60 years and Home Lea House has always been a part of the community.
My sister, (anonymised) has recently become a resident here. The staff have done fantastically well to
help the resident (anonymised) settle into her new home and are definitely meeting her needs. My
sister is happy here, however she has started worrying about where she will be moved to, if the closure
of Home Lea House goes ahead! It is a really poor decision to suggest the closure of Home Lea House.
Surely there has to be another way to recoup some of the deficit. There are less necessary projects
than care homes I would imagine! Shame on the Council for even thinking we need less care Homes for
the elderly!
I am Chair of Rothwell Tenants and Residents Association. I therefore consider the residents in Home
Lea House are part of our wider community. After a recent annual report and receiving a glowing
reference from CQC for "Excellent caring" and 4 other services as "Good," I strongly disagree with the
proposed closure of Home Lea. Several years ago, LCC invested money to upgrade the building and
install en-suite facilities etc. which was a real boost for morale for the residents and staff alike. On the
other hand, Dolphin Manor was also earmarked for closure and did not have the benefit of en-suite
facilities, but our community fought a successful campaign to keep it open. We have an ageing
population in Rothwell with limited accommodation for the elderly to be able to remain in their own
homes and also requiring 24 hour specialist care that can be provided in a care home setting. I strongly
object to any closure of care homes in the city, and more so in my community. We, and LCC have a
duty of care to provide a safe and secure environment for our elderly residents who need to be
protected in their twilight years. Angela Kellett (Chair, Rothwell Tara).
Because this is someone’s home. I personally have worked at Home Lea for 30 years. I have looked
after some of these residents who have been there years and it's the only home they know. It will be
very distressing for them when the home closes.
The home is part of the community not only providing outstanding care but supporting people who still
live in the community, giving them a place to go and socialise and have contact with others which they
may not otherwise have. The people who work there don’t see it as a job, they put a lot more into it.
Those who live at Home Lea are going to have their lives turned upside down at such an age where they
should feel secure and settled. If the Council had a better sense of business and how to best control
finance this probably wouldn’t be happening.
The need for residential care homes is expected to rise in the future, not decrease, therefore the
argument put forward by LCC does not make sense. Moving the residents to another care home is likely
to be catastrophic on their mental and physical well-being and could lead to early deaths. Moving them
to Dolphin Manor has been suggested but it wasn’t that long ago that LCC proposed closing that care
home, how long will it be before that is on the table again? LCC needs a long term strategy to survive
the continuing cuts to funding being made by the government, not knee jerk reactions that will only
save money in the short term.
We need to keep care homes local so that residents in them can easily be visited by friends and family,
and also so that they stay in a familiar place.
There appears to be no long-term planning. We have an ageing population so demand for this sort of
facility will only increase. However, the Council seem to be looking only as far as 2021-22.
Not all elderly people requiring care have the funds available to pay for private care. It is vital that
people requiring care should have the option of staying local, to enable continuing contact with friends
and relatives. This is an important aspect of maintaining their wellbeing. Hospital beds are still being
blocked by elderly people requiring care so, therefore, there is an actual need for more beds. Leeds
City Council could surely look at other options of saving money, why is it that elderly care is the first
choice?

Under the question 'do you understand why the Council wants to make these changes', the relative
also says 'Would understand if she had to move'. The resident wouldn't want to move, she has been

Page 688

here nearly 2 years. She lived in Garforth for over 50 years and when she needed to move, all the
family was in Rothwell. She needed to be encouraged and is happily settled and sees her son, her
grandchildren and great grandchildren who are all nearby. When the resident (anonymised) first came
to Home Lea, she had been reluctant, but loved it so much, she stayed and didn't want to go home at
all. She likes to be independent but needs the care from people who know her well.
I don't think it's a good idea. I don't want to move. I like living here. The daughter, says she is still
where she's always lived - in the same area. She likes the care she gets. She is settled which is very
important for her wellbeing.
It's a very good home with an excellent CQC report. Money has been spent on the home. We don't
understand why they have selected. Mum is 90, has lived here over 2 years - with Covid we haven't
been able to visit and it's her home and her second family. Very traumatic and detrimental to her
health. It took her a long time to settle in and now she has. It's worrying the cuts made to essential
services. People do need 24 hour care - if mum could be at home, she would be.
Granddaughter supported the resident (anonymised) to represent her and her family's views: The
resident (anonymised): 'I would be sad and would like it to stay open. I like it there. I've always liked it'.
Granddaughter: 'We (family) know that nan has settled really well and is very well looked after. The
reason she is there is because of her dementia and because she lived alone and was lonely. She has
settled and got used to company. She has never had a sad day there'.
If it's got to be done, it's got to be done. There's money involved - they need to make savings.
It's a good home. It's my home - it's lovely. I've been here nearly 2 years. It's all about money. If we
had the money, we'd buy the home to keep it. We've got a great staff team. You can have your say and
they help with any problems.
Home Lea House is one of the better homes in Leeds and the staff are good. The care is good and it
would be a shame to move vulnerable people at their stage in life. It's exploiting people at their age.
People are in the area they want to be. 'My family knows what's best for me and they think the home
shouldn't be closing'. They should close other places that have lower CQC ratings. We chose this home
as the best of the homes offered. 'I can't fault Home Lea'.
I like it just as it is here. I've been here a year and it's my home. I couldn't cope at home before I came
here. I kept falling. I could enjoy life again and I was happy again. My own home has gone. I get on
with everybody and I've made friends with residents and staff. I feel safe here. None of us want to
leave our homes. I was often in hospital. I needed somewhere to live where there was someone all
the time to make sure I was safe.
I wouldn't want it to close. It's a lovely place - they take care of us. I never thought I'd end up like this.
My daughter couldn't look after me. I don't want to move to a different home because I'd worry too
much. The place I was at before wasn't like here - it wasn't as good. I didn't feel safe.
This is my home and I want it to stay open. I like mixing with people and I like being with people I
know. Family say that it helps to be very close (in walking distance). It's been here a long time because
it's a good home.
1 - In November 2019 we were informed by social services at St James Hospital that the Council homes
are all full and we would have to find a private home for my Mother. We checked all private care
homes in Rothwell and they were all full. A neighbour told us about Home Lea House. We contacted
them and they said that two rooms were vacant (after we had been told the Council homes were all
full) that could be the reason for low occupancy.
2 - Some people cannot live in their home for a variety of reasons and need 24 hour care.
3 - My Mother tried home care package and she was being left for 12 hours some days in a soiled
incontinence pad, some days she only had tea and a slice of toast for breakfast at 8am then was left till
6pm one day. We had to go feed her. Her health was deteriorating until she went into Home Lea
House. Now she is a different person, they have turned her life around.
4 - The need for Home Lea House is very important to the Rothwell community.
5 - If nobody needed a care home place, they would not be still building them around Rothwell.

Page 689

Because it is people's home. They are happy and settled at Home Lea and don't want to move
somewhere else. Moving to Home Lea due to needing 24 hour care was a big move for most of the
residents and it just seems unfair that they may have to move again and build relationships with
another staff team and with other residents.
I understand why financially but at the end of the day we are dealing with people who depend on staff
and also people think it's their home. They feel safe knowing that there's someone 24/7 to support not
just with personal care tasks, with support of people's mental health and due to Covid, people need
support even more.
Because I'm settled and happy with the home and the surroundings for my husband to visit regularly.
Due to his illness, he can't travel long distances. He has frequent hospital visits and needs to be able to
visit whenever he can (for peace of mind about my wellbeing). He doesn't drive. We have lived in
Rothwell (Wood Lane estate) for twenty-odd years. My husband's family is nearby. My friends are
nearby and would like to visit when it's possible and maintain contacts. My parents came from
Castleford and I have cousins locally. I know all the local shops and facilities. I would like to stay in the
area due to this reason.
I'd cry if they had to close it. I love it here. I love it all - my room, the lounge, the dining room. We get
lovely meals to eat and we get looked after ever so well here. I like it here best. I was in a privately run
care home at Roundhay Park and I didn't like it there. (When mum was in private home it was all about
money, not care). (We wouldn't want that experience again).
I don't want it to close because it's in a good place. The people who live here fit very well with each
other. I was a bit hurt to hear they wanted to close the home. People get on here. There's a good
atmosphere. I like to be with people. The staff help you mix. The staff are very helpful and always
consider you before they consider themselves. I like everything about this home, they want us to be
happy here. This place has got something about it that's there all the time. There's a lovely garden you
can sit out in.
The home is well-run. There is a need for it. It is very unsettling for someone with dementia needs and
won't understand the changes. For her to be plucked up and put in somewhere new, we don't know
what that will do to her. She knows everyone and is comfortable. The staff understand the resident
(anonymised) and she is confident at Home Lea. The staff have been fabulous with her. If she was
somewhere else, I'm not sure that wouldn't "tip the resident (anonymised) over".
I disagree because I have concerns about the welfare of our residents. They get very anxious about
where they are going to live. I also have concerns as regards my job.
Home Lea is a great place for our residents. It's like home from home for them. It feels part of my life.
I feel it's like looking after my own family and to close Home Lea, I myself will be devastated and so will
our residents as this is their home and should stay this way. You could cut back in other areas.
I disagree with the proposal to close Home Lea. I believe the Council waste a load of money in other
areas i.e. bonfire night fireworks displays, lighting up buildings for occasions which all costs money and
manpower. Home Lea is a happy home, residents are very happy here and good care is given. I have
worked for the Council nearly 34 years and for all the homes that have been closed, no replacement
has been built and land has been sold off. Where does this money go?
Home Lea House is a council run home with a good CQC report with caring ‘outstanding’. The building
has recently undergone extensive re-refurbishment including a new lift, flooring and, furniture and
most rooms are en-suite. Dolphin Manor which is due to be kept open does not have en-suite
bedrooms, and a separate wing only has 2 television rooms and no lounge. The residents on this wing
have to be taken down a long corridor to the main lounge. Although the staff and care are second to
none in both homes, my Mother has stayed in both buildings and Home Lea is definitely better and the
bedrooms appear to be larger. Due to the Council wanting to save money, to me it would appear that
the Home Lea site has more commercial value and a larger footprint than Dolphin Manor to be sold off
for housing/profit.

Page 690

I disagree to Home Lea House closing as my Mother lives here and I believe this would have a
detrimental impact on her emotional well-being. It is not just a temporary accommodation, it is her
home and she has settled well there, making friends with residents and carers. My Mother is already
emotional and upset after a Covid outbreak at the home during which residents unexpectedly died and
she had to stay isolated in her room for over a month. She needs stability and security, not the
additional threat and worry of her home being taken away.
Home Lea is the best residential home in Rothwell. When we were first looking at homes in our area, so
many people recommended Home Lea mainly because they had previously or currently had relatives in
there. The staff are so lovely and the home in general feels warm and safe.
Because this is the ressies home.
I understand why the proposal has been made due to the financial difficulties but at the same time feel
that over the last 10 years the older people have had a lot of closures of services leaving them with only
the private sector to choose from.
The closure of Home Lea House would have a significant impact on various people. Residents, staff and
family members, Home Lea House is one big family. Closing Home Lea House is taking people's homes
away from them when they are all happy and settled. I personally think it's disgusting. Leeds City
Council can surely find other ways of saving money without it causing upset and disruption to the most
vulnerable of people.
I strongly disagree as this is people's homes. There is a lot of money spent on things that are not
needed within the Council and this home is not one of them. I think there are more things that could
be done to save money within the Council instead of taking people's homes away from them (disgrace).
I understand that the Council needs to save money but I like my job very much and don't want to lose
it. It's not easy for the residents - we are so close with them. When you move from your house, it's
hard and sad at any age and now at their age it's even worse.
I feel divided. I recognise that there are gaps in funding to run a service like ours. However, it's not
nice for our residents that love our home and feel safe and cared for by the team. We as a staff team
work well with each other to ensure our residents are cared for in the best possible way and we don't
want to be split up just like our residents don't want their home shut and have to relocate.
I feel insecure and don't know if I'm going to have a job. I feel like this is 'family'. The staff team has
been the residents' family for the last year. We've been through Covid together and it feels unfair and
terrible to close the home now. This is their home. I leave here and go home. I feel like I might be in
the same position. If I don't have a job, I could lose my home. I'd be devastated if I had to leave my
home. The residents are coming to the end of their lives and thought this would be their forever home,
but might have to start again.
It is very distressing for all residents and staff, as everybody treats Home Lea as their second home.
Residents are worried where they will end up living and staff are afraid there are going to be no jobs for
them.
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
28
7
4

Page 691

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the
impact be on you?
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Significant impact

Some impact

Little or no impact

Please tell us the reason for your answer
Because the idea of closing any care home let alone one that has provided care and protection for
generations has to be wrong.
Having being retired for 6 years myself, I too may need support in the near future!!
I have worked at Home Lea for 30 years. It’s like my second home. I will be 64 when or if it closes. I
have been there half of my life. To start working somewhere else at my age is not good.
I work there, it’s my main source of income. I live nearby, have a great relationship with the clients,
their families and the staff team. I feel we should be told now what is the plan for employees so we can
plan best for us when the closure comes.
I will not be impacted by the closure currently, however, my mother has Alzheimer’s disease. When
the time comes that my father no longer can care for her, the choice of care homes will be reduced if
Home Lea is closed.
I am an elderly client solicitor and have seen the negative impact being moved far from home can have
on vulnerable people needing care.
Living locally, I do expect that family or friends will in the future have a need for these services.
No particular impact as I have property which would fund care, but there are significant others who
don’t have funds. My relatives are no longer local so Rothwell would not be my choice, but again there
are many many families who have been local residents throughout generations.
We don't want her to have to move again and move from the area where her only family are. She is
here with another family member so both are looked after and visited together. Family are worried
that it would make her dementia progress more. She wouldn't understand where she is and the
changes would affect her. She wouldn't understand the reason why she had to move and her routine
and familiar surroundings would change. Family might not visit as often if she had to go further away.
I would be unhappy. I like it here. I feel unsettled sometimes anyway (not liking change and getting
easily confused). The resident (anonymised) says it would have a massive impact on her mental health.
She has long-term mental health problems and has anxiety and depression which would potentially get
worse. She can get very distressed and needs the support of the care team who knows her best and
who she feels safe with.
At this age and in this state of health, it would be shocking for her to have to move. She has lived in
Rothwell all her life. We are nearby and would find it difficult to travel to see her. Her closest friend is
nearby. Home Lea House is her second family. It took a long time to find the right home and mum is
now settled. It would be awful at this stage to have to start again. This is mum's home now. We think
this will be the end for her if she has to move.
'Where would I go? Because I feel safe where I go now. I like to have a laugh'. Granddaughter said she
feels the change and move are not good for someone with dementia. It's worrying for all the family.
Some days she is a bit confused and because the team knows her well, we can all work together.

Page 692

They'd have to find me somewhere. I'm hoping I could be moved into my own house. It would have to
be somewhere where I could get about with my own wheelchair. I might need a bit of help with my
care.
I have been feeling very low in mood and this will just make me feel worse. I don't want to leave here. I
will miss all the staff who help me. I have a nice group of friends and I will miss them. It's been a hard
year and I lost my closest friend. I feel I wouldn't want to live if I had to move.
Moving and disruption at a time when things are hard anyway with Covid 'I get very anxious and
worried about things anyway'. Daughter stated 'Staff at Home Lea know mum well and help her with
family - in another home, they might not understand her as well, not give her the right support and that
could affect the care she receives. We feel mum is safe, well cared for and takes pressure off. We feel
guilty that we can't look after mum all the time but we know she is well cared for'.
I can get very upset. I worry about lots of things - anything out of my normal routine affects me. Any
changes upset me. At the moment, with Covid, it's a hard time to move and the logistics will be hard.
Losing the level of care. It would affect my health and wellbeing. It's a big change at my age.
I'd be worried about the home closing. I've got family but I couldn't go to them. I'm a born worrier - I
worry over everything. I don't want anything to change and I don't want to go to another home. When
I came here I felt really poorly and now I'm getting right again. I used to have carers at home but I still
kept falling. I've been depressed and worried before and made myself poorly.
It's my home and I'd be upset if it closed. My brother says it's taking the freedom and choice away.
Family say it would be devastating for the resident (anonymised). It would cause a lot of stress and
affect the resident’s (anonymised) health. The resident (anonymised) gets very upset anyway. It has
been hard for everyone and residents have been affected by Covid so it's adding another stress.
1 - Because My Mother is double incontinent she requires the same facilities and care she has now.
2 - My Mother needs a W.C in her room and help to get to it also in the night time. We are concerned
that staff may not be available in a different home.
3 - We care for Grandchildren all week which includes school drop off and pick up. If my Mother is
moved out of Rothwell the family may not be able to visit the same.
4 - We need the same level of contact as we have now mobile and facetime.
5 - We would be concerned about her health as she hates change.
It will mean starting again in another setting, building new relationships with colleagues and customers.
It also causes a certain level of anxiety wondering where I may end up working and how far I may have
to travel. I currently travel from Huddersfield to Home Lea but this is quite an easy commute as it is
mainly all motorway, whereas previously I have travelled to Yeadon which is mainly A roads and took
much longer. I have been very happy and settled while at Home Lea and believe I have very good
relationships with both customers and colleagues.
Having to move somewhere else means I have to start again, with the thought of am I going to move
again which the residents will probably think that too, so I may feel a bit unsettled.
Because I need to feel content with my surroundings and feel happy with the staff team and the
staffing levels. I'd be worried about being somewhere where there were lower standards. I am happy
with the support I receive at the moment. I have been at Home Lea before for respite on several
occasions before deciding to stay here. It was my first choice. I have a range of health issues. I wanted
to stay with my own GPs who are as kind and considerate as the staff who look after me here. My
family are happy with me being here. I don't want to change my support network. The environment is
exceptional and the food, cleaning and garden.
I hope they never close this place down. I love it here. I don't know how I'd go on if I had to move
somewhere else. I'm worried about where I'd go. All the staff that work here would have to find other
jobs. Daughter states, they're wanting to make these savings but at a cost to the weakest, elderly,
infirm and vulnerable members of society. It could kill some people early in the last years of their life.
I'd be most upset. I'd worry about where I was going to end up. I get on with everybody and that
might not be the case somewhere else. It took a while to find out where things were here and fit in
and get routines - it would be hard to go to a new place and not know where everything is.

Page 693

It takes a while to get to know somebody. She has deteriorated mentally, but is doing well physically
and is happy because of how she is supported with her care there. She would definitely need care in a
home and she would find a move quite terrifying. She struggled to move initially and would feel even
more isolated and lost with another move. Continuity is a massive thing for someone like the resident
(anonymised) - she won't know where she is.
Because I am concerned whether I will have a job.
Because as long as I have worked in Home Lea, I feel that I belong and I love all residents and staff. It is
very homely and should stay this way.
Very few homes left, the impact will be my job, income.
The impact on my 90 years old Mother would be catastrophic. She has resided in Home Lea for two and
a half years and it is her home. During the Covid 19 pandemic, the staff have become her family as we
have been unable to visit for the majority of the time and to move her could make lost the will to live.
I think closing Home Lea House would have a big impact on my mum's emotional well-being. She needs
security of the people she knows and trusts at this time. Also I am currently in the process of selling my
mum's home. Losing her house where she has lived for almost sixty years, as well as most of her
possessions, has been very upsetting for her to have to deal with. Losing two homes at the same time is
awful for my Mother.
My nan is currently living in Home Lea due to her dementia and living alone was not working in her best
interests mentally. Our biggest fear as a family is the huge impact moving would have on my nan's
mental health. She has suffered with her nerves all her life and to see her so relaxed and feeling safe
and surrounded by familiar faces is a huge importance to us.
Just will.
I am currently doing a 12 month temporary post and will be returning to my substantive post after the
12 months has finished.
Change of job. It will affect me financially. It is a job I enjoy.
Home Lea is a lovely home to work in. We have ‘outstanding’ in care delivery and it's a kick in the teeth
to shut our home when we are good at what we do. Covid has impacted everything, however, given
when the world can return to normal we could recover and become a fully occupied home again if we
were given a chance instead of closing us. I suffer with anxiety and it can be difficult being placed in a
new team and environment. I love my job and my team at Home Lea.
Because I wouldn't have a job here anymore. I have worked for the Council for more than 20 years and
I have been through this before. It wasn't nice wondering if I would have a job and what would
happen. I can get quite down and feel this will make things worse. We are a good, supportive team
and I rely on my colleagues who have helped me through some challenging times.
I am afraid for my job. I have mortgage to pay and I worry I could possibly lose my job.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
They could do the right thing for the residents of Home Lea House and their families and cancel the
proposed closure!
The families of the residents are understandably very worried for their elderly relatives and can have a
devastating effect on their health and well-being.
Ensure that whatever the plan is for residents and staff that we are informed immediately, not at the
last minute so we can plan and the residents can get used to knowing they will be moving. It’s going to
close so the hope that just maybe it might not has to be completely dispelled.
Don’t close the home, simple as that. Reconsider where long term savings could be made. I work in the
public sector and am familiar with responding to funding cuts. Work more efficiently, do not fill staff
vacancies and reviewing how much you are charging for services are longer term viable options for
saving money.
Keep the home open.

Page 694

Increase provision.
One option would be provision of local, modern assisted living accommodation, to facilitate
independence for longer. Professional, well trained carers should be a priority available at a local level.
Full time care should always be a last option.
Don't close the home. Leave the residents in a place where they are happy and settled and let them
see the rest of their days out where they want to be.
Keep the home open. That's the only thing that's going to make any difference. Look to save money in
other areas.
Keep it open or make sure mum is kept locally with all the same support as she has now.
Not close the home. The family understand the financial side but 'people like nan and the other
residents shouldn't suffer from financial issues'. We strongly need somewhere close to family. We
have always seen her every day. We moved her to be near to us.
Make sure I still have the same level of care and support.
Keep the home open. Try and raise money to keep it open. How can the Council save the money
somewhere else?
Not to close Home Lea.
Help to know the options. Need for similar care and support. The best result would be that they don't
close this home but that, if they do, I go to Dolphin Manor. Make it more local for family to access.
Help me to stop worrying. I'd feel better if they told me the home isn't going to close. I've made
myself poorly in the past with worry. I've been on anti-depressants and I don't want to go that way
again.
Not close the home. The resident’s (anonymised) brother says they, the Council, have to look
elsewhere - the small amount saved won't make a big difference - rather than affect the elderly
residents). They should be getting better treatment.
1 - Do not close Home Lea House.
2 - Find a Council home in Rothwell with the same facilities.
3 - With the same dedicated staff.
Don't close the home!! Other than keeping the home open, I don't really know.
Cut back elsewhere where possible.
Not close it. Feel sympathetic towards residents. Give the same quality of care in the same area. I'd
want to be able to move around in my wheelchair and still feel as independent and be able to do things
with the right level of support.
Aside from not closing it down, I don't know, because I don't know what the options are.
If the home closed I'd have to be helped to go somewhere very similar.
If the home is closed, it would impact her anyway. Help with the changes.
Ensure staff have good redeployment.
Stay open please, update the building, look after our elders. Let's keep them safe and happy.
Keep Home Lea open and update the building.
The Council could look again at the closure and move funds from other less important areas to keep the
home open. If closure occurs, current residents should be kept local so that they are near to their
relatives, as good quality affordable care is rare in the area.
I think if the closure goes ahead my Mother would benefit from moving to Dolphin Manor as it is similar
to Home Lea House.
KEEP HOMELEA OPEN!!!
I truly don't see how a closure wouldn't impact on my nan. Due to Covid 19, I also think the impact
would be even more destructive to my nan's mental health.
Keep the home open, as it's friendly and a homely place to live.
Possibly look at a partnership with NHS or LYPFT to use the space as it has in other services.

Page 695

Leeds City Council could surely find other ways of saving money. The impact that it will have on all
involved is unfair. This home provides a safe and happy environment. All the residents are happy,
content and settled. To take all that away is disgusting.
For a start, just as an example, send one man and a van out to fix car part runners, it does not take 3
work men and 2 vans to do a simple task/job, just think what that costs to send all the workmen out to
do a one man 5 minute job. The list could go on.
Help me to get another job. Help the residents to find somewhere suitable.
There's a lot of MPs/Councillors that get paid a high wage/salary. May be they should have a pay cut to
help reduce Council spending. Also there are a lot of managers - their roles could be condensed to save
money. Look at other services instead of our elderly.
Not close the home. Make savings elsewhere. Find suitable accommodation for the residents if the
home does have to close. Find alternative employment for the staff (with the residents). Help with job
interviews and training.
Not close the home. Make sure our jobs are safe.
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead, what do you consider to be important for you / your
relative in any future residential care home in relation to the following?
Care and Support
Q9.1 Finding somewhere that meets my needs
Very important
Quite important Not important at all
26
0
0

Not applicable
10

No reply
3

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead, what do you
consider to be important for you / your relative in any future
residential care home in relation to the following?
Care and Support
Finding somewhere that meets my needs
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Well trained/friendly staff
Very important Quite important
28
0

Not important at all

Not important at all
0

Page 696

Not applicable

Not applicable
9

No reply

No reply
2

Well trained/friendly staff
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quality of care
Very important
28

Quite important

Quite important
0

Not important at all

Not important at all
0

Not applicable

Not applicable
9

No reply

No reply
2

Quality of Care
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Not losing staff/carers
Very important
Quite important
21
6

Not important at all

Not important at all
1

Page 697

Not applicable

Not applicable
9

No reply

No reply
2

Not losing staff/carers
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Not changing my routine
Very important
Quite important
19
6

Not important at all

Not important at all
0

Not applicable

Not applicable
12

No reply

No reply
2

Not changing my routine
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Not having to pay more
Very important
Quite important
18
5

Not important at all

Not important at all
1

Page 698

Not applicable

Not applicable
13

No reply

No reply
2

Not having to pay more
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Not applicable

No reply

Accommodation
Moving to new accommodation with friends
Very important
Quite important
Not important at all
16
7
5

Not applicable
9

No reply
2

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead, what do you
consider to be important for you / your relative in any future
residential care home in relation to the following?
Accommodation
Moving to new accommodation with friends
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Not applicable

Having choice over the type of accommodation I live in
Very important
Quite important
Not important at all
22
2
1

Page 699

Not applicable
12

No reply

No reply
2

Having choice over the type of accommodation I live in
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Not applicable

Finding accommodation that meets my needs
Very important
Quite important
Not important at all
25
0
0

Not applicable
12

No reply

No reply
2

Finding accommodation that meets my needs
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Good sized bedroom with ensuite bathroom and toilet
Very important
Quite important
Not important at all
17
8
0

Page 700

Not applicable

Not applicable
11

No reply

No reply
3

Good sized bedroom with ensuite bathroom and toilet
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Plenty of social activities
Very important
Quite important
15
10

Not important at all

Not applicable

Not important at all
1

Not applicable
11

No reply

No reply
2

Plenty of social activities
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Space for entertaining visitors in private
Very important
Quite important
Not important at all
14
8
4

Page 701

Not applicable

Not applicable
11

No reply

No reply
2

Space for entertaining visitors in private
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Enough space for some possessions and my own furniture
Very important
Quite important
Not important at all
12
13
1

Not applicable

Not applicable
11

No reply

No reply
2

Enough space for some possessions and my own furniture
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Who provides and runs the home
Very important
Quite important
21
3

Not important at all

Not important at all
1

Page 702

Not applicable

Not applicable
9

No reply

No reply
5

Who provides and runs the home
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Not applicable

No reply

Location
Having choice over where I live/receive respite
Very important
Quite important Not important at all
26
0
0

Not applicable
11

No reply
2

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead, what do you
consider to be important for you / your relative in any future
residential care home in relation to the following?
Location
Having choice over where I live/receive respite
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Close to shops/other facilities
Very important
Quite important
7
8

Not important at all

Not important at all
11

Page 703

Not applicable

Not applicable
11

No reply

No reply
2

Close to shops/other facilities
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Good bus/train service
Very important
Quite important
10
7

Not important at all

Not applicable

Not important at all
8

Not applicable
12

No reply

No reply
2

Good bus/train service
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Very important

Quite important

Close to where I live
Very important
Quite important
19
5

Not important at all

Not important at all
3

Not applicable

Not applicable
10

No reply

No reply
2

Close to where I live
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Page 704

Not applicable

No reply

Near to family and friends
Very important
Quite important
19
5

Not important at all
1

Not applicable
12

No reply
2

Near to family and friends
20
15
10
5
0
Very important

Quite important

Not important at all

Not applicable

No reply

Other (please state)
All family members live locally and visit regularly. She gets a lot of pleasure from this.
It's important for the home to be well-run and staff to be familiar and know Vera well. At the
minute, the family are all within walking distance.
You know that council care homes stick to the rules - the quality of care is better, there's less staff
turnover and the staff are better trained. Must be near family.
For stability and because of dementia, it needs a secure manager and regular team - familiar faces
who know nan well.
I don't mind who runs the home as long as it's run well. I want to be in Kippax if possible. I lived
there all my life.
I'm not keen to move on. I suppose it would have to be Dolphin Manor.
The home has to be run well. It's been excellent. Needs to be very close to family.
Would like to be local because it makes it easier for family to visit (as they all use public transport).
I need help with everything because I've got health problems and I can't see.
The most important thing is to be near my family in Rothwell.
Live locally with the same level of support.
I'd prefer it to be Leeds City Council after my experience with the private sector.
It's important to me to be near and with friends.
It has to be a good home. Activity is important but has to be tailored to the resident’s
(anonymised) needs and interests.
N/A
I would like to work in a similar job not too far from where I live.
I need to be able to get to work on public transport.
If the home closed, I would like to be reassured that I have job to go to.
Q12. Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe should be considered?
Reconsider the decision for closure, and invest in people, jobs and livelihoods.
Look at other areas within the Council where money is wasted and streamline the business as a
whole to be more efficient.
Office staff could work from home, save money on buildings. Try and save money in other areas
rather than affect the elderly.

Page 705

Save money in different areas e.g. cut down on staff offices, cut down on office overheads and do
more home based working.
The older people at the moment are more important than the young ones - they're more
vulnerable - they don't have time left and need to be cared for properly. They have been through
enough not seeing family. Leisure services can be put on hold and come to later for example.
We don't want to talk about her going anywhere else because we think it would have to be a last
resort.
Not really - if the home's losing money. Unless you can get the home full.
Don't close the home.
Better links with NHS to fill beds and reduce hospital bed blocking.
Any other options would be better than taking someone's home away (e.g. non-vital services there are important places and groups e.g. youth groups and Lotherton Hall) that aren't someone's
home.
I'd like the home to be kept open.
Family feel the Council should try and find the funds elsewhere - don't take things away from old
folk. Especially for the small amount they will save through closure - it can surely be found
elsewhere.
Leeds City Council should get together with other local councils to lobby Government for extra
funding for Covid 19 safety measures in care homes and other services. Old people are already
selling their homes to pay for care. They cannot pay more.
Look at other options to save money.
Keep it open with same staffing levels. Get rid of some of the top bosses. Don't know. Make some
other cuts.
Look at other cost saving measures rather than closing my care home.
It is a problem. No matter what you do, you're going to cause upset. Get more people to fill the
homes.
N/A.
I think the Council should close other things instead of old people's homes. This is not a luxury for
my mum, this is her home. It is not fair for the people who live there.
Covid has impacted so many elderly people with loneliness. Mainly that I feel we need all the
homes we can for the future.
The amount of vans and workers that come to do the same job, too many bosses.
They could put more people in the home instead of closing it down.
Explore other services that can be condensed to save our home from closure. Explore new
directions for our home to go to help save it e.g. end of life care.
Find cuts elsewhere - don't waste money on projects that aren't needed. Cut managers where
they aren't needed.
Q13. Finally, do you have any other comments?
As above.
As a staff member I would like to see the residents have time to get used to the idea that the
home is definitely closing. It’s not fair that the words “may close” are used as it is closing, we
know that for sure. Giving them that bit of hope is cruel. Also the staff who work there need to
know what will happen to them so we can all make plans necessary for our best interests too.
It is very disappointing that elderly care is undervalued still in 2021. Lack of investment, such as
modernisation of existing premises, allowance of big private companies to run social care for profit
is morally wrong. Every elderly person irrespective of their financial means should receive care
appropriate to their needs, in a local suitable environment. These people have over the years
contributed to society in a variety of ways, which unfortunately is often unacknowledged by

Page 706

society in general. Staff in care homes and care services should be well trained and monitored,
they should also be paid a salary which reflects the importance of their job. This would help in long
term retainment of staff and in time save some of the training costs which are incurred with high
turnover of staff.
From Daughter-in-Law: It's wrong to close people's homes, they are vulnerable. Currently, the
situation is affected by Covid. We're worried that there aren't as many people in because places
have become vacant and potential residents and their families might be reluctant to move in
because of the threat of closure.
My mum has lived in Rothwell since 1952. She has been a Leeds City Council resident. She should
still have some say as to where she lives and that shouldn't be taken from her at her age. We
considered other homes and Home Lea was our choice. The Council shouldn't be taking that
choice away from her.
We desperately want the home to stay open and let my mum live in a nice secure place where
she's well looked after. (We would like to know if existing residents would have priority over the
home they want), aware of transitions social work team.
Granddaughter: We need her to feel safe. We know now that she feels secure and happy. It's
been a tough year and this has made it even tougher. We hope Home Lea House can stay open.
We are so worried about the upheaval and disruption and how it would affect nan's mental health
and wellbeing.
I like Home Lea House. I feel great for being here. I like to be independent and get the help I
need.
I'm very happy here. We're very well looked after.
Family need more ongoing support from social work team for future care and support.
The ideal scenario would be to keep the home open. If the Council can't then the most support to
me and my family. 'They should keep the home open because that's what we all want'.
I was so fed up and poorly before I came here. It's helped me feel better living here.
The resident (anonymised) seems to be a lot happier than she was before coming to the home.
She is more talkative and outgoing. She's happy so the home is really good for her and us and we
don't want that to change. That must be due to how the home is run and the staff.
I think it would be a shame for the home to close and feel it will cause a lot of anxieties for the
customers and staff team.
Why do they want to close a home when it's detrimental to people's lives?
It's devastating news for the people living here. At any age being told that you're losing your
house is the worst thing that can happen to you. To lose your home, your friends, your routine
when you're happy, to cost cut - there must be other ways of doing this. 'It's our home'.
If you close this home, there will be all the upheaval and upset. We're all elderly people.
I'm so impressed with the staff and home. It's one of the nicest homes I've been in. Everyone is so
accommodating and welcoming. It's an incredible place. She thrives there. I sleep well knowing
she's there. It's peace of mind for the family.
None.
Save Home Lea.
Leeds City Council have tried to close both care homes in Rothwell. Due to the lack of success in
closing Dolphin Manor, they have changed their plans to close Home Lea instead. The statement
saying that more people wish to have care in their own homes on the report is misleading. Many
of the residents in Home Lea have slight dementia and have only been placed in a care home
because they can no longer stay at home with carers. My Mum has Parkinson’s Disease and
Parkinson’s related dementia and needs 24 hour care. Having a warden in a flat would not fulfil her
needs. She has experienced 3 local independent care homes where she has suffered falls, and in
one of them neglect to the extent that she almost died of de-hydration due to the lack of care and
constant use of agency staff who were not even aware of her situation.

Page 707

I understand Council has budgets and cuts to make but through Covid 19 we have protected the
elderly and vulnerable massively and now closure of ANY homes is devastating. I believe cuts for
budgets could definitely be made in other ways. Let's not let our elderly and vulnerable down!
We want the residents to be alright because Home Lea House is such a lovely home. If the
decision is made, we hope to be able to keep a job.
Home Lea is a happy home. Our residents love living here. They shouldn't have to face the stress
and anxiety/worry that comes from this process. It will be so much upheaval if they have to move
somewhere else, as they are vulnerable and should be living life stress and worry free.
I am very committed to my work and hard working. I am worried for the residents and for myself
and my colleagues. I am worried about having to go for interviews at my age.
Home Lea House is a really good place to work. Staff are friendly and hard working. Residents are
lovely and very supportive families. Also Rothwell community is amazing.

Page 708

Richmond House General Public Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey Results
(19 Responses)
After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you understand why the
Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
14
4
1

After reading the information or having it fully explained to
you, do you understand why the Council wants to make
these changes?
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
I do understand

I don’t understand

Don’t know

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Richmond House short stay
residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly agree
Agree
Neither agree
Disagree
Strongly disagree
nor disagree
0
2
1
4
12

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to
close Richmond House short stay residential care home?
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Page 709

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Please tell us the reason for your answer
If the occupancy has been low for the past year, it’s not being used and I agree could be closed to
make savings, as long as existing occupants are moved or supported within home care. If it does
close then I agree with what is being proposed.
The beds are needed. What would happen to those people who don’t have the funds constantly
required for care.
Whilst it initially sounds an extreme measure to save money, after reading the paper and levels of
occupancy being below, 100% it does make economic sense. However, this must be balanced with
the needs of the people requiring care.
I don't think closing a service to vulnerable people is a good move but I understand the reasons
why the Council need to make budgetary cuts.
Short term care is essential to support carers.
There is no other facility like this in the west of the city. Family members of the residents may not
be able to travel across the city to visit their loved ones meaning the resident may feel
abandoned. This is not a good way to save cash! This will only put hardship on residents, future
residents and all of their relatives.
Again LCC has priorities all wrong. Why should we care for the elderly when you want another silly
cycle path? Why provide care for the elderly when you can raise Council Tax 3.99-4% year on year
and blame the government for “cuts” when you get paid £100k annually salary wise? I strongly
disagree with the closure of Richmond House. You have no idea what the people of the real world
have to endure. No idea at all and you certainly have no idea about cost saving, given your silly
road schemes/cycle super highway rubbish.
Where else in the area provides the same provision?
You don't explain how many people went through Richmond House during a year. If average
occupancy is 62% presumably this is not unexpected for some term return to own home
accommodation. If closed where do these people go? No doubt they will become more
institutionalised in a home forever. This will increase council costs paying for long term care.
I put up a change.uk poll on the local Farsley Community What’s On Facebook page and over 1200
signatures were obtained from members of the public objecting to the closure. It is a very much
required facility in West Leeds and I am afraid to say that LCC have deliberately run the numbers
down to try and show that it is not required. Richmond House is a far better facility than the one
in Beeston and it is easier for relatives to access. LCC have tried this tactic before as they see this
is valuable land for building on. From figures I have seen on savings it is very short sighted.
It has a wonderful track record of caring for people. Well respected in the community. We need
to keep this home. Please rethink.
There are no similar facilities in this area but for some reason, it isn't being used in appropriate
circumstances. My Mum was sent to Middleton, from Pudsey, for 10 weeks, my 82 year old Dad
drove there and back, 3 times each day, they have been married for over 60 years, they need each
other, they have a big family but it isn’t the same. Fortunately, he was physically and financially
able to do this, I don’t wish for others to be in this position. Look at why it isn't being used. Look at
where our residents are currently being sent further afield, why and what this costs. Put energies
into promotion and alignment to current, local needs. Work with ALL people, professional and
public to find a way forward to keep Richmond House for its current demographic. The
community respect this facility and will rally to support it.
There is an ongoing need for respite facilities like Richmond House to allow people to recover
outside of a hospital setting, to free those beds up especially in times of a pandemic.
A service that needs promoting and being allowed to be used to its full potential.
Short-term care helps recovering people to prepare for the next step without making them too
reliant on others. It gives them a positive experience.

Page 710

When our elected people make decisions re. savings, the research to put suggestions forward is
made by unaccountable officers regardless of the impact on local services. Surely one cannot
justify the employment of people higher up. Adult services who cost the tax payer yet provide no
direct service, that’s where I would begin. Councillors of any persuasion in times past were more
involved and defended the vulnerable.
Over the years I have had several friends and relatives who have been grateful for the care and
respite that Richmond House provides, both for patients and their relatives. Respite is the
description of the facilities and that is what is provided. We are all getting older and these council
care homes are getting fewer and fewer. The thought of a few weeks in there to get back on one's
feet, is surely better than facing longer spells in hospital or a permanent care home. Try saving
money in other ways. Stopping cycle lanes would be my choice for saving vast amounts of money.
Care facilities are used significantly more than the cycle lanes and are much more in use than
cycle lanes.
I first went to Richmond House about five years ago after I had broken my hip. I had two stays
there and had physio and rehab before I returned to my own home. I was dealt with kindness,
caring good humour from all there and because of their support I was able to return home. After
that I have returned regularly for respite care so my daughter who looks after me can go on
holiday. The care team have remained the same and treat me like an old friend. I feel
comfortable there and enjoy going. It is a lovely place and from catering staff, cleaners and care
staff, all are lovely. It is clean, a well-appointed home from home. Why would you want to close
somewhere like that?
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
4
7
8

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the
impact be on you?
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
Significant impact

Some impact

Please tell us the reason for your answer
I live in Farsley, however have never had to visit the centre in question.
I do not have relatives with a need as yet.
I live in the locality but have no direct involvement with the care home.
I am not a user of the service.

Page 711

Little or no impact

The older population is increasing and we need services to meet need, especially in times of
family breakdown/crisis.
At this stage I have not used the facility nor would potentially have use for it in the short-term however I feel it is a very necessary facility for the west of the city.
My father is 90 years old, he is currently in hospital and has been admitted on two other
occasions since July. He is at the stage where this provision would help him adjust from being in
hospital and getting on his feet for going home.
We are all getting older and will need this service in the future.
Many of the people who use this facility are from Pudsey, Farsley, Calverley, Rodley, Bramley and
Stanningley and it has easy access for friends and relatives to visit.
I may need this facility at some point but as treasurer of an elderly person lunch club, I know how
important this local facility is.
To me at this time, none, although it has in the past affected my immediate family (see first
response). It's not about me, it's about my community, which includes old as well as young. I know
many older people and many people who have older family members. Richmond House would be
ideal for many who find themselves in need of services, but they are sent elsewhere much further
away. Many can't travel far so absence is enforced. This impacts others’ health and is totally
avoidable and a hidden cost.
I currently don’t have anyone in my family that are in need of their services.
I live in the area and I have friends who live local and work in Richmond House.
I live round the corner from Richmond House. It would be an ideal venue if I had to recover from
hospitalisation.
No service locally for the area, pressure on NHS, more deaths, increased pressure on families. As
an older person, just imagine the Council’s hands when they cannot fulfil a need!
My husband and I are in reasonable health and may not need to have care. We have a family unit
that is strong but there are lots of elderly people that have no other means of care. For people to
have to come out of hospital to an empty house must be terrible. I know that there can be care
packages put in place but that is not the same as having someone around all the time.
It is one of the very few places that is affordable. A lot of other places charge a lot more money,
have fancy features but the care is not as good. We cannot afford to go to some of these places
anyway so my daughter will not be able to have a holiday which she needs.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
Plan in advance!!! Ensure residents have a place to go before closure. Tell local residents plans for
the building when it’s closed. People do not like to see run down derelict buildings in this village
and a lot of people will want to know what’s happening to the site once it closes.
A phased approach to closing the care home must be done, taking into account the needs of all
the residents, the staff and families affected.
Keep Richmond house open and consider alternative cuts elsewhere in the Council's services.
Look at other areas where they waste budgets.
Leave the facility alone, it is needed and fulfils a need to residents in the west of the city.
Don’t close the care home!!!
Sell some of their empty premises and unused equipment.
Charge for the cost of the accommodation on a means tested basis. Alternatively offer the
property as a community asset and get someone else to run the property as a need for this type
of accommodation exists.
Keep it open for future generations of old people.
Keep this facility open and save money elsewhere.

Page 712

Keep it open by understanding why it is low occupancy when the local need is so great then fix
that problem.
Maintain funding and recognise its value.
Leave it open.
Make savings in other sections of their remit or raise Council Tax.
Use money it has in other areas to support this local service. Keep the service.
Keep places like Richmond House open and cut back on things like the previously mentioned cycle
lanes. You can drive miles down the road between Leeds and Bradford without seeing a single
cyclist. They cause more disruption for other road users and pedestrians.
Not close the place or offer places of a standard the same as Richmond House for the same
money.
Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe should be considered?
Keep it open, develop it to have day services as well providing respite for carers.
As above.
Less spent on external services.
Stop wasteful spending on car parks, hotels and city of culture 2023 among other things! Look
after your residents properly.....
You should look to scrap the pointless bus lane schemes, aimed at increasing car congestion for
your precious bus contracts with First. Would save how many millions???
Transfer to another party to run it as a business.
From the amount of money they are saving, no. They could stop some of the other hair brain
schemes they come up with, which quite frankly do not work but the Leader and other members
think they look good.
Understanding what the issues are rather than killing the problem.
None.
As above.
As above.
How about not seeing it as a foregone conclusion in the first place. Look at a cost benefit analysis
and determine how you can take a hard look at people’s salaries in relation to a diminished
service.
There is no other alternative. Neither myself or my daughter who is my carer can afford to pay
more.
Finally, do you have any other comments?
Times have changed and people live at home longer. If the Council can close this home and offer
people better care in home or a more equipped centre then I see no reason why it shouldn’t be
closed. Staff MUST be reassigned locally, however, I feel this is only fair if you decide to close the
site. You must have alternative employment for those care staff.
No.
Look at wage costs for top posts - is it right that a fairly junior post in the administration pays a
larger salary than those who run the country??
I think I’ve said all I need to.
Please think about our community and the care needed, especially for the older citizens.
If this property does close what is proposed for the site?
No.
Only to say a facility like this cannot and should not be replaced elsewhere.

Page 713

How local needs will be met both to the patients and the needs of their families.
I hope the campaign to keep Richmond House and similar facilities open is a success.
If it closes, as you are planning, local people will draw attention to who it is across our city who
are making these decisions and involve the press and MPs.
I think I have covered all my concerns.
Yes, I understand the Council has money problems but why close a well-run, well-staffed place. I
am sure savings could be made in other ways. If the place isn’t full all the time why not do
something to ensure it is. Once people go there they want to go again. Where can people go to
give carers a break that doesn’t cost the earth? I suspect this is not a real consultation and that
the decision has already been made, but I think you are wrong. You talk a lot about carers and
looking after them but provide nothing for carers if they have no money, it’s all talk. In addition, I
got this form on 23rd March, closing date for consultation is 26th March. How on earth could I fill
it in and post it back! I have had to get someone to type it for me, as I say you have already made
the decision and are just pretending to go through the motions.

Page 714

Richmond House Consultation, January to March 2021 - Survey Results (20 Responses)
Are you a?
Resident
Respite resident Relative
Representative
12
2
3
1
Please note the answer to the above could be more than one category.

Staff member
4

Are you a resident, respite resident, relative, representative or
staff member?
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Resident

Respite resident

Relative

Representative

Staff member

The information you have read at the start of this survey explains the background to these
proposals and outlines the consultation process. Have you read it or had it fully explained to
you?
Yes
No
20
0

The information you have read at the start of this survey
explains the background to these proposals and outlines the
consultation process. Have you read it or had it fully
explained to you?
25
20
15
10
5
0
Yes

No

Page 715

After reading the information or having it fully explained to you, do you understand why the
Council wants to make these changes?
I do understand
I don’t understand
Don’t know
19
0
1

After reading the information or having it fully explained to
you, do you understand why the Council wants to make these
changes?
20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
I do understand

I don’t understand

Don’t know

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to close Richmond House short stay
residential care home? Please tick one box.
Strongly agree
Agree
Neither agree
Disagree
Strongly disagree
nor disagree
1
1
2
5
11

How much do you agree or disagree with the proposals to
close Richmond House short stay residential care home?
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Page 716

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Please tell us the reason for your answer
I do not feel like Richmond House has been supported, not just through the pandemic, but
beforehand. As stated, only 60% of the beds were full, but it hasn’t been taken into consideration
about the residents we are getting in and staff numbers on the floor. We can have 10 residents
and it can feel full due to individual needs. Nobody explained to staff about the change in
residents we were receiving and the issues they had, or even ages. (Not elderly men and ladies young people with serious mental health/alcoholics/drug addicts). If staff were updated and
provided training for this, it would have been managed better. Richmond House has so much
potential to be a ‘safe place’ if support to the home was given. Admissions were being held back
due to the lack of this, especially when only x2 members of staff were allowed on the floor due to
low numbers but dealing with high dependency residents. We all feel we have been given up on.
The staff are good and you get looked after well. It's a nice place to be.
Because there are a lot of unwell people in this place.
If you're in hospital you need somewhere to recuperate. It's a local home. Family can come and
see you. It's not far to come. You get well looked after. If you need help, they're there all the
time. The staff are all friendly. The other place I went to was all very old people. I want to live
somewhere like this where there's staff all the time.
We don't want it to close. The staff are like family. I love it here. I love everything about it. It's a
bit like a hospital and a home.
I came here because I was stuck in hospital for a long time. The staff here help me with washing
myself, cleaning my room, making my meals. They got me new clothes. I need more help
otherwise things go back to the same way. They will help me with that here.
It's up to the Council because it's a business. If you are not meeting your targets, it's no use
moving forwards.
You never know when you might need a service like this and they aren't close together. People
need this help and the staff are kind. It's a nice home.
Because things change. The Covid pandemic means we don't know what things will be like in 6
months. The care staff do a great job. I've never been in a place like this before. They work hard,
make you feel comfortable and do the best they can.
Over 10 years we have struggled to get respite, which allows us to continue to care. Richmond
House has been the most consistent, high quality service in the whole of Leeds for respite. It's the
one service where I have peace of mind. The best care elderly frail people can have is with their
family but quality respite is essential to keep this going. It's an easy target but very short-sighted
in the long term. The people who use the service deserve continuity.
My 87 year old mother is familiar with the routine of a two week stay at Richmond House. It’s
local for my nieces and I to pop in. The staff are great, my mum looks forward to 2 weeks over the
Christmas period and 2 weeks in August which allows me to have a holiday with my family. It’s a
local home - the rest of the family is too far away. There’s just me and her niece in Pudsey so it is
local to us to take her there and back because she doesn’t like travelling with taxis or other
transport. We have tried other places and it is a lot more money and not as good quality.
It just needs to fill its rooms up. It's a nice home with friendly staff. When you come out of
hospital and you can hardly walk like I could - they can handle it.
A decision has to be made. If it's not financially viable to keep it going then the residents will have
to be dispersed amongst other homes. I have found it a good place, people try and do their best
for you here.
They need to look after people. These people who work there are very helpful and will lose their
jobs. The people who live there might end up on the streets. The people who live there are very
poorly. The residents and staff deserve much better.

Page 717

I understand the budget position and the occupancy at Richmond House has been low since I have
been in post and I do believe the service can be provided in other ways. If the customers were
permanent residents then I would perhaps hold a different opinion on the proposal but the
customers here are short stay and do not have any ties to the service. They will all be moving on
at some point.
Part of the information is about people going into permanent care at the start of the form. Given
that affordable options for carers are reducing, there are so few places for respite across the city
without a massive top-up. It means that, as a carer, you have very little, if any choice of where to
go. Sitting services are increasingly expensive. For some people, the cost is a massive issue.
There needs to be some way of getting a break to allow us to keep caring for people at home.
There is a consistent, well-trained, person-centred staff group and dad loves them all. It's
provided very good care - daughter can go on holiday because she has full confidence that they
will look after dad well.
They want to save money. They (the residents) will have nowhere to go. They shut all the centres
down - even the new ones get shut down now. I've been in centres and a hostel and they
flattened that down. People are alright here. The staff put you to bed and give you a bath or a
shower. They help me.
Richmond House is well known for being a caring well-run establishment. It doesn't have a quick
turnover of staff. Many have worked at Richmond House for many years. Outside agencies have
regularly commented at how we look after our customers with pride and full respect. I think it
would be a shame to close a well-run highly committed and dedicated team/home down.
I do not agree at all and believe the Council is being very short sighted and denying people like my
mother and myself the local authority respite facility. 10 years ago my mother was assessed and I
was assessed regarding care needs. My mother has dementia; arthritis; glaucoma; coeliac to
mention a few of her ailments. These have only worsened over the last 10 years, including falls
with broken bones (one in rehab - Green Lane as recent as yesterday at 21.3.01). Jane Atkinson,
the social worker at the time, assessed her needs as needing respite 42 days a year. The last year
this service denied due to Covid. At no time has any social worker consulted me about the closure
and given any useful information about any alternative local authority respite provision. Unpaid
carers like me save the local authority thousands of pounds looking after disabled people. It is
disgraceful that the local authority propose to cut this service, which is the one thing that I as my
mum's full time carer value more than anything. Until Covid it was a service that I utilised 100%
and the staff provided excellent respite care for the resident (anonymised), unlike any provision.
I understand to what has been said about the closure, that old people do not want to be in such a
setting which doesn't motivate them to still be alive. The building was built for nursing people,
they, the rooms are not en-suite most of them that residents have to use commode or walk out of
there to bedrooms to use toilets which are communal.
If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the impact be on you?
Significant impact
Some impact
Little or no impact
11
3
6

Page 718

If the proposal to close the home goes ahead what might the
impact be on you?
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Significant impact

Some impact

Little or no impact

Please tell us the reason for your answer
I worked so hard for this role. For 5 years I was on the local care force agency and this was the
only home I came to where I felt at home. Only last year I got the position and I’ve never felt so
happy and complete in what I did. The managers and staff are all so wonderful and approachable.
The hours suited my life as I have a two year old.
It would be such a huge shame and such a sad day if Richmond closes. I feel so passionate about
it. It would impact on my life hugely.
I won't be here because I am going home but I still don't think it should be shut.
I like it here, I feel safe, I've got used to it.
I'm going to move on. I know it will take time. It all depends whether there is somewhere I can go
from here. I'm wondering about where I'll go next.
I hope I won't still be here and they will have helped me move on. I'm waiting for my home to be
cleaned.
There will be an impact for people who don't/won't/can't live privately. People would be worried
about where they will go.
I'll be going back home, but if something happened in future, you might need it again. There's an
impact on the other people, especially people who are here longer.
Because I don't know what happens next.
People who are full-time carers will hit a brick wall and won't be able to continue caring if they
don't have trusted respite to be able to alleviate some of the pressure and allow for some time
off. Respite has been the most valuable support the local authority has been able to give us.
When the Green shut, I had great trouble finding another place, then we tried Yeadon and that
shut. When we got to Richmond House, we were able to book regular respite and plan ahead,
which we couldn't anywhere else. We have great anxiety that the service is just being withdrawn.
The need for respite will increase, not decrease. My mum has dementia (and has had it for 10
years), has benefitted from the continuity from the team at Richmond House and has
remembered and mentioned Richmond House to the hospital staff recently.
I will have to cancel the summer holiday with my children and be available 24/7 365 days of the
year, unless alternative arrangements could be put in/be in place for summer and Christmas. At
some times over the past year, because of Covid restrictions, they couldn’t take her anymore and I
am desperate for some respite.
I won't be here. Other people will be.

Page 719

I live on my own and my family aren't close by so it doesn't make much difference where I'm
staying. To somebody else, it may make a big difference. Everybody has a different situation.
It's very bad to move him. The people who work with these people know the residents well. He
(my brother) needs 24 hour care from people who understand him. People are poorly and will get
more poorly and stressed and it's not right, especially at this time.
I am hopeful that if Richmond House does close I will be granted ELI and be able to take early
retirement.
Daughter says dad goes happily to the home and enjoys the care and support. Daughter, Fiona
can go away with confidence and know dad is okay - needs a break emotionally, physically and
psychologically from caring (with peace of mind). Daughter wouldn't be able to go on holiday if
the home were to close because dad wouldn't want to go anywhere else and the strain of caring
would hugely increase.
I won't be here, will I? But other people were here before I came. I don't know if they would still
be here.
There is no other Council home in this area. I live in a very isolated place with no means of
transport as my husband has not long passed away. It would mean walking to catch two buses
late at night/early morning. I would also miss the support of my friends/colleagues who I have
worked with for many years.
It will 100% affect my ability to permanently care for my mother and give such stress and ill health
to myself and my family not being able to plan any break in my 100% care of my mother. I have
other care commitments to my grandchildren too and what kept me going was knowing every few
weeks I could plan for mum's care to be taken over by a group of people who really understand
my mother's care needs and responded appropriately. I believe the Council are targeting unpaid
carers as an easy target for cuts. It is the case that no alternative provision from the local
authority has been discussed with myself.
It will be a significant impact to my system because I am getting old and starting something new
will be a good challenge for me. Anyway, when I joined the Council in 2008 I managed to upgrade
myself educationally and gained an Honours degree in Youth and Community Development in
2012. I can work with young people in residential which will be good for me. However, 3 years
ago I managed to gain a Diploma in Adult and Social Care which can be useful, hence I have duty
of care and I can work with parents and their children.
What could the Council do to reduce the potential impact?
The Council need to speak up. SUPPORT US! Listen to staff concerns, have some answers as to
why we have never had a meeting about the clientele in, and when requested one, everyone is
always too busy. Keep us open, supply us with the training and keep us in the loop.
Don't know.
Keep it open to help everybody. If they close this down, where's other people going to go.
This is the first time I've been in a home so I don't know what somewhere else would be like.
Provide another house for them with all the care needed (or send people back to their family with
help by sending carers to their family house).
Don't close it. Keep people close to home and family. When my dad was in a council home and it
closed, he had to go to Bingley and it was awkward for family to get there.
Obviously finding somewhere adequate to move to, may be another care home.
Ensure that there is an equivalent service. I'd like to know what and where and have a plan in
place. I'd rather that a facility which is working perfectly well was not closed. The demand for
respite will not decrease. It's only going to increase with the effects of long Covid and also as
Covid restrictions allow respite again, there will be a much higher need. People are waiting to
have a break and are in great need of it to be able to continue caring.

Page 720

Please keep it open, or make similar alternative accommodation. We would like to not be
forgotten about and have the same respite times, the same cost and the same level of care.
They need to get some more clients.
The Council needs to do their best to make sure your needs are cared for.
It's not right to close the home. There is such a high quality of care.
Keep somewhere like Richmond House open or provide an alternative at local authority rates so
carers can get a break (of a similar standard of care). Why couldn't it be used better as a hub? It's
not known about enough, which makes it under-utilised. They used to have physios and OTs given that hubs are bursting at the seams, why couldn't it be used that way?
I don't know.
Provide an immediate named local authority short term/respite provision that is guaranteed I will
be able to use in the near future.
First I need my redundancy pay or Early Leavers if not then secondly, I need to work with young
people, if possible not in another home with elderly people no. I am a mature woman which will
make sense for me for the 3 choices I have put across. Most importantly I am a single woman and
I have never been on benefit since I came to the UK 21 years ago.
Please state if there is another viable approach which you believe should be considered?
We haven’t been full because of the reasons I’ve stated. Fill us up, let us have more staff on shift,
provide us with training and see what difference it can make.
There must be other ways to save money. The government should give the Council more money.
They could charge people to stay permanently. If they kept it open, they could make it into a
permanent home and people could stop here all the time. I like it here and would stay here.
I don't know.
The Council needs to look at why they are not meeting their targets. Do they need to reduce the
workforce or add more patients?
I've heard they've spent a lot on making changes in the city centre (pavements and cycle lanes).
The Council needs to think more about other areas where people live.
The Council doesn't appear to have an option, the way that it's put here because the figures show
a massive gap. It makes sense in a business sense but not for the people that live in the homes.
If you contacted all the respite customers from prior to Covid (over the previous year) you would
find a higher need. What time frame was used to compile the statistics? There has been a freeze
on respite so this has affected the occupancy figures over the last year. They should put the
prices up for respite. It's much cheaper than my mother going into a home 24 hours.
None.
Why not let all the rooms out?
I don't know.
Disabled and poorly people need special help, especially at this time when people can be very
low. The Council should keep places and good staff because these are the people who need it
most.
Not a money-saving approach, but it could be better used. It's been refurbished and has great
facilities.
I don't know.
Respite home.
I do not believe the local authority should reduce/stop any respite provision. It is short sighted
and not cost effective in the long term. Us unpaid permanent carers gave Leeds local authority 13
billion pound a year as it is.

Page 721

As for Richmond House, the best thing is to demolish it and build new housing or flats for elderly
people to live. As for me, my Early Leavers and redundancy pay, that will be nice.
Finally, do you have any other comments?
Please listen to staff. We know better than anyone, it’s so unfair during a pandemic especially. I
have worked through the whole thing and my mental health has been hit hard. I know Richmond
House is better than this. Thank you.
It's not fair on the staff.
No, because all the staff are nice and make you welcome.
While there's a pandemic (and all the time) it's a safe place. I'm worried about the staff and the
other residents and where they will all go.
The staff are alright. They help me and make sure I get a shower and my tablets.
I like the service here. They are very respectful and they make the house like a family house.
They don't treat you like a patient. They listen to your problems and advise you if you need it.
Where would you go if you closed this home? Would you have to go further and how would
people visit? A lot of people haven't got cars. It will also affect people's jobs.
Although it might be a quick cut, if you look at what the local authority saves through having
carers caring, that saves much more. Demand for respite won't decrease but demand for 24 hour
care, which is more costly will increase as a direct consequence of short breaks being in shorter
supply.
We do our bit and although I get 2 weeks off here and there, I think we save the Council a lot of
money. The time off we get is a godsend – we really need it.
Obviously, if you're closing somewhere, you're losing facilities, so it must be a difficult decision.
I've found the care here has been very good. People are interested in you and your health.
They're all doing their best.
Everybody should have rights and be well looked after.
The level of care is what is important. It's not about the building, it's about the care the team
shows towards the residents (which is very individual and very personalised).
It's alright here. I like it.
I think it will be a very sad day when we close.
I am horrified at the poor level of care provided by the rehab centre that the local authority is
using for people discharged from hospital (Green Lane). My mother, Joan Scott was a previous
regular respite user of Richmond House.
My Early Leavers and redundancy pay please.

Page 722

Appendix 3b) Home Lea House and Richmond House closure proposals
Consultation Submissions and Responses

Page 723

Submission
1. Why is it not possible to negotiate with the NHS to have
therapeutic input at Richmond House again? This joint
working of physiotherapists, occupational therapists,
including one expert on splints, and a joint care manager,
worked well with the care home staff? This is needed more
than ever now for those people who are stuck in care homes
waiting for (re-)assessment by social workers under the Care
Act and/or Mental Capacity Act and new care packages to be
put together to be able to go home. I know from personal
experience that this is an even lengthier wait at the moment
due to Covid restrictions.

Raised By
Mrs Sylvia
Landells on
behalf of Leeds
Hospital Alert
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting in
February 2021

Response
Richmond House did operate very successfully as an intermediate care
resource (known at the time as Community Intermediate Care, CIC).
However when the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) reviewed the
Community Intermediate Care (CIC) service, they identified a different set
of priorities for the Community Care Bed service. Leeds Adults & Health
were successful in bidding to the new specification and secured, in
partnership with Leeds Community Healthcare, two new nursing services
and one residential service, in buildings owned by LCC across Leeds. The
CCG will be reviewing their commissioned service in the next 18 months
but at present have commissioned 227 beds across the city and are
content that they have sufficient resource available to them.
Continuing Health Care (CHC) nurses were not able to undertake
assessments from March to August last year. As such, as number of
individuals who were thought to be in need of Continuing Health Care
funding in a nursing care setting were awaiting reassessment. Once the
service was able to recommence, social workers worked with the CHC
team to review/reassess everyone who was in that position, these
assessments were concluded by 31st December 2020.
Adults and Health are not seeing long wait times for independent home
care packages, and there is a range of good quality residential care
provision in the city, with 25 of the 35 homes within 5 miles of Richmond
House CQC dementia registered.

1

Submission
2. How many people, how long are they waiting, and how much
is the Council paying for these people who are stuck in
private homes waiting for re-assessment and packages of
care? Couldn't this be spent on professionals for Richmond
House instead?

Raised By
Mrs Sylvia
Landells on
behalf of Leeds
Hospital Alert
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting in
February 2021

Page 724

3. I was not reassured to learn of the large number of vacancies
in private care homes in west Leeds as a measure of
availability of places and stability of the market. Has Adults
and Health done a survey to find out how many of these care
home businesses will survive the pandemic?

4. Surely it is premature to plan the closure of Richmond House
before a full study is done into the acknowledged gap in the
need for places for people with complex needs, including
dementia and nursing care, which Cath Roff said is being

Mrs Sylvia
Landells on
behalf of Leeds
Hospital Alert
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting in
February 2021
Mrs Sylvia
Landells on
behalf of Leeds
Hospital Alert

2

Response
As described above, there was one group of people who were waiting for
CHC assessment and during the period in which the CHC team were
unable to assess, the CCG funded their care.
In addition, the NHS have provided temporary funding to the CCG to
support hospital discharge during the pandemic. The CCG have used this
funding to commission a small number of community beds (nursing and
residential) across the city, and as part of this Discharge to Assess process;
people are supported to stay there while their needs are assessed and
their care arranged at home or in another residential care or nursing
home. Their needs are assessed very quickly and a sizeable proportion of
the people who are discharged in this way, return home within a week to
ten days.

The 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond House are owned by 30
different providers; ranging from individual owners, small to medium
enterprises through to large national providers. Adults and Health work
closely with Leeds Care Association and care home providers to
understand any pressures affecting the market, and have continued to do
so throughout the pandemic to understand impact of Covid on cost
pressures for care homes.

The pilot service at South Leeds Recovery Hub offers nursing provision for
people with the most complex needs including people with dementia.
Adults & Health previously reviewed different models of care and support
that could be offered at Richmond House, however the size of the home

Submission
trialled in the 10 pioneering places at the South Leeds
Recovery Hub?

Page 725

5. “ Richmond House has a reputation second to none for
supportive, person-centred and effective rehab care for
older people.

Raised By
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting in
February 2021

Response
made the cost per head prohibitive for investment by the CCG, which
would be a requirement for the provision of this type of service.

Mrs Sylvia
Landells on
behalf of Leeds
Hospital Alert

Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. It has not provided rehabilitation services since 2017 when the
service was de-commissioned by Leeds CCG.

Successful rehab for older people coming out of hospital is
extremely cost-effective for both the NHS and Social Care.
The "market" in Care Home/Respite/Rehab accommodation
is extremely unstable (and likely to be more so after the
pandemic). If Richmond House closes, private provision is
unlikely to meet these needs in future.

At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting 18th
January 2021

When you break up a good staff team in a care home they
are gone forever. ”

The Integrated Commissioning Executive has taken a number of reports
which have attempted to model the needs of people with complex
dementia and as a result the following service developments have been
put in place, as detailed in the Leeds Integrated Market Position
Statement 2019‐22; NHS development of intensive and responsive
specialist support to care homes, an individualised approach to funding of
care, including transitional support to leave hospital as well as long‐term
funding; and the development of training in ‘leadership in dementia care.’

The CCG commission citywide Community Care Beds for rehabilitation.
Adults & Health previously reviewed whether Richmond House could
offer CCB provision, however the size of the home made the cost per
head prohibitive.

Care Home/Respite Alternative provision
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond
House, to arrange a short break or an extended short day depending on
the need of the individual and their family / carer.

3

Submission

Raised By

Response
Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social
worker will approach care homes at the time required, and if there is
capacity, will spot commission a short break or extended short stay
depending on need.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds Boundary
within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good, one as
outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14 are CQC
dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and 4 offer both.

Page 726

There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles of
Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as good,
one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are awaiting inspection.
11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are residential and 7 offer both
residential and nursing care.
Short Stay Residential Alternative provision
There are 258 beds (not including Richmond House) across the city
providing short term care and support, in addition to the at home
services.

-

4

There are 8 short term beds in services within 5 miles of Richmond House
(all D2A beds).
Hutton Manor (awaiting inspection), with 5 residential dementia D2A
beds is 2.3 miles from Richmond House;
St Luke’s (to be inspected), with 3 nursing D2A beds is 2.5 miles from
Richmond House.

Submission

Raised By

Response
By comparison, there are 84 short term beds that are 6 miles or less from
Richmond House, all at provisions rated as Good or To be Inspected,
Between April and August 2020 occupancy rates in community care beds
across the city ranged from 53% to 78%.
Occupancy Rates at Richmond House

Page 727

Over the last three years, 11 individuals from the Farsley area (with
postcode LS28 5) attended Richmond House. For the wider LS28 postcode
area over the same time period 37 individuals attended (including the 11
above). Total number of individuals attending over that time period is
196. Of the 11, most stayed for between 2 and 41 days (one was 138
days) with an overall average stay of 30 days.

Richmond
House
(built 1971)

5

monthly occupancy

12.58

63%

Average 2016/17
occupancy

14.83

74%

Average 2017/18
occupancy

14.58

73%

Submission

Raised By

Response
Average 2018/19
occupancy
Average 2019/20
occupancy

11.42

57%

10.67

53%

10

50%

Occupancy levels at
4 January 2021
6. “Leeds UNISON believes it is because of Covid that the last
11 months Richmond House has been under used.

Page 728

LCC upgraded Richmond House extensively in 2018 to ensure
it was fit for purpose to accommodate residents
comfortably. By closing Richmond house the money that was
spent will be wasted.

Stella Smales,
Leeds Unison
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting 18th
January 2021

Richmond House was awarded a CQC rating of good.
Leeds UNISON believes there may be an alternative to
closing Richmond House. The alternative would be to turn it
into a residential dementia care unit. The Green in
Seacroft provided long term care for dementia patients, but
this was closed by the Council. The closure of the Green was
strongly opposed by Leeds UNISON at the time. LCC has only
10 specific beds for service users with Dementia care across
the City. Caring for people who are suffering from dementia
is a specialised job that requires skills, understanding,
patience, and commitment. Leeds UNISON believe if
Richmond House was opened as a Residential Care home

Occupancy rates at Richmond House.
The home supports a citywide short term care and support offer along
with Community Care Beds. People are referred to a suitable short term
provision based on their individual needs and preferences.
Over the last three years, 11 individuals from the Farsley area (with
postcode LS28 5) attended Richmond House. For the wider LS28 postcode
area over the same time period 37 individuals attended (including the 11
above). Total number of individuals attending over that time period is
196. Of the 11, most stayed for between 2 and 41 days (one was 138
days) with an overall average stay of 30 days.
Building Maintenance Work
Since 2018, there has been £216,870 capital and revenue spend on
Richmond House, in order to carry out essential maintenance works to
ensure the building remains “wind and watertight” and suitable for the
people residing there. This has included some larger works such as a new
lift and replacement windows at Richmond.

6

Submission
specialising in dementia care this would give people who
have family members suffering from dementia the
reassurance that their loved ones were being cared for in a
safe environment.

Raised By

Response
Richmond House is 50 years old (built 1971) and falls within the Grade B
category which indicates stock condition is satisfactory and performing as
intended but exhibiting some deterioration. Further long term capital
investment in the region of £300 to £500k will be required to bring the
building and facilities up to a good standard in order to comply with
current legislation and support continued use as intermediary care
facilities. Existing mechanical services are in need of attention to prevent
major break down of the plants associated items along with upgrades to
the electrical installation, wind and weathertight items and associated
building works. Additionally the cost for full refurbishment is estimated to
be £1.7m which far outweighs the spend in recent years.

If LCC go ahead with closing Richmond House this will be
another important resource that will be gone from Farsley
and the west of Leeds.”

Page 729

Alternative use as residential dementia care
There is already a range of good quality residential care provision in the
city, 25 of the 35 homes within 5 miles of Richmond House are CQC
dementia registered. However, there is an undersupply of nursing
provision for people with the most complex needs. To respond to this
need, the council with partners is piloting this type of provision in the
South Recovery Hub, which is possible as Leeds Community Healthcare
provides the nursing care.
Given the age of the building it may be uneconomical to remodel.
Consultant Norfolk Property Services has stressed that refurbishment
alone will not meet current statutory requirements and nationally
described space standards due to the some corridor widths being too
narrow and a number of bedroom sizes being too small. To meet this
standard major structural and internal alteration will need to be carried
out.
7

Submission

Raised By

Response
High level refurbishment budget costings indicate that a capital spend of
IRO £1.7m would be required to bring the property up to current required
standard including nationally described space standards and to meet the
minimum requirements set out in the Leeds Model for housing with care.
Given the Gross Internal Area of Richmond House this would equate to
approximately £1150 per sqm to refurbish against a cost of IRO £2000 per
sqm for new build so on this basis the most cost effective approach would
be new purpose built accommodation that will meet modern building
standards and is more conducive to health and wellbeing of residents.

Page 730

Delivering new housing with care provision in line with the current and
future demand is one of the keys strategic drivers of the Better Lives
Programme.
LCC Design team have been commissioned to undertake preliminary site
analysis and desktop capacity and constraint studies in order to
understand options for re-provisioning of specialist accommodation
should sites become available through asset realisation. This will provide
indicative site capacity and compatibility with proposed future land uses.
It is anticipated that this will be completed by end of January.

7. Has a full impact assessment been done on the implications
of the closure of Richmond House on current and possible
future residents' physical and mental health and
rehabilitation potential?

By Councillors
in attendance
At Outer West
Community
Committee
8

Full Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessments will
be carried out as part of the consultation process. One will focus on the
potential impacts to people using the service and their families/carers
and one will be specific to organisational change impacting on the
workforce for the staff affected.

Submission

8. What evidence is there that the proposed future placements
for people who would have gone to Richmond House will be
any more effective and safe?

Raised By
meeting 18th
January 2021
By Councillors
in attendance
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting 18th
January 2021

Response

Richmond House has taken short term/step down placements directly
from social workers and in some cases from hospital (LTHT and LYPFT). If
Richmond House was not there anymore as a resource then other
placements would be sought. Generally these would be in residential care
homes offering good quality care.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds Boundary
within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good, one as
outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14 are CQC
dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and 4 offer both.

Page 731

(There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles of
Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as good,
one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are awaiting
inspection. 11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are residential and 7 offer
both residential and nursing care).
Over the last 3 years 196 individuals were admitted to Richmond House,
on average 65 people per year, staying an average of 30 days. The current
market for older people’s residential care has capacity to absorb this
demand.

9.

The Council-employed hospital social workers are working
with people in the 4 wards in Beckett Wing at St. James
Hospital and Wharfedale General Hospital, outsourced to
Villacare, which all "need improvement" according to the

By Councillors
in attendance

9

The service provided in the wards at LTHT is nursing care, whereas
Richmond House provides residential care.

Submission
latest Care Quality Commission reports. Why not transfer
directly to Richmond House, a "good" care home?

Raised By
At Outer West
Community
Committee
meeting 18th
January 2021

Response
Also, some of the people are only resident in the wards at LTHT for a few
days whilst home care services are arranged; it wouldn’t be appropriate
to discharge from the hospital, admit to Richmond House, and then go
home, all within a few days.
There are significantly more beds in SJUH and Wharfedale than we could
provide in RH and the CCG wouldn’t fund non-nursing care provision.

Dear Rachel Reeves MP,

Page 732

Have you heard about the campaign to keep open Richmond
House care home at Farsley, which is run by Leeds City
Council Adults and Health as a short term residential
rehabilitation place (recovery hub for west Leeds), especially
for people coming out of hospital?

Sylvia Landells
via Rachel
Reeves MP, 26
Jan 2021

Consultation on potential closure
Richmond House is a 20 bedded residential service situated in Farsley. The
current service offer is short term care and support to people who require
a period of recovery following a hospital admission. The service also offers
support to people from the community to prevent hospital admission.
A report to the Council’s Executive Board in October 2020 highlighted a
budget gap in 2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to
the ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required to
set a balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals have
been put forward, including one for the proposed closure of Home Lea
House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and the closure of
Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley, making
savings annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget gap
identified.

I think it is underused at present because it doesn't take
people with dementia. I know from personal experience that
some people are being placed in private care homes, paid
for by the local authority, until the social workers are able to
re-assess their needs and mental capacity to make decisions
about their care, review their social care services, and put
together a package of care.
There appear to be even more delays in this process at the
moment due to the effects of the pandemic. People often
wish to return to live at home and it is very difficult to get
enough home care, which has already largely been

On the 21st October 2020 Leeds City Council’s Executive Board approved a
period of consultation on a proposal for the closure of Home Lea House
long stay residential care home and Richmond House short stay care and
10

Submission
privatised in Leeds. This is especially difficult if you need
more help in the evening or at night and/or you have
dementia.

Raised By

Response
support service. The consultation period started on 4th January 2021 and
will end on 26th March 2021. The findings of the consultation will be
analysed and a report with recommendations will be presented to the
Council’s Executive Board in June 2021.

The local authority appears to be outsourcing some of their
services to private, profit-making care home companies
when they have in-house services which could be utilised,
with some change, in order to be able to take people with
dementia, as happened with the South Leeds Recovery Hub.

For your information I have attached a copy of the brief sent to all Elected
Members and MPs representing the affected ward areas, which includes
all the information about the consultation; including timescales, options
for participation, how to seek support to participate where needed and
next steps following the consultation period.

Page 733

I am concerned that people may feel stuck in the system
where they don't want to be, and Council Tax payers are not
getting value for money. It is very hard to visit or telephone
friends and relatives in care homes at present to find out
how they are and ask them what they want.

Short term services for people living with dementia
Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. It has not provided rehabilitation services since 2017 when the
service was de-commissioned by Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG). The CCG commission citywide Community Care Beds (CCBs) for
rehabilitation. People are referred to a suitable short term provision
based on their individual needs and preferences.

I do hope that you can make some enquiries about this
proposed closure and help with this campaign.

There is already a range of good quality residential care provision in the
city, and 25 of the 35 homes within 5 miles of Richmond House are CQC
dementia registered. However, there is an undersupply of nursing
provision for people with the most complex needs. To respond to this
need, the council with partners is piloting this type of provision in the
South Recovery Hub, which is possible as Leeds Community Healthcare
provides the nursing care.
Adults & Health previously reviewed different models of care and support
that could be offered at Richmond House, including whether Richmond
11

Submission

Raised By

Response
House could offer Community Care Bed provision, however the size of the
home made the cost per head prohibitive for investment by the CCG.
Supporting people to return home
As detailed in the Better Lives strategy, the Council’s strategy for people
with care and support needs, we know from our discussions that many
older people want a wider choice of accommodation and support options
with, as much as possible, support being delivered in their own homes or
in care environments like extra care housing.

Page 734

Wherever possible, people should be supported to return to their home
as the first option. Adults & Health provide the SkiLs Reablement Service
which offers short term intensive care and support for people in their
home; supporting hospital discharge and hospital avoidance. Leeds
Community Healthcare Neighbourhood Teams provide at home therapy
services, such as Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy and District
Nursing. In addition, Adults and Health are not seeing long wait times for
independent home care packages.
Communicating with residents
We are keen to ensure that we hear the voices of people who use the
service and the consultation provides different options for participating,
including; online, over the phone, via email, by posting a paper copy to us,
or through a face to face discussion during their short stay. The
consultation survey is also open to the general public via leeds.gov.uk.
People only stay at Richmond House for only a short period of time and so
current residents won’t be affected by the proposed closure, however
12

Page 735

Submission

Raised By

Response
throughout the consultation period all residents are being informed about
the consultation taking place and encouraged to participate if they wish to
do so.
The service also proactively engages customers in the use of technology
(such as ipads, tablets, mobile phones, Alexa’s) where appropriate, to
keep in touch with loved ones during their stay. In addition window visits,
garden visits and use of in-door pods have enabled choices to suit
customers in being able to communicate with one another.

Rothwell has two high quality performing council-run care
homes. Dolphin Manor has been put forward as alternative
to Home Lea house, however Dolphin Manor has previously
been brought to Executive Board for closure. At that time we
were told that Dolphin Manor had worse facilities that Home
Lea House. Has the council decided to withdraw from inhouse provision altogether?

Cllr Stewart
Golton at
Outer South
Community
Committee
meeting

Based on supply and demand analysis, Rothwell has an oversupply of 119
residential care home beds. There is sufficient alternative local supply if
Home Lea House were to close.
Regular rolling stock condition surveys are carried out, Home Lea House is
20 years older than Dolphin Manor and is a smaller home.
My professional recommendation as the Director of Adults and Health is
that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care homes be
approved for closure, that no further council run care homes should be
put forward for decommissioning. This would enable the council to retain
flexibility in the face of any potential future challenges and retain
expertise.

The independent sector care provision if precarious.
What is the occupancy in independent sector provision?

Cllr Stewart
Golton at
Outer South
13

This would mean Dolphin Manor, along with Knowle Manor (Morley
South) and Spring Gardens (Otley and Yeadon) would be retained in the
city as council-run care home provision
Occupancy figures can be provided if requested, they do change on a
regular basis.

Submission

Page 736

Raised By
Community
Committee
meeting
Could social care reserves be used to keep Home Lea House Cllr Stewart
open for another year and work with the community to keep Golton at
it open?
Outer South
Community
Committee
meeting
I am writing on behalf of Rothwell Neighbourhood Forum to Peter Ellis
register its opposition to proposals that could see the Home Acting Chair,
Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell
Rothwell
threatened with closure.
Neighbourhood
Forum
This is a particularly unsatisfactory state of affairs when one
recognizes the success of the existing provision, as illustrated
by the most recent CQC report, and in particular the
comments contained within the report allied to the
“outstanding” designation of the Home in terms of caring for
its residents.
A rough analysis of all the care home facilities on the CQC
web site that have been subject to inspection, and are within
10 miles of Rothwell, reveals that out of 243 facilities only 8
are better rated than Home Lea and another 6 are rated the
same. In other words Home Lea is, from a rating perspective,
in the top 6% of facilities in the immediate area.

14

Response

Reserves could be used to keep the home open for a further year but this
would not resolve the need for the council to make recurrent revenue
savings as part of delivering a legally balanced budget.

Closure proposals
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in
October 2020 and at the Outer South Community Committee Meeting on
the 15th March 2021, the key driver for the proposal to close Home Lea
House long stay residential care home is due to the Council facing
financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the
financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.
The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget gap in
2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing
financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required to set a
balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals have been put
forward, including one for the proposed closure of Home Lea House Long
Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and the closure of Richmond
House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley, making savings
annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget gap identified.

Submission
On the basis of this information and bearing in mind that this
is a local authority home, it is extremely difficult to
understand why it is being targeted for closure, other than
what is perceived to be a financial imperative.
It is important that within a local community there is a
robust provision in respect of this type of care, especially
recognizing local demographics which show that the number
of people in the community above the age of 65 is
considerably in excess of the figure for Leeds as a whole and
above the average figure for England (Source Leeds
Observatory).

Raised By

Response
Quality of Care
The high quality of care and support provided at Home Lea House is
absolutely acknowledged. However, the need for residential homes is
decreasing within Leeds and where this resource is required to meet
people’s needs, there is a well-developed independent sector care home
market.

Page 737

There are 14 care homes within five miles of Home Lea House, including a
Council-run home, that are CQC registered as Outstanding (1), Good (9),
and Requires Improvement (4). Of the 10 homes that are rated as Good or
Outstanding, six offer residential care, four offer both residential and
nursing care. Eight of the homes are listed by the CQC as offering
specialist Dementia provision.

It therefore appears to be short sighted in the extreme to
remove a facility of clear quality from an area with a
population where demographics suggest an ever increasing
requirement for its services. Reliance on underfunded
private provision is not a comprehensively sustainable
solution.

If a recommendation for closing Home Lea House was made and
approved, no-one will have their care taken away or their level of support
reduced.

The local nature of such facilities is also considered
extremely important and a home where residents are still
within the body of the community is a valuable consideration
and makes it less likely that people, requiring the care the
home provides, might have to be relocated to other areas.
This must surely be something that residents appreciate
notwithstanding access for family and relatives etc. If there is
one thing that the last year has made clear it is that this
category of provision is very much needed and services of
this type must be retained notwithstanding the pressure on

Capacity of alternative provision
The 10 care homes rated as Outstanding or Good within five miles of
Home Lea House total 501 beds. Occupancy at care homes can vary from
week to week; as of 11th March 2021 occupancy rates at those homes
ranged from 44% to 95% with an average occupancy of 79%. The council
has two residential care homes situated in Rothwell, Dolphin Manor has
35 beds and on average achieved 67% occupancy during 2020-21.

15

Submission
local authority budgets. A report by the Director Adults and
Health prepared for a recent meeting of the Outer South
Committee establishes one of the reasons cited for the
proposed closure of Home Lea House ,notwithstanding
purported changes to models of care and financial
considerations, is the age of the building. Surely it is the
quality of the care provision that is paramount.

Raised By

Response
The Rothwell ward area has an oversupply of residential care provision by
120 beds. The Council’s Extra Care Supply & Demand Model calculates
anticipated future demand for residential, nursing and extra care
provision, taking into account proposed population changes to 2028 at a
ward level, and suggests there is sufficient capacity of alternative good
quality provision.
Delivering new housing-with-care provision in line with the current and
future demand is one of the key drivers of the Better Lives Strategy (which
is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support needs) and
Adults & Health continue to work alongside the Housing Growth Team to
identify suitable sites for extra care housing.

Page 738

The model of care argument within the aforementioned
report is understood, but not fully accepted and while a
strategy that maximises independent living facilities is
welcomed, the question of those with greater dependency
and requiring the present model of care is not very clearly
addressed. There is also a suggestion in the report that
Dolphin Manor in Rothwell is an alternative provision option.
It is not long since that Dolphin Manor was identified for
closure, but which due to local opposition was retained and
it is therefore difficult to have long term confidence in such a
strategy.

In January 2019 Leeds City Council appointed a delivery group made up of
Ashley House Ltd, Morgan Ashley LLP and Home Group to deliver four
Extra Care schemes on Council owned sites in Leeds including Windlesford
Green in Rothwell. The Windlesford Green Scheme will deliver 64 units of
Extra Care housing with anticipated start on site in June 2021.
The 14 care homes within 5 miles of Home Lea House are owned by 11
different providers. These range from individual owners, small to medium
enterprises through to large national providers. Adults and Health work
closely with Leeds Care Association and care home providers to
understand any pressures affecting the market, and have continued to do
so throughout the pandemic to understand impact of Covid on cost
pressures for care homes.
Quality of the Building

16

Submission

Raised By

Response
Home Lea House (built 1964) is a substantially older building than Dolphin
Manor (built 1987) with a shorter remaining asset life which will require
significant capital investment in the near future in order to bring the
building and facilities up to an acceptable standard that complies with
current legislation.
Dolphin Manor is currently performing as intended and requires only
minor improvements. The property condition report for Home Lea House
and projected component life expectancy and renewal costs indicate
more substantial investment would be required which may be
uneconomical given the remaining asset life.

Page 739

In addition, Dolphin Manor is the larger home and the building is suitable
for dementia provision which is why it attracted investment from Leeds
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for a proof of concept short term
dementia care pilot. Home Lea House by contrast is not suitable for
dementia provision.
Dolphin Manor
As discussed at the recent Outer South Community Committee meeting
on 15th March, my professional recommendation as the Director of Adults
and Health is that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care
homes be approved for closure, that no further council run care homes
should be put forward for decommissioning. This would mean Dolphin
Manor, along with Knowle Manor (Morley South) and Spring Gardens
(Otley and Yeadon) would be retained in the city as council-run care home
provision.

17

Submission
Re the proposed closure of local authority care homes but
of Richmond House in particular
I’m writing on behalf of Leeds Unison retired members group to
urge Leeds City Council to rethink plans to close two residential
care homes, one of which provided invaluable short stays and
respite care.

Page 740

1. The moves to shut community facilities runs counter to the
current proclaimed intent in the local and regional integrated
care partnerships to frontload support in the community and
take pressure off secondary/hospital care. Some of us
remember times when Leeds Social Services were able to
provide older people and their families with much needed
breaks and convalescence by the coast but these facilities are
long gone. Richmond House is the only local authority home
left which provides vital respite care for people and their
families. As we come through what we hope is the worst of
the pandemic, with many of an estimated eight million
informal carers stretched to the limit, we should be seeking to
provide many more short stays to help reinvigorate and
sustain older people and family carers, not closing what little is
on offer.

Raised By

Response
1: The moves to shut community facilities
As detailed in the Better Lives strategy, the Council’s strategy for people
with care and support needs, we know from our discussions that many
older people want a wider choice of accommodation and support options
with, as much as possible, support being delivered in their own homes or
in care environments like extra care housing.

Gilda Peterson
and Sylvia
Landells (retired
LCC social care
workers)
on behalf of
Leeds Unison
Retired Members
Wherever possible, people should be supported to return to their home
Group

as the first option. Adults & Health provide the SkiLs Reablement Service
which offers short term intensive care and support for people in their
home; supporting hospital discharge and hospital avoidance. Leeds
Community Healthcare Neighbourhood Teams provide at home therapy
services, such as Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy and District
Nursing. In addition, Adults and Health are not seeing long wait times for
independent home care packages.
Short Term Services
Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. The CCG commission citywide Community Care Beds for
rehabilitation. Adults & Health previously reviewed whether Richmond
House could offer CCB provision, however the size of the home made the
cost per head prohibitive. The CCG will be reviewing their commissioned
service in the next 18 months but at present have commissioned 238 beds
across the city and are content that they have sufficient resource available
to them.

2. The closure of local authority residential provision means
that more people will be directed to private homes which
have no accountability to local people, are obliged to
prioritise profit over care, often pay below the minimum
wage, offer little training and poor conditions of service for

In addition, the NHS have provided temporary funding to the CCG to
support hospital discharge during the pandemic. The CCG have used this
18

Submission

Raised By

Response
funding to commission a number of community beds (nursing and
residential) across the city (currently 97 beds), as part of this Discharge to
Assess process, although this is reviewed on a regular basis. People are
supported to stay there while their needs are assessed and their care
arranged at home or in another residential care or nursing home. Their
needs are assessed very quickly and a sizeable proportion of the people
who are discharged in this way, return home within a week to ten days.

Page 741

staff, as well as being inherently unstable. The larger providers
who have been hoovering up smaller concerns, tend to build
big to maximise economies of scale, even though most people
would prefer to live in smaller cosier, neighbourhood facilities.
There is also some evidence to suggest that large private
chains of homes have been less safe in the pandemic. The
Office for National Statistics report on the impact or
coronavirus on care homes in May to June this year found a
lower incidence of infections in care homes which pay sick pay
and a higher incidence amongst those employing agency
workers and workers who work across multiple sites.
Rather than shrinking the public sector we would like to see
the Council doing exactly the opposite, seeking to take
private providers of social care and support into public
ownership.

Short Break / Respite Services
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond
House, to arrange a short break or an extended short stay depending on
the need of the individual and their family / carer.
All local authority in-house homes offer respite bed places as well as
Richmond House.

3. We are also concerned that the NHS seems to be calling the
shots on what the City Council provides, as we understand
that a proposal was put forward for Richmond House to
continue to provide care, support and rehabilitation but Leeds
Clinical Commissioning Group deemed the costs too high.
Presumably what are regarded as high costs include complying
with the minimum standards embodied in Unison’s ethical
care charter, unlike private providers. The imbalance of power
between Local Authorities and the NHS is reflected in
proposals in the recent Health White paper which seem to
view social care’s primary role as handmaiden to health,
keeping the pressure off hospitals and facilitating speedy

Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social
worker will approach care homes at the time required, and if there is
capacity, will spot commission a short break or extended short stay
depending on need.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds Boundary
within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good, one as
outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14 are CQC
dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and 4 offer both.
There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles of
Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as good,
one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are awaiting inspection.

19

Submission

Raised By

Response
11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are residential and 7 offer both
residential and nursing care.

discharge. It is worrying that the White paper proposes to
relegate the weight of local authority power into subsidiary
ICS Boards and private providers are given significant
opportunity to skew the agenda by being offered seats at the
same table. It is also of concern that that despite the
emphasis on joint working and seamless support between
health and social care there seems to be a degree of
”pass the parcel” going on regarding the responsibility for the
growing group of people with dementia who need substantial
support.

Other options are also available such as community based short breaks, or
a personal budget to arrange a short break that suits the carer and the
cared-for person. This could be through various organisations such as
private home care agencies, charities or community interest companies.
2: The closure of local authority residential provision means that more
people will be directed to private homes

Page 742

As noted above, of the 35 care homes within 5 miles of Richmond House,
24 have a CQC rating of Good and two have a rating of Outstanding.
The 35 care homes are owned by 30 different providers; ranging from
individual owners, small to medium enterprises through to large national
providers. In terms of the size of the homes, 9 have 30 or less beds, 17
have between 31 and 60 beds, and 9 have over 60 beds.

4. We do want to see a radical transformation of social care and
support in which residential care would play a much smaller
part but now is not the time, in the middle of a pandemic to
start rushing into restructuring which can’t easily be undone.
Developing flexible alternatives for independent living and
building inclusive communities where everyone has a access
to a full life needs to be done in full and transparent
partnership with people who use support services, their
families and neighbourhoods and takes time and care. It also
needs to start from what people want and what works best
not from what is the cheapest option.

As detailed in the Leeds Integrated Market Position Statement 2019‐22
the Adults and Health Care Quality Team delivers proactive, targeted
support around providing care to regulated care providers in the city. The
purpose of the team is to improve quality of care for those citizens of
Leeds receiving care in the city as measured against success criteria, such
as the percentage of CQC Good rated care homes, improved feedback
from residents and families etc. Initially working with Care Home sector
the team gives care home providers in Leeds access to a responsive
support and specialist advice and guidance network committed to
improving quality of life for older people receiving care through regulated
services in the city and thence improved CQC ratings and feedback. The

5. We appreciate that the Council is facing gross underfunding
from a Government who have little commitment to public
services and finds it hard to take a stand on its own. However
Leeds is by no means on its own and if all councils bow down
under government pressure, who speaks up for local people?
20

Submission

Raised By

Response
overall quality of independent sector provision in Leeds has been steadily
improving with 83% of all registered provision now rated good or
outstanding.

Strong Labour Councils like ours could put their foot down and
appeal to the public for support. Covid has made many people
realise that the marginalisation of older and disabled people in
our society and the undervaluing of care and support workers,
which is the other side of the same coin is all wrong. This is a
great opportunity to make a stand and insist that we all start
building a better future.

In addition, the Leeds CCG Quality team is an established team within
Leeds CCG that supports the maintenance and improvement of quality in
care homes with nursing beds, through the use of targeted support (in
collaboration with LCC or independently through contract processes).
Quality improvements are also further supported through Commissioning
for Quality and improvement (CQUINs) built in to contracts and
monitored as part of that process, which helps to further incentivise
defined improvements.

Page 743

3: We are also concerned that the NHS seems to be calling the shots
As noted above, the size of Richmond House made the cost per head
prohibitive for investment by the CCG for CCB provision. It does have a
responsibility to ensure value for money in what it commissions.
The Department for Health and Social Care White Paper: Integration and
Innovation: Working together to improve health and social care for all, Feb
2021, provides a basis for further consultation and discussion with
interested or affected groups; and Leeds Adults and Health, the different
political parties in Leeds, and other organisations, will contribute as
appropriate to shape the Health and Care Bill that will be presented to
Parliament.
The Integrated Commissioning Executive has taken a number of reports
which have attempted to model the needs of people with complex
dementia and as a result the following service developments have been
put in place, as detailed in the Leeds Integrated Market Position
21

Submission

Raised By

Response
Statement 2019‐22; NHS development of intensive and responsive
specialist support to care homes, an individualised approach to funding of
care, including transitional support to leave hospital as well as long‐term
funding; and the development of training in ‘leadership in dementia care.’
4: We do want to see a radical transformation of social care and support
in which residential care would play a much smaller part but now is not
the time, in the middle of a pandemic

Page 744

Adults and Health work closely with Leeds Care Association and care
home providers to understand any pressures affecting the market, and
have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to understand impact
of Covid on care homes.
As detailed in the Better Lives Strategy we know from our discussions that
many older people want a wider choice of accommodation and support
options with, as much as possible, support being delivered in their own
homes or in care environments like extra care housing.
It is equally important that we make sure our services can still meet
the city’s changing requirements for care, with more people living
independently for longer and a rising number of people needing
specialist care, such as those who develop dementia.
Adults and Health is therefore continuing to invest in the
development of extra care accommodation and, as outlined above,
to work with NHS partners to model service developments to
support people with dementia and complex needs.

22

Submission

Raised By

Response
5: We appreciate that the Council is facing gross underfunding
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in
October 2020, the key driver for the proposals to close Home Lea House
long stay residential care home and Richmond House short stay
residential care home are due to the Council facing financial challenges
unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.

Page 745

The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget gap in
2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing
financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required to set a
balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals have been put
forward. The proposed closures of the two care homes in question would
make savings annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget
gap identified.
My professional recommendation as the Director of Adults and Health is
that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care homes be
approved for closure, that no further council run care homes should be
put forward for decommissioning. This would mean Dolphin Manor, along
with Knowle Manor (Morley South) and Spring Gardens (Otley and
Yeadon) would be retained in the city as council-run care home provision.
GMB Submission regarding the closure of Osmondthorpe Day
Centre, Richmond House Farsley and Homelea House in Rothwell.
Osmondthorpe

Stacey Booth
GMB Regional
Organiser on
behalf of GMB

GMB have several concerns about the closure of Osmondthorpe
Day Centre, whenever a community provision is lost you will almost
certainly lose customers, out of the 125 customers who were
23

Thank you for contacting on behalf of GMB, with regards to the proposals
relating to consultation on the future of Home Lea House long stay
residential care home, and Richmond House short stay residential care
home. I can also confirm receipt of the petition on behalf of GMB
Members.

Submission

Raised By

Response
Your submission on behalf of GMB will be considered along with all
consultation submissions and the findings of the consultation will be
analysed and a report with recommendations will be presented to the
Council’s Executive Board in June 2021. In the meantime I have
responded on the points your raise in your letter below.

Page 746

accessing the day centre prior to the pandemic only 67 have
registered an interest in alternative provision. The reasons that
management have given us why only 67 have registered an interest
is varied, from shielding to family issues and Health, we asked if the
travelling had an impact, and the management response was that
50% of customers will be travelling more and 50% travelling less.
We also have concerns about the alternative provision in respect of
disability access, Holt Park, Stocks Hill, Calverlands and Wykebeck
Day Centres, are the alternative offer and two of the centres we do
not believe are big enough to accommodate the PI (Physical
Impairment) service, Stocks Hill and Calverlands we do not believe
will have the space for many wheelchair users including personal
care access which must be resolved prior to accepting customers in
the alternative sites. Osmondthorpe was the only provision in an
already deprived demographic in the Burmantofts and Richmond
hill Ward, we think this is a huge loss and having visited the Day
Centre regularly and seeing such a wonderful provision first-hand it
is a sad day to think this facility is no longer part of this community,
it should also be noted that the there is an impact to those who
provided services such as wood making and gardening, many
relationships will have been formed over many years and that
needs to be factored in as the consistency can impact on a service
users mental health and wellbeing.

To clarify, Osmondthorpe Day Centre is not part of this consultation. The
report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in October 2020 regarding
the proposals in relation to Osmondthorpe Day Centre were classified as
Business As Usual, therefore not subject to mandatory consultation, and
this position was accepted by the Executive Board at that time. Under
recommendation (b) of the report Executive Board was requested to
“Note the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect to
them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance
with the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions)”.
Whilst a formal consultation process is not required, conversations with
existing service users at Osmondthorpe day centre in relation to their
individual care and support plans have taken place. In addition, I and
other Senior Officers have met with local Elected Members and the
Executive Member for Children, Families and Adult Social Care and we are
working with them to answer their questions on this matter. They in turn
are seeking the views of local community groups. The points your raise
with regards to Osmondthorpe Day Centre will be considered as part of
the significant operational delegated decision and associated EDCI impact
assessment. In the meantime I have responded on the points your raise in
your letter below.

Industrial Issues
The staff from Osmondthorpe have all been redeployed across the
Adults service; this has caused a lot of anxiety and uncertainty as
the roles are not permanent and their future unknown at least 5
members of staff are just floating in other services. Some staff have
added anxieties about driving across the city and these anxieties
need to be taken into consideration when realigning those staff. We
also have concerns that travel expenses are currently not being paid

Osmondthorpe Day Centre
24

Submission

Raised By

Response
There are 103 people registered with the service at Osmondthorpe, of
which 67 people have to date re-engaged with the service. Other people
are receiving welfare calls and/or a digital offer. As restrictions lift and
people feel more confident we will see more people return to a building
base and/or community group.

as the previous line manager is not at work and nobody had taken
over that responsibility, GMB do not believe this is acceptable on
top of an already stressful situation and we are ensuring that this is
rectified and that when any service change occurs, we do not find
it acceptable that they must wait for additional travel expenses to
be paid. There is concern from both groups of staff; Complex Needs
and the Physical Impairment service about aligning roles and how
this will work going forward, there will be a mix of pay grades and
an uncertainty about if their roles will change. We would like the
management team to prioritise the future for the service to relieve
some anxieties.

People registered with the service live across Leeds, therefore some
people may travel further whilst others travel less as they choose which
services and activities they wish to attend; this tends to be with friendship
groups.

Page 747

Homelea House
The decision to propose closure of a residential care home that has
a current good CQC rating overall and outstanding for care is a
travesty, the alternative LCC provision in Rothwell is Dolphin Manor
which scored good overall but required improvement on safety
when previously inspected, Dolphin Manor only has 9 current
vacancies and 16 customers current live in Homelea, we are
informed by management that the families are already requesting
a place at Dolphin Manor and we have concern that not all families
will have a place for their relative. We know there is considerable
opposition to this closure in the community and it is not surprising.
We are wholly opposed to the closure of Care Homes especially in
the middle of a pandemic, the crisis in care is widely publicised and
the pandemic has shone another light of public vs private when it
comes to managing a crisis. 84% of all care homes are in the private
sector now, the sector is now so heavily fragmented created by the
2012 Health and Social Care Act that it was always going to a
logistical nightmare when having to respond to a pandemic, when
run by the local authority you can regulate and provide a consistent
approach. When you allow too much customer choice you remove

Stocks Hill is used by the Pottery and Art Groups and the service has an
accessible toilet facility. Calverlands has a registered Changing Place
facility and a sizable extension built at the back of the building. Health and
Safety risk assessments are reviewed to ensure suitability of any building
base to be used for services / activities proposed to operate from them,
along with the EDCI Assessment to consider impacts and mitigations for
all those affected by the change in service delivery.
Wykebeck complex needs centre is council run and is 1 mile away from
Osmondthorpe day centre. There are also local Neighbourhood Networks,
along with other charitable and community group organisations.
The Workers Education Association provided groups/activities and when
guidance allows will be providing these groups at the other building bases
including Holt Park Active.
The services and activities that people attend are linked to the goals
within their individual support plans, and we will continue to work with
people to ensure these goals can be met. When guidance allows, the
25

Submission

Raised By

Response
organisations that provide services and activities will be providing these at
the other building bases.

the ability to monitor effectively. If only all the money handed out
to Serco for a disastrous test and trace system had been distributed
to the NHS and Local Authorities, and then there was the PPE
scandal which ultimately caused unnecessary deaths. Whenever we
are about to lose a public care provision, we sigh a deep sigh as we
all know that once it has gone it is never coming back. We urge the
authority to rethink this decision.

Page 748

Staff at Osmondthorpe
The management team is currently working closely with the Day
Opportunities staff to engage them in shaping how the service will look
moving forward. All staff have been extremely flexible with some staff
covering the critical services, these staff will begin to return to their
substantive roles as the number of customers attending services
increases. The aim is to ensure staff have a substantive base and
minimum travel where possible. The difficulty with staff claiming
expenses has now been resolved and briefings have been delivered to
support staff with the self-service function. There is no intention to
change job descriptions or pay grades but to support staff to work to
these as effectively as possible. Priority and time is being given to the Day
Opportunities service to ensure that staff feel supported and included in
the future developments.

Richmond House
This was the least surprising to see on the executive board paper as
the GMB have been raising concerns over many months/years with
management that numbers within the home have been kept low to
justify any potential closure and although we cannot evidence this
it is a belief all the same. There is no other provision within the
locality and customers will have to travel a lot further to access
future care in either the East or South of the city. The provision
allows for high quality respite when leaving hospital prior to
returning to their home. The home has had over 100k spent on
renovation only a few years ago including new windows, decorating
and a new heating system and has a very good reputation in the
community. GMB as above would urge the authority to reconsider
this decision.

Home Lea House
Provision at Dolphin Manor
Dolphin Manor (35 beds) is the larger of the two homes and the building
is suitable for dementia provision which is why it attracted CCG
investment for the proof of concept short term dementia care. Home Lea
House by contrast is not suitable for dementia provision.

Industrial Issues at Homelea and Richmond House
Some staff have applied for ELI in the knowledge that the closures
of these homes are looming, some have taken the opportunity to
leave early as it is their wish to do so but some tell us that they have
applied as they do not want to be deployed elsewhere and travel
further and start a whole new role elsewhere. The worry about
alternative work when your workplace is proposed to close is huge
even when given assurances that alternative work will be sought as
we live in an uncertain economic climate and this worry cannot and

In addition, in terms of life expectancy and renewal costs, Home Lea
House is a substantially older building than Dolphin Manor, with a shorter
remaining asset life which will require significant capital investment in the
near future in order to bring the building and facilities up to an acceptable
26

Submission

Raised By

Response
standard that complies with current legislation and supports continued
use as an intermediary care facility. Dolphin Manor is currently
performing as intended and requires only minor improvements.

must not be underestimated. We will support our members
through this process but want the authority to recognise the
upheaval placed upon those front-line workers who have been at
the forefront of a pandemic whilst worrying about contracting the
virus and taking it home to their loved ones, it is so sad that instead
of commending their work they are having to consider either
leaving a role they have worked in for years or move across the city
to keep their job.

Option to move to Dolphin Manor
As the closest alternative in-house provision, Dolphin Manor has 35 beds
and on average achieved 67% occupancy during 2020-21. Home Lea House
has 29 beds and currently has 16 residents.
The service have received two enquires to date from relatives of residents
at Home Lea House about availability at Dolphin Manor. Those relatives
are happy to wait until the Executive Board decision in June, and should
the decision to close go ahead, they understand the need for a social work
re-assessment at that time.
The Leeds CCG commissioned 10 beds at Dolphin Manor to trial discharge
to assess short term care for people with dementia as a proof of concept.
This will have concluded by the time any Home Lea House residents may
be looking to transition there.

Please accept this submission on behalf of GMB members and
representatives and the wider community we serve.

Page 749

In addition, we know from previous closures that some residents choose
to move closer to their family, also that upon assessment some residents
needs have changed and they require a move to nursing care provision.
Should the recommendations to Executive Board in June post consultation
be for the closure of Home Lea House, residents and their families / carers
would be fully supported by the assessment and transition social work
team, in accordance with the Care Guarantee, to ensure they choose an
alternative home that meets their individual needs.
Care Home Market

27

Submission

Raised By

Response
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in
October 2020, the key driver for the proposals to close Home Lea House
long stay residential care home and Richmond House short stay
residential care home are due to the Council facing financial challenges
unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the financial impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.

Page 750

The Executive Board report in October report highlighted a budget gap in
2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing
financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required to set a
balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals have been put
forward. The proposed closures of the two care homes in question would
make savings annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget
gap identified.
Adults and Health work closely with Leeds Care Association and care
home providers to understand any pressures affecting the market, and
have continued to do so throughout the pandemic to understand impact
of Covid on care homes.
As detailed in the Better Lives Strategy we know from our discussions that
many older people want a wider choice of accommodation and support
options with, as much as possible, support being delivered in their own
homes or in care environments like extra care housing.
It is equally important that we make sure our services can still meet
the city’s changing requirements for care, with more people living
independently for longer and a rising number of people needing
specialist care, such as those who develop dementia.
28

Submission

Raised By

Response
Adults and Health is therefore continuing to invest in the
development of extra care accommodation and, as outlined above,
to work with NHS partners to model service developments to
support people with dementia and complex needs.
Independent Provision
The need for residential homes is decreasing within Leeds and where this
resource is required to meet people’s needs, there is a well-developed
independent sector care home market. Following concerted work by the
Council’s Care Quality Team from 2017 the number of residential care
homes rated good or outstanding is now 83%.

Page 751

There are 13 independent care homes within 5 miles of Home Lea House (not
including Dolphin Manor). 7 offer residential care, 6 offer residential and
nursing. 1 home is CQC rated Outstanding, 8 rated Good, 4 rated Requires
Improvement. Those rated Outstanding or Good total 501 beds. 7 of those
rated Outstanding or Good are listed by CQC as offering specialist Dementia
provision.
My professional recommendation as the Director of Adults and Health is
that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care homes be
approved for closure, that no further council run care homes should be
put forward for decommissioning. This would mean Dolphin Manor, along
with Knowle Manor (Morley South) and Spring Gardens (Otley and
Yeadon) would be retained in the city as council-run care home provision.
Richmond House
Leeds has a range of services to meet the needs of people who require
some type of intervention to either support them to reach their optimum
29

Submission

Raised By

Response
with therapeutic and recovery focused support to return home or to
undertake an assessment to support their longer term needs.
Richmond House provides short stay residential care and respite
provision. The CCG commission citywide Community Care Beds for
rehabilitation. Adults & Health previously reviewed whether Richmond
House could offer CCB provision, however the size of the home made the
cost per head prohibitive. The CCG will be reviewing their commissioned
service in the next 18 months but at present have commissioned 238 beds
across the city and are content that they have sufficient resource available
to them.

Page 752

In addition, the NHS have provided temporary funding to the CCG to
support hospital discharge during the pandemic. The CCG have used this
funding to commission a number of community beds (nursing and
residential) across the city, and as part of this Discharge to Assess process,
currently 97 beds although this is reviewed on a regular basis. People are
supported to stay there while their needs are assessed and their care
arranged at home or in another residential care or nursing home. Their
needs are assessed very quickly and a sizeable proportion of the people
who are discharged in this way, return home within a week to ten days.
All are citywide services, with beds offered to individuals and their
families / carers based on those closest to home and also the particular
needs of the individual. Over the last three years, 11 individuals from the
Farsley area (with postcode LS28 5) attended Richmond House. For the
wider LS28 postcode area over the same time period 37 individuals
attended. This is out of a total of 196 individuals admitted citywide in that
time period.

30

Submission

Raised By

Response
The closest commissioned Community Care Bed service is Green Lane
Intermediate Care Centre in Armley, with 49 beds, which is 5.5 miles
away.
Short Break / Respite Services
There are currently 6 people who access the respite service at Richmond
House, to arrange a short break or an extended short day depending on
the need of the individual and their family / carer. All in-house care homes
offer two or three respite beds.

Page 753

Respite beds are not commissioned as dedicated beds, instead a social
worker will approach care homes at the time required, and if there is
capacity, will spot commission a short break or extended short stay
depending on need.
There are 21 care homes with a total of 932 beds in the Leeds Boundary
within 5 miles of Richmond House. 16 are rated as good, one as
outstanding and 4 are awaiting an inspection outcome. 14 are CQC
dementia registered. 15 are residential, 2 are nursing and 4 offer both.
There are a further 14 homes with a total of 723 beds within 5 miles of
Richmond House but outside the Leeds boundary. 8 are rated as good,
one as outstanding, 3 require improvement and 2 are awaiting inspection.
11 are CQC dementia registered. 7 are residential and 7 offer both
residential and nursing care.
Other options are also available such as community based short breaks, or
a personal budget to arrange a short break that suits the carer and the

31

Submission

Raised By

Response
cared-for person. This could be through various organisations such as
private home care agencies, charities or community interest companies.
Building Maintenance Work
Since 2018, there has been significant capital and revenue spend on
Richmond House, in order to carry out essential maintenance works to
ensure the building remains “wind and watertight” and suitable for the
people residing there. This has included some larger works such as a new
lift and replacement windows at Richmond.

Page 754

Richmond House is 50 years old (built 1971) and falls within the Grade B
category which indicates stock condition is satisfactory and performing as
intended but exhibiting some deterioration. Further long term capital
investment in the region of £300 to £500k will be required to bring the
building and facilities up to a good standard in order to comply with
current legislation and support continued use as intermediary care
facilities. Existing mechanical services are in need of attention to prevent
major break down of the plants associated items along with upgrades to
the electrical installation, wind and weathertight items and associated
building works. Additionally the cost for full refurbishment is estimated to
be £1.7m which far outweighs the spend in recent years.
Staff at Home Lea House and Richmond House
The commitment and quality of care provided by staff at both homes is
acknowledged. I also fully acknowledge that hearing that your workplace
is being consulted on for closure can create uncertainty and worry.
As outlined in my first letter to advise staff of the recommendations to
consult on the closure of Home Lea House and Richmond House in
October 2020 ahead of Executive Board, I also feel it is important that
32

Submission

Raised By

Response
staff are made aware of the recommendations directly from me and at
the earliest opportunity. Keeping staff informed and involved is expected
as a good employer. It is also integral in helping to provide a greater sense
of security on the part of customers.

Page 755

Staff have used their experience and expertise in helping to
coordinate the consultation process by assisting service users and
their relatives to understand, consider and take-in the information.
Managers have arranged one to one sessions with the residents and
their relatives, and with staff, using the consultation survey to
identify any impact the proposed future changes may have on
individuals. This is much appreciated, it will help us to manage and
reduce these impacts where possible, and I’m sure I can rely on
staff’s ongoing professionalism and commitment to our residents.
The programme will work closely with Trade Unions to ensure
employee matters are given high priority and regular meetings with
trade unions have and will continue to take place. Nothing will
happen suddenly or unexpectedly, either for staff or for residents
and we will continue to work with Trade Unions to support affected
staff through this process.
I write on behalf of Carlton Village Neighbourhood Forum to
register an objection to proposals that threaten the closure
of this Residential Care Home in Rothwell.
Scrutiny of the most recent CQC report for this home
together with other local homes reveals that Home Lea
House is in the very top tier of performers in our area and

Jacqueline
Rooney on
behalf of
Carlton Village
Neighbourhood
Forum

33

Closure proposals
As outlined in the report to Leeds City Council’s Executive Board in
October 2020 and at the Outer South Community Committee Meeting on
the 15th March 2021, the key driver for the proposal to close Home Lea
House long stay residential care home is due to the Council facing

Submission
Raised By
that in terms of caring for its residents it is rated as
outstanding. With this status in mind, it is hard to accept why
this particular home is being identified for closure other than
purely on financial grounds. Logically one would hope that
closures should be directed at less well performing facilities.

Response
financial challenges unlike anything in the past, and in addition, the
financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which is unprecedented.
The Executive Board report in October 2020 highlighted a budget gap in
2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is due to the ongoing
financial impact of Covid-19. The council is legally required to set a
balanced budget therefore, a number of savings proposals have been put
forward, including one for the proposed closure of Home Lea House Long
Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and the closure of Richmond
House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley, making savings
annually of £1.531million as a contribution to the budget gap identified.

Page 756

A report authored by the LCC Director of Adults and Health
points to the assessment that the building is less new than
the other home in Rothwell. However Home lea has the
benefit of ensuite facilities and is specifically configured for
the type of resident that it accommodates. Dolphin Manor
which it is understood has less bespoke facilities was subject
to closure itself some time ago and local opposition was
instrumental in negating this action. This does not appear to
be strategy that the local community can have confidence in.

Quality of Care
The high quality of care and support provided at Home Lea House is
recognised and acknowledged. It is the staff group that has helped the
home gain its good rating and we hope to retain the staff and redeploy
them into other council services so their good practice is not lost.
The need for residential homes is decreasing within Leeds and where this
resource is required to meet people’s needs, there is a well-developed
independent sector care home market.

The report also highlights changes to models of care citing
the requirement by residents for increased independence.
This is a laudable aim and will certainly benefit residents who
fall into a category where sustainable levels of independence
are possible. However, more dependent patients surely
require a more intensive and constant caring service such as
that made available at Home Lea.

There are 14 care homes within five miles of Home Lea House, including a
Council-run home, that are CQC registered as Outstanding (1), Good (9),
and Requires Improvement (4). Of the 10 homes that are rated as Good or
Outstanding, six offer residential care, four offer both residential and
nursing care. Eight of the homes are listed by the CQC as offering
specialist Dementia provision.

The idea that a top quality bespoke well run home should be
subject to the proposed action, with the potential to divert
patients to a home not specifically designed for the types of

34

Submission
dependent resident living at Home Lea is wrong and short
sighted.

Raised By

Response
If a recommendation for closing Home Lea House was made and
approved, no-one will have their care taken away or their level of support
reduced.

The provision of homes for dependent people is very
important and something that local demographics and
medical trends suggest will need to enhanced and not
reduced.

Quality of the Building
Dolphin Manor is a single story building with small kitchenettes and
lounges leading from each corridor giving a homely feel. People are able
to live and dine in smaller groups as opposed having meals in a large
dining area with 29 other people. By comparison, Home Lea House is a
two storey building with three large communal living spaces and a large
dining room away from the bedrooms. It is more difficult for people to
live in small friendship groups because of the layout of the building.

Page 757

It is important that within a local community there is a
robust provision in respect of this type of care, especially
recognizing local demographics which show that the number
of people in the community above the age of 65 is
considerably in excess of the figure for Leeds as a whole and
above the average figure for England (Source Leeds
Observatory). It therefore appears to be short sighted in the
extreme to remove a facility of clear quality from an area
with a population where demographics suggest an ever
increasing requirement for its services.

There are en-suite facilities to most bedrooms at Home Lea House
(Dolphin Manor does not have en-suite facilities), however, they are small
and not fully accessible (not large enough to accommodate a wheelchair).
The environment at Dolphin Manor lends itself to supporting people with
dementia and additionally has an exit from the living area on the garden
space. It is the larger of the two homes and is suitable for dementia
provision, which is why it attracted investment from Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) for a “proof of concept” short term dementia
care pilot. Home Lea House by contrast is not suitable for dementia
provision.

The local nature of such facilities is also considered
extremely important and a home where residents are still
within the body of the community is a valuable consideration
and makes it less likely that people, requiring the care the
home provides, might have to be relocated to other areas.
This must surely be something that residents appreciate
notwithstanding access for family and relatives etc. If there is
one thing that the last year has made clear it is that this type
of provision is very much needed and services of this type

Home Lea House (built 1964) is a substantially older building than Dolphin
Manor (built 1987) with a shorter remaining asset life which will require
significant capital investment in the near future in order to bring the
building and facilities up to an acceptable standard that complies with
current legislation.
35

Submission
must be retained notwithstanding the pressure on local
authority budgets.

Raised By

Response
Dolphin Manor is currently performing as intended and requires only
minor improvements. The property condition report for Home Lea House
and projected component life expectancy and renewal costs indicate
more substantial investment would be required which may be
uneconomical given the remaining asset life.

A report by the Director Adults and Health prepared for a
forthcoming meeting of the Outer South Committee
establishes the reasons for the proposed closure of Home
Lea House and notwithstanding purported changes to
models of care and financial considerations, the age of the
building is cited as a reason for the action to be taken. Surely
it is the quality of the care provision that is paramount.

Page 758

Capacity of alternative provision
The 10 care homes rated as Outstanding or Good within five miles of
Home Lea House total 501 beds. Occupancy at care homes can vary from
week to week: as of 11th March 2021 occupancy rates at those homes
ranged from 44% to 95% with an average occupancy of 79%. The council
has two residential care homes situated in Rothwell, Dolphin Manor has
35 beds and on average achieved 67% occupancy during 2020-21.

The model of care argument within the aforementioned
report is understood, but not fully accepted and while a
strategy that maximises independent living facilities is
welcomed, the question of those with greater dependency
and requiring the present model of care is not very clearly
addressed. The suggestion is that Dolphin Manor in Rothwell
is an alternative option of provision. It is not long since that
Dolphin Manor was identified for closure, but which due to
local opposition was retained and it is therefore difficult to
have long term confidence in such a strategy.

The Rothwell ward area has an oversupply of residential care provision by
120 beds. The Council’s Extra Care Supply & Demand Model calculates
anticipated future demand for residential, nursing and extra care
provision, taking into account proposed population changes to 2028 at a
ward level, and suggests there is sufficient capacity of alternative good
quality provision.
Delivering new housing-with-care provision in line with the current and
future demand is one of the key drivers of the Better Lives Strategy (which
is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support needs) and
Adults & Health continue to work alongside the Housing Growth Team to
identify suitable sites for extra care housing of which there is an
undersupply, and also with Health partners and independent care sector
providers for the development of more nursing care for people with the
most complex needs where, again, there is an undersupply.
36

Submission

Raised By

Response
In January 2019 Leeds City Council appointed a delivery group made up of
Ashley House Ltd, Morgan Ashley LLP and Home Group to deliver four
Extra Care schemes on Council owned sites in Leeds including Windlesford
Green in Rothwell. The Windlesford Green Scheme will deliver 64 units of
Extra Care housing with anticipated start on site in June 2021.

Page 759

Dolphin Manor
As discussed at the recent Outer South Community Committee meeting
on 15th March, my professional recommendation as the Director of Adults
and Health is that should Home Lea House and Richmond House care
homes be approved for closure, that no further council run care homes
should be put forward for decommissioning. This would mean Dolphin
Manor, along with Knowle Manor (Morley South) and Spring Gardens
(Otley and Yeadon) would be retained in the city as council-run care home
provision.

37

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3c: Consultation Petitions
Home Lea House petition – online comments
Petition · Prevent the closure of Home Lea House, Rothwell. · Change.org
Total signatures - 1248
Number of comments – 139
Comments:
More elderly in society means more not less homes like this. Not everyone can live independently,
a caring society and City (LEEDS) knows this and provides.
Why am I reading recent updates on numerous housing developments within Rothwell then
reading that the council intend to close this amazing care home! This is the second one they have
tried to close in recent years! The population of Rothwell is growing so where do they intend for
us all to go when we reach an age where we depend on these services?! I know I would want to
remain in this area where I was raised and where I’ve raised my children! Absolutely despicable of
the Council!
This is a lovely place to live the staff are great and the cook is always baking buns, what is up with
these people who want to close homes like these.
We know there is inadequate provision in the private sector and it is a total folly for the Labour
Council to continue close public services when there is inadequate provision elsewhere. They did
this at The Green in Seacroft decimating dementia provision. As an independent councillor I am
very happy to sign this. It’s a ridiculously short term view.
I’m signing because !! Whoever took the decision to close is a C**T !!
They think Covid will be a smokescreen for them, absolutely disgusted
We do not want Home Lea to close down
How can closing Home Lea solve the care crisis in this country?! Ridiculous! Incomprehensible! My
grandma was cared for here in her final years. More homes need to be provided by Leeds City
Council, not fewer!
This place has been home to many local residents it is a disgrace that anyone would think of
closing it
It’s not fair that people homes where they are settled and looked after and you are going to
unsettle them all just because u want to close it leave it open
The home is needed by many people. Closing will affect them, their families, the staff and the
local area.
We need care homes more than ever
I know a lot of people want this to stay open
People deserved to be looked after in fabulous care homes such as Home Lea! Where is the
council proposing they go?
This care home has provided excellent care for the elderly in this area for many years and it
closure will mean another essential service closed for the most vulnerable in our community.
Shame on those responsible who think this can be just sold off.
A lot of elderly people have lived in Rothwell and when the time would come where they need to
be cared for I'm sure they would certainly wish to stay in their local village and be near family and
friends.I know I would if it came to this.
Moves are detrimental to the health of elderly residents especially during a pandemic
We need care homes at all times x
Where are the elderly going to live and get together with the rest of the elderly residents. All the
council want to do is cut back on everything

1

Page 761

I'm signing this as this is a group of people's home, we are a community so sick together and
remember morals
It needs to stay open
My friend's mum is here. It's a lovely home and well run. Feels like all the big consortiums are
taking over and losing that family friendly touch
We need more elderly care places, not fewer, and the short-sightedness of LCC is dangerous.
If it is closed what happens to the residents. Let’s think about them and not budget cuts. They
elderly deserve the best. They are what makes a family and country whole
I am signing because this home means so much to friends and family, good nursing homes are
hard to find and we need to keep them open
The closure of this home is a backward step and needs rethinking!
Vulnerable people need to be protected
Not enough homes, stupid to close this one
I'm old myself and this sounds like somewhere I would like to go
To maintain local provision of 24 hour care for those who need it.
Protect the elderly and vulnerable
Because LCC think they can treat our elderly and vulnerable with contempt and get away with it.
We need good homes
My auntie is a resident here and has settled in so well
My dad stays there for respite care. It's so important for our family
My dad was cared for at home lea. The staff were lovely and gave me and my family reassurance
he was safe.
Save our elderly care as it’s needed so much.
My mum has advanced dementia and not long in the near future I will probably have to make the
heart wrenching decision to put her in a home. Good nursing homes are hard to find and shutting
them down is absolutely ridiculous. We need more good homes like these to stay open
We are an ageing population and need more homes like this rather than shutting them. Find other
areas to save money
My grandma was looked after there and clearly there is a shortage in this country of residential
care for the elderly. Should be expanding provision not closing homes!
Only heard good things about this home.
Care homes provide a vital service that is needed more than ever due to an ageing population. We
need more not less.
There should always be care homes for vulnerable people
we need homes like this in our area please do not close Home Lea House
Don't take their home from them. The care of these vulnerable adults should come well before
budget cuts.
My Mum is a resident at Home Lea and she is very settled there. It has an outstanding CQC report
and fabulous staff. After being isolated for so long due to covid, it’s the worst thing that could be
happening to them at this time. We must fight this closure.
I had a dear friend whose mum was a resident here. Local homes for local people need to remain
part of the community.
My father in law is here, happy and settled, he has lived in Rothwell all his life, this will be a huge
upset if he has to move elsewhere.
My grandad is happy and settled here
I signed because not only is it the most stupid idea ever under present circumstances, I’m sure
they could find other areas within their own organisation that wastes our hard-earned money to
make cuts.
Would be a shame to close.
It is a fantastic home best in the area would be sinful to shut it.
2

Page 762

It is a needed residence in the area.
As it’s taxpayer funded, I as a taxpayer say no to its closure.
My grandma is a resident!
This is a well-run home leave it alone if the council stop putting asylum seekers in motels that will
more than pay for the home
I don't think they should close any care homes as we need them to protect our elderly people and
their families also more people will lose more jobs and we have lost enough places and jobs
already
Too many care homes are closing down and they are needed more than ever. My dad only spent a
few months in a home before he passed away but I remember him saying that he wished he had
done it much sooner because he wasn’t so lonely there.
It’s their home.
Home Lea House is a valuable community asset and should be kept open
We need more homes for our elderly
I think it would be very unfair to close it down.
Please keep it there
I know of 2 people who received excellent care here. It is a vital place in the community and to
close it would be a disgrace. These are people not just numbers.
There needs to be council funded care homes for those not fortunate enough to have £££££ set
aside or a house to sell to pay for a place in a private care home, where money comes before care
I care
This is part of the heritage of Rothwell.
Why is it always the elderly to suffer. They've paid all their lives, this is their home. Don’t take it
away from them
Because our elderly need more homes like this one. There is no need for it to close at all
There are other areas Leeds City Council could make savings but elderly care should not be one of
them. With an increasing population of older people, this is exactly the area we need to be
spending on long term future goals putting people before profits. Where do you expect those
residents to go? Please consider the impact on the local community there in an already
challenging time ahead and the residents in their last few years if life.
We need this care home.. Too many are closing in an ageing population. It’s not good business
sense at all.
We should be building more care homes not closing them. What are the residents supposed to do
?
Home Lea is a much needed home in this area, staff are great, would be awful to lose such a
caring home
Leeds City Council have forgotten those that they serve. They should hang their collective heads in
shame
We love Home Lea.
I have worked here whilst the home I worked at was getting renovated and the staff were so
caring not only about their residents but about their staff also .. it's like one massive family vibe &
they do loads of fund raising so they can take them on trips out ... please do not shut this home,
just think of the residents being isolated because of covid19 & now they’re losing home/family
/friends if you close this home. You’re making a massive mistake and we will see a lot of deaths
but not to covid19 but to broken hearts...
I may need this lovely care home myself in the future
Closing a lovely care home where so many happy people live is ludicrous! These are people not
piles of rubbish that can be just moved on with no care or thought for the trauma and upset it will
cause.

3

Page 763

Home Lea has been there for all my life the staff are amazing and this is a vital service for our
elderly. Closing this place would be devastating for staff residents current and the future. Look
after our elderly and the people who care for them
A vital local resource.
This home has been there for years, it’s people’s home, needs to stop open
We need care homes in the area. Why close an excellent facility that is giving outstanding service
Disgusting, Leeds City Council has the best care
They were amazing with both my grandma and grandad. They are wonderful and a much needed
service for our community.
I have someone in this home and it’s a lovely place, he’s settled. This damn country, government,
council NEVER learn. It’s more homes we need with more investment and facilities. For gods sake
stop ripping everything and everyone apart
I visited there as community nurse. The staff were a brilliant..
When i worked as a community staff nurse many years ago this was a fantastic place. The staff
were outstanding. It will be tragic for the residents to loose there home and their families
Leeds city council has closed down too many homes already Home Lea is the only home left in
Rothwell for the local community.
This is a beautiful and well looked after care home also is part of the Rothwell community.
It's short sighted to close council run care homes.
My father is in home lea and he loves it it would be a massive shame to close now
Some years ago Leeds City Council declared that they wanted to be "The" dementia friendly city in
the UK. The way this announcement has been made, hidden away,under the news of today is
shambolic. People are living longer, more are being diagnosed with dementia,and more will be
requiring the specialist care needed. Familiarity and routine are important to those with
dementia, especially as many have not seen family for many months, any move now will certainly
have an impact on their well being.
My sister here and just settled in after losing her mum after living with her for 70+ years, please
don’t take her safety net away
This home has been part of Rothwell for as long as i can remember there are never enough places
for the elderly were they can feel safe in there elderly years so why close down a good thing that
they have and upset the residents in there later years
Good care homes & staff are very few & far between unlike private care homes that are more
interested in making money than actually caring about their residents.
One if the best care homes in Leeds. Put care before money.
It’s important.
This is their home.
That’s the easy option. Think harder.
It’s an essential part of Rothwell community
South of the Aire also needs residential care.
The residents have contributed all their life and now the Councils are effectively stealing all their
input. The government just want to euthanise the elderly and keep reducing funding!
I lived in Rothwell for much of my life and my parents still live there. I remember going to Home
Lea to do school concerts and seeing the care the residents received. To rip them from the place
they are comfortable and where they feel safe is disgraceful. Never forgetting the families, you
will destroy as they watch their loved ones crumble or (staff) lose their jobs. This is not about one
issue, it’s about a myriad. Hang your heads in shame for treating people like this!!
Nooo! People who now live there depend on the security and support provided by Home Lea. An
enforced removal of vulnerable elderly people who will be confused and even more devastated
through the lack of contact with family and friends. It does not bear thinking about and would be
the ultimate betrayal
4

Page 764

We cannot afford to lose such a vital and well-loved service
It would be a real shame to see such a wonderful place closed. Many people rely on these to keep
family local and well card for. Its one of the better care facilities in Leeds.
It’s just not the time to close care and support venues and homes
My Grandma lives here.
My grandma is in this home, it’s the happiest she has been in years and she has met some lovely
people. Why do this to these residents who are settled, cared for exceptionally by amazing carers?
Too many homes for the elderly are closed with little consideration of the consequences for the
residents they care for! Please do not close this care home in Rothwell
Residents should not be part of any "Budget Plan" ...it is their Home ...Please do not let this
happen ..
This home is lovely, the staff are amazing and it would be such a loss for the lovely residents that
live there it’s there home :(
Supporting friends who have family in this lovely local care home
People’s lives should not be part of a "Budget Plan" ...
Supporting family
Home lea house provides a vital local service
My sister Laura Harwood is a resident there
It should not be closing, we need more not less nursing homes
Rothwell must continue to provide a safe environment for our elderly community. I don’t
understand the rationale for the proposed closure but I know that this is a much needed service.
Why would you close it, just don’t
They elderly need to be taken care of and this home is a wonderful part of our community.
Please do not close
We need local care homes for the local elderly people
Care homes are needed in this community!
We need places like this in our area for our elder family members
My nan is is there and she is very settled and well looked after by all staff
This is a valuable part of the community and is much needed
Extremely needing this in the area. Why do they have to do this, or is it all about the money again
for the council?
This is a vital local service
Home Lea provides exceptional care for our community
This wonderful home is a large part of the community and needs to stay
My Aunt spent her last happy years in Home Lea House. This is a vital service for the Rothwell
community. We need Home Lea House, there is always a waiting list for places demonstrating a
need for this service.
Care homes are needed more than ever this has always been a good place
This is a lovely care home and it’s amazing for the community to help our vulnerable
Because it's needed
Home Lea is a wonderful home for elderly residents we shouldn't be losing such a vital service
This is vital to the older people in this area.
Care homes are needed now more than ever. The staff obviously care for their residents. Budgets
can be easily cut elsewhere.
During the current problems we should be supporting those with dementia and their families, not
trampling on them.

5

Page 765

Richmond House petition – online comments
Petition · Proposed closure of Richmond House in Farsley · Change.org
Total signatures - 1178
Number of comments – 90
Comments:
We need Richmond House, especially in view of the Pandemic
We need to look after our elderly
We’re signing because my mum stayed here. It’s such a community building- with fabulous
personal care
I’m signing because it is a wonderful local service. My grandma was looked after there, such high
standard of service
My Mum was cared for wonderfully by the staff after having a hip operation. A vital service both
for the residents and local community.
This is crazy it is a well-used home and a step up to people getting back to their own independent
living after an illness or fall.
Moving frail, elderly people at any time, is traumatic and particularly in a pandemic - distressing
for residents and their families.
A friend of mine had a short stay in this care home after being placed there from hospital after a
fall at home. She made great progress with her rehabilitation while there and was able to return
home successfully in a planned way with carers. Many more people need to get back home in this
way instead if being put in private care homes subsidised by the Council.
A vital service both for the residents and local community.
Want to save Richmond House
It's the only Council run local one with a good reputation
Richmond house provides much needed care and respite to the elderly. Instead of closing all these
facilities we need to be supporting them and keeping them open. Some of these people will have
been there for years and having to move and get used to change will be so stressful for some of
these poor people!
Cutting back facilities doesn’t create job and doesn’t help the local community. The government
can do better then closing this place.
These homes are needed and those there I feel be very upset to move
This place is so needed for our elderly as LCC have closed most of the others, it’s a good place for
rehabilitation to get people back into the comfort of their own homes.
Because it needed in the community
I care
My grandad stayed here and they don't a fabulous job!
This is a vital resource for the local area which is needed for supporting the most vulnerable and
should not be closed.
You can’t just close it, where do the elderly go? To strange places they don't know, they will die
from upset. Like a member of my family did
Much needed facility for local people.
Try to keep all good care homes open. Communities need them.
This is a fantastic facility run by people who really care about the vulnerable people in our
community.
It's a valued part of Farsley
It’s a much needed service, especially in these times

6

Page 766

I want to see our community built on and our older people looked after. Not everything closed
and demolished!
We really do need this, in fact we need more places like this!
No care home should be closed
its a disgrace that you are trying to close Richmond House once more.
We need more care homes for the elderly not less.
It's a lovely place of retired of the elderly
There aren’t enough care facilities as it is. This needs to stay open for the community who need
the services it offers.
Residential and care homes are needed more than ever with an ever-increasing ageing population
Elderly people need safe local places to live in comfort the life they deserve
So many Farsley and Pudsey residents rely on Richmond House, it is needed!
Residential homes are essential part of the community, especially for those unable to be cared for
by relatives. 'Care from the cradle to the grave' was a slogan we're familiar with and wish to see it
lived up to.
I'm from Farsley and can't bear the thought of this closing unnecessarily.
My grandma lives in a care home and if hers was made to close lots of people would have
nowhere to live
This is short sighted in every aspect and everyone will agree we all get older discriminative to say
the least
The people deserve the best care possible in our area.
This is a great care home and heart of Farsley community.
This facility is essential for the wellbeing of the local community.
Now more than ever these facilities are desperately needed to help the elderly and their families
My friend was in Richmond house for months after an operation, the staff provided excellent
care. This is short sightedness on Leeds city council If it was not for places like Richmond House
offering care for those that need it, people would end up staying in hospital for longer periods,
bed blocking, which in the end would be more costly.
My friend was in Richmond house for months after an operation, the staff provided excellent
care. This is short sightedness on Leeds city council If it was not for places like Richmond House
offering care for those that need it, people would end up staying in hospital for longer periods,
bed blocking, which in the end would be more costly.
It is much needed to care for our elderly population. Please LCC why are you aiming to close this
and the one at Rothwell? We are living longer and we need a place for our increasing older
population that will otherwise have to take up a place in hospital as they cannot afford private
care.
Richmond House provides high quality respite and short term care and assessment for elderly
people. It was purpose built and has a spacious and comfortable feel which gives residents dignity
and care.
Richmond House is a valuable asset to the are fabulous staff and care
Just think Councillors, you might need it yourselves one Day. You can destroy the City Centre and
spend over £20m doing it and at the same time say you have no money for such as this! Lies, all of
it.
Richmond House has cared for many people over the years. It should be allowed to continue its
work! We are losing too many of our much needed Care Homes
Especially at this particular time this closure makes no sense whatsoever. The wellbeing of
residents must be first priority not money.
We need more places like this not less
This facility is needed in the area to cut down on travel for elderly family and friends. It is well
located with good transport links and parking
7

Page 767

This is upsetting people’s lives, especially the elderly!
This is a much needed, and loved, care home, locally used and a local asset.
Our elderly are not disposable
We need our elderly to be safe in their home. There are far too few good ones and this deserves
to stay open
It’s paramount to have this facility for the local people
This is a very valuable asset within the community.
It needs to be saved for the older generation in the community
My dad was in there and it’s a vital service that can’t be lost
It's a ridiculous, short sighted idea.
We need to keep places like this open – wonderful place and one of the best in my opinion looked after my dad amazingly
Richmond House provides an excellent service to those who need it.
Its been there many years and used by patients all over Yorkshire it will be very sad if this closes. I
have many a memorable day there visiting from school n the harvest festival
And the staff provide such care. Don’t let it close. .
This service is needed now more than ever
Was very convenient when my mother in law needed respite care
Does so much good for the community
It’s much needed, for the residents it gives them hope and reassurance they will be cared from
We need this resource in our area. My dad would have been lost in the system when he came out
of hospital a few years back.
We need to keep this in our community it is a great help for people in their time of need.
It offers a vital service to the area and was a blessing when my father was ill with Parkinson’s
giving my mum the much needed respite
I think its disgusting they are wanting to close this place
We need this home to remain a home
Very important to the local community
Farsley needs Richmond house
There are too many closures of homes. More are needed.
Simply I think it's disgusting that you’re taking this home away from the elderly who have most
likely lived most of their lives in Farsley. You should be ashamed of yourselves, corrupt idiots
We have lost too many valuable adult social care services. Let's not reduce services provided by
statutory services to zero, we are failing the vulnerable in our society.
This is a much needed resource for the area
Leeds city council have just scrapped a clean air zone vanity scheme at a cost of millions but when
it comes to looking after the elderly “we’ve got to cut costs”
People of Farsley depend on this home so they can stay in the village they’ve been all their lives,
which is everything, Farsley is more than a place to live, it’s home and memories
This is a lifeline to patients recovering they need the transition from hospital to home especially if
theres no one there when they get home
I object to this fantastic local provision being decommissioned - it is the only local respite care
available and is desperately needed.
We need to retain local services for local people
Because we need this home it's a community resource that Leeds City council have failed to
promote
This home was a life saver for us when we needed it for my mum who had Parkinson’s. Lovely,
homely and caring staff. Not just left to sit in a chair. We loved going to visit.
The elderly a soft target, time we stood up, enough is enough.
Our elderly needs one where safe to live.
8

Page 768

GMB Petition – 390 signatures
Submitted as an exported PDF
Comments
So disappointed that it has got to the point of cutting homes for older people. The system is
broken.
Solidarity from Leeds TUC.
Care facilities are our lifeline.
We have seen how great the private sector is. Low pay, long hours and lack of necessary kit and
little scrutiny or accountability.
Solidarity to one of my favourite cities.
The last thing to go is not the lights, it’s the care homes. Stop it!
For the good of our communities, Leeds Trade Unionists should support the GMB.
We are in the middle of a pandemic and have a proposal to close care homes for the most
vulnerable people in society, it is wrong and we need to stop accepting the funding cuts imposed
on local authorities by fighting back.
Labour Councillors do not make cuts in my name as a Labour Party member and Trade Unionist.
We need to publicly fight against cuts. I am a member of Leeds Labour Representation Committee
and we will support any Trade Unions and campaign groups organising against cuts.
The private sector is not fit for purpose. The closure of the OAP homes in Leeds was the Council’s
worse decision ever.
Our elderly have given so much, when it's time to give a little back you can't just say no and forget
what they have given. Disgraceful Leeds. I know the twits in London pull the strings, so push for a
united Yorkshire to hold your own purse strings and tell London to get lost.
I worked in older people’s services for many years and have seen the impact of closing people’s
homes where they feel safe and supported by people they have come to see as family. It is
devastating.
Care homes have been hit far too much, they should be supported and protected.
We must protect our local authority communities before they are stripped bare. Private sector is a
business run purely for shareholders pockets.
Leeds needs these essential services, please avoid closures.
This is very sad to hear, it is always the vulnerable and elderly that suffer! The elderly that have
worked hard all their lives to be treated like this and the staff that have cared for them
throughout this pandemic now face losing their jobs, it's very disappointing.
I am disgusted, closing the homes.
We need to look after the customer and take care of them. If they move from one home to
another they will possibly pass away.
Not the right time!! Never the right time!!
Whoever has decided the closures should hang their heads in shame. It’s always the elderly and
the most vulnerable that takes a hit.
Devastating news. What has happened to duty of care?
We need council care homes. Too many closing, for the residents and staff.
Keep them open.
I'm at one of the facilities - worked tirelessly through this pandemic on the front line putting
myself and family members at risk, sacrificed so much of myself willingly and with loyalty by
completing lots of extra Covid related duties and restricted myself from going anywhere and
doing anything other than work and home in an effort to keep my customers safe only to be told
that a proposal of closure has been submitted to the executive board. I then read in the tabloids
that 600 jobs are to be axed - so how do I and my colleagues feel right now??
9

Page 769

betrayed...…...worthless...….. used...…. for many of us this is not the first time we have faced this
awful situation.
Let's all sign and stop this from happening.
Very sad, great service and staff.
Keep the care homes open.
Decisions made by people wealthy enough to never feel its consequences.
We need care homes for our vulnerable people. They need to feel they have care and support
and be around people to give them some life.
Keep open, the governments shut everything down.
Devastating.
Everyone needs to sign this to stop closures.
It’s disgusting that they always pick on the most vulnerable people in society and they always get
away with it. We need stick together to protect them.
Everyone needs to sign this to stop closures.
It’s an absolute disgrace the closure of the homes.
It’s ridiculous that these care homes are being threatened with closure, especially in these chaotic
times, where care homes are invaluable.
It would be devastating if it was your mother or father who was having to undergo such a
traumatic experience. Older people can't cope with changes like this. If it was the case that the
Council had decided to renovate the properties, that could be done incrementally, with support
from staff. If they wanted to close the care homes, the Council should phase them out, gradually
over time.
There is nowhere for the elderly to go if government is closing homes down. It's always elderly
that has to suffer.
I totally agree with GMB stance on this matter.
Appalling.
Don’t close them.
Stop closure of the 3 care homes.
The passion the adults and young people show throughout this pandemic in the nursing homes
has not shone as much as it should have. A massive shout out for the legends who were left
behind. Keep fighting for justice, every one matters, love and happiness will defeat the
bugs!!!!!!!!!!!
My sister works in one of these care homes and all the hard work for the residents in protecting
them from Covid whilst maintaining the standard of care they provide, whilst living with the
increased risk themselves, they should be rewarded for their efforts. This does not feel right.
Appalled to hear this news. C19 has been the excuse to dismantle so many services of care and
NHS.
Disgraceful.... Do the vulnerable in our city not count as citizens of our city.
Those older people need to be kept in their home especially as we are in Covid.
It's upsetting to see this sort of thing in this day and age.
Hope all the front line service’s staff who make a difference to the people of Leeds can get
through this uncertain and difficult time and can in time have a bright future to look forward to.
We need our care homes. Please consider the consequences if we shut our homes down. Some
elderly people use this as their comfort zone. Please be considerate.
Homes are important for people who don’t have family to care for them.
We need these facilities to help take the pressure off the hospitals.
It’s a disgrace.
Disgusting.
We need these care homes for vulnerable elderly people. It’s imperative that they stay open.
Stop closure of care homes.
10

Page 770

Absolutely stunned. Why is it always the vulnerable that are penalised at a time when residents,
staff and families have enough worries?
LCC have to claw back this deficit. It is a worrying time when much needed care homes become a
target for austerity measures. These are front line provisions and the workers are doing a much
needed service. Please allow them to continue in their posts; LCC you must reconsider.
Keep these places open and stop privatising care places. It's not a business, it’s about CARING.
LCC should be protecting the vulnerable.
We don't need more homes closing.
Care homes are important.
We need these homes, so why do you need to shut them. It's not right when you are shutting
down. Where are people going to go?
I work in one of these buildings and I feel as though the money is more important than the
PEOPLE that work there and most importantly the poor unforgettable PEOPLE that live in them,
the ones that think they won’t have to move again when they are settled and have trust in the
PEOPLE that support them and the PEOPLE that the only family they have are the ones that
support them and that they live with. PEOPLE’S mental health is not even taken notice of as when
these PEOPLE have to move they will become only a shell and probably will be thinking “when will
I have to move again?” So they will not be able to settle and relax. Anyway rant over as no matter
what is said or done no one listens or even cares.
What's the point of anything if our final years are unhappy. It's more important we safeguard our
elderly and ensure they benefit from their own contributions.
Absolutely disgusting!!!
There are not enough decent care facilities and resource centres around these days to provide the
care and support these people need anyway. Absolute disgrace!
It's easy to fall out of society, not easy to get back in and with that is a much higher cost to be
paid, both personal and loss of economic activity.
Appalling.
Disgraceful. We are still working through this pandemic. Coming to work to care for the
vulnerable putting our own health at risk and the health of our own families.
Just where do they think these people are going to go. Generally elderly and vulnerable people do
not like change of any kind.
Must be saved.
Really bad.
Services for our elders and vulnerable citizens need to remain as for a lot it is their only human
contact that day.
They are the only care homes I would trust with my relatives, the rest are just money grasping
institutions.
A travesty! With this government it’s always the vulnerable who suffer!
It’s sad to hear this.
This is disgusting. The old and vulnerable need looking after. How can they justify closing homes
down.
It is disgraceful that yet again the elderly and the vulnerable are cast to one side to save money
along with dedicated staff set to lose jobs. Everything should be done to stop this. You have my
support.
These care homes should be the last places the Council should look to save money by closures,
surely it’s a civilised society’s duty to provide decent adequate care to residents of Leeds.
It's a shame that the Tories are treating our elderly like this. Some have been through wars, paid
their taxes and national insurances, to be now slapped in the face. The government really needs
to hold their heads in shame.

11

Page 771

We can't afford to lose any more care homes. Where are the elderly supposed to live out their
lives. They will have worked all their lives and end up getting pushed all over the place.
My mum has been a devoted care worker for Leeds City Council for nearly 30 years.
I have worked in dementia for twenty years and with LCC they won't stop until they’re all closed,
after all elderly people can't fight back.
All LCC want to do is save money again. Not considered the residents who live there and once
again they have the money to waste on Leeds city centre work. Just not fair.
Outrageous.
Been out there from day one of lockdowns from Covid-19. I don't think and feel like I've been
appreciated. I am worried and concerned about my working future and income, my mental health
has also suffered due to worrying, but I'm still here working hard for LCC.
My mother is in a nursing home. The waiting times for places are agonising, worrying about your
loved one being safe.
We need to protect our vulnerable people.
We need these to look after our parents and grandparents to know they are safe and cared for.
Care homes will be required in the future after this pandemic is over and if we start losing them
now, we will increase the care crisis in the longer term.
My late grandma worked at Richmond House, Pudsey for many many years. You can't shut it
down, it's a much needed home that is usually to full capacity.
I agree wholeheartedly, far too many homes and facilities have been shut down over the past few
years, leaving the elderly and the vulnerable sad and confused. You have my backing all the way.
Stop this barbaric treatment to our elderly.
It’s disgusting, our elderly and vulnerable need support, shutting down care homes is appalling.
We need to support all staff and service users.
Keep council carers.
I think we are seeing the true face of Conservative, caring yet again!
This cannot be right! What are the cared for and carers supposed to do? My lovely late Grandma
lived at Richmond House and couldn't have been treat better, keep these homes open!
I have elderly parents and if they were to need to go in to a care home, it would not be in the local
area of Rothwell where they live, and have friends and family.
Been there myself, when they closed the home I work in. It’s not a nice thing to go through,
hopeful that won’t come to that for them.
These care establishments are where I live, this effects lots of people in my community, this
cannot be right, outrageous!!!
Years of Tory cuts to local authority funding has brought about this crisis in care facilities.
For staff this will be devastating financially and the mental health impact for staff and for service
users.
The Tories clearly do not care about the elderly, vulnerable and hard working public sector
workers.
We need these homes for our residents who get the best care that they deserve.
You have already lost the Labour seats in Rothwell and won’t get them back making moves like
this.
Don’t be foolish.
Shut the Houses of Parliament. They don't do anything apart from sitting around and be given
bonuses for doing jack.
I acknowledge the LA's financial pressures but also recognise the importance of homes such as
these play in caring for the vulnerable in our society.
This should not be happening, typical of of Tory rule.
The elderly in these care homes are in the midst of a pandemic, they now should not be losing
their homes.
12

Page 772

LCC front line staff have risked their lives to keep these people safe, so we need to fight to keep
their jobs.
Why would the Council sell their care homes when there is an intensive demand to house older
people and those with disabilities? This in the long run will add additional pressures to local
authorities’ service in the future, also jobs will be lost in the process. What will happen to tenants
and occupants who have had to use these types of facilities prior awaiting discharge for health
reasons.
Need to keep all care in house not for private profit.
Sad times.
LCC must demand emergency funding from the Tory government. Our local authorities have been
starved of funds for too long! End austerity now.
Why is Richmond House care home proposed for closure by Leeds City Council while they are still
funding services for people leaving hospital and awaiting reassessment and review of their care
plans in private care homes? This out-sourcing and privatisation should stop in order to save
money and preserve the community facilities for rehabilitation and recovery of Leeds people.
I feel the decision to close at such an unprecedented moment in time is harsh. Keep the Council
facilities open! It is so important to keep valuable public services operating.
We need these homes.
Where will vulnerable people who need these amenities go. How much has the government spent
on Serco?
This is such a remarkable facility which is not available in many parts of the country. It would be a
tragedy to lose it.
What a way to treat frontline staff after risking their lives to care for some of the most vulnerable
people in society. I know the pandemic has had an effect on everyone, but to potentially lose your
livelihood at any time is devastating. I hope that GMB fight this all the way.
Devastating news for so many in the elderly and disabled community. Really hope these care
homes and Osmondthorpe HUB can stay open. Very sad for residents, service users and staff!
I have been working in this care home for the past 2 months and cannot believe they are going to
close it. The elderly need looking after and this place is fantastic for them, they are all happy and
content here.

13

Page 773

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration (EDCI) impact assessment
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment.
This form:
• can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment
• should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion
of the assessment
• should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable
Directorate: Adults and Health

Service area: Care Delivery: Care
Homes
Contact number: 0113 3764269

Lead person: Sarah Buncall

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:
10th May 2021
1. Title: Adults & Health Service Review 6 – Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post
Consultation Recommendations Report

Is this a:
X

Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Members of the assessment team:
Name
Organisation

Shona MacFarlane
Debbie Ramskill
Sarah Buncall

LCC
LCC
LCC

Role on assessment team
For example, service user, manager
of service, specialist
Deputy Director Adult Social Care
Head of Service, Care Delivery
Project Manager

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 775

1

3. Summary of strategy, policy, service or function that was assessed:

Proposals are that Home Lea House long stay residential care home in Rothwell, and Richmond
House short stay residential care home in Farsley are closed.
If a decision is made to close the two care homes, the long stay residents at Home Lea House will
be supported to find alternative suitable, quality, accommodation that meets their individual needs.
This will be carefully planned and carried out professionally, sensitively, and safely, in accordance
with the Council’s Care Guarantee.
Everyone who receives a service at Richmond House either returns to their own home, is
supported to bid for rehousing or moves to longer term care. Average length of stay is three and a
half weeks. The Adults & Health social work teams would support and facilitate appropriate moves
for people with the assessed level of care package.
Those who use the homes for planned respite would be supported to ensure this provision can be
continued in a new location suitable to meet the individual’s needs.
The programme would continue to work closely with all affected staff and Trade Unions with a view
to retaining and redeploying staff into other council services, so their good practice is retained.
This paper outlines the Equality Impact Assessments that have been carried out in the context of
these proposals to ensure that they do not unfairly impact on people from the different equality
groups. It has been completed as a parallel process to the consultation on the proposed changes.

4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment
(complete - 4a. if you are assessing a strategy, policy or plan and 4b. if you are assessing
a service, function or event)
4a. Strategy, policy or plan
(please tick the appropriate box below)
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes

The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes and the supporting
guidance

A specific section within the strategy, policy or plan
Please provide detail:

4b. Service, function, event
please tick the appropriate box below
The whole service
(including service provision and employment)
EDCI impact assessment

X
Template updated January 2014

Page 776

2

A specific part of the service
(including service provision or employment or a specific section of
the service)

Procuring of a service
(by contract or grant)
Please provide detail:
This EIA will consider and assess the impact of the options for:
•
•
•
•
•

Current long stay residents at Home Lea House
Current users of respite provision at the two care homes
Family / Carers of the service users outlined above
Future service users in relation to both care homes
Local Communities in the affected areas

A separate EDCI Assessment is completed that focuses on organisation change and potential
impacts on equality characteristics of the affected staffing workforce.
This EIA is intended to support the decision-making process by:
• Identifying the potential positive and negative impact of any changes/ decisions on
each protected characteristic.
• Setting out actions to minimise/ mitigate any adverse impacts.
Proposals have been subject to Equality Screening and this concluded that the proposed options
will potentially give rise to equality impacts particularly by those older and disabled people, their
families and carers, whose home is currently provided by the in-house service. Staff will also be
affected, particularly women who make up a high proportion of the affected workforce.
Should agreement be given to progress with the proposals, an implementation plan will be
developed in line with the Assessment and Closure Protocol. This would show how any closures
would be managed over the timescales and how residents, relatives, and carers, and staff are to
be supported to safeguard human rights and minimise distress and maximise the benefits to
individuals. This will relate particularly to the monitoring arrangements in relation to the proposed
changes.

5. Fact finding – what do we already know
Make a note here of all information you will be using to carry out this assessment. This
could include: previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception
surveys, equality monitoring and customer/ staff feedback.
(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information)
Leeds Demographics
Leeds is the second largest Metropolitan District in England with a population of 793,000. The city
is growing, between 2009 and 2019 the population of Leeds grew by 6.6% with those aged 65+
increasing by 13.6%, and the city is predicted to grow by 50% over the next 20 years.
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 777

3

Since 2011 there has been a disparity between the Office of National Statistics (ONS) population
estimates for the city (785,000 people) and GP registrations (846,000). The greatest variance in the
population numbers is found in the most deprived communities (particularly for the male population
of these areas) which requires further investigation1.
The population continues to age, with the over 65+ age group projected to grow by another 15,000
(+13%) between 2016 and 2026, with the biggest growth in older men which presents new
challenges. The number of people aged 80+ in the same timeframe is also set to grow by almost
5,000 (+15%). Latest estimates show an increase of the over 65+ age group to 154,052 (18%) by
2043.2
Higher numbers of older people live in the city’s outer areas, although this will change over the
coming years because of having a far more ethnically diverse older population, a greater number of
who live in inner-city areas.
Demand for universal and preventative services for older people is expected to continue to grow, in
line with the ageing profile of the city’s population (in particularly people age 80+) and as such our
investment will be maintained in the medium to long term in this area. In respect of dementia, given
likely increases in prevalence, continuing success at diagnosis and connecting people to support,
this is likely to be either a steady market, or for there to be growth, particularly after 20203.
Leeds is now home to over 130 different nationalities. 99,000 (12.5%) of the Leeds population were
born outside of the UK. The 2011 Census estimated that 18.9 per cent of the total resident
population comprised people from black and minority ethnic communities (including Irish and other
white populations), a rise of 8 per cent from the 2001 Census.
Stonewall, the lesbian, gay and bisexual charity, estimates that large cities such as Leeds with an
established gay scene, businesses and support network may be made up of at least 10 per cent
lesbian, gay and bisexual people.
For the first time, the 2021 Census gathered local level information about the proportion of the
population that identifies as lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender which when published
(estimated summer 2022) will help organisations to combat any inequalities these groups may face
and show where services are needed.
Leeds population broken down by religion or belief is 55.9% Christians, 5.4% Muslims, 1.2% Sikh.
0.9% Jewish, 0.9% Hindu, 0.4% Buddhist other religion 0.3% and 28.2% no religion or 6.7% not
stated.
The number of people requiring help with at least one activity of daily living (ADL) increases for
those aged 65 years and over. In 2016, at ages 65 to 69 years 19% of people needed help,
whereas at ages 80 years and over 43% of people needed help4.
As of 2020, Carers UK estimates there are around 13.6 million people caring through the
pandemic.
The most recent census (2011) indicated that there were 71,598 carers living in Leeds. This means
that around 1 in 10 of the population of Leeds are providing unpaid care, which is broadly in line
with both regional and national averages. The latest projections provided by Carers UK suggest
there are now around 74,000 unpaid carers in Leeds. Based on national projections we expect that

1

Microsoft Word - Appendix A - IMPS v5 FINAL 9July2019 - formatted.docx (leeds.gov.uk)
Subnational Population Projections for England, 2018-Based
3 Microsoft Word - Appendix A - IMPS v5 FINAL 9July2019 - formatted.docx (leeds.gov.uk)
4 Principal projection - England summary - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
2

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 778

4

around 24,000 people a year (65 people per day) in Leeds will take on a caring role, with a similar
number ceasing their caring role5.
Whilst the peak of the population of carers is between 50 and 64 years of age, almost 1.3 million
people in England and Wales aged 65 or older are carers6.
The number of people in Leeds with a dementia diagnosis recorded on GP registers (end March
2019) is 6,423. NHS England publishes estimates of dementia prevalence for each NHS Clinical
Commissioning group – this is derived from research into age-related risk, plus population data. It
is designed to show approximately how many people are living with dementia, whether diagnosed
or not. The estimate for Leeds (end March 2019) is 8,327 people aged 65+; numbers aged under
65 are harder to estimate but may be 300-400 people.
The number of people living with dementia has been almost level for the past two decades.
Contrary to the expectation that increasing life expectancy means increased dementia prevalence,
the evidence from the Cognitive Function in Ageing Study is that the increase in older people has
been offset by improved population health. Despite this, dementia is the biggest single cause of
female death in the city and demand for dementia diagnosis and early/preventive support has still
increased since 2012. This is because of increased public awareness, improvements to the
diagnosis pathway and the imperative to reduce waiting times.
It is likely that the number of people with dementia, and demand on services, will start to increase
from the early 2020s as the wider trend of the city’s ageing population continues. As the
baby‐boomer generation grows older there will be a range of implications for service provision, not
least because of a far more ethnically diverse older population.
There are relatively small numbers of people with more complex needs in dementia; in recent years
service providers have noted an increase in these numbers, and concerns have emerged for
people unable to leave hospitals because of difficulties finding long-term care. ‘Complex needs’ is a
broad definition which includes, unmet emotional and psychological needs which can cause
distressed behaviours such as agitation and aggression; and/or the combination of dementia and
physical frailty as people live longer with several long-term conditions. The local care economy has
struggled to keep pace, given funding and recruitment challenges. This, more than absolute
numbers of people with dementia, is proving the important issue to address.
For c. 90% of people with dementia, it is found with other long-term conditions. However, it is
traditionally a clinical specialism within mental health services, and there are important connections
between dementia strategy and mental health strategy, in particular: the ‘co-morbidity’ of dementia
with mental health conditions, especially depression and anxiety, and meeting NHS standards for
treatment and response for crisis services and acute hospital liaison services.
The 2016 Health Survey for England found that in the least deprived areas, 22% of people aged
over 65 years needed help with activities of daily living. But in the most deprived areas, 43% of
people did7.
Of the people estimated to be living in the 10% most deprived areas of Leeds, 26% (nearly 48,500
people) are aged 50+, 11% (20,500 people) are aged 65+, and 1.5% (2,800 people) are aged 85+.
Many citizens in the over 65 age group continue to contribute to the economic prosperity of Leeds
and the social fabric of its diverse communities. This is reflected in the number of people who
continue to work beyond 65 either in paid employment or as volunteers. 15.5% of people employed
in Leeds are aged 65 years or older. As noted above, the over 65-year-olds who act as informal or
family carers also play an important part in our society.
5

Microsoft Word - Appendix A - IMPS v5 FINAL 9July2019 - formatted.docx (leeds.gov.uk)
facts-about-carers-2015.pdf
7 Health Survey for England, 2016 - NHS Digital
6

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 779

5

Over the last five years, the Lloyds Bank UK Consumer Digital Index has used the behavioural data
of 1 million people and interviewed almost 7,000 consumers, to create the UK’s largest measure of
digital capability. This year finds that an estimated 7% of the UK population are still offline and 9
million struggles to get online by themselves8.
Healthwatch Leeds report Digital Inclusion in Leeds: How does it feel for me, Autumn Check In, Oct
20209 provides valuable insights into the need for consideration of digital inclusion in ensuring
access to health and social care services.

Research
The Better Lives strategy is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support needs. Previous
reports to both Executive and Scrutiny Boards as part of the Better Lives Programme have
documented how the aspirations of people with care and support needs have changed over time
and that there is a strong and increasing desire to remain living in one’s own home for as long as
possible. As such a key aspect of the Better Lives strategy has been a continuous review of the
Council’s in-house services for older people with the focus being on how they meet both current
expectations and crucially how they can contribute to maximising people’s independence, recovery
and rehabilitation in the future.
Previous reviews as part of the Better Lives Programme phases 1, 2 and 3, have evidenced that
demand for traditional forms of residential care for older people have continued to reduce with a
switch to greater demand for models of care that provide housing-with-support such as extra care
housing. This has meant that between 2011 and 2016 a number of in-house care homes closed.
In addition to the above, the EDCI considers data from the following:
• Key strategies and policies relating to the proposals, including the Better Lives
Strategy, Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and the Best Council Plan 2020 – 2025.
• Quantitative information relating to the profile of current residents and carers.
• Quantitative information relating to the profile of alternative provision.

Consultation
As above, previous phases of the Better Lives Programme which have seen the closure of care
homes have included detailed consultation and equality impact assessments, which have been
considered as part of this assessment.
For these proposals, detailed consultation has also been carried out, and the Consultation Findings
Report has been considered as part of this assessment, available as Appendix 3 of the Executive
Board report.

Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information.
Please provide detail:
Adult Social Care, where possible, will obtain equality information around the profile of each
resident and determine the likely impacts given that profile. Due regard will be taken of this
information during the implementation phase, should these proposals be agreed. A review of the
impact will also be undertaken post implementation, considering any impact on equality groups.

8
9

Understanding digital exclusion – 100% Digital Leeds (wordpress.com)
Digital-inclusion-report-October-2020.pdf (healthwatchleeds.co.uk)

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 780

6

Action required:
As above subject to a decision to close the two care homes:

•
•

Obtain full equality information around the profile of each affected resident and determine
the likely impacts given that profile.
Review any identified impacts post implementation.

6. Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to
be affected or interested
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
Detailed consultation on the proposals took place between 4th January and 26th March 2021. The
aim of the consultation was to consult with those directly affected and as a priority the existing
residents of care homes and their families and carers. Detailed consultation also took place with
affected staff and Trade Unions, and with related stakeholders within the locality, including elected
members and partner organisations and with the wider local community of the affected areas.
As part of the consultation a questionnaire has been used to capture responses to the proposals.
The aim was to:
• Capture people’s responses to the proposed changes
• Determine the impact on individuals and how this might be reduced as plans are
developed.
The findings from the consultation are outlined in full in the Consultation Findings Report appended
to the Executive Board Report.

Action required:
Ongoing engagement with all affected stakeholders will continue to take place throughout the
process. This will include:
• Inform all affected stakeholders of the recommendations in the report to Executive Board
following consultation.
• Inform all affected stakeholders of the outcome of the Executive Board decision.
Should the decision be taken to approve the recommended closure of the two care homes this will
also include:
• On-going engagement with service users / families and carers as part of Assessment and
Transitions including reviews post transition to alternative provision.
• Consult with Trade Unions, Hold Preference Meetings, make Deployment Decisions, Staff
notified of matches and meeting held to discuss options (if no match) as part of the
Managing Staff Reductions (MSR) Policy.
• Other Employment Opportunities within LCC – Continual refreshing of information,
signposting of other employment opportunities / roles to staff at risk
• Ongoing tracker updates to wider stakeholders and elected members as appropriate.

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 781

7

7. Who may be affected by this activity?
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers
that apply to your strategy, policy, service or function
Equality characteristics
X

Age

X

X

Carers

X

Gender reassignment

X

Race

X

Sex (male or female)

X

Sexual orientation

X

Other

X

Disability

Religion
or Belief

(Other can include – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, and those
areas that impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and wellbeing)
Please specify:
The following provides an overview of the relevance of the proposals to the equality characteristics
and where identified, action to mitigate any impact should the proposals be approved.
Age: The long stay and short stay provision at the care homes predominantly are for older people
of the 65+ age group.
Action to Mitigate:
• Ensure that the assessment and transition to alternative provision is carried out in
accordance with the Council’s Care Guarantee and Assessment and Protocol, which are
developed in consideration of the needs of older people and people living with dementia.
• Ensure that the assessment and transfer is managed by a qualified team of social workers
who are fully conversant with the needs of residents, including people with dementia.
• Ensure the transfer process follows government guidelines to ensure any move during a
time of increased transmission of Covid is safe.
• Family members to be involved in the transfer process including the choice of an alternative
provision.
• The continued wellbeing of people who had moved into new services to be monitored by
reviews after three, six- and 12-months following transfer.
Carers: The proposals will impact upon those carers who access the respite service provision at
each of the two care homes.
Carers and families were involved in the consultation process and supported to identify their needs
to allow them to continue supporting their cared for. This engagement will continue throughout any
implementation of proposals, and the Council will seek to identify changes which promote
independence and choice and facilitate support for carers
Action to Mitigate:
• Social work teams who currently support people to access respite provision at the affected
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 782

8

•

care homes to undertake a review of anyone who has been affected so that planned respite
can be continued in a new location suitable to meet the individual’s needs.
Carers / family members to be involved in the assessment and transfer process including
the choice of an alternative provision.

Disability: By the nature of the residential long stay care home provision, residents at Home Lea
House are older people and have impairments associated with ageing.
The current service offer at Richmond House is short term care and support to people who require
a period of recovery following a hospital admission. The service also offers support to people from
the community to prevent hospital admission. As such, people with temporary impairments will also
use the service during a period of recovery as well as those with long term impairments.
Actions to Mitigate:
• Ensure that all residents and affected service users are supported to find suitable, quality
alternative provision that meets their individual needs.
• The council will continue to consider how it can play a role in ensuring the need for
specialist provision in key areas is met. This includes ensuring the increasing need for
dementia services and intermediate care is met.
Sex: Statistical data of current residents at Home Lea House suggest that the service has a high
proportion of female residents. Richmond House service users over the last three years are an
even mix of male and female.
Action to mitigate:
• Suitable alternative provision will be provided to people irrespective of, but with respect for
gender specific needs and this will be taken into consideration in any needs assessment.
Race: No specific issues have been identified in relation to race.
Action to mitigate:
• Suitable alternative provision will be provided to people irrespective of, but with respect for
race specific needs and this will be taken into consideration in any needs assessment.
Religion or belief: No specific issues have been identified in relation to religion or belief.
Action to mitigate:
• Suitable alternative provision will be provided to people irrespective of, but with respect for
religion and belief, and this will be taken into consideration in any needs assessment.
Sexual orientation: No specific issues have been identified in relation to sexual orientation.
Action to mitigate:
• Suitable alternative provision will be provided to people irrespective of, but with respect of
their sexual orientation, as this will be taken into consideration in any needs assessment.
Gender reassignment: No specific issues have been identified in relation to gender reassignment.
Action to mitigate:
• Suitable alternative provision will be provided to people irrespective of, but with respect of
their gender reassignment, as this will be taken into consideration in any needs
assessment.
Socio-economic Status: The socioeconomic status of those affected is not known (see Any Gaps
section above).
Action to mitigate:
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 783

9

•

Suitable alternative provision will be provided to people irrespective of, but with respect of
their socio-economic status, as this will be taken into consideration in any needs
assessment.

Financial Exclusion (poverty): The financial exclusion status of those affected is not known (see
Any Gaps section above). However, during consultation some respondents raised concern about
the financial impact of the proposals.
Action to mitigate:
• The Council is committed to ensure that no individual is disadvantaged because of the
proposals. The Care Guarantee would be used to give assurance that where the Council is
currently contributing towards a resident’s care home fee there will be no financial detriment
to the resident or carer/family in choosing a new care home from the Council’s quality
framework list. Any proposed transfer to a care home not on the Council’s quality
framework list will be considered on an individual basis and may incur a top-up fee. The
Council will not pay any non-care supplement relating to enhancements that a care home
may offer (such as a larger room).
•

Respite beds are means tested so there is no cost difference between LCC and
independent placements. Only respite stays that are commissioned and used are funded
unlike Richmond House.

•

Carers / family members to be involved in the assessment and transfer process including
the choice of an alternative provision.

Unemployment: The unemployment status of those affected is not known (see Any Gaps section
above).
Action to mitigate:
• As per above.
Residential Location: Concerns were raised about the impact on the ability of family / carers to
visit relatives easily within their local community should the homes be closed, and that closing the
homes would limit people’s choices of quality provision in their local area and could lead to
insufficient provision compared to demand in the future.
Mitigation action:
•

As detailed in the Executive Board report research analysis evidences that there is a range
of good quality alternative provision within the local communities affected, within 5 miles of
the current care home address, and within 5 miles of the next of kind addresses of
residents at Home Lea House. Based on supply and demand analysis of residential care
provision in the city currently and to 2028 in line with forecast population growth of older
people, there is an oversupply of residential provision.

•

In respect of the short stay provision at Richmond House, as detailed in the Executive
Board report there is sufficient citywide community care bed provision along with various at
home services to meet the needs

•

Other options are also available for those seeking respite services, such as community
based short breaks, or a personal budget to arrange a short break that suits the carer and
the cared-for person. This could be through various organisations such as private home
care agencies, charities, or community interest companies. The council also provides a
Shared Lives Service which provides a more homely approach to the provision of respite
services.

•

Support all those affected to transfer to suitable alternative provision that meets their

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 784

10

individual needs, and the needs of their family / carers.
Family Background: The family background status of those affected is not known (see Any Gaps
section above).
Action to mitigate:
• Suitable alternative provision will be provided to people irrespective of, but with respect of
their family background status, as this will be taken into consideration in any needs
assessment.
Skills or Education: The skills or education status of those affected is not known (see Any Gaps
section above).
Action to mitigate:
• Ensure ongoing engagement is offered through a variety of methods and not just online
channels.

Stakeholders
X

Services users

X

Partners

X

X

Employees

Members

X

X

Trade Unions

Suppliers

Other please specify
Potential barriers
X

X
X

Built environment

Information
and communication
Timing

X

X
X

Location of premises and services

Customer care

Stereotypes and assumptions

X

Cost

X

Consultation and involvement

X

Financial exclusion

X

Employment and training

X

specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function
• Capacity of Independent Sector

Please specify
Built environment: Older people, people with physical disability or people living with mental health
issues are likely to find changes more difficult to cope with both physically and mentally in terms of
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 785

11

changes in routine and to their care needs. The built environment may dictate some of these
changes.
Mitigating Action:
• An assessment of every service user will be undertaken in accordance with the
Assessment and Closure Protocol and the recommended ways to minimise stress factors
will be put in place.
Location of premises: The alternative services people move to may have an impact on those who
have lived at the care home or used a particular short stay or respite service for a considerable
length of time, and who have long established links to the local area. Residents may have strong
friendships and be fearful of the impact of the proposed changes on their lives, and whether they
are able to maintain the relationships they have established. It may also impact on carers and
relatives and whether they can maintain regular visits due to any potential greater distances to
travel and associated costs.
Mitigating Action:
• Focus on local alternative provision and consider methods of ensuring continued contact
between people, in line with the Assessment and Closure Protocol.
Information and Communication: Some residents may not be able to make their own decisions
or may need one-one help in understanding the proposed changes. Some people may not be able
to access online methods of communication.
Mitigating Action:
• Clear and timely communication to all residents and family / carers, particularly regarding
information about alternative provision.
• Independent advocates will be available for those who need one.
Customer Care and staff training: Staff will play a lead role in understanding the concerns of
residents and service users, helping them understand the proposed changes and helping them
make the right decisions for themselves.
Mitigating Action:
• Provide appropriate support to staff through awareness raising events.
Timing: Many residents and their family / carers said during the consultation that they did not want
to move to a new care home at this point in their lives. The move to alternative provision is a
process that some may feel takes too long or too short a time accordingly to their particular needs.
Some respondents to the consultation felt that the proposals were poorly timed during the Covid-19
pandemic.
Mitigating Action:
• An assessment of every service user will be undertaken in accordance with the
Assessment and Closure Protocol and the recommended ways to minimise stress factors
will be put in place.
• Ensure that nothing happens suddenly or unexpectedly and that moves to alternative
services take place in a timescale that those affected are comfortable with in accordance
with the Assessment and Closure Protocol.
• Ensure moves to alternative services are in line with any national and specific guidance
relating to safe transfers during Covid.
Cost: Family carers may be reliant on the home for respite from their caring role, and so may need
to make other arrangements, which could involve additional costs. There is a risk that the changes
to care provision could increase social inequality among older people as some users may be
financially worse off because of a move.
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 786

12

Mitigating action:
• Ensure alternative provision is available and bookable in advance to meet carer and service
user needs including consideration of at home services.
• Ensure that a full benefit and financial review is undertaken as part of the service user
assessment to ensure any financial detriment with respect to the care costs is negated in
keeping with the Care Guarantee.
Consultation and Involvement: Some residents may not be able to make their own decisions or
may need one-one help in understanding the proposed changes. Some people may not be able to
access online methods of communication.
Mitigating Action:
• Clear and timely communication to all residents and family / carers, particularly regarding
information about alternative provision.
• Independent advocates will be available for those who need one.
Stereotypes and assumptions: Assumptions may be made in connection with residents and
service user’s needs.
Mitigating Action:
• A full reassessment of all service users and carers will be undertaken by qualified social
workers to ensure that current, individual needs are properly understood.
• Individuals and their relatives/carers will be supported by their managers or a dedicated
resource to seek appropriate alternative services following a reassessment of their needs
and will be given comprehensive information on cost, quality and all alternatives in order to
make an informed decision.

Financial exclusion: See Cost above.
Employment and training: Some service users, family / carers may feel that travelling to
alternative provision may impact on their working hours or training opportunities.
Mitigating Action:
• Individuals and their relatives/carers will be supported by their managers or a dedicated
resource to seek appropriate alternative services following a reassessment of their needs
and will be given comprehensive information on cost, quality and all alternatives in order to
make an informed decision.
Capacity of Independent Sector: Some residents, family / carers responded that they felt the
proposals would result in a lack of capacity in alternative provision.
Mitigating Action:
• Individuals and their relatives/carers will be supported by their managers or a dedicated
resource to seek appropriate alternative services following a reassessment of their needs
and will be given comprehensive information on cost, quality and all alternatives in order to
make an informed decision.

8. Positive and negative impact
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the
barriers
8a. Positive impact:

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 787

13

Should the proposals to close the two care homes be approved this may result in the following
positive impacts:
• The assessment of those affected may identify alternative provision that better meets the
needs of the individual and their family / carer. As an example, someone who had been
using care home respite may decide to try an at home respite service and find that more
suitable to their current needs.
• The sites may prove to be suitable for re-provisioning, providing alternative care and
support provision that is undersupplied in the local area. There is a commitment in principle
that both sites be used for supported housing.
• Closing the sites and achieving the financial saving will mean that other care/support or
prevention services do not have to be stopped or reduced, which would reduce capacity in
those areas.
• Closing the two care homes and deploying the staff into other services could reduce overall
staffing vacancies.
• If staff move to care home employment in the independent sector, they would take their
high-quality knowledge, skills, and experience with them which would be disseminated.

Action required:
•
•
•

Monitor assessment and transitions and review outcomes.
Progress with future use of the sites (subject to a decision to close).
Ongoing work to consult with staff and Trade Unions through the MSR Policy, with a
particular focus on potential options for employment within LCC in suitable roles. (Full detail
in the separate EDCI Organisational Change).

8b. Negative impact:
The consultation findings report along with this assessment details several potential negative
impacts which could affect protected characteristics, along with proposed mitigations.
The themes of these impacts relate to people’s health and wellbeing, quality, finance, locality,
strategic and methodology and timing impacts.

Action required:
See EDCI Action Plan below.

9. Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the
groups/communities identified?

Yes

X

No

Please provide detail:
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 788

14

The strength of feeling about the proposals to close the two care homes from those directly
affected and from the local communities shows the motivation of those groups to maintain what
they consider to be a valuable community asset.
The proposals won’t proactively promote relationships between groups and communities however,
equally it should not have a detrimental impact to those relationships as residents, services and
family / carers will be supported to find suitable alternative local provision that meets their needs.
This includes moving with friendship groups where this is identified as important wherever possible
in line with the Assessment Closure Protocol and Care Guarantee.

Action required:
•

Support those affected to find suitable alternative local provision that meets their needs,
including moving with friendship groups where this is identified as important wherever
possible, in line with the Assessment Closure Protocol and Care Guarantee.

10. Does this activity bring groups/communities into increased contact with each
other? (for example, in schools, neighbourhood, workplace)

Yes

X

No

Please provide detail:
The proposed closure of the two care homes would not bring groups / communities into increased
contact with one another.

Action required:
None.

11. Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of
another? (for example where your activity or decision is aimed at adults could it have an
impact on children and young people)
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
The proposals could be perceived as benefitting those who would benefit from preventative
services over those requiring care home provision, because if the homes were not to close, a
reduction in prevention services would be the alternative to finding the required financial savings.

Action required:
•

Raise awareness as per the Executive Board report that the proposals to close Home Lea

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 789

15

House and Richmond House will not reduce or remove the care of our most vulnerable
people now or in the future; the proposals are principally based upon insufficient demand
for our residential beds and therefore providing the same service at a reduced overall cost
which in turn helps the Council support more of its citizens.
The investment in prevention both enables people to live a good life at home but also
reduces demand on the social care service through the provision of alternative services
and/or delaying entry to formal care services which saves the council money.

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 790

16

12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action)
Action

Timescale

Measure

Lead person

Obtain full equality information around the profile of
each affected resident and determine the likely
impacts given that profile.

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

Affected residents moved to alternative provision
that meet their individual needs.

Programme
Team

Review of each affected resident post transition
considers any identified impacts.

Review any identified impacts post implementation.

Page 791

Ongoing clear and timely engagement with all
affected stakeholders will continue to take place
throughout the process.

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

Letters and brief to those affected at key stages of
the process.

Programme
Team

Enquiries to consultation via various methods of
engagement.
Numbers of residents using advocacy services
where appropriate.

Ensure that the assessment and transition to
alternative provision is carried out in accordance
with the Council’s Care Guarantee and Assessment
and Protocol, which are developed in consideration
of the needs of older people and people living with
dementia.
Ensure that the assessment and transfer is
managed by a qualified team of social workers who
are fully conversant with the needs of residents,
including people with dementia.
Ensure the transfer process follows government
guidelines to ensure any move during a time of
increased transmission of Covid is safe.

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

A supportive, managed and coordinated transition of
residents to alternative accommodation / service
provision.

Programme
Team

Minimised risk to health and well-being of residents
and carers brought on by move.
The number of residents accessing alternative
accommodation of their choice.
The number of people satisfied with their alternative
accommodation.
The provision of:
• Services that prioritise both safeguarding and

17

Action

Timescale

Measure
•

Ensure robust procedures are in place to identify
and manage safeguarding concerns as they arise.
All staff and volunteers to be trained in recognising
and responding to safeguarding concerns

•

•

Lead person

independence.
A well-trained workforce operating in a culture of
zero tolerance of abuse.
A sound framework for confidentiality and
information sharing across agencies good
universal services, such as community safety
services.
Needs and risk assessments to inform people’s
choices.

A range of options for support to keep safe from
abuse tailored to people’s individual needs.

Page 792

Family members to be involved in the transfer
process including the choice of an alternative
provision.

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

Friendship groups maintained where requested.

Programme
Team

Risk of social isolation removed.
The number of residents able to transfer and remain
within their local area where they have long
established links.
The number of relatives and carers able to maintain
regular visits.
The number of carers accessing support networks.

The continued wellbeing of people who had moved
into new services to be monitored by reviews after
three, six- and 12-months following transfer.

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

The number of people satisfied with their alternative
accommodation at reviews post transition.

Programme
Team

The council to continue to consider how it can play a
role in ensuring the need for specialist provision in
key areas is met. This includes ensuring the
increasing need for dementia services and

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

Commissioning to take full account of equality
issues and to ensure that the quality of services is
consistent and of good quality

Programme
Team

18

Action

Timescale

intermediate care is met.

Measure

Lead person

Services commissioned by the council will focus on
quality of service to all diverse users.
Provision of accessible services that meet the needs
of all diverse users.
A decrease in the number of older people needing
long-term residential care.
A decrease in hospital admissions and delayed
discharge from hospital.

Page 793

An increase in the number of older people accessing
preventative services that maintains independent
living.
The Council is committed to ensure that no
individual is disadvantaged because of the
proposals. Ensure that a full benefit and financial
review is undertaken as part of service user
assessment to ensure no financial detriment with
respect to the cost of care received.

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

No resident financially disadvantaged with respect to
the cost of the care they receive because of change.

Programme
Team

Ensure that the assessment team and care home
staff are aware of the full range of alternative
services available and that information is available in
a range of formats.

In line with
Implementation
Timeline.

Service users and their carers able to exercise
choice and make informed decisions on the range of
services available.

Programme
Team

Improved personalised services for older people and
their carers, with improved outcomes.
The number of residents who understand the
changes and can make informed decisions.

Progress with future of the sites (subject to a

In line with

The number of decommissioned buildings in

Programme

19

Action

Timescale

Measure

Lead person

decision to close).

Implementation
Timeline.

community use.

Team

Page 794
20

13. Governance, ownership and approval
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration impact assessment
Name
Job title
Date
Shona MacFarlane

Deputy Director Social
Work and SC Service
Date impact assessment completed

18th May 2021
18th May 2021

14. Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
actions (please tick)
As part of Service Planning performance monitoring
X

As part of Project monitoring
Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board
Please specify which board
Other (please specify)

15. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality impact assessment should be attached as an appendix to the
decision-making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions
and Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality impact assessments that are not to be published
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
assessment was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 18th May 2021
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

21
Page 795

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5
Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment organisational change impacting on the workforce
As a public authority we need to ensure that all organisational change arrangements
impacting on the workforce have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration impact assessment.
This form:
• can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment
• should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion
of the assessment
• should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable

Directorate: Adults and Health
Lead person: Sarah Buncall

Service area: Care Delivery: Care Homes
Contact number: 0113 3764269

Title Adults & Health Service Review 6 – Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post Consultation
Recommendations Report

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:
10th May 2021

2. Members of the assessment team:
Name

Organisation

Shona MacFarlane
Debbie Ramskill
Sarah Buncall
Susan Podmore

LCC
LCC
LCC
LCC

Role on assessment team
For example, service user, manager
of service, specialist
Deputy Director Adult Social Care
Head of Service, Care Delivery
Project Manager
HR Service Manager

3. Summary of the organisational change arrangements to be assessed:

Proposals are that Home Lea House long stay residential care home in Rothwell, and Richmond
House short stay residential care home in Farsley are closed.
If a decision is made to close the two care homes, 47 Adult Social Care (ASC) and 11 Civic
Enterprise Leeds (CEL) staff will be affected by the proposals and will need to be supported
through the Council’s Managing Staff Reduction (MSR) Policy.
There are staffing vacancies within the Care Delivery Service and more recent recruitments into
vacant posts have been on a temporary basis in order to minimise the likelihood of staff being at
risk. The Directorate will also work with all affected staff to identify development and training
Use from October 2015

Page 797

1

opportunities which could assist staff to move into new or alternative roles within the Authority.
Continued formal consultation will take place under Employment Legislation with Trade Unions and
staff and support would be provided for staff throughout the decommissioning process including
identifying any opportunities for employment within the Council. It is hoped that this work will
significantly minimise the risks to staff in terms of compulsory redundancy.
Staff affected by these proposals would play an integral part in supporting residents, their family /
carers with the transition to alternative provision.
This paper outlines the Equality Impact Assessment that has been carried out in the context of
these proposals to ensure that they do not unfairly impact on people from the different equality
groups. It has been completed as a parallel process to the consultation on the proposed changes.

4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment
Organisational change
(please tick all appropriate boxes that apply below)
Restructuring and assimilation

Reorganisation and job redesign

Flexible deployment

Early leavers initiative

Cessation of a service

Downsizing of a service

X

Switching

Recruitment

Equal pay considerations

Job evaluation

Use from October 2015

Page 798

2

Any other organisational change arrangements
Please provide detail:
Home Lea House
Home Lea House is a 29 bedded long-stay residential home situated in Rothwell. There are two
in-house care homes in Rothwell and Home Lea House is the older of the two homes which is why
it has been put forward for closure. Occupancy at Home Lea House is currently 17 (59%). The
current gross budget is £789k and the net budget is £547k. In a full year it would be possible to
save the gross budget of £789k as the client income will follow the client. Closing this facility from
1st February 2022 would save £789k by the end of 2022/23. The one-off costs of the assessment
and transitions social work team and of alternative independent provision (for those taking up on
the care guarantee) would need to be offset against these savings.
As outlined in the report to Executive Board in October 2020 the proposal to decommission the
service, is based on national data which supports the view that people are being supported to live
independently and safely in their own homes and communities for longer. The need for residential
homes is decreasing within Leeds and where this resource is required to meet people’s needs,
there is a well-developed independent sector care home market. The council has two residential
care homes situated in Rothwell, the other is Dolphin Manor, both of which are under occupied.
The number of residential care homes across the city rated good or outstanding is now 83%.
Richmond House
Richmond House is a 20 bedded residential service situated in Farsley. The current service offer is
short term care and support to people who require a period of recovery following a hospital
admission. The service also offers support to people from the community to prevent hospital
admission. Average occupancy since 2018/19 is 55%. The current gross and net budget is £742k.
There is no associated income from short term residents. The part year saving from closure on 1st
November 2021 would amount to £309k, with the full saving of £742k in 2022/23.
As outlined in the report to Executive Board in October 2020 the proposal to decommission the
service is based on occupancy and the need for this type of service across the city.
Until 2017 Richmond House provided a Community Intermediate Care (CIC) bed service,
commissioned by the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The contract with Richmond House
ceased because the CCG wanted to commission a new model of service. The council was
successful in gaining a contract in partnership with Leeds Community Healthcare (LCH) for the
provision of three new Community Care Bed services but Richmond House could not be used for
this purpose as it had too few beds which made the cost prohibitive, as the CCG has a duty to
seek best value. The Directorate decided to continue to deliver the service and offered short term
placements and three respite beds to people to support hospital discharge and hospital avoidance,
supporting the wider system and enabling social workers to make placements to this type of
service offer, as this fitted with Better Lives transformation agenda.
However, Leeds now has a range of services to meet the needs of people who require some type
of intervention to either support them to reach their optimum with therapeutic and recovery focused
support to return home or to undertake an assessment to support their longer term needs. The
CCG Community Care Beds contract is now established and provides a greater recovery
residential and nursing offer. While Richmond House offers short term support, it does not provide
any additional therapeutic input that is often required when people are discharged from hospital. As
such Richmond House is continually under occupied and the current type of provision can easily

Use from October 2015

Page 799

3

be assimilated in wider system provision.

4a. Do your proposals relate to:
please tick the appropriate box below
The whole service
X

A specific part of the service

More than one service
Please provide detail:
The proposals relate to Home Lea House long stay residential care in Rothwell and Richmond House
short stay residential care in Farsley.
There is other local authority run long stay care homes in the city: Dolphin Manor in Rothwell, Knowle
Manor in Morley and Spring Gardens in Otley. All offer respite provision. This is in addition to the
available capacity in the independent sector homes.
There are a range of citywide services offering short stay care and support. This includes the CCG
Community Care Bed offer, including the three local authority run Recovery Hubs.

4b. Do your proposals relate to:
please tick the appropriate box below
Employment considerations only

X

Employment considerations and impact on service delivery

Please provide detail:
As outlined above the affected staff would need to be supported through the MSR policy. The EDCI
Assessment available at Appendix 4 of the Executive Board Report details the identified impacts on
wider service delivery and the mitigating actions associated with those impacts.
This EIA will consider and assess the impact of the options for:
•

Staff working at Home Lea House and Richmond House.

This EIA is intended to support the decision-making process by:
• Identifying the potential positive and negative impact of any changes/ decisions on
Use from October 2015

Page 800

4

•

each protected characteristic.
Setting out actions to minimise/ mitigate any adverse impacts.

Proposals have been subject to Equality Screening and this concluded that the proposed options will
potentially give rise to equality impacts of those affected, in particular:
• Age – 65% are 50 years or older
• Sex - 88% are women
• Race – 31% identify as from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic (BAME) group.
Should agreement be given to progress with the proposals, an implementation plan will be developed.
This would show how any closures would be managed over the timescales and how staff are to be
supported to safeguard human rights and minimise distress and maximise the benefits to individuals.
This will relate particularly to the monitoring arrangements in relation to the proposed changes.

5. Fact finding – what do we already know
Make a note here of all information you’ll be using to carry out this assessment. This could
include previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception surveys,
equality monitoring and customer or staff feedback.
(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information)
Demographics (workforce focus)
National Picture
Skills for Care, The state of the adult social care sector and workforce in England (Oct 2020),
summarises the demographics of the social care workforce nationally:
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

82% of the adult social care workforce are female, the average age of the workforce is 44 years
and 27% of workers are aged 55 and above.
The majority (84%) of the adult social care workforce were British, 7% (113,000 jobs) had an EU
nationality and 9% (134,000 jobs) a non-EU nationality.
Since the introduction of the mandatory National Living Wage (NLW) care worker pay in the
independent sector has increased at a higher rate than previous years. Care worker real term
median pay has increased by 12% since September 2012 to £8.50 in Oct 2020 (independent sector
only).
The estimated turnover rate of directly employed staff working in the adult social care sector was
30.4%, equivalent to approximately 430,000 leavers over the year. However, most of these leavers
don’t leave the sector. Around 66% of jobs were recruited from other roles within the sector.
It is estimated that 7.3% of the roles in adult social care were vacant in 2019/20, equal to
approximately 112,000 vacancies at any one time.
Around a quarter of the workforce (24%) were on a zero-hours contract (375,000 jobs). Almost half
(42%) of the domiciliary care workforce were on zero-hours contracts. This proportion was even
higher for care workers in domiciliary care services (56%).
The average number of sickness days was 4.7 in 2019/20, this equates to approximately 6.72
million days lost to sickness over the 12-month period.

The peak of the population of carers is between 50 and 64 years of age, so whilst numbers of those
employed in social care roles who are also carers is not known it is likely that a significant proportion

Use from October 2015

Page 801

5

may have caring responsibilities.
The Skills for Care adult social care workforce estimate (2019/20) shows a low prevalence of disability
among workers, at 2%. These disability records are likely to be under-reported because the
information was provided by the employer, rather than the individuals themselves1.
In the Yorkshire and Humber region, 11% of the social care workforce if from BAME groups and at a
national scale a lower proportion of BAME staff are represented in higher paid roles2.
Workers that travel further are more likely to leave their role, with care workers travelling more than
20km had a higher turnover rate (32.3%), compared to those travelling less than 1km (25.0%)3.

Leeds Picture
It is estimated that the health, care, and support workforce in Leeds employs over 57,000 people. This
workforce refers to people working across a range of organisations in the city, including local authority
staff, schools staff, private/independent sector, third sector staff, NHS staff, personal assistants (and
the people that employ them), carers and volunteers.
The paid social care workforce in the city is estimated to be around 19,100 and is mostly made up of
women (75%) aged over 45 (51%). Staff turnover in the sector is high at 31%4. This reflects the
national trends.
The quality of registered care and support provision in Leeds is high with 83% rated as Good by the
Care Quality Commission.

Research
The Better Lives strategy is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support needs. Previous
reports to both Executive and Scrutiny Boards as part of the Better Lives Programme have
documented how the aspirations of people with care and support needs have changed over time and
that there is a strong and increasing desire to remain living in one’s own home for as long as possible.
As such a key aspect of the Better Lives strategy has been a continuous review of the Council’s inhouse services for older people with the focus being on how they meet both current expectations and
crucially how they can contribute to maximising people’s independence, recovery and rehabilitation in
the future.
Previous reviews as part of the Better Lives Programme phases 1, 2 and 3, have evidenced that
demand for traditional forms of residential care for older people have continued to reduce with a
switch to greater demand for models of care that provide housing-with-support such as extra care
housing. This has meant that between 2011 and 2016 a number of in-house care homes closed.
In addition to the above, the EDCI considers data from the following:
• Key strategies and policies relating to the proposals, including the Better Lives
Strategy, Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and the Best Council Plan 2020 – 2025.
• Quantitative information relating to the profile of current residents and carers.
• Quantitative information relating to the profile of alternative provision.
• Quantitative information relating to the profile of affected staff.
In previous phases of the programme all affected staff have been supported into alternative
1

The state of the adult social care sector and workforce 2020 (skillsforcare.org.uk)
The state of the adult social care sector and workforce 2020 (skillsforcare.org.uk)
3 The state of the adult social care sector and workforce 2020 (skillsforcare.org.uk)
4 Microsoft Word - Appendix A - IMPS v5 FINAL 9July2019 - formatted.docx (leeds.gov.uk)
2

Use from October 2015

Page 802

6

employment within the council’s Care Delivery Services, within the NHS or have taken the Council’s
Early Leavers Initiative (ELI).

Consultation
As above, previous phases of the Better Lives Programme which have seen the closure of care
homes have included detailed consultation and equality impact assessments, which have been
considered as part of this assessment.
For these proposals, detailed consultation has also been carried out, and the Consultation Findings
Report has been considered as part of this assessment, available as Appendix 3 of the Executive
Board report.
18 of the affected staff members completed surveys, 15 staff members who work at Home Lea house
and 3 staff members who work at Richmond House.
Meetings were held with all affected staff to advise them of the recommendation to start the period of
consultation on the proposed closures, and to advise them of the decision. Regular staff meetings
along with Trade Union meetings have taken place throughout this process and will continue to do so.
Staff raised issues related to the following key themes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Do not want the home to close
Staff feel they deliver a good high-quality service
Staff feel that the decision will be made to close the services
Concern about the health and wellbeing of residents
Concern about their own future work opportunities (employment, pensions, personal
finances)
Perceived lack of alternative services in the area
Felt that money should be saved elsewhere
Perceived lower quality of care in the private sector care homes in comparison to the
Council provided care.
Don’t want to break up their staff team.

Staff have been involved throughout the consultation process and will continue to be supported
throughout the implementation of any proposals agreed by Executive Board.
In addition, Trade Union GMB submitted a letter on behalf of their members and also a petition, with
390 signatures, and Leeds Unison Retired Members Group submitted a letter on behalf of their
members. Details of each submission and the council’s response is in the Consultation Findings
Report.

Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information
Please provide detail:
Adult Social Care, where possible, will obtain equality information around the profile of each affected
staff member and determine the likely impacts given that profile. Due regard will be taken of this
information during the implementation phase, should these proposals be agreed. A review of the
impact will also be undertaken post implementation, considering any impact on equality groups.

Action required:
As above subject to a decision to close the two care homes:

•

Obtain equality information around the profile of each affected staff member and determine the
likely impacts given that profile.

Use from October 2015

Page 803

7

•

Review any identified impacts post implementation.

6. Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to be
affected or interested
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
Detailed consultation on the proposals took place between 4th January and 26th March 2021. The aim
of the consultation was to consult with those directly affected and as a priority the existing residents of
care homes and their families and carers. Detailed consultation also took place with affected staff and
Trade Unions, and with related stakeholders within the locality, including elected members and partner
organisations and with the wider local community of the affected areas.
As part of the consultation a questionnaire has been used to capture responses to the proposals. The
aim was to:
• Capture people’s responses to the proposed changes
• Determine the impact on individuals and how this might be reduced as plans are
developed.
The findings from the consultation are outlined in full in the Consultation Findings Report appended to
the Executive Board Report.

Action required:
Ongoing engagement with all affected stakeholders will continue to take place throughout the process.
This will include:
• Inform all affected stakeholders of the recommendations in the report to Executive Board
following consultation.
• Inform all affected stakeholders of the outcome of the Executive Board decision.
Should the decision be taken to approve the recommended closure of the two care homes this will
also include:
• On-going engagement with service users / families and carers as part of Assessment and
Transitions including reviews post transition to alternative provision.
• Consult with Trade Unions, Hold Preference Meetings, make Deployment Decisions, Staff
notified of matches and meeting held to discuss options through the Council’s MSR Policy.
• Other Employment Opportunities within LCC – Continual refreshing of information, signposting
of other employment opportunities / roles to staff at risk
• Ongoing tracker updates to wider stakeholders and elected members as appropriate.

7. Who may be affected by this activity?
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers that
apply to your strategy, policy, service or function
Equality characteristics
X

Age

Use from October 2015

X

Carers

Page 804

X

Disability

8

X

Gender reassignment

X

Race

X

Sex (male or female)

X

Sexual orientation

X

Other

X

Religion
or Belief

(Other can include – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, and those
areas that impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and wellbeing)
Please specify:
The following provides an overview of the relevance of the proposals to the equality characteristics
and where identified, action to mitigate any impact should the proposals be approved.
Age: 65% of the affected staff are 50 years or older.
Action to Mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Age equality characteristic will be considered as part of individual
staff consultation meetings.
Carers: No specific issues have been identified in relation to staff who are carers. Staff data shows 8
staff who identify as carers, for many this data is not specified. However, this is an identified gap in
equality information in relation to staff, and national demographics show that given the age profile of
the staff affected, a proportion are likely to be carers.
Action to Mitigate:
• Obtain equality information around the profile of each affected staff member and determine the
likely impacts given that profile.
• Review any identified impacts post implementation.
Disability: No specific issues have been identified in relation to disability. The staff data shows that
all affected staff either do not have a disability or this information is not specified. This is an identified
gap in equality information.
Action to Mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Disability equality characteristic will be considered as part of
individual staff consultation meetings.
Sex: Statistical data of the affected staff shows that 88% are women.
Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Sex equality characteristic will be considered as part of individual
staff consultation meetings.
Race: 31% of affected staff are from Black, Asian, or Minority Ethnic groups.
Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Race equality characteristic will be considered as part of individual
staff consultation meetings.
Religion or belief: No specific issues have been identified in relation to religion or belief.

Use from October 2015

Page 805

9

Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Religion or Belief equality characteristic will be considered as part
of individual staff consultation meetings.
Sexual orientation: No specific issues have been identified in relation to sexual orientation. The staff
data shows that for a number of staff this information is not specified. This is an identified gap in
equality information.
Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Sexual Orientation equality characteristic will be considered as part
of individual staff consultation meetings.
Gender reassignment: No specific issues have been identified in relation to gender reassignment.
There is not data on this characteristic, which is an identified gap in equality information.
Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Gender Reassignment equality characteristic will be considered as
part of individual staff consultation meetings.
Socio-economic Status: The socioeconomic status of those affected is not known. There is not data
on this characteristic, which is an identified gap in equality information.
Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Socio-economic Status equality characteristic will be considered as
part of individual staff consultation meetings.
Financial Exclusion (poverty): The financial exclusion status of those affected is not known. There is
not data on this characteristic, which is an identified gap in equality information.
Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Financial Exclusion (poverty) equality characteristic will be
considered as part of individual staff consultation meetings.
Unemployment: All staff are employed in the services affected by the proposals. There is a risk of
staff redundancy and staff not being able to secure alternative employment.
Action to mitigate:
• Staff affected by the proposals and will need to be supported through the MSR Policy.
There are staffing vacancies within the Care Delivery Service and more recent recruitments
into vacant posts have been on a temporary basis to minimise the likelihood that staff are put
at risk. The Directorate will also work with all affected staff to identify development and training
opportunities which could assist staff to move into new or alternative roles within the Authority.
Continued formal consultation will take place under Employment Legislation with Trade Unions
and staff and support would be provided for staff throughout the decommissioning process
including identifying any opportunities for employment within the Council. It is hoped that this
work will significantly minimise the risks to staff in terms of compulsory redundancy.
Residential Location: No specific issues have been identified in relation to residential location.
Action to mitigate:
• Distance to be travelled to work will be considered as part of individual staff consultation
meetings.
Family Background: The family background status of those affected is not known. There is not data
on this characteristic, which is an identified gap in equality information.
Use from October 2015

Page 806

10

Action to mitigate:
• Any impacts relating to the Family Background equality characteristic will be considered as
part of individual staff consultation meetings.
Skills or Education: The skills or education status of those affected is known by their line manager. It
is recognised that many job opportunities now require a level of digital skill to be able to identify and
apply for jobs online.
Action to mitigate:
• Skills and Education status will be considered as part of everyone’s preference meetings,
deployment decisions, job matching and signposting of other employment opportunities / roles
to staff through the MSR Policy.
• Ensure staff are supported with the skills needed for identifying and applying for alternative
employment through online channels, taking into consideration levels of digital inclusion.

Stakeholders
Services users

Partners

X

Employees

X

Trade Unions

Members

Suppliers

Other please specify
Potential barriers
X

Built environment

X

Location of premises and services

X

Information
and communication

X

Customer care

X

Timing

X

Stereotypes and assumptions

Cost

X

X

Consultation and involvement

Specific barriers to the organisational change proposals
Please specify
Built environment: Some staff may find a new built environment more difficult to cope with both
physically and mentally in terms of changes to their usual work routine or workplace needs. As an
example, a new building may have more stairs or less natural light.

Use from October 2015

Page 807

11

Mitigating Action:
• An assessment of every member of staff affected will be undertaken in accordance with the
council’s MSR Policy.
• Ensure staff receive full induction at new workplace.
• Ensure staff receive a DSE Assessment Review prior to any move to identify any reasonable
adjustments or actions that need consideration in finding alternative employment.
• Ensure that a DSE Review takes place at the new workplace to consider any reasonable
adjustments or actions in their new work environment.
Location of premises: The alternative workplaces staff move to may have an impact on those who
have worked at the care homes for a considerable length of time, and who have long established links
to the local area. Staff may have strong professional friendships and be fearful of the impact of the
proposed changes on their lives, and whether they are able to maintain the relationships they have
established. It may also impact on staff’s work / life balance due to any potential greater time
commuting to / from work.
Mitigating Action:
• Focus on local alternative employment options where this is identified as a preference and
consider work / life balance.
• If additional travel expenses are incurred the council will consider excess travel payments.
Information and Communication: Some staff may not be able to easily access online methods of
communication. Many jobs are now only advertised via online channels.
Mitigating Action:
• Clear and timely communication to all staff affected, particularly regarding information about
alternative employment opportunities.
• Support staff with digital skills training opportunities to maximise their ability to access online
job opportunities.
• Clear HR and Organisational Development support to staff who want to develop skills in
another field.
Customer Care and staff training: Staff will play a lead role in understanding the concerns of
residents and service users, helping them understand the proposed changes and helping them make
the right decisions for themselves. Staff will continue to play a crucial role in supporting residents,
service users and their family / carers through the transition process at a time when they themselves
are experiencing uncertainty and change. Some staff may find this difficult to cope with.
Mitigating Action:
• Provide appropriate support to staff through awareness raising events, meetings, and
management support.
Timing: Many residents and their family / carers said during the consultation that they did not want to
move to a new care home at this point in their lives. The move to alternative provision is a process
that some staff may feel takes too long or too short a time according to their needs. Some
respondents to the consultation felt that the proposals were poorly timed during the Covid-19
pandemic.
Mitigating Action:
• An assessment of every affected staff member will be undertaken and actions to minimise
stress factors will be put in place.
• Ensure that nothing happens suddenly or unexpectantly and that moves to alternative
employment take place in a timescale that those affected are comfortable with in accordance
with the HR processes and procedures.
• Ensure any national and specific guidance relating to staff transfers during Covid are followed.

Use from October 2015

Page 808

12

Cost: Some staff are carers and a change in where they work may affect their caring responsibilities
which could incur additional costs. If staff need to travel further to get to / from work this could also
cost them more.
Mitigating action:
• Focus on local, flexible, alternative employment options where this is identified as a preference
and consider methods of ensuring continued work / life balance.
• If additional travel expenses are incurred the council will consider excess travel payments.
Consultation and Involvement: Some staff may not be able to easily access online methods of
communication.
Mitigating Action:
• Clear and timely communication to all staff affected, particularly regarding information about
alternative employment opportunities, including face to face meetings and direct support from
HR and Organisational Development colleagues.
Stereotypes and assumptions: Assumptions may be made in connection with staff’s needs and job
preferences.
Mitigating Action:
• An assessment is carried out with each affected staff member to ensure that current, individual
needs are properly understood.

Financial exclusion: See Cost above.
Employment and training: Some staff may feel that travelling to an alternative workplace may
impact on their working hours or training opportunities.
Mitigating Action:
• An assessment is carried out with each affected staff member to ensure that current, individual
needs are properly understood.
• Support staff to identify their skills, knowledge and experience strengths and development
areas, and where additional training may be helpful in them seeking alternative employment.
• Support staff to access those training opportunities.

8. Positive and negative impact
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the
barriers
8a. Positive impact:
Should the proposals to close the two care homes be approved this may result in the following positive
impacts:
• Staff affected may identify alternative employment opportunities that better meets their needs.
As an example, someone who had been working in a care home may move to providing at
home care and support services with a reduced commute time and find that more suitable to
their needs.
• Staff may find alternative employment that provides greater job satisfaction; some may be
looking for a change in job roles.
• Closing the two care homes and deploying the staff into other services could reduce overall
staffing vacancies.
• If staff move to care home employment in the independent sector, they will take their highquality knowledge, skills, and experience with them which would be disseminated.

Use from October 2015

Page 809

13

Action required:
•
•

Monitor the transfer of staff and employment outcomes.
Ongoing consultation with staff and Trade Unions through the MSR Policy with a particular
focus on employment within LCC in suitable roles.

8b. Negative impact:
The consultation findings report along with this assessment details several potential negative impacts
which could affect protected characteristics, along with proposed mitigations.
The themes of these impacts relate to people’s health and wellbeing, quality, finance, locality,
strategic and methodology and timing impacts.
The risk of redundancy would potentially impact across these themes.

Action required:
See EDCI Organisational Change Action Plan below.

9. Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the groups or
communities identified?

Yes

X

No

Please provide detail:
The strength of feeling about the proposals to close the two care homes from those directly affected
and from the local communities shows the motivation of those groups to maintain what they consider
to be a valuable community asset.
The proposals won’t proactively promote relationships between groups and communities however,
equally it should not have a detrimental impact to those relationships as staff will be supported to find
options that meet their needs through the MSR Policy.

Action required:
•

Support those affected to find suitable options to meet their work / life balance needs in line
with the MSR policy.

Use from October 2015

Page 810

14

10. Does this activity bring groups or communities into increased contact with each
other (for example in schools, neighbourhood or the workplace)?

Yes

X

No

Please provide detail:
The proposed closure of the two care homes would not bring groups / communities into increased
contact with one another.

Action required:
-None.

11. Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of
another?
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
The proposals could be perceived as benefitting those who work in preventative services over
those working in care home services, because if the homes were not to close, a reduction in
prevention services would be the alternative to finding the required financial savings.

Action required:
•

Consider the knowledge, skills and experience of affected staff and support staff through
the MSR Policy.

Use from October 2015

Page 811

15

12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action)
Action

Timescale

Measure

Lead person

Obtain equality information around the profile of each
affected staff member and determine the likely
impacts given that profile.

In line with
Affected staff supported through the MSR Policy.
Implementation
Timeline.
Review of each affected staff member post
transition considers any identified impacts.

Programme
Team

Ongoing clear and timely engagement with all
affected stakeholders will continue to take place
throughout the process.

In line with
Letters and briefings to those affected at key stages
Implementation of the process.
Timeline.
Enquiries to consultation via various methods of
engagement.

Programme
Team

Consult with Trade Unions, Hold Preference
Meetings, make Deployment Decisions, Staff notified
of matches and meeting held to discuss options
through the MSR Policy.

In line with
Number of successful jobs matches.
Implementation
Timeline.
Number of staff who secure alternative
employment.

Programme
Team

Review any identified impacts post transfer to
alternative employment.

Page 812

Number of staff supported through the MSR Policy.
Other Employment Opportunities within LCC –
Continual refreshing of information, signposting of
other employment opportunities / roles to staff.
A reasonable distance to travel to work will be
considered as part any assessment of staff’s needs.

In line with
Number of staff travelling further to get to/from
Implementation work.
Timeline.
Staff satisfaction regarding their commute in their
new job.

Programme
Team

16

Timescale

Ensure staff are supported with the skills needed for
identifying and applying for alternative employment
through online channels, taking into consideration
levels of digital inclusion.

In line with
Number of people supported in identifying and
Implementation applying for alternative employment through online
Timeline.
channels, taking into consideration levels of digital
inclusion.

Programme
Team

An assessment of every member of staff affected will
be undertaken in accordance with the council’s MSR
Policy.

In line with
Number of assessments carried out.
Implementation
Timeline.

Programme
Team

Ensure staff receive full induction at new workplace.

In line with
Number of staff induction plans (where stay within
Implementation Council employment).
Timeline.

Programme
Team

Ensure staff receive a DSE Assessment Review prior
to and post any move (where stay within Council
employment) to identify any reasonable adjustments
or actions that need consideration in finding
alternative employment.

In line with
Number of DSE Assessments completed and
Implementation reviewed (where stay within Council employment).
Timeline.

Programme
Team

Focus on local alternative employment options where
this is identified as a preference and consider work /
life balance options to meet needs identified.

In line with
Staff satisfaction with outcome.
Implementation
Timeline.

Programme
Team

Provide appropriate support to staff through
awareness raising events, meetings, and
management support to minimise stress related
factors.

In line with
A supportive, well managed and coordinated
Implementation transition of staff to alternative employment.
Timeline.
Minimised risk to health and well-being of staff
brought on by move.

Programme
Team

Page 813

Action

Measure

Lead person

17

Action

Timescale

Measure

Lead person

The number of staff securing alternative
employment that meets their needs.
The number of people satisfied with their new job.

Page 814

Ensure any national and specific guidance relating to
staff transfers during Covid are followed.

In line with
Staff satisfaction with transfer process in relation to
Implementation Covid measures upon review post transfer.
Timeline.

Programme
Team

Support staff to identify their skills, knowledge and
experience strengths and development areas, and
where additional training may be helpful in them
seeking alternative employment.

In line with
Number of staff attending training opportunities.
Implementation
Timeline.

Programme
Team

In line with
Number of staff receiving excess travel payments.
Implementation
Timeline.

Programme
Team

Support staff to access those training opportunities.
Focus on local, flexible, alternative employment
options where this is identified as a preference and
consider methods of ensuring continued work / life
balance.
If additional travel expenses are incurred the council
will consider excess travel payments.

18

13. Governance, ownership and approval
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration impact assessment
Name
Job title
Date
Shona McFarlane

Deputy Director Social
Work and SC Service

18th May 2021

14. Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration actions
(please tick)
As part of service planning performance monitoring
X

As part of project monitoring
Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board
Please specify which board
Other (please specify)

15. Publishing
If this equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment relates to a key
delegated decision, executive board, full council or a significant operational decision
a copy should be emailed to corporate governance and will be published along with the
relevant report.
A copy of all other equality and diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment’s
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record keeping purposes it will be kept
on file (but not published).
Date impact assessment completed

18th May 2021

If relates to a key decision – date sent to corporate governance

18th May 2021

Any other decision – date sent to equality team

19
Page 815

This page is intentionally left blank

Carrying out Assessment & Transfer of
Residents and Day Service Users in Leeds

Assessment & Closure Protocol

October 2016
Reviewed: May 2021

Page 1 of 16
Page 817

1. Overview
As part of the Leeds City Council Better Lives Strategy there has been a series of
service transformations since 2011, some of which have included closures of
services and transfers of care from one service to another.
This document has been used to guide and support the actions of the council in
ensuring the safety and wellbeing of people as they undergo these changes. The
document and its contents have guided the steps of the staff who have supported
people through this process. This review has been undertaken in May 2021 and
reflects the experience that we have had during previous changes, as well as the
changes that have taken place in respect of the way in which our social work and
other services are delivered.
In social work, we take a strengths-based approach, focussing on the person and
their family and community and looking at their outcomes and aspirations. We take
account of a person’s history, experience, gifts and assets. We work in a personcentred way, with the preferences and aspirations of individuals identified and acted
upon. We undertake a conversation with the person and their family, consistent with
the Care Act 2014, arriving at a position where we have a really good understanding
of the individual’s care and support needs, with their views and wishes at the centre.
Supporting materials will be provided during the assessment process to allow the
individual and family/carers to understand the process and the range of services that
are currently available, maximising choice and allowing the individual to make an
active positive decision about their future care provision.
As potential options for the services include closure, or recommissioning as a
specialist service, the process will take this into account and investigate alternative
services available for the individual concerned. Any decision made on the future
provision of a service will be made known to residents, day centre users, relatives
and staff before any press/public announcement.
Information will be provided that enables residents, day centre users and/or those
acting on their behalf, to understand the outcome of their assessment of need and
identifies an alternative to their current service that is best able to meet their
assessed needs.
The timing of assessment of residential service users has been challenged in other
Local Authorities, notably in Coventry (see reference 1) where it was raised that
individual assessments should have been undertaken before, not after, the decision
to close residential homes was taken. In this case a judge reflected that there was no
legal obligation to carry out individual assessments before the homes are closed, or
even before the decision to close them is taken.
Due to the impracticalities of carrying out individual assessments for all service
users, Coventry was justified in proceeding by taking samples of the population who
were entitled to its services, assessing how these people would be affected by
closure and then extrapolating the results to gauge the overall impact. This was

Page 2 of 16
Page 818

followed by individual assessments before any individual's service was changed, to
minimise risk of adverse effects on the service user.
The assessment and transfer of any residents/ day centre users with dementia will be
carefully planned as the majority of studies suggest that adequate preparation would
help minimise any adverse effects on vulnerable movers (see reference 1 and section
10 below on the Specific needs of people with dementia).
General Information on best practice in relation to closures of services is available at:
http://www.birmingham.ac.uk/Documents/news/BirminghamBrief/AchievingClosureR
eport.pdf
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/briefings/briefing03/index.asp
This process is informed by the legislative framework, our commitment to a strengths
and asset-based approach and the learning from other places such as Coventry as
well as our experience of managing change.
2. Care and Support Planning process
Appendix 2 of this document outlines the process from consultation, through
assessment to potential transfer. This is based on the unit either being
recommended for closure or recommissioning as a specialist unit.
On conclusion of consultation and a decision made on the future of the service, the
specifically allocated social work team, comprising of a Team Manager and Social
Workers, will arrange for a keyworker/ social worker to visit the individual (and
potentially family/ carers) in order to work out with the person and their family what
their care and support needs are. The conversations will take place in a way in which
the person needs it to take place to ensure that their care needs are understood, and
at a pace that supports their communication needs. The conversations will allow a
range of needs to be considered and allow the individual to raise any concerns with
the keyworker. The staff group at each unit will be involved from the earliest stage
possible as they will be working directly with the service users and will need
accurate, up-to-date information.
The keyworker will receive support from the Social Work Team Manager and will
include all members of the individual’s clinical and care support team, including their
GP, District Nurse and other professionals involved in their care
The materials provided and any outputs from the process including the Conversation
Record, Care and Support Plan, and Risk Assessment carried out, will be tailored to
the individual’s needs (e.g. advocacy, clarity and context of information, details of
other services available).
Ensuring the health and well-being of all individuals throughout will be of central
importance and a Risk Assessment and Management process will be an integral
element, also ensuring that Safeguarding issues that arise are dealt with. The risk
assessment should balance safety and effectiveness with the right of the individual
Page 3 of 16
Page 819

who uses the service to make choices, considering their capacity to make those
choices and their right to take informed risks.
A keyworker will be allocated to ensure the process is centred on the person as an
individual and considers all aspects of their individual circumstances, and their
immediate and longer-term needs.
A detailed conversation record and care plan will be developed with the individual
and/or those acting on their behalf, (reflecting carers needs where appropriate). The
care plan should allow flexibility for change in response to changing needs and
reflect dignity and choice. It will promote the individual’s well-being by taking account
of all their needs, including physical, mental, social, personal (relationship),
emotional and financial needs.
Continuity in care and support will be maintained as a result of effective
communication between all of those who provide it – before and after transfer,
including transfer of relevant documentation and liaison between the previous staff
and the staff at the new home/day service, as well as GPs. This is covered further in
the ‘closure’ section later in this document.
The provisions of relevant legislation such as the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the
Mental Health Act 1983 will be considered wherever appropriate.
4. Family, friends, social contacts – what matters to me
The keyworker will try to understand where friendships exist between the individual
and other service users/ staff and try to ensure that if the service changes, these
friendship groups can be maintained as far as possible.
Connections to the local community and community groups will also be considered
to ensure these are maintained if the individual accesses a different service.
The keyworker has a duty under the Care Act 2014 to ‘assess need’ in its broadest
sense and this process should identify a range of factors including an individual’s
history and should identify any previous "loss" experienced by the resident/day
centre user which may have a bearing on the present situation as well as any current
mental or physical health vulnerabilities.
Stress factors must be understood as a social event and not simply as an
individualised mental health problem. Emotional attachment to a room can create a
sense of being "at home" - (Groger, 1995) and closure of homes can cause
residents, staff and families/ carers to experience sadness and loss. Each person's
experience is unique. Some may want to move immediately and risk too abrupt a
decision to move while others may drag their heels and hope that something "will
turn up".

Page 4 of 16
Page 820

5. Financial assessment
The individual’s financial situation will be assessed to ensure that the service they
currently access, and any alternative services they may access in the future are
within their budget.
Individual budgets will be explained and explored with each individual.
General and financial advocacy will be available for individuals who lack capacity to
make an informed choice.
6. Advocacy
Independent advocacy will be made available to everyone affected by a change in
their current residential or day care service provision. The identified social worker will
be responsible for ensuring advocacy support is available when required.
There may be occasions when older people find it hard to get their views across and
it can feel like other people are making decisions for them. Independent advocates
work with the older person to help them come to their own decisions, to help them
get heard and to protect them from abuse.
Independent advocates are trained people who will help a person make their own
decisions about things that are important to them and that will affect how they live
their life. They will do this by making sure that the person has all the information that
they need to make their own decision and then they will make sure that the person’s
decision is communicated to anyone else that may be involved. This could be
professionals, family or friends. They will also ensure that the person’s human rights
are always observed and that they are treated fairly under the law. They will work for
the individual and their loyalty will be to them and them alone.
The Mental Capacity Act 2005 applies to people who lack the mental capacity to
make a particular decision, which is decision and time specific. The Act states that in
certain situations, an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate (IMCA) must be
appointed to help people who lack capacity to make a decision and have no one else
to speak on their behalf. This could happen when an NHS body wants to provide
‘serious medical treatment’ or there are plans to provide the person with long-term
accommodation in hospital or a care home. We will ensure that advocacy support is
available whenever it is needed.
Advonet: http://www.advonet.org.uk/about-us
Mind: What is advocacy? | Mind, the mental health charity - help for mental health
problems
Age UK: http://www.ageuk.org.uk/leeds/

Page 5 of 16
Page 821

7. Outcomes
A new and detailed Care and Support Plan will be produced in conjunction with the
individual and any family or friends that they choose to be involved to support them.
This document will provide clear statements of future care needs and of the
preferred way this care should be provided in any new care setting. It will specify in
detail the ways the individuals care and support should be provided to ensure that
their personal dignity, independence, abilities and control over services is
maximised.
Time should be given for the individual to make an informed decision about the
future care they will receive.
Relatives should be kept fully informed of all significant developments by telephone
or letter and any individual communication requirements (e.g. language) clearly
identified at the beginning of the process.
8. Transfer
Where an alternative service is identified for the individual, arrangements will be
made for them to visit to ensure the service meets their needs. During previous
phases of the Better Lives programme, it was found that people often liked having
familiar staff accompanying them on their visit to an alternative service and this
should be considered where requested. It is crucial that early engagement is made
between the keyworker, the transferring service and the new service. The keyworker
should have access to relevant information about the alternative services and an
awareness of resources available across the city (e.g. if there is a place available in
a recommended service). This should ensure the individual is given a range of
realistic options.
On visiting an alternative service, the individual should have the opportunity to
review the facilities and meet key staff including the unit manager to discuss any
questions or concerns they may have. The prospective service provider should see
this as an important priority and dedicate time and resource to the visit and the
conversation with the person.
If an individual moves to a new service, it is vital that it is fully coordinated with the
staff in the new service, who must have all of the relevant care and support
information, including the Conversation Record, Care and Support Plan and all
relevant information prior to the move. A review date should be set (not longer than
six weeks after the transfer) and is the responsibility of the unit manager to arrange.
Ideally the individual should be monitored on an on-going basis to ensure suitable
outcomes are achieved both following the move and progressing into the future. The
keyworker will maintain in contact post-move and will schedule formal 3 month and
12-month reviews to ensure the person has settled into their new service.
If the move is to an independent sector or voluntary service, Adults and Health
Directorate will enter into a tripartite Care Homes Individual Service Agreement with
the home and the service user, in accordance with the Community Care policies with
the same processes and follow-up reviews taken.
Page 6 of 16
Page 822

9. Closure
Upon the decision to close a unit, we will ensure that the process of understanding
needs and planning the move to a new service takes place with care and positivity.
Reed et al (2000) refer to the choices available to people as 'pull factors' (resident
active choices) and 'push factors’ (external events). In the instance of home closure,
the "push" factor of external events causes stress. This can be minimised by
providing support and information on other suitable services for the individual and
arranging for visits and stays in alternative services. Further detail is outlined in the
‘transition’ section below.
Other ways to minimise stress factors include ensuring that:
•

The move is person-centred. All needs and wants of the individual must be
catered for where possible.

•

Friendship groups are identified and moves take place within these groups
where possible

•

Support to be provided on the day by familiar staff, family and close friends
who should accompany the person during the move and encourage them to
discuss their feelings.

•

Short term support from familiar staff can be provided to support a settling in
period to the new unit and enhance the individual’s wellbeing.

•

Suitcases are used to transport luggage (never black bags) and packing is
carried out discreetly. Where a service user does not have suitcases, these
should be provided for them. To maintain familiarity of surroundings, furniture
should be moved with the resident where possible and desired

•

Running up to closure of a residential home, a minimum core of 10 residents is
required to prevent deterioration in morale (reference 3).

•

Up-to-date knowledge of an individual's medical condition and their fitness to
transfer are essential. Arrangements for registering with a new GP must be
made well in advance of the transfer date. The current GPs should be involved
in planning the transfer of individuals and for particularly vulnerable or high-risk
individuals should liaise with the prospective GP prior to the transfer taking
place. For individuals who require nursing intervention, a request should be
made for a nursing care plan to be made available to the receiving nurse team
prior to transfer. Where applicable, prior to completion of the transfer, it must
be assured that nursing care is in place and individuals should have at least 7
full days medication on transfer.

•

Moving in winter is avoided if possible, though if users/relatives want to move
during winter, this would be accommodated, and a risk management plan
identified to minimise risks.)
Page 7 of 16
Page 823

•

Continued reassurance that there are alternative services/ homes should be
provided. The suitability of alternative services and potentially positive
outcomes of these services should also be outlined.

•

Moving an individual to an alternative service or home that is likely to close
imminently should be avoided.

•

Standards of care and safe staffing levels should be maintained in the home
that is closing to ensure continuity of familiar service and routine.

•

Social workers and staff in the service that is closing should have enough time
available to ensure that a person-centred approach is maintained throughout
the process.

10. Key groups

Some individuals may be exposed to greater risks if transferred, including:
•

People with severe dementia (See section 11 on the Specific needs of people
with dementia)

•

Extremely frail people who have co-existing medical illnesses (e.g. heart and
lung disease, previous breakdown etc). This list is not exhaustive and to
minimise risk, medical examination should take place during the assessment
and immediately prior to proposed transfer. This will indicate whether a resident
or day centre user is fit to transfer and the requirement for any additional
precautions.

•

Residents or day centre users who need specialist equipment. A review of
equipment needs (including any assistive technology) of people transferring to
a new home or day service should be undertaken. No one will be moved until
the receiving home or day service has the required equipment and where
necessary staff are trained in its use.

•

Residents / day centre users with special dietary needs and those who need
assistance with eating. Individuals should be identified in the assessment
process and their support and risk management plans written up to reflect the
assistance required. Named care staff from the receiving home or day service
should be briefed and trained on any skills which may be required.

11. Care and Support Planning and Closure - Specific needs of people with
dementia
Many people worry that moving care homes for people living with dementia, could
result in worsening of their condition or even lead to reducing the person’s life
expectancy, though there's no definitive evidence for this (www.alzheimers.org.uk)
Research indicates that following best practice is however crucial to achieving
successful outcomes.
Page 8 of 16
Page 824

As outlined by the Alzheimer’s Society (www.alzheimers.org.uk), it is important that
care for people with dementia is centred around the person as an individual and
should not focus on their illness or on abilities they may have lost. With this in mind,
if there is a requirement to transfer residents from one home to another, it should be
possible to use the same principals and processes outlined in the Assessment and
Closure Protocol, which points to the most effective ways of supporting people
through a change of this type. However, there are also some dementia specific
considerations which need to be taken into account when a person living with
dementia is faced with a change of accommodation.
Warchol, K (2013, ‘Transfer trauma- A real issue for many individuals with dementia’)
refers to the stress experienced by someone with dementia when changing living
environments as ‘transfer trauma’. She states that it is: ‘usually temporary in nature
and relieved as the individual builds friendships, gains trust, and develops a sense of
purpose and belonging in their new community’. Much dementia care research
suggests that it is through our relationships with others that well- being is maintained
or restored. The quality of these relationships is therefore considered a key factor in
ensuring that a person settles in their new home.
In their paper, ‘Moving Persons with Dementia?’ Struble and deLaski-Smith (1997)
identify a number of measures that can be taken prior to, during and after the move
to ensure that any stress associated with a move is minimised. Dementia UK and
Care Quality Commission also provide guidance on this.
Advice on moving into a care home - Dementia UK
https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/beyond-barriers-how-older-peoplemove-between-health-care-england

Choice and control
People don’t lose the right to take part in decisions about their lives just because
they have dementia (www.alzheimers.org.uk). They should continue to be included
in plans and decisions about their care and helped and supported to make choices
(unless it can be shown that they are unable to make them).
To increase choice and control, where appropriate a number of visits to alternative
homes should be carried out with the resident given the choice of their preferred
home. However people living with dementia in residential care might be very frail and
there may be a need to achieve a balance between the information gathered from
multiple visits, the impact on the person’s well-being and the persons understanding
and ability to communicate what they do and don’t like.
Struble et al (1997) suggest that it is important for staff and family members to
maintain an optimistic and supportive attitude throughout the transfer process to
encourage the person living with dementia to see it as a positive change.

Page 9 of 16
Page 825

Ageing in place
If it is determined that the person is going to move, then it should be ensured that the
number of future moves they may need to make is minimised. This is because each
move will be stressful, so due care should be taken to ensure that the person is not
moved to an alternative home which is likely to close in the near future, or will not
meet future needs of the individual.
Planning the move
Planning is a key activity that can support the success of a move. Members of the
social work team need to be pro-active in making early contact with all agencies
involved in the care and support of the individual with dementia. It will be particularly
important for the assessment team to work closely with any other involved
professionals to gain a clear understanding of the needs and wishes of each
individual.
The social work team will ensure early involvement with the occupational therapists
in the Disability Support Team to identify if the person has all the equipment they
require. This may include such items as profiling beds, crockery, cutlery, drinking
aids etc. The social work team will also ensure that temporary equipment is
available, should an overnight stay be required to support decisions about the move.
Struble et al (1997) suggest that the bulk of the planning for the move is carried out
between staff and family well in advance of the move, before discussing this with the
person living with dementia. The person should only be engaged in discussions 2-4
weeks before the move to ensure that they are not caused unnecessary stress too
far in advance of the move.
Consideration needs to be given to specific rituals or routines that the person may
have (e.g. person prefers to shower before breakfast, or have a drink at a specific
time, going to bed and getting up routines), food likes and dislikes etc. Staff at the
new home should be made aware of these to ensure that the person can maintain
their routine and feel comfortable in their new surroundings. A person’s life story
work can be used to support this transition. As this belongs to the person this should
accompany them in any change of residence, as it contains key information that can
be used to support their well-being and identity. If there is no life story work
completed or in progress this should be commenced at the earliest opportunity. Life
story work will greatly assist the new care team to develop relationships and an
understanding of the person.
The home that the person is moving to should be given details of the person’s
interest/ background to identify whether any potential friendships can be formed
within the resident group. Dementia UK suggest that there are several ways that Life
Story work can be practiced and can be completed in many formats - or a
combination of formats that works best for the individual. These may include books,
collages, video recordings and personal profiles, memory boxes and Apps.

Page 10 of 16
Page 826

The accommodation should be personalised with belongings and key objects that
represents the person’s life and interests.
Timing and health
On the day
The move should take place during the day and it is suggested that the best time for
the move to take place is in the morning while the person is ‘fresh and functioning at
their highest level’ (Struble et al, 1997). Also, by moving in the morning it should
allow a family member, or carer, to support the move and stay with the resident until
they have settled. It is also possible that individual traits may point to other more
optimum times for such activity. The person that knows them best may provide such
an insight. There should be sufficient staffing to ensure that the person receives
individualised attention on the day, that the care and support plan in the home can
be completed and staff can be informed of and aware of the content of that plan,
including any risk assessments that are required. Dietary needs, personal care
needs and preferences should be communicated quickly and accurately.
Following transfer- the first few months
Staff at the new home should spend more time with new residents to get to know
them during the first month or longer if necessary. Consistency of care staff in the
receiving home is particularly important.
Impact on the individual
Every care will be taken to minimise risk and stress caused by the move by following
the processes outlined in the Assessment and Closure Protocol. However, it is
inevitable that residents with dementia may experience a wide range of emotions
when transferring to a different living environment. As such, it is vital that throughout
the process a person is treated with dignity and respect and that they feel involved in
their care and support provision. This includes their right to expect those caring for
them try to understand how they feel and make time to offer support rather than
ignoring or humouring them (Alzheimer’s Society UK).

Day Centre Service Users
Most of the above will apply equally to people living with dementia who are moving to
a new day service. In addition, consideration should be given to ensuring that
transport arrangements to the new service consider people’s preferences i.e. length
of journey, type of transport provision (taxi, fleet vehicle, family transport etc.), and
escort support during the journey.
The social work team will also need to ensure good liaison with any Community
Support provision to ensure a seamless service is delivered. The needs of carers
should also be considered in relation to the day(s) support is provided to enable
carers to have a break or maintain work commitments.

Page 11 of 16
Page 827

12. Transition process

•

A suitable period of planning for transition is necessary – most advice is to give
approximately 6 months. Williams and Netten (2003) suggest transition to
closure generally takes 3 to 6 months

•

The period planned for the relocation should be long enough to avoid people
feeling rushed or pressurised but not so protracted that individuals become
more likely to suffer depression or their motivation and well-being is affected.
The timing of all transfers should be an agreed process with individuals, family
and staff and based on individual need, risk and complexity.

•

A maximum of 2 residents to move on any one day and a minimum of 2 days
will elapse in which there are no transfers from the home. A maximum of 2
people would normally transfer in any week.

•

If groups of friends express a wish to move together and suitable staffing
arrangement including travelling support can be arranged, then this will be
explored as it may be beneficial to the residents for them to move and travel
together.

•

A Transfer plan will be developed by the key worker with input from the
individual, their family and care staff who know them well. This will include
arrangements such as:
o the decoration and layout of the person's new bedroom/personal space;
o plans to orientate to the new environment and any pre visits/overnight
stays, etc.; visits to alternative services should be carried out with
someone the resident knows, and the person should be in control of the
nature and the length of the visit.
o arrangements for continuity of care such as staff/relatives working
alongside new staff to pass on skills and experiences;
o Key documentation/information that is needed such as their social and
clinical history, patterns of care and special needs, and their cultural and
spiritual needs in order to help new care staff to provide the appropriate
levels of personalised care.

•

Timing of the move should be sufficiently flexible to ensure that people
are not expected to move when they are seriously ill, or at the end of their life.

•

The Assessment and Transfer protocol was informed by the paper “The
Impact of Relocation on care home residents: a review of evidence for Leeds
City Council” produced by Public Health in 2011 and reviewed in 2013,
(Reference 11) which summarises as follows: “Mortality - The overall
message from this body of work is of no significant difference in mortality rate
between relocates and comparison groups, with a lower mortality rate
reported in some cases. Morbidity - Most studies found (perhaps surprisingly)
a higher level of general health or no clear change following relocation. This
was true for both inter-institutional and intra-institutional movement of
residents.”
Page 12 of 16
Page 828

•

One common factor in research on whether there is any link between transfer
of residents between residential homes and mortality is the recognition that
the stress created by the move itself together with the way the move is
managed are the two most important factors impacting on the outcome for
residents and day centre users. Through appropriate assessment identified
earlier in this document, stress factors should be minimised to allow a
comfortable transition between services.

Page 13 of 16
Page 829

References
1. Verna Wilson and others v Coventry City Council -and- Victor Thomas and others v
London Borough of Haveringhttp://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2008/2300.html
2. Coventry City Council (2008) ‘Does Home Closure and Involuntary Relocation Affect
Mortality Rates for Older People?’
3. Leeds City Council Department of Social Services- Practice Guidelines for Home
Closures
4. Groger, L. (1995) ‘A nursing home can be a home’ Journal of ageing studies Vol.9
No.2
5. Reed J., Cook G., Sullivan A., and Burridge C. (2003) ‘Making a move: care home
residents' experiences of relocation’. Ageing and Society 23 pp225 – 241
6. Williams J and Netten A, ‘Guidelines for the closure of care homes for older people:
prevalence and content of local government protocols’ PSSRU Discussion Paper
1861/2
7. Glasby, J., Robinson, S., and Allen, K (2011) ‘Achieving Closure- Good practice in
supporting older people during residential care closures’
University of Birmingham/adass.
8. Warchol, K. (2013) Transfer Trauma- A real issue for many individuals with
Dementia
http://www.crisisprevention.com/Resources/Article-Library/Dementia-Care9. Struble, L and de Laski-Smith, D (1997) Dementia Care Series. Michigan Department
Of Community Health.
http://www.dementiacoalition.org/resources/pdfs/Caring5.pdf
10. American Alzheimer’s Association:
http://www.alz.org/nyc/in_my_community_17491.asp
11. Duncan Cooper, (2011, reviewed 2013) The impact of relocation on the health and
well-being of care home residents: a review of evidence for Leeds City Council, SpR
Public Health, NHS Leeds.

Page 14 of 16
Page 830

Appendix 1- Service user Assessment process

•

Establish team based on skills required

•

Liaise with staff at the unit

•

Produce information materials & supporting information

•

Involve advocates as required

•

Approach residents/ day centre users/ home/ carers/ families

•

Hold conversations with everyone identified as necessary to ensure a positive
process

•

Decide/ discuss options for each individual resident / day centre user and
provide relevant information (e.g. information about Extra Care, cost of the
new service etc)

•

Ensure resources (staffing, equipment, information, transport etc) are in place
to support the transfer

•

Following transfer undertake a follow-up review to ensure that the individual is
happy and settled in their new placement

Reviewed May 2021

Page 15 of 16
Page 831

Appendix 2- The Resident/Day centre user care and support needs identification Pathway

Start
Perform
Consultation
Confirm Closure/
Recommission as
specialist unit
Arrange
conversations with
Resident/ involve
advocates
Produce conversation
record & Develop
New Care and
Support Plan
Resident in
recommissioned
unit and meets
criteria?

Resident

Page 832

Assessment Team

Leeds City Council

p+-

No Decide Next Steps
& Visit Alternative
Service

End
Yes

Agree Transfer Plan

Remain in
Recommissioned
Specialist Unit
Complete
Transfer to
Alternative Service

Review

Page 16 of 16

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)

Document is Restricted

Page 833

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 8: Key Risks and Mitigations

Ref Description of Key Risk

1

There is a risk that if the proposals
to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House are not approved,
that Adult Social Care will not be
able to realise its targeted financial
contribution to the council budget
gap, and in turn put the council at
risk of not meeting its legal financial
requirement to set a balanced
budget.

Risk
Rating

Mitigating Actions
Consider in detail through the Executive Board report
and associated Appendices the potential impacts of
the decision and reasoning for the recommendations
to aid decision making.
The proposals to close Home Lea House Long Stay
Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and Richmond
House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley,
which would contribute annual savings of £1.531
million to the identified Council budget gap in
2021/22 of £118.8 million, of which £59.1 million is
due to the ongoing financial impact of Covid-19. This
supports the legal requirement for the Council to set a
balanced budget and also the Best Council Plan
Financial Strategy aim to be “financially resilient and
sustainable”, provide “value for money” and to
“target resources to meet our priorities”.

High

Identify other options for financial savings to aid with
decision making.

2

3

There is a risk that if the proposals
to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House are not approved,
that Adult Social Care will have to
make the required financial savings
elsewhere, which in turn could result
in considerable further reduction of
funding to other directly provided or
commissioned service provision.

There is a risk that if the proposals
to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House are approved, this
will have a detrimental impact on
the physical and mental health and
wellbeing of residents.

The only remaining alternative would be to reduce
the Directorate’s spend on preventative services.
This would have a significant impact as we know
preventative services contribute to supporting people
to live at home longer, in their own communities and
with their families and friends.

Very
High

The investment in prevention both enables people to
live a good life at home but also reduces demand on
the social care service by reducing demand and/or
delaying entry to formal care services which saves the
council money.
Various mitigations to reduce the impact on people’s
health and wellbeing are described in the Executive
Board report and associated appendices including
Consultation Findings Report, EDCI Assessments, Care
Guarantee and Assessment & Closure Protocol.

High

1

Page 835

If a decision is made to close the two care homes, the
transfer of residents will be carefully planned and
carried out professionally, sensitively and safely, in
accordance with the Council’s Care Guarantee. Those
who use the homes for planned respite will be
supported to ensure this provision can be continued
in a new location suitable to meet the individual’s
needs. The programme will continue to work closely
with all affected staff and Trade Unions with a view to
retaining and redeploying staff into other council
services, so their good practice is retained.
Various mitigations to reduce the impact on affected
staff are described in the Executive Board report and
associated appendices including Consultation Findings
Report and EDCI Assessment (Organisational Change).

4

There is a risk that if the proposals
to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House are approved, not
all affected staff will be found
suitable alternative employment.

Ongoing engagement is taking place with staff and HR
regarding potential opportunities for all staff, if they
are affected by any of the proposals. There are
staffing vacancies within the Care Delivery Service and
more recent recruitments into vacant posts have been
on a temporary basis to ensure that no permanent
staff are put at risk.
The Directorate will also work with all affected staff to
identify development and training opportunities
which could assist staff to move into new or
alternative roles within the Authority.

Medium

Continued formal consultation will take place under
Employment Legislation with Trade Unions and staff
and support would be provided for staff throughout
the decommissioning process, through the Managing
Staff Reductions (MSR) Policy including identifying any
opportunities for employment within the Council. It is
hoped that this work will significantly minimise the
risks to staff in terms of compulsory redundancy.

5

There is a risk that if the proposals
to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House are approved, this
could result in insufficient
alternative high quality, available,
affordable, local provision.

As detailed in the Executive Board report national
data supports the view that people are being
supported to live independently and safely in their
own homes and communities for longer. The need for
residential homes is decreasing within Leeds and
where this resource is required to meet people’s
needs, there is a well-developed independent sector
care home market.

Low

2

Page 836

The Council’s Extra Care Supply & Demand Model
calculates anticipated future demand for residential,
nursing and extra care provision, considering
proposed population changes to 2028 at a ward level,
and suggests there is sufficient capacity of alternative
good quality provision.
Appendix 2 Profile of Services details the range of
good quality alternative provision within 5 miles of
Home Lea House and within 5 miles of Next of Kin
Addresses.
The Executive Board report also details that Leeds
now has a range of services to meet the needs of
people who require some type of intervention to
either support them to reach their optimum with
therapeutic and recovery focused support to return
home or to undertake an assessment to support their
longer term needs. The CCG Community Care Beds
contract is now established and provides a greater
recovery residential and nursing offer, and the CCG
are satisfied that sufficient community care bed
provision is available across the city.
Consideration has been given to the impacts and
potential mitigations arising from the consultation on
the proposals, and a response provided by Adult
Social Care to provide further information and
evidence to support the recommendations.

6

There is a risk that if the proposals
to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House are approved, this
will result in reputational damage to
the council, given the strength of
feeling in opposition to the
proposed closures, from residents,
service users, family / carers, staff
and the local communities.

In drawing up the initial proposals, conducting the
consultation and in making the formal
recommendations described in this report, officers
have been acutely conscious of the depth of feeling
aroused among service users, families, carers, staff,
and local communities.

High

These proposals are not made lightly as all are aware
of the personal impact on the individuals affected.
The proposals to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House will not reduce or remove the care
of our most vulnerable people now or in the future;
the proposals are principally based upon insufficient
demand for our residential beds and therefore
providing the same service at a reduced overall cost
3

Page 837

which in turn helps the Council support more of its
citizens.
Should the decision be taken to close the current
provision at Richmond House and Home Lea House,
the sites would be transferred into void management
with responsibility for safety, security and
maintenance being managed by LCC Facilities
Management until brought forward for any redevelopment.

7

There is a risk that if the proposals
to close Home Lea House and
Richmond House are approved, that
the buildings could be left empty
whilst a decision is taken around any
future use of the buildings.

Asset Management under the delegations in place to
the Director of City Development are already in the
process of considering alternative uses for the sites
considering Council’s priority programmes and
requirements in particular from Adults and Health and
the Council Housing Growth Programme; and there is
a commitment in principle for the sites to be used for
the development of supported housing; general needs
housing at the Home Lea House site in Rothwell, and
supported housing for older people at the Richmond
House site in Farsley.

High

This may involve direct delivery by the Council,
delivery in partnership with external organisations or
disposal to third parties. Early demolition of the
buildings at to limit the costs of maintaining security
will also be explored. Asset Management will lead
discussions about the future use of the sites with
elected members and key partners.

4

Page 838

Appendix 9 Timeline for Implementation: Closure of Home Lea House and Richmond House

Page 839

Stakeholder Engagement

Governance

Jun 2021

23rd June
Executive
Board
meeting

Jul 2021

14th July
Latest date
decision could
be
implemented
(should the
decision be
called in for
Scrutiny)

Inform all
stakeholder
of decision
outcome
and next
steps

Aug 2021

Oct 2021

Nov 2021

Dec 2021

Jan 2022

Monitor and track progress of Assessment & Transitions for Service Users and Workforce.
Track progress of Asset Management works.

Start of
assessment and
transitions process

Cease
admissions
Richmond
House

Feb 2022

Mar 2022

When transitions and reviews
are complete carry out
evaluation and project closure.

Consult with Trade Unions, Hold Preference Meetings, make Deployment Decisions,
Staff notified of matches and meeting held to discuss options (if no match)
Other Employment Opportunities within LCC – Continual refreshing of information,
signposting of other employment opportunities / roles to staff at risk

Start Staff
Preference
Meetings and Job
Matching process

Cease
admissions at
Home Lea
House

Transitions

Sep 2021

On-going engagement with service users / families and carers as part of Assessment
and Transitions
Regular tracker updates as appropriate on progress of implementation of Exec Board
Decision

Ongoing update of staffing tracker to monitor staffing numbers and moves linked to
Assessment and Transitions
Ongoing update of staffing tracker
to monitor staffing numbers and
moves linked to Assessment and
Transitions

Recruit and Train
Assessment &
Transitions Team of
Social Workers

Richmond
House Closed
By Nov 2021

Home Lea
House Closed
By Feb 2022

Assessment and Transition Timescales will vary depending on
individual needs.

Arrange & Perform Assessments & Develop new Care Plans
Decide next steps / visit alternative service
Agree Transfer Plan
Complete Transfer

Carry out reviews following
transitions

Progress with future use of buildings in discussion with Elected Members and Asset Management

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 23
Report author: Andy Lloyd
Tel: 01133783626

Report of the Director of Children and Families
Report to Executive Board
Date: 23rd June 2021
Subject: Update on Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:
Summary
1. Main issues


This report will provide an overview of Thriving, the Leeds Child Poverty Strategy and the
various workstreams that sit underneath the strategy. It will also detail our responses to the
COVID-19 pandemic and ongoing work, impact and next steps.



Latest CPAG Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG) analysis published in 25th March 2021
found that 4.3 million Childrens were living in relative poverty at the end of the 2019/20
financial year; a 12 year high; equating to 1 in 4 children in the UK. In work poverty is
increasing every year, with 75% of children growing up in poverty living in working families
(Department of Work and Pensions (DWP), 2019/20). Poverty is estimated to affect
173,600 people across Leeds (after housing costs are deducted from income (DWP),
2018/2019). Child poverty is increasing, in Leeds and nationally, and it is having very
serious impacts on children, the adults children become, and on the societies in which poor
children live. Latest local data1 for 2018/19 revealed 23% of children under 16 (34,862) in
Leeds lived in poverty (before housing costs are deducted from income) which is an
increase of 3% since 2016. This compares to the national figure where 18% of children
under 16 lived in poverty (before housing costs are deducted from income).



Poverty intersects with other demographics such as class, ethnicity, age, disability and
gender; 46% of children who are from black and minority ethnic groups live in poverty,
compared with 26% of children in white British families. Nearly half of those who live in
poverty are either a disabled person or who live with a disabled person2, and the poverty
rate for families with a disabled family member rose from 28% in 2011 to 30% in 2017 3.

These figures are from the DWP’s Children in low income families measure and are updated every year
Disability Rights UK
3 Joseph Rowntree Foundation
1
2

Page 841

Women are more likely than men to live in poverty, with 20% of women experiencing
poverty compared to 18% of men. 45% of single parents- of which 90% are women- are
living in poverty4.
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic


Over the next few years, we will start to see statistics that show the extent of poverty across
the UK, and how this has been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Early indications
appear to show that those who were previously experiencing poverty have been pushed
deeper into poverty, and those who were previously living above the poverty line have been
pushed into poverty. The pandemic has worsened existing inequalities, with vulnerable
children facing severe and long term impacts.



Prior to the pandemic, 3 million people in the UK were behind with one or more key
household bills5. Since then, the COVID-19 pandemic has reduced household income, led
to a rise in unemployment, resulted in significant increases in claims for Universal Credit,
and led to six million people falling behind on bills6.



The benefit system has been crucial to the national COVID-19 response but has been
under extraordinary pressure from an unprecedented wave of applications for Universal
Credit (UC). In Leeds there were 70,127 people claiming UC in October 2020, which is a
60% increase compared to 2019. Prior to March 2020 there was an average of 600 claims
registered in the city per week, this increased significantly from March 2020 and peaked at
over 6,800 during April7. Looking forward, these families will be adversely affected by cut in
UC in autumn 2021, and the Joseph Rowntree Foundation has warned that nationally these
cuts will pull 200,000 children into poverty as we head into winter 2021.



The number of children who are eligible for benefits related Free School Meals (FSM) has
also increased substantially, from 25,874 children in March 2020 to 30,740 children in
February 2021.



The former Children’s Commissioner has estimated that, as a direct result of the pandemic,
300,000 additional children have been pushed into poverty nationally. She has written that
COVID-19 has exposed and amplified the existing inequalities which face children “Those
children already facing the worst life chances have felt the greatest burden from the virus
and our response to it… Unless we act now, Covid-19 will become an inter-generational
crisis, with the impact of the economic fall-out on parents determining the future prospects
of their children”8. In Leeds there are currently 50,000 people on furlough; and when this
ends there is an expectation that a proportion of these people will then be made redundant;
with the consequential potential to push further families into poverty

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


This strategy directly relates to most of the Best Council Plan priorities:


tackling poverty, helping everyone benefit from the economy to their full potential



reducing health inequalities and supporting active lifestyles



making Leeds the best city for children and young people to grow up in



improving the quality of lives and growing the economy through cultural and creative
activities



providing homes of the right quality, type and affordability in the right places and
minimising homelessness

Women’s Budget Group
University of Birmingham
6 Citizens Advice
7 Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities)
8 Children’s Commissioner, 2020
4
5

Page 842



keeping people safe from harm and promoting community respect and resilience

3. Resource Implications
Each project has an individual resource implication. Where possible, a partnership approach has
been implemented, to pool resources from a variety of directorates and sectors across Leeds.
Recommendations


That Executive Board endorses the strategic framework in place to mitigate the impact of
child poverty, and the work being undertaken by the council and other partners in the key
areas of activity.



The Executive Board acknowledges the need to promote the work of the Thriving strategy
across the city and in particular in each respective Members’ portfolio in order to highlight
the impact of poverty on children and their families.



The Executive Board invites the Board to note that the officer responsible for this strategy is
the Deputy Director Children and Families; working in partnership across the council
directorates.

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide an overview of ‘Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds’, and the work that
sits underneath the strategy, including work that has occurred during the pandemic. This report
gives an update on each of these workstreams. It also gives an update on some key personnel
changes that have taken place in the past three months.
1.2 Recent changes:
As a result of the recent Early Leavers Initiative scheme a number of senior officers who were
involved in this work have left. This includes:
 Chief Officer, partnerships and health Children and Families
 Chief officer Employment and Skills
 Head of Service Children and Families
 Head of Service Early Help Children and Families
Thriving: the Child Poverty Strategy will be now led at an officer level by the Deputy Director
of Children and Family Services and the Head of Service for Workforce Development and
Change, Children and Families Service. We have now agreed new leads for each of the
workstreams that were previously led by officers who have now left the council.

2. Background information
2.1 Measures of child poverty
One of the difficulties in discussing child poverty is that there is not one accepted measure of child
poverty. Different people define and measure poverty in different ways.
The government use two main measures, relative poverty and absolute poverty:


Those who live in relative poverty have a household income of less than 60% of the current
UK average - so households whose total earnings are currently less than £17,760 are living
in relative poverty. One in five households in the UK have an income below the poverty line

Page 843

after housing costs, and 30% of children live in households below the poverty line after
housing costs9


The Government’s definition of absolute poverty is not the same as the other organisations
definition of absolute poverty. It is not an international poverty line, and it is not defined as
being able to afford basic essentials. The Government’s definition of absolute poverty is
those who earn less than 60% of the median income of 2010/11. So households currently
living on less than £13,166 after housing costs are living in absolute poverty.

A national report released by the Child Poverty Action Group in February 2020 shows that since
2012, the median poverty gap (how far below the poverty line the average family is) has continued
to increase. After housing costs are taken into account, families in poverty are now on average £73
a week below the poverty line, up from £56 in 2012/13. The number of children in poverty where all
the parent(s) work full time - be they single or couple-parents has doubled from 200,000 in 2012/13
to 400,000 in 2017/18. The poverty gap for lone parents has risen by 36%. These statistics indicate
that over the past five years, more children continue to be pushed into poverty, while those in
poverty are further away from escaping it.
However, poverty cannot just be measured in terms of household income. Because of this, in
Leeds, we take a wider understanding, alongside the statistics. Poverty is about what you possess
in comparison to what the society around you has.
2.2 Causes of Child Poverty
“Child poverty is not inevitable. In the past, child poverty levels in the UK have been
significantly lower than they are today” ((Child Poverty Action Group). There is a debate around
the causes of poverty that tends to blame individuals for their circumstances. Some people point to
addiction, worklessness and lack of aspiration as the causes of poverty. People who live in
poverty, however, are not to blame for their poverty. Research shows that people who live in
poverty do not do anything differently to those who do not live in poverty (Main & Mahony, 2018),
they are trying to achieve the same outcomes with less resource, fewer opportunities, and more
barriers to success. There is not a simple answer for what causes poverty, instead there are
different aspects that often have some interplay between them: “Poverty rarely has a single cause.
A range of factors including rising living costs, low pay, lack of work, and inadequate social security
benefits together mean some people do not have enough resources” (Child Poverty Action Group).
Living Costs
Increasing costs of rent have resulted in poverty rises in northern England and the Midlands (End
Child Poverty). Price rises are outpacing wages, putting pressure on low income households. Many
of these are essential costs, such as food, energy and transport. Households on low income tend
to be more reliant on public transport, so the increasing costs of buses, trains and coaches is
restricting the access of people on low incomes to low-priced food, jobs and accessing healthcare
and other services. Energy costs and food costs are increasing year on year, with increases in the
prices of food and fuel costing the UK’s poorest households an extra £130 per year in 2018
(Joseph Rowntree Foundation).
Employment
“The long-term deterioration of the terms of employment for workers in the lowest-paid 20 per cent
of the UK labour market has been a major cause of enduring poverty in the UK. Low-wages, the
high cost of childcare and part-time work all conspire to reduce incomes. Many low-paid jobs offer
no opportunities to progress to better work and better wages. Others are insecure, with
unpredictable hours and incomes” (Child Poverty Action Group). People who are not working
overwhelmingly want to work, but face barriers to employment (Child Poverty Action Group), such
as ill-health, childcare and caring responsibilities for family members. In the past, there has been a
focus on strengthening the social security system to ensure that those who are in low paid jobs, or
9

Child Poverty Action Group

Page 844

who aren’t working, are provided with support so that they don’t fall into poverty. However, ongoing
welfare reforms are contributing to increases in child poverty.

Social Security
“In-work benefits, such as universal credit, are currently insufficient to overcome these labour
market challenges and keep people out of poverty. In addition, the very high costs of housing and
childcare increase families’ risk of poverty. It is generally accepted that where people are out of
work or don’t earn enough money, the social security system should provide a safety net to prevent
them falling into poverty. Unfortunately, this is not the case.” (Child Poverty Action Group). The
Economic Affairs Committee presented evidence to the Government showing that the five-week
wait for the first Universal Credit payment had a damaging impact on adults and children. This wait
is the main factor pushing people into deep poverty, entrenching debt and disproportionately
harming women and disabled people. Universal Credit has been named as a key factor in causing
soaring rent arrears and the increasing use of foodbanks.
A list of suggested actions that could be taken to lift families out of poverty can be found here: :
Child Poverty Action Group, however ensuring decently paid jobs, providing good, accessible
childcare, improving the social security system and having a central focus on tackling child poverty
would all help. “Modest increases in income reduce hardship swiftly and effectively. In 2001, child
poverty was 400,000 lower than in 1999 and severe hardship among out-of-work families almost
halved – from four in 10 to less than one-quarter in just two years” (Child Poverty Action Group)
2.3 The Leeds Approach
In 2016, Children & Families started to develop a plan around mitigating the impact of child
poverty across Leeds. In 2017/2018, a scrutiny enquiry on child poverty recommended that
Children & Families integrated more of a central focus on child poverty. The first Child Poverty
Impact Board met in 2018, and Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds was launched in
2019.
The child poverty strategy has been co-created with children, young people, families with direct
experience of poverty, third, private and public sector, schools, academics and other organisations.
We know that the feeling of being in poverty, the feeling of being excluded and the feeling of being
ashamed can impact a child for the rest of their life. We don’t want this in Leeds. So we are
working together, as a city, to reduce the impact of poverty on young people.
This is our moral imperative
There are 6 workstreams which sit under the Child Poverty Impact Board:
1. Readiness for learning and school aged education
2. Housing and provision
3. Empowering families and safeguarding
4. Financial health and inclusion
5. Transitions and employment
6. Best start for health and wellbeing
Our Ambitions
 We will be innovative, together, to break down the barriers that poverty creates.
 We will be brave, together, to revolutionise the way that Leeds works with children,
young people & families who live in poverty.
 We will fight, together, to ensure that every child & young person who experiences
poverty can thrive.
Thriving has five fundamental principles:

Page 845

1) All work needs to be informed by the knowledge of children, young people and
parents/carers
2) All projects need to work with a wide variety of partners
3) The focus is on changing structures, not individuals
4) We need to reframe the language and understandings that are used
5) Research is incorporated into every project
3.0 Main issues
This section provides an update on each impact workstream, the projects that sit within the
impact workstreams and details responses to COVID-19, impact and next steps

3.1 Financial Health & Inclusion
The aim of this workstream is: We want every family to be equipped with the support,
guidance and safety net needed to live financially secure and stable lives.
This
workstream is led by Lee Hemsworth, Chief Officer Customer Access and Welfare Communities
and Environments
The main projects are: Healthy Holidays, Free School Meals, Winter Grants Scheme, Staff
training, Uniform Re-Use Scheme, Digital Inclusion and Gambling Related Harm
a) Healthy Holidays – update on recent activities


Leeds City Council leads the Healthy Holidays programme in partnership with Leeds
Community Foundation. The programme is predominately funded by the Department for
Education, alongside Council funding and philanthropic donations through Leeds
Community Foundation. For 2020/21, grant funding reached £840,000. From this pot,
£244,000 was allocated to the COVID-19 response after lockdown supporting provision
from April – July spent on food and activities, while £484,000 was allocated to summer
delivery. The rest of the year’s allocation was for limited provision during October half term,
Christmas and spring half term.



For 2021, the Department for Education has significantly scaled up the funding available,
with £220 million allocated nationally. Leeds City Council has been allocated over £3.5
million for delivery over the Easter, Summer and Christmas holiday periods.

Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic


The delivery of the 2020 and early 2021 Healthy Holidays scheme was adapted in line with
COVID-19 requirements measures – for examples activities were switched to online or
activity packs that were delivered at the doorstep; and face to face activities were done
outside where possible, observing requirements for social distancing and numbers.

Healthy Holidays Outcomes and outputs


Over the 2020 summer holiday, the DfE funded scheme was delivered across 30 third
sector groups, 14 school partnerships and 7 Council Community Hubs.



97 data enabled digital devices were purchased and loaned to children and young people
via the Leeds City Council library loan service.



5,482 children and young people were reached over summer (DfE target of 5,000), with a
total of 45,870 portions of food distributed. 70% of participating children and young people
were eligible for Free School Meals.

Page 846



During October, December 2020 and February 2021 9 third sector groups, 6 schools and 3
Leeds City Council Community Hubs supported 2,591 children and young people,
providing 65,671 portions (including weekly hampers) and 2,970 activity packs.



Over Easter, 31 third sector groups, 43 schools and 10 community hubs provided activities
with food. Some groups ran face to face activities, and some groups provided activities and
food delivered to homes and/or online activities. All projects delivered in line with Covid-19
safety requirements.

Case Study/ Feedback:


The quote below is from a family, LS12 based who were shielding due to Covid-19 because
their five-year-old son is living with Leukaemia. They were part of the Community Hub
scheme and received food for their two children, a tablet and activities through the holidays.
The family feedback, through their school revealed:
Parent of two children says, one of my children is going into hospital for an operation and
we have to isolate for 4 weeks, two before and two after, I couldn’t believe it when the box
and bag arrived. We were so excited to go through the things. We had lots of activities
including Lego, there was bread, goodies, crisp, tins etc. This means I don’t have to go out
or find people to shop for me. My children were so excited and could be heard cheering
every time I took an item out. Thank you so much, you really don’t know what a difference
this has made.



As a result of Healthy Holidays, many organisations reported being able to build closer
relationships with the families. This facilitated further support offers and referrals to
additional services where appropriate. An example of feedback from one frontline project
worker further exemplifies the multifaceted benefits of the scheme:
“Every year Healthy Holidays help people in less obvious ways than anticipated. We think it
just addresses the obvious, 'we feed the children and give them something to do' however
each year it demonstrates the opportunities it provides for people. Engagement with
parents means we can help support with other things such as money, housing advice, bills,
adult activities, counselling, volunteering, catering etc. The grant helps us gather
information along the way about people, the area and surroundings. It helps identify gaps
and it connects people, partners, parents, Children and young people and other
organisations as a result”

Healthy Holidays Next Steps


Having run an expanded and successful Easter programme, LCC is now working with
Leeds Community Foundation, schools, community hubs and third sector groups to develop
a significantly larger summer programme, to ensure that schemes reach as many Free
School Meal eligible children and young people as possible.

b) Free School Meals - Update on recent activities


There has been an accelerated increase in the number of FSM claims since COVID-19.
The number of FSM awards in March 2020 was 25,874 and by the beginning of May 2020
was 26,624, an increase of 750 in a two-month period. In comparison, the increase in FSM
awards from January to March 2020 was 610. A recent update from the Council Tax and
Benefits service has indicated that, as of February 2021 the current number of FSM awards
is at 30,740, which includes 177 Asylum Seekers.

Page 847



Of those pupils entitled to a free school meal (FSM) at the January 2020 census, 19,996 or
78.5%, took up the offer of the meal itself from their school, and therefore 5,477 missed out.
Take up is consistently slightly higher in primary schools than in secondary schools. Data is
regularly collected to monitor take-up and the accelerated increase in FSM claims. The
Health and Wellbeing team works closely with schools to encourage take-up.



Pupils who are in school are still eligible to receive free school meals if their parents/carers
meet the benefits-related free school meals eligibility criteria. Pupils in reception, year 1 or
year two who are in school, can also receive their universal infant free school meal. Where
pupils are unable to attend school due to COVID-19 related absence, schools must work
with their catering provider to provide a food parcel that meets the School Food Standards
and will support a pupil with healthy lunches. This is only applicable for pupils who are
entitled to benefits-related free school meals.



The DfE strongly encourages schools to provide food parcels for pupils who are not in
school. In Leeds most primary schools work with Catering Leeds. Catering Leeds provide
hampers for pupils entitled to means tested free school meals. The contents of the hamper
provide 5 balanced meals plus a pudding, drink and a snack. Food is compliant with the
School Food Standards.



Most secondary schools and a small number of primary schools contract private catering
companies or manage their own catering provision. These schools are responsible for
making their own arrangements. If the school has confirmed with their school catering team
or lunch provider that it is not in the best interest of pupils to provide lunch parcels, they can
consider other local arrangements, which might include vouchers for local shops and
supermarkets.

Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic


The Health and Wellbeing Service have worked with the Council Tax and Benefits Service
to support schools and communicate information relating to FSM and COVID-19. A new Elearning training course has been developed to support schools and replace the face-toface training course previously offered.



Full guidance on free school meals during the coronavirus outbreak is available here.

Free school meals - Outcomes and outputs


The Health and Wellbeing Service have worked with council colleagues to produce a
comprehensive and detailed report on free school meals eligibility, COVID-19 and uptake
data for 2019-20. The report also provides key recommendations for schools and the city.
The report was shared with Head teachers and is available here.



During the pandemic when schools were closed most primary schools in Leeds worked with
Catering Leeds to provide hampers for pupils entitled to means tested free school meals.
The contents of the hamper provide 5 balanced meals plus a pudding, drink and a snack.
Food is compliant with the School Food Standards.



Other schools use private catering providers or manage and run their own catering
provision.

Free school meals - Next Steps


The team is constantly monitoring increased demand and will be working with schools to
encourage take up as per the report.



To review data from the January census when available to assess take up of FSM during
the pandemic

Page 848



To further promote the Family Food Leaflet and FSM toolkit so schools and families are
aware of current FSM eligibility and how to claim



To update the FSM E-learning course for schools and frontline workers

c) Winter Grants Scheme – update on recent activities


On the 8th November, 2020, the government announced a £170 million COVID Winter
Grant Scheme (CWGS). This package enabled Local Authorities to provide support to
families with children, other vulnerable households and individuals from early December
2020 and covered the period until the end of March 2021.



The CWGS allocated just over £2.8million to Leeds City Council to support those most in
need with the cost of food, energy (heating, cooking and lighting), water bills (including
sewerage) and other essentials. In February 2021 the government announced that the
COVID Winter Grants Scheme would be extended to 16th April with Leeds being allocated a
further £986,468. In April 2021 the government announced an extension to the scheme
(which has been renamed the COVID Local Support Grant) until 20th June. Leeds will
receive and additional £667,660 in funding.



£1.6 million of the funding was approved to be allocated to for the provision of FSM to
children living in poverty in the city for the Christmas 2020 and February 2021 half-term
holidays. This includes schools being able to access support for an additional 10% more
children that are on their schools roll who aren’t eligible for FSM. The additional allocation
of funding up until 16th April was used to support schools for the provision of FSM for the
Easter school holidays. The latest allocation of funding will be used to provide a FSM
scheme over the May half term.



For the Christmas holidays schools were provided two options; the first was to opt-in to a
central approach within which Leeds City Council in partnership with ASDA provided
hampers for families. This scheme involved Asda and LCC volunteers (approx. 60 FTE)
working together (over a 2-day period for Xmas) to pack hampers, which Asda and DPD
then delivered direct to the homes of the children. The second option was that schools
could elect to administer their own scheme over the holiday period and receive funding per
eligible pupil. Alongside the funding, supplementary information was sent out that covered a
range of options available to the school for securing provision, including linking in with their
catering providers, accessing established hamper schemes and/ or established voucher
schemes.



For February and Easter holidays schools using Catering Leeds as their meal provider
were asked if they wanted to opt in to a hamper scheme for the week or receive funding per
pupil to provide a scheme (hamper or voucher) of their own. All other schools were funded
directly to administer their own scheme. Once again the funding received was based on the
number of children on Free School Meals, in families who have no recourse to public funds
or are on a low income. A similar scheme will be implemented for the May half term.



The remaining funding has been used to provide the following support;
o
o
o

Food, fuel and essential items directly to low income families with children under the
age of 4 and care leavers.
Assistance towards the cost of fuel to families and individuals claiming Council Tax
Support.
Support to third sector organisations and charities who support vulnerable families
and individuals for food and essential items.

Winter Grants Scheme Outcomes and outputs

Page 849





For the Christmas holidays 162 schools opted in equating to 14,866 children receiving
hampers or vouchers and 118 schools opted out equating to 17,333 children receiving
support directly from their schools.
For February half term 32,930 children received support.
For the Easter holiday 33,564 children received support.

Case Study/ Feedback:
The following feedback and quotes have been collected from schools:






“I have to say this has been easy for schools and an amazing service. Well done!!!!”
“Thank you all for your hard work on this. We really appreciate your efforts in making
sure our families have enough food for over the Christmas break”
“From what I have heard so far, parents are pleased with the contents of the hampers.
Personally, I think it's been a really good system. Slightly frantic getting info to and from
parents but much better than the voucher system from last lockdown so thank you!
Everyone will be happy and fed!”
“Thank you. Just heard from the family that they have received them and are extremely
grateful!”

The scheme also provided opportunities to link families into wider support networks. For
example, a single parent on Employment Support Allowance was found to be receiving the
lowest payment. The client emailed the school and additional support was provided, in this
case providing a food hamper and referring the parent to the Emergency Support Network, so
that they can be linked to ongoing support through third sector organisations.
d) Uniform scheme -update on recent activities


Leeds City Council and Leeds Community Foundation have funded Zero Waste Leeds
(ZWL) to bring a co-ordinated uniform reuse scheme to the city. The aim of the scheme is
to reduce the amount of uniforms sent to waste, reduce the stigma of wearing second hand
clothing and tackling poverty through encouraging more families to reuse and donate rather
than to feel pressured to buy new uniform every term. Supporting this work contributes to
the Council’s priorities for tackling poverty and climate change. It is estimated that 122,000
KG of Carbon (CO2) could be saved if every new school starter in Leeds had just one
second-hand school shirt or blouse.



In June 2020, a Facebook group was launched to further conversations, highlight
environmental benefits and help existing schemes connect, share ideas and best practice.
The group also offers signposting for parents and schools to get involved, donate,
volunteer, exchange and access uniform items.



In September 2020, the Inspiration Guide was first launched in Leeds, including advice and
information on running a successful, accessible, engaged uniform re-use service. ZWL
linked in with Healthy Holiday projects and promoted the scheme to all summer provisions.
The Uniform has been distributed via schools and clusters, with schools participating in
Healthy Holidays given first priority. The Inspiration Guide is available here

Uniform Scheme - Outcomes and outputs


ZWL have conducted research and mapped over 90 school uniform re-use opportunities
throughout the city, both in terms of school and independent community schemes.



The scheme has also been able to prevent the waste of a large donation of brand new
uniform, totalling over 10,000 individual uniform items (1147 boxes), with a retail value of
approximately £72,500.

Page 850



To date, 28 schools have ordered, received and distributed uniform donations to families in
need, with a limited amount still available to order via school clusters.



Publically available resources for Uniform Reuse now available, are on the School Uniform
Exchange Facebook page, the digital inspiration guide to setting up or getting involved in
Uniform Reuse schemes and the digital map of existing schemes (both independent and
school led) in the city.

Uniform Scheme - Next Steps


ZWL have now been awarded funding for ‘Phase two’ of the project. As well as continuing
to develop the original project. Phase two will see the launch of the ‘The Big Leeds School
Uniform Giveaway’ a bi-annual city wide event consisting of pop up shops run by
community groups and schemes. A tailored Leeds School Uniform Exchange web platform
to improve access and search facilities and allowing the scheme to become user-led is also
to be launched as part of this phase.



Further expansion for the project is currently being explored, particularly in regards to ways
that the ‘Making Second Hand the First Choice for Leeds’ message can be translated to
include other resources that children may need such as digital devices, stationery and
backpacks

e) Gambling Related Harm - Update on recent activities


The 2018/19 Leeds My Health, My School survey found that 24% of secondary aged pupils
had taken part in gambling activity, in comparison, 13% had smoked a cigarette, 7% had
tried illegal drugs and 51% had tried alcohol. Of the secondary aged pupils that had
gambled; 65% did so with their parent/carer’s knowledge. The most popular types of
gambling were via gaming or skin betting (21%), bingo (20%) and betting on sporting
events (19%). The findings of this survey have been the impetus to initiate work to ensure
schools, children and parents are aware of the issues surrounding underage gambling,
particularly online, and the links to harmful behaviours.



Building on this work, council officers from Children’s Services, Public Health and the
Financial Inclusion Team are working with GamCare and the Young Gamblers and Gamers
Education Trust (YGAM) to develop over the next year a communications campaign and a
training programme to raise awareness of the issue.



The campaign and training is being developed through engagement with young people, to
help understand and discuss their views on gambling and gaming, what activities they
perceive as harmless or harmful, gambling advertising and regulation, and methods of
promoting help and support services. The targeted age range for this work has been 11-18
years old.



The Child Gambling Steering Group is also developing a longer term Communications Plan
for 2021, to include joint working with online counselling platforms for young people
MindMate and Kooth.



The Leeds Safeguarding Children’s Partnership website featured a pre-Christmas article on
online safety to which information on gambling within gaming was added. This gave parents
practical pointers (e.g. set time and spending limits) and links to support websites.

Gambling Related Harm Outcomes and outputs


Through working with the Voice, Influence and Change Team and the Leeds Safeguarding
and Children Partnership, two focus groups and surveys of young people have been

Page 851

undertaken since October 2020 to inform this work. In total, 11 young people attended the
focus groups and 130 responses have been gathered from the online surveys.


One of the messages agreed by young people was that we should be talking about risks of
gambling and gambling as part of gaming e.g. financial or mental health impacts, to
counter-balance the ‘fun’ side.



Children’s Mental Health Week (1-7 February 2021) presented an opportunity to test some
messages on Instagram, Facebook and Twitter.



The council social media platforms promoted two sponsored posts which were seen by
more than 35,000 people (almost 100,000 impressions).



Polls on Instagram Stories proved to be a useful engagement tool, they were completed
over 200 times.



Poll results confirmed that most people underestimated the scale of gambling participation
among young people (equivalent to 15,000 pupils in Leeds), they did not know where to get
help and support for child gambling.

Case Study/ Feedback: Quotes from young people as part of the “Youth Voice” online survey:


“Most of the time you spend a lot of money and don’t get anywhere near what you spend
back. Stats show only 13.5% of gamblers ever win. It is also highly addictive.”



“I think it’s so normalised in today’s age, especially amongst young lads who aren’t exactly
as open about their mental health, it’s an escape. Thinking twice, knowing the risks … it
needs to be less normalised and people need to learn from a younger age the effects of
gambling and they need to see videos docs just how people were taught about drugs and
bullying.”



“It’s not easy to stop an addiction it can lead you down a road of risks like starvation
homelessness and losing your family and friends cause of it. It’s okay to do it once in a
while but try to pull yourself away.”



“Show shocking statistics about how gambling will affect people. Don't sugar coat it
because if you do they might not take it seriously.”



“More highlighting of what gambling companies do to get you hooked - free daily giveaways
and stuff like that.”

Gambling Related Harm Next Steps


f)

The full results of the focus group work and social media promotion are being analysed and
processed to inform future communications planning and training packages during 2021.

Digital Inclusion Update on recent activities


It has been recognised that existing digital exclusion issues in the city for both children and
adults have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Leeds City Council and
partners are looking at ways to tackle these issues through existing schemes such as
Healthy Holidays and 100% Digital Leeds.

Digital Inclusion Outcomes and outputs

Page 852



Healthy Holidays (HH) 2020 supported digitally excluded children by:
a) Purchasing and lending 97 iPads with data allowance to HH community hubs and
schools, with support from 100% Digital Leeds
b) Funding the Tech Angels initiative, managed by Solidaritech CIC as part of Digital
Access West Yorkshire. They have a target of securing 200 donated laptops to
refurbish and donate, with a data allowance, to children via Healthy Holidays
community groups. https://tech-angels.net/donate/

Digital Inclusion Next Steps



The Council is also currently exploring further options for new initiatives which could
provide digital devices for those in need. This will involve working with teams across
departments, as well as alongside external partners such as Leeds Credit Union, Leeds
Community Foundation and Zero Waste Leeds.

3.2 Best Start for Health & Wellbeing
The aim of this workstream is: We want every Leeds baby from conception to age two to have
the best start in life, especially those who are the most vulnerable. This workstream is led by
Kathryn Ingold the Chief Officer - Public Health
a. Perinatal Education – update on recent activities


The Baby Steps service works with vulnerable pregnant women and families and they
have continued to provide antenatal and postnatal support during this time. This support
has been provided over the telephone and via digital means and where this has not been
possible they have delivered physical resources to people’s homes. Children and Families
PH Team have managed to secure funding to improve digital access to perinatal education
and support groups. This funding will be used by partner organisations to deliver vital
services such as Baby Steps virtually - with the ability to loan devices to families with no
access to the necessary equipment. Practitioners will also use these contacts as an
opportunity to share key COVID 19 messages, encourage testing, self-isolation and
promote the welfare services that will enable parents-to-be, children, young people and
their families to stay well during the pandemic.



The 0-19 Public Health Integrated Nursing Service (PHINS) have produced a digital
Preparation for Birth and Beyond (PBB) resource to support families and as of October
2020 are piloting delivery of virtual groups in three areas across the city via Microsoft
Teams. Bosom Buddies breastfeeding support services have adapted during this time and
have continued to provide support to hundreds of women and families via digital means running successful weekly Zoom support groups, and continuing one to one support over
Zoom and the phone. The Perinatal Parenting Programmes Network (3Ps) has now
resumed and provides an opportunity for services to provide updates at this time of change
and it facilitates learning between groups and organisations. The next 3Ps meeting will
focus on trauma informed care and also supporting a traumatised workforce to support
families

Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic


Face to face delivery of perinatal education programmes has clearly been impacted by
COVID-19 and the associated restrictions. Services have worked hard to continue to

Page 853

support families and they continue to adapt their service provision as the situation evolves
with services being adapted to virtual delivery as detailed below.

Perinatal Education Outcomes and outputs
Baby Steps
 The Baby Steps Service have received 189 referrals (April 2020 – Dec 2020), have
completed 130 home visits and 76 mums have attended 6 or more virtual sessions.
 Service User Feedback:
 Went really well. Better than expected. At first was concerned how we were going to do
it because of covid but it worked really well. Got all the information needed and watched
the video links by email.
 I looked forward to it each week.
 The only thing to have made this experience better would have being able to meet other
expectant mums however that could not have been helped due to the current pandemic
 With regard to Zoom Breast Feeding Support they are seeing around 20 women on each
weekly call.
Preparation for Birth and Beyond (PBB)
 Currently 3 groups are running (17 attendees) with 2 more planned in the coming weeks.
We are currently working with the provider to increase number of virtual groups and to reintroduce the face to face PBB offer as soon as possible.
 Recent small virtual PBB group facilitated. All attendees reported how beneficial it was to
be able to access the course virtually. They had all felt quite isolated as they had been
working from home. They enjoyed being able to chat with other parents to be and have now
started a WhatsApp group so they can stay in touch. Another group have recently all had
their babies and in the postnatal catch up session they all reported how valuable it had
been to get to know others and they have continued to use the WhatsApp group for peer
support.
 For all virtual groups run so far the activities evaluated well as people said that they felt that
they were able to get involved. One lady who hadn't considered breastfeeding said that she
would, after hearing information on the course, offer her baby the first feed. The information
around brain development and pathways was well received, and people reported that they
were not aware just how much babies did and how they communicate. People reported that
they would feel more confident knowing how to communicate with baby and how to
recognise different baby states.
 Another currently running course has a larger number of attendees. There are five fathers
attending and they report they can do this because the course is virtual and they are
working from home. They are enjoying having the opportunity to explore parenthood with
other couples.
 As well as the already discussed benefit of meeting other parent to be, other themes from
evaluations included the benefits of knowing about antenatal relaxation, baby brain
development, touching bump/playing music/reading to baby antenatally and more
confidence in feeding and caring for baby.


Feedback has been very positive – 100% would recommend it
o “It’s good to meet other people who are pregnant at last”
o “Really informative and have looked forward to coming each week”
o “It was good to get the facts around safe sleep”
o “Having a small group was brilliant it made it easy to chat and comment”
o “Great to hear that you are not alone, others are going through the same thing”
o “Got to meet other mums”

Page 854

Perinatal Education Next Steps


To further roll out virtual antenatal parent education and support those who are digitally
excluded to access such support.

b. Best Beginnings/Baby Buddy App Update on recent activities


Best Beginnings have updated the content on the app in relation to COVID-19 and
pregnancy. In Leeds there has been a further drive to direct women and families to the
Baby Buddy app for support during the lockdown. Promotion of the app and its particular
usefulness during this time has been achieved via local practitioner networks and social
media communications at a city wide level.

Best Beginnings/Baby Buddy Outcomes and outputs


There were 3388 downloads of Baby Buddy in Leeds during 2020, over one third of the
birth cohort. The report shows continued consistent downloads from parents-to-be in Leeds
with an increase in downloads Sept-Dec in comparison to the previous two years. The
highest downloads were recorded in Chapel Allerton, Middleton park, Burmantofts and
Richmond Hill and Moortown by mothers in the 25-30 age range.

Best Beginnings/Baby Buddy Next Steps





Further promotion is needed to reach the diverse population in Leeds and future insight
work with target populations will inform this. Professional staff forums give the opportunity
to regularly remind staff about the benefits of offering Baby Buddy. To support this a short
infomercial will be re-shared with staff along with opportunity for discussion and sharing
ideas with an aim to increase downloads. The information is already shared in regular
newsletters and this will continue.
A new 3.0 version of Baby Buddy is in the testing phase and will be ready to roll out later
this year. New promotional resources will be made available to teams to encourage even
more parents-to-be, especially fathers, to download the app.
Statistics regarding the reach of Baby Buddy are available on request

3.3 Empowering Families & Safeguarding
The aim of this workstream is: We want to change the structure around social care to better
support children, young people and families living in poverty. This workstream is led by
Farrah Khan, Head of Service / Principal Social Worker, Children and Families Service
Update on recent activities
Framework for Practitioners
 The framework for practitioners has now been developed and has been made available to
all practitioners who work with children and families. It can be accessed from the Leeds
Safeguarding Children Partnership website. The content of the framework was launched on
4th December 2020 with a follow up month of poverty themed activities, webinars,
resources and briefings on the theme of Poverty Awareness for Practitioners. The
framework forms an integral part of social work induction in Leeds; and feedback from
practitioners is that they feel more confident in having conversations about poverty.
Workforce Development

Page 855



A survey was sent out across the service to identify training needs so we can adapt the
workforce development offer. Feedback from the survey has been collated and will be used
to inform the workforce development offer. To be efficient and effective in reaching
practitioners on a large scale, webinars, briefings and resources will be collated and
incorporated into the workforce development offer. This work will include feedback from
people with lived experiences to help practitioners understand how to support and what is
helpful, what is not. Master Classes around poverty have been held. The financial inclusion
team, which is based in communities and Environment directorate in Leeds City Council
has worked with the 3 social work area teams around understanding entitlement to benefits
and support for families including where they can access help. During December’s Poverty
Awareness Month; the financial inclusion team delivered briefing sessions online to the
workforce, and attending area team meetings.

Connecting services


This part of the workstream has grown and developed more with a clear theme emerging of
the strength of community and third sector engagement. After the launch of Poverty
Awareness month in December our next steps will be to create more community based
forums for third sector, community groups and Children and Families Services and the
wider council to connect. Through the connections already built, there has been a clearer
pathway to target need and distribute resources. For example, a large supply of toiletries
such as shower gels, shampoo and conditioner donated by a local charity was acquired
through this building connections work by the Families First Manager and again these were
given to families who needed them. Another example was partnering with Hamara centre
to provide work with community leader on the provision of cultural food. We also worked
with a group called Damasq who support refugees and asylum seekers to provide digital
devices to all children on their caseloads who didn’t have them and funded a school
tutoring programme for parents who have English as a second language. It is clear that
there is a lot of good will in Leeds on a localised and city wide level, but the connecting of
services has enabled a more cohesive response to need. The expansion of this work
stream is key to tackling the impact of poverty.



There is ongoing work with community leaders and a recent session was delivered by
Children and Families staff regarding early help and the support that is available from early
help services. We also have the Stronger Families programme which is focused on
supporting families where there are multiple barriers to progressing to work.

Empowering Families & Safeguarding Outcomes and outputs


In total we ran 11 events in the month of December with approximately 200 staff attending
from Children and Families wider workforce as well as voluntary sector



The workforce development offer in December has significant interest and excellent
feedback and included:
 Launch of the Leeds Tackling Poverty Framework
 Masterclass - The Impact of Poverty
 Masterclass - What is Poverty?
 Social Justice and Universal Credit
 Financial Inclusion
 Leeds Community Gambling Service
 Surviving Economic Abuse webinar on ‘Economic Abuse

 In addition, we provided the workforce with a toolkit of resources such as webinars and
films to aid ongoing learning

Page 856

 Since July last year poverty has been included as a factor on Mosaic (electronic recording
system). This means that we can record poverty as a factor for children who are referred to
the Front Door. Since July 2020 we have had 174 child contacts and early help contacts
where poverty was one of the known factors. (We believe this does not accurately reflect
numbers as can only be recorded if it is known at the point of referral)
 What the information does tell us that the highest number of children who had poverty as a
factor, also had a physical disability or illness. Abuse or neglect, domestic violence and
homelessness were other factors that were high in numbers when poverty was also a
factor. This data though a small sample, shows our most vulnerable children are more likely
to living in poverty.
 Case Studies are available on request


Work has commenced to look at how we collate quantitative and qualitative data including
identifying poverty as a factor at the point of first contact with Early Help or Social Work
Service and gathering the lived experience of people using services to learn and better our
offer. A questionnaire has been designed to seek feedback from users of services and to
learn how to improve lived experiences and this will be translated to the 11 most common
languages so we can begin to understand cultural different aspects poverty. We are
exploring options for a reporting tool re quality and quantity of our support.

Empowering Families & Safeguarding Next Steps


We have recently been successful in a DfE innovation bid through partners in practice and
this Leeds City Council project will distribute short term funding to the 22 Clusters which
support schools, so they can invest in innovative approaches to providing practical support
for families to mitigate family poverty, and to add to the delivery of services that will have a
positive protective impact on families and communities during the pandemic. They will also
support workers in Leeds to adapt to changed ways of working, utilising practice
approaches developed by the Rethink Team to provide a high quality services to families.
This funding amounts to £390,000 up to end of March 2021 and the money will be spent on
additional mental health support, expanding an online positive parenting programme (Triple
P), and additional outreach support for young people at risk, food support and a range of
other services to support the impact of covid. Our 22 clusters directly received £200,000 in
total and will also benefit from the city wide spending as detailed above



The workforce development team is planning to offer learning and development on poverty
related themes as part of their annual offer. This will include holding the Poverty Awareness
Month in December each year, collating resources and sharing them with the workforce,
working with poverty being a key part of induction for Newly Qualified Social Workers
(NQSW) and continuation of master classes around poverty.



In the next few months, a survey will be launched to understand how social care is viewed,
and what experiences of social care parents have had. This will be primarily electronic, but
with optional paper copies, and it will be translated into a range of languages.



To continue to look at how we collate quantitative and qualitative data and roll out survey as
detailed above



Families First team are working in conjunction with the Communities directorate to identify
areas in Leeds to launch Asset Based Community Development (ABCD) projects. This
would see members of the community being trained to signpost and support other
members of the community. We also hope that we would be able to offer accredited
training to Level 2 in Early Interventions.

Page 857



We are working with Leeds Community Foundation who have been successful in securing
a free print run. Education services are providing key stage documents that we can print
out and we will target children who do not have digital access at home through schools and
clusters.

3.4 Housing & Provision
The aim of this workstream is: We want every family to live in housing that is safe, appropriate
and affordable. The housing focus remains on two specific areas of work; the implementation of
Selective Licensing to improve housing conditions and support for families and the enhanced
income service to ensure we maximise household income through a range of benefit and
Universal Credit related support. This workstream is led by Gerard Tinsdale,Chief Officer Housing,
Resources and Housing
a. Enhanced Income Update on recent activities
 Between April 2020 and December 2020 the Housing Officer Income Team worked with
4385 households, securing just over £3million additional income in total for them. Of these
households, 1385 were households with children, helping secure around £983,000 in
additional income. The average amount secured for each household with children the team
worked with is around £710. Income for households with children from has been sourced
from a range, some 16 different sources, with the top five income streams generating the
most additional income for households with children being:
 Personal Independence Payments
£290,000
 Universal Credit
£533,000
 Housing Benefit
£1,208,000
 Discretionary Housing Payments
£260,000
 Council Tax Support
£241,000
Enhanced Income Outcomes and outputs
 April – December 2020 - £3 million additional income for 4385 households; of which 1385
households we with children; securing £983,000 additional income
Case studies:
i.

Joint Tenants no longer living as husband and wife: Mr & Mrs B are joint tenants with
two children, but no longer in a relationship. This provided complications with benefit
entitlement involving both Housing Benefit and Universal Credit (UC). Mr B was difficult to
engage with initially and struggled putting his trust in any form of support work. Our
Housing Officer Income managed to develop a relationship with Mr B and assisted him in
making a claim for UC, whereby both tenants were receiving the correct housing support.
Our Housing Officer Income successfully appealed a Housing Benefit overpayment and
secured ‘Under Occupancy’ exemptions for both claims, ensuring full rent is payable
moving forward. Following the intensive work carried out by our Housing Officer Income, Mr
B agreed to further housing support referrals being made, ensuring he is supported in the
long term helping make a more sustainable financial future for the children’s parents.

ii.

A vulnerable young person: Miss C is a young tenant who is pregnant and was suffering
from domestic violence and financial abuse from her partner. The team’s Housing Officer
Income:
 Identified this as a Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) case and
liaised with all relevant professionals ensuring all safeguarding concerns were
reported.

Page 858





Made referrals to the Leeds Welfare Support Scheme to assist with emergency food
and utility costs
Liaised with DWP who backdated Universal Credit Housing element costs, clearing
£1,700 of rent arrears.
Helped the tenant with an online banking application to prevent benefits being paid
into her abusers account, which had led to incidents of financial abuse in the past.

Social services are now undertaking a financial capabilities assessment and ongoing support is
being providing by Engage Leeds.
Enhanced Income Next Steps
 Moving forward we are determined to ensure that we continue to provide the best support
possible to our tenants. We are exploring ways to mainstream our approach to UC within
the service. There have been improved outcomes achieved during the pandemic, through
working from home and supporting tenants through telephone and online means. While we
may wish to move some types of work back to face to face in the future, we are committed
to learning from the pandemic and maintaining these improved practices where
appropriate.
b. Selective Licensing Update on recent activities





This scheme will introduce licensing for all privately rented properties in 2 identified areas in
Leeds; Harehills and Beeston. It is essentially a licence to ensure standards are met by
Landlords which aims to improve housing conditions for residents in Leeds.
Unfortunately, the pandemic has materially affected the implementation of selective
licensing in both Beeston and Harehills. Whilst we have continued to visit and inspect
properties were we have safely been able to do so based on Government guidance, we
have and are still not in a position to undertake proactive visits, door knocking street by
street as originally planned before COVID. This has meant that we have not been able to
start to cross the threshold of properties as planned and proactively address conditions,
management of the property and mean the issues individuals and families may be facing
with partners to make the difference to lives. At present it is difficult to plan to determine
when we will be able to start this activity as we need to make sure that it will be safe for all
parties involved.
We have been continuing to process licences and have now started to issue both draft and
final licences following the suspension of requesting the payment of licence fees. In
addition, we have investigated those landlords were evidence is available and it is safe to
gather who have not applied for a licence and potentially operating illegally. We have 52
properties currently under investigation of which 36 have been commenced with a view to
taking formal legal action

Selective Licensing Outcomes and outputs


Whilst the service has continued to address conditions in properties and deal with the
needs of those who we have received queries from partners or residents this has been
based on Government guidance and no proactive visits have been able to be undertaken.

Selective Licensing Next Steps




To continue to investigate all cases based on Government guidance
To continue the licensing process to allow compliance visits to occur as soon as safe to do
so to ensure safe living conditions and to work with partners to address needs
To continue to target landlords who fail in their legal duties but support those who do

3.5 Employment & Transitions

Page 859

The aim of this workstream is: We want every young person and family to have the relevant
skills and experience to access and secure well paid employment. This workstream is led by
Martyn Long, Head of Service Employment and Skills
Employment and Transitions – update on recent activities


The various stages of restrictions have had an impact on the Leeds economy. The latest
Government data shows that 43,100 people were furloughed in Leeds in November 2020.
The continuation of the Government’s furlough scheme means that it is still too soon to
know the full impact on job losses throughout 2021, although it is likely to be significant.



The Universal Credit (UC) claimant figures for December, published on 26 January, show
the provisional count of people claiming UC (in and out-of-work) in Leeds was 73,079. This
is an increase of 1,998 on the previous month and an increase of 106% since March 2020.
Of these claimants, 43,302 were not in employment in November, an increase of 773 on
the previous month and an increase of over 82% since March 2020. All wards in Leeds
have seen an increase in unemployment and an increased uptake of in and out-of-work
benefits but there has been a disproportionate impact on our poorest communities. The
most affected wards are Gipton and Harehills with over 6,000 UC claimants in December
and Burmantofts and Richmond Hill with over 5,000 followed by Armley and Middleton Park
wards. These are also the wards with the highest number of children living in low income
families.

Employment Support Services


The Employment and Skills service offers a wide range of targeted employment support
programmes and employer-led sector specific interventions alongside the universal
information, advice and guidance offer available from Jobshops in Community Hubs.
Recruitment activity has continued to take place during the pandemic.



The service also delivers and commissions adult learning (post 19 years) in community
settings to re-engage local residents in learning each year. This provision is targeted to the
20% most deprived SOAs with a focus on Priority Neighbourhoods. This includes Family
English, Maths and Language (FEML) provision designed for parents (or other carers of
children) with English and Maths needs, or is for families where English is not the primary
language. Often these courses are linked to schools or Children’s Centres, 636 parents
attended a FEML course during the 2019 /20 academic year.



New methods of delivery were supported to include blended learning e.g. digital delivery
through mobile phones coupled with home learning options, remote delivery options to
include outdoor learning and the return to face to face learning when restrictions permitted
with reworked delivery spaces to ensure Covid secure. In addition, the development of
home learning resource packs with a flexible approach to increase pastoral support with a
particular focus on vulnerable learners and to include learners who are unable to access
online learning.

Partnership Activity

Page 860



In October the Leeds Economic Recovery Framework was developed and sets out an
approach with the aim that would enable the Council and the city to adapt quickly during this
uncertain period, whilst striving to build more resilience into the Leeds economy and continuing
to deliver Inclusive Growth. The 3 pillars underline the approach and is centred on the need
to:
•
•
•

Respond. Where required, continue to take immediate actions to support
businesses, workers and the economy as we have done since lockdown in March
2020.
Reset and Renew. Ensure we understand the challenges and opportunities that we
face in recovery and that we have a clear focus and direction on the projects and
partnerships that will address them.
Build Resilience. Maintain a long term view of our aspirations to deliver inclusive
growth, address the climate emergency and be the best city for health and
wellbeing. Ensure that our decisions lead us towards these goals.

Employment and Transitions outcomes and outputs


A total of 2,701 people were supported into work by the service in period April – December
2020. Jobs were secured across all sectors with the largest numbers in health and care,
food retail, logistics, distribution and transport, digital and technology



Parents can access a range of employment support services and data collected across
quarter 1 to quarter 3 (April to December 2020) recorded a total of 2,980 new customers
accessing the services of which 19% had a child under 16 years of age and 7% were lone
parent. This is lower than in the same period in the previous year. While this information is
requested of service users, a number prefer not to provide this information.

AprilDecember 2020

No. of
residents
supported

Jobshops
ESIF 18 plus
ESIF Routeway
ESIF YEP
(NEET)
Total


Residents supported with a
child under 16 yrs

Lone Parents
supported

Number

% of total

Number

% of total

607

174

29%

66

11%

1,425

299

21%

105

7%

510

38

7%

13

3%

348

24

7%

5

1%

2,890

535

19%

189

7%

In the academic year 2019/20, 4,988 adults enrolled on a community based delivered or an
online skills courses through the Adult Learning Programme, of whom 58% of learners are
from the top 20% most deprived SOAs in the city. Delivery of the 2020/21 programme
commenced in September with 16 commissioned providers delivering online courses with
an increased focused on digital skills and work focused courses. Since the start of the new
academic year, September 2020, 490 courses have been advertised on the Leeds Adult
Learning website.

April- December 2020
Adult Learning
(Academic Year
2019/20)

No. of
residents
supported
4,988

Residents supported with
a child under 16 yrs
Number

% of total

636 (FEML)

13%

Page 861

Lone Parents
supported
% of
Number
total
204

4%

Employment and Transitions – next steps

 Employment and Skills support will remain a vital part of what we will be doing to aid
recovery. This includes the continued efforts of the Leeds Inclusive Anchors Network and
partners across the Employment and network to aid collaboration between partners from
across sectors to provide support for priority groups and sectors impacted by the
coronavirus pandemic.

3.6 Readiness for Learning & School Aged Education
The aim of this workstream is: We want to improve the educational experiences and outcomes
of children and young people who live in poverty. This has been incorporated into the 3As
strategy and Leeds Year of Reading. The main project underneath this project is: Period Products.
This workstream is led by Karen Jessup, Principal Educational Psychologist, Children and Families
Period Products – update on recent activities


In a project that has been co-produced with young people, Leeds has developed a period
products scheme, within which free period products are being distributed in schools and
community hubs. The aim of the scheme is to provide period products for all those who
may find it difficult to access them, and to decrease the stigma around periods. The
scheme is a result of a partnership with young people and parents, third, private, public
sector organisations, schools and the University of Leeds. This project was established in
2018, and has been managed through a partnership of Children & Families, Communities &
Environments and Civic Enterprise Leeds. Financial support for the scheme was
established through private sector sponsors, elected members and Children & Families.
Prior to the pandemic, products were sent out to schools and community hubs through
Civic Enterprise Leeds.

Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic


During the pandemic, products were instead distributed through the emergency food
response, key third sector organisations and Catering Leeds. After the first lockdown, the
scheme reverted to distributing products through schools and the open community hubs.

Period Products - Outcomes and outputs


Since October 2019 over 52,000 packs of products have been distributed in Leeds across
schools and community hubs and interest and demand continues to be consistently
demonstrating a need across the city. Qualitative feedback on the impact of the scheme is
planned to be gathered, however the pandemic has delayed this piece of work.

Period Products - Next Steps
 Qualitative feedback will be gathered as soon as it is safe and possible to do so within
schools and community hubs.

3.7 Tackling poverty and inequality
This is an area of work that sits above the impact workstreams, and is fundamental to the work of
the board and all of the projects.
Tackling poverty and inequality update on recent activities

Page 862



In March 2020 Leeds City Council started outreach, engagement and communication with
residents who have been disproportionally impacted by COVID-19. This work was able to
commence rapidly due to the existing partnerships that already existed in the City.



A targeted and citywide approach to communication and engagement has been developed
to respond to the crisis working with voluntary and community organisations, businesses
and statutory partners.



Task groups have been established to identify strong, clear, evidence based COVID-19
messages to aid more effective communication with communities and priority groups which
can be championed by local leaders and communities. Key messages are tailored and
communicated using a variety of formats - infographics, British Sign Language (BSL), easy
read formats, audio, video, street signage, social media, community radio stations.
Translated messages have also been produced in the top 12 languages used in the City.



The Communities of Interest network was established to ensure information and support
connects with the most marginalised and vulnerable communities in Leeds. The network
brings together representatives from diverse communities from across Leeds to discuss
and identify priority needs/issues and opportunities. Membership includes organisations
representing Black Asian Minority Ethnic (BAME), migrant and disability groups.



The Leeds Outbreak Plan has identified specific work and resources for the Third Sector
through the Communities of Interest Network. This builds on existing capacity and
capability of the Third Sector to take a proactive, preventative and asset based approach to
prevent and manage outbreaks in local communities and communities of interest. As well
as, promoting community trust and engagement in the COVID-19 plan. By utilising
expertise and networks we have been able to tailor our approach to prevention, outbreak
management, testing, tracing, communication and support, further enhancing local two-way
dialogue.

Tackling poverty and inequality - Outcomes and outputs




Work continues in the city to understand the differential and disproportionate impact of
COVID-19 on inequality. Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities is already an important
ambition for the city and for Leeds City Council and a range of interventions had already
been established through a new place-based, more integrated approach to service delivery
in some of our poorest neighbourhoods.
Since this issue was last considered by the Citizens and Communities Multi-Agency Silver
Group, work continues at a local, regional and national level on the impact of COVID-19 on
inequalities. The key message is still that COVID-19 is not the great leveller and has shone
a light on the great divides in our society. Over recent weeks, more data and analysis has
been published, both on the direct health impacts of COVID-19, but also on the emerging
social and economic consequences. On the 2nd June, Public Health England (PHE),
published the findings on how different factors such as age, sex and ethnicity affect COVID19 risks and outcomes. Age is the most significant risk factor. Of people diagnosed with
COVID-19, those who were 80+ were seventy times more likely to die than those under 40.

Tackling poverty and inequality - Next Steps


4

During the COVID-19 pandemic locality working ceased operating under its normal
arrangements. This was to enable work to take place to support and respond to COVID-19
crisis work. This work is ongoing and is progressing through stages of development

Corporate considerations

4.1 Consultation and engagement

Page 863

4.1.1 Extensive consultation has been carried out with regards to this strategy, with private, public,
third and education sectors, children, young people and parents, universities and community
groups.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1

Equality and diversity issues have been considered throughout this work. Disadvantaged
pupils are not a single group; characteristics such as Special Education Need and Disability
(SEND), ethnicity and English as an Additional Language (EAL) interact with disadvantage
with varying impacts on progress rates, gaps with non-disadvantaged pupils and the long
term impact of disadvantage.

4.2.2

Equality Improvement Priorities have been developed to ensure our legal duties are met
under the Equality Act 2010. The priorities will help the council to achieve its ambition to be
the best city in the UK and ensure that as a city work takes place to reduce disadvantage,
discrimination and inequalities of opportunity. Screening form attached at appendix 1.

4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1

This report provides information on poverty, which is a key city regional and national
challenge. This priority is reflected in all city strategies contributing to the strong economy
compassionate city including the Best Council Plan 2018/19-2020/21, the Inclusive Growth
Strategy, the Joint Health and Well Being Plan and the Tackling Poverty and Inequality
Executive Board report, discussed in December 2018.

4.3.2

Equality Improvement Priorities 2016 – 2020 have been developed to ensure that the
council meets its legal duties under the Equality Act 2010 by helping the council to identify
work and activities that reduce disadvantage, discrimination and inequalities of opportunity.

4.3.3

The work fulfils some of the best council objectives and priorities as defined in the Best
Council Plan 2018/19-2020/21. These include; improving educational achievement gaps;
providing skills programmes and employment support; improving school attendance and
reducing the percentage of young people who are not in Education Employment or Training
(NEET)

4.3.4

The strategy aligns with local and city wide strategies such as the Priority Neighbourhoods
work, the Children and Young People’s Plan, Child Friendly Leeds, Future in Mind Strategy,
and the Best City for Learning
Climate Emergency

4.3.5

As the climate continues to change, extreme weather patterns across the globe will become
increasingly common. The knock on effects of these changes will be profound, however it is
hard to determine what specifically they will look like. What is certain is that there will be
scarcity of various resources, such as food and energy, which could lead to a price
increase, which will have a disproportionate impact on people who live in poverty. We
should seek to mitigate the impact of poverty and reduce insecurity and inequality around
these basic needs to build strengthened communities for the future.

4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1

This report provides an update on existing services provided by the Council, schools and
other partners. Any costs to the Council due to COVID-19 will be fed through to the
financial reporting associated with this. This report does not introduce new areas of
strategy, however should a need for this be identified in future this will take into account
current financial pressures and the need for savings to be identified across the Council.
Where possible, a partnership approach would continue to be implemented, to pool
resources from a variety of directorates and sectors across Leeds.

Page 864

4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1

This report is subject to call in.

4.6

Risk management

4.6.1

None

5

Conclusions

5.1

Experiencing poverty has a significant correlation to poorer outcomes across a wide range
of life indicators. This is a problem that is growing, both in Leeds and nationally, and it is
clear that a radical approach is needed to reduce the impact of poverty.

5.2

In Leeds, we believe that a young person’s life chances should not be impacted by their
background or the area in which they live. We want to ensure that poverty presents no
barriers for our children and young people, and we want all people to have access to the
same opportunities, regardless of their background. We believe that all children and young
people should have the freedom to choose their pathway, and that we can work together as
a city to tackle any limitations that poverty may place on these pathways. This is a moral
imperative

5.3

We also know the challenges that are faced, both by the people who live in poverty, and by
the services who work across the city. We need to focus on mitigating the impact of poverty
on children and young people whilst we work as a city to improve the structures around
people who experience, or are at risk of, poverty.

5.4

For this reason, we need to continue to work as a city, to share our understandings,
knowledge and practice, to learn about the day to day impact of poverty for children and
young people and then to work with children and young people to tackle this impact.

6

Recommendations

6.1

That Executive Board endorses the strategic framework in place to mitigate the impact of
child poverty, and the work being undertaken by the council and other partners in the key
areas of activity.

6.2

The Executive Board acknowledges the need to promote the work of the Thriving strategy
across the city and in particular in each respective Members’ portfolio in order to highlight
the impact of poverty on children and their families.

6.3

The Executive Board invites the Board to note that the officer responsible for this strategy is
the Deputy Director Children and Families; working in partnership across the council
directorates.

7

Background documents10
None

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
10

Page 865

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest
opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already
been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Children & Families

Service area: children and families

Lead person: Julie Longworth

Contact number: 01133786386

1. Title: Thriving: A Child Poverty Strategy
Is this a:
X Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The Child Poverty strategy has been created based on consultation from a wide range of
partners. The main report reflects upon the barriers faced by children who live in poverty
and looks at how council directorates and a large range of partners can do more for
children living in poverty in Leeds. The content of the strategy is being screened to
ensure that there are no negative impacts on equality, diversity, cohesion or integration.
Executive board requested oversight of monitoring the impact of the actions taken under
each priority workstream in the strategy. This will include qualitative and quantitative
information reported twice a year.

EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 867

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment,
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No
X

X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The Child Poverty Strategy has been developed in consultation with a wide range of
partners. Placing prominence on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is key to
EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 868

2

this work, as it aims to improve the lives of those who experience poverty. A key
stakeholder in our work is children and we have ensured that the voices and experiences
of children living in Leeds is at the forefront of our strategy. Children and young people
will be consulted as we understand the impact of mitigating poverty.
There is a focus on Equality and Diversity & Cohesion and Integration throughout our
strategy and this will be highlighted as we report on the impact and outcomes. The
Equality and Diversity & Cohesion and Integration section within this report highlights that
equality and diversity issues have been considered throughout the work in developing the
strategy. We have recognised that disadvantaged children are not a single group;
characteristics such as Special Education Need and Disability (SEND), ethnicity and EAL
(English as an Additional Language) interact with disadvantage with varying impacts on
progress rates, gaps with non-disadvantaged pupils and the long term impact of
disadvantage.
Equality Improvement Priorities have been developed to ensure our legal duties are met
under the Equality Act 2010.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The Child Poverty strategy is focused upon eliminating the impact of experiencing
poverty, which has provided the opportunity for partnerships to form between external
and internal partners. We recognise the variations in the complexity and breadth of the
impacts of poverty, and are therefore addressing the impacts of experiencing poverty
from a multi-organisational approach, which is based upon inclusive and equal
partnerships. The strategy incorporates the formation of strong relationships between
children and young people, council directorates, schools, education provisions,
academics, third sector, private sector, public sectors, and community representatives to
work on policies and projects which are low cost, but provide high impact solutions to
improving the lives of children and young people in poverty.
Through this strategy, different partners across the city will work together to share their
understanding, knowledge, resources and good practice to help tackle the impact of
poverty on children and young people. We want to improve the opportunities and enable
better outcomes for children and young people by collectively combatting the challenges
that they face. The work will be overseen by the Child Poverty Impact Board, who will
analyse key findings and promote these across the city,
We will report on the impact the strategy has on the lives of children and young people in
the city which has been brought into focus during the Covid19 pandemic.

EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 869

3

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
-

We will maintain and develop the work that is already being done to combat child
poverty in Leeds

-

We will continue to work in partnerships with children, young people, their families
and internal and external partners, to ensure our strategy is shaped by the people
who are living in poverty and by the partners who are working first-hand with these
individuals

-

We will also be working in close partnerships with third sector and private sector
groups to provide further support to disadvantaged individuals and to collaborate
with these partners to see what more can be done to help those living in poverty

-

We will continue to monitor the data and trends on poverty in Leeds to ensure that
the work we are doing is still effective and targeting the right areas across the
region

-

We will assess the success of the work being done by the impact workstreams to
ensure that each workstream is producing tangible outcomes and working towards
the broader ambition of reducing the impacts of poverty on children. We will also
seek to understand the qualitative impact on the lives of children through their
lived experience.

-

The strategic board will assess the learnings of the impact workstreams and
promote positive improvements both locally and nationally

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Julie Devonald
Deputy Director, Children
1/6/2021
and Families
7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the
screening document will need to be published.
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing
EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 870

4

Date screening completed

1/6/2021

Date sent to Equality Team
Date published
(To be completed by the Equality Team)

EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 871

5

This page is intentionally left blank

COMMITTEE & BOARD MEETINGS
DO’S & DON’TS

All attending the meeting must adhere to the guidance that has been set
by the government and the council to keep all attending any meetings
within a council building safe

 All attending LCC employees are encouraged to undertake a lateral
flow test when attending a face to face meeting.

 All attending any meeting must sign in at the main reception.
 Turn up on time so you can be seated whilst adhering to social
distancing guidance.

 Stay in your designated seat during the meeting.
 You must wear a face covering whenever you are not in your seat
(unless exempt).

 Do not stand and talk in walk ways.
 You must adhere to the one way system that is in place.
 You must adhere to the social distancing guidance at all times.
 Use the hand sanitizer that is placed at the entrance and the exit of
the meeting room.

 Where possible use electronic agenda packs.
 Bring your own refreshments.
Note:
Best endeavours have been taken to manage committee business from
the outset to prevent a meeting running over the prescribed 1.5 hour
guidance. If it becomes apparent that debate is going to exceed this then
an adjournment of proceedings will be called by the Chair at an
appropriate point. All attending the meeting must vacate the meeting
room to enable further ventilation and cleaning. Participants must return to
their original seat.

Page 873

This page is intentionally left blank

